
Page 1 of 4 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 07, 2021 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
The City is providing in-person and electronic options for this meeting in accordance with the Governor's 
Proclamation of Disaster Emergency regarding meetings and hearings.  The City encourages in-person attendees 
to follow the latest CDC guidelines to reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission. 

The meeting will be accessible via video conference and the public may access/participate in the meeting in the 
following ways: 
 
a) By dialing the phone number +13126266799 or +19292056099 or +12532158782 or +13017158592 or 
+13462487799 or +16699006833 and when prompted, enter the meeting ID (access code) 962 7287 1738. 
b) iPhone one-tap: +13126266799,,96272871738#  or +19292056099,,96272871738# 
c) Join via smartphone or computer using this link: https://zoom.us/j/96272871738.   
d) View the live stream on Channel 15 YouTube using this link: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCCzeig5nIS-
dIEYisqah1uQ  (view only).  
e) Watch on Cedar Falls Cable Channel 15 (view only). 
 
To request to speak when allowed on the agenda, participants must click “Raise Hand” if connected by 
smartphone or computer, or press *9 if connected by telephone. All participants will be muted by the presiding 
officer when not actually speaking. 

Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of August 16, 2021. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Presentations 

2. Proclamation recognizing September 5-11, 2021 as Suicide Prevention and Recovery Week. 

3. Proclamation recognizing September 17-23, 2021 as Constitution Week. 

4. Proclamation recognizing September 20-26, 2021 as National Rail Safety Week. 

5. Proclamation recognizing September 2021 as National Preparedness Month. 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

Special Order of Business 

6. Public hearing on proposed amendments to Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinance relative to 
establishing the CD-DT, Downtown Character District. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published August 27, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 

1



Page 2 of 4 

 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 26, Zoning, and other associated sections of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to establishing the CD-DT, Downtown Character District, upon its first 
consideration. 

7. Public hearing on the proposed rezoning of all property within the defined boundaries of the 
Downtown Character District from current zoning districts and placing the same in the CD-DT, 
Downtown Character District Zoning District. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published August 27, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Pass an ordinance amending Section 26-118 of the Code of Ordinances, by removing all property 
within the defined boundaries of the Downtown Character District from current zoning districts and 
placing the same in the CD-DT, Downtown Character District Zoning District, upon its first 
consideration. (contingent upon approval of previous ordinance) 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

8. Receive and file the following resignations of members from Boards and Commissions: 
a) John Clopton, Civil Service Commission. 
b) Abigail Sears, Planning & Zoning Commission. 
c) Leslie Prideaux, Planning & Zoning Commission, effective October 1, 2021. 
d) Leslie Prideaux, Visitors & Tourism Board, effective October 1, 2021. 

9. Receive and file the Work Session minutes of August 16, 2021 relative to the following item:  
a) Protocols for Remote Public Participation in City Open Meetings. 

10. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of August 16, 2021 relative to the following 
items: 
a) Utilities Board of Trustees Interview. 
b) Cedar River Recreation Safety Project. 
c) Future Forward 2025 Update. 

11. Receive and file the Departmental Monthly Reports of July, 2021. 

12. Approve the following Order Accepting Acknowledgment/Settlement Agreements: 
a) Bani’s, 2128 College Street, First tobacco violation. 
b) Casey’s General Store, 2425 Center Street, First tobacco violation. 
c) Prime Mart, 2728 Center Street, First tobacco violation.     

13. Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
a) Fleet Farm, 400 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class C beer & Class B wine - renewal. 
b) Fleet Farm Fuel, 108 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class C beer & Class B wine - renewal. 
c) Blue Room, 201 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
d) Wilbo, 118 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
e) Casey's General Store, 1225 Fountains Way, Class E liquor - renewal. 

2



Page 3 of 4 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

14. Resolution approving and adopting amendments to the City's Emergency Operations Plan. 

15. Resolution approving and adopting revised public meeting protocols during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

16. Resolution designating the Director of Finance & Business Operations as the City of Cedar Falls 
authorized representative for signing and filing documents to obtain federal financial assistance 
under the coronavirus state and local fiscal recovery funds established under the American Rescue 
Plan Act. 

17. Resolution approving and authorizing the transfer of funds from the General Fund to the Emergency 
Reserve and Capital Projects Funds. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Account Service Agreement with One Source 
The Background Check Company for pre-employment and promotional background reports and 
driver's license validation. 

19. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Cooperative Agreement with the Iowa Civil 
Rights Commission for FY22. 

20. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Facilities Use Agreement with Northeast Iowa 
Area Agency on Aging, Inc. (NEI3A) relative to use of the Community Center. 

21. Resolution approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of cameras for the 
Transfer Station and Public Works facilities. 

22. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Facility Use Agreement with the American 
National Red Cross relative to use of the Recreation and Fitness Center as a shelter during a disaster 
emergency.  

23. Resolution approving a Mixed Use Residential (MU) Zoning District site plan for a medical clinic 
addition at 226 Bluebell Road. 

24. Resolution approving Lot 17 Green Acres Minor Subdivision Plat. 

25. Resolution approving and accepting the contract and bond of Blacktop Service Company for the 
2021 Seal Coat Project. 

26. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water Facility Maintenance and Repair 
Agreement with Midwest Development Co. and Wild Horse Ridge Homeowners Association relative 
to a post-construction stormwater management plan for Wild Horse Ridge.  

27. Resolution approving an amendment to the preliminary plat of Wild Horse Ridge. 

28. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting September 20, 2021 as the date of public hearing on the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 Street Patching 
Project. 

29. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting September 20, 2021 as the date of public hearing on the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the Recreational River Area 
and Riverbank Improvements Project. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

30. Allow Bills and Claims of September 7, 2021. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

3



Page 4 of 4 

Staff Updates 

Adjournment 

4



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AUGUST 16, 2021 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 

thereof, at 7:30 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Miller (via video 
conference), deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Absent: None.  
 

53448 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the minutes of the Regular 
Meeting of August 2, 2021 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously.  

   
53449 - The Mayor then asked if there were any agenda revisions. City Clerk Danielsen 

noted that agenda items 5 and 6 were being removed as the establishments 
have accepted the settlement agreement and paid the penalty. Items will be 
added to the September 7, 2021 agenda for approval of settlement agreements. 

   
53450 - Mayor Green read the following proclamations: 
 

 Proclamation recognizing August 19, 2021 as Aviation Day. Waterloo Regional 
Airport Director Keith Kasperi commented. 

 Proclamation recognizing August 29, 2021 as Quota of the Cedar Valley, Inc. 
Day. Quota President Deanna Rustad commented. 

 Proclamation recognizing August 2021 as Gastroparesis Awareness Month. 

53451 - T.J. Frein, 1319 Austin Way, commented on the 2025 Future Forward Plan. Mr. 
Frein also requested review of the Algonquin/Ashworth intersection. 

 
53452 - Mayor announced that this was the time and place for a hearing on a complaint 

issued to Prime Mart 1, 2323 Main Street, for a first tobacco violation. Swisher 
and Cohrt Attorney Luke Jensen commented on behalf of the City. There being 
no one present wishing to speak on behalf of Prime Mart 1, the Mayor declared 
the hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

53453 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by deBuhr that Resolution #22,487, 
approving and authorizing execution of an Order Assessing Penalty relative to a 
First Tobacco Violation regarding Prime Mart 1, 2323 Main Street, be adopted. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn.  Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,487 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53454- It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Harding that the following items on the 

Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

 Receive and file the resignation of Lindsay Pieters as a member of the Housing 
Commission. 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

. Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment 
of members to Boards and Commissions: 
a) Anne Bonsall Hoekstra, Art & Culture Board, term ending 07/01/2022. 
b) Toni Wilson Wood, Art & Culture Board, term ending 07/01/2022. 
c) Leslie Prideaux, Utilities Board of Trustees, term ending 08/31/2027. 

 Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of August 2, 2021 relative 
to the following item: 
a) Downtown Zoning Code – Parking Requirements for Private Property. 

 Approve the following Order Accepting Acknowledgment/Settlement Agreements: 
a) The Landmark, 107 Main Street, First tobacco violation. 
b) Metro Mart, 103 Franklin Street, First tobacco violation. 

 Approve a request for a temporary sign at 7213 Nordic Drive, September 12-16, 
2021. 

 Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
a) Main Street Sweets, 307 Main Street, Class B native wine – renewal. 
b) Amigo, 5809 University Avenue, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
c) Buffalo Wild Wings, 6406 University Avenue, Class C liquor & outdoor service 
- renewal. 
d) The Library, 2222 College Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
e) The Other Place, 4214 University Avenue, Class C liquor & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
f) The Pump Haus Pub & Grill, 311 Main Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service 
- renewal. 
g) Whiskey Road Tavern & Grill, 402 Main Street, Class C liquor & outdoor 
service - renewal. 
h) B & B West, 3105 Hudson Road, Class E liquor - renewal. 
i) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street – Plaza, Special Class C liquor & 
outdoor service – temporary expansion of outdoor service area. (August 27-28, 
September 4-5 & September 10-11, 2021) 
j) Fraternal Order of Eagles, 2125 West Lone Tree Road, Class C liquor & 
outdoor service - temporary expansion of outdoor service area. (August 27-30, 
2021) 

        Motion carried unanimously. 

53455 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the following resolutions 
be introduced and adopted: 

 
 Resolution #22,488, approving and accepting a Local Fire Protection and 

Emergency Medical Services Grant for the purchase of firefighting turnout gear. 

 Resolution #22,489, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 
Custodial Services with Fresh Start Cleaning Solutions, Inc. relative to providing 
custodial services for city buildings from September 1, 2021 through August 31, 
2024. 
 
Resolution #22,490, approving and authorizing execution of a Joint Funding 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

Agreement for Water Resource Investigations with the U.S. Geological Survey 
relative to the Cedar River Streamgage Station. 

 Resolution #22,491, receiving and filing, and approving and accepting the bid of 
OEL Construction Services, Inc., in the amount of $181,492.08, being the only 
bid received for the 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project. 

 Resolution #22,492, receiving and filing, and approving and accepting the bid of 
Blacktop Service Company, in the amount of $161,988.49, being the only bid 
received for the 2021 Seal Coat Project.  

 Resolution #22,493, approving and accepting the contract and bond of OEL 
Construction Services, Inc. for the 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project. 

 Resolution #22,494, approving and accepting the contract and bond of Benton’s 
Sand & Gravel, Inc. for the 2021 Permeable Alley Project. 

 Resolution #22,495, approving and accepting the contract and bond of Cobalt 
Contracting, L.C. for the 2021 Public Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project.  

 Resolution #22,496, approving and accepting the contract and bond of Cobalt 
Contracting, L.C. for the 2021 Sidewalk Assessment Project – Zone 4. 

 Resolution #22,497, approving and accepting the contract and bond of Owen 
Contracting, Inc. for the Cyber Lane Extension Project. 

 Resolution #22,498, approving and authorizing execution of Service/Product 
Agreement with AMPERAGE Marketing relative to FY22 digital advertising for the 
Tourism & Visitor Bureau. 

 Resolution #22,499, approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product 
Agreement with the Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) 
for Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Funding Project Delivery for 
FY22 (FFY2021). 

 Resolution #22,500, approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product 
Agreement with the Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) 
for Home Investment Partnerships Program (HOME) Funding Project Delivery for 
FY22 (FFY2021). 

 Resolution #22,501, approving a College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) Overlay 
Zoning District site plan for parking improvements at 2415 Franklin Street. 

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #22,488 through #22,501 duly 
passed and adopted. 

53456 -   It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #22,502, 
approving and adopting amendments to Administrative Policy No. 7, be adopted. 
Following comments by Councilmember Harding and response by Mayor Green, 
it was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Kruse, to amend the motion to strike 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

the words “and speak last on any item” from Rule 33. The motion to amend 
carried unanimously. The Mayor then put the question on the original motion as 
amended, and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: Harding. Motion carried. 
The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,502 duly passed and adopted as 
amended. 

 
53457 -  It was moved by Harding and seconded by Miller that the following resolutions be 

introduced and adopted: 
 
  Resolution #22,503 setting September 7, 2021 as the date of public hearing on 

proposed amendments to Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinance relative 
to establishing the CD-DT, Downtown Character District.   

 
  Resolution #22,504, setting September 7, 2021 as the date of public hearing on 

the proposed rezoning of all property within the defined boundaries of the 
Downtown Character District from current zoning classifications and placing the 
same in the CD-DT, Downtown Character District. 

 
  Following comments and questions by Councilmembers deBuhr, Kruse, Darrah, 

and Dunn, and responses by Mayor Green and Community Development 
Director Sheetz, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the 
roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, Harding, Darrah, 
Dunn. Nay: deBuhr, Kruse, Sires.  Motion carried. The Mayor then declared 
Resolutions #22,503 and #22,504 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53458 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the bills and claims of 

August 16, 2021 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer 
be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper 
funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, 
Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

  
53459 -     Mayor Green and City Attorney Rogers replied to a question by Councilmember 

Harding regarding an update on the cost of a PERB appeal.  
 
  Councilmember deBuhr commended Public Safety staff on their responses to 

recent accidents. Public Safety Director Olson responded to questions by 
Councilmembers Kruse and Dunn regarding Public Safety staffing and tours at 
the Public Safety Building. 

 
53460 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the meeting be adjourned 

at 8:17 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
 
     ________________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

8

Item 1.



 

   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
SUICIDE PREVENTION AND RECOVERY WEEK 

SEPTEMBER 5-11, 2021 
 

WHEREAS, the week of September 5-11, 2021 is National Suicide Prevention 
Week, and September 2021 is National Recovery Month, when millions of people 
around the world join their voices to share a message of hope and healing, 
particularly in these especially challenging times; and 

WHEREAS, these observances are united in raising awareness that prevention is 

possible, treatment is effective, and recovery is achievable; and 

WHEREAS, Cedar Falls residents should be aware of -- and feel confident in 

accessing -- high-quality prevention, support, rehabilitation, and treatment 

services that lead to recovery and a healthy lifestyle; and 

WHEREAS, the Cedar Valley Coalition for Suicide Prevention and Support and 

the University of Northern Iowa Counseling Center encourage residents of all 

ages to take an active role in suicide prevention, and to promote mental health 

and wellness for their families, loved ones, friends, neighbors, and co-workers;  

NOW, THEREFORE I, Mayor Rob Green, proclaim the week of September 5-11, 

2021 as Suicide Prevention and Recovery Week in the City of Cedar Falls, and 

I encourage all residents to take advantage of resources and programs which 

address suicidal ideation, recognition of concerning signs in others, and engaging 

positively with those in crisis -- to build hope, restore self-sufficiency, and to help 

those suffering from suicidal ideation to truly believe that life is precious and 

worth living.                                                                               

Signed this 27th day of August, 2021. 
 

 

______________________________________                                          

Mayor Robert M. Green 

 
9

Item 2.



 

   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 

 
 

 

 

CONSTITUTION WEEK 
SEPTEMBER 17 – 23, 2021  

 

WHEREAS, September 17, 2021, marks the two hundred and thirty-fourth 

anniversary of the drafting of the Constitution of the United States of America by 

the fifty-five delegates to the 1787 Constitutional Convention; and  

WHEREAS, the U.S. Constitution defined for our nation the twin axioms of basic 

human equality and the right to life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness; and 

WHEREAS, the U.S. Constitution is the guardian of our liberties, embodies the 

principles of limited government in a Republic dedicated to rule by law; and  

WHEREAS, the aims of Constitution Week are to emphasize citizens’ 

responsibilities for protecting and defending the Constitution, inform people that 

the Constitution is the basis for America's great heritage and the foundation for 

our way of life, and encourage the study of the historical events that led to the 

framing of the Constitution in September 1787; and 

WHEREAS, it is fitting and proper to annually accord official recognition to this 

magnificent document and its memorable anniversary, as well as to the patriotic 

celebrations and educational activities which will commemorate the occasion by 

the Daughters of the American Revolution and other civic-minded groups;  

NOW, THEREFORE I, Mayor Rob Green, do hereby proclaim the week of 

September 17-23 as Constitution Week in the City of Cedar Falls, and I do 

encourage citizens to reaffirm the ideals of the Constitution’s authors through 

personal study and understanding of Constitutional principles, and by vigilantly 

working to uphold the Constitutional protections guaranteed to all Americans. 

Signed this 27th day of August, 2021. 

 

 

______________________________________                                          

Mayor Robert M. Green 

 
10

Item 3.



 

   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 

 
 

 

 

 

NATIONAL RAIL SAFETY WEEK 
SEPTEMBER 20 – 26, 2021  

 
WHEREAS, 1,889 rail grade crossing collisions resulted in 678 personal injuries and were 

responsible for 201 fatalities in the United States during 2020; and 

WHEREAS, 1,088 trespassing incidents have occurred in the United States resulting in 532 

pedestrians being killed and another 556 injured while trespassing on railroad property rights 

of way during 2020; and 

WHEREAS, educating and informing the public about rail safety, reminding the public that 

railroad right of ways are private property, enhancing public awareness of the dangers 

associated with highway rail grade crossings, ensuring pedestrians and motorists are looking 

and listening while near railways, and obeying established traffic laws will reduce the number 

of fatalities and injuries; and 

WHEREAS, the International Association of Chiefs of Police, National Operation Lifesaver, 

United States Department of Transportation, and all local, state, county, and railroad law 

enforcement officers, first responders, and railroad corporations commit to partnering together 

in an effort to educate at a national level all aspects of railroad safety, to enforce applicable laws 

in support of National Rail Safety Week; and 

WHEREAS, Cedar Falls contains several rail crossings in the downtown area, with multiple 

trains transiting through our community daily;  

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, Mayor of the City of Cedar Falls, do hereby proclaim 

September 20-26, 2021, as National Rail Safety Week in Cedar Falls, and I encourage all 

citizens to recognize the importance of rail safety education. 

Signed this 27th day of August, 2021. 

 

 

______________________________________                                          

Mayor Robert M. Green 

 

11

Item 4.



 

   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 

 
 

 

 

 

NATIONAL PREPAREDNESS MONTH 
SEPTEMBER 2021  

 
WHEREAS, the U.S. Department of Homeland Security has designated September as National 

Preparedness Month across America; and 

WHEREAS, National Preparedness Month is an opportunity to raise awareness about the 

importance of emergency preparedness and to encourage all Americans to better prepare 

their homes and communities for emergencies like tornadoes, floods, blizzards, high-wind 

events, and extended power outages; and 

WHEREAS, in any natural disaster, large-scale emergency or terrorist attack, America’s first 

line of defense is provided by first responders, including local Law Enforcement, firefighters 

and emergency medical professionals, who have the greatest potential to save lives and limit 

casualties after a disaster or terrorist attack; and 

WHEREAS, National Preparedness Month focuses on family emergency preparedness and 

encourages Americans to take simple steps to prepare for emergencies in their homes, 

businesses and schools; and 

WHEREAS, Black Hawk County Emergency Management encourages citizens to make plans 

with and for their family members as to where to take shelter should a cascading event become 

eminent and to make plans as to where to meet should family members become separated; and 

WHEREAS, disasters end emergencies could cause extended disruption of life supporting 

services, so citizens are encouraged to develop “Go Kits” with proper supplies to support each 

family member and pet for a 72 hour period; 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, Mayor of the City of Cedar Falls, do hereby proclaim 

September 2021, as National Preparedness Month in Cedar Falls, and encourage citizens 

and organizations to take action to become prepared for any disaster or emergency. 

Signed this 27th day of August, 2021. 

 

 

______________________________________                                          

Mayor Robert M. Green 

 
12

Item 5.



1 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: August 30, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Zoning Text Amendments - Downtown Character District Code (TA21-001) 
 

 
Project Background 
Cedar Falls has a thriving Downtown District. This success creates momentum for additional 
investment in Downtown. However, the City has been operating under development standards 
and processes, some of which were originally established 50 years ago. These regulations have 
been refined over time, including the CBD overlay district created to preserve and protect the 
character of the historic Downtown core. However, there was a recognition that more needed to 
be done to guide future growth in the Downtown District and the surrounding neighborhoods to 
meet the current and future needs of the community. Therefore, the City Council initiated the 
Imagine Downtown! Visioning Project. There have been two phases to this project: an extensive 
community visioning effort; followed by development of zoning tools to implement the vision. 
The study area includes the central business district (CBD) and areas surrounding the CBD that 
transition into the traditional residential neighborhoods to the west.  It also includes the extended 
Main Street corridor and neighborhood areas immediately south and northwest of the downtown 
along the south side of the Cedar River.  
 
The Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan was adopted in November 2019 after an extensive public 
engagement effort.  The Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan provides a road map for growth and 
development in and around Downtown Cedar Falls. It establishes a general framework for public 
policy decisions and investment, in tandem with clear aspirations for the scale and character of 
future development downtown, which are reflected in the proposed zoning standards currently 
under consideration.  
 
A public review draft of a proposed Downtown Character District code and associated 
Regulating Plan were presented during a special virtual Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning 
Commission meeting on February 17, 2021. Since that time, the proposed code and regulating 
plan map along with new administrative procedures and land use classification system have 
been available for public review and comment on the project webpage and have been 
advertised widely on various social media platforms, by press release, and with printed letters to 
all property owners within the study area. The code project has been featured on local television 
news broadcasts, articles in the Courier, and on the City Cable Channel 15.  
 

13

Item 6.



2 
 

In the three months following the release of the public review draft of the code, consultants and 
staff met with the Planning and Zoning Commission at four special work sessions to discuss the 
various elements of the proposed code and regulating plan. Staff also provided three different 
opportunities for work session discussions with development professionals and with Community 
Main Street, and encouraged the public to view and submit questions or comments to the 
Planning Division. Staff have responded to emails and phone inquiries and documented 
requests for changes to the draft.  All property owners in the area were notified by mail inviting 
them to public hearings at the Planning and Zoning Commission.  
 
Public input was invited during public hearings at the Planning and Zoning Commission on April 
14 and April 28, 2021. The Planning and Zoning Commission considered amendment requests 
from the public, staff, and Commission members at their April 14 meeting. No additional 
requests for changes were submitted for the April 28 hearing. The consultants and staff 
documented each requested amendment along with an explanation, pros and cons of making 
the change, and decisions made by the Commission in a “decision matrix,” which is attached to 
this memo. At their May 12 meeting the Commission voted to recommend approval of the 
draft with their recommended changes from the decision matrix and forward their 
recommendations to the City Council for consideration.  
 
The City Council review of the proposed code has included:  

 May 17 - Consultants from Ferrell Madden presented the Commission’s recommended 
draft to the City Council at a Committee of the Whole meeting and copies of the code and 
regulating plan were distributed to Council members;  

 June 7 - Council work session for general discussion and questions; 

 June 21 – Council work session to discuss the proposed parking requirements for private 
development; 

 August 2 – Committee of the Whole Meeting to review the parking requirements in more 
depth, most specifically the concept of shared parking and to invite any feedback from 
the community; 

 August 16 – Council set the date of public hearing for September 7. 
 
Analysis 
The proposed Downtown Character District code includes new development standards and 
architectural standards to control the scale and design of new buildings and specifically 
addresses how new development relates to the streets and sidewalks to help ensure that new 
development fits into the context of the surrounding development. The architectural standards 
include such elements as building material standards, standards for window coverage, 
entranceway standards, façade variation, and sign standards. The placement of the buildings 
and the parking on the lot is not left to chance, but is regulated to ensure that building facades 
designed to support pedestrian activity front on the public sidewalks with parking and 
mechanical equipment located to the rear.  
 
The frontage designations on the Regulating Plan help to ensure that like-development faces 
like-development across the street. In addition, where the higher intensity Urban General, 
Urban General 2, and Storefront frontages lots share a common lot line with a Neighborhood 
Small or Medium frontage lot or an R-1 or R-2 zoned property along the edge of the district, 
“Neighborhood Manners” requirements apply that limit building height and include enhanced 
setback, landscaping, and screening standards to create a buffer.  
 

14

Item 6.



3 
 

Creating livable neighborhoods is also a focus of the new zoning, which includes new open 
space requirements on each lot to ensure even in the most intensive areas usable open space 
will be provided for future residents. Open yards and courtyards count toward this requirement 
in neighborhood frontages with some allowance for balconies and shared upper floor or rooftop 
patios in the more intensive mixed-use frontages where the buildings may cover most of the lot 
area. The “public realm standards” specify standards for the space between the building and 
the street curb including requirements for street trees.  
 
The parking requirements are structured to support preservation of and adaptive re-use of 
existing historic buildings, particularly along the Main Street parkade, while continuing to 
require parking for residential uses, albeit at a lower rate; and adds a new requirement for 
upper floor commercial uses for new development. A certain amount of the required parking 
must be made publicly available (shared) for a certain number of hours when not being used 
by the residential or commercial tenants of the building. This shared parking will add to the 
supply of parking that is available to serve customers and clients during peak times. For 
example, a new building that includes upper floor office space will be required to provide 
parking and that parking must be located and designed to be available to the public in the 
evening when not needed for the office employees.  
 
A wide variety of uses are allowed on properties with Urban General, Urban General 2 and 
Storefront frontages, similar to what is allowed in the CBD Overlay. In Neighborhood frontages 
a variety of housing options are allowed to encourage new living opportunities in areas close to 
downtown. These include single family, duplexes, townhomes, cottage courts, small apartment 
buildings, and an allowance for accessory dwelling units on owner-occupied properties.  
 
The proposed zoning amendments also include new administrative procedures that create a 
more defined process for review and approval. Since the new standards are more clear and 
objective they can be more easily be reviewed and approved administratively, reducing the 
amount of time for review and approval, but providing more certainty for surrounding properties 
and the community that new development will blend into the neighborhood.  
 
The new use classification system provides a set of land use categories that will help to ensure 
consistency of development review over time and eliminate the need for extensive lists of 
specific uses in the code that become redundant and often times obsolete as the market and 
technology changes.  
 
There are also a number of small amendments to the existing City Code necessary to make it 
clear that elements such as sidewalk cafes, mobile merchants, sandwich board signs, and the 
ability to serve alcoholic beverages are also allowed in appropriate locations within the 
Downtown Character District, similar to how they are currently allowed.  
 

Recommendation 
 

At their May 12th meeting, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval of the 
Downtown Character District Code, the associated Regulating Plan, new administrative 
procedures, and land use classification system, as amended by decisions outlined in their 
decision matrix (attached).  
 

15

Item 6.



4 
 

In addition, staff recommends approval of the various smaller amendments to the Cedar Falls 
Code of Ordinances set forth in the attached ordinance to ensure that the new regulations 
function smoothly within the existing City Code.   
 
Lastly, staff recommends a review of how the new code is working a year from when it is 
adopted to make any adjustments necessary to ensure it is achieving its intended goals for the 
community.  
 

16

Item 6.



 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE PUBLIC REVIEW DRAFT OF THE DOWNTOWN ZONING CODE 
 

26-193 – Building Form Standards 

  
Proposed Amendment 

 
Explanatory Notes 

 
Consultant/Staff 
Recommendation 

P&Z Discussion   
(Date) 

P&Z Decision 

 
1 

 
Requestor: Consultant/staff   
 
Change Building Form Standards (BFS) 
Section 193.5 Neighborhood Small 
Frontage B. Placement 4. Buildable 
Area to allow Private Open Area to be 
above grade for lots with less than 70 ft 
of depth. 

 
Technical Fix: This better accommodates rowhouses on 
especially shallow lots (such as many of the lots along 2nd 
Street, as shown in the Vision Plan) with their 66ft 
width/depth. This will make Neighborhood Small consistent 
with Neighborhood Medium. 

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
this amendment.  

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
make the change.  

 
Amendment 
Approved  
 

 
2 

 
Requestor: Consultant/staff  
 
Change Required Building Line (RBL) 
on the Downtown Regulating Plan, on 
the north side of W 2nd St. from Franklin 
St. to the western border of the District. 
The RBL should be moved forward an 
additional 5ft, from 15ft to 10ft off the 
front property line.   

 
Technical Fix: This is for consistency with the RBL to the 
east of Franklin (Urban General 2) and better 
accommodates rowhouses fronting 2nd Street (as shown in 
the Vision Plan) within the shallower (66ft) depth of many of 
those lots.  
 
This keeps the building form and scale consistent with the 
Neighborhood Small designation, but allows room for both 
parking and for usable ground floor space within the 
buildings.  

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
this amendment to the Downtown 
Character District Regulating Plan.  
 

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
make the change. 

 
Amendment 
Approved 
 

 
3 

 
Requestor: Staff 

a) Insure consistency of terms 
between new proposed Section 
26-140. Use-Specific 
Standards, Category 
Descriptions, and Definitions 
and proposed Section 26-197. 
Building Functions;  

b) Clarify language in Character 
District Use Table introductory 
paragraph concerning additional 
standards that apply 

 
Technical Fix:  
a) Because drafting was an iterative process, additional 
revisions were made to Section 26-140, Use Classification, 
after the public review draft of Downtown Character District 
Code (Section 26-197) was released. This is a simple 
clean-up to make sure terms are internally consistent. Also 
to correct the Code Section number of the Use 
Classification to Sec. 26-140 (not 26-132).   
 
b) Make clear that additional development and performance 
standards apply above and beyond the broad permitted use 
categories. 

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
these amendments 
 

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
make these 
changes.  

Amendment 
Approved  
 

17

Item 6.



 
4 

 
Requestor: Staff 
 
Correct outline format, as needed 

 
Technical Fix: Some outline numbers are out of sequence 
and need correction 

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
this amendment 
 

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
make these 
changes.  

Amendment 
Approved  
 

 
5 

 
Requestor: Historical Society and 
Planning Staff 
 
Add Civic Building designations to 
Regulating Plan 

 
Technical Fix: The Cedar Falls Woman’s Club and Cedar 
Falls Historical Society Victorian House Museum and 
Museum Buildings in Sturgis Park should be identified as 
Civic Buildings.  

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
this amendment 
 

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
make these 
changes. 

Amendment 
Approved  
 

 
6 

 
Requestor: Consultant/Staff 
 
Change to Section 26-140. Use-
Specific Standards, Category 
Descriptions, and Definitions for 
clarity, etc. 

 
Technical Fix:  Clarification concerning categorization of 
commercial assembly uses as large or small based on size 
and the other classification criteria in Section 26-140(a)(3) 
 
This will help in classifying uses appropriately in different 
zoning districts. Examples include small commercial 
assembly uses, such as theaters that fit into a main street 
area, like the Oster Regent Theater downtown versus large 
commercial assembly uses, such as a large metroplex 
theater complex located in a suburban shopping center.  

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
this amendment 

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
make these 
changes.  

Amendment 
Approved  
 

18

Item 6.



 
7 

 
Requestor: P&Z Member Larson 
 
Change the Regulating Plan designated 
building frontage on west side of 
Overman Park from Neighborhood 
Small to Urban General 2 to 
accommodate existing businesses 
located in buildings along Franklin 
Street;  
 
or alternatively: 
 
Requestor: Tom and Dorinda Pounds 
They own a house on Franklin Street 
that was converted to office space for 
their business. They want assurance 
their business can continue, but also 
have maintained many of the historic 
residential features of the home, so it 
could be converted back to residential 
use in the future, if desired. 
 
They would like an approach to better 
accommodate existing businesses, 
while maintaining the residential 
character and scale of the area 

 
As drafted, all existing businesses can remain as non-
conforming uses. The new code requires no changes 
unless/until the owner makes a significant change to their 
business or building, at which time the standards identified 
in Section 26-38 Proportionate Compliance would apply, 
based on the [level/degree] of proposed change.  
 
The intent of the proposed limitations on new businesses in 
the Neighborhood frontage areas is to encourage their 
concentration in the core of Downtown for the synergy it 
creates and to stabilize and encourage reinvestment in the 
surrounding residential areas and preservation of the 
historic character of these areas. 
 
Options for change:  
 
Option 1: Change the regulating plan along west side of 
Franklin Street to Urban General 2. 
 

Pro: Insure existing business are not made non-
conforming 
 
Con: Change in building frontage designation affects 
more than use; it would also change the physical scale 
and character of permitted new buildings, potentially 
incentivizing the demolition of other houses in the 
neighborhood. This could potential affect the historic 
residential character along Franklin Street. Most 
businesses are located within existing residential 
structures.  

 
Option 2: Language could be added to state that all existing 
businesses at the time of code adoption are considered 
conforming, so can continue and even expand, but that no 
new businesses are permitted in the Neighborhood 
frontages. This is a similar approach we took for 
manufacturing businesses on the far east side of the study 
area.  
 
 

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
Option 2, as it achieves the goal of 
keeping existing businesses 
conforming, but doesn’t have the 
unintended consequences noted 
with Option 1.  

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
make the changes 
per Option 2.  

 
Amendment 
Approved 
Option 2.  
 
(Note: add a 
parking 
requirement for 
non-residential 
uses in 
Neighborhood 
Frontages).  
 
 

19

Item 6.



 
8 

 
Requestor: P & Z Chair: 
Include a design review process/role for 
P&Z 

Commission expressed concern that it is difficult to legislate 
good design and that some additional design guidance may 
be needed, at least for some projects; and this process 
should be conducted through a public review process at 
P&Z and/or Council.  
 
Pros: Provides for more public scrutiny of development 
projects in the downtown area. Provides additional 
reassurance that a project will be consistent with the vision 
for downtown.  
 
Cons: One of the goals of the Downtown Zoning Code 
update was to streamline the development review process 
and move toward by-right approvals for those projects that 
meet a set of objective form-based standards. The benefits 
of this approach are to a) provide a greater level of 
predictability for property owners, developers, and 
neighbors; b) move away from the time and expense of 
negotiating individual projects in the Downtown district, 
particularly if it requires project redesign or additional legal 
fees; and c) remove the subjectivity of the public review 
process, where individual opinions can cause projects that 
otherwise meet the standards to be redesigned adding cost 
to the project.   
 
From a fairness and equity standpoint, it can also give 
undue influence to particularly persuasive or well-
connected applicants or to those who may simply want to 
prevent development from occurring.   
 
The purpose of establishing the staff Zoning Review 
Committee is to ensure that development projects meet the 
adopted standards, but also to assist applicants in their 
understanding of the intent of the provisions of the code, so 
they can achieve a more cohesive design, so in essence 
will serve as an administrative design review.  

Consultants/staff do not 
recommend adopting a pubic 
design review process at this time.  
 
If a majority of the Commission 
would still like to move forward with 
a public design review process, the 
consultants and staff will continue 
to work to determine a workable 
approach.   

Commission 
directed staff to 
keep the draft the 
same and not 
require a separate 
design review 
through P&Z and 
Council.  

No change 
recommended 

20

Item 6.



 
9 

 
Requestor: Kevin Harberts (owns two 
residential properties along 2nd Street). 
 
Change the Regulating Plan so that the 
General Urban frontage designation 
goes from the 1st Street frontage to 2nd 
Street frontage  
 
The requestor would like the option to 
create larger through lots for 
commercial uses that extend the full 
depth of the block from 1st to 2nd Street. 
 

 
The regulating plan designations between 1st and 2nd Street 
are already set up to provide more lot depth for Urban 
General along 1st Street to accommodate the larger 
footprint of many commercial buildings, leaving a shallower 
depth for the neighborhood frontage designation along 2nd 
Street, which can accommodate smaller footprint 
residential building types, such as rowhouses.  
 
Pros and Cons of making this change:  
  
Pro: Uniform building form standards for the entire parcel 
(with considerably more buildable area) 
 
Con: This would undermine the scale transition from the 
higher intensity, mixed-use 1st Street down to the less 
intense Overman Park neighborhood to the south. 
 
The code provides considerable flexibility for parcels with 
more than one frontage designation to shift the frontage 
designation to accommodate specific needs of the 
development. However, it is important for the buildings 
along both sides of 2nd Street to relate to one another, 
rather than having residential buildings facing the backs of 
1st Street businesses. The regulating plan designations 
ensure buildings of similar scale and character along both 
sides of a street.  
 

 
Consultant/staff are not in support 
of this amendment.  
 
The regulating plan already 
establishes  Urban General deeper 
into the block (from north to south) 
and leaves a rather shallow area 
along  2nd Street that will 
accommodate residential building 
forms, such as townhomes, as 
shown in the Imagine Downtown! 
Vision Plan.  

Commission 
directed staff to 
keep the 
regulating plan the 
same.  No change 
recommended.  

No change 
recommended 

21

Item 6.



 
10 

 
Requestor: Planning & Zoning 
Commission and questions from several 
members of the public.  
 
Consider the inclusion of vinyl siding as 
an approved wall material in 
Neighborhood Frontages 

 
There is concern that prohibiting vinyl siding in the 
Neighborhood Frontages could be cost prohibitive and 
encourage disinvestment in existing residential properties.  
 
The intent of the proposed prohibition was to promote more 
durable and environmentally sustainable building materials. 
(The issue is not one of aesthetics). 
 

Pro: Reduce the up-front cost of building construction 
and maintenance 
 
Con: Higher long-term costs for maintenance and 
upkeep; concerns related to durability and fire-
resistance; environmental impacts of PVC, i.e. 
produces toxic smoke when it burns and melts at a 
fairly low temperature; damaged or melted siding often 
ends up in the landfill and is not biodegradable. While it 
is possible to recycle it, there are often issues of 
contamination from dirt, nails, and mixed-in aluminum 
flashing. In contrast, wood, brick or stone have a life 
cycle of more than 100 years. The life span of vinyl is 
15 to 20 years before it becomes brittle from ultraviolet 
light and is easily damaged.   
 

If change to the ordinance is desired, following are some 
options:  

1. Maintain the prohibition of vinyl siding for new 
construction.  

2. Permit the use of vinyl siding to replace or repair 
existing vinyl siding. 

3. Permit use of vinyl siding that meets higher 
minimum standards for quality, maintenance, and 
durability, based on industry standards to replace or 
cover over other types of siding on existing single 
family dwellings.  

4. Delete the prohibition on vinyl siding from the code 
altogether, so it would be allowed on all existing and 
new buildings in the Neighborhood Frontages.  

 
 

 
Consultant/staff are particularly 
concerned about the long term 
consequences of allowing vinyl 
siding related to the noted 
environmental concerns, so 
recommend prohibiting vinyl siding 
for new construction.  
 
With regard to the second bullet 
point, the current draft already 
allows replacement of like material 
with like material for maintenance 
purposes. Consultant/staff would 
be in support of adding some 
additional language to make sure 
this is clear.  
 
Consultant/staff are not supportive 
of allowing vinyl siding to replace 
existing environmentally 
sustainable building materials, such 
as wood, stone, or brick. We feel 
that the long term costs outweigh 
the short term savings.  
 
Consultant/staff strongly 
recommend against listing vinyl 
siding as a generally allowed 
building material.  
 
 
 
 

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
move forward with 
making changes 
consistent with 1, 
2, and 3, but did 
not support option 
4.  
 
Bullet points 1 and 
2 were supported 
unanimously. 
Bullet point 3 was 
supported by a 
majority. 
 
With regard to 
bullet 1, the 
Commission 
requests that the 
language be 
clarified to indicate 
that for additions 
to existing 
buildings that have 
vinyl siding that 
vinyl siding can be 
used for the 
addition. We will 
need to discuss 
how to fit that into 
the trigger chart.   
 
Bullet point 4 was 
rejected by a 
majority. 

 
Amendments 
Approved 
according to 
bullet points 1, 
2, and 3.  
Majority of the 
Commission 
does not 
support 4.    
 
 

22

Item 6.



 
11 

Requestor: Jesse Lizer, Emergent 
Architects 
 
Permit the use of higher quality foam 
products for architectural detailing  

There is concern that the prohibition of “all other foam-
based products” in Sec. 26-194.C.5. would limit options for 
restoration of historic buildings. That was never the intent of 
this prohibition, but rather to limit the use of flimsy, easily 
damaged building materials, particularly at the street level. 
Potential change: 
 

 Delete “all other foam-based products” from the 
prohibited list and add a new item to the secondary 
materials list in Sec. 26-194.C.4. as follows: 
“Durable foam-based products, such as Fypon, may 
be used for architectural detailing.” 
 

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
this amendment, 

Commission 
directed staff to 
make this change.  

Amendment 
Approved  
 

 
12 

 
Requestor: Staff 
 
Provide more direction for ADUs 

Concern that there is insufficient enforceability of owner-
occupancy requirement following the development of an 
ADU. Consider including a requirement for an affidavit/legal 
agreement with the City in Sec. 26-193.1.G (p.24) to be 
filed and recorded, so that it is clear to future owners or 
prospective buyers that the dwelling is not considered a 
duplex, so that the limits on size and occupancy for ADUs 
continue to be enforceable over time.   
 
The allowance for ADUs is intended to make home 
ownership more affordable and encourage investment and 
reinvestment that will help stabilize existing older 
neighborhoods surrounding downtown.   
 

Consultant/staff are in support of 
this amendment.  

Commission 
directed staff to 
make this change.  

Amendment 
Approved 
 

23

Item 6.



13 Requestor: Staff 
 
Prohibit conversion of existing single 
unit dwellings into duplexes or multi-unit 
dwellings. 
 

The new code opens up the possibility for new types of 
housing, but in a manner that ensures that new housing fits 
into the context of the neighborhood with quality design and 
a logical configuration of the dwelling units. However, the 
new standards and allowances are not intended to 
encourage existing single unit dwellings to be chopped up 
into additional units in a manner that reduces the 
functionality and livability of the dwelling and makes it less 
desirable for those seeking a long term rental opportunity or 
homeownership. As is often experienced in college towns 
this is a common practice to provide short term rentals for 
college students by converting living rooms, dining rooms, 
and other spaces to maximize the number of bedrooms. 
While providing rental housing for students is important, 
this particular practice often creates units that are not very 
conducive to long term renters and  cannot be easily or 
cost-effectively adapted or converted back to the original 
condition in response to market fluctuations, such as a drop 
in enrollment.   
 
Staff notes that making this change will keep the new code 
consistent with the City’s current conversion prohibition in 
the R1 and R2 Districts.  

Staff is in support of this change.  Commission 
directed staff to 
make this change.  

Amendment 
approved.  

 

24

Item 6.



904 W4th Street Waterloo, Iowa 50702          www.AFIL.org         319-232-2552 

   
 

August 31st, 2021 

 

Robert M. Green  MA, MLIS 
Mayor, City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street   
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
 

 

Dear Mayor Green, 

Americans for Independent Living is a nonprofit based in Waterloo assisting veterans in 

need within Black Hawk County.  AFIL has assisted over 1,100 veterans and their families 

since 2017. Assistance has been provided in the form of housing, home items, furniture, 

food, clothing, and home modifications for disabled or elderly veterans in need. 

 

Many of the veterans assisted by AFIL live in homes in impoverished areas which are 

meager and have poor conditions for life. Having safe, secure, and affordable housing for 

our veterans, who have voluntarily sacrificed for us, is a critical need. 

 

We were excited to learn of the upcoming meetings to discuss changes in the Cedar Falls 

zoning laws. We would like the opportunity to purse cottage court housing for veterans in 

the area. Because of this, we are in favor of updating the zoning to make this critical need 

happen. 

 

Thank you for the consideration. 

 

Respectfully, 

 

 
 

Tim Combs, Executive Director 

25

Item 6.



310 East 4th Street
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

Phone: 319-277-0213
www.communitymainstreet.org

2021-2022
Board of Directors:

Lexie Heath - Chair
Darin Beck
Natalie Brown
Ann Eastman
Crystal Ford
Wynette Froehner
Brent Johnson
Audrey Kittrell
Jenny Leeper
Helen Pearce
Clark Rickard
Stephanie Sheetz
Mark Schowalter
Brad Strouse

August 30, 2021

Dear Mayor, Council, City Administrator and Staff: 

On behalf of Cedar Falls Community Main Street and our board of directors, we 
would like to express our support for the Downtown Zoning code.

Community Main Street has been a part of the visioning process since it began. 
We feel like staff has done a great job reaching out to the community, those 
that live/work in the zoning code area, developers and our board, seeking 
feedback and input. The new zoning plans are both progressive and objective 
and will unify the vision for Cedar Falls’ future. It will also provide much-needed 
clarity/direction to developers, and hopefully spur new development ideas and 
activities that’ll keep Cedar Falls, and downtown specifically, marching forward. 

As you are aware there can be no conversation downtown without addressing 
parking and we have received feedback with concerns regarding the parking 
requirement in the code. Our role as CMS is to advocate for our constituents, 
the fear is reducing the requirement in new development will force those 
tenants into spots the consumers should be utilizing. We ask that you be 
mindful of how this may affect existing devleopment in the District. 

We appreciate the due diligence that has gone into the new zoning code 
process and look forward to how it will shape the future of Downtown.

Best regards,

Kim Bear, on behalf of the Community Main Street Board of Directors
Executive Director    
Community Main Street

26

Item 6.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by: Karen Howard, P&CS Manager, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 26, ZONING, OF THE 
CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, 
ADDING NEW SECTIONS TO BE NUMBERED 26-191 THROUGH 
26-197 UNDER ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT 
REGULATIONS, DIVISION 2. SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, TO ESTABLISH 
ZONING STANDARDS AND REGULATIONS FOR CHARACTER 
DISTRICTS; AND ADDING NEW SECTIONS TO BE NUMBERED 26-
36 THROUGH 26-39 UNDER ARTICLE II. ADMINISTRATION AND 
ENFORCEMENT, DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, ESTABLISHING NEW 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES FOR SITE PLAN REVIEW; AND 
ADDING A NEW SECTION 26-141 UNDER ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS 
AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, 
ESTABLISHING USE SPECIFIC REGULATIONS AND 
CLASSIFICATION; AND TO REPEAL IN ITS ENTIRETY SECTION 
26-189 CBD CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT OVERLAY ZONING 
DISTRICT, UNDER ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT 
REGULATIONS, DIVISION 2, SPECIFIC DISTRICTS; AND TO 
AMEND SECTION 26-117, DISTRICTS ESTABLISHED, UNDER 
ARTICLE III. DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, DIVISION 
1 GENERALLY, ADDING A NEW ZONING DISTRICT TO BE KNOWN 
AS “DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICT” WITH ABBREVIATION, 
CD-DT, AND DELETING REFERENCE TO THE CENTRAL 
BUSINESS DISTRICT OVERLAY ZONING DISTRICT, CBD; AND TO 
AMEND SECTION 26-118, DISTRICT BOUNDARIES, CLARIFYING 
THAT FOR EACH CHARACTER DISTRICT THE ASSOCIATED 
REGULATING PLAN IS THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP; AND 
CLARIFYING THE INTERPRETATION OF BOUNDARIES FOR 
CHARACTER DISTRICTS; AND TO AMEND SECTION 26-126, 
DETACHED ACCESSORY STRUCTURES TO CLARIFY HOW SAID 
PROVISIONS APPLY IN CHARACTER DISTRICTS; AND TO AMEND 
SECTION 26-127 SETBACKS FOR CORNER LOTS; AND TO 
AMEND CHAPTER 5, ALCOHOLIC AND MALT BEVERAGES, 
ARTICLE 1, IN GENERAL, TO CLARIFY ZONING DISTRICTS 
WHERE LIQUOR CONTROL LICENSES OR WINE OR BEER 
PERMITS ARE ALLOWED; AND TO AMEND CHAPTER 13, 
LICENSES AND BUSINESS REGULATIONS, DIVISION 1, MOBILE 
MERCHANTS, TO CLARIFY ZONING DISTRICTS WHERE SAID 

27

Item 6.



 
 

PERMITS ARE ALLOWED; AND TO AMEND CHAPTER 19, 
STREETS AND SIDEWALKS, TO CLARIFY THAT TABLES AND 
CHAIRS, TEMPORARY MOVABLE SIGNS, AND SIDEWALK CAFES 
SHALL BE ALLOWED IN CERTAIN FRONTAGE DESIGNATIONS 
WITHIN CHARACTER DISTRICTS    

 

WHEREAS, in November of 2019, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls adopted 
the Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan, as an integral part of the Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan; 
and  

WHEREAS, in order to ensure future development and redevelopment is consistent with 
the adopted Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan, the City of Cedar Falls drafted new zoning 
regulations, new administrative procedures, use classification regulations, and an associated 
regulating plan for the downtown area covered by the Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, the new zoning regulations establish a new zoning district entitled, 

“Downtown Character District” abbreviated as “CD-DT,” and an associated zoning map, referred 
to as the “Downtown Character District Regulating Plan;” and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has reviewed the proposed 

amendments to Chapter 26, Zoning, under Case # TA21-001 and recommends approval; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls City Council has determined that said amendments to 
Chapter 26, Zoning are in the best interests of the community; and now, therefore:  

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, 
THAT: 

 

Section 1.  Article II, Administration and Enforcement, Division 1, Generally, is hereby 
amended to add new sections to be numbered 26-36 through 26-39, (previously reserved) 
as follows:  

Sec. 26-36. Administrative Determination 

(a) APPLICABILITY 
The Zoning Administrator shall review and decide upon applications for the following 
administrative reviews and code adjustments in consultation with the Zoning Review 
Committee(ZRC) and/or the staff Technical Review Committee, as applicable. Some of 
these processes have additional review and approval requirements; a cross-reference to 
those requirements is provided in the right column.  

Permit or Adjustment Additional Review Requirements 
Site Plan Section 26-37.D 

Proportionate Compliance n/a 

Minor Adjustment Section 26-39.E 

 

(b) APPLICATION  COMPLETENESS REVIEW 
(1) Applications shall not be processed until all materials have been submitted and are 

deemed sufficient in form and content such that recommendations, as required, and a 
decision may be made on the application by the Zoning Administrator, or other 
decision-making body, as specified in this chapter. The Zoning Administrator shall 
determine application sufficiency.  

28

Item 6.



 
 

(2) If an application is deemed insufficient, the Zoning Administrator shall inform the 
applicant of the specific submittal requirements that have not been met. The Zoning 
Administrator may provide notice in writing, electronically, or in conversation with the 
applicant.   

(3) If an application is deemed insufficient, the applicant must resolve and resubmit the 
materials required to complete the application within 30 days of the date informed of 
the insufficiency of the application.  
a. An insufficient application that has not been revised to meet the completeness 

requirements shall expire on the 30th day.  An expired application shall be returned 
to the applicant along with any original documents submitted in support of the 
application.  

b. The City, at its discretion, may retain the application fee paid. Once an application 
has expired, the application must be resubmitted in full, including application fee. 

(c) REVIEW, REFERRAL, AND RECOMMENDATION 
(1) Upon submission of an application, the Zoning Administrator shall review the 

application and accompanying documentation to determine whether the information 
included in the application is sufficient to evaluate the application against the approval 
criteria of the procedure or permit requested. 

(2) The Zoning Administrator may refer any application to the Zoning Review Committee 
(ZRC) or Technical Review Committee (TRC) for review and recommendation.  

(d) REVIEW AND DECISION-MAKING 
(1) The Zoning Administrator shall review the application for conformance with all 

applicable provisions of this chapter.  
(2) To be approved, an application shall be fully consistent with the standards of this 

chapter unless a minor adjustment is concurrently approved to allow specified 
deviation from applicable standards. An administrative approval may include 
instructions and clarifications regarding compliance with this Code, but shall not be 
approved with conditions that require action beyond the specific requirements of the 
City Code of Ordinances.   

(3) The Zoning Administrator shall approve or deny the application and provide written 
notification of the decision to the applicant. If an application is denied, the written 
notification shall include the reasons for denial. 

(e) APPEAL 
Administrative determinations are appealable pursuant to Section 26-62. 

Sec. 26-37. Site Plan  
(a) APPLICABILITY 

The purpose of this section is to set forth the procedures and criteria for review and 
approval of site plans. Site plans are technical documents that illustrate how the 
structure(s), layout of an area, and proposed uses meet the requirements of this chapter 
and any other applicable ordinances, standards, regulations, and with all previously 
approved plans applicable to the property.  

(b) AUTHORITY 
A site plan is required for: 

(1) Character Districts 

a. Any application for development in a character district. 
b. All requests for structures, architectural elements or accessory structures (front 

porch, front yard fence) at or forward of the required building line, and accessory 
or temporary uses; however, for minor accessory structures not located forward of 

29

Item 6.



 
 

the required building line, such as sheds, fences, or decks, the site plan shall only 
be required to show the location of the proposed structure or addition in relation to 
property boundaries, required setbacks, easements, and terrain changes as more 
fully detailed in this Code; 

(2) Traditional Zone Districts  

a. Any application for a commercial, industrial, institutional, or multi-unit dwelling 
project;  

b. Any application for development requiring site plan review as set forth elsewhere 
in this chapter.  

(c) APPLICATION PROCEDURES 
(1) A pre-application meeting with the Zoning Review Committee (ZRC) is required prior to 

the submission of a site plan application for development in a character district. Pre-
application meetings are optional and encouraged for all other applications. 

(2) The applicant shall submit the site plan application to the Planning and Community 
Services Division. Application submittal deadlines and requirements shall be 
established on submittal forms available from the Planning and Community Services 
Division and on the City’s website.   

(d) DECISION CRITERIA 
The site plan shall be reviewed against the following criteria:  

(1) The site plan is consistent with all applicable adopted plans and policies; 
(2) The site plan is consistent with any prior approvals, including any conditions that may 

have been placed on such approvals; and  
(3) The site plan conforms with all applicable requirements of the Code of Ordinances, or 

with all applicable requirements as modified by a request for a minor adjustment. 

(e) LIMITATION OF APPROVAL 
Zoning Administrator approval of a site plan does not in any way imply approval by any 
other City department. 

(f) EFFECT 
(1) Approved site plans shall be binding upon the property owner(s) and their successors 

and assigns.   
(2) No permit shall be issued for any building, structure, or use that does not conform to an 

approved site plan.   
(3) No building, structure, use or other element of the approved site plan shall be modified 

without amending the site plan, unless it is determined by the City that such 
modification will not require an amended site plan.   

(4) All buildings, structures and uses shall remain in conformance with the approved site 
plan or be subject to enforcement action. 

(g) POST-APPROVAL ACTIONS 
(1) Expiration  

a. Approved site plans shall expire one year after approval if a building permit has not 
been issued, or the approved use established. In the event that the documents 
expire due to the passage of this time period, new site plan review documents 
must be submitted for approval in the same manner as an original application for 
development review.   

b. An extension not to exceed one year may be granted by the Zoning Administrator. 

30

Item 6.



 
 

(2) Modifications to Site plans  

The holder of an approved site plan may request an adjustment to the document, or 
the conditions of approval, by submitting either an application for minor adjustment or 
an amended site plan, whichever is appropriate, to the Zoning Administrator. An 
amended site plan shall be filed and processed in accordance with the procedures for 
an initial site plan submittal. 

Sec. 26-38. Proportionate Compliance in Character Districts 

(a) APPLICABILITY  
(1) Purpose 

To encourage redevelopment, continuing property investment, and infill development, 
it may be necessary to determine site appropriate adjustments to applicable 
development standards that will allow the development to take place while applying 
proportional development standards.  This section identifies the process for 
determining specific site compliance with a proportionate standard. 

(2) No New or Increased Noncompliance 

Any redevelopment of a structure or site shall be designed to either increase 
conformance with this Code or, at a minimum, not increase an existing nonconformity. 
Redevelopment shall not establish new nonconformity(ies) with this Code, regardless 
of the applicability of this section. 

(3) Development Standards in Character Districts 

A request for proportionate compliance is limited to Character District development 
standards listed in Table 26-38.1. 

(4) Required Parking 

The standards of Sec. 26-196, Character District Parking and Loading, shall apply for 
any new use, change of use, or expansion of a current use within a Character District, 
and are not subject to adjustment through proportionate compliance. 

(b) CALCULATING PROPORTIONATE COMPLIANCE 
(1) Requests for proportionate compliance shall be made through Section 26-37, Site 

Plan.  
(2) Proportionate compliance for standards applicable to a specific development or 

structure type may be requested for development changes listed in Table 26-38.1 
according to Section 26-38(E), below.   
a. Standards that must be fully complied with are marked with an /X/. 
b. Standards that will be applied to the maximum extent practicable based on a site-

specific determination are marked with an /S/. 
(3) Applicants shall clearly label all requested adjustments and identify the applicable standard 

in this section that allows the proposed adjustment. 

31

Item 6.



 

Table 26-38.1: Proportionate Compliance 

ALL FRONTAGE TYPES 

BUILDING FORM STANDARDS ARCHITECTURAL 
STANDARDS 

PUBLIC 
REALM 

STANDARDS 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

t:
 

R
e
q

u
ir

e
d

 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 L
in

e
 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

t:
 

B
u

il
d

a
b

le
 

A
re

a
 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

t:
 

P
a
rk

in
g

 

S
e
tb

a
c

k
 L

in
e

 

H
e
ig

h
t:

 

M
in

im
u

m
/ 

M
a
x
im

u
m

 

E
le

m
e
n

ts
: 

F
e
n

e
s
tr

a
ti

o
n

 

E
le

m
e
n

ts
: 

F
a
ç
a
d

e
 

P
ro

je
c
ti

o
n

s
 

U
s
e
s

 

N
e
ig

h
b

o
rh

o
o

d
 M

a
n

n
e
rs

 

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

 

C
o

n
fi

g
u

ra
ti

o

n
s
 

S
ig

n
s

 

R
O

W
 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e
 

A
re

a
 

D
o

o
ry

a
rd

 

 Key: X = compliance with standard is required  S = site-specific determination 

Full Compliance: Entire Structure Must Comply with Standards 

New Construction X X X Both X X X X X X X X X 

Expansion of Building Area              

For buildings < 2000 sf GFA,  
an expansion > 75% 

X X X Both X X X X X X X X X 

For buildings 2000 sf GFA,  
an expansion > 66% 

X X X Both X X X X X X X X X 

New, Expanded, or Relocated Parking 
Area 

  X           

Changes with No Building Expansion 

Change of use 
      

X 
   

X [3] 
  

Façade changes [1] 
    

X X 
  

X X X [3] 
  

Expansion of Building Area (GFA) for Buildings < 2000 sf 

Minimal Change: 0 to 40% 
 

X X Max 
  

X X X 
  

X S 

Proportionate Change:41% to 75% [2] 
 

X X Max X 
 

X X X 
  

X X 

Façade Changes [1] 
    

X X 
  

X X X [3] 
  

Expansion of Building Area (GFA) for Building 2000 sf or more 

Minimal Change: 0 to 20% 
 

X X Max 
  

X X X 
  

X S 

Proportionate Change: 21 to 66% [2] 
 

X X Max X 
 

X X X 
  

X X 

Façade Changes [1] 
    

X X 
  

X X X [3] 
  

Expansion of Parking Area 
  

X 
    

X 
     

[1] Major façade changes (as defined in Section 26-62(E)(3)) will trigger compliance with the standards marked in this row. 
[2] Expansion area shall comply with identified development standards. 

32

Item 6.



 
 

Table 26-38.1: Proportionate Compliance 

ALL FRONTAGE TYPES 

BUILDING FORM STANDARDS ARCHITECTURAL 
STANDARDS 

PUBLIC 
REALM 

STANDARDS 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

t:
 

R
e
q

u
ir

e
d

 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 L
in

e
 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

t:
 

B
u

il
d

a
b

le
 

A
re

a
 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

t:
 

P
a
rk

in
g

 

S
e
tb

a
c

k
 L

in
e

 

H
e
ig

h
t:

 

M
in

im
u

m
/ 

M
a
x
im

u
m

 

E
le

m
e
n

ts
: 

F
e
n

e
s
tr

a
ti

o
n

 

E
le

m
e
n

ts
: 

F
a
ç
a
d

e
 

P
ro

je
c
ti

o
n

s
 

U
s
e
s

 

N
e
ig

h
b

o
rh

o
o

d
 M

a
n

n
e
rs

 

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

 

C
o

n
fi

g
u

ra
ti

o

n
s
 

S
ig

n
s

 

R
O

W
 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e
 

A
re

a
 

D
o

o
ry

a
rd

 

 Key: X = compliance with standard is required  S = site-specific determination 

[3] Where a use or façade change results in new signage, changes to a sign structure, relocation of an existing sign, or changes to the sign area of an existing 
sign. 

33

Item 6.



 
 

(c) MEASURING REQUIRED COMPLIANCE 
(1) New Development  

New development shall comply fully with the applicable development standards. 

(2) Façade Changes: 

Where development changes are limited to the façade of a structure, the following 
standards shall apply: 

a. Maintenance or Minimal Change: Normal maintenance and façade changes that 
do not qualify as major changes shall not be required to comply with the qualified 
development standards. Individual façade element changes shall be made in 
compliance with applicable Elements and Architectural development standards 
applicable to that individual element to the maximum extent possible. 

b. Major Façade Changes: Façade changes that include any of the following are 
considered major changes and the façade shall be brought into full compliance 
with the Elements and Architectural development standards: 
1. Removing or changing architectural detailing that is consistent with and 

integral to the style and period of the building;  

2. Changing or adding architectural detailing that is inconsistent with the 

standards of this Code; 

3. Change to more than 50% of the surface area of the façade, measured by 

including all openings such as doors and windows;  

4. Altering, closing, or covering windows, doors, or transoms; or 

5. Any roof or wall structure reframing, including adding fenestration. 

(3) Redevelopment:  

a. Minimal Change. Redevelopment that changes or increases the total gross floor 
area of a structure within the range identified in Table 26-38.1, as determined by 
the building permit application, shall comply with the standards identified in Row A 
as applicable to development with minimal change. 

b. Proportionate Change. Redevelopment that changes or increases the total gross 
floor area of a structure within the range identified in Table 26-38.1, as determined 
by the building permit application, shall comply with the standards identified in Row 
B as applicable to development with proportionate change.   

c. Full Compliance. Redevelopment that changes or increases the total gross floor 
area of a structure within the range identified in Table 26-38.1, as determined by 
the building permit application, shall be required to fully comply with these 
standards. 

d. Measurement is based on changes to an individual structure that is subject to 
improvements, regardless of the total number of structures on the site. 

(4) Expansion of Parking Area 

Expansion of a parking area is defined as the addition of any parking spaces or the 
restriping or reconfiguration of more than 50% of the surface area of an existing 
parking area. 

(d) TEN-YEAR TIMEFRAME 
Any application by property owners to expand or replace part of an existing structure shall 
remain on record for 10 years from the date of work completion. Any subsequent 
application to expand or replace part of an existing structure shall be cumulative to any 
requests made within the previous 10 years. The total shall be used by the City to 
determine the property owner’s necessary level of compliance. 

 

34

Item 6.



 
 

Sec. 26-39. Minor Adjustments for Development in Character Districts 

(a) APPLICABILITY 
(1) A minor adjustment allows the modification of an existing numeric dimensional 

standard in a character district to accommodate: 
a. Anticipatory site-specific issues, or  
b. Minor construction issues.  

(2) Minor adjustments are applicable to new development, redevelopment, and major 
façade changes. 

(3) A minor adjustment may be requested either as part of an original application or as a 
modification to an existing approval.   

(b) PROCEDURES 
(1) Application 

Applications for minor adjustments shall be submitted on forms required by the City. 
Supporting materials must be submitted as specified on the application form.  

(2) Specific Procedures  

All applications for minor adjustment shall identify the specific issue that the minor 
adjustment is intended to address and how the minor adjustment will resolve that 
issue: 

a. A request for minor adjustment prior to issuance of a building permit shall be 
submitted with the project site plan application.   

b. A request for minor adjustment to address a minor construction issue shall be 
submitted with the approved project site plan, a written description of the minor 
construction issue, and an amended drawing of that part of the site for which the 
minor adjustment is requested. 

(c) PERMITTED TYPE AND SCOPE OF MINOR ADJUSTMENTS  
(1) Specific Building Form Standards 

The Zoning Administrator, after consulting with the ZRC, may grant minor adjustments 
as necessary up to the following maximum adjustments:   

a. Height 
1. Minimum and maximum height - up to 5% for any cumulative increase or 

decrease in building height. 

2. Street wall/fence requirements – up to 10%. 

3. Finished ground floor elevation – up to 5%; upper floor elevation(s) shall be 

adjusted accordingly.  

4. Finished ground floor elevation, flood hazard area – minor adjustments to 

finished ground floor elevation requirements necessary to meet lowest floor 

elevation requirements according to the applicable floodplain regulations. 

Upper floor elevation(s) shall be adjusted accordingly. The Zoning 

Administrator does not have the authority to issue permits for special 

exceptions or variances to flood hazard regulations.  

5. When the finished ground floor elevation is not subject to adjustment, upper 

floor finished elevation(s) may be adjusted up to one foot. 

b. Placement 
1. Required building line (RBL) – adjust forward up to 6 inches; may not 

encroach into the public right-of-way. 

2. Required building line minimum percentage built-to – reduction of up to 5% of 

required length. 

35

Item 6.



 
 

3. Parking setback line – move forward up to 6 feet; provided, the parking 

setback line remains separated at least 20 feet from the RBL.   

4. Mezzanine floor area – up to 10% additional area. 

5. Street wall requirements – up to 10% of the height/fenestration/access gate 

requirements. 

6. Entrances (maximum average spacing) – up to 10% increase in spacing. 

c. Elements 
1. Fenestration (minimum and maximum percent) – up to 5%. 

2. Other elements (minimum and maximum projections) – up to 5%. 

(2) Approval of Equivalent or Better Synthetic Materials 

a. Reflecting that the technology and production of building materials is constantly 
changing, an applicant may request that a material be added to the applicable 
approved materials list, provided:  
1. The material is not included in the applicable prohibited materials list; and 

2. The proposed material is similar to a permitted material and is equal to or 

better than the permitted material in terms of quality, maintenance, and 

durability as shown by the manufacturer’s specifications and industry studies.  

For example, a new generation of cementitious fiber siding may be substituted 

for wood clapboard siding.  

b. The Zoning Administrator shall maintain a list of approved materials. Materials 
included on the approved list may be used for later projects without further ZRC 
review. 

(3)  Non-Alley Curb Cut 

If vehicular access to a rear alley or private rear drive is not available, an applicant 
may request a minor adjustment to permit driveway access directly from a public 
street. Shared access or cross access with abutting lots may be required and any 
driveway spacing requirements shall apply. The width and location of the driveway 
access point shall be determined by the Zoning Administrator, after consulting with the 
ZRC and the City Engineer. The pavement width forward of the Parking Setback Line 
shall be 18 feet or less.  

(d) DECISION CRITERIA 
The Zoning Administrator, in consultation with the ZRC, shall consider the following 
provisions in making a determination on a minor adjustment request. When the minor 
adjustment is sought prior to the issuance of a building permit, the application must meet 
all five criteria in Sections (E)(1) and (E)(2). When a minor adjustment is sought to address 
a minor construction issue, the application only needs to comply with the criteria in Section 
(E)(2). 

(1) Anticipatory Site-Specific Issues Only 

a. The proposed structure or site feature is permitted in the character district.  
b. The minor adjustment allows development that is consistent or compatible with the 

intent and purpose of the Character District and the regulation modified.  
c. The impact of the minor adjustment is internal to the subject property and will not 

impede the normal and orderly development or improvement of adjacent 
properties.  

(2) Anticipatory Site-Specific Issues and Minor Construction Issues  

a. There are special circumstances existing on the property for which the application 
is made related to size, shape, area, topography, surrounding conditions, and/or 
location that make it practically difficult to meet the standard or requirement. 

36

Item 6.



 
 

b. The minor adjustment is necessary to permit the applicant the same ability to use 
the property that is enjoyed under this Code by other properties in the vicinity and 
Character District, but which are limited or denied to the subject property based on 
the applicability of the regulation sought to be adjusted. 

(e) REVIEW AND DECISION-MAKING 
Minor adjustments are processed as an administrative review decided by the Zoning 
Administrator upon consultation with the ZRC.   

 

 

Section 2.  Section 26-117, Districts Established, of Division 1, Generally, of Article III, 
Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and the following Sec. 26-117, is 
enacted in lieu thereof:  

Sec. 26-117.   Districts established. 

In order to classify, regulate and restrict the location of trades and industries and the 
location of buildings designed for specified uses, to regulate and limit the height and bulk of 
buildings erected or altered, to regulate and limit the intensity of the use of lot areas and to 
regulate and determine the area of yards, courts and other open spaces within and surrounding 
such buildings, the city is hereby divided into districts. The districts shall be known as:  

A-1  Agricultural District  

R-1SU  Single-Unit Residence District  

R-1  Residence District  

R-2  Residence District  

R-3  Multiple Residence District  

R-4  Multiple Residence District  

R-5  Residence District  

S-1  Shopping Center District  

C-1  Commercial District  

C-2  Commercial District  

C-3  Commercial District  

M-1  Light Industrial District  

M-2  Heavy Industrial District  

M-P  Planned Industrial District  

F-W  Floodway Overlay District  

F-F  Floodway Fringe Overlay District  

F-P  General Floodplain Overlay District  

R-P  Planned Residence District  

HCG  Highway Corridor and Greenbelt Overlay Zoning District  

CHN  College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District  

MPC  Major Thoroughfare Planned Commercial District  

37

Item 6.



 
 

PO-1  Professional Office District  

BR  Business/Research Park District  

MU  Mixed Use Residential District  

HWY-1  Highway Commercial District  

PC-2  Planned Commercial District  

HWY-20  Highway 20 Commercial Corridor Overlay District  

CD-DT  Downtown Character District   

P  Public Zoning District  

 

 

Section 3.  Paragraph (a)), Zoning Maps, of Section 26-118, District Boundaries, of Division 
1, Generally, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of the 
Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended to add a 
subparagraph (4), as follows:  

 
(4). Character District Regulating Plans. The boundaries of each Character District shall 

be indicated on the zoning map of the City and shall be governed by the associated 
Regulating Plan, which shall be the zoning map for each said Character District and 
shall be made a part of this article by reference. Each regulating plan is on file in the 
office of the city planner in hard copy and as a digital file, at the city hall. It shall be 
the responsibility of the city planner to see that the regulating plan is kept current at 
all times. To the extent there is any inconsistency between the regulating plan held 
on file in the office of the city planner and the digital regulating plan, the digital 
regulating plan shall take precedence.  

 
Section 4.  Paragraph (b), Interpretation of boundaries, of Section 26-118, District 
Boundaries, of Division 1, Generally, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of 
Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 
repealed in its entirety and the following paragraph (b) is enacted in lieu thereof:  
 

(b)   Interpretation of boundaries. Where uncertainty exists with respect to the boundaries 
of the various districts as shown on the map accompanying and made a part of this 
article, the following rules apply:  

(1) The district boundaries are either street lines or alley lines unless otherwise 
shown, and where the districts designated on the map accompanying and made 
a part of this article are bounded approximately by street lines or alley lines, the 
street lines or alley lines shall be construed to be the boundary of the district. 
Street and alley rights-of-way are not included in zoned areas, except within 
Character Districts, as shown on the subject Regulating Plan.   

(2) In unsubdivided property, the district boundary lines on the map accompanying 
and made a part of this article shall be determined by use of the scale appearing 
on the map.  

(3) Publication of the legal description of property zoned or rezoned shall constitute 
an official amendment to the official zoning map, and, as such, the map or 
portion of the map need not be published.  

Section 5.  Division 1, Generally, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 

38

Item 6.



 
 

26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended 
to add a new Section 26-141 (previously reserved), titled Use-Specific Standards, as 
follows:  

Sec. 26-141. Use Specific Standards 

When reference is made to a group of zone districts, the following individual districts shall be 

included: 

District Groupings Used in this Section 

Residential R-1SU, R-1, R-2, R-3, R-4, R-5, R-P 

Mixed-Use  MU 

Commercial S-1, C-1, C-2, C3, MPC, BR, PO-1, HWY-1, PC-2 

Character District 
Frontage 
Designations 

Urban General, Urban General 2, Storefront, Neighborhood Medium, 
Neighborhood Small 

Industrial M-1, M-2, M-1-P, M-2-P 

Overlay HCG, CHN, HWY-20  

Public P 

Agricultural A1 

 

(a) USE CLASSIFICATION, ORGANIZATION, AND INTERPRETATION  
(1) Organization 

a. Land uses are assigned to the use category that most closely describes the nature 
of the principal use. Some categories are further divided into subcategories.  

b. A number of the most common uses are listed under the "Examples" subsection 
for each use category. The examples are generic and may be used in the process 
of interpreting new uses. Example lists are not exhaustive. 

c. In some cases, developments may have more than one principal use.  
1. When all of the principal uses of a development fall within one use category, 

then the entire development is assigned to that use category. All uses are 
subject to any applicable use-specific standards.  

2. When the principal uses of a development fall within different use 
categories, each principal use is classified into the applicable use category 
and each use is subject to all applicable regulations for the use category.  

3. A use that is otherwise not permitted in a district may not be included as one 
of multiple principal uses through interpretation. For example, if colleges and 
universities are not permitted in a residential district, that district may not be 
interpreted to allow both residences and colleges as multiple principal uses.  

d. Developments may have one or more accessory uses or structures. 
1. A list of accessory uses commonly associated with a particular use category 

is included under a paragraph entitled, "Accessory Uses and Structures." 
The examples are generic and may be used in the process of interpreting 
new uses. Accessory uses are subject to all applicable regulations. Example 
lists are not exhaustive.  

2. Uses are categorized as accessory or principal as determined by the 
circumstances of the use on the site. A cafeteria may be an accessory use 
to a principal industrial use, while a restaurant may be a principal use. 

e. Prohibited uses: Some uses are prohibited in individual zone districts, as noted in 
that district. 

39

Item 6.



 
 

f. Excluded uses: Some of the use categories may contain excluded uses. These are 
uses that may seem to be part of a particular category, but which are explicitly 
classified into a different use category.  

(2) Use-Specific Standards 
a. All uses shall comply with any applicable use-specific standards. 
b. Uses located in character districts shall comply with the applicable site and 

structure standards of that district. 
c. When a use is changed on a property, the new use shall comply with all applicable 

use-specific and site-specific standards. Changing from one use category or use 
subcategory to another is considered a change of use. 

(3) Classification 
a. For uses not listed as examples, the Zoning Administrator shall consider the 

following list of factors when classifying a use into a particular category, and/or to 
determine whether the activities constitute principal uses or accessory uses: 

1. How closely the use matches the description of the use category, as stated 
in Section 26-132(b); 

2. The intensity of the activity or use in comparison to the stated characteristics 
of a use category and list of examples;  

3. Conformance with the currently adopted comprehensive plan and purpose of 
the zoning district in which the use is proposed; 

4. Types of vehicles, equipment and/or processes to be used;  
5. The amount of site or floor area and equipment devoted to the use or 

activity;  
6. The hours of operation;  
7. How the use advertises itself;  
8. Number of employees, visitors, or customers generated;  
9. Parking demands associated with the use; and 
10. Special public utility requirements for serving the proposed use type, 

including, but not limited to, electricity, water supply, wastewater output, pre-
treatment of wastes and emissions required or recommended, and any 
significant power structures or infrastructure and communications towers or 
facilities;  

11. Whether the use or activity would be likely to be found independent of the 
other activities on the site;  

12. Whether a use is subordinate in area, extent, or purpose to the principal 
building or use served; 

13. Whether the use contributes to the comfort, convenience, or necessity of 
occupants, customers, or employees of a principal use; 

14. Any other relevant evidence regarding use or activity that would help to 
classify a particular land use.  

b. If, based on the criteria identified above, the Zoning Administrator determines that 
a use can reasonably be determined to be similar to more than one use or 
category of uses, the Zoning Administrator in consultation with the Zoning Review 
Committee or other appropriate city staff shall select the use category that 
provides the most exact, narrowest, and appropriate fit. 

c. The following categories of uses typically impose substantial impacts on a site, 
adjacent sites and structures, pedestrians or cyclists, the road network, or public 
infrastructure. Where a new use, not listed as an example, is proposed that might 
be categorized into one of these categories, the applicant shall file an application 
for text amendment to determine if the use will be permitted. Through this process, 
the City will have the opportunity to review and determine the impacts of the 

40

Item 6.



 
 

proposed use and establish any prescribed conditions that may be appropriate to 
allowing the use. 

1. Agricultural Uses  
2. Industrial Services 
3. Manufacturing, Processing, and Assembly 
4. Waste and Salvage 

d. Determination of Non-Similarity  
1. The Zoning Administrator may determine that a proposed use is not 

substantially similar to any use identified in Section 26-197 or Table 26-
231.1 because either: 

(i) The potential impacts of the use are significantly more impactful on the 
site, street, or neighborhood, than other permitted uses in the same use 
category and that the use would not otherwise be permitted without 
prescribed conditions or through a public review process, or  

(ii) There are no similar uses permitted on the site or in the applicable zone 
district. 

2. When this is the case, the Zoning Administrator shall provide the applicant 
with a written determination of non-similarity within 15 business days of the 
request for interpretation.  

e. In cases of dispute, the Zoning Administrator shall issue a zoning determination 
letter and the proposed use shall comply with any conditions and review 
procedures that may apply to that use. Such determinations may be appealed to 
the Board of Adjustment. If an appeal is made, the Board of Adjustment shall 
determine whether the City has made an error in classifying the subject use based 
on the facts in evidence and the factors listed in paragraph a. above.  

f. Post-Decision Actions 
1. A Zoning Administrator’s written determination regarding classification may 

be appealed to the Board of Adjustment, or 
2. An applicant may apply for a zoning code text amendment. 
3.  

(b) USE CLASSIFICATION CATEGORY DESCRIPTIONS 

(1) Residential Uses 

a. General Description: Residential uses offering habitation of a dwelling on a 
continuous basis. The continuous basis is established by tenancy with a minimum 
term of one month or habitation by the property owner.  

b. Use Categories 

1. Household Living: This use category is characterized by residential 
occupancy of a dwelling unit by one or more persons living together as a 
single housekeeping unit. A household typically includes four or fewer 
adults. Each dwelling unit contains its own facilities for living, sleeping, 
cooking and eating meals. Uses where tenancy may be arranged for a 
period of less than one month are not considered residential, they are 
considered to be a form of transient lodging. Household living also include 
group homes, which is a category of household living that receives equal 
treatment with single-household residential living pursuant to Iowa and 
federal law.  

(i) Sub-categories 

(a)  Group Homes, as defined by Iowa law: elder family homes, elder 
group homes, and family care homes. Large group care facilities that 

41

Item 6.



 
 

provide housing for nine or more individuals are considered Group 
Living Uses.  

(b)  Single-unit dwellings, detached: A residential building containing one 
principal dwelling unit. Each unit is located on a separate, legal lot, 
except for cottages within a cottage court, as defined and regulated 
within a character district. Examples include detached houses, zero 
lot line dwellings, cottages, and manufactured homes,1 provided the 
manufactured home complies with the district standards and has 
been converted to real property and taxed as a site-built dwelling.  

(c)  Single-unit dwellings, attached: A residential building containing 
more than one principal dwelling unit, with each dwelling unit sharing 
one or more common walls with at least one other dwelling unit, no 
unit is located above another unit, and each unit is located on a 
separate, legal lot. Examples include townhome/rowhouse, and bi-
attached dwellings.  

(d)  Two-unit dwellings (also called duplexes): A residential building 
containing two principal dwelling units located on one lot.  

(e)  Multi-unit dwellings: A residential building containing three or more 
principal dwelling units located on one lot. Examples include 
apartment buildings, condominium buildings, rowhouse/townhome 
configurations with multiple side-by-side dwelling units on one lot. 

(f)  Dwelling(s) in Mixed-Use Structure: A building, or portion of a 
building, which contains one or more dwelling units in addition to 
commercial or other non-household living uses. Examples include  
apartments and condominiums. 

(ii)  Accessory Uses and Structures: bed and breakfast establishments, 
storage buildings, accessory dwelling units, residential vehicle parking, 
home occupations, child care home. 

2. Group Living: This use type is characterized by residential occupancy of a 
dwelling or associated group of dwellings by a group of people who do not 
meet the definition of "Household Living".  The size of the group residing in 
the structure is typically larger in size than a single household. Group Living 
Uses contain individual rooming units with private or shared bathroom 
facilities and may also contain shared kitchen facilities and/or common 
dining and meeting areas for residents. The residents may or may not 
receive any combination of care, training, or treatment, but those receiving 
such services must reside at the site. Alternatives to incarceration, such as 
halfway houses, where residents are placed in the facility by court order and 
are under supervision of the Department of Corrections, are excluded from 
this category and classified as Detention Facilities.  

(i) Sub-categories 
(a) Assisted group living: nursing and convalescent homes, assisted 

living communities; group care facility. 
(b) Hospice home. 
(c) Independent group living: rooming or boarding houses. 
(d) Fraternal group living: fraternities, sororities, monasteries, convents. 

 

                                                           

 

42

Item 6.



 
 

(ii) Accessory Uses and Structures: Recreational facilities, meeting rooms, 
offices, storage facilities, food preparation and dining facilities. 

(2) Civic and Institutional Uses 
a. General Description: Civic and Institutional Uses are public, quasi-public, and 

private non-profit uses that provide unique services that are of benefit to the public 
at-large. 

b. Use Categories 
1. Civic and Cultural Assembly and Service: Civic and cultural assembly 

and service uses are permanent places where persons regularly assemble 
for religious worship or secular activities, and which are maintained and 
controlled by a body organized to sustain the religious or public assembly.  
(i) Sub-categories:  

(a) Community Assembly: Places of community assembly, such as 
libraries, museums, community centers, senior centers, and 
recreation centers that are open and available to the general public.  

(b) Human or neighborhood services: Uses that provide non-commercial 
activities or support services to individuals or groups that are not 
otherwise defined by this code. Examples include food pantries, 
literacy and language instruction, counseling and therapy, and other 
human service agencies. Social service agencies that consist 
primarily of office and counseling functions and operate in a similar 
fashion to other office uses are classified as Office.  

(c) Emergency Shelter: facilities providing emergency temporary shelter 
operated by a public or nonprofit agency, such as homeless 
shelters. 

(d) Religious/Private Group Assembly: Private, non-profit membership 
organizations that provide meeting space and facilities for their 
members. Examples include religious institutions and civic and 
social organizations such as private lodges, clubs, fraternal 
organizations, and similar private, non-commercial membership 
organizations.  

(ii)  Accessory uses and structures: Non-commercial recreation, food 
preparation and dining facilities; maintenance/storage buildings; living 
quarters for clergy; columbarium; accessory daycare facilities; offices; 
parking  

2. College and University: Public or private colleges, universities, business, 
or technical colleges that offer courses of general or specialized study 
leading to a formal degree and requiring at least a high school diploma or 
equivalent general academic training for admission. These uses tend to be 
in campus-like settings or on multiple blocks. Non-degree granting business, 
technical, trade, martial arts, music, dance, and drama schools/studios are 
excluded from this category and classified as Specialized Educational 
Facilities.  
(i) Subcategories: 

(a) Private: Private colleges, universities, professional, and technical 
schools. 

(b) Public: Colleges, universities, and professional schools that are 
under state jurisdiction. 

43

Item 6.



 
 

(ii) Accessory Uses and Structures:. offices; housing for students; food 
service; laboratories; health and sports facilities; theaters; meeting 
areas; parking; maintenance facilities. 

3. Day Care: A non-residential facility that provides less than 24-hour-per-day 
care or supervision for children and adults according to Iowa statutory 
requirements. Examples: childcare center, adult daycare center; preschools 
and latch key programs not accessory to an Educational Facility Use or 
other principal use. In-home daycare services, which are determined to be 
accessory to a principal Household Living Use, are not included in this 
principal use category.  
 

4. Educational Facilities: An educational institution that satisfies the 
compulsory education laws of the State of Iowa for students in the 
elementary grades, middle school grades, or high school grades, 
respectively; and schools for specialized activities, such as dance, music, 
martial arts, business, and technical skills. Business and technical colleges 
that offer degree programs in campus-like settings are excluded from this 
category and classified as College and University, Private. 
(i) Subcategories: 

(a) General Educational Facilities: This definition includes both public 
schools and private, non-boarding schools that have a curriculum 
similar to that in the permitted public schools. 

(b) Specialized Educational Facilities: Schools primarily engaged in 
offering specialized trade, business, or commercial courses, but not 
academic training. Also specialized nondegree-granting schools, 
such as music schools, dramatic schools, dance studios, martial arts 
studios, language schools and civil service and other short-term 
examination preparatory schools.  

(ii) Accessory Uses and Structures: Play areas, cafeterias, recreational and 
sport facilities, auditoriums, preschools, and before- or after-school day 
care. 

5. Detention Facilities and Community Service: Facilities for the judicially 
required detention or incarceration of people. Inmates and detainees are 
under 24-hour supervision by the Department of Corrections, except when 
on an approved leave. This category also includes alternatives to 
incarceration, such as halfway houses, where residents or inmates are 
placed by and remain under the supervision of the courts. 
(i) Examples:  

(a) Prison, jail, probation center, juvenile detention home, halfway house 
for current offenders. 

(b) Work release: Facilities participating in a work release, or similar 
programs from a state institution, and under the supervision of a 
court, state or local agency. 

(ii) Accessory uses: Offices, recreational and health facilities, therapy 
facilities, maintenance facilities, hobby and manufacturing activities. 

6. Government and Public Safety Services: This is a use type for locations 
and structures that provide a place for the regular transaction of 
governmental business. This category does not include utilities or industrial-
scale public facilities. Examples: Public safety facilities, governmental 
offices, storage areas and yards, fleet storage, and service areas. 

7. Health Care Facilities: Larger health care facilities, particularly licensed 
public or private institutions that provide principal health services, medical 

44

Item 6.



 
 

care, emergency care, and surgical care to persons suffering from illness, 
disease, injury, or other physical or mental conditions. Smaller standalone 
medical and dental clinics and mental health counseling offices are 
classified as Office uses.  
(i) Examples:  

(a) Hospital, hospice center, surgicenter. 
(b) Treatment facility: A health care facility providing either or both 

inpatient or outpatient therapy for substance abuse, mental illness, or 
other behavioral problems.  

(ii) Accessory uses: laboratories, outpatient, or training facilities, and 
parking, other amenities primarily for the use of facility employees. 
 

8. Non-Commercial Recreation and Open Space: This use type includes 
uses that focus on natural areas, large areas consisting mostly of vegetative 
landscaping or outdoor recreation, community gardens, or public squares. 
These lands tend to have few structures.  
(i) Examples: Passive and active recreation, parks, playgrounds, 

community gardens, public squares, cemeteries, conservation lands. 
(ii) Accessory uses and structures: Clubhouses, playgrounds, maintenance 

facilities, concessions, caretaker's quarters, and parking for cars and 
RVs as permitted by the City.   

(3) Commercial Uses 
a. General Description: Commercial uses include any retail, consumer service, or 

office use. 
b. Use Categories 

1. Amusement and Recreation: This use type includes a broad array of 
commercial establishments, divided into indoor and outdoor categories, 
which operate or provide services to meet varied artistic, cultural, 
entertainment, and recreational interests of their patrons and the community. 
Restaurants and bars that provide live entertainment in addition to the sale 
of food and beverages, are excluded from this classification and categorized 
as Eating and Drinking Establishments. 
(i) Sub-categories: 

(a) Adult Business: Any amusement or entertainment establishment, 
bookstore, massage establishment, motion picture theater, video 
rental or sales establishment, or other similar use, in which 25% of 
more of its floor area is customarily not open to the public generally 
but only to one or more classes of the public excluding any minor by 
reason of age under Chapter 728, obscenity, Code of Iowa, as 
amended.  

(b) Indoor: movie theaters and live theaters; video arcades; pool halls. 

(c) Outdoor: drive-in movie theater; amusement park or theme park; 
fairgrounds; miniature golf establishments; golf driving ranges; water 
slides; and batting cages. 

2.  Animal Sales and Services: This use category groups uses related to 
animal care, sales, and provision of supplies. Some uses, such as kennels, 
runs, and outdoor play spaces may not be permitted as principal or 
accessory outdoor facilities where they are incompatible with adjacent uses. 

(i) Subcategories 

45

Item 6.



 
 

(a) Indoor: Pet stores, dog bathing and clipping salons, pet grooming 
shops, pet clinics, animal hospitals 

(b) Outdoor: Boarding (kennels and stables), any animal sales and 
service use that includes outdoor runs and/or play areas.  

(ii) Accessory Uses and Structures: Indoor and outdoor kennels and runs. 

3. Commercial Assembly: Commercial assembly is that category of uses that 
are designed or used primarily for small or large group assembly or meeting. 
As a principal use, commercial assembly is located in a permanent 
structure. Temporary commercial assembly, such as a theater in the park 
event, is regulated separately. Restaurants and bars that provide live 
entertainment in addition to the sale of food and beverages, are excluded 
from this classification and categorized as Eating and Drinking 
Establishments.  
(i) Examples: convention centers, concert halls, banquet facilities, 

stadiums, arenas, skating rinks (ice or roller), wedding venues.  
(ii) Commercial assembly uses are categorized as large or small based on 

the criteria in Section 26-141(a)(3), Classification.  
 

4. Eating and Drinking Establishment: This is a use category for businesses 
that prepare or serve food or beverages intended for immediate 
consumption on or off the premises.  
(i) Examples: Restaurants and bars.  
(ii) Accessory uses and structures: Production of specialty foods or 

beverages primarily for on-site consumption, such as baking, coffee 
roasting, and craft brewing; food preparation areas, outdoor seating, 
offices, and parking. 
 

5. Financial Services: Facilities that have as their principal purpose the 
custody, loan, exchange or issue of money, the extension of credit and the 
transmission of funds.  
(i) Sub-categories:  

(a) Financial institution: Establishments engaged in deposit banking. 
Banks and financial institutions may include, but are not limited to, 
commercial banks, loan or mortgage companies, stockbrokers, 
savings institutions, credit unions, and other similar uses.  

(b) Alternative financial services: The use of a site for the provision of 
alternative financial services such as vehicle title loans, check 
cashing, payday advance/payday loan, or money transfer, including: 
check cashing business, payday advance/loan business, money 
transfer business, vehicle title loan business. 

(ii) Accessory uses and structures: drive-in/drive-through facilities, 
automatic teller machines, parking. 

6. Heavy Commercial: This use category includes businesses that have a 
size, functional use, or site difference from other types of commercial that 
makes the use generally incompatible with residential uses, such as uses 
that have large outdoor storage and display areas, such as lumber yards 
and landscape nurseries; or uses that involve frequent interaction with 
freight trucking or activities that produce excessive noise, dust, or odor. 
Commercial uses that involve both manufacturing or production and retail 

46

Item 6.



 
 

sales belong in this category where the work activities or storage take place 
outside or in large indoor facilities. . 
(i) Subcategories: 

(a) Heavy Retail and Commercial Services: Uses that typically include 
large areas of outdoor storage, work areas, or display, such as 
lumber yards, garden and landscaping centers, farm supply and 
implement sales, RV and camper sales. Trailers and commercial 
containers mounted on wheels are not accepted structures for 
outdoor storage unless such trailers and commercial containers 
remain movable and are regularly moved to and from work sites as 
part of the principal use of the property. Storage of wrecked or 
inoperable vehicle(s) is excluded from this category and classified as 
Waste and Salvage.  

(b) Self-Service Storage: Real property designed and used for the 
purpose of renting or leasing individual storage space to tenants with 
access to such spaces for the purpose of storing and removing 
personal property. All storage of goods and materials under this 
definition shall occur within a completely enclosed structure. The 
leasing of space outdoors for storage shall be defined as outdoor 
storage. 

(ii) Accessory Uses: office, outdoor storage, retail and wholesale sales, 
parking. 
 

7. Lodging: Uses in this use type provide customers with temporary housing 
for an agreed upon term of less than 30 consecutive days; any use where 
temporary housing is offered to the public for compensation and is open to 
transient guests.   
(i) Examples: Hotels, motels, bed and breakfast inns, short-term rentals, 

and RV parks.  
(ii) Accessory uses and structures: food preparation and service, offices, 

meeting space. 
8. Office: This type includes uses where people are engaged primarily in on-

site administrative, business, or professional activities. These uses are 
characterized by activities in an office setting that focus on the provision of 
off-site sale of goods or on-site information-based services, usually by 
professionals.  
(i) Examples: Real estate, insurance, medical offices and clinics, urgent 

care facilities, property management, investment, employment, travel, 
advertising, law, architecture, design, engineering, accounting, call 
centers, and similar offices. This category may also include laboratory 
services that are conducted entirely within an office-type setting.  

(ii) Accessory uses and structures may include cafeterias, health facilities, 
parking, or other amenities primarily for the use of employees in the firm 
or building. 
 

9. Parking, Commercial: A use type that distinguishes principal commercial 
parking facilities from accessory parking. 
 

10. Retail Sales and Services: This is a use type for businesses involved in the 
sale, lease, or rental of new or used products to the general public at retail, 
along with the provision of commercial and personal services. Also includes 
cottage industries, as defined below.   

47

Item 6.



 
 

(i) Subcategories:  
(a) Commercial Services: uses that provide services for consumers or 

businesses, such as copy services, catering, laundromats, dry 
cleaners, tailors, photographic studios; and uses that provide repair 
and maintenance of consumer goods, such as office equipment, 
appliances, bicycles, shoes, and similar.  

(b) Retail sales: Stores selling or leasing a wide variety of consumer, 
home, and business goods, including convenience food store, drug 
store, grocery store, clothing store, hardware store, general 
merchandise store, furniture store, and stores that sell gifts and 
specialty goods.  

(c) Personal services: Establishments engaged in providing services 
related to personal care and grooming, such as hair salon, exercise 
facilities, spa, tanning salon, tattooing, piercing, and body art. Also 
includes mortuaries and funeral homes.  

(d) Cottage Industry: A firm that manufactures, fabricates, creates, or 
assembles goods for on-site sales to the general public for personal 
or household consumption. The goods may also be sold at wholesale 
to other outlets or firms, but on-site, retail sales is a significant 
component of the operation.  Such uses operate on a small scale, in 
keeping with the surrounding neighborhood, with little impact in terms 
of noise, and no discernible impact in terms of vibration, dust, or 
odor. Examples: artisanal fabrication of craft or custom home goods, 
furniture, or other products; artist studios; small-scale food or 
beverage production (such as a microbrewery, bakery, or 
confectionery). 

(ii) Accessory uses and structures: offices; parking; indoor or outdoor 
storage and display of goods.  
 

11. Consumer Vehicle and Equipment Sales and Services: This use type 
includes a broad range of uses for the maintenance, sale, or rental of motor 
vehicles and related consumer equipment. This use category is intended for 
the regulation of personal vehicles; Large vehicles and heavy equipment are 
regulated in the Industrial and Construction Services use category.  
(i) Subcategories 

(a) Vehicle Sales: Sales, lease, or rental of personal vehicles, including 
automobiles, motorcycles, pick-up trucks, and incidental maintenance 
services and auto parts sales associated with such uses.  

(b) Quick Vehicle Servicing: Direct services for motor vehicles where the 
driver generally waits in the car or on-site before and while the 
service is performed. The facility may include a drive-through area 
where the service is performed. Examples include gas stations and 
car washes. 

(c) Vehicle Repair: Establishments providing repair and servicing of 
passenger vehicles, light and medium trucks and other consumer 
motor vehicles such as motorcycles, boats and recreational vehicles. 
Generally, the customer does not wait at the site while the service or 
repair is being performed. Examples include: vehicle repair shops; 
auto body shops; transmission and muffler shops; alignment shops; 
auto upholstery shops; auto detailing services; tire sales and 
mounting.     

(ii) Accessory uses and structures: Storage, offices, parking.  

48

Item 6.



 
 

 
(4) Industrial Uses  

a. General Description: This is a use category including uses that produce goods 
from extracted and raw materials or from recyclable or previously prepared 
materials, and also including the design, storage, packaging, shipping and 
distribution, and handling of these products and the materials from which they 
are produced. 
 

b. Use Categories 
1. Industrial and Construction Services: This use type is characterized by 

companies that are engaged in the repair or servicing of heavy machinery, 
equipment, products, or by-products, or the provision of heavy services 
including construction or contracting. Examples include contractor facilities, 
yards, and pre-assembly yards; welding shops; machine shops; towing and 
vehicle storage; service and repair of medium and heavy trucks; 
exterminators; janitorial and building maintenance services; fuel oil 
distributors; solid fuel yards; laundry, dry-cleaning, and carpet cleaning 
plants; may include schools for the industrial trades if activities and facilities 
are similar to other uses in this category. Junkyards and auto salvage are 
not included in this category but are categorized as Waste or Salvage. 
Accessory uses and structures: Sales, offices, parking, and storage yards. 
 

2. Industrial Manufacturing, Assembly, or Processing: Establishments 
involved in the manufacturing, processing, fabrication, packaging, or 
assembly of goods. This category is divided into light and heavy 
manufacturing based on the potential external impacts (noise, smell, heat, 
vibration) of the use and the extent to which outdoor production or storage is 
required. Natural, constructed, raw, secondary, or partially completed 
materials may be used.  Products may be finished or semi-finished, and are 
generally made for the wholesale market, for transfer to other plants, or to 
order for firms or consumers.  Goods are generally not displayed or sold on 
site, but if so, such activity is a subordinate part of sales.  Relatively few 
customers come to the manufacturing site. Accessory use and structures 
include offices, cafeterias, parking, employee recreational facilities, 
warehouses, storage yards, repair facilities, truck fleets, and caretaker's 
quarters. 
  

3. Natural Resource Extraction: This use type includes removal of resources 
from the ground. Example: mining, oil and gas extraction. 
 

4. Wholesale Sales: This use type includes facilities used for the sale, lease, 
or rent of products primarily intended for industrial, institutional, or 
commercial businesses. These uses often include on-site sales staff for 
order taking, and may include display areas.  Businesses may or may not be 
open to the general public, but sales to the general public are limited as a 
result of the way in which the firm operates. Products may be picked up on 
site or delivered to the customer. 
   

5. Warehousing and Distribution: Firms involved in the storage or movement 
of goods for themselves or other firms. Goods are generally delivered to 
other firms or the final consumer, except for some will-call pickups. There is 
little on-site sales activity with the customer present. Typical uses include 

49

Item 6.



 
 

storage warehouses, distribution centers, moving and storage firms, trucking 
or cartage operations, truck staging or storage areas. Human occupancy is 
limited to that required to transport, arrange, and maintain stored materials. 
(i) Examples: Warehouses for furniture and appliance stores; household 

moving and general freight storage; cold storage plants; major wholesale 
distribution centers; truck and air freight terminals; railroad switching 
yards; bus and railcar storage lots; taxi fleet parking and dispatch; fleet 
parking parcel services; major postal sorting and distribution facilities; 
grain terminals; and the stockpiling of sand, gravel, and other aggregate 
materials. This use does not include the storage of goods incidental to a 
different principal use on the same lot, which is considered an accessory 
use. 

(ii) Accessory uses and structures: offices, parking, outdoor storage. 
6. Waste and Salvage: This is a use category for uses that collect, store, 

process, or sell waste or salvage materials, or collect and process recyclable 
material, for the purpose of marketing or reusing the material in the 
manufacturing of new, reused, or reconstituted products. 
(i) Examples: refuse hauling facility, salvage yard, recycling collection and 

processing facility; sanitary landfills; waste composting facilities; waste 
transfer stations; portable sanitary collection equipment storage and 
pumping; and hazardous waste collection sites.  

(5) Transportation, Utilities, and Communication 
a. General Description: This use group includes providers and uses that provide 

public and quasi-public services to individuals and the community in the following 
categories. 

b. Use Categories 
1. Alternative Energy Production: This is a use category that includes energy 

produced from resources that are regenerative, such as wind and solar 
energy. 

2. Transportation: This is a use category that includes uses involving public 
and private modes of transportation. 
(i) Examples: bus terminal (but not individual bus stops), train terminal, 

airport, heliport, park and ride lot. 
3. Utilities and Public Facilities: This use type includes structures and 

locations for public or private lines and facilities related to the provision, 
distribution, collection, transmission, or disposal of water, storm and sanitary 
sewage, oil, gas, power, information, telecommunication and telephone 
cable, and facilities for the generation of electricity.  Utility uses may or may 
not have regular employees at the site and the services may be public or 
privately provided.  
(i) Subcategories 

(a) Utilities, major: Infrastructure services that have substantial land use 
impacts on surrounding areas. Typical uses include, but are not 
limited to, water and wastewater treatment facilities, major water 
storage facilities, railroad infrastructure, and electric generation 
plants. 

(b) Utilities, minor: Infrastructure services that do not have substantial 
impacts on surrounding areas or are otherwise necessarily 
distributed throughout the community to aid in the operation, 
distribution, collection, conveyance, transmission, storage or other 
necessary aspect of a public or private utility service. Typical uses 
include electric substations, pump or lift stations, water towers, 

50

Item 6.



 
 

electric or control vaults or cabinets, and other similar equipment or 
structures necessary for the operation of any public or franchised 
private utility or service. 

4. Wireless Communication Facilities: This use type includes structures, 
locations, and equipment for the transmission of voice, data, image, video, 
or other electronic programming.  

(6) Agricultural Uses  
a. General Description: This is a category of uses characterized by active and on-

going agricultural uses, activities, and related uses. An agricultural use, in 
general, means the use of land for the growing and production of field crops, 
livestock, aquatic, and animal products for the production of income.  Other 
agricultural uses might include fruit and vegetable stands, livestock sales, 
wholesale nurseries, and stables. Lands in agricultural uses and districts may 
also be held for preservation and conservation purposes. The sale or service of 
agricultural products and equipment included in similar commercial use 
categories.  

b. Use Categories 
1. Agricultural Cultivation: Uses in this category are characterized by the 

cultivation of plants for consumption or commercial sale.  Products may 
include, but are not limited to, vegetables, grains, fruits, plants, sod, trees, 
and other similar products. 
(i) Sub-categories 

(a) General Crop Farms: examples include truck farming; grain farming; 
tree farms; fruit, nut, and berry farms; and wineries. 

(b) Community gardens: A parcel of land where members of the 
community have access to individual garden plots for the cultivation 
of fruits, flowers, vegetables, or ornamental plants. 

(c) Plant Nursery: A parcel of land used to raise plants, shrubs, trees, 
and other horticultural and floricultural products, conducted within or 
without an enclosed building.  

(ii) Accessory Uses and Structures: farm dwelling; greenhouse, retail sales, 
office, parking; indoor and outdoor storage, machine shed and other 
farm outbuildings 

2. Animal Agriculture: Uses in this category are characterized by the 
commercial breeding, raising, and/or keeping of fish, livestock, and/or any 
type of fowl for sale or use of the animal, their products, or byproducts. 
Accessory uses and structures: Farm dwelling, offices, indoor and outdoor 
storage, machine sheds and other farm outbuildings; feedlots; pasture. 

3. Agricultural Infrastructure Facilities: Uses in this category support 
agricultural production, including: including grain elevators, commercial feed 
outlets, farm supply stores, truck and animal weigh stations, and agricultural 
chemical or fuel bulk and storage facilities. 

 

Section 6.  The introductory paragraph for Section 26-126, Detached Accessory Structures, 
of Division 1, Generally, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, 
Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its 
entirety and the following introductory paragraph, is enacted in lieu thereof: 
 

Accessory structures shall be permitted in all zoning districts, subject to the floodplain 
regulations contained in this article, where applicable, in accordance with the following 
provisions. If any of said provisions conflict with a provision or provisions in a Character 

51

Item 6.



 
 

District, as determined by the Zoning Administrator, the Character District provision(s) 
shall apply.  
 

Section 7.  Section 26-127, Setbacks for corner lots, of Division 1, Generally, of Article III, 
Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, shall include an introductory statement, as follows:  
 

This section does not apply in Character Districts.  
 

Section 8. Sec. 26-189, Central Business District Overlay Zoning District, within Division 2, 
Specific Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of 
the Code of Ordinance of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is hereby repealed in its entirety.  
 
Section 9.  Division 2, Specific Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of 
Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 
amended to add new Sections 26-191 to 26-197 (previously reserved), to establish 
Character District regulations and standards, as set forth in the attached Exhibit A, 
incorporated herein by reference.   
 
Section 10. Paragraph (c)(1) of Section 5-5, Conditions for issuance of license or permit, 
within Article I, ln General, of Chapter 5, Alcoholic and Malt Beverages, is hereby repealed 
in its entirety and the following paragraph (c)(1) is enacted in lieu thereof:  
 

(1) The place of business for which such liquor control license or wine or beer permit is 
sought must be located within a commercial district (C-1, C-2, C-3, S-1, HWY-1, PC-
2, PO-1, MPC, BR), industrial district (M-1, M-2, M-P), MU Mixed Use Residential 
District, or CD-DT Downtown Character District.  

 

Section 11. Paragraph (b) of Section 13-38, Location restrictions, of Division 1, Mobile 
Merchants, of Article II, Specific businesses and occupations, of Chapter 13, Licenses and 
Business Regulations, is hereby repealed in its entirety and the following paragraph (b) is 
enacted in lieu thereof:  
 

(b) Mobile merchants who are engaged in business on private property may only do so if 
said property is located within a commercial district (C-1, C-2, C-3, S-1, HWY-1, PC-
2, PO-1, MPC, BR), industrial district (M-1, M-2, M-P), MU Mixed Use Residential 
District, or within the Urban General, Urban General 2, or Storefront Frontage 
Designations of the CD-DT Downtown Character District. 

 

Section 12. Paragraph (d) of Section 19-74, Certain commercial use of public sidewalks, of 
Division 1, Generally, of Article III, Obstructions, of Chapter 19, Streets and Sidewalks, is 
hereby repealed in its entirety and the following paragraph (d) is enacted in lieu thereof:  
 

(d) Tables, chairs and/or benches. Any proprietor of an establishment in those areas of 
the city that are zoned C-3 Commercial District or within the Urban General, Urban 
General 2, or Storefront Frontage Designations of the CD-DT Downtown Character 
District under the zoning chapter, who sells food for consumption on or off the 
premises of such establishment may use that portion of the public sidewalk that is 
immediately adjacent to and that lies in between the side property lines, as extended 
to the curb of the public sidewalk, for the purpose of providing tables, chairs, and /or 
benches for the convenience of and use by such proprietor’s customers and others, 
with the following restrictions:  

52

Item 6.



 
 

 

Section 13. Paragraph (e) of Section 19-74, Certain commercial use of public sidewalks, of 
Division 1, Generally, of Article III, Obstructions, of Chapter 19, Streets and Sidewalks, is 
hereby repealed in its entirety and the following paragraph (e) is enacted in lieu thereof:  
 

(e) Temporary movable signs on certain public sidewalks. Any proprietor of an 
establishment in those areas of the city that are zoned C-3 Commercial District or 
within the Urban General, Urban General 2, or Storefront Frontage Designations of 
the CD-DT Downtown Character District, under the zoning chapter, may use a 
portion of the public sidewalk that is immediately adjacent to and that lies in between 
the side property lines, as extended to the curb of the public sidewalk, for the 
purpose of displaying one temporary movable sign for such establishment, with the 
following restrictions:   

 
Section 14. Paragraph (a)(2) of Section 19-94, Use of public sidewalks for sidewalk cafes, of 
Division 2, Sidewalk Cafes, of Article III, Obstructions, of Chapter 19, Streets and Sidewalks, 
is hereby repealed in its entirety and the following paragraph (a)(2) is enacted in lieu thereof:  

 
(2) Are within those areas of the city that are zoned C-3 Commercial District or 
within the Urban General, Urban General 2, or Storefront Frontage Designations of 
the CD-DT Downtown Character District, under the zoning chapter;  

 
 
 
INTRODUCED:     September 7, 2021   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 
____________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  
 

53

Item 6.



1

 26-191 Introduction & DefinitionsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

How to Use the Character Districts
Look at the adopted zoning map to determine if property is located within 
a Character District with an adopted regulating plan. 

If no:

These standards are not applicable.  

If yes:

I want to know what is allowed for my property:

1. Find the specific property in question on the adopted regulating 
plan. Identify the required building line and the parking setback line. The 
color of the fronting street-space determines the applicable building 
form standard (see the key located on the regulating plan).  

2. Find the applicable building form standard in Section 26-193. Building 
Form Standards. The standards in Section 26-193.1 General Provisions 
that apply to all properties in the Character Area Districts. The 
building form standard describes the parameters for development on 
the site in terms of placement, height, elements, and use.  

3. Additional regulations regarding architecture, streets and other 
public spaces, parking requirements, and permitted building 
functions are found in Sections 26-194 through 26-197.  

4. See Sections 26-36 through 26-39 for information on the 
development review process. 

I want to modify an existing building:

Determine whether your intended changes would trigger a level of code 
compliance by looking at Section 26-193 Building Form Standards and 
the Proportionate Compliance Table in Section 26-63.

If yes, follow the process delineated therein (and the indicated portions 
of steps 2-4, above).

I want to establish a new use in an existing building:

Find the property on the regulating plan and determine the applicable 
building form standard. Determine whether the use is allowed by looking 
at the Permitted Use Table in Section 26-197. If the use is listed with 
a cross-reference in the right-hand column, refer to those specific 
performance standards. 

I want to change the regulating plan regarding my property:

Minor adjustments to an adopted Character District regulating plan 
are permitted according to Section 26-192.H. A Character District 
regulating plan is amended through a Rezoning Process. See Section 26-4 
Amendments to Chapter.

I want to subdivide my property:

Property may be subdivided in accordance with the procedures of 
Chapter 20 Subdivisions. Any subdivision of a property within a Character 
District shall also meet the applicable standards of Sections 26-192 to 197.

26-191 Introduction to Character Districts & Definitions
Character Districts: Sections    
26-191 to 26-198

26-191. Introduction & Definitions

26-192. Regulating Plans 

26-193. Building Form Standards 

26-194. Architectural Standards

26-195. Public Realm Standards

26-196. Parking & Loading

26-197. Building Functions

26-198. Reserved 

26-199. Reserved

54

Item 6.



26-191 Introduction & Definitions

2

Character DistrictsExhibit A

A. Purpose & Intent
This section establishes the Character Districts. Sections 26-192 through 26-198 
provide the rules for development in these districts.

The Character Districts are established to implement adopted community 
vision plans. They focus on community character, through an emphasis on 
development character, intensity, and physical form and patterns, rather 
than solely on land uses. They emphasize the relationship between private 
development and the public realm to promote an overall sense of place within 
the designated areas of Cedar Falls, while allowing a wide variety of land uses.
 
A Character District is a defined geographic area in a specific location (rather 
than a land use designation on a single parcel) that accommodates a mix of 
uses—either within the same building, on the same parcel, or within close 
proximity—in a pedestrian-oriented, transit-supportive, compact, walkable 
form. Each Character District is developed around an existing or new 
interconnected street network. These Districts are intended to maintain or create 
traditional urban design and preserve and enhance community character. All 
Character Districts provide a range of housing options and include, and/or are 
within walking distance of, a mixed-use center.

New Character Districts may be designated or created. The City or the 
property owner shall plan, design, and construct any new Character Districts 
to be integrated with the larger community and accessible by all modes of 
transportation—private automobile, public transit, bicycle, and pedestrian.  

The District regulations establish requirements related to form, character and 
design that will complement the established pattern, promote compatible infill 
and redevelopment, and create an environment where people can live, work, 
learn, worship, and relax within a compact urban setting. The standards foster 
a system in which buildings are oriented toward the street or public realm, and 
organized around perimeter blocks,1 ideally with rear lot service access via alleys 
or shared drives. 

B. Organization
Each Character District is mapped by a regulating plan and divided into two 
or more building frontages. Each building frontage is defined primarily by a 
common scale, character, and intensity, rather than land use category (although 
uses are broadly regulated). 

The Character District regulations include a set of building form standards 
that establish a hierarchy of development forms, within which the scale and 
intensity can be tailored for each designated Character District. The goal of 
the building form standards is to create a vital and coherent public realm 

1 Certain terms in the Character District Sections of this Code are used in specific ways, often 
excluding some of the meanings of common usage. Wherever a word is in small capitals format, consult 
Section G. Key Character District Concepts (below) or this Section G and H for its specific and limited 
meaning within the Character Districts. 

Aerial photo Cedar Falls Neighborhood

Birds-Eye Downtown Cedar Falls

55

Item 6.



3

 26-191 Introduction & DefinitionsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

College Hill, mixed-use core area.

through the definition and shape of the street-space—the specific physical and 
functional character—of the Character Districts. 

1. The regulations on building forms are applied at the parcel level and put 
primary emphasis on the building frontage—the relationship between 
the building and the street-space. The regulations work together to 
frame the public realm throughout each Character District. 

2. The building form standards are tailored to the existing or desired 
physical context of each Character District, using a range of scales and 
intensities, as identified by the adopted plan. 

C. Applicability

1. Where an adopted regulating plan is shown on the zoning map, these 
Character District standards immediately apply at the parcel level.

2. The process for developing or redeveloping within a Character District 
is delineated in Section 26-36 through Section 26-39. Site Plan.

D. Other Applicable Regulations
Where apparent conflicts exist between the provisions of the Character Districts 
and other existing ordinances or approvals, these Character District standards 
shall govern within a Character District.  

E. Minimum Requirements
In interpreting and applying the provisions of the Character Districts, they are 
the minimum requirements for development under this Code.

F. Components
The Character District standards are included in the following sections:

1. Section 26-191 Introduction & Definitions instructs on the use and 
organization of the Character District Code. It’s Definitions component 
includes those terms that are used in the Character District regulations 
in specific ways, often excluding some of the meanings of common 
usage. Wherever a word is in small capitals format, consult G. Key 
Character District Concepts, below, or H. Definitions for its specific and 
limited meaning. Where there is an apparent contradiction between the 
definitions in the Character Districts and those elsewhere in the Cedar 
Falls Zoning Ordinance, the definitions in this section shall prevail. 
Words used but not defined in the Character Districts, but that are 
defined elsewhere in the Cedar Falls Zoning Ordinance, shall have the 
meanings set forth therein. 

2. Section 26-192 Regulating Plans: The regulating plan is the application 
map for each Character District. The regulating plan provides specific 
information on the rules for development within the parcel. The 
regulating plan makes the development standards place-specific, by 
designating the building form standard frontages and delineating the 
public spaces.

The regulating plan identifies: the boundaries for the Character 
District; existing and new streets; the required building line; and 
the parking setback line throughout the Character District; and may 
identify additional regulations and/or special circumstances for specific 
locations. 

Downtown, Parkade area.

56

Item 6.



26-191 Introduction & Definitions

4

Character DistrictsExhibit A

3. Section 26-193 Building Form Standards sets out the rules for building 
siting, scale, and massing that control how buildings frame and relate 
to the street-space or public realm. The building form standards 
establish the parameters for development on each site in terms of 
building placement, height, elements, and uses. 

4. Section 26-194 Architectural Standards provide parameters for a 
building’s exterior elements, with an emphasis on facades. These 
standards govern materials, configurations, and techniques for 
development under all building form standards. They are established 
in order to ensure a coherent and high-quality building character that is 
complementary to the best traditions of Cedar Falls. 

5. Section 26-195 Public Realm Standards include standards for the public 
realm: streets and sidewalks, and squares, civic greens, and other 
public open spaces. They are established in order to ensure a vital and 
complete public realm with a high level of walkability.

6. Section 26-196 Parking and Loading Standards provide goals and 
requirements to promote a “park once” environment through shared 
parking and encourage pedestrian-friendly, walkable Character Districts. 

7. Section 26-197 Building Function Standards define the uses allowed and/
or required on ground floors and in upper floors, correlated with each 
building form standard. Because the Character Districts emphasize 
form more than use, these standards include fewer, broader categories 
than those provided elsewhere in the Cedar Falls Zoning Ordinance.   

57

Item 6.



5

 26-191 Introduction & DefinitionsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

Attic Story: 
Habitable space situated within the structure of a 
pitched roof and above the uppermost story that does 
not count against the ultimate building or story height if 
constructed within the prescribed standards. 

Block: 
An increment of land comprised of lots, alleys, and 
parcels circumscribed and not traversed by streets 
(pedestrian pathways excepted). blocks are measured at 
the required building line (rbl). 

Buildable Area:
The area of the lot that structure(s) may occupy, 
which generally includes the area of the lot behind 
the required building line and excluding any required 
setbacks, as designated in the individual building form 
standard. Any building additions shall be within the 
specified buildable area.

Clear Sidewalk: 
The portion of a sidewalk that must remain clear of 
obstructions (furniture, signage, trees, lighting, etc.) to 
allow for unimpeded public passage. 

Clearly Visible from the Street-Space:
Some requirements of the Character Districts apply 
only where the subject is “clearly visible from the 
street-space.” (Note the definition of street-space below.) 
A building element more than 30 feet from a required 
building line or street-space is by definition not clearly 
visible from the street-space.  Common or party walls are 
by definition not clearly visible from the street-space. 

Dooryard: 
The area within the street-space, extending across the 
entire frontage of the lot, between the building façade 
(the required building line) and the clear sidewalk. This 
area may be hard-surfaced  or planted according 
to Section 195.2.A Public Realm Standards, General, 
Dooryards.

Façade (building face): 
The building elevation facing the street-space or required 
building line. Building walls facing private interior courts, 
common lot lines, and alleys are not façades (they are 
elevations).

Fenestration: 
Openings in a wall, including windows and doors, 
allowing light and views between the building and/or 
lot interior (private realm) and exterior (public realm).

Parking Setback Line: 
A line or plane, generally parallel to the required building 
line, that extends vertically up from the ground story 
floor level (unless otherwise noted on the regulating 
plan), behind which parking may be located. 

Private Open Area: 
An occupiable area within the buildable area, generally 
only accessible to occupants of the particular building 
or site, and (primarily) open to the sky. The permitted 
location(s) for the private open area is designated in the 
individual building form standard. 

Public Realm: 
See street-space  

Required Building Line (RBL): 
A line or plane indicated on the regulating plan, 
defining the street frontage, that extends vertically and 
is generally parallel to the street, at which the building 
façade shall be placed. It is a requirement, not a 
permissive minimum, such as a setback. (The minimum 
length and height of facade that is required at the rbl is 
shown on the applicable building form standard.)

Street-Space (Public Realm):  
The space between fronting façades or required building 
lines, including streets, squares, greens, sidewalks, 
dooryards, and parks—but not within alleys.  

Street Wall: 
A primarily masonry wall which assists in defining the 
street-space, filling in the gaps between adjacent 
building façades.  

Tree Lawn (tree trench/planting strip): 
A continuous strip of soil area—typically covered with 
bridging pavement, tree grates, porous pavers, or grass 
and other vegetation—located between the back of 
curb and the clear sidewalk, and used for planting street 
trees and configured to foster healthy street tree root 
systems. tree lawn configurations are specified in the 
Public Realm Standards, Section 195.5.

G. Key Character District Concepts
The following list of concepts are important components of the Character District regulations and are provided here for 
quick reference. These and other terms in the Character District sections are used in specific ways, often excluding some 
of the meanings of common usage. Wherever a word is in small capital format, consult below or H. Definitions for its 
complete specific and limited meeting

58

Item 6.



26-191 Introduction & Definitions

6

Character DistrictsExhibit A

H. Definitions
The following terms are defined for the purpose of the Character Districts. Terms not defined here may be defined 
elsewhere in the zoning ordinance. In such case, the definition contained in the zoning ordinance shall be used. Certain 
terms in these districts are used in very specific ways, often excluding some of the meanings of common usage. Where 
there is an apparent conflict or contradiction, the definition herein shall prevail.

Alley. The public right-of-way or public access easement for vehicles and pedestrians within a block that provides 
service access to the rear or side of properties, vehicle parking (e.g., garages), loading docks, utility meters, recycling 
containers, and garbage bins.  

Attic Story. See G. Key Character District Concepts.

Awning. A solid or fabric-on-frame roof-like element attached to the façade or required building line side of a 
building to provide shelter or shade. 

Balcony. An exterior platform attached to the upper stories of the building façade (generally forward of the required 
building line).  

Bay Window. Generally, a U-shaped enclosure extending the interior space of the building forward of the facade/
required building line (along its street-space side). 

Block. See G. Key Character District Concepts.

Block Corner. The outside corner of a block at the intersection of any two required building lines. Inside corners, 
where the resulting angle formed by the block face is less than 180 degrees (concave) are not considered block 
corners for the purposes of the Character Districts.

Block Face. The required building line frontage between block corners.

Building Corner. The outside corner of a building where the primary building mass is within an angle less than 180 
degrees. Inside corners, where the exterior space of the building mass forms an angle of more than 180 degrees are not 
considered building corners for the purposes of the Character Districts. 

Buildable Area. See G. Key Character District Concepts.

Building Form Standards (bfs). The part of the Character District standards that establish basic parameters regulating 
building form, including: the envelope (in three dimensions); placement on the lot; and certain permitted and 
required building elements, such as shopfronts, balconies, and fenestration. 

Canopy. The solid or fabric-on-frame roof-like element, covering an entry door(s), attached to the façade or required 
building line side of the building to provide shade or shelter. 

Civic Buildings. Those buildings designated on the regulating plan that are or were designed to house strictly civic 
or cultural assembly uses or are historically and urbanistically significant structures. These may include meeting halls; 
libraries; schools; police and fire stations; post offices (retail operations only, no primary distribution facilities); places 
of worship; museums; cultural, visual and performing art centers; transit centers; courthouses; and other similar 
community uses. Public ownership alone does not constitute a civic building. Civic buildings and publicly-owned 
public art are not subject to the building form standard prescriptions of the Character Districts unless specifically 
noted otherwise. 

Clear Height. Within a structure, the habitable distance between the floor and ceiling. For entrances and other external 
building features, the unobstructed distance from the ground/sidewalk to the lowest element above. Clear height is 
not applicable to parking structures. 

Clear Sidewalk. See G. Key Character District Concepts.

Clearly visible from the Street-Space. See G. Key Character District Concepts.  

Common Lot Lines. Lot lines shared by adjacent private lots. 

59

Item 6.



7

 26-191 Introduction & DefinitionsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

Cottage. The building form used for a Cottage Court. 

Cottage Court. The configuration of small single unit buildings/houses around a shared courtyard green space that is 
open to the street-space. 

Corner Lot. A lot that has frontages on two intersecting street-spaces. Special building placement, fencing and 
landscape requirements may apply. 

Courtyard. The shared central area, that is open to the street-space in a cottage court configuration.

Duplex A two-unit dwelling, built according to the Neighborhood Medium or Neighborhood Small frontage standards, 
with the two units arranged either side by side or one above the other in the same structure, each having substantially 
the same exposure to the street frontage. 

Dooryard. See G. Key Character District Concepts.

Equivalent or Better. A building material or construction technique that has been determined, by the Zoning 
Administrator in consultation with the Zoning Review Committee, to be at least equal to, in appearance, durability, 
etc., or surpassing those expressly permitted herein.

English Basement. A habitable floor level below the first floor that is partially above and below grade. The ceiling of 
an english basement is at least 3 feet above sidewalk grade with windows and an entry with direct street-space 
access. English basement units do not count against the story height limit but do count against the maximum 
height measurement. An english basement unit is considered an accessory dwelling unit. 

Façade Composition. The arrangement and proportion of materials and building elements (windows, doors, columns, 
pilasters, bays) on a given façade.

Fenestration. See G. Key Character District Concepts. 

Forecourt. A building facade configuration where a central portion of the facade is set back from the required 
building lines to form a space that is enclosed on 3 sides by building elevations, with the entry door on one of the 
three elevations. Forecourts are limited in size and must satisfy all their frontage standards.     

First Floor. See Ground Story. 

Front Porch. An entry platform attached to the ground story façade or required building line side of the 
building. 

Green or Square. A public open space designated on the regulating plan. The term green is used to describe a small 
public lawn, playground, or other public open area that is primarily unhard-surfaced . The term square is generally 
used to describe spaces that have more hard-surfaced area. See Section 26-195 Public Realm Standards for the specific 
controls on greens and squares.

Ground Story. The first habitable level of a building at or above grade. The next story above the ground story is the 
second story or floor.

Mezzanine. An intermediate level between the ground story and the second story that may be in the form of a 
platform, podium, or wide balcony. 

Muntin. A strip of wood or metal separating and holding panes of glass in a window, less than 1” in thickness.  Muntins 
divide a single window sash or casement into a smaller grid system of panes of glass.

Parking Setback Line. See G. Key Character District Concepts.

Pedestrian Pathway. A publicly accessible interconnecting hard-surfaced  way, open to the sky, providing pedestrian and 
bicycle passage through blocks running from a street-space to another street-space, alley, or an interior block 
parking area. 

Privacy Fence. An opaque fence generally along alleys, pedestrian pathways, and common lot lines. See the Section 
26-193 Building Form Standards for height and placement specifications and Section 26-194 Architecture for material 
and configuration standards.

60

Item 6.



26-191 Introduction & Definitions

8

Character DistrictsExhibit A

Private Open Area. See G. Key Character District Concepts.

Public Realm. See G. Key Character District Concepts.

Regulating Plan. The implementing plan for development within the Character Districts. Regulating plans designate 
the building form standards for private development and may provide specific information for the disposition 
of each building site. The regulating plan also shows how each site relates to adjacent street-spaces, the overall 
district, and the surrounding neighborhoods.

Required Building Line (rbl). See G. Key Character District Concepts.

Rowhouse. A single-unit multi-story attached building, sharing one or more common walls with at least one other unit, 
and with a direct street-space facade entry and no principal dwelling unit above another principal dwelling unit. 

Shared Parking. Automobile parking that is visible and accessible to the public for a minimum portion of each day.   

Shopfront. The area of the frontage running, vertically from the sidewalk up to the bottom of the second story 
floor structure and horizontally, the full width of the interior shop or store space. This is comprised of the various 
architectural elements including kneewalls, transoms, window panes, mullions, muntins, posts, pilasters, columns, 
and any roofs, cornices or eaves—all of which shall comply with the standards of Section 26-193.3 Building Form 
Standards, Storefront Frontages, and Section 26-194.4.F. Architectural Standards, Shopfronts.  

Sidewing. The portion of a building attached to and behind the primary structure extending along a common lot line 
toward the alley or rear of the lot.  

Small Apartment. A multi-unit dwelling built according to the Neighborhood Medium or Neighborhood Small frontage 
standards. 

Square. See green.

Stoop. An entry platform on the façade of a building. (See the individual building form standards for specifications.)

Story. That space within a building and above grade that is situated between one floor level and the floor level next above, 
or if there is no floor above, the ceiling or roof above. 

Street-Space. See G. Key Character District Concepts.

Street-Space Frontage. That portion of the lot or building that is coincident with the required building line as 
required by the Character Districts.

Street Tree. A tree required in the Character Districts that is used to define the street-space or pedestrian realm and 
listed in the Street Tree List in Section 26-195 Public Realm Standards. Street trees are large enough to form a shade 
canopy with sufficient clear trunk to allow traffic to pass under unimpeded.

Street Wall. See G. Key Character District Concepts.

Tree Lawn. See.G. Key Character District Concepts.

Uses. See Sections 26-132 and 26-133 for categories and definitions.

Zoning Review Committee (ZRC). An internal staff committee established to review development proposals for 
compliance with applicable Character District regulations and to interpret the ordinance in such a way as to carry out 
its purpose and intent. The committee shall consist of the Zoning Administrator, the Building Official, and a Planner 
designated by the Zoning Administrator. 

61

Item 6.



9

26-192 Regulating PlanCharacter Districts Exhibit A

Section 26-192 Regulating Plan 
A. Purpose and Intent    

The regulating plan is the controlling document and principal tool for 
identifying the applicable regulations in each Character District. Each 
Character District will have its own regulating plan. 

1. The regulating plan is the mandatory base zoning for the Character 
District.

2. The regulating plan makes the Character District development 
standards place-specific by: 
a. Identifying the boundaries of the district;
b. Laying out a specific street and block configuration, including any 

new streets;
c. Designating the building frontage for each street-space (regulated 

in Section 26-193, Building Form Standards); 
d. Identifying any civic buildings; and 
e. Delineating any new or existing greens or squares. 

3. The regulating plan also specifies the required building line and 
parking setback line. See also the Placement page in the indivdual 
building frontage in Section 26-193 Building Form Standards.   

4. The regulating plan may identify:
a. Specific characteristics assigned to a lot or a section of street 

frontage;
b. Additional regulations for lots in specific locations; 
c. Exceptions to the building form standards or other Character 

District standards related to unique context or urban design.

5. Changes to an adopted regulating plan beyond those specifically 
allowed in this section will require a rezoning process. (See H Amending 
Regulating Plans below.)  

B. Regulating Plan Configuration Standards

1. Building form frontages on the regulating plan 
a. The applicable building form frontages for private parcels are 

designated on the regulating plan by their street frontage.  
b. The building form standards—which define the form and 

character of the district—are allocated based on the adopted Vision 
Plan.  

2. Streets
a. Generally, connectivity of the street grid throughout the Character 

Districts, specifically intersection alignments, is regulated by 
these standards.  An interconnected street grid is fundamental to 
creating a compact, walkable, and bikeable environment that is 
transit-supportive. These standards are intended to preserve and 
establish that connectivity, whether it is constructed immediately 
or in a phased manner. The regulating plan delineates the street 
network that creates a pattern for growth while providing flexible 
opportunities for infill. 

b. Streets on an adopted regulating plan shall be considered 
mandatory when developing under this district: if proposed they 
shall be included, if existing they shall not be removed.  

Character District Sections:     
26-191 to 26-198

191. Introduction & Definitions 

192. Regulating Plans 

193. Building Form Standards 

194. Architectural Standards

195. Public Realm Standards

196. Parking & Loading

197. Building Functions

198. Reserved 

199. Reserved

62

Item 6.



10

26-192 Regulating Plan Character DistrictsExhibit A

 Diagram A.

c. No street-space may be gated. 
d. All lots shall share a frontage line with, and all principal buildings 

shall directly front, a street-space and/or a required building 
line - as designated on the approved regulating plan. Phased 
projects may meet this requirement for each phase of development, 
satisfying it in increments. 

e. Where a new street or a street stub-out is shown on the regulating 
plan, no other curb cut and/or intersecting street is permitted within 
100 feet. 

3. New Streets designated on the regulating plan  
a. Any new streets will require subdivision and a  new plat. Consult the 

Zoning Administrator. 
b. In addition to the street connectivity requirements in 2. Streets above, 

the following standards apply to those streets constructed after the 
adoption of the Character District regulating plan. 
(i) New streets designated on the regulating plan may or may not 

be immediately constructed. 
(ii) Any new streets that create frontage on a parcel being developed 

shall be constructed at the time of development. 
(iii) New streets shall be public.  

c. If constructed within 50 feet of the center line location in an 
adopted regulating plan, the street repositioning will not require 
a rezoning, provided the resulting configuration meets these street 
configuration standards and that any other properties with frontage 
are not adversely affected.   All regulatory elements of the street, 
such as the required building line, parking setback line, and 
the building form frontage designation, shall move with any street 
repositioning.   

d. Additional new streets or alleys may be added to an adopted 
regulating plan by an applicant to create a smaller block pattern; 
however, no streets or alleys may be deleted without being replaced 
and the result shall meet all the prescriptions of the Character 
District standards.

C. Blocks 

1. Blocks are measured at the required building lines or, where a  
required building line is not present, along public rights-of-way, or 
other public, conservation, and/or property outside of the Character 
District.  All lots and/or contiguous lots shall be considered to be part of 
a block for this purpose. (see Diagram A) 

2. Within an approved regulating plan: no block face shall have a 
length greater than 360 feet without an alley, public access easement 
or pedestrian pathway of not less than 24 feet in width, providing 
through-access to another street-space, or alley.  If a block does 
not meet this standard, then at the time of development, the following 
standards apply:   
a. Individual lots with less than 100 feet of street-space frontage are 

exempt from this requirement.  

63

Item 6.



11

26-192 Regulating PlanCharacter Districts Exhibit A

b. Lots from 100 through 200 feet in frontage shall, in coordination with the Zoning Review Committee, 
reserve a public access easement at least 12 feet wide, unless already satisfied within that block face. 

c. Lots with over 200 feet of street frontage shall meet the through-access requirement within their lot, unless 
already satisfied within that block face. 

d. New lots shall not be platted in order to avoid/circumvent the through-access requirement 

The Zoning Administrator in consultation with the ZRC shall determine which type of through-access must be 
implemented. 

3. Where a new regulating plan is being created, or an approved regulating plan is being amended that 
involves a change to the number of streets or blocks, the following standards apply:
a. No block face shall have a length greater than 360 feet.
b. The average perimeter of the blocks within the developed area shall not exceed 1100 feet.

4. Curb Cuts: No new curb cuts are permitted unless otherwise specified below. The creation and retention of curb 
cuts in the character district shall be dependent on their providing access to, and circulation for, alleys as 
per the following:  
a. For lots with alley access, existing or in a redevelopment plan, existing curb cuts other than those necessary 

for alley circulation, shall be eliminated or vacated at the time of redevelopment. 
b. For lots without alley access, existing curb cuts may be maintained or required to be relocated, subject to the 

standards of this section. 
c. For lots without a curb cut or alley access, new curb cuts for shared driveways have priority over those for 

single access. No new curb cut may be within 100 feet of another curb cut except where the new curb cut 
provides needed access for existing or planned alley circulation.  

d. All curb cuts are subject to Zoning Review Committee approval.  (See Section 26-196.C.5)

5. Where a parking structure or surface lot with more than 20 spaces, existing or planned, is being provided with at 
least 40% of its spaces available to the general public, existing curb cuts that provide access to the public parking 
may be retained or relocated even if the lot has alley access. Such parking must meet the requirements of Section 
26-196.C.5 for shared parking.

D. Alleys
alleys provide internal block circulation and shared access to rear parking and service areas. They may also serve as 
fire lanes. 

1. Existing alleys shall be maintained.  

2. Access to parking and service areas shall be from alleys or public access easements as set forth in this section. 
Alleys or public access easements shall, at the time of redevelopment, provide access to the rear of all lots.  The 
Zoning Administrator may waive or approve alternative access to parking and service areas where the absence of 
the alley would not deprive an adjacent lot/neighbor of rear lot access, and:
a. The lots are on a perimeter common to non-developable or conservation lands, or 
b. A lot has streets on three sides. 

3. Alleys may be incorporated into parking lots as standard drive aisles.  Access from alleys to all adjacent 
properties shall be maintained. 

4. In Storefront, Urban General, and Urban General 2 frontages, vehicular access between adjacent parking lots and 
across property lines is encouraged. 

5. In Storefront, Urban General, and Urban General 2 frontages, where an alley does not exist and is not feasible to 
construct at the time of development of any property, the applicant is required to preserve rear service access and 
maintain the area within the rear setback by, at a minimum: 
a. Providing routine landscape maintenance to the area. 
b. Keeping the area clear of debris, stored materials, and stored or parked vehicles. 

64

Item 6.



12

26-192 Regulating Plan Character DistrictsExhibit A

E. Public Open Space 
Standards for structures and plantings in public open spaces are provided in Section 26-195 Public Realm Standards.  

F. Sample Regulating Plan Key
Each regulating plan contains a key explaining the plan designations. The key below, Illustration B, is provided as 
an example.  

 Illustration B.

UNDERSTANDING THE REGULATING PLAN

BUILDING FRONTAGE DESIGNATION
The  color filling the right-of-way indicates 
the relevant building form standard (bfs) 
rules governing your site.  

REQUIRED BUILDING LINE (RBL)
This red dashed line indicates the rbl for 
your site. The building must be built-to 
the rbl. 

PARKING SETBACK LINE
Vehicle parking (above ground) is not 
allowed forward of this blue dashed line 
unless otherwise noted on the regulating 
plan or in this section.

GREEN or SQUARE 
Public Open Space. Refer to the City for 
details. 

SPECIAL CONDITION
Specific limitation or allowance 
regarding the building form standard for 
this frontage or site. 

65

Item 6.



13

26-192 Regulating PlanCharacter Districts Exhibit A

W 8th St

W 9th St

W 10th St

W 7th St

W 6th St

W 5th St

W 4th St

W 3rd St

W 2nd St

W 1st St

Cl
ay

 S
t

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

St

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

Fr
an

kl
in

 S
t

Tr
em

on
t S

t

Io
w

a 
St

W
al

nu
t S

t

Bl
uf

f S
t

Gr
ov

e 
St

O
liv

e 
St

W 18th St

W 19th St

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

St

24.7

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

W 1st St

W 11th St

W 12th St

W 13th St

W 14th St

W 15th St

W 16th St

Cl
ay

 S
t

Fr
an

kl
in

 S
t

Tr
em

on
t S

t

W
al

nu
t S

t

O
liv

e 
St

Io
w

a 
St

Railway

Public
Open Space

Civic Structure

Parking Setback

*1. see the Urban General BFS, 193.2.F.4.b, for more information. 

Storefront

Req'd Building

UNDERSTANDING THE REGULATING PLAN

Color and Symbol Key

Neighborhood
Study Area Bounds
Downtown Character

Line (RBL)

W 17th St

A Comfortable 5 Minute Walk

1
3

0
0

 F
ee

t

1300 FT1200800600 1000200 400100300

St
at

e 
St

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

Bl
uf

f S
t

Downtown Character District

G2-4st

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

G2- 5st, 120 lf

Streets
New 

W
al

nu
t S

t

Parkway Lane 

*3 Required street connection
between Walnut Street and either
College Street or Ida Street. The
exact route is to be determined
through platting.
Consult the Zoning Administrator.

W 2nd St

W 3rd St

W 18th St

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l, 
10

' R
BL

Neighborhood

Medium

Small

G
2-

no
 re

ta
il

Cl
ay

 S
t

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

Higby Drive

Urban
General

Urban
General 2

*1

St
or

ef
ro

nt
 3

*2. see the Neighborhood Medium BFS, 193.4.F.3.b or the Neighborhood Small BFS, 193.4.E.3.b, for more information. 

*1

*1

*2

*2

*1

August 2021 Ferrell Madden

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

*1
*2

*2 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2 *2

*2 *2

*2

*2

*2

*2
*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*1 *1

*2

*1

*1*1
*1

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2 *2

*2 *2
*1

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2*2

*1

*1

*2

*2*2

*2 *2 *2

*2*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2
*1

*2

*1 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*2

*1

*1

Tr
em

on
t S

t

Ida St

*3. Consult with the Zoning Administrator for more information. 

N
 C

ol
le

ge
 S

t

*2

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l, 
10

' R
BL

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l, 
10

' R
BL

G
2.

 1
5'

 R
BL

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l

Regulating Plan

Tr
em

on
t S

t

Io
w

a 
St

W
al

nu
t S

t

O
liv

e 
St

G. Example Regulating Plan 
Each Character District has its own regulating plan. The regulating plan below is provided as an example.  See 
the City for the regulating plan for a specific Character District. 

 Illustration C.  This image of the regulating plan for the Downtown Character District is shown for illustrative purposes only; refer to the 
City for the regulating plan specific to your Character District.

66

Item 6.



14

26-192 Regulating Plan Character DistrictsExhibit A

 Diagram E.

 Diagram G. 

 Diagram F.

H. Amending Regulating Plans 

1. Certain minor reconfigurations to the street alignments shown on an 
adopted regulating plan may be allowed, subject to re-platting and 
the design standards in Sections B.3.c and d above, without triggering 
a rezoning. Any other changes to an adopted regulating plan shall 
meet all the criteria of this chapter and will require a rezoning. 

2. Certain minor adjustments to the frontage designation shown on the 
regulating plan are permitted within the parameters of Section 26-
193. Building Form Standards D.5 Frontage Designation Flexibility.   

3. Required building line location or new street alignments may be 
reconfigured by the Zoning Review Committee, without triggering 
a rezoning, if the presence of a flood plain or wetland on the parcel 
prohibits development envisioned by the code.

4. Street Connectivity
a. Any proposals to reconfigure the street network in the adopted 

regulating plan shall be configured such that:
(i) Street connectivity is maintained; cul-de-sacs and other dead-

end streets are not permitted except as specified here; and
(ii) No street intersection occurs within 100 feet of another street 

intersection; and 
(iii) The block configuration meets the standards defined in Section 

B, Blocks above; and
(iv) The average perimeter of the resulting blocks within the area 

of change does not exceed 1,100’.  
b. Streets that do not connect to other streets, as part of an 

interconnected network, are not permitted except:
(i) Where configured with a one-way loop around the perimeter 

of an open area, having a maximum depth (perpendicular 
to the primary street centerline) of 100 feet and a minimum 
width (dimension parallel to the primary street) of 75 feet (see 
Diagram E); 

(ii) Where less than 130 feet long and configured as a stub-out 
designed for connection to future streets/development (see 
Diagram F);

(iii) Where less than 130 feet long and connected to an alley, 
providing rear lot access, and ending at designated conservation 
lands. (see Diagram G). 

67

Item 6.



15

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

 

HEIGHT: These standards set the minimum and maximum 
height for the building. Note also any specifications for 
floor elevations, and fence or wall heights.  Heights are 
primarily measured relative to the fronting sidewalk.  

PLACEMENT: These standards set the buildable area of your 
lot. Note the required building line (rbl) and the minimum 
percent required for building along the lot frontage. 
Next, look for specifics about the depth and breadth of 
the buildable area relative to the rbl and any side and 
rear setbacks. You should also note any requirements for 
open area. Then you will know where on your lot you may 
build—as well as where your building must be placed (the 
rbl). 

ELEMENTS: These standards regulate important details 
of the building, like front porches, balconies, and 
fenestration (windows and doors). These standards 
apply primarily to the front of the building (as it faces 
the street)—with much less emphasis on what happens 
behind the facade.   

USE: These standards define the broad categories of 
use that are permitted, often differentiating between 
the ground floor and the upper stories.  The standards 
are typically less specific in the regulation of use than 
conventional zoning.

HOW TO USE THE BUILDING FORM STANDARDS (BFS):  
The building form standards are divided into General Standards, that apply to all frontage designations, and 
Individual building form standards that only apply where a frontage has been designated. Standards include 
required minimums, allowed maximums, and some permissive parameters for specific building or lot features. The 
individual building form standards (bfs) are organized into four categories: Placement, Height, Elements, and Use. 
You should review both the General and Individual building form standard before planning your project. 

Section 26-193. Building Form Standards 
The building form standards (bfs) establish the rules for development and 
redevelopment on private lots. They work through form and function controls 
on building frontages to frame the street-space and foster a vital public realm.    

The building frontage designations are denoted on the regulating plan by 
the color filling the street-space fronting the parcel. The same colors are 
shown in the section for each frontage designation that follows.  The building 
form standards set the basic parameters governing building form, including 
building placement, the building envelope (in three dimensions), and certain 
required or permitted functional elements.  These standards allow change-over-
time and promote lasting and contributing buildings

Character District Sections:     
26-191 to 26-198
191. Introduction & Definitions

192. Regulating Plans 

193. Building Form Standards 

194. Architectural Standards

195. Public Realm Standards

196. Parking & Loading

197. Building Functions

198. Reserved 

199. Reserved

68

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

16

Character DistrictsExhibit A

Illustration: Urban General - Typical Frontage

Illustration: Storefront - Typical Frontage 

Illustration: Neighborhood Medium  - Typical Rowhouse form

Illustration: Neighborhood Small - Typical Two Unit form Illustration: Neighborhood Small - Single Unit Detached form 

Summary Frontage Descriptions
The frontages are designated on the regulating plan by 
color filling their right-of-way. 

Urban General is the basic urban building form. These 
frontages produce multi-story buildings placed directly 
at the sidewalk or behind small dooryards, with windows 
across the facade, and one or more entrances. The uses 
range from commercial to residential, institutional to 
ground-floor retail and restaurants—and combinations of 
all of the above. This frontage has two levels of intensity, 
with an Urban General 2 for less intense areas.  

Storefront is a subset of the Urban General frontage, with 
more specific requirements at the street level, that of the 
prototypical ground floor shopfront with large windows 
and frequent doors along the sidewalk.  Ground floor uses 
are limited to retail or other active commercial uses along 
the frontage, creating a vibrant pedestrian realm. Upper 
story uses are flexible. 

Neighborhood frontage includes detached and 
attached houses up to small apartment buildings.  The 
buildings may be placed close to the sidewalk with a 
small dooryard, or farther back with a small front yard.  
stoops or front porches are required for new buildings 
in this frontage.  This frontage has two levels of intensity, 
Medium and Small, its character and intensity will vary 
depending on this designation.

  Storefront Frontage

  Neighborhood Medium

  Neighborhood Small

  Urban General 2 Frontage

  Urban General Frontage

69

Item 6.



17

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

Illustration A. Key Character District elements

REQUIRED 
BUILDING LINE

PARKING 
SETBACK LINE

On-Street Parking

Property Lines

AL
LE

Y 
(ty

pic
al)

Right Of Way 
(typical) 

CLEAR SIDEWALK

DOORYARD

TREE LAWN 

Rear Lot Line 

A. Placement

1. Required building line (rbl)
a. Building facades shall be built to the required building line as 

prescribed in the individual building form standard.
b. The required building line includes an offset area (or depth) of 

5 feet behind that line (into the buildable area) allowing for jogs 
and facade articulation.  Therefore, where the facade is placed 
within that 5-foot zone, it is considered to be built to the required 
building line. 

c. The building facade shall be built to the required building line 
within 30 feet of a block corner. (See Diagram B. block corners)  

d. For corner lots, the required building line is continuous 
around the block corner (not broken into separate frontages or 
required building lines).

e. All lots, including corner lots and through lots, shall satisfy the 
requirements of their individual building form standard for 
both frontages. (See Diagram C Through Lots.)

f. Where a through lot has frontages with different height limits, 
the greater of the 2 maximum height limits shall not come within 
60 feet of the rbl of the lower height frontage.  (See Diagram C 
Through Lots.)

2. Buildable area  (See Table A. Facade Projection Limitations) 
a. Buildings may only occupy that portion of the lot specified as the 

buildable area: the area behind the required building line  
and excluding any required setbacks, as prescribed in the building 
form standard.  

b. No part of any building may be located outside of the buildable 
area except projecting eaves, awnings, shopfronts, bay 
windows, stoops, steps, or balconies. 

c. Accessibility ramps approved by the Zoning Administrator in 
consultation with the ZRC may be located within the dooryard 
area.

d. Rear and side lot setbacks, where required, are specified in the 
individual building form standard and/or Section 193.1.F. 
Neighborhood Manners. 

3. Dooryards 
See Section 195.2.A Public Realm Standards. (See also Illustration A. Key 
Character District elements.)

4. Private open area 
Private or semi-private usable open area is required on every lot, 
measured as a specified percentage of the buildable area. This 
requirement may be satisfied in a variety of at or above-grade 
configurations, as prescribed in each building form standard. 
a. The private open area must be improved and available for safe 

and convenient access to all occupants of the building. 
b. The private open area must be open to the sky except for pergolas 

and porches, decks. 

Diagram B.  block corners 
A.  block corner
B.  not a block corner

Through Lot 

Urban General Frontage

Neighborhood M
edium

 Frontage

Diagram C. Through Lots

193.1 General Provisions 
These provisions apply to all building frontage designations, unless expressly stated otherwise within the building form 
standards for an individual frontage designation or on the regulating plan. 

70

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

18

Character DistrictsExhibit A

Illustration  D: street wall at rbl

c. The private open area, when located at grade, must be not more 
than 33% impervious surface area and shall be designed with green 
features.  

d. Any private open area located at grade or below the third story 
shall not encroach into any required side or rear set-backs. See the 
individual building frontage standards for additional parameters.  

e. Any shared private open area located above the second story 
(excluding balconies) shall be designed with green features, such 
as planters or functional green roofs, contain outdoor seating 
and other appropriate amenities, be free of any obstructions, be 
screened from rooftop mechanical equipment, and be located and 
configured to prevent views into adjacent dwelling units.

f. The private open area may be distributed among separate areas, 
but at least 67% shall be in no more than two separate areas. 

g. The private open area is not to be used to satisfy minimum 
stormwater Best Management Practice area (if thereby excluding 
active tenant use), parked, or driven upon. 

h. Any development on a lot that is exclusively reusing existing 
structures is exempt from the private open area requirement. 

5. Street walls and privacy fences
a. Unless otherwise indicated in the individual building form 

standard, a street wall is required along any required 
building line (rbl) frontage that is not otherwise occupied by 
a building.  (See Illustration D. street wall at rbl) Note that a 
building is required along any rbl within 30 feet of a block 
corner. 

b. Any street wall above four feet in height shall meet the 
fenestration requirements of the applicable building form 
standard.  

c. Privacy fences may be constructed along common lot lines, 
behind the required building line, and along alleys. 

d. Privacy fences have a maximum height of eight feet.  

6. On-Site/Off-Street Vehicle Parking and Access (curb cuts) 
In Character Districts, off-street vehicle parking and access should 
have minimal intrusion on the public realm. Off-street parking should 
not be clearly visible from the street-space.  Access should be 
provided from alleys, or shared access lanes, minimizing potential 
vehicular-pedestrian points of conflict. Properties within a Character 
District are exempt from any parking standards not in Sections 26-191 
through 26-197. The following standards apply.
a. The parking setback line is designated on the regulating plan, 

with additional specifications in the applicable individual building 
form standard. 

b. The parking setback line extends vertically, as a plane, from the 
first-floor level. 

c. Vehicle parking must be located behind the parking setback 
line, with the following exceptions. 
(i) Parking may be forward of the parking setback line where it 

(see Diagram E): 
(a) is beneath a habitable first floor and completely within the 

building envelope; 

Diagram E: Parking allowed forward of 
the parking setback line.   

71

Item 6.



19

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

(b) has a floor level at least four feet below grade; and 
(c) has fenestration not greater than 15% (from the average fronting sidewalk elevation to the finished 

first floor level.
(ii) Parking may be forward of the parking setback line only where designated on the regulating plan: 

(a) at the rear of lots with alley/required building line intersections, as prescribed in the individual 
building frontage standard; or 

(b) above the floor level specified on the regulating plan.  
d. Curb cuts and driveways shall be located at least 75 feet away from any block corner, other curb cut, or 

parking garage entry on the same block face. These requirements are not applicable along alleys. 
e. No project may create any new curb cuts where alley or shared access exists or is designated on the 

regulating plan – unless it is created to provide access to publicly-available parking. 
f. If alley or shared access is not available, an applicant may request direct driveway access from a street, 

subject to approval by the Zoning Administrator in consultation with the ZRC. 

7. Publicly accessible parking structures: 
a. Built according to this code are not included in or subject to the calculation of the maximum building foot-

print in the individual building form standard, but shall meet all other applicable standards. 
b. Parking spaces on the top level of a parking structure shall not count as an additional story against the 

height limits of this code. Shading and solar structures that are not clearly visible from the street-space 
are permitted.

c. Any portion of any parking structure within 25 feet of a building constructed under this code shall not ex-
ceed that building’s primary ridge or parapet height, 

d. All parking structures are subject to Section 193.1.F. Neighborhood Manners. 
e. Openings in any required building line for parking garage entries shall have a maximum clear height 

of 16 feet and a maximum clear width of 22 feet. 
f. Parking structures may have parking beyond the parking setback line at and above the second story 

provided that: 
(i) the parking is clearly identified and accessible to the public; and
(ii) no less than 90% of the parking spaces are available to the public; and
(iii) at least 12 hours of public parking are provided in any 24-hour period; and 
(iv) that at least 8 of those hours are provided during either business or nighttime hours depending on 

whether the Zoning Administrator in consultation with the ZRC determines that the primary use will be 
for commercial or residential uses. 

B. Height1

Heights are specified in the individual building form standard.  Civic buildings are exempt from these standards. 

1. Heights in Character Districts are generally measured from the average fronting clear sidewalk elevation.

2. Building height is measured in stories, with an ultimate building height limit in feet.
a. Building heights are measured to the top of the wall plate or top of the parapet, whichever is higher.  (See 

Diagram F)
b. Finished floor elevation and minimum building height requirements shall be satisfied from the required 

building line back to a minimum depth of 30 feet.   

3. Clear height is measured from the finished floor elevation to the finished ceiling directly above.2 For external 

1 Note of intent: This is not the way height is typically measured. The datum is intentionally set relative to an occupant of the street-space..  This is also to 
incentivize the use of pitched roofs, adding variety to the rooflines without arbitrarily requiring it. This will allow additional habitable space (see attic story in 
C. Elements. 3) while maintaining a smaller scale appearance.

2 Note of intent: The minimum clear height is a value preservation and quality-of-life-over-time measure. 

72

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

20

Character DistrictsExhibit A

Illustration H.  Caution: In an Urban context 
fenestration along common lot lines may be 
blocked by adjacent buildings.

building features, it is measured as the unobstructed distance from the 
ground/sidewalk to the lowest element above. 

4. The prescribed minimum clear height shall be met by at least 75 
percent of the floor area for the specified story.  

5. A single attic story, constructed according to the Character District 
standards, is not included in any building height measurement,  
whether in stories or feet. (see Elements C.3 below).     

6. Mezzanines (See Diagram G):
a. with a floor area greater than 1/3rd of the floor area of the story 

in which it is located will count as an additional full story in the 
building height measurement; 

b. below the second story shall be set back from the required 
building line at least 15 feet; and  

c. Ground story mezzanines are not included in the clear 
height measurement.     

7. Parking Structures
a. are limited by the maximum height in feet of their frontage, not by 

stories; and
b. are exempt from the clear height prescriptions. 

C.  Elements 

1. Fenestration  
a. Fenestration is regulated, on a story by story basis, as a 

percentage of the façade between floor levels.  It is measured as 
glass area (including muntins and similar window frame elements 
with a dimension less than one inch) and/or the open (void) area in 
the wall surface. 

b. Lengths of wall exceeding 20 linear feet (horizontal) with no 
fenestration are prohibited on all street walls, and facades 
below the 4th story. This measurement includes the entire story, 
from floor to floor. 

c. Each facade shall have at least one functioning entrance. 
d. The maximum distance between functioning entrances in the same 

building facade is specified in the building form standard.

e. Windows should not direct views into or across an adjacent 
private lot. Common lot lines with a General, Storefront, 
or Neighborhood Medium frontage may be built with zero or 
minimal setback.  Any views directed into or across a private lot are 
specifically not protected. (See Illustration H.)

f. Windows shall not direct views into an adjacent private lot where 
the common lot line is less than 10 feet away. (See Diagram 
I.) Specifically, the window opening and it’s window panes shall 
be at an angle of greater than or equal to 90 degrees to/with the 
common lot line unless: 
(i) that view is contained within the lot (e.g. ground or first story 

window views blocked by a privacy fence, opaque glass, or 
garden wall), or 

(ii) the window’s sill is at least 6 feet above its finished floor level; 
or

(iii) otherwise specified in the individual building form 
standard. 

Year 3

Mezzanine Setback Illustration

Mezzanine
Setback

Diagram G.  Mezzanine ground story setback

Diagram F. Building facade view
Building height measurement:
Large floorplates along significantly sloped 
frontages need to ‘step’ the building in order 
to maintain the proper relationship with the 
sidewalk. 

73

Item 6.



21

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

2. Facade Projections
a. No part of any building may project forward of the required 

building line except for: overhanging eaves, awnings, 
shopfronts, signs, bay windows, steps for stoops and front 
porches, balconies, or accessibility ramps approved by the Zoning 
Administrator in consultation with the ZRC.  (See Table A.) 

b. Any encroachment over the clear sidewalk and/or the right-of-way 
requires an encroachment agreement with the City, except for signs, 
overhanging eaves, and awnings, as set forth herein. (See Table A. 
Facade Projection Limitations)

c. Stoops or front porches:
(i) All required front porches shall be completely covered by a 

roof. 
(ii) Front porches may be screened (insect screening) when all 

architectural elements (columns, railings, etc.) occur on the 
outside of the screen.

(iii) Stoops must be fully covered by a roof or canopy. 
(iv) Finished floor height shall be no more than 8 inches below the 

first interior finished floor level of the building. 
(v) See the individual building form standards for additional 

dimensional standards.  
(vi) See Section 194.J Architectural Standards, for design standards for 

front porches and stoops.
d. Ground story awnings and canopies

See Section 194.G Architectural Standards, for design standards for 
awnings and canopies.

e. Bay windows: 
(i) shall have an interior clear width of between four and eight feet 

at the facade; 
(ii) at the ground story shall project no more than 24 inches 

beyond the required building line;   
(iii) at the second story and above, shall project no more than 42 

inches beyond the required building line; and 
(iv) shall not project into the right-of-way or over the clear 

sidewalk.

Table A. facade Projection Limitations Reference Limit

ADA Ramps ROW
Awnings, canopies, ground floor 2.(d) 

bay windows 2.(e) ROW 
balconies 2.(f ) ROW
Eaves ROW
Shopfronts per BFS ROW
Steps / stoops / front porches per BFS ROW
Projecting Signs 26-194.I
Consult the Zoning Administrator and ZRC for all encroachments into the ROW;       
additional requirements may apply.

Diagram I. Permitted orientation for windows 
within 10 feet of a common lot line.    

74

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

22

Character DistrictsExhibit A

f. Balconies1:  
Where an individual building form standard permits,  
balconies being used as a method for achieving the required 
private open area shall: 
(i) meet all prescriptions in its building form standard,
(ii) be enclosed by balustrades, railings, or other means that are not 

less than 50% opaque; 
(iii) not otherwise be enclosed above a height of 42 inches, except 

with insect screening and/or columns/posts supporting a roof or 
connecting with another balcony above; and have either:   
(a) a recess in the facade behind the balcony of at least 18"; 

or 
(b) must be fully covered by, and posted up to, a roof. 

Alternately, where a balcony aligns with a balcony  on a 
different story, it may post up to the balcony above.  

3. An attic story does not count against the maximum height in feet or 
stories, provided it meets the following standards:
a. There is not more than one floor level within the roof.
b. Attic story windows fronting the required building line may 

only be located in dormers. 
c. Dormers for attic stories are permitted so long as they do 

not break the primary eave line, are individually less than 15 feet 
wide, and their collective width is not more than 60 percent of the 
facade.  

d. The habitable area in an attic story is restricted by the limitations 
on roof pitch.  

4. Roof configurations are regulated in 194. Architectural Standards, D. 
Roofs and Parapets. 

D. Frontage Designation Flexibility 
When the building frontage designation shown on the regulating plan 
changes along a property’s required building line (rbl), the applicant 
has the option of applying either building form standard for a maximum 
additional distance of 30 feet in either direction, for that parcel only, from the 
transition point shown on the regulating plan. This flexibility is limited by 
the configuration of the regulating plan (including the parcel lines) at the 
time of its adoption.  An adjustment greater than 30 feet requires a rezoning. 
(See Diagram K)

E. Civic Buildings 
When civic buildings, existing or proposed, are designated on the 
regulating plan, they are exempt from the building form standard 
provisions except those that relate to F. Neighborhood Manners and/or R-1 and 
R-2 districts.  

1 Note of Intent: These standards are to ensure suitability for use as private open area. They do not 
apply to other balconies or decks.

Diagram J.  attic story  

Diagram K.  Frontage designation flexibility 

75

Item 6.



23

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

Diagram 7.2.D. Neighborhood Manners Setback 

Diagram N. Neighborhood Manners Setback Plane

 Illustration L. Neighborhood Manners Context

R-1, R-2 or 
Neighborhood Small
frontage Lot

20’

Diagram.M. Neighborhood Manners Setback 

F. Neighborhood Manners
Where Urban General, Urban General 2, and Storefront 
frontage lots share a common lot line with a 
Neighborhood Small or Medium frontage lot, or an R-1 or 
R-2 district, the following standards apply (See Illustration 
L.). 

1. A masonry wall, 4 to 8 feet in height, shall be 
constructed within one foot of the common lot 
line. 

2. Trees from the Street Tree List (see Section 195 
Public Realm Standards) shall be planted, on 
maximum 30-foot centers, between 5 and 10 feet 
from the wall. At planting, trees shall be at least 
2.5 inches in diameter at designated breast height 
(DBH) and at least 8 feet in overall height. 

3. Neighborhood Manners Setback (See Diagram M):
a. There shall be a 20 foot setback from the 

lot line shared with the R-1 or R-2 or 
Neighborhood Small or Medium frontage lot. 
There shall be no structures within this area.  

b. There shall be a setback plane, beginning at 
the R-1 or R-2 or Neighborhood Small or 
Medium frontage lot line, extending at a slope 
of one and one quarter to one (1.25: 1), beyond 
which no building or structure (including 
parking structures) is permitted. (See Diagram 
N.)

c. Balconies or rear decks above the first story 
level are not permitted on building elevations 
facing and within 40 feet of a Neighborhood 
Manners Setback1. 

4. The Neighborhood Manners Setback shall be 
adjusted with any frontage change per D. Frontage 
Designation Flexibility above. 

1   Note of Intent: This standard is purposefully not written as "balconies". It 
addresses privacy concerns, to ensure balconies are not overlooking private 
space/back yards

76

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

24

Character DistrictsExhibit A

G. Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU) 

1. Accessory dwelling units are permitted for owner-occupied detached or attached single-unit dwellings only.  
Properties with ADUs shall not be considered duplexes.
a. ADUs may take the form of english basements or in the buildable area at the rear of the lot (often called 

a Granny Flat or, when above a garage, a Carriage House).  
b. ADUs have the following maximums:

(i) a 600 square foot footprint (this does not apply to english basement units); and
(ii) one bedroom; 
(iii) rental occupancy, no more than two adults; and
(iv) no more than one ADU per lot. 

77

Item 6.



25

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

This page intentionally left blank.

78

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

26

Character DistrictsExhibit A

Note: These photos and statements are provided as illustrations of intent 
and are advisory only. They are not regulatory. Refer to the standards 
on the following pages for the specific standards of the Urban General 
Building Form Standard.

A. Illustrations and intent
193.2 Urban General Frontages

The Urban General frontage is the basic American “downtown” building frontage, once typical in towns and cities across 
the United States. Multi-story buildings with closely spaced entrances and windows are lined up shoulder to shoulder 
behind the sidewalk, filling out the block-face.

This frontage is for street-oriented, downtown-type buildings. These building forms can accommodate a range of uses, 
allowing retail shopfronts, office or residential buildings, and/or mixed-use buildings, with service access and parking lots 
in the block interior, accessed from the alley. 

79

Item 6.



27

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

B. Example Building Configurations and Placement
Note: These diagrams illustrate some of the building configurations possible under the Placement standards on the following 
page. They do not represent fully designed buildings nor do they fully address issues such as parking or the International Building 
Code.  Refer to the following pages for the specific standards of the Urban General Frontage.

The Urban General frontage standards provide a great deal of flexibility. Once the minimum height and frontage build-
out requirements are met, the building behind the facade can take most any configuration.  These diagrams, aligned 
above the Placement Diagram from the standards on the following pages, illustrate a few of the possible configurations a 
building can take under the General Urban building form standards. The green area represents the required private 
open area—which in Urban General frontages may be on or above ground, including on the roof. 

Diagram 1

Diagram 2

Diagram 3

Diagram 4

Diagram 5

Diagram 5. This is a re-oriented Placement Diagram for the Urban General 
frontages, provided for reference. The red dashed line is the required building 
line, the blue dashed line is the parking setback line, the gray area is the 
buildable area, and the green rectangle within it represents the private open 
area. This is more fully explained in the frontage standard itself, located on the 
following pages.

Diagram 1 shows a simple bar building.  The facade meets the required 
percentage build-out and minimum height and has a street wall spanning 
the unbuilt required building line. The private open area is provided on 
the roof, with additional rear yard area. The building is likely configured with 
units facing the street or the rear yard.  A surface parking lot is accessed from 
the alley.

Diagram 2 shows a building with a forecourt entry. The facade spans most of 
the required building line to meet its build-out requirement—the forecourt 
takes advantage of the percentage of the frontage not required to have a building 
on it.  The private open area is provided on the roof, with additional rear yard 
area. Parking for the building is directly off the alley. 

Diagram 3 shows a building with a lower, rear "L" section. The private open 
area requirement is met with a rear yard.  This diagram suggests basement-level 
parking, accessed from the alley. Larger buildings may have to meet parking 
requirements with a combination of inside/under the building, and/or off-site 
arrangements.  

Diagram 4 shows a building with a central courtyard, providing a shared 
private open area for its occupants. This diagram also suggests semi-basement 
level parking, under the elevated first floor and accessed from the alley.  

80

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

28

Character DistrictsExhibit A

1. Facade 
a. On each lot the building facade shall be built to the required building line (rbl) for at least:

i. Urban General: 80% of the rbl length.  
ii. Urban General 2: 70% of the rbl length. 

b. A street wall is required on any unbuilt required building line.  
c. Within 12 feet of the block corner, the ground story façade may be chamfered to form a corner entry. 
d. A forecourt configuration may be used within the minimum build-to parameters provided: 

i. All elevations facing the forecourt are regulated as facades; 
ii. the forecourt depth is no more than 20' and the width between 15' and 30';  
iii. the forecourt may not be used for parking, drop-off driving area or storm-water management;   
iv. the forecourt opening does not require a street wall.  

e. In case of conflict, these standards shall supersede vision triangle requirements in the Code of Ordinances.  
2. Buildable Area

a. The buildable area is delineated by the gray area in the diagram above.
b. The required building line is indicated on the regulating plan. It is generally located 1' off the ROW/

property line for Urban General and 5' off for Urban General 2. The exact position of the RBL should be 
confirmed in consultation with the Zoning Administrator and ZRC. 

c. Setbacks: there are no required side setbacks; rear setbacks are: 8' from an alley and 15' if no alley. 
d. The maximum building footprint is 25,000 Sq Ft. 
e. A private open area equal to at least 15% of the buildable area must be provided on every lot. 
f. The minimum private open area dimension is 18'
g. Up to 33% of the required private open area may be satisfied by the balconies of individual units which are 

exempt from the minimum dimension in f. above, and parking setback line restrictions in h. and i. below. 
(See 193.1. General Standards, C. Elements, 2.f. Balconies, for qualifying balcony requirements.)  

h. The private open area must be located behind the parking setback line when it is below the third story. 
i. Where provided at or above the third story, the private open area may be located forward of the parking 

setback line (such as in a raised courtyard configuration) only if: 
i. it opens onto no more than one street-space, and 
ii. is set back at least 30' from any block corner or building corner.

j. When on the building’s highest roof level, the private open area may be located anywhere on the roof.
3. Other 

a. The parking setback line is indicated on the regulating plan, generally 30' behind the required building 
line, with limited exceptions at alley/rbl intersections. See F.4. Rear Lot Area below.

b. A privacy fence is permitted and may be required. See Section 193.1.E. Neighborhood Manners.  

C. PLACEMENT

193.2 Urban General & Urban General 2 Frontages

81

Item 6.



29

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

D. HEIGHT
See Section 193.1.B. for information about measuring height.

1. Building Height 
a. Urban General: minimum at rbl 2 stories, maximum 4 stories and 52'
b. Urban General 2: minimum at rbl 2 stories, maximum 3 stories and 42'
c. Story heights may be different for specific locations; refer to the regulating plan.  

2. Ground floor finished elevation
a. For Commercial or Retail: -6" to +18"  
b. For Residential units within 30' of the required building line: 3‘ to 5’. Entrances may be at grade, with 

transitions within the building to meet the minimum finished floor elevation for the units.  Support functions 
such as lobbies, rental offices, and club rooms may be located at grade. 

3. Second floor finished elevation
a. Urban General: 16' to 22'
b. Urban General 2: 16' to 18'

4. Ground story finished clear height 
a. For Commercial or Retail: 13' minimum 
b. For Residential: 9’ minimum

5. Upper stories finished clear height: 9’ minimum
6. Street Wall: 4’ to 8’
7. Privacy Fence: 8’ Maximum, measured from adjacent grade.

193.2 Urban General Frontage & Urban General 2 Frontages

82

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

30

Character DistrictsExhibit A

1. Fenestration, ground story:  50 to 80%
2. Fenestration, upper stories: 20 to 80%
3. Attic Story: permitted within the parameters of Sections 193.C.3. above and 194.D. Architecture. 
4. Balconies: (Applicable where a balcony is used to contribute to the private open area calculation): Minimum 

depth 5’, minimum width 9’. 
5. Facade entry doors: Maximum door to door distance:  

a. Urban General: 70'
b. Urban General 2: 80' 
c. All upper story uses must be directly accessible from the street-space through a facade entry. Unenclosed 

or partially enclosed exterior staircases may not be used to access upper story units.

E. ELEMENTS

193.2 Urban General Frontage & Urban General 2 Frontages

83

Item 6.



31

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

F. USES  
See Section 197. Building Functions for specific parameters and/or performance standards.

1. Ground story: 
a. Urban General: Non-Residential or Residential 
b. Urban General 2: Non-Residential or Residential 
c. Residential uses are permitted on all stories. See the Height standards, above for specific configuration 

standards for ground story Residential. 
2. Upper stories: Residential or Non-Residential (no Retail).  

a. Non-Residential uses are not permitted above a Residential use.  
b. Retail is only permitted in a second story where it is an extension of a ground story retail business and is 

no larger in gross floor area than that ground story retail space.
3. Attic Story: Residential or Non-Residential. Additional habitable space is permitted within the roof where it is 

configured as an attic story
4. Rear Lot Area:  

a. In addition to the other permitted ground story uses, parking and loading is permitted behind the parking 
setback line.

b. For lots with an alley/required building line intersection, where there is an additional parking area 
designated on the regulating plan, parking is permitted in this area when: 
i. it is within a building and under a habitable second story; 
ii. the facade of the building enclosing the parking meets all requirements;
iii. it is 2' off the front of the required building line; and 
iv. within 62' of the rear lot line. 

 

193.2 Urban General Frontage & Urban General 2 Frontages

84

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

32

Character DistrictsExhibit A

A.  Illustrations and intent 
Note: These photos and statements are provided as illustrations of intent and are advisory only. They are not regulatory. 
Refer to the standards on this page and the previous pages for the specific rules of the Storefront Building Form Standard.

This is the quintessential American “main street” frontage, with retail and restaurant uses on the ground floor and 
residences or offices upstairs. The overall building form is the same as the Urban General frontage, but with large 
display windows across the ground floor facade and frequent entrances along the street. Display windows should 
be large to allow unimpeded views into the interior of the shop. Closely spaced mullions or muntins, punched 
windows, and horizontal grids should be avoided.

 B. Storefront Frontage Specifications

Where the Storefront frontage is designated on the regulating plan, the ground story configuration 
shall be that of a shopfront. The bfs standards for Urban General apply with the following exceptions and 
modifications:

1. Fenestration: ground story:  70 to 90%
2. Frontage Build-To Minimum: 85%
3. Ground story uses:  Within 30' of the required building line, uses are limited to non-residential 

categories. Frontages on Main Street between 1st and 6th Streets are generally limited to retail sales 
and service, and eating and drinking establishments.  A lobby and/or entry, serving an upper story use, 
is permitted on the ground story. At the owner's discretion, that lobby or entry portion of the facade 
may be governed by the Urban General or the Storefront frontage standards.  See Section 197. Building 
Functions for specific parameters and/or performance standards.

4. Shopfront Encroachment: Up to 2'.  The shopfront may encroach beyond the required building line 
into the dooryard, but not into the clear walkway or right of way.

5. Facade Entry Doors: Maximum door to door: 50'

193.3 Storefront Frontage

85

Item 6.



33

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

This page intentionally left blank.

86

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

34

Character DistrictsExhibit A

A. Illustrations and intent

Note: These photos and statements are provided as illustrations of intent and are advisory only. They are not regulatory. Refer to 
the standards on the following pages for the specific standards of the Neighborhood Medium Building Form Standard.

The Neighborhood Medium frontage is designed to fit comfortably into an existing neighborhood context, allowing 
redevelopment with a slightly increased scale and intensity. This frontage allows attached dwellings (rowhouses, duplexes), 
detached houses, cottage courts, and/or small apartment buildings. The character and intensity of this frontage varies 
depending on the scale of its context. These frontages generally have rear yards and parking accessed from an alley.    

193.4 Neighborhood Medium Frontage

87

Item 6.



35

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

B. Example Building Placement Configurations 
Note: These diagrams illustrate some of the building configurations possible under the Placement standards on the following page. 
They do not represent fully designed buildings nor do they address issues such as parking or the International Building Code.  
Refer to the following pages for the specific standards of the Neighborhood Building Form Standards. 

These diagrams, aligned above the Placement Diagram from the standards on the following pages, illustrate a few of the 
possible configurations a building can take under the Neighborhood Medium and Neighborhood Small building form 
standards. The green area represents the required private open area.

Diagram 1

Diagram 2

Diagram 3

Diagram 5

Diagram 5. This is a re-oriented Placement Diagram for the Neighborhood 
frontages, provided for reference. The red dashed line is the required building 
line, the blue dashed line is the parking setback line, the gray area is the 
buildable area, and the green rectangle within it represents the private open 
area. This is more fully explained in the frontage standard itself, located on the 
following pages.

Diagram 1 shows a detached house, single-unit or two-unit.  The area at the rear 
of the lot shows a 2-story building—a garage with an accessory dwelling unit 
or extra room above it. There could be a sidewing connecting the garage to the 
main house.  The house has its own side and rear yards providing the required 
private open area. 

Diagram 2 is a set of three rowhouses. The buildings may be attached single-
family units, with each unit on a separate lot, or they may by a multi-unit 
building on a single lot. The area at the rear of each rowhouse has 2 ground level 
parking spaces with an accessory dwelling unit (ADU) or extra room above the 
garage. Each rowhouse has a dooryard, with its private open area provide by 
a rear yard and rear terrace. 

Diagram 3 represents a small apartment building. The building has sidewings 
that project into the rear yard of the building.   The rear of the lot has a parking 
shed, accessed from the alley. The green area between the parking shed and the 
main building  satisfies the private open area requirement.

Diagram 4 is a small apartment building on one lot. The building is likely 
configured as a “double-loaded corridor” building with units facing the street 
or the rear yard.  The green area behind the main building satisfies the private 
open area requirement with a shared yard. A surface parking lot is accessed 
from the alley.

Diagram 4

88

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

36

Character DistrictsExhibit A

193.4 Neighborhood Medium Frontage

1. Façade  On each lot the building façade shall be built to the required building line (rbl) for at least 66% of the 
rbl length.  

2. A street wall or privacy fence is permitted on any unbuilt required building line. 
3. Maximum facade width: No individual structure or attached set/group of rowhouses may exceed a maximum 

façade frontage length of 80 Ft.  A gap of at least 10' is required between each building or set of rowhouses.
4. Buildable Area

a. The buildable area is delineated by the gray area in the diagram above.  The main portion of the buildable 
area is within 60' of the rbl. The sidewing buildable areas are between the main and rear buildable areas 
and within 20' of each side setback. 

b. The required building line is indicated on the regulating plan. It is generally located 15' off the ROW/
property line for Neighborhood Medium. The exact position of the RBL should be confirmed in consultation 
with the Zoning Administrator and ZRC.

c. Setbacks: 5' each side lot line1; 3' from an alley and 11' from rear lot line where there is no alley. 

d. A private open area equal to at least 20% of the buildable area must be provided on every lot.  
i. The minimum private open area dimension is 18'.    
ii. The private open area must be located at least 30' behind the required building line. 
iii. The private open area must be at grade, except balconies and extremely shallow lots, as specified in v. 

below;   
iv. Up to 33% of the required private open area may be satisfied through the balconies of individual 

rowhouses and/or units, which are exempt from i and ii above. 
v. The private open area for lots with less than 70' from the required building line to the rear setback, 

may be above grade.  
5. Other 

a. The parking setback line is indicated on the regulating plan, generally 40' from the rear lot line, with 
limited exceptions at  alley/rbl intersections and for other special conditions, see F.3. Rear Lot Area, below. 
The side setback for parking is 3' from any common lot line. 

b. The minimum rowhouse width, measured parallel to the rbl, is 18'.     
c. A privacy fence is permitted, at or behind the required building line, on common lot lines, and on rear lot 

lines. 

1 This setback does not prohibit sets of attached houses (rowhouses) whose combined width does not exceed the maximum facade width listed above.  It 
is a setback from other sets of rowhouses and/or adjacent lots.

C. PLACEMENT 

89

Item 6.



37

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

193.4 Neighborhood Medium Frontage

D. HEIGHT
1. Building Height: 

a. At and within 60' of the RBL: minimum 15' at rbl, maximum 3 stories and 36 feet.  
b. Sidewing and rear lot area: maximum 18'. 

2. Ground floor finished elevation: within 30' of the required building line, 3‘ to 5’. Entrances may be at grade, 
with transitions to meet the minimum finished floor elevation within the building interior. This this does not 
prohibit an accessory unit in an english basement form.

3. All Stories clear height: 9’ minimum
4. Street Wall: permitted, 4’ to 8’
5. Dooryard wall or fence: permitted, maximum 40".  This is an optional low garden wall or fence surrounding 

the dooryard  area. See Section 194. Architectural Standards, I. Street Walls and Fences.
6. Privacy Fence: permitted, 6’ maximum, measured from adjacent grade.

90

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

38

Character DistrictsExhibit A

E. ELEMENTS1

1. Fenestration, all stories:  25 to 70%
2. A stoop or front porch2 is required: 

a. Front porch: minimum width 10', minimum depth 8'
b. Stoop: for small apartments, width 10' to 15’, depth 6' to 8'; for all others, width 4' to 6’, depth 3' to 5’
c. For rowhouse or duplex configurations this requirement applies to each rowhouse or to each unit for a 

duplex.  
3. Balconies: 

Required on the upper stories of  small apartments with more than 45' of frontage width. Rowhouses are 
not subject to this requirement. Where used to satisfy this requirement, or as part of the private open area 
calculation, the below dimensions are required:
a. balconies shall cumulatively be a minimum 1/3rd the facade width for each upper story.   
b. Minimum depth 5’, Minimum width 7’;    

4. Attic Story: permitted within the parameters of Section 194.D. 

5. Facade Entries: All dwellings must have at least one entry in the facade that provides direct access to the 
street-space, whether through a shared lobby or their own entry door. ADUs are exempt but must have a clear 
access to the street-space.  

6. Upper Story Access: Unenclosed or partially enclosed exterior staircases may not be used to access upper 
story dwelling units. 

1 See Section 194. Architectural Standards, for specific facade materials & configuration requirements.

2 stoops and front porches, by definition, encroach into the dooryard.

193.4 Neighborhood Medium Frontage

91

Item 6.



39

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

193.4 Neighborhood Medium Frontage

F. USES
See Section 197. Building Functions for specific parameters and/or performance standards.

1. All stories: Residential.  
2. Accessory Dwelling Units: permitted for owner-occupied attached and detached single-unit dwellings.  (See 

193.1 General Standards, G. Accessory Dwelling Units, above.)   
3. Rear Lot Area:   

a. In addition to the residential use, parking and loading is permitted, behind the parking setback line.
b. For lots with an alley/required building line intersection, where there is an additional parking area 

designated on the regulating plan, parking is permitted in this area when: 
i. it is within a building; 
ii. the facade of the building enclosing the parking meets all requirements;
iii. it is 2' off the front of the required building line; and 

iv. within 40' of the rear lot line.      

92

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

40

Character DistrictsExhibit A

This page intentionally left blank.

93

Item 6.



41

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

A. Illustrations and intent

Note: These photos and statements are provided as illustrations of intent and are advisory only. They are not regulatory. Refer to 
the standards on the following pages for the specific standards of the Neighborhood Medium Building Form Standard.

The Neighborhood Small frontage is designed to fit comfortably into an existing neighborhood context, allowing 
redevelopment at a similar or slightly increased scale and intensity. This frontage includes houses (detached and attached), 
and/or small apartment buildings. The character and intensity of this frontage varies depending on the scale of its context. 
These frontages generally have rear yards and parking accessed from an alley.    

193.5 Neighborhood Small Frontage

94

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

42

Character DistrictsExhibit A

193.5 Neighborhood Small Frontage

B. PLACEMENT
1. Facade:  On each lot the building façade shall be built to the required building line (rbl) for at least 50% of 

the rbl length.  
2. A street wall or privacy fence is permitted on any unbuilt required building line. 
3. Maximum facade width: No individual structure or attached set/group of rowhouses may exceed a maximum 

façade frontage length of 60 Ft.  A gap of at least 10' is required between each building or set of rowhouses.
4. Buildable Area

a. The buildable area is delineated by the gray area in the diagram above.  The main portion of the buildable 
area is within 60' of the rbl. The sidewing buildable areas are between the main and rear buildable area 
and within 20' of each side setback. 

b. The required building line is indicated on the regulating plan. It is generally located 15' off the ROW/
property line for Neighborhood Small. The exact position of the RBL should be confirmed in consultation 
with the Zoning Administrator and ZRC.   

c. Setbacks: 10' each side lot line; 3' from an alley and 11' from rear lot line where there is no alley. 

d. A private open area equal to at least 20% of the buildable area must be provided on every lot.  
i. The minimum private open area dimension is 18'. 
ii. The private open area must be located at least 30' behind the required building line. 
iii. The private open area must be at grade, except balconies and extremely shallow lots, as specified in v. 

below;
iv. Up to 33% of the required private open area may be satisfied through the balconies of individual 

rowhouses and/or units, which are exempt from i and ii above.
v. The private open area for lots with less than 70' from the required building line to the rear setback, 

may be above grade.      
5. Other 

a. The parking setback line is indicated on the regulating plan, generally 40' from the rear lot line, with 
limited exceptions at  alley/rbl intersections and for other special conditions, see E.3. Rear Lot Area below. 
The side setback for parking is 3' from any common lot line

b. The minimum rowhouse width, measured parallel to the rbl, is 18'. 
c. A privacy fence is permitted, at or behind the required building line, on common lot lines, and on rear lot 

lines.   

95

Item 6.



43

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

193.5 Neighborhood Small Frontage

C. HEIGHT
1. Building Height: 

a. At and within 60' of the RBL: minimum 15', maximum 2 stories and 26 feet.  
b. Sidewing and rear lot area: maximum 18'.

2. Ground floor finished elevation: within 30' of the required building line: 3‘ to 5’. Entrances may be at grade, 
with transitions to meet the minimum finished floor elevation within the building interior. This this does not 
prohibit an accessory unit in an english basement form.

3. All Stories clear height: 9’ minimum
4. Street Wall: permitted, maximum 6’.
5. Dooryard wall or fence: permitted, maximum 40". This is an optional low garden wall or fence surrounding 

the dooryard area. 
6. Privacy Fence: permitted, 6’ maximum along RBL, 8' maximum along common lot lines and rear lot lines, 

measured from adjacent grade.

96

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

44

Character DistrictsExhibit A

193.5 Neighborhood Small Frontage

D. ELEMENTS1

1. Fenestration, all stories:  25 to 70%
2.  A stoop or front porch2 is required: 

a. Front porch: minimum width 10', minimum depth 8
b. Stoop: for small apartments, width 6' to 10’, depth 6' to 8'; for all others width 4' to 6’, depth 3' to 5’

c. For rowhouse configurations, this applies to each rowhouse or to each unit for a duplex.   
3. Balconies: 

Required on the upper stories of small apartments with more than 45' of frontage width. Where used to satisfy 
this requirement, or as part of the private open area calculation, these dimensions are required:
a. balconies shall cumulatively be a minimum 1/3rd the facade width for each upper story.  Rowhouses are 

not subject to this requirement. 
b. Minimum depth 5’, minimum width 7’;  

4. Attic Story: permitted within the parameters of Section 194.D.  
5. Facade  Entries: All dwellings must have at least one entry in the facade that provides direct access to the 

street-space, whether through a shared lobby or their own entry door. ADUs are exempt but must have a clear 
access to the street-space. 

6. Upper Story Access: Unenclosed or partially enclosed exterior staircases may not be used to access upper 
story dwelling units.   

1 see Section 194. Architectural Standards, for specific facade materials & configuration requirements,

2 stoops and front porches, by definition, encroach into the dooryard.

97

Item 6.



45

 26-193 Building Form StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

193.5  Neighborhood Small Frontage

E. USES
See Section 197. Building Functions for specific parameters and/or performance standards.

1. All stories: Residential.  
2. Accessory Dwelling Units: permitted for owner-occupied rowhouses and detached houses.  (See 193.1 

General Standards, G. Accessory Dwelling Units, above.)
3. Rear Lot Area:   

a. In addition to the residential use, parking and loading is permitted, behind the parking setback line.
b. For lots with an alley/required building line intersection, where there is an additional parking area 

designated on the regulating plan, parking is permitted in this area when: 
i. it is within a building; 
ii. the facade of the building enclosing the parking meets all requirements;
iii. it is 2' off the front of the required building line; and 
iv. within 40' of the rear lot line. 

98

Item 6.



26-193 Building Form Standards

46

Character DistrictsExhibit A

A. Cottage Court Specifications 
Where a cottage court configuration is being proposed, all rules of the 
designated Neighborhood Frontage apply, with the following additions and 
modifications:

1. The minimum lot width necessary for a cottage court is 66' in 
Neighborhood Medium frontages and 76' in Neighborhood Small 
frontages 

2. Minimum 5' separation between all buildings (walls).
3. Minimum cottage width and/or length of 18'. 
4. Maximum cottage and/or unit footprint of 700 sq ft (parking garages 

and parking sheds are not limited by this) 
5. Maximum height of 1 1/2 stories or 18'.
6. Maximum 2 bedrooms per cottage. 
7. Maximum rental occupancy 2 adults (children are not precluded).
8. The Central Courtyard: 

a. Must be contiguous with the rbl and open to the rbl not less than 
80% of the widest courtyard dimension (parallel to the rbl).

b. Must be open to the street-space, with no wall or fence taller than 
40" above the average fronting clear sidewalk elevation.

c. Must be configured as a simple rectangle,1 with no more than one 
width and/or depth variation.

d. Must be between 20' and 70' wide and between 40' and 90' deep.
e. Must be a green space, not more than 1/3rd paved.2

f. Satisfies the private open area requirement.
9. Cottages not on the rbl shall front the central courtyard. Elevations 

fronting the courtyard will be regulated as facades. 
10. At least 15' of each cottage must be contiguous along the courtyard.
11. All cottage roofs shall be simple hip or gable roofs with a pitch 

between 5:12 and 12:12. Shed roofs, minimum pitch 3:12, are 
permitted on dormers, porches, and parking sheds.

12. A privacy fence is required on the side lot lines behind the rbl.  
13. Vehicle parking must be behind the parking setback line.  

1.    The central courtyard for irregular lots may vary to accommodate the shape of the side lot lines, 
but must maintain a simple shape, as approved by the Zoning Administrator. 

2 All paved areas, other than central courtyard walkways, must be reviewed by the ZRC.

Note: The photos above are provided as illustrations of intent and are advisory only. They are not regulatory. Refer to the 
standards below for the specific standards for cottage courts.

193.6 Cottage Courts in Neighborhood Frontages

Cottage court with 6 cottages 

Cottage court with a cottage above the parking 
shed

A small cottage court with 5 cottages and a 
rear parking lot

See 193.4 Neighborhood Medium or 
193.5 Neighborhood Small for the base frontage 
standards . 

Diagram 1

Diagram 2

Diagram 3

Diagram 4

99

Item 6.



47

 26-194 Architectural StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

Section 26-194. Architectural Standards
A. General Purpose and Intent    
The primary purposes of the Architectural Standards, working in tandem with 
Section 26-193. Building Form Standards, is to complement and reinforce the 
pedestrian environment and street-space of the Character Districts through 
the application of high quality materials and architectural designs. These 
standards are intended to result in construction that is simple and functional, 
includes sustainable elements, and that will result in quality development that 
uses durable materials and design. A wide range of architectural expressions, 
from traditional to contemporary, can be achieved through these standards. 
The character of new building facades should complement the materials and 
general scale of surrounding district buildings and, through application of these 
standards, create a cohesive ensemble of buildings within the Character District.

These Architectural Standards include basic parameters for functional building 
element configurations and a palette of exterior building materials. In order to 
establish and maintain a sense of place, these standards specify an architectural 
aesthetic of load-bearing walls and regional materials. The standards also specify 
details, such as window proportions, roof or cornice configurations, shopfronts, 
and overhangs. Buildings should reflect and complement the traditional 
materials and techniques of the greater Cedar Falls region.

Character District Sections:    
26-191 to 26-198
191. Introduction & Definitions 

192. Regulating Plans 

193. Building Form Standards 

194. Architectural Standards

195. Public Realm Standards

196. Parking & Loading

197. Building Functions

198. Reserved 

199. Reserved

B. General Principles 

1. Applicability: 
a. These standards apply to all new construction within the Character Districts, unless otherwise expressly 

stated in this section. See Section 26-63 Proportionate Compliance for specific applicability when remodeling 
or renovating existing structures.

b. Where clearly visible from the street-space:
(i) Many of these standards apply only where clearly visible from the street-space. Note that the definition 

of street-space includes parks, squares, and civic greens but not alleys.  
(ii) These controls concentrate on the public realm and views from the public realm, and minimize 

interference in the private realm. For example, an architectural element that is visible only through an 
opening in a street wall is not clearly visible from the street.  

2. Materials
a. All building materials shall express their structural properties. For example, stronger and heavier materials 

(masonry) should be located below lighter materials (wood). Material changes should occur at logical 
construction locations (such as at an inside corner).  

b. Equivalent or Better: 
Materials, techniques, and product types listed in this Section are prescribed. Where indicated, materials that 
are equivalent or better may be proposed to the Zoning Administrator and ZRC for review according 
to the Minor Adjustments process established in Section 26-39, not including any materials specifically 
prohibited in the individual sub-Section. The Zoning Administrator will maintain a list of approved 
materials containing materials that have met this standard and are therefore permitted under this section.

100

Item 6.



26-194 Architectural Standards

48

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

Building with stone and brick facade

Building with copper facade Recent all-brick townhouses with significant 
architectural detailing

Stucco building facade. 

Material change at an interior corner, a logical 
structural location.

Cast iron shopfront with brick second story

Photographs are provided as illustrations of intent, with no regulatory effect. They shall not imply that every element in the image 
is permitted. Refer to the standards on the following page for the specific requirements of this section.

C. Architectural Standards: Building Walls

1. Purpose and Intent
Building facades define the public realm, or street-space. All walls should express the construction 
techniques and structural constraints of their building materials. These standards are intended to achieve simple 
configurations and solid craftsmanship. 

2. Applicability
The standards in this section apply to all building walls that are clearly visible from the street-space. Where 
expressly stated, they also apply to additional building elevations. 

101

Item 6.



Exhibit A

49

 26-194 Architectural StandardsCharacter Districts

3. Primary Façade Materials
a. Any of the following building materials shall be used on a minimum of 75% of the facade area. This mea-

surement shall be calculated as a percentage of the wall portion of the facade, exclusive of fenestration. 
(i) Brick and terra cotta;
(ii) Natural stone;
(iii) Stucco (cement plaster); prefabricated stucco panels and sprayed on stucco finishes are prohibited;
(iv) Cast iron, copper, stainless steel (18-8 or better), or titanium metal. 

b. For Neighborhood frontages only: 
(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used to replace other types of siding on existing single-unit residential buildings. On 

other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired with vinyl siding and 
any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.

c. Additional materials may be proposed to the Zoning Administrator and ZRC for review under the 
equivalent or better standard, see Section B.2.b above.

4. Secondary Materials
Any of the following materials are permitted on a maximum of 25% of the façade area and on all side and rear 
elevations. 
a. All permitted primary materials; 
b. Metal (heavy gauge & non-reflective);
c. Ground- or Split-faced block (integrally colored);
d. Glass block;
e. Decorative tile;
f. Pre-cast masonry; 
g. Durable foam-based products, such as Fypon, may be used for architectural detailing; and 
h. EIFS (Exterior Insulation and Finishing System) and other synthetic materials may be used above the second 

story, if on the ZRC Approved Alternate Materials List. 

5. Prohibited Materials
a. Styrofoam;
b. Vinyl (except as noted above for Neighborhood frontages) and aluminum siding.

6. Configurations and Techniques
a. When different materials are used on a facade, heavier materials shall be used below lighter materials (i.e., 

stone below brick; brick below metal panel; brick below siding).
b. All masonry, including brick, block, and stone, shall be in an apparent load-bearing configuration. 
c. Where siding, including panels, is not mitered at corners, siding shall incorporate corner boards on the 

outside building corners to conceal raw edges. 
d. Wall openings (fenestration) must: 

(i) have a vertical dimension equal to or greater than the horizontal dimension unless otherwise specifically 
permitted in these district standards; 

(ii) correspond to the interior space and shall not span across building structure such as a floor or wall.  
e. Wood Siding and Wood Simulation Materials 

(i) Horizontal siding shall be configured with a maximum board exposure of 8 inches.
(ii) Board and batten siding shall have a maximum board width of 10 inches. 
(iii) Siding and shingles shall be smooth, not rough-sawn finish. 
(iv) Shall not come in contact with the ground surface.

f. Stucco: 
(i) Shall have a smooth or sand finish only; no rough textured finish.  
(ii) Shall not come in contact with the ground surface.

g. All exposed masonry walls (i.e., street walls, garden and other free-standing walls, and parapets) shall have 
a cap or coping to protect the top of the wall from weather. 

102

Item 6.



26-194 Architectural Standards

50

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

D.   Architectural Standards: Roofs, Eaves and Parapets 

1. Purpose and Intent
Roofs and parapets are part of the facade composition (its crown or hat) and contribute to the spatial 
definition of the street-space. They should demonstrate common-sense recognition of the climate by utilizing 
appropriate pitch, drainage, and materials in order to provide visual coherence to the district.  Roof forms are 
not interchangeable. The roof type is integral to the design of the building and its architectural character and the 
configuration should be appropriate for the building and its façade. 

Building with gable eaves and facade cornice

Parapet wall with projecting cornice Parapet walls with projecting brick corbels

Projecting cornice 

Overhanging eave

Parapet wall as Dutch Gable

Photographs are provided as illustrations of intent, with no regulatory effect. They shall not imply that every element in the image 
is permitted.  Refer to the standards on the following page for the specific requirements of this section.

103

Item 6.



51

 26-194 Architectural StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

2. Applicability
The standards in this section apply to any roof or parapet that is clearly visible from the street-space. 

3. Permitted Roofing Materials
a. Tile;
b. Slate, and equivalent synthetic materials or better;
c. Metal, shingle or standing seam, equivalent or better;
d. Dimensional architectural grade composition shingles; or
e. Wood shingles. 

3. Prohibited Roofing Materials: corrugated metal

4. Additional Permitted Materials and Elements
a. Cornices and soffits may be comprised of wood or metal. 
b. Gutters and downspouts may be vinyl and/or metal, in accordance with industry standards.
c. Parapet wall materials, exclusive of copings, shall match the building wall.

5. Additional materials may be proposed to the Zoning Administrator and ZRC for review under the equivalent 
or better standard, see Section B.2.b above. 

6. Configurations and Techniques
a. Flat roofs are allowed except in cottage court configurations. 
b. Pitched Roofs  

Roof pitch is measured as rise over run. For example, a 4:12 pitched roof increases 4” in height for every 12” 
of horizontal distance.
(i) Roofs that cover the main body of a building shall have a slope of no less than 5:12 and no more than 

12:12. 
(ii) The roofs of front porches, stoops, and balconies shall have a slope of no less than 2:12 and no more 

than 6:12. 
(iii) The end walls of a Dutch gable or gambrel roof may extend up above the roof line to form a parapet.
(iv) Pitched roofs, except those on the facade side of the building, may be “cut out” to allow roof access 

for terraces and mechanical equipment. The cut out area may not be within 18 inches of end of the 
individual exterior wall nor within 18 inches of the roof ridge. 

c. Overhang Requirements  
(i) There shall be a 10 to 30 inch overhang near the top of the primary structure, with the exception of 

parapet walls, which have a minimum overhang of 3”.  This does not apply to walls on/at common lot 
lines or rear elevations.  

(ii) Buildings may satisfy the overhang requirement with eaves, a cornice, or similar form projecting 
horizontally from near the top of the building wall or above the ceiling of the uppermost story.   

d. Other Elements
(i) Roof-mounted equipment is permitted only when screened from view (from the street-space) by the 

building’s parapet wall. 
(ii) Skylights, solar shingles, and solar panels that are flat and flush to the roof are permitted; however, non-

flat/flush panels should be mounted at least 5 feet from the roof outer edge/eaves or behind the parapet 
wall. 

104

Item 6.



26-194 Architectural Standards

52

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

E.   Architectural Standards: Windows and Doors 

1. Purpose and Intent
The placement, configuration, type, and size of windows and doors on the facade greatly influences the scale 
and character of the street-space. For Storefront frontages, windows allow interplay between the ground 
floor interiors and the sidewalk. Commercial uses (especially restaurants and retail establishments) benefit from 
exposure to the passers-by and the street-space benefits from the visual activity. For residences, windows foster 
the “eyes on the street” surveillance which provides for the security and safety for the area. 

shopfront windows with stained glass transom

7

Ground story shopfront and upper story 
double-hung windows

Windows recessed behind facade surfaceDoor with transom and sidelight windows

Grouped windows Grouped windows

Photographs are provided as illustrations of intent, with no regulatory effect. They shall not imply that every element in the image 
is permitted. Refer to the standards on the following page for the specific requirements of this section.

105

Item 6.



53

 26-194 Architectural StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

2. Applicability
The standards in this section apply to any window or door that is clearly visible from the street-space. See 
Section 26-63 for specific applicability when remodeling or renovating existing structures. Specific requirements 
and exceptions for shopfronts are provided in section F. Shopfronts, below.       

3. Materials
a. Glass panes must be clear, with low reflectivity and light transmission at the ground story of at least 75%.  

Shopfront transoms are excluded from this restriction.
b. Doors shall be of wood, clad wood, glass, steel, or any combination thereof. 
c. Shutter materials shall be wood or clad wood. 
d. Additional materials may be proposed to the Zoning Administrator and ZRC for review under the 

equivalent or better standard, see Section B.2.b above.   

4. Configurations and Techniques
a. All Windows except shopfronts (see F. Shopfronts, below)

(i) The horizontal dimension of the opening shall not exceed the vertical dimension except for transom 
windows above an entrance;

(ii) Windows may be grouped horizontally if each grouping is separated by a mullion, column, pier, or wall 
section that is at least seven inches wide. A group is limited to a maximum of five windows;

(iii) Windows should be subdivided to provide a pedestrian scale. The maximum dimensions for glass panes 
are 60 inches vertical by 36 inches horizontal.  

(iv) Window panes shall be recessed behind the surface of the facade a minimum of three inches, except for 
bay windows and shopfronts.

(v) Windows must correspond to the clear height within a building and may not span across building 
structure such as floor structural and mechanical thicknesses. Windows on different story levels must be 
separated by a minimum 24-inch wall or framing element. 

(vi) Window types: single-, double-, and triple-hung, hopper, awning, casement, clerestory, and transom. 
(vii) Fixed windows are only permitted as part of a window grouping that includes an operable window.
(viii) Egress windows may be installed as required by the applicable building code. 
(ix) Snap-in mullions and muntin are permitted but not considered in any proportion calculation or 

measurements for fenestration. 
(x) Exterior shutters, when used, shall be sized and mounted appropriately for the window (one-half the 

width). 
b. Ground Story Windows and Doors 

(i) Double-height entryways (those that span more than one story) are not permitted. 
(ii) General and Storefront facade doors shall not be recessed more than four feet1 behind their facade and, 

in any case, shall have a clear view and path to a minimum 45-degree angle past the perpendicular from 
each side of the door into the street-space. Doors may not encroach into the right-of way when opened. 

c. Upper Story Windows
On all upper stories, a minimum of 40% of the window area, per story, must be operable. 

d. Garage doors
When a lot is adjacent to an alley, garage doors shall face towards the alley. 

1 Note of Intent: there may be historic shopfronts in the downtown that do NOT meet this standard. This is done in consideration of the 
materials, craftsmanship and aesthetic of contemporary construction (new buildings won’t be built out of the same materials or with the 
same kind of craftsmanship as the historic buildings). 

106

Item 6.



26-194 Architectural Standards

54

Character DistrictsExhibit A 
F.   Architectural Standards: ShoPfRontS 

1. Purpose and Intent
Shopfronts enliven the public realm. They improve walkability, with frequent entrances and large display 
windows providing transparency and connection between the interior activity and the public sidewalk. Display 
windows should be large to allow unimpeded views into the interior of the shop.  Closely spaced mullions or 
muntins, punched windows, and horizontal grids should be avoided. 

2. Applicability
The standards in this section apply to building frontages designated as Storefront on the Character District 
regulating plan.  They include more requirements than, and some exceptions to, the standards in Section 
E. Windows and Doors, above. Where there is an apparent conflict, these rules apply. Applicants may use the 
shopfront standards for any portion of a General Urban frontage, subject to ZRC approval.   

3. Requirements and Configurations
a. The bottom of shopfront window glass shall be between 1 and 3 feet above the sidewalk and shall run from 

the sill to a minimum of 8 feet above the sidewalk. Materials per Section C. Building Walls must be used 
below the window sill. 

b. Roll-up garage doors are not permitted for designated Storefront Frontages. 
c. Shopfront window and door glass shall be clear, with light transmission of at least 75%. Transom glass may 

be tinted, obscured, stained, or glass block. 
d. Individual panes of glass in shopfronts shall be no larger than 11 feet in height and 6 feet in width.   
e. Shopfront windows and doors may not be made opaque by window treatments, except by operable 

sunscreen devices within the interior.  A minimum of 75% of the fenestration must allow views into the 
interior for a depth of at least 10 feet. 

f. Shopfront doors must have at least 60% glass. Solid and opaque doors are prohibited. 
g. Shopfront doors must be distinguished by features such as: transom windows, awnings or canopies, or a 

recessed entryway. 
h. Shopfronts must be differentiated from the facade above by a projection or string course, with a minium 

relief of one inch and minimum vertical width of three inches, between each shopfront and the window-sill 
level of the second story.  

Photographs are provided as illustrations of intent, with no regulatory effect. They shall not imply that every element in the image 
is permitted.  Refer to the standards on the following page for the specific requirements of this section.

107

Item 6.



55

 26-194 Architectural StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

G.   Architectural Standards: awningS and CanoPieS 

1. Purpose and Intent
Awnings and canopies provide protection from the elements and create shade and shadow on the building, 
enhance the three dimensional quality, add interest, and can help emphasize a primary building entrance.  Open 
ended awnings are preferred to make blade signs and transom windows more visible from the sidewalk.

2. Applicability
The standards in this section apply to any awning or canopy that is clearly visible from the street-space. 

3. Materials
a. Awning must be made of commercial-grade fabric and may be either fixed or retractable. High-gloss, 

plasticized, shiny or reflective materials are prohibited. 
b. Canopy framing shall be constructed of either metal or wood.
c. Canopy roofing materials, where clearly visible from the street-space, may be: metal standing seam 

(5V crimp or equivalent), slate,glass, or durable fabric.
d. Additional materials may be proposed to the Zoning Administrator and ZRC for review under the 

equivalent or better standard, see Section B.2.b above. 

4. Configurations  
a. Awnings and canopies shall not interfere with utilities, street trees, or other important ROW elements. 
b. Awnings and canopies shall shade windows with the awning top mounted no more than one foot above the 

opening below. 
c. Awning and canopy overhangs shall have a minimum of nine feet clear height above the sidewalk and be 

minimum of four feet deep, measured from the façade. The maximum depth is to back-of-curb or the tree 
lawn edge, whichever is less.  (subject to approval by the Zoning Administrator and ZRC). 

d. Back-lighting or internal illumination through the awning or canopy is not permitted.
e. One-quarter cylinder configurations are not permitted. 
f. Canopies shall be mounted to the building wall and supported either from below by brackets or from above 

by cables or chains, or be structurally integrated with the building.
Photographs are provided as illustrations of intent, with no regulatory effect. They shall not imply that every element in the image 
is permitted.  Refer to the standards on the following page for the specific requirements of this section.

108

Item 6.



26-194 Architectural Standards

56

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

This page intentionally left blank.

109

Item 6.



57

 26-194 Architectural StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

H.   Architectural Standards: faCade Composition for Large Building Frontages 

1. Intent
General and Storefront frontages have additional specific design parameters to ensure that they create a positive 
pedestrian environment.

2. Applicability
These standards maintain a pedestrian scale, even where the buildings are quite large. They apply to the first four 
stories of the facade.   This conservatively covers the distance within which one can discern the human face 
from the street. Building facades with 100 feet or more of frontage on a block face are subject to this rule. Lots 
with street frontage of less than 100 feet on a block face are exempt from this rule for that block face, but 
shall still include at least one functioning pedestrian street entry and meet all other applicable building form 
standards.  

3. Facade Composition 
The facade composition rule is intended to maintain a pedestrian-friendly scale. “Façade composition” is 
the arrangement and proportion of facade materials and elements (windows, doors, columns, pilasters, bays). 
“Complete and discrete” distinguishes one part of the facade from another to give the appearance of distinct 
facades. 
a. For each block face, facades along the required 

building line shall present a complete and discrete 
vertical facade composition for the street-space, 
at no greater than the following average street 
frontage lengths:
(i) 60 feet for Storefront frontages; 

(ii) 75 feet for General frontages. 
These are average frontage lengths; the facade may be 
composed of bays of different sizes to achieve the average; 
uniform spacing is not required. 

b. Each facade composition shall include at least one 
functioning street entry door. 

c. The facade composition requirement may be 
satisfied by liner shops, which are shallow shops 
located in front of larger footprint uses such as 
grocery stores or parking structures. 

d. To achieve a complete and discrete vertical facade 
composition within a block face the applicant 
shall demonstrate that at least two of the following 
features that distinguish one facade composition 
from the next are included: 
(i) Different fenestration proportions of at least 

20% in height or width or height:width ratio. 
(See Figure 1.)

(ii) Different facade configurations, through a 
change in architectural features, such as facade 
elements, bay rhythm, cornice line, articulation, 
or detailing; change in the wall plane alone is 
insufficient. (See Figure 2.)

(iii) Change in wall material; color changes alone are 
insufficient. 

(iv) Change in total fenestration percentage with 
a minimum difference of 12%. Ground floor 
facades are not included.

(v) Clearly different ground story facade composition, using framing material and fenestration proportions.

Diagram 2. Illustration of facade configura-
tions with a clearly different rhythm 

Diagram 1. Illustration of different fenestration proportions

110

Item 6.



26-194 Architectural Standards

58

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

I.   Architectural Standards: Street Walls and Fences 

1. Purpose and Intent
The street-space is physically defined by buildings, walls, or fences. Land should be clearly public or private; in 
the public view or private and protected. 

Street walls establish a clear edge to the street-space where there is no building. These requirements include 
masonry walls that define outdoor spaces and separate the street-space from the private realm (e.g. parking lots, 
gardens, trash cans, and equipment). All street wall faces should be designed as is the building façade, with the 
finished side out (i.e. the “better” side facing the street-space).

street wall with gate

street wall with gates shielding service area from public realm

street wall defining private garden or courtyard  

Not permitted—no street wall and parking visible from the street-space

street wall with door  

Photographs are provided as illustrations of intent, with no regulatory effect. They shall not imply that every element in the image 
is permitted. Refer to the standards on the following page for the specific requirements of this section.

111

Item 6.



59

 26-194 Architectural StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

2. Applicability
The following standards apply to all street walls and fences that are clearly visible from the street-space. 

3. Materials
a. Walls 

(i) Brick;
(ii) Natural stone
(iii) Stucco on masonry (such as concrete block or poured concrete)
(iv) A combination of materials, e.g., stone piers with brick infill panels, masonry with iron or steel.

b. Gates and Fenestration
(i) Metal, including wrought iron, welded steel and/or electro-plated black aluminum; may also be used for 

fenestration in the wall itself; or
(ii) Wood. 

c. Dooryard and Privacy Fences
(i) Wood;
(ii) Wrought iron or metal that faithfully imitates wrought iron; 
(iii) Dimensional composite material (synthetic and composite woods); or
(iv) A combination of any of the above materials with masonry piers.
(v) Rolled fencing (such as chain link) is prohibited where clearly visible from the street-space.
(vi) Additional materials may be proposed to the Zoning Administrator and ZRC for review under the 

equivalent or better standard, see Section B.2.b above. 

4. Configurations and Techniques
Permitted configurations and techniques (See also Section 26-193. Building Form Standards):
a. Street walls:

(i) shall be built to the height and length specified in the applicable building form standard. 
(ii) taller than 5 feet are subject to the fenestration requirements of the applicable bfs frontage; those 

lower than 5 feet may use the fenestration parameters.  
b. Dooryard Fences and Privacy Fences:

(i) shall be “finished side” facing the street or adjacent property;
(ii) dooryard fences: must be at least 1/3 open and not solid. Wooden picket boards should not be more 

than 3.75 inches wide and set so that the space between them is not more than 3 inches wide.  

street walls with coping and wrought iron along an unbuilt street frontage. 

112

Item 6.



26-194 Architectural Standards

60

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

J.    Architectural Standards: Entry Features, fRont PoRCheS, StooPS and CanoPieS 

1. Purpose and Intent
Building entries are the front door of a building and provide a connection between the building interior and the 
outside, public activity. They also establish a clear hierarchy and focal point for the building.  Entries should be 
scaled appropriately to the size of the building.  

Rowhouses with entry stoops

Urban General building entry with stoop and canopy with balcony above.

Small Apartment Building with a clear entry Small Apartment Building with a forecourt entry 

Photographs are provided as illustrations of intent, with no regulatory effect. They shall not imply that every element in the image 
is permitted.  Refer to the standards on the following page for the specific requirements of this section.

Small Apartment Building with a front porch entry 

113

Item 6.



61

 26-194 Architectural StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

2. Applicability
The standards in this section apply to all building facade entries within a Character District.

3. Materials
Permitted materials for front porches, stoops, and other entry features: (For awning and canopy materials, see 
Section G. Awnings and Canopies, above.)
a. Foundation walls and piers of stucco, stone, split-faced concrete, poured concrete with a smooth finish, or 

brick.
b. Porch posts, piers, columns or pilasters of wood, or approved fiber cement product, stone, stucco, brick, or 

split-faced block.
c. Balustrades of: wood, which must be finished (painted or stained, no raw lumber); large section aluminum; or 

Zoning Administrator approved synthetic, which must be paintable. 
d. Privacy lattice (max 1” openings) enclosing open foundations.
e. Additional materials may be proposed to the Zoning Administrator and ZRC for review under the equiva-

lent or better standard, see Section B.2.b above. 

4. Configurations
Entries should be distinguished by variations in facade design, materials, and articulation that clearly identifies 
the entrance. 
a. Spacing between columns, piers or posts shall be no wider than 1.33 times their height (for example, 9’ tall 

posts can not be more than 12’ apart).
b. All required front porches or stoops shall be roofed, with supporting posts, brackets, piers or columns 

and railings. Stoops may alternately have a canopy or awning covering. The awning or canopy may be 
supported as described in a., above, or hung from the facade by chains or wires of not less than 3/8” diameter. 

c. The minimum dimension1 or diameter for single columns or posts is 7”, 4” if paired/doubled, Turned posts are 
allowed to have portions with a diameter that are as much as 1/3rd below the minimum. Supporting masonry 
bases have a 8”minimum dimension, and pilasters must be at least 8” wide x 1” in depth from the facade. 

d. Pediments, or any other entry architectural detailing, must be at least 4” in depth from the facade and 
completely span the entry opening. 

e. Canopies must completely cover the stoop they are overhanging. 
f. Balusters and railings shall be a minimum dimension of 1” (max. 4” dimension) with a max. 3” clear space 

between them. They must sit on and be attached to the front porch or stoop floor/platform’s top surface, 
they may not be attached to it’s joists or the side of the platform.

g. Front porches or stoops with railings/balustrades shall be at least 30” in height above their floor and fully 
surround the front porches or stoop excepting a maximum 6 ft wide front opening and (separate) side 
opening for any side access. 

h. Porch screen frames may only be mounted behind the columns, posts or piers and intermediate screen 
supports not less than 3 feet apart.

5. Techniques
Required front porches or stoops may be open in any direction. The elevation facing the street(s) shall not be 
enclosed (except by insect screening) above a level of 40” above the front porch or stoop floor. 

1 Note to Staff: “Nominal” lumber dimensions satisfy these requirements. 

canopies and awnings 

114

Item 6.



26-194 Architectural Standards

62

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

K.   Architectural Standards: Lighting and Mechanical 

1. Purpose and Intent
These standards are intended to enhance the urban pedestrian context. 
Appropriate lighting is desirable for night-time visibility, safety, and 
decoration. However, lighting that is too bright or intense creates glare, 
hinders night vision, and creates light pollution. Restricting the location 
of mechanical equipment limits intrusions that would otherwise detract 
from the public realm.  All street lights within a Character District 
should be pedestrian-scaled.  Highway-scale, ‘cobra-head,’ fixtures are 
generally not appropriate for true urban contexts and should be limited 
to intersections where absolutely necessary. 

2. Applicability
The standards in this section shall apply to all properties in a Character 
District. Exceptions may be made to comply with state highway 
standards where necessary.

Not permitted, visible from the street-space

Not permitted within the street-space

Not permitted, visible from the street-space

The illustrations above are examples of mechanical equipment 
arrangements that are only acceptable away from and/or not visible from a 
street-space (i.e. within an alley or screened from view).

Pedestrian-scale street lights

Photographs are provided as illustrations of intent, with no regulatory effect. They 
shall not imply that every element in the image is permitted.  Refer to the standards 
on the following page for the specific requirements of this section.

115

Item 6.



63

 26-194 Architectural StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

3. Exterior Lighting
a. Pedestrian-scale Streetlights should be:

(i) coordinated by the Department of Public Works and Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) and done in accordance 
with any adopted Streetscape Plan;

(ii) located on each side of the street-space; (See Section 26-195. Public Realm Standards) and
(iii) coordinated with street tree placement and located at least 10 feet apart from one another.  

b. Site and Accent Lighting
These standards are intended to prevent light from one property extending beyond the property line onto 
adjacent properties. Compliance with this subsection is achieved with fixture shielding, directional control 
designed into the fixture, fixture location, fixture height, fixture aim, or a combination of these methods.

(i) Site lighting shall be designed to illuminate only the lot. If mounted on poles, lights shall not be mounted 
higher than 25 feet above grade. An exterior lighting plan shall be approved as consistent with these 
standards by the Zoning Administrator in consultation with the ZRC.    

(ii) Floodlighting or directional lighting is prohibited except for lighting of loading and service areas, and on 
civic buildings or monuments, to highlight architectural features (such as cupolas, towers, or courthouse 
domes1), and shall not produce glare into neighboring windows or light trespass into neighboring 
properties. Floodlights are not permitted for parking lots or outdoor display/storage areas. 

(iii) All under-canopy lights or lights mounted in eaves must either be recessed into the canopy/eave and fully 
shielded or use flat lenses instead of drop lenses.

(iv) Lights within ground floor commercial space or shopfronts shall be used to illuminate the interior space 
and/or window displays and shall not be directed outward into the street-space.

(v) Light fixtures used to illuminate flags, statues, or objects mounted on a pole or pedestal must use a 
narrow cone of light that does not extend beyond the illuminated object. Lights that are intended to 
architecturally highlight a building or its features must use a limited pattern of light that does not extend 
beyond the wall of the building.  

(vi) Floodlights, when permitted, must be aimed no higher than forty five degrees (45°) from vertical; be 
located and shielded such that the bulb is not directly visible from any adjacent residential use or public 
right of way. 

(vii) In Neighborhood Frontages, lighting used to illuminate outdoor private recreational facilities, such as 
swimming pools, tennis courts, and basketball courts, must be turned off by 10:00 PM. Underwater 
lighting in swimming pools and hot tubs are exempt from this provision.

(viii) No lights may exceed 0.5 initial horizontal foot-candle and 2.0 initial maximum foot-candle as 
measured at any point along a property boundary that is adjacent to or across the street or alley from 
Neighborhood frontages and properties outside the Character District that are zoned residential.  

(ix) Exterior lights on the building shall be shielded and downcast or must be frosted glass or be installed 
behind a translucent cover. Exterior lights shall be maximum 100-watt incandescent or maximum 1600 
lumens. Lights on the facade shall be mounted between 8 feet and 12 feet above the adjacent sidewalk 
These fixtures shall illuminate the dooryard and clear sidewalk area.  Lights on the alley shall have a 
12 foot maximum height.  These fixtures shall illuminate the alley and may also illuminate a portion of 
their own rear yard area. They shall not direct light or cause glare into neighboring lots.

(x) High intensity discharge (HID) or fluorescent lights shall not be used on the exterior of buildings.
(xi) Temporary holiday lighting is exempt from these regulations, in accordance with other City standards. 

4. Mechanical Equipment
a. All mechanical equipment located at grade (serving the building or tenant use) shall be placed behind and 

away from any required building line and screened by a street wall if necessary to prevent its being 
clearly visible from the street-space.

b. All mechanical equipment on a roof shall be screened, and all screening and penthouses placed on a roof shall 
be set back from the roof line by a distance at least equivalent to the height of the screening or penthouse in 
order to minimize visibility from surrounding streets and shall have a maximum height of 18 feet.

1 Note of Intent: intent is to allow all civic building towers such as bell towers, minarets, steeples, etc.   

116

Item 6.



26-194 Architectural Standards

64

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

L.  Architectural Standards: Signage 

1. Purpose and Intent
Signs in Character Districts should be scaled and designed for these 
mixed-use, pedestrian-oriented areas and not for high speed automobile 
traffic. Signage along commercial and mixed-use frontages should 
be durable and is desirable for both informational purposes and as 
decoration. Signage that is too large creates distraction, intrudes into or 
lessens the district experience, and creates visual clutter. 

Photographs are provided as illustrations of intent, with no regulatory effect. They 
shall not imply that every element in the image is permitted. Refer to the standards 
on the following page for the specific requirements of this section.

Neon sign within the shopfront window

Window sign

Parapet sign

Wall sign

Horizontal blade sign

Wall sign

117

Item 6.



65

 26-194 Architectural StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

2. Applicability
The standards in this section apply to any sign that is clearly visible 
from the street-space in the frontages designated as General Urban 
or Storefront. Signs in the Neighborhood frontages are regulated 
according to the sign standards for the R-1 zoning districts. 

3. General Standards for All Signs
All signage shall conform to the requirements of Article IV of this 
chapter, except as provided for below.
a. Only sign types specified in this section are permitted. 
b. Prohibited: Billboards, roof signs, and mural signs painted on 

façades (except those existing prior to [date of code adoption]). 
Mural signs are permitted, subject to approval by the Zoning 
Administrator in consultation with the ZRC, on the other exterior 
walls (side, rear, and courtyard elevations).

c. Signs may be illuminated externally from a constant light source. 
Signs may not be illuminated by flashing, traveling, animated, or 
intermittent lighting, whether such lighting is of temporary or long-
term duration.  

d. Internally illuminated back-lit acrylic-faced cabinet signs and 
plastic-faced letterform signs are not permitted.

e. Signs shall not include an Electronic Message Center (EMC) unless 
explicitly permitted below.

4. Wall Signs
a. Except for approved 1st Street exceptions, are only permitted 

within the sign band—the horizontal area on the facade between 
the first floor ceiling and the second story floor line. For one-
story buildings, the sign band shall be above the windows and 
below the cornice. In no case shall this band be higher than 20 feet 
or lower than 11 feet above the adjacent sidewalk. 

b. Shall not exceed 20 feet in length, 90% of the shopfront width,  
nor come closer than 2 feet to an adjacent common lot line.

c. Sign area shall not exceed 1.5 times the shopfront width.  
d. Shall not extend over the architectural features of the building 

facade, such as cornices, pilasters, transoms, window trim, and 
similar.  

e. A masonry or bronze plaque may be placed in the building’s cornice 
or parapet wall or under the eaves, and above the upper story 
windows. Any such plaque shall be no larger than a rectangle of 18 
square feet. 

5. Projecting Signs are generally perpendicular to the required building 
line. Projecting blade signs, marquee signs, and corner signs are 
permitted. 
a. One blade sign per shopfront is permitted. They:

(i) may project from the sign band, or be hung from a ground 
story overhang, canopy, or awning;

(ii) shall be no more than 6 square feet; 
(iii) shall project from the building no more than 42 inches;
(iv) shall be a minimum of 8 feet clear above the sidewalk; 

Wall sign within sign band

Vertical blade sign

Marquee sign

Masonry parapet sign

118

Item 6.



26-194 Architectural Standards

66

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

Awning sign

Awning signs and wall signs

(v) shall be located no closer than 1 foot from a common lot line 
or adjacent shopfront space and no closer than 10 feet from 
any adjacent blade sign; and

(vi) shall not be internally illuminated.
b. Marquee signs are integrated with an entry canopy. They:

(i) are only permitted with a theater use;
(ii) may project to the far edge of the clear sidewalk; and
(iii) may include an EMC within the sign band area.

c. Corner signs that are visible from two or more intersecting streets 
are permitted as long as:  
(i) there is no more than one per block corner; 
(ii) they are located above the ground story sign band and below 

the third story, or for a two-story building below the cornice 
line; 

(iii) they do not exceed 40 square feet per sign face; and
(iv) the maximum projection from the corner is 5 feet.

6. Window Signs
a. Windows are measured as glass area including muntins and 

similar framing elements with a dimension of less than one inch. 
Glazing separated by framing elements of greater than one inch are 
considered separate windows.

b. No more than 25% of any ground story window may be covered 
by signage, and such signage shall not be placed or adhered to the 
window in a manner that prevents views into the shopfront. 

c. Neon signs are allowed within shopfront windows.
d. No more than 10% of any upper story window may be covered 

with signs. 

7. Other Signs
a. Temporary sandwich board signs of up to 36” in height are 

permitted within the dooryard area. They may also be considered 
a permitted encroachment to the sidewalk or right-of-way, with 
prior approval from the City.

b. Awning signs are permitted. Sign copy on awnings shall be 
limited to 6 inches in height on the outside edge/vertical face of the 
awning. 

c. Canopy signs (not including marquee signs, which are regulated 
separately) are allowed on the canopy face or mounted upright 
along the top of the canopy with the bottom of the sign no more 
than 4” above the canopy. Canopy signs shall extend no more than 
90% of the length of the canopy and be no more than 20 inches 
in height. Signs mounted on the face of a canopy must maintain a 
minimum of 3” spacing between the sign and the top and bottom 
of the canopy face. No more than 1 canopy sign is allowed per 
shopfront and a canopy sign is not allowed on a shopfront that 
has a marquee sign. 

d. Directional signage as defined in this chapter is allowed for 
assisting traffic flow through allowed drive-through facilities.

Corner sign

119

Item 6.



67

 26-194 Architectural StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A

8. Freestanding Signs
a. No new freestanding signs are permitted after [date of code adoption]. 
b. Any property owner voluntarily removing a legally non-conforming freestanding sign may be allowed a 

bonus of up to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the building signs allocated to the property. For example, 
if a property is allocated 40 square feet of building signs, the property may be allowed 60 square feet of 
buildings signs if a legally nonconforming freestanding sign is removed. 

c. Bonus signage  will still be required to meet the specific placement standards for the particular sign type(s) 
requested.

9. First Street Exceptions for multi-story buildings in the Urban General and Storefront frontages
An additional wall sign is permitted in a sign band located above the top story windows and below the cornice 
that has:
a. Square footage less than or equal to 1.5 times the length of the sign wall; and 
b. Length no greater than 90% of the length of the sign wall. 

120

Item 6.



69

 26-195 Public Realm StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A 

Character District Sections:    
26-191 to 26-198
191. Introduction & Definitions 

192. Regulating Plans 

193. Building Form Standards 

194. Architectural Standards

195. Public Realm Standards

196. Parking & Loading

197. Building Functions

198. Reserved 

199. Reserved

Section 26-195 Public Realm Standards

195.1 Intent 
These Public Realm Standards are designed to establish environments within 
Character Districts that encourage and facilitate pedestrian and bicycle activity 
by creating streets and other parts of the public realm that are comfortable, 
efficient, safe, and interesting.  

A.  Although commonly thought of as just greens or parks, the public realm 
includes the complete street-space—the space between the building 
façades: the sidewalks, street trees, squares, greens, and the travel lanes. 

B. The street-space is a community’s first and foremost public space and 
should be just as carefully designed and planned as any green or civic 
building. The character of the street—both its scale and its details—plays a 
critical role in determining the pedestrian quality of a place.  

C. The Public Realm Standards:

1. Regulate the pedestrian realm, from the facade to the curb as well as 
any greens or squares, in a Character District.  

2. Serve as guidance for the curb-to-curb street geometry of any new 
streets or street rebuilding, as well as the maintenance of existing streets 
in a Character District.  Streets within Character Districts should 
not be thought of as “roads, highways, arterials, or collectors.”  They 
should be developed to create people-oriented places balancing all 
transportation modes. The majority of streets in a Character District 
should be designed primarily for walkability and pedestrian comfort. 

3. Contribute to sustainability.  Street trees and plants contribute to 
privacy, the reduction of noise and air pollution, shade, maintenance 
of the natural habitat, conservation of water, and storm-water 
management.  Good street-spaces promote more sustainable 
transportation options such as walking and bicycling. 

4. Work in concert with the property frontages. Dooryards and facades 
literally form the walls of the street-space. They are regulated in 
Section 26-193 Building Form Standards.   

D. Components
The Public Realm Standards include the following sections:

1. 195.2 General Standards 
2. 195.3 Public Open Space
3. 195.4 Street Trees
4. 195.5 Street Design in Character Districts

121

Item 6.



26-195 Public Realm Standards

70

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

195.2 General Standards
The following standards regulate the street-space from the facade to the curb within a Character District.  

A. Dooryards  

1. All: 
a. Thorny plants shall not be planted along the clear sidewalk or entry walkways. 
b. Noxious weeds, as defined by city ordinance, and invasive exotic species and are prohibited. 

2. Urban General, Urban General 2, and Storefront frontages:
a. Must be planted or hard-surfaced with pervious pavers;
b. Any plantings/vegetation may not block any fenestration nor extend over the clear sidewalk.  

3. Neighborhood (Medium and Small) frontages:
a. Must be planted at a minimum with grass, ground cover, or flowering vines that do not exceed a height of 8”. 
b. Shrubs or hedges (maximum height 40”) may be planted within the dooryard.
c. Trees may be planted within the dooryard, but must be “limbed up” as they gain appropriate maturity so as 

to be minimum 7’ clear over the clear sidewalk.
d. Hard-surfaced walkway(s) must be provided between the clear sidewalk and the building entry(s) in the 

facade. Such walkways are limited to 6’ in width (perpendicular to the rbl) per facade entry. 

B. The developer is required to install sidewalks that meet all City (and ADA) standards and specifications at the time 
of development. They shall provide a minimum clear sidewalk as follows: 6’ for all Urban General and Storefront 
frontages, 5’for all Urban General 2, and 4’ for all Neighborhood frontages.  

C. Tree Lawn: the area between the clear sidewalk and the curb is used as the planting area for street trees. It may 
also be used, in more intense pedestrian situations, as a pedestrian area with seating and cafe tables. The tree lawn is 
regulated in Section 195.4. 

D. Street lighting: 

1. At the time of development, the developer is required to install pedestrian-scale streetlights per City specifications 
according to any adopted streetscape plan, on any Urban General, Urban General 2, and Storefront frontage 
being developed. 

2. Alley lighting:  all lots with alley access may have lighting fixtures illuminating the alley, see the Architectural 
Standards, Section 194.K.3.b.(v). 

E. Street furniture is an element of the overall street-space design. Street furnishings should be simple, functional, and 
durable. Placement will generally be within the tree lawn area. Any specific green or square designs may specify 
different placement. All street furniture must meet City standards. 

F. Private mechanical and electrical equipment is prohibited within any street-space including the dooryard. 
This includes, but is not limited to, air compressors, pumps, exterior water heaters, water softeners, and private 
garbage cans. Public sidewalk waste bins and water pumps for public fountains or irrigation are not included in this 
prohibition. (Temporary placement of private garbage cans within the street-space is allowed to accommodate 
scheduled pick-up.)

G. Public bicycle parking shall be provided in the street-space, located in the tree lawn or dooryard area. (Bicycle 
racks must be either a city-specified model or be approved by the Zoning Administrator.) 

122

Item 6.



71

 26-195 Public Realm StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A 

195.3 Public Open Space
Squares and greens within a Character District are designated on the regulating plan. 

A. Intent
Public Open Space is a key element of the quality of life within a Character District. Its trees and plants provide a 
landscape and civic architecture that complement the surrounding private building architecture.  The squares and 
greens will foster places for the social interaction, community gathering and family recreation of all age groups, all 
within a comfortable walking distance. 

1. Squares are active pedestrian centers; greens are intended for less intensive foot traffic. Surface treatment is 
regulated accordingly.

2. Pervious paving materials (to allow oxygen for tree roots and absorb stormwater run-off) are encouraged, and the 
percentage of impervious paving material is limited. (See B.3. Materials and Configurations.) 

3. These standards apply to those spaces that are designated on the regulating plan whether publicly owned or 
publicly accessible through an access easement. 

B. General Standards
Greens and squares must be designed, planted and maintained according to the following requirements: 

1. Squares and greens shall have at least 60 percent of their perimeter fronting public rights-of-way and they shall 
be surrounded by street trees.  Their dimensions shall be no narrower than a 1:5 ratio and no width or breadth 
dimension shall be less than 20’. 

2. A clear view through the public open space (from 2’ to 7’ in height) is required, both for safety and urban design 
purposes. The foliage of newly planted trees may intrude into this area until the tree has sufficient growth to allow 
such a clear trunk height. 

3. Materials and Configurations 
a. The street frontages of squares and greens within a Character District shall be configured consistently with 

the street or block which they are fronting in accordance with this section.  However, the species of the trees 
surrounding a square or green may be of a different species than the connecting streets. 

b. The ground surface elevation shall be between -18” and +24” of the top of any curb within 10 feet. 
c. The slope across any public square or green shall not exceed ten percent.  
d. Squares and greens shall not include active / formal recreation structures such as ball fields, but may 

include playground equipment. 
e. Trees within a public open space may be selected from outside the Street Tree List but must be approved by 

the City Arborist (see 195.G. Street Tree List in this section).  
f. Asphalt is prohibited within a square or green. 

C. Greens
greens should be designed with a low percentage of hard-surfaced area, appropriate to their less pedestrian-intensive 
character.  Surface treatment and materials (within the area back-of-curb to back-of-curb area excluding any civic use 
building, public art or monument footprint) shall be a minimum 50 percent unpaved pervious surface area (such as turf, 
ground cover, soil or mulch). 

D. Squares
Squares incorporate a higher percentage of hard-surfaced area, appropriate to their more pedestrian-intensive character. 
Surface treatment and materials (within the back-of-curb to back-of-curb area, excluding any civic building, public art 
or monument footprint) shall be between 20 percent and 40 percent unpaved pervious surface (turf, ground cover, soil or 
mulch). 

E.  Pedestrian Pathway
A pedestrian pathway shall be a public access easement or right-of-way and open to the sky. The width for these 
pathways must be not less than 20 feet with a hard-surfaced  walkway not less than ten feet providing an unobstructed 
view through its entire length, except where otherwise specified on the regulating plan.

123

Item 6.



26-195 Public Realm Standards

72

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

Diagram B. Isolated Tree Situation

Continuous Tree Lawn Individual Tree PlantingContinuous Soil Area

6’ min. trench 6’ min. trench

bridged slab, 
structural soil,  
pervious paving

6’ min.

6.
5’

 m
in

.

exposed soil, 
lawn, or 
ground cover

10’

11
’

5’ min.

110 square feet minimum per tree

90 square feet minimum per tree

Continuous Tree Lawn Individual Tree PlantingContinuous Soil Area

6’ min. trench 6’ min. trench

bridged slab, 
structural soil,  
pervious paving

6’ min.

6.
5’

 m
in

.

exposed soil, 
lawn, or 
ground cover

10’

11
’

5’ min.

110 square feet minimum per tree

90 square feet minimum per tree

Diagram A. Connected Situation

F. Parks and Preserve Areas
Any existing or newly created parklands and/or natural preserve areas larger 
than 2.5 acres should be located outside of, or at the edge of, neighborhoods 
within a Character District. Neighborhood greens and/ or squares should be 
within a few minutes walk of all parts of a Character District. 

195.4 Street Trees and Tree Lawns 
Street trees are part of an overall street-space plan designed to provide both 
canopy and shade and to give special character and coherence to each street. 

A. Each street-space must have street trees planted generally in the 
centerline of the tree lawn or not less than 3’ from the back of the curb, 
unless otherwise specified on the regulating plan, and at an average 
spacing not greater than 30’ on center (average calculated per block 
face). Spacing allowances may be made to accommodate curb cuts and 
infrastructure elements; however, at no location may street tree spacing 
exceed 45’ on center except where necessary for alleys, driveways, or transit 
stops. 

B. Required street tree planting area minimum specifications are as follows:
1. They shall be at grade or not greater than 6” above the sidewalk.
2. Soil surface area shall be no less than 110 square feet per isolated tree 

or 90 square feet per tree for connected (tree lawn) situations. (See 
Diagrams A and B at right).

3. No dimension of the soil surface area may be less than 5’ unless 
otherwise specified in this ordinance. 

4. A pervious paving strip, maximum 18” wide, may be placed at the back 
of the curb for access to on-street parking. 

5. Neither the paving strip per 4 above, nor a City Arborist approved tree 
grate, will be measured against the minimum soil surface area in 2 and 
3 above.   

C. Street construction designs should incorporate street tree trenches 
(connected soil areas).  The requirements in B, above may be met through 
the use of bridged slab, structural soil, or other techniques that clearly 
exceed these standards in the fostering of vital and long-lived street trees. 

D. At planting, street trees shall be at least 31/2” caliper, measured 4 feet 
above grade and at least ten feet in overall height. Species shall be selected 
from the G. Street Tree List, below. Consult with the Zoning Administrator/
City Forester for any designated tree species for a particular street-space.

E. Any unpaved ground area shall be planted with ground cover, or flowering 
vegetation, not to exceed 8” in height unless approved by the Zoning 
Administrator as part of a streetscape plan. Street trees should be 
“limbed up” as they gain appropriate maturity so as to not interfere with 
pedestrian or truck travel (minimum 7’ clear over the sidewalk and 14’ over 
any travel lanes) and to maintain visibility. 

F. Street Tree Specifications 

1. Species in the Street Tree List are selected for their physical 
characteristics: size, habit of growth, and hardiness. The use of alternate 
species may be permitted, if approved by the City Arborist.

2. Noxious weeds,as defined by city ordinance, and invasive exotic species 
are not permitted and may not be used anywhere on private lots or 
other areas.   

124

Item 6.



73

 26-195 Public Realm StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A 

3. The Street Tree list should be periodically reviewed and updated by the City Arborist. These are appropriate 
species, but there are many regional disease patterns over time, and this list will need to evolve with those 
changes. Inclusion in this list shall be based on the following criteria:
a. Structural – street trees shape and subdivide the street-space, increasing pedestrian comfort and adding 

(literal) value to the street/community.  These are primarily “canopy shade tree” species that grow to heights 
in excess of 60’ and have a broad canopy—enabling them to clear auto and pedestrian traffic, form a ceiling-
like enclosure, and open a clear view of the street-space at eye-level. 

b. Survivability – proper planting techniques and configurations provide a healthy environment in which the 
tree can thrive—this will ensure that the trees increase their value to the community as they grow.  

c. Form and color – consistent species should be planted along a given street-space to provide it with a distinct 
form and character. Species diversity is important, and a variety of appropriate street tree species should be 
planted within the Character District, to provide a healthy bio-diversity. 

125

Item 6.



26-195 Public Realm Standards

74

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

G. Street Tree List
The following list contains all species approved for use as street trees in a Character District. The list may include 
additional native and/or proven hardy adapted species approved by the City Arborist. Other species may be used for 
planting within a private lot. Species may also be placed within larger soil area locations such as parks, greens, or 
squares.  

126

Item 6.



75

 26-195 Public Realm StandardsCharacter Districts Exhibit A 

195.5 Street Design in Character 
Districts
A. Intent and Principles

1. In order to encourage and support pedestrian and 
bicycle activity in Character Districts, this section 
serves as guidance for the curb-to-curb street 
geometry of any new streets or street rebuilding, as 
well as the maintenance of existing streets. 

2. Streets within Character Districts should not 
be thought of as “roads, highways, arterials, or 
collectors.”  They should be developed to create 
people-oriented places balancing all transportation 
modes.  

3. Street design should consider the needs of all forms 
of traffic—auto, transit, bicycle and pedestrian—
to maximize mobility and convenience for all 
residents and users. Street character will vary 
depending on location: some streets will carry 
a large volume of traffic and provide a more 
active and intense urban pedestrian experience 
while others will provide a less active and more 
intimately scaled street-space. 

4. The majority of the streets within a Character 
District will have a lower intensity, and should 
be configured such that in-lane bicycle travel is 
encouraged and appropriate.   

B. Principles for Street Design in Character Districts

The appropriate design of streets is one of the most 
important elements for a vital urban environment.

• Designing for continuous free-flowing traffic creates 
situations where vehicles will travel at speeds 
greater than desirable for pedestrians.

• With appropriate street designs, drivers choose 
slower speeds and less aggressive behavior, a feat 
typically not achieved through basic speed limit 
signage/postings.

• An interconnected street network allows traffic 
capacity to be diffused and maintained across 
numerous streets.

• Differences between “requirements” and 
“preferences” can be significant—increased lane 
width and the accompanying increased vehicle 
speed more often than not decreases the overall 
safety for pedestrians.

• On-street parking slows passing vehicular traffic 
and acts as a buffer between moving vehicles and 
pedestrians.

• Overall function, comfort, safety and aesthetics of a 
street are more important than efficiency alone.

• In a Character District, non-vehicular traffic should 
be provided with every practical advantage so long 
as safety is not adversely affected.

• Street design should take into consideration what is 
reasonably foreseeable, not every situation that is 
conceivably possible.

• Designing a street to facilitate (rather than 
accommodate) infrequent users may actually 
be the wrong design for the frequent users of the 
space.

• When the street design creates a conflict between 
the vehicular and non-vehicular user, it should be 
resolved in favor of the non-vehicular user. 

• Emergency vehicle access must be maintained. 
With an interconnected street network, there will 
always be at least two routes of access to any lot or 
parcel.

127

Item 6.



26-195 Public Realm Standards

76

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

This page intentionally left blank.

128

Item 6.



77

 26-196. Parking & LoadingCharacter Districts Exhibit A 

26-196. Character District Parking and Loading
A.  Intent

1. Promote a “park once” environment within each Character District 
that will enable people to conveniently park and access a variety of 
commercial, residential, and civic enterprises in pedestrian friendly 
environments by encouraging shared parking.

2. Reduce fragmented, uncoordinated, inefficient, reserved single-purpose 
parking. 

3. Avoid adverse parking impacts on neighborhoods adjacent to Character 
District mixed-use areas. 

4. Utilize on-street parking. 

5. Provide flexibility for redevelopment of small sites and for the 
preservation or reuse of historic buildings. 

6. Increase visibility and accessibility of publicly available parking. 

7. Support and encourage a multi-modal, bicycle and pedestrian-friendly environment. 

B. Other Applicable Regulations 
Pervious surfaces approved by the City Engineer are encouraged for surface parking lots.

C. General Urban, General Urban 2, and Storefront Frontages – Minimum Parking Requirements

1. Existing buildings fronting Main Street between 1st Street and 6th Street at the time of the Downtown 
Character District adoption are exempt from these minimum parking requirements, regardless of use. 

2. There is no minimum parking requirement for:
a. ground floor commercial space; 
b. the re-use or renovation of an existing structure, in addition to those on Main Street identified in Item C. 1. 

above, in which there is no gross floor area expansion and the use [is/remains] non-residential.

3. Minimum Reserved Parking 
Reserved parking includes all parking that is not shared parking. 
a. Commercial/civic uses: There is no minimum requirement for reserved parking.
b. Residential uses in mixed-use or multi-unit buildings—minimum reserved parking spaces per dwelling unit:

(i) Efficiency/1-bedroom  0.5 spaces/unit
(ii) 2 or more bedroom units  additional .5 spaces per bedroom 
Note: In calculating the total number of minimum reserved spaces per building, any partial spaces .5 or above are 
rounded to the next whole number.

c. Residential uses in single-unit attached and detached, multi-unit rowhouse, and two-unit configurations—
minimum reserved parking spaces per dwelling unit:
(i) Owner-occupied   1 space/unit
(ii) Renter-occupied   1 space/unit + one space/per bedroom for each bedroom above 2

4. Minimum Shared Parking:
a. Commercial upper stories

(i) Under 5,000 square feet non-residential Gross Floor Area (GFA) has no minimum shared parking 
requirements.  

(ii) 5,000 square feet or greater, non-residential GFA shall provide a minimum of 1.25 spaces per 1,000 
square feet as shared parking.

Character District Sections: 
26-191 to 26-198
191. Introduction & Definitions

192. Regulating Plans 

193. Building Form Standards 

194. Architectural Standards

195. Public Realm Standards

196. Parking & Loading

197. Building Functions

198. Reserved 

199. Reserved

129

Item 6.



26-196. Parking & Loading

78

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

b. Residential uses–dwellings in mixed-use or multi-unit buildings 
A minimum of .25 parking space per bedroom shall be provided as shared parking.

c. Shared parking shall be accessible to the public and designated by appropriate signage and markings as 
determined by the Zoning Administrator in consultation with the ZRC.  

5. Achieving parking requirements:
a. Parking shall be located and configured in compliance with the parking setback line or other regulations 

for the site on which it is located, as indicated on the applicable Character District regulating plan and/or 
building form standard. (See Section 26-193.) 

b. Required reserved parking spaces for General Urban, General Urban 2, and Storefront frontages shall only 
be permitted on-site or as an accessory use on an adjacent parcel or a parcel directly across an alley from the 
development it is serving, if that parcel is also designated as a General Urban, General Urban 2, or Storefront 
frontage. Such reserved parking shall be subject to a long-term agreement acceptable to the City. Any such 
off-site surface spaces shall be located and configured as per Item a. above. 

c. Minimum shared parking requirements may be met either on-site or within a 600-foot walking distance of 
the development.  

d. Any time or hour of the day restrictions on shared parking shall be subject to approval by the Zoning 
Administrator in consultation with the ZRC. The Administrator may give approval based on a finding that: 
(i) the parking is visibly designated and accessible to the public; 
(ii) at least 12 hours of public parking are provided in any 24-hour period; and 
(iii) that at least 8 of those hours are provided during either business or nighttime hours depending on 

whether the Administrator determines that the primary use will be for commercial or residential uses. 

6. Bicycle Parking: 
a. For commercial, the developer must provide 1 employee bicycle parking rack (2-bike capacity) per 5,000 

square feet of commercial floor area and 1 visitor/customer bicycle parking rack (2-bike capacity) per 10,000 
square feet of commercial floor area. The employee and visitor racks may be co-located.

b. For residential, the developer must provide 1 tenant bicycle parking rack (2-bike capacity) per 5 units and 
1 visitor bicycle parking rack (2-bike capacity) per 10 units. Projects under 5 units shall have no requirement. 
Required minimum tenant parking may be located within the building (but not within individual units) or 
in an otherwise secure location on-site. 

c. Bicycle parking facilities shall be visible to, or clearly identified for, intended users. The bicycle parking 
facilities shall not encroach on the clear walkway nor shall they encroach on any required fire egress.

d. Bicycle parking spaces within the public right-of-way (typically along the street tree alignment line) may be 
counted toward the minimum visitor bicycle parking requirement. (For areas with constrained street-space, 
an optional approach is to consolidate public bicycle parking in a single dedicated on-street parking space per 
block face. See Figure 26-196. A.)

Figure 26-196. A. Consolidated public bicycle parking

130

Item 6.



79

 26-196. Parking & LoadingCharacter Districts Exhibit A 

7. Permissive parking and loading facilities. Nothing in this ordinance shall be deemed to prevent the voluntary 
establishment of off-street parking or loading facilities to serve any existing use of land or buildings, in 
accordance with all regulations herein governing the location, design, and operation of such facilities.

D. Neighborhood Frontages – Minimum Parking Requirements

1. Minimum Reserved Parking: 
Reserved parking includes all parking that is not shared parking. 
a. Minimum reserved parking spaces for multi-unit residential buildings:

(i) Efficiency/1-bedroom units 0.75 spaces/unit
(ii) 2 or more bedroom units  additional .75 spaces per bedroom 
Note: In calculating the total number of minimum reserved spaces per building, any partial spaces .5 or above are 
rounded to the next whole number.

b. Minimum reserved parking spaces per dwelling unit in single-unit attached and detached, multi-unit 
rowhouse, two-unit, and cottage court configurations:
(i) Owner-occupied   1 space/unit
(ii) Renter-occupied   1 space/unit + one space/per bedroom for each bedroom above 2

c. Minimum reserved parking spaces for non-residential uses is 1 space per 300 square feet.

2. Minimum shared parking for multi-unit residential buildings is .25 per unit.

3. Off-site parking is not permitted for any required reserved parking in Neighborhood frontages.

E. Special Parking Standards

1. On-Street Parking in all Character Districts
a. A parking space located on a public street may be included in the calculation of shared parking 

requirements if it is adjacent to the building site (where more than 50% of the space is located within the 
street fronting the development parcel).

b. Each on-street parking space may only be counted once.

F. Parking Lot Plantings for New Development

1. For any surface parking lot not separated from the street-space by a building, the space between the required 
building line and the parking setback line shall be planted with canopy shade trees from the Tree Lists in 
Section 26-195. Public Realm Standards. Trees shall be planted at an average distance not to exceed 30 feet on 
center and aligned parallel 3 to 7 feet behind the required building line/street wall. 

2. The edge of any General Urban or Storefront frontage surface parking lot adjacent to a Neighborhood frontage lot 
shall be screened according to the standards in Section 26-193.1.F. Neighborhood Manners...

G. Loading Facilities

1. No loading facilities are required.

2. Where loading facilities are provided, they shall be located to, and accessed from, the rear and/or alley side of 
buildings.

131

Item 6.



26-196. Parking & Loading

80

Character DistrictsExhibit A 

This page intentionally left blank.

132

Item 6.



26-197 Building FunctionsCharacter Districts

81

Exhibit A 

Section 26-197. Building Functions
A. Permitted Uses

1. All uses are classified and defined in Sections 26-141.

2. Permitted uses by building form standard frontage are shown 
in Section C. Use Table, below. All uses not expressly permitted are 
prohibited. 

3. All uses must meet the standards of the applicable building form 
standard in Section 26-193. Any additional development or 
performance standards are indicated in the Section C. Use Table and 
provided in Sections D.-H. below.

A. Accessory Uses and Structures

1. Home occupations, as defined in this chapter, are permitted.

2. The following accessory uses are limited to owner-occupied single-
unit dwellings, regardless of the applicable building form standard 
frontage. 
a. Accessory dwelling units (ADUs)
b. Bed & Breakfast Establishments
c. Day Care Homes

3. Accessory structures are permitted within the buildable area of the lot, 
as designated in the applicable individual building form standard.

4. Parking is permitted within the location parameters identified on the 
regulating plan and applicable individual building form standard.

Character District Sections:    
26-191 to 26-198
191. Introduction 

192. Regulating Plans 

193. Building Form Standards 

194. Architectural Standards

195. Public Realm Standards

196. Parking & Loading

197. Building Functions

198. Reserved 

199. Reserved

133

Item 6.



26-197 Building Functions Character Districts

82

Exhibit A 

A. Use Table
This table identifies the categories of uses allowed in the ground story and upper stories for each building form 
standard frontage; however, some specific uses may be restricted or prohibited. All uses must comply with any other 
applicable standards in this Zoning Code. Additional regulations specific to the Downtown Character District are 
referenced in the right-hand column.

 G
ro

un
d 

St
or

y

 U
pp

er
 S

to
ry

 G
ro

un
d 

St
or

y

 U
pp

er
 S

to
ry

 G
ro

un
d 

St
or

y

 U
pp

er
 S

to
ry

 G
ro

un
d 

St
or

y

 U
pp

er
 S

to
ry

 G
ro

un
d 

St
or

y

 U
pp

er
 S

to
ry

Section E.
Household Living X X X X X X X X X X Sec. D. and E.1-4
Group Living X X X X X X X X X X Sec. D. and E.1-6

Section F.
Amusement & Recreation X X X X X Sec. D. and F.1.
Animal Sales & Service X X X X X Sec. D. and F.2.
Commerical Assembly X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.1.
Eating & Drinking Establishments X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.3.
Financial Services X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.4.
Gas Station/Accessory Repair X X Sec. D. and F.5.
Heavy Commercial X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.6.
Lodging X X X X X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.7.
Office X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.8.
Parking, Commercial X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.9.
Retail Sales & Service X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.10.
Self-service storage X X X Sec. D. and F.5.
Vehicle Sales & Service X X X X X Sec. D. and F.4.

Section G.
Civic & Cultural Assembly X X X X X X X X X X Sec. D. and G.1.
Community Services Sec. D
Colleges & Unversities Sec. D.
Day Care X X X X X X X X X Sec. D. and G.2.
Educational X X X X X X X X X Sec. D.
Government & Public Safety X X X X X Sec. D.
Health Care X X X X X Sec. D.

Sec. D. and H.

DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICT USE TABLE
BUILDING FORM FRONTAGES

USE CATEGORY
Additional 

Regulations

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
M

ed
iu

m

G
en

er
al

 U
rb

an

St
or

ef
ro

nt

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
Sm

al
l

X

G
en

er
al

 U
rb

an
 2

Key:  X= Permitted, Additional Regulations Apply     Blank Cell = Not Permitted 
INDUSTRIAL, WHOLESALE, & STORAGE

RESIDENTIAL 

COMMERCIAL  

CIVIC & INSTITUTIONAL

134

Item 6.



26-197 Building FunctionsCharacter Districts

83

Exhibit A 

B. General Development and Performance Standards
The following standards apply to all Character District frontages and use categories.

1. All permitted uses shall meet the Section 26-193. Building Form Standard General Provisions and those standards 
specified in the applicable individual building form standard (bfs) pages.  

2. No civic, commercial, or institutional use is permitted above a residential use.

3. Businesses providing drive-through services shall not have a drive-through lane or service window that abuts or 
faces a street-space. 

4. Drive-through services are prohibited in Storefront frontage sites.

5. For duplexes, multi-unit dwellings, and dwellings in mixed-use buildings, no more than three bedrooms are 
permitted per unit.

6. Notwithstanding the provisions of any other section of this article, no existing single-unit residential structure 
located in the Character District shall be converted or otherwise structurally altered or expanded for the purpose 
of accommodating the creation or establishment of a second separate dwelling unit within, around or adjacent to 
the original single-unit residential structure, except for ADUs, as defined and permitted herein.

7. All use-specific state or local certifications, permits, and licenses apply.

8. No smoke, radiation, vibration or concussion, excessive noise, heat or glare shall be produced that is perceptible 
outside a building, and no dust, fly ash or gas that is toxic, caustic or obviously injurious to humans or property 
shall be produced. 

A. Residential Uses – Development and Performance Standards

1. See the General Urban and General Urban 2 building form standard frontages for configuration requirements 
for ground story Residential uses.

2. A lobby serving an upper story Residential use is permitted on the ground story within the shopfront space of 
a Storefront frontage site.

3. Residential dwelling units are not permitted within the required minimum depth for the shopfront space in a 
Storefront frontage site.

4. Mobile home parks are prohibited.   

5. Fraternity and Sorority uses are prohibited.   

6. Group Homes and Assisted Group Living uses are subject to all Iowa law requirements and certifications.

A. Commercial Uses – Development and Performance Standards

1. Amusement and Recreation, Commercial Assembly
a. Only Indoor Amusement and Recreation uses are permitted.
b. Adult Entertainment is prohibited.
c. Theater, Auditorium, and Arena uses shall meet the ground story fenestration requirements of the 

applicable building form standard, but are exempt from the upper story fenestration requirements.
d. The lobby serving a Commercial Assembly or Indoor Amusement and Recreation use is permitted in the 

shopfront area of a Storefront frontage.

2. Animal Sales and Service
No outdoor kennels, play, or exercise areas are permitted.

3. Eating and Drinking Establishments 

135

Item 6.



26-197 Building Functions Character Districts

84

Exhibit A 

a. A restaurant use is permitted in the second story of a Storefront or General Urban frontage site provided it is 
an extension of the same restaurant and the second story floor area is equal to or less than the ground story 
floor area of the same use. 

b. Outdoor areas for eating and drinking shall be allowed on the public sidewalk and in private outdoor 
service areas in General Urban and Storefront frontages, subject to the issuance of all applicable permits and 
licensing.

c. An Eating/Drinking Establishment is permitted on the top floor level or the rooftop of a Storefront frontage 
site or where otherwise designated on the regulating plan, where:
(i) the use is set back from any common lot line by at least 20 feet;
(ii) it is not above a residential use;
(iii) no amplified sound in outdoor seating area, except by special use permit; 
(iv) the hours of operation of any rooftop seating area are limited to 8 a.m. to 10 p.m.; and
(v) subject to all applicable permits and licenses. 

d. The sale and consumption of beer, wine, and liquor shall be subject to all existing permitting and licensing 
provisions, as applicable.

e. Live entertainment and drinking establishments are prohibited if the walls of the facility are within 100 feet of 
a Neighborhood frontage site within the Character District or a residentially zoned property which is outside 
of the Character District.

4. Financial Services
Only the retail banking services are permitted within the required minimum depth for the shopfront space in a 
Storefront frontage site.

5. Consumer Gas Stations, Vehicle Sales and Services
a. Gas Stations are limited to two paired pumps within a single island with a single drive aisle allowed on either 

side of the island, all of which must be separated from the street-space by a building.
b. Surface parking lots for vehicle sales or rental shall only be located and configured in compliance with the 

parking setback line or other regulations for the site on which it is located, as indicated on the applicable 
Character District regulating plan and/or building form standard. (See Section 26-193.)

c. Auto repair services are not allowed except as accessory to a gas station or vehicle sales, subject to the 
following:
(i) The property shall be at least 100 feet from any solely residential lot;
(ii) Overnight vehicular storage is not permitted, unless within an enclosed building;
(iii) The use shall not include the display and rental of cargo trailers, trucks, or similar vehicles;
(iv) Auto body repair is prohibited;
(v) The storage or junking of wrecked motor vehicles (whether capable of movement or not) is prohibited; 

and
(vi) Discarded and replacement vehicle parts and accessories shall be stored inside the main structure. 
(vii) Upon the abandonment of the gas station or vehicle sales, the auto repair service shall terminate and all 

structures exclusively used in the business (including underground storage tanks), except buildings, shall 
be removed by the owner of the property. For the purpose of this subsection, the term “abandonment” 
shall mean non-operation as an auto repair for a period of 6 months after the retail services cease.  

6. Heavy Commercial 
a. Self-storage uses are only permitted in the upper stories of the General Urban frontages.
b. Outdoor nursery and lumberyards are prohibited.
c. Freight-Oriented and Outdoor Display or Storage uses are prohibited.

136

Item 6.



26-197 Building FunctionsCharacter Districts

85

Exhibit A 

7. Lodging
a. Ground Story guest rooms are not permitted within the required minimum shopfront depth in a 

Storefront frontage site.
b. Ground story guest rooms abutting any required building line (or street frontage) shall meet the 

configuration standards for ground story residential uses as specified in the General bfs. 
c. A lobby serving an upper story overnight lodging use is permitted on the ground story of any Storefront 

frontage site. 
d. Bed & Breakfast establishments are permitted as accessory uses to owner-occupied houses in Neighborhood 

frontages. No other overnight lodging is permitted in these frontages.

8. Office
a. Office uses are not permitted within the required minimum depth for the shopfront space in a Storefront 

frontage site.
b. Office uses that exist in Neighborhood frontages as of January 1, 2021 are permitted and considered 

conforming uses. Changes to existing uses shall be in compliance with the standards and requirements of this 
chapter. The establishment of new Office uses or structures not in association with an existing conforming use 
or structure is prohibited.

9. Parking, Commercial
Commercial parking lots and structures are required to meet all building form standards for the frontage sites 
on which they are located.

10. Retail Sales and Services
a. A retail sales use is permitted in the second story of a Storefront or General Urban frontage site provided it is 

an extension equal to or less than the area of the same ground story use. 
b. No merchandise (including motorcycles, scooters, and automobiles) may be left within the dooryard when 

the business is not open.
c. Only retail sales or gallery/showroom functions for Cottage Industries are permitted in the required minimum 

shopfront space of a Storefront frontage.

11. Vehicle Sales and Service (see Gas Stations, above)

A. Civic and Institutional Uses – Development and Performance Standards

1. Civic buildings designed for civic uses (as defined in Section 26-191. Definitions) that are located on sites 
specifically designated on the regulating plan are not subject to Section 26-194. Architectural Standards or 
Section 26-193. Building Form Standards except for Section 26-193.1.E. Neighborhood Manners.

2. Day Care
a. All day care facilities are subject to all permitting and licensing requirements under Iowa Law.
b. Only Day Care Homes are permitted as accessory uses in Neighborhood frontages. 

A. Industrial, Wholesale, and Storage Uses – Development and Performance Standards
Industrial Manufacturing, Assembly, or Processing facilities that exist as of January 1, 2021 are permitted and 
considered conforming uses. Changes to existing uses shall be in compliance with the standards and requirements of 
this chapter. The establishment of new Industrial, Wholesale, and Storage uses or structures not in association with an 
existing conforming use or structure is prohibited.

137

Item 6.



G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l, 
10

' R
BL

St
or

ef
ro

nt
 3G

2.
 n

oR
et

ai
l, 

10
' R

BL

W 4th St

W 2nd St

W 1st St

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

St

Fr
an

kl
in

 S
t

Tr
em

on
t S

t

Io
w

a 
St

Cl
ay

 S
t

G2-4st

W
al

nu
t S

t
Parkway Lane 

N
 C

ol
le

ge
 S

t

Tr
em

on
t S

t

Io
w

a 
St

24.7

Railway

Public
Open Space

Civic Structure

Parking Setback

*1. see the Urban General BFS, 193.2.F.4.b, for more information. 

Storefront

Req'd Building

UNDERSTANDING THE REGULATING PLAN

Color and Symbol Key

Neighborhood
Study Area Bounds
Downtown Character

Line (RBL)

A Comfortable 5 Minute Walk

1
3

0
0

 F
e
e
t

1300 FT1200800600 1000200 400100300

Downtown Character District

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

G2- 5st, 120 lf

Streets
New 

*3 Required street connection
between Walnut Street and either
College Street or Ida Street. The
e[act route is to be determined
through platting.
Consult the Zoning Administrator.

Neighborhood

Medium

Small

G
2-

no
 re

ta
il

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

Urban
General

Urban
General 2

*1

*2. see the Neighborhood Medium BFS, 193.4.F.3.b or the Neighborhood Small BFS, 193.4.E.3.b, for more information. 

*1

*1

*2

*2

*1

September 2021 Ferrell Madden

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

*1
*2

*2 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2 *2

*2 *2

*2

*2

*2

*2
*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*1 *1

*2

*1

*1*1
*1

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2 *2

*2 *2
*1

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2*2

*1

*1

*2

*2*2

*2 *2 *2

*2*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2
*1

*2

*1 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*2

*1

*1

*3. Consult with the Zoning Administrator for more information. 

*2

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l, 
10

' R
BL

G
2.

 1
5'

 R
BL

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l

Regulating Plan

W 8th St

W 9th St

W 10th St

W 7th St

W 6th St

W 5th St

W 3rd St

Cl
ay

 S
t

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

W
al

nu
t S

t

Bl
uf

f S
t

Gr
ov

e 
St

O
liv

e 
St

W 18th St

W 19th St

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

St

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

W 11th St

W 12th St

W 13th St

W 14th St

W 15th St

W 16th St

Cl
ay

 S
t

Fr
an

kl
in

 S
t

Tr
em

on
t S

t

W
al

nu
t S

t

O
liv

e 
St

Io
w

a 
St

W 17th St

St
at

e 
St

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

Bl
uf

f S
t

W 2nd St

W 3rd St

W 18th St

Higby Drive

Tr
em

on
t S

t

Ida St

O
liv

e 
St

W 1st St

Gr
ov

e 
St

138

Item 6.

AutoCAD SHX Text
otherwise noted on the Regulating Plan. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Refer to the City for details. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Urban Public Space per the Code

AutoCAD SHX Text
Civic Green or Square

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING SETBACK LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(see below)

AutoCAD SHX Text
REQUIRED BUILDING LINE (RBL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING FRONTAGE DESIGNATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Vehicle Parking (above ground)

AutoCAD SHX Text
is not allowed forward of this line unless

AutoCAD SHX Text
shall be BUILT-TO the RBL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
This indicates the relevant

AutoCAD SHX Text
Building Form Standard (BFS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
for your site.  The Building

AutoCAD SHX Text
This line indicates the RBL

AutoCAD SHX Text
rules governing your site. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPECIAL CONDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
Specific limitation or allowance 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Consult the City for Site Specific Regulations

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawing for Coding Purposes Only, Dimensions are subject to change

AutoCAD SHX Text
*3



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
             TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: August 30, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning of Downtown Character District (Case #RZ21-004) 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Rezone property from M-1, C-3, C-2, C-1, R4, R3, R-2, and A-1 to Downtown 
Character District (CD-DT) 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

City of Cedar Falls  
 

LOCATION: 
 

Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan study area 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The proposal is to rezone all property located within the study area delineated in the adopted 
Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan to the new zoning designation, CD-DT Downtown Character 
District. The Downtown Character District Regulating Plan will then become the new zoning 
map for this area.   
 
BACKGROUND 
The Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan was adopted in November, 2019 as an integral part of the 
City of Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan. Following adoption of the plan, consultants from 
Ferrell Madden and Community ReCode worked with City staff to draft a zoning ordinance as a 
primary tool for implementing the goals of the plan.  
 
A public review draft of a new zoning code and zoning map for the Downtown Character District 
were presented during a special virtual Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission meeting 
on February 17, 2021. Since that time, the proposed code and regulating plan map have been 
available for public review and comment on the project webpage. Over the last six months, 
consultants and staff have met virtually with the Planning and Zoning Commission at four 
special work sessions to discuss the various elements of the proposed code and regulating plan 
and answer questions from the Commission. Staff also provided opportunities for work session 
discussions with development professionals and with Community Main Street, and encouraged 
the public to view and submit questions or comments to the Planning Division. All property 
owners in the area were notified by mail of the public hearing date at Planning and Zoning and 
provided with instructions on how to participate. Notice was published in the Courier for both the 

139

Item 7.



2 

 

proposed new zoning code for Downtown and for the rezoning of property to the new 
designation of Downtown Character District (CD-DT), noting that the Downtown Character 
District Regulating Plan (attached) will be the new zoning map for the area.   
  
ANALYSIS 
 
CURRENT ZONING 
The downtown study area is comprised of a mix of zoning districts, a portion of which is subject 
to the Central Business District Overlay.  

 The downtown core is zoned C3, the highest density commercial zoning district. 
Development standards of this zone allow buildings up to 15 stories tall, with limited or 
no setbacks, and almost any type of commercial use with few restrictions. While the 
CBD Overlay has helped to temper the nearly unregulated nature of the C-3 District, 
each proposed development is subject to debate regarding the height and design of the 
building and how it relates to the existing downtown context, which has resulted in 
additional time and expense for developers and uncertainty for surrounding property 
owners and members of the community.  

 There are several areas along the river and along edges of the study area zoned 
Industrial (M-1 and M-2), some of which still have manufacturing uses (Viking Pump), 
but many that are now devoted to other uses, or are ripe for redevelopment.  

 The 1st Street corridor within the study area is largely zone C-2. The C-2 Zone allows a 
wide variety of commercial uses, but being an older zoning district has few development 
standards and no design standards that would ensure that new buildings fit into the 
context of the neighborhood.  

 The C-1 Zoning District is located between the C-3 District and the residential districts to 
the west and south. However, the area is still largely residential in character with many 
existing owner-occupied single family homes and houses that have been converted to 
duplexes, multi-family, or offices. There has been a small amount of commercial infill in 
these areas. Other than limiting the height and establishing perimeter setback 
requirements, this zone also does not include any design standards to help the mix of 
uses allowed develop in a cohesive manner or address the potential adjacency between 
commercial buildings and the homes that remain the predominant use in this area.  

 The other areas of the Downtown Character District are zoned R-3 and R-4 with just 
one block of R-2 zoning north of Lincoln Elementary School.  These zones are also 
older zoning districts that allow a variety of residential uses and in the case of the R-4 
District also allows some office and lower intensity commercial uses. Similar to the older 
commercial districts, these zones do not include design standards and have only a few 
basic dimensional standards, such a building height, lot area standards, and setbacks, 
so some infill has occurred that is not in keeping with the original residential character of 
these areas.  

 The Central Business District Overlay covers the main downtown area from 1st to 7th 
Streets between Franklin Street and the Cedar River.  While the Overlay establishes 
some design standards and a process for review of new development through the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council, it leaves some issues open to 
interpretation, such as the height of new buildings. The rest of the study area outside 
the CBD Overlay has few standards to prevent out-of-character redevelopment with no 
review oversight by P&Z and Council.   

 

140

Item 7.



3 

 

PROPOSED ZONING 
The Downtown Character District is established to implement the adopted Imagine Downtown! 
Vision Plan. It focuses on community character, through an emphasis on development 
character, intensity, and the physical form of the buildings. The emphasis is on the relationship 
between private development and public spaces (streets, parks, and open space) to promote 
an overall sense of place within the downtown area, while allowing a wide variety of land uses. 
The goal is to create walkable urban neighborhoods in close proximity to the downtown mixed-
use center. The regulations establish requirements related to form, character and design that 
complement the established pattern of compact, well-connected blocks in the downtown core 
neighborhoods and work to preserve the historic character and sense of place that is the focus 
of the community’s vision for the future of the downtown area.  
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
The Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan was adopted in November 2019 as an integral part of the 
Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan. The primary goal of that planning effort was to update the 
Comprehensive Plan for the downtown study area to ensure that future development is 
consistent with the community’s vision. After adoption of the Vision Plan, new zoning 
regulations were drafted to implement the vision.  
 
The Downtown Character Regulating Plan, which with this rezoning will be the new zoning 
map for the area, is consistent with the “character areas” identified in the Imagine Downtown! 
Vision Plan and help to establish a gradual transition between the higher intensity “Storefront” 
and “Urban General” frontages to the lower intensity mixed-use Urban General 2, and finally to 
the “Neighborhood Medium” and “Neighborhood Small” designations in the surrounding 
residential neighborhoods. These “Neighborhood” designations will allow for a variety of 
housing types for people of different ages and incomes that desire to live close to downtown, 
but at a scale that blends into the neighborhood context. The mixed-use Urban General 2 also 
extends west along 1st Street and also covers a mixed-use node near the intersection of 18th 
and Main Streets on the far southern boundary of the study area. The Regulating Plan also 
acknowledges and provides for future redevelopment for areas currently zoned Industrial at the 
far northwest corner of the character district and the areas on the east side of downtown. Maps 
illustrating the current zoning superimposed over the proposed zoning designations are 
attached to this report.  
 
Since the proposed zoning has been specifically drafted to implement the adopted Imagine 
Downtown! Vision Plan as described above, staff finds that rezoning the properties within the 
downtown study area to CD-DT Downtown Character District is consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan. Staff also notes that the Future Land Use Map should be updated to 
reflect the adopted Vision Plan.  
 
ACCESS TO PUBLIC SERVICES 
The study area is located within in a developed area of the city with access to all utilities and 
public services. 
 
ACCESS TO ADEQUATE STREET NETWORK 
The Downtown Character District is located in an area with short, well-connected blocks. The 
gridded street pattern with centrally spaced alleys lends itself well to the new zoning, which 
encourages buildings that frame the streets to create walkable urban neighborhoods with a 
mixed-use urban center.  

141

Item 7.



4 

 

 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
Notice of the rezoning proposal was mailed to all property owners and the proposed zoning has 
been publicized widely in both print and social media and on television and radio.  Public notice 
for the September 7 City Council hearing was published in the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier on 
August 27, 2021.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
At their May 12 meeting, the Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously recommended 
approval of RZ21-004, a City-initiated request to rezone all property located within the Imagine 
Downtown! Vision Plan study area boundary, as shown on the attached Regulating Plan, from 
current zoning designations to CD-DT - Downtown Character District and to update the Future 
Land Use Map to reflect the adopted Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan.  
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
 
4/28/2021 
Public 
hearing  

The next item for consideration by the Commission was rezoning of property 
in the proposed Downtown Character District. Chair Leeper introduced the 
matter and Ms. Howard provided background information. She explained that 
mailed notice of the rezoning was sent out to all property owners in the 
rezoning area and notice of the public hearing was also published in the 
Courier. The item is for initial discussion at this time and will be continued to 
the next meeting.    

 
Public 
hearing 
Continued  
5/12/2021 
Discussion 
& Vote 

The next item of business was rezoning of property in the proposed Downtown 
Character District. Chair Leeper introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided 
background information. She spoke about the rezoning process and displayed 
the current zoning map for downtown. The boundaries were created to be 
consistent with the Downtown Vision Plan. She also discussed the current 
zoning throughout the area and explained the current rezoning proposal. Ms. 
Howard discussed compliance with the comprehensive plan, access to public 
services and adequate street network. Staff recommends approval of the 
rezoning of all the property within the boundaries of the Downtown Character 
District Regulating Plan to CD-DT – Downtown Character District and also to 
update the Future Land Use Map to reflect the adopted Imagine Downtown!  
Vision Plan.  

Mr. Leeper thanked the consultants and staff and Ms. Lynch stated she is 
eager to see how it works. There were no public comments. 

 Ms. Lynch made a motion to approve the items as recommended by staff. Ms. 
Prideaux seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 6 
ayes (Larson, Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul and Sears), and 0 nays. 

 

 

Attachments: Downtown Regulating Plan 
  Location map with study area boundary and existing zoning 
  Map overlaying proposed zoning over current zoning 
  Ordinance rezoning property to CD-DT Downtown Character District 

   

142

Item 7.



Ceda r
River

Dr
y

Run
Creek

Sn
ag

Cre
ek

Dry

Run
Cr

ee
k

(Univ)

Big
Wo

ods
Cree

k

Washington
Park

Tourist Park
Island
Park

Sturgis
Park

Gateway Park

Pfeiffer
Springs

Park

Tondro Pray
BMX ParkM-1

C-2

R-2

R-3

R-3

M-1

R-4

R-3
C-1

C-3

R-4

R-3

R-3
R-4

R-2

M-1

C-2C-2

R-1

C-3
C-2

R-4

R-1

R-3

M-2

A-1

A-1

M-1

C-2

M-1

Ad
am

sS
t

N 
Co

lle
ge

 S
t

Blu
ff S

t

Grant St

Utility Pkwy

Grand Blvd

E 17th St

E 14th Ct

Horty St

E 12th St

Higby Dr

E 13th St

E 7th St

E 9th St

Mc
Kin

ley
 St

Wa
lnu

t S
t

E 14th St

Tre
mo

nt 
St

Fra
nk

lin
 S

t

Ida St

Cla
yS

t

Sta
te 

St

Co
tta

ge
 Ln

Grove St

Wa
sh

ing
ton

 St

Co llege St

Iow
a S

t

E 15th St

E 3rd St

W 4th St

E 5th St

W 6th St

E 10th St

A S
t

B S
t

Gr
ee

ley
 S

t

E 11th St

W 17th St

W 15th St

W 8th St

W 16th St

Bir
ch

St

W 7th St

E 6th St

W 14th St

E 8th St

W 9th St

W 10th St

E 2nd St

W 3rd St

W 13th St

W 2nd St

E 16th St

W 5th St

W 11th St

E 4th St

Ol
ive

 S
t

Irv
ing

 S
t

Ea
st

St

Logan S t

Sc
hre

ibe
r S

t

Sc
og

gin
 S

t

Beech Ave

E Main St

E 18th St

Lincoln St

Waterloo Rd

W 18th St

Co
lle

ge
 S

t

Ma
in 

St

Fra
nk

lin
 St

W 6th St

W 1st St

W 12th St

Center St

E 1st St ®¬57

®¬27

®¬58
µ184.5

µ43

I

143

Item 7.



C-2

C-2

R-2

R-3

M-1

R-4

R-3
C-1

C-3

R-4

R-3

R-3

R-4

R-2

M-1

C-2C-2

R-3

M-2

A-1

M-1

Horty St
Ida St

Coll egeSt

Sta
te 

St

Oli
ve 

St

Iow
a S

t

Wa
lnu

t S
t

E 3rd St

Tre
mo

nt 
St

Mc
Kin

ley
 St

E 5th St

A S
t

Lo
gan

 St

B S
t

Gre
ele

y S
t

Fra
nk

lin
 St

Cla
y S

t

E 6th St

E 7th St

E 8th St

E 2nd StWa
sh

ing
ton

 St

W 4th St

W 6th St

W 1st St

W 7th St

W 8th St

W 5th St

Grant St

E 4th St

GroveSt

W 2nd St

W 3rd St

E M
ain

 St

N C
oll

eg
e S

t

Lincoln St

Bluff St
Main

St

Beech Ave

Center St

E 1st St

Required Building Line
Parking Setback
Study Boundary
Current Zoning
Storefront
Urban General
Urban General 2
Neighborhood Medium
Neighborhood Small
New Street 144

Item 7.



R-3

C-1

R-4

R-3

R-2

R-1

C-3
C-2

R-1

R-3

M-2

A-1

M-1

C-2

Newman Ave

Rainbow DrIow
a S

t

E 12th St

Grand Blvd

E 11th St

E 13th St

E 10th St

E 9th St

E 8th St

E 14th St

E 16th St

E 15th St

W 11th St

W 9th St

W 14th St

W 15th St

W 18th St

W 12th St

W 16th St

W 17th St

W 10th St

W 8th St

Wa
lnu

t S
t

Cla
y S

t

Fra
nk

lin
 St

Wa
sh

ing
ton

 St

Ma
in 

St

Tre
mo

nt 
St

Co
lleg

e S
t

Oli
ve 

St

Irv
ing

 St

Sta
te 

St

Adams St

E 19th St

Grove St

Blu
ff S

t

Hwy 58 NB On Ramp

E 18th St

Sc
hre

ibe
r S

t

Utility Pkwy

Sc
og

gin
 StEa

stS
t

Hwy 58 SB Off Ramp

Bir
ch

 St

W 13th St

Waterloo Rd

Hwy 58 NB Off R
amp

Hwy 58

Required Building Line
Parking Setback
Study Boundary
Current Zoning
Storefront
Urban General
Urban General 2
Neighborhood Medium
Neighborhood Small
New Street 145

Item 7.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Karen Howard, P&CS Manager, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO.  

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS FOR 

A CERTAIN DESCRIBED AREA, ALSO ILLUSTRATED ON THE DOWNTOWN 

CHARACTER DISTRICT REGULATING PLAN ATTACHED HERETO, REMOVING SAID 

AREA FROM ALL CURRENT ZONING DISTRICTS AND ADDING IT TO THE CD-DT 

DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICT AND ADOPTING THE DOWNTOWN 

CHARACTER DISTRICT REGULATING PLAN AS AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE 

ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

 

 WHEREAS, in November of 2019, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls adopted 

the Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan, as an integral part of the Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan; 

and  

WHEREAS, in order to ensure future development and redevelopment is consistent with 

the adopted Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan, the City of Cedar Falls drafted new zoning 

regulations and an associated regulating plan for the downtown area covered by the Imagine 

Downtown! Vision Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the new zoning regulations establish a new zoning district entitled, 

“Downtown Character District” abbreviated as “CD-DT,” and an associated zoning map, 

referred to as the “Downtown Character District Regulating Plan;” and 

WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls petitioned the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning 

Commission to change the zoning of all properties within the area legally described below to 

CD-DT: Downtown Character District; and  

 WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission found that the rezoning (Case #RZ21-

004) is consistent with the adopted Comprehensive Plan of the City of Cedar Falls and therefore 

has recommended to the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that all that area within 

the boundary described in the body of the ordinance below, and including all street and alley 

rights-of-way within and abutting said area, shall be removed from the current zoning district 

designations and placed in the CD-DT Downtown Character District; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to the best 

interests of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that said proposal be made and approved; and 

  WHEREAS, Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article III, 

Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-six (26), Zoning, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, is incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance by reference; and 

146

Item 7.



 

 WHEREAS, the said amended Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, 

Generally, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-six (26), Zoning, 

of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the boundaries of each 

Character District shall be indicated on the zoning map of the City and shall be governed by the 

associated Regulating Plan, which shall be the zoning map for each said Character District and 

shall be made a part of this article by reference; and said Downtown Character District 

Regulating Plan is attached hereto as Exhibit A; and 

 

 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described area, which is also illustrated on the attached 

Exhibit A: Downtown Character District Regulating Plan, be and the same is hereby removed 

from all current zoning districts and added to the CD-DT Downtown Character District: 

 

Beginning at the midpoint of a line between the Southwest corner of Lot No. 4, Block No. 21, 

and Southeast corner of Lot No. 5, Block No. 21, “J. R. and S. Cameron’s Second Addition” to 

the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa; thence North along the centerline of the alley 

in said Block No. 21 to the midpoint of a line between the Northwest corner of Lot No. 1, Block 

No. 21, and Northeast corner of Lot No. 8, Block No. 21; thence North to the midpoint of a line 

between the Southwest corner of Lot No. 4, Block No. 20, and Southeast corner of Lot No. 5, 

Block No. 20, “J. R. and S. Cameron’s Second Addition” to the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk 

County, Iowa; thence North along the centerline of the alley in said Block No. 20 to the midpoint 

of a line between the Northwest corner of Lot No. 1, Block No. 20, and Northeast corner of Lot 

No. 8, Block No. 20; thence North to the midpoint of a line between the Southwest corner of Lot 

No. 4, Block No. 13, and Southeast corner of Lot No. 5, Block No. 13, “J. R. and S. Cameron’s 

Second Addition” to the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa; thence North along the 

centerline of the alley in said Block No. 13 to the midpoint of a line between the Northwest 

corner of Lot No. 1, Block No. 13, and Northeast corner of Lot No. 8, Block No. 13; thence 

North to the midpoint of a line between the Southwest corner of Lot No. 4, Block No. 12, and 

Southeast corner of Lot No. 5, Block No. 12, “J. R. and S. Cameron’s Second Addition” to the 

City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa; thence North along the centerline of the alley in 

said Block No. 12 to the midpoint of a line between the Northwest corner of Lot No. 1, Block 

No. 12, and Northeast corner of Lot No. 8, Block No. 12; thence North to the midpoint of a line 

between the Southwest corner of Lot No. 4, Block No. 2, and the Southeast corner of Lot No. 5, 

Block No. 2, “J. R. and S. Cameron’s Addition” to the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, 

Iowa; thence North along the centerline of the alley in  Block No. 2 to the midpoint of a line 

between the Northwest corner of Lot No. 1 said Block No. 2 and the Northeast corner of Lot No. 

8 said Block No. 2; thence North to the midpoint of a line between the Southwest corner of Lot 

No. 2, Block No. 1, and the Southeast corner of Lot No. 3, Block No. 1, “J. R. and S. Cameron’s 

Addition” to the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa; thence North along the 

centerline of the alley in  Block No. 1 to the midpoint of a line between the Northwest corner of 

147

Item 7.



Lot No. 1 said Block No. 1 and the Northeast corner of Lot No. 4 said Block No. 1; thence North 

along the centerline of the alley in “Auditors Plat #8”, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, 

Iowa to the midpoint of a line between the Northwest corner of Lot No. 1 and the Northeast 

corner of Lot No. 5 in “Auditors Plat #8”; thence North to the midpoint of a line between the 

Southwest corner of Lot No. 5 and the Southeast corner of Lot No. 6, in Block No. 4, “R. P. 

Speers Addition”, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa; thence along the centerline of 

the alley in said Block No. 4 to the midpoint of a line between the Northwest corner of Lot No. 

1, Block No. 4 and the Northeast corner of Lot No. 10, Block No. 4; thence North to the 

midpoint of a line between the Southwest corner of Lot No. 4, Block No. 3 and the Southeast 

corner of Lot No. 5, Block No. 3 in “R. P. Speers Addition”, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk 

County, Iowa; thence along the centerline of the alley in said Block No. 3 to the midpoint of a 

line between the Northwest corner of Lot No. 1, Block No. 3 and the Northeast corner of Lot No. 

8, Block No. 3; thence North along the Northerly extension of said alley centerline to the 

centerline of West 10th Street; thence West along said centerline of West 10th Street to the 

centerline of Franklin Street; thence North along said centerline of Franklin Street to the 

centerline of West 8th Street; thence West along said centerline of West 8th Street to the 

centerline of Tremont Street; thence North along said centerline of Tremont Street to the 

centerline of West 6th Street; thence West along said centerline of West 6th Street to the 

centerline of Iowa Street; thence North along said centerline of Iowa Street to the centerline of 

West 2nd Street; thence West along said centerline of West 2nd Street to the Southerly extension 

of Lots Nos. 5 and 6, Block No. 29, “Original Town of Cedar Falls”, City of Cedar Falls, Black 

Hawk County, Iowa; thence North along said Southerly extension and along the West line of said 

Lots Nos. 5 and 6, Block No. 29 to the Northeast corner of said Lot No. 6, Block No. 29; thence 

West along the North line of said Lot No. 6, Block No. 29 to the Northwest corner of said Lot 

No. 6, Block No. 29; thence West to the Northeast corner of Lot No. 3, Block No. 38, “Original 

Town of Cedar Falls”, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa; thence West along the 

North line of said Lot No. 3, Block No. 38 to the Northeast corner of said Lot No. 3; thence West 

to the Northeast corner of Lot No. 6, said Block No. 38; thence West along the North line of said 

Lot No. 6 and its Westerly extension to the centerline of Olive Street; thence North along said 

centerline of Olive Street to the centerline of West 1st Street; thence West along said centerline of 

West 1st Street to the centerline of North College Street; thence North along said centerline of 

North College Street to the North line of Ida Street; thence East along the North line of said Ida 

Street to the Northeast corner of said Ida Street; thence Northeasterly along the Southeasterly 

line of Auditor’s Parcel #8914-12-101-003 and its Northeasterly extension to the thread of the 

Cedar River; thence Southeasterly along said thread of the Cedar River to the Easterly extension 

of the centerline of East 7th Street North of Block 1, “Garrison’s Addition” to the City of Cedar 

Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa; thence West along said Easterly extension of the centerline of 

East 7th Street to the Northwesterly extension of the centerline of Iowa Northern Railroad tracks 

lying West of the main office of the Cedar Falls Utilities; thence Southeasterly along said 

Northwesterly extension and Southerly and Southwesterly along the centerline of Iowa Northern 

Railroad tracks lying West of the main office of the Cedar Falls Utilities to the centerline of 

Utility Parkway; thence Southwesterly along said centerline of Utility Parkway and its 

Southwesterly extension to the centerline of Waterloo Road; thence Southeasterly along said 

centerline of Waterloo Road to the thread of Dry Run Creek; thence Southwesterly along said 

thread of Dry Run Creek to the centerline of East 18th Street; thence Northwesterly along said 

centerline of East 18th Street to the East extension of the centerline of West 18th Street; thence 

148

Item 7.



West along said Easterly extension and said centerline of West 18th Street to the Southerly 

extension of the centerline of the alley in Block No. 21, “J. R. and S. Cameron’s Second 

Addition” to the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa; thence North along said 

Southerly extension to the point of beginning; and including all street and alley rights-of-way 

within and abutting said area. 

 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is 

hereby amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the CD-DT 

Downtown Character District, and the amended map as well as the Downtown Character District 

Regulating Plan attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A, is hereby ordained to be 

the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 

 

 

 
INTRODUCED:        

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 

____________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

149

Item 7.



G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l, 
10

' R
BL

St
or

ef
ro

nt
 3G

2.
 n

oR
et

ai
l, 

10
' R

BL

W 4th St

W 2nd St

W 1st St

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

St

Fr
an

kl
in

 S
t

Tr
em

on
t S

t

Io
w

a 
St

Cl
ay

 S
t

G2-4st

W
al

nu
t S

t
Parkway Lane 

N
 C

ol
le

ge
 S

t

Tr
em

on
t S

t

Io
w

a 
St

24.7

Railway

Public
Open Space

Civic Structure

Parking Setback

*1. see the Urban General BFS, 193.2.F.4.b, for more information. 

Storefront

Req'd Building

UNDERSTANDING THE REGULATING PLAN

Color and Symbol Key

Neighborhood
Study Area Bounds
Downtown Character

Line (RBL)

A Comfortable 5 Minute Walk

1
3

0
0

 F
e
e
t

1300 FT1200800600 1000200 400100300

Downtown Character District

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

G2- 5st, 120 lf

Streets
New 

*3 Required street connection
between Walnut Street and either
College Street or Ida Street. The
exact route is to be determined
through platting.
Consult the Zoning Administrator.

Neighborhood

Medium

Small

G
2-

no
 re

ta
il

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

Urban
General

Urban
General 2

*1

*2. see the Neighborhood Medium BFS, 193.4.F.3.b or the Neighborhood Small BFS, 193.4.E.3.b, for more information. 

*1

*1

*2

*2

*1

September 2021 Ferrell Madden

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

*1
*2

*2 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2 *2

*2 *2

*2

*2

*2

*2
*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*1 *1

*2

*1

*1*1
*1

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2 *2

*2 *2
*1

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2*2

*1

*1

*2

*2*2

*2 *2 *2

*2*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2
*1

*2

*1 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*2

*1

*1

*3. Consult with the Zoning Administrator for more information. 

*2

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l, 
10

' R
BL

G
2.

 1
5'

 R
BL

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l

Regulating Plan

Exhibit A

W 8th St

W 9th St

W 10th St

W 7th St

W 6th St

W 5th St

W 3rd St

Cl
ay

 S
t

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

W
al

nu
t S

t

Bl
uf

f S
t

Gr
ov

e 
St

O
liv

e 
St

W 18th St

W 19th St

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

St

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

W 11th St

W 12th St

W 13th St

W 14th St

W 15th St

W 16th St

Cl
ay

 S
t

Fr
an

kl
in

 S
t

Tr
em

on
t S

t

W
al

nu
t S

t

O
liv

e 
St

Io
w

a 
St

W 17th St

St
at

e 
St

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

Bl
uf

f S
t

W 2nd St

W 3rd St

W 18th St

Higby Drive

Tr
em

on
t S

t

Ida St

O
liv

e 
St

W 1st St

Gr
ov

e 
St

150

Item 7.

AutoCAD SHX Text
otherwise noted on the Regulating Plan. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Refer to the City for details. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Urban Public Space per the Code

AutoCAD SHX Text
Civic Green or Square

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING SETBACK LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(see below)

AutoCAD SHX Text
REQUIRED BUILDING LINE (RBL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING FRONTAGE DESIGNATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Vehicle Parking (above ground)

AutoCAD SHX Text
is not allowed forward of this line unless

AutoCAD SHX Text
shall be BUILT-TO the RBL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
This indicates the relevant

AutoCAD SHX Text
Building Form Standard (BFS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
for your site.  The Building

AutoCAD SHX Text
This line indicates the RBL

AutoCAD SHX Text
rules governing your site. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPECIAL CONDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
Specific limitation or allowance 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Consult the City for Site Specific Regulations

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawing for Coding Purposes Only, Dimensions are subject to change

AutoCAD SHX Text
*3



151

Item 8.



Good morning Rob, 
 
It is with regret that I need to resign from the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission effective 
9/9/21.  My husband and I have decided to move outside of Cedar Falls, so I will unfortunately no longer 
be able to serve.  I appreciate the opportunity to serve my community, and for you thinking of me for 
this position.  Karen and her staff have been fantastic, and the knowledge that I have gained has been 
much more than I have ever expected.   
 
I will be able to attend the next meeting on September 8th, but that will be my last as we move on 9/17.  
 
Take care, 
Abby 
 

Abby Sears 
VP, Treasury Management Officer 
Private Banking Manager 
 

152

Item 8.



153

Item 8.



154

Item 8.



CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
Cedar Falls Council Chambers 

August 16, 2021 
 
The City Council held a special work session at City Hall at 5:40 p.m. on August 16, 
2021, with the following persons in attendance:  Mayor Rob Green, Frank Darrah, Kelly 
Dunn, Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse, Susan deBuhr, and Dave Sires.  Staff members 
attended from all City Departments.  Members of the community attended the meeting 
and teleconferenced in.  Absent:  Mark Miller. 
 
Mayor Green introduced the only item on the agenda, Protocols for Remote Public 
Participation in City Open Meetings. 
 
Mayor Green opened Council discussion.  Councilmember Kruse stated he is hoping to 
see guidelines from staff for discussion.  Mayor Green stated guidelines required by 
Governor’s previous proclamation have been dropped.  City Attorney Rogers agreed; he 
stated Council is now meeting in person, and Council by resolution has continued the 
public electronic participation, which is not required by Iowa code; it’s up to Council 
members to either continue or discontinue the option.  Mayor Green asked what the 
Council would like to see moving forward.  Councilmember Kruse and Mayor Green 
clarified that previously, only Council members, not public, could call-in.  
Councilmember Harding stated Council should allow the electronic option as long as the 
concern for COVID-19 exists to be accommodating to the public but to discontinue 
when possible.  Councilmember Dunn agreed; she stated in-person presence is 
important but no one should have to put their health at risk to attend.  Mayor Green 
clarified that pre-COVID-19, the only options were in-person attendance or sending in a 
letter; Councilmember Dunn would like to return to that post-pandemic.  Councilmember 
deBuhr asked if the Governor had made any recommendations; City Attorney Rogers 
responded that the electronic guidelines of the previous proclamation had been allowed 
to lapse for Council attendance but that electronic public presence is at Council’s 
discretion.  Councilmember deBuhr asked what additional work is required of City staff 
to continue the electronic option; she stated the option needs a deadline, not to be 
open-ended.  City Administrator Gaines stated an additional staff is at the meeting(s) 
and several IT people work on it throughout the day to make sure electronic option 
works; there is also coordination required between Channel 15 and IT.  Mayor Green 
stated his understanding that Council does not wish to continue electronic option post-
pandemic.  Councilmember deBuhr stated it’s easier to understand verbal and non-
verbal communication in person; she asked to create a timeline and to not leave the 
option open-ended.  Mayor Green offered two options:  create a timeline and revisit or 
tie to an outside metric such as the County elevation status.  Councilmember Kruse 
agreed to a metric; he questioned if it makes a difference in the effort of staff for Council 
electronic participation versus public participation.  Information Systems Manager 
Sorenson stated that if a Councilmember participated by Zoom, it would still require staff 
at the meeting.  Councilmember Harding stated that if Council is allowed to Zoom in, the 
public should have the same option.  Mayor Green stated that currently the County 
elevation is “High”; does Council want to use the County status?  Councilmember Kruse 

155

Item 9.



stated Council should always have the option to call or Zoom in and the public option 
should be based on the status.  Councilmember Harding asked if a Councilmember was 
already utilizing Zoom for a meeting, is it extra work for the public option also; 
Councilmember deBuhr responded that the public wouldn’t know a Councilmember was 
on Zoom but they would have access to elevation status to know.  Councilmember 
Dunn asked what staff time was required for call in; Information Systems Manager 
Sorenson responded staff set up a conference bridge facilitated by the City Clerk at the 
meeting; Mayor Green stated that worked for Councilmembers but wouldn’t for the 
public, and Zoom offers the “raise hand” option.  Councilmember Dunn stated the public 
need to attend in person post-pandemic; having extra staff at meeting(s) is not a good 
use of resources; Councilmember Harding agreed.  Mayor Green stated he saw 
consensus to utilizing the Black Hawk County COVID-19 Elevation Status; he asked 
Council at what level.  After further discussion it was determined to always allow 
electronic participation at “High” (red) and to not offer it for “Moderate” or “Elevated” 
(orange or yellow); it can be reconsidered if needed.  City Attorney Rogers stated the 
previous Resolution #22,201 addressed other entities utilizing City facilities follow the 
same protocol; does Council agree or have concerns; Council will keep that standard. 
 
There being no further discussion, Mayor Green adjourned the meeting at 6:00 p.m. 
 
 
Minutes by Katie Terhune, Administrative Assistant 

156

Item 9.



Committee of the Whole 
Cedar Falls Council Chambers 

August 16, 2021 

 
The Committee of the Whole met at City Hall at 6:03 p.m. on August 16, 2021, with the following 
Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Robert Green and Councilmembers Frank Darrah, 
Susan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn, Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller and Dave Sires.  Staff 
members from all City Departments and members of the community attended in person and 
teleconferenced in. 
 
Mayor Green called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the agenda, Utilities 
Board of Trustees Interview – Leslie Prideaux and introduced Leslie Prideaux.  Ms. Prideaux 
gave a brief history of herself: she works for the University of Northern Iowa as Assistant VP of 
Alumni Relations and currently serves on the Visitor & Tourism and Planning and Zoning 
Boards.  Mayor Green opened it up for questions from the Council, no questions. 
 
Mayor Green introduced the second item of the agenda, Cedar River Recreation Safety Project, 
and introduced Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Community Development Director.  Ms. Sheetz stated 
this project has been in the City’s Capital Improvements Plan for years.  Following Council 
review of a full Master Plan for the River and discussion at a March 2017 Committee of the 
Whole meeting, the area of focus is between the Main Street and W 1st Street bridges.  In 
November 2020, the City obtained the Iowa DNR permit; in January 2021 the City secured the 
Army Corps permit for the project.  The City secured the Black Hawk County Gaming request of 
$1,500,000 in May 2021.  The anticipated schedule is as follows:  September 7, set public 
hearing; September 20, public hearing; October 4, low bidder; October 18, contract; and 
November 1, notice to proceed. Ideal time to work in the river is between November-December.  
Ms. Sheetz explained the three options on the fundraising component:  A) all funding secured, 
in amounts indicated in the CIP, prior to bidding the project; B) bid project once private 
fundraising pledges of $600,000 are made in writing; or C) bid project following outlined 
schedule, with $130,000 fundraising dollars raised and Cedar River Experience continues 
fundraising efforts, with pledges ranging 2-6 years.  Ms. Sheetz introduced Bob Seymour, Cedar 
River Experience Representative.  Mr. Seymour explained they are a group of volunteers and 
their goal is to get recreation access to the river; they have done 30 presentations and received 
35 letters of support for the project.  Mr. Seymour introduced Dave Deaver, Cedar River 
Experience Representative.  Mr. Deaver stated they need approval from City Council to allow 
pledges for the 2-6 year timeframe, since the project would be completed prior to that time.  Mr. 
Deaver stated at this time they have verbal commitments of $130,000 in cash and would be 
working to raise $370,000 in pledge donations.  Mayor Green opened Council and public 
discussion.  Councilmember Kruse asked about the length of the project and the upstream dam.  
Ms. Sheetz explained the in-river portion will take approximately 2 months; the final project 
completion is June or July and the upstream dam has approximately 10-15 years of life left.  
Mark Kittrell, 250 State Street #408, stated this is an important amenity for the community, 
downtown and the committee plans to exceed the $500,000 goal.  Councilmember deBuhr 
asked about recognizing donors and signage.  Ms. Sheetz explained ideas on opportunities for 
donors to be recognized with plaques or on interpretative signage already planned with the 
project.  Councilmember Kruse asked who is financing the shortage of the project until the 
pledges are due.  Ron Gaines, City Administrator, stated the City would finance the shortage.  
Councilmember Harding motioned for option C (bid project following outlined schedule, with 
$130,000 fundraising dollars raised and Cedar River Experience continues fundraising efforts, 
with pledges ranging 2-6 years.); Councilmember Darrah seconded.  Motion approved 
unanimously.       
 
 
 

157

Item 10.



Mayor Green introduced the third item of the agenda, Future Forward 2025 Update, and 
introduced Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Community Development Director.  Ms. Sheetz gave an 
overview of the plan that was endorsed in February 2017.  The objectives where the City is the 
lead entity consisted of:  create a regionally recognized Cedar River Whitewater District; expand 
mixed-use development within Cedar Falls; revitalize existing public parks; develop inclusive 
parks and public venues; strengthen neighborhood communication; address transportation 
accessibility & affordability; implement state of the art recycling programs & education; 
implement progressive water quality, conservation & energy planning strategies; develop and/or 
enhance public gathering places/venues; increase annual development in North Cedar; 
complete Center Street project; and pursue official international “sister community”.   
 
Ms. Sheetz would like City Council to consider both motions suggested:  1.  Endorse continued 
use of Future Forward 2025 through 2030.  2.  Continue implementation of the Future Forward 
2025 Plan.   
 
Councilmember Darrah motioned to add a third option of reviewing Future Forward 2025 at 
Council goal setting.  Councilmember Harding seconded.   
 
Councilmember deBuhr motioned to amend option #1 to receive and file Future Forward 2025 
through 2030.  Councilmember Darrah seconded.  Councilmembers voted.  Aye:  deBuhr, 
Darrah, Harding, Kruse and Sires.  Nay:  Miller and Dunn.  Motion carried. 
 
Councilmember Sires motioned to strike option #2-continue implementation of the Future 
Forward 2025 Plan.  Councilmember deBuhr seconded.  Councilmembers voted.  Aye:  Sires 
and deBuhr.  Nay:  Dunn, Darrah, Harding, Kruse and Miller.  Motion failed.   
 
The following is back on the table:  1. Receive and file Future Forward 2025 through 2030.  2.  
Continue implementation of the Future Forward 2025.  3.  Review Future Forward 2025 at 
Council goal setting.  Councilmembers voted.  Aye:  Dunn, Darrah, Harding, Kruse and Miller.  
Nay:  deBuhr and Sires.  Motion carried. 
 
There being no further discussion, Mayor Green adjourned the meeting at 7:22 p.m. 
 
Minutes by Kim Kerr, Administrative Supervisor 

158

Item 10.



159

Item 11.



160

Item 11.



161

Item 11.



162

Item 11.



163

Item 11.



164

Item 11.



165

Item 11.



166

Item 11.



167

Item 11.



168

Item 11.



169

Item 11.



170

Item 11.



171

Item 11.



172

Item 11.



173

Item 11.



174

Item 11.



175

Item 11.



176

Item 11.



177

Item 11.



178

Item 11.



179

Item 11.



180

Item 11.



181

Item 11.



182

Item 11.



183

Item 11.



184

Item 11.



185

Item 11.



186

Item 11.



187

Item 11.



188

Item 11.



189

Item 11.



190

Item 11.



191

Item 12.



192

Item 12.



193

Item 12.



194

Item 12.



195

Item 12.



196

Item 12.



197

Item 12.



198

Item 12.



199

Item 12.



200

Item 12.



201

Item 12.



202

Item 12.



203

Item 12.



204

Item 12.



205

Item 12.



206

Item 12.



207

Item 12.



208

Item 12.



209

Item 12.



210

Item 12.



211

Item 12.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director 

Craig Berte, Police Chief 

Date:  August 30, 2021 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Fleet Farm, 400 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class C beer & Class B wine - renewal. 

b) Fleet Farm Fuel, 108 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class C beer & Class B wine - 
renewal. 

c) Blue Room, 201 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 

d) Wilbo, 118 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 

e) Casey's General Store, 1225 Fountains Way, Class E liquor - renewal. 

 

 

212

Item 13.



   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Office of the Mayor  
 

  

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green  

 TO: City Council 

 DATE: August 16, 2021 

 SUBJECT: City Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan for Approval 

 

1. The City of Cedar Falls maintains an Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) to define general roles 

and responsibilities in the event of a major emergency in the city’s jurisdiction. The Code of 

Ordinances specifically notes in Sections 2-188 and 2-219 that the Mayor and Administrator 

will carry out emergency response as directed by the EOP. 

 

2. During the past six months I have worked with the city administrator, directors, Black Hawk 

County Emergency Management Coordinator, and other stakeholders to overhaul the EOP to 

better comply with the guidelines of the National Incident Management System (NIMS) and 

Incident Command System (ICS).  

 

3. Significant changes to this document from the previous 2015 edition are: 

a. Reformatted the entire document for easier readability, including page numbering.  

b. Added the position of Administrator and delegated certain responsibilities to this role. 

c. Changed the name of the policymaking group from the “Emergency Operations Group” to 

the “Multiagency Coordination Group” (MAC Group) to use NIMS terminology. 

d. Added Cyberattack as a new incident annex, in light of emerging ransomware attacks. 

e. Specified certain actions and responsibilities which, by state law, only the Senior Official 

(the Mayor) may undertake. 

f. Designated the City Emergency Operations Center (EOC) to use a departmental structure, 

with representatives of each city department staffing the EOC.  

 

4. The EOP notes that a review of EOP policies and procedures should occur annually to keep the 

document from becoming out-of-date. The EOP will be revisited annually going forward.  

 

   XC:  City Administrator 

            City Directors  

### 213

Item 14.



Cedar Falls Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SEPTEMBER 2021 1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

Table of Contents ................................................................................................................................................ 1 

Distribution List .................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Record of Changes ............................................................................................................................................. 3 

General References ............................................................................................................................................. 4 

Basic Plan................................................................................................................................................................ 5 

 Purpose ...................................................................................................................................................... 5 

 Situation and Assumptions. ................................................................................................................ 5 

 Concept of Operations. ........................................................................................................................ 6 

 Organization/Responsibilities. ........................................................................................................... 9 

 Administration and Logistics. .......................................................................................................... 14 

Support Annex A: Direction and Control ................................................................................................. 16 

Support Annex B: Communications / Warnings .................................................................................... 22 

Support Annex C: Damage Assessment ................................................................................................... 24 

Support Annex D: Emergency Public Information ................................................................................ 25 

Support Annex E: Evacuation ........................................................................................................................ 26 

Support Annex F: Fire Service ....................................................................................................................... 30 

Support Annex G: Public Health Services ................................................................................................. 33 

Support Annex H: Law Enforcement .......................................................................................................... 35 

Support Annex I: Mass Care .......................................................................................................................... 37 

Support Annex J: Protective Shelter ........................................................................................................... 39 

Support Annex K: Public Works and Utilities .......................................................................................... 40 

Support Annex L: Resource Management ............................................................................................... 44 

Incident Annex A: Radiological Incident ................................................................................................... 45 

Incident Annex B: Flooding ........................................................................................................................... 51 

Incident Annex C: Tornado/Severe Thunderstorm/High Winds ...................................................... 55 

Incident Annex D: Blizzard / Severe Winter Storm ............................................................................... 57 

Incident Annex E: Electrical Power Or Natural Gas Outage .............................................................. 59 

Incident Annex F: Potable Water System Failure / Contamination ................................................ 61 

Incident Annex G: Major Fire or Conflagration ...................................................................................... 63 

Incident Annex H: Hazardous Material Spill or Release ..................................................................... 65 

214

Item 14.



TABLE OF CONTENTS City of Cedar Falls, Iowa  

2 SEPTEMBER 2021 

Incident Annex I: Civil Disturbance ............................................................................................................. 67 

Incident Annex K: Mass Casualty ................................................................................................................. 79 

Incident Annex L: Pandemic Flu ................................................................................................................... 81 

Incident Annex M: Cyber Attack .................................................................................................................. 85 

Continuity Annex A:  Business Preservation ............................................................................................ 87 

Appendix 1: Glossary of Terms .................................................................................................................... 89 

Appendix 2: Acronyms .................................................................................................................................... 93 

Appendix 3: Local Disaster Declaration .................................................................................................... 94 

Appendix 4: Mayor’s Supplemental Proclamation ............................................................................... 95 

Appendix 5: Mayor’s Proclamation of Public Emergency .................................................................. 96 

Appendix 6: Evacuation Instructions .......................................................................................................... 98 

215

Item 14.



Cedar Falls Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan BASIC PLAN 

SEPTEMBER 2021 3 

DISTRIBUTION LIST 

Copy Assigned To Copy Assigned To 

1   Mayor 11 UNI Director of Public Safety 

2 City Administrator 12 BHC Emergency Management Coordinator 

3 Director of Public Safety Services 13 Black Hawk County Sheriff 

4 Director of Community Development 14 CFU General Manager 

5 Director of Finance & Business Operations 15   Mayor Pro-Tem 

6 Director of Public Works 16    

7 Police Chief 17    

8 Fire Chief 18    

9 City Communications Specialist 19    

10 City Clerk 20    

 

RECORD OF CHANGES 

Change 

Number 
Date of Change Date Entered Change Made By Resolution  

1 09/26/2005 09/26/2005 Resolution # 14,776 

2 08/18/2008 08/18/2008 Resolution #16,064 

3 02/23/2009 02/23/2009 Resolution #16,352 

4 08/03/2015 08/03/2015 Resolution #19,649 

5 09/07/2021 09/07/2021 Resolution # 

    

    

    

216

Item 14.



BASIC PLAN City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

4 SEPTEMBER 2021 

GENERAL REFERENCES 

 

1. Black Hawk County Emergency Support Functions (ESF) (BHCIAEMA) 

2. Cedar Falls Flood Procedures Manual (City of Cedar Falls) 

1.3. National Emergency Management System Manual (FEMA, October 2017) 

4. Iowa Emergency Response Plan  (IHSEMD, October 2010) 

5. Introduction to Homeland Security and Emergency Management for Elected Officials 

(IHSEMD, 2019) 

6. Agreement for Mutual Aid Fire Protection in and Surrounding Black Hawk County, 

Iowa (2004) 

7. Iowa Code, Chapter 29C – Emergency Management and Security 

 

 

 

217

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan BASIC PLAN 

SEPTEMBER 2021 5 

BASIC PLAN 

 Purpose 

A. The purpose of this plan is to enhance the ability of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa to: 

1. Identify hazards which will impact the safety, health or lives of the citizens 

or property in the community. 

2. Reduce vulnerability or avoid potential disasters. 

3. Coordinate response to emergencies/disasters. 

4. Establish capabilities to protect citizens and property from the effects of disasters. 

5. Ensure the continuity of government and preserve records. 

6. Provide for the care of survivors. 

7. Provide for the recovery and return to normal life after an 

emergency/disaster. 

8. Repair essential facilities and utilities. 

9. Support other areas in the county affected by disaster when possible. 

10. Support and assist in areas outside the county when possible. 

B. This plan provides a link to procedures that will be used by county and local 

governments, and is designed to be used in conjunction with: 

1. The Black Hawk County Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan (EOP). 

2. SOPs/SOGs prepared by local emergency response agencies. 

3. Emergency Action Plans and Contingency Plans prepared by public and 

private sector organizations and facilities. 

 Situation and Assumptions. 

A. Several types of hazards including tornadoes, floods, winter storms and other forms 

of a natural disaster pose a threat to the lives, property or environment in Black 

Hawk County. Technological hazards include transportation accidents such as train 

or plane accidents or the major accidental release of a hazardous material. 

B. Outside assistance from adjacent and higher levels of government, and non-

government organizations may be available under localized emergency conditions. 

However, it is assumed that during widespread disasters affecting large areas of the 

218

Item 14.



BASIC PLAN City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

6 SEPTEMBER 2021 

state or nation, outside aid could be severely limited or unavailable for long periods 

of time. In either case, the immediate, lifesaving aid must come from the jurisdictions 

affected. 

C. The City of Cedar Falls has capabilities which, if effectively used in the event of any 

emergency, would maximize the survivability of life and property. These capabilities 

include the personnel, equipment, and skills of the city forces; the medical, health 

and allied professions; and other non-government professions and groups. Finally, 

they include knowledge of survival actions possessed by the population. 

D. It is assumed that in anticipation of some natural disasters or civil disturbance 

situations, the city government may be able to take actions that could further 

increase capabilities. 

E. The City of Cedar Falls has a significant elderly and disabled population that requires 

extra planning and consideration in times of disaster. 

F. The city’s Emergency Operations Center (EOC) will be located at City Hall. 

G.F. It is assumed any event will be coordinated per this plan. 

H.G. This plan assumed that the County Emergency Management Coordinator does not 

participate directly in the emergency operations of the city until specifically 

requested or if county resources are required. Then it is assumed the County 

Emergency Management Coordinator implements the County Plan. 

I.H. It is assumed that people will provide their own transportation in case of an 

evacuation. If transportation is needed, specific requests must be made early in the 

incident for county resources to provide buses or other forms of transportation. 

 Concept of Operations. 

A. As a general rule, county officials will be primarily responsible for carryout and 

emergency functions outside city limits and city officials will have the corresponding 

responsibility within their city limits. Exceptions are organizations such as fire 

departments, schools, and medical facilities whose geographical boundaries do not 

coincide with corporate limits. 

B. City officials have primary responsibility for disasters which take place in the 

jurisdiction. They will activate the appropriate agencies/personnel to deal with the 

disaster. The Mayor or designated officialDirector of Public Safety Services is 

responsible for coordinating the response of agencies/personnel and coordinating 

the response with county officials if county assistance is necessary. 

1. Actions that the city and county should consider when this plan is 

activated. 

219

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan BASIC PLAN 

SEPTEMBER 2021 7 

a) City agencies assess the nature and scope of the emergency or 

disaster. 

b) If the situation can be handled locally, do so using the procedures in 

this plan, as appropriate: 

(1) The City of Cedar Falls Mayor Mayor, with the support of the 

Multiagency Coordination Group  (MAC Group) or designated 

official coordinates all emergency response actions. 

(2) The City of Cedar Falls Mayor or designated official declares a local 

state of emergency and notifies the Black Hawk County Emergency 

Management Coordinator of this action and issues directives as to 

travel restrictions on local roads and protective actions if necessary. 

(3) Forward the local state of emergency declaration to the Black Hawk 

County Emergency Management Agency. 

(4)(3) City emergency response officials/agencies respond 

according to the checklists outlined in the Attachments A - J of the 

Functional AnnexSupport Annexes of this EOP. 

(5)(4) The Mayor or designated officialCity Administrator directs 

departments, agencies and personnel to respond to the situation. 

(6) The Mayor or designated officialDirector of Public Safety Services  

(7)(5) Notify The Mayor shall notify the public of the situation and 

appropriate actions to take. 

(8)(6) The Mayor shall kKeep county officials informed of the 

situation and actions taken. 

2. If city resources become exhausted or if special resources are required, the 

Mayor shall request county assistance through the County Emergency 

Management Agency. 

a) If assistance is requested, the County Emergency Management 

Coordinator assesses the situation and makes recommendations. 

b) The County Emergency Management Coordinator has the ability to: 

(1) Activate the County Emergency Operations Center. 

(2) Implement the County Emergency Operations Plan. 

(3) Respond with county resources as requested and available. 

220

Item 14.



BASIC PLAN City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

8 SEPTEMBER 2021 

(4) Activate mutual aid agreements. 

(5) Coordinate available county resources with city/town resources. 

(6) Notify Iowa Department of Homeland Security and Emergency 

Management. 

(7) Initiate the Damage Assessment process. 

(8) Assist city/town with prioritizing and allocating resources. 

3. If city and county resources are exhausted, the County Emergency 

Management Coordinator can request state assistance through the State 

Emergency Management Division, Office of Homeland Security.Iowa 

Department of Homeland Security and Emergency Management (IHSEMD).  

a) If state assistance is requested, the Emergency Management Division 

Administrator, County Emergency Management Coordinator, and the 

Mayor will assess the disaster or emergency situation and recommend 

that personnel, services and equipment be made available for 

response, mitigation or recovery. 

b) The State Administrator ofDirector of Homeland Security and 

Emergency Management notifies the Governor and makes 

recommendations. 

c) If state assistance is granted, procedures will be followed as stated in 

the Iowa Emergency Plan and the County EOP. 

4. Operation Policies. 

a) Within city limits, city officials will be responsible for the direction and 

control of emergency operations, and will utilize the regular, auxiliary, 

or volunteer resources of city government. They will also be 

responsible for coordinating with others to provide for those 

emergency operations not within the capabilities of city government 

forces.  

 

(Refer to Attachments A - J of the Functional Annexes for emergency 

responsibilities of key officials in this jurisdiction.) 

b) Within county boundaries but exclusive of incorporated cities, county 

officials will be responsible for direction and control of emergency 

operations, and will utilize the regular, auxiliary, or volunteer resources 

of county government. They will also be responsible for coordinating 

with others to provide for those emergency operations not within the 

capabilities of county government forces. 

221

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan BASIC PLAN 

SEPTEMBER 2021 9 

c) In an emergency affecting more than one political jurisdiction, officials 

of all jurisdictions involved will coordinate their services to the 

maximum extent possible. 

d) Each agency, department, or service government shall provide for the 

maintenance of records during an emergency. These records should 

include man-hours, equipment hours, supplies and materials 

consumed, injuries to personnel, and damage to public facilities and 

equipment. 

5. Lines of succession. 

a) The following lines of succession have been established: 

(1) Mayor 

(2) Mayor Pro-Tem 

(3) Most senior member of Council 

(4) Council Chair of Administration Committee 

 Organization/Responsibilities. 

A. Incident management framework. 

1. In responding to any emergency or disaster situation within City of Cedar 

Falls, emergency response agencies, (e.g., Fire Services, Law Enforcement, 

EMS) will establish and use incident management to effectively organize 

and integrate multiple disciplines into one multi-functional organization. 

The City of Cedar Falls will utilize the Incident Command System, and 

National Incident Management System, as outlined by the Office of 

Homeland Security. 

a) As illustrated in Chart 1, incident management is comprised of five 

functions: command, operations, planning, logistics and finance. 

b) The Incident Commander is responsible for ensuring that all functions 

are effectively coordinated to fulfill the established objectives that were 

developed for the emergency at hand, and has command and control 

authority over all on-scene operations. 

c) Establishing incident management. 

(1) The ranking individual on the first emergency response unit (e.g., 

Fire Services, Law Enforcement, EMS) to arrive on-scene will 

establish incident management and assume command as per their 

organization's SOPs/SOGs. 

222

Item 14.



BASIC PLAN City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

10 SEPTEMBER 2021 

(2) As additional emergency response units arrive on-scene, command: 

(a) Will be transferred to the agency having primary 

jurisdiction of the situation (e.g., Fire Services, Law 

Enforcement, EMS). 

(b) Passed up the lead organization's chain of command. 

(3) Unified command will be established for situations that involve 

multiple jurisdictions and/or agencies. 

B. Senior Official (Mayor) 

1. The Senior Official is responsible for:1 

a) Ensuring the safety of citizens and the protection of property. 

b) Ensuring the continuity of government. 

c) Activating specific legal authorities (disaster declarations, evacuations, 

state of emergency, or other protective actions). 

d) Delegating authority for incident command to an Incident Commander 

(IC) or Unified Command (UC). 

e) Coordinating with the Public Information Officer (PIO) to keep the 

media and public informed. 

f) Requesting assistance from State agencies through the EOC. 

g) Resolving any resource allocation conflicts. 

h) Coordinating with other Senior Officials and whole community 

partners. 

i) Participating in a Multiagency Coordination Group (MAC Group). 

B.C. Emergency Operations Group (EOC).Multiagency Coordination Group (MAC Group) 

1. In a major emergency or disaster, that cannot be managed solely by the 

on-scene incident commanderIncident Commander, the mayor or 

designated official will alertMayor will activate the city Emergency 

Operations GroupMAC Group., through the Police Community Service 

Officer, and request key officials to meet at the designated EOC. 

a) The Emergency Operations Group MAC Group will consist of the: 

                                                 

1 FEMA NIMS Coordination: MAC Groups and the Joint Information System, Visual 5.13 

223

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan BASIC PLAN 

SEPTEMBER 2021 11 

(1) Mayor. 

(1)(2) City Administrator 

(2)(3) Police Chief. 

(3)(4) Fire Chief. 

(4)(5) Director of Administrative Services.Director of Public Safety 

Services 

(5)(6) Public Works Director.Director of Community Development 

(6)(7) Director of Developmental Services.Director of Public Works 

(7)(8) Director of Human and Leisure Services.Director of Finance 

and Business Operations 

(8)(9) City Clerk. 

(10) City Attorney. 

(9)(11) Other relevant executive–level leadership and high-level 

subject matter experts as required by the situation and as 

determined by the MAC Group.  These may include executives from 

Cedar Falls Utilities, the University of Northern Iowa, the Cedar Falls 

Community Schools District, and the American Red Cross. 

 

(Refer to Plan  Attachment  A1 - Emergency  Operations  Group 

Alerting List.) 

2. As illustrated by the following chart, the Emergency Operations Group  

MAC Group will make collaborate on major policy decisions, and 

coordinate and support all actions necessary to meet the needs of on-

scene operations, the general public and the overall response effort. 

224

Item 14.



BASIC PLAN City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

12 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 

Chart 1: Incident management chart showing functional sections and common 

operational branches. In an actual emergency, only those positions required by the 

magnitude of the situation will be used. For more information about these positions and 

their responsibilities, please refer to NIMS/ICS instructions. 

INCIDENT COMMANDER 
OR UNIFIED COMMAND 

(Fire/LE/EMS Official)

COMMAND 
STAFF 

Safety Officer

Public 
Information 

Officer

Liaison Officer

SECTIONS

Operations Chief

Staging Area
Manager

Law Enforcement 
Branch

Fire Suppression 
Branch

EMS Branch

HAZMAT Branch

Search & Rescue 
Branch

Public Works / 
Utilities Branch

Planning Chief

Logistics Chief

Finance Chief

225

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan BASIC PLAN 

SEPTEMBER 2021 13 

 

Chart 2: Relationship between EOC emergency management 

functions and on-scene incident management operations. 

The Emergency Operations Group (EOC)MAC Group makes major policy decisions, and 

coordinates and supports all actions necessary to meet the needs of on-scene operations, 

the general public and the overall response effort while the Incident Commander is in 

command and control of on-scene emergency response operations. Although each 

situation is different, typically the Emergency Operations Center (EOC)Group will provide 

overall coordination of mass evacuation/care operations, restoration of vital services and 

response and recovery operations in the aftermath of a major emergency or disaster. 

Incident Commander EOC Director and Staff 

 Manage the incident at the scene. 

 Keep the EOC/MAC Group informed on all 

important matters pertaining to the incident. 

 Support the Incident Commander and 

the MAC Group. 

 Provide Resources. 

 Plan for Resource Requirements. 

 Facilitate Situational Awareness. 

Joint Information System MAC Group 

 Enable communication between incident 

personnel. 

 Provide critical information to the public. 

 Provide the Incident Commander and 

the EOC staff with authority, mission 

strategic direction, and policy. 

INCIDENT COMMANDER  
OR UNIFIED COMMAND

COMMAND 
STAFF 

SECTIONS

EMERGENCY OPERATIONS CENTER
(Support Functions)

MAC GROUP
(Policy Development)

226

Item 14.



BASIC PLAN City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

14 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 

 Administration and Logistics. 

A. The Mayor or designated official may request support through the Black Hawk 

County Emergency Management CoordinatorAgency. The Coordinator coordinates 

the request with the State Emergency Management DivisionIowa Homeland Security 

and Emergency Management Department. The Department then requests a 

Governor's Proclamation of Disaster to activate state resources. City and county 

resources must be exhausted before a Governor's Proclamation of Disaster can be 

requested. 

B. Support from federal and state agencies may be requested through the County 

Emergency Management Coordinator. The Coordinator coordinates the request with 

the State Emergency Management DivisionIowa Homeland Security and Emergency 

Management Department. The Division Department then requests a Governor's 

Proclamation of Disaster to activate State resources, which may include the Iowa 

State Patrol, Iowa National Guard, and Civil Air Patrol. 

C. If local and state resources are exhausted, the Governor may request a Presidential 

Declaration to activate federal resources. 

D. State agencies and local government emergency responsibilities and County-level 

support functions are described in the Iowa Emergency Plan (1999).Black Hawk 

County Emergency Support Functions documents, which are maintained by the Black 

Hawk County Emergency Management Agency.  This plan is available in the County 

Emergency Management Coordinators Office.  

VI. Plan Development and Maintenance. 

A. The Mayor or designated official shall be responsible for exercising or testing, 

evaluating and revising and updating this plan and its supporting documents (SOG's).  

B.A. The Mayor may appoint necessary persons to assist in plan development and 

maintenance. This process should take place at least annually. The Fire Chief will The 

Director of Public Safety Services shall oversee conduct an annual reviews review of 

Emergency Operations Plan and report to the City Council in writing regarding the 

EOP’s suitability for continued use by March 1st of each year.  If any changes are 

required, the EOP shall be re-approved by City Council resolution.  unless otherwise 

appointed by the Mayor.  

C. The Mayor/Administrator/Manager is responsible for ensuring that after-action 

reviews of all exercises and major incidents are conducted. 

B. The plan development and maintenance process is necessary to keep the plan from 

becoming outdated beyond usability, to continually refine the plan, and keep those 

responsible for implementing the plan familiar with its contents. 

227

Item 14.



Cedar Falls Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan BASIC PLAN 

SEPTEMBER 2021 15 

C. The EOP shall only general policy directives and guidance. Detailed tactical 

procedures shall be documented in departmental SOG’s and SOP’s; this includes 

information such as rosters, phone numbers, and other data which may change from 

year to year.   This approach is intended eliminate the need for continual re-

approvals of the EOP. 

D. The City Administrator shall ensure that EOP-based physical and tabletop exercises 

are conducted by staff each year for continued staff familiarity with the plan. 

E. The City Administrator shall ensure that after-action reviews of all exercises and 

major incidents are conducted to continually improve the emergency response 

capabilities of the City of Cedar Falls. 

D.F. All superseded printed copies of the EOP shall be returned to the City Clerk for 

destruction; this will reduce the potential for confusion during an actual emergency. 

 

228

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX A: DIRECTION AND CONTROL City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

16 SEPTEMBER 2021 

SUPPORT ANNEX A: DIRECTION AND CONTROL 

I. Mayor (Senior Official). 

A. The Mayor is responsible for the overall management of governance of the City of 

Cedar Falls. 

B. Emergency/disaster checklist. 

1. Mayor or designated official should: 

 Notify other town officials.City Council members. 

 Warn key facilities 

 Authorize activation of sirens or other warning systems. 

 If conditions warrant, report to the pre-designated meeting place at City 

Hall and notify the MAC Group Emergency Operations Group through 

the Police CSO.  

 Establish and maintain communications with on-scenethe Iincident 

Ccommander. 

a) Activate the alerting list: 

 Elected Officials. 

 Representative of medical profession. 

 Fire Chief. 

 Representative for utility companies. 

 Police Chief. 

 Public Works Director. 

 City Clerk. 

 Public Information Officer.City Communications Specialist. 

 Emergency Management Coordinator. 

 City Department HeadsDirectors. 

 City Information Technology Manager 

b) Ensure that: 

 Those who have a part in the plan understand what they are to do 

(e.g., report to a pre-designated meeting place or do a specific 

task). 

 The person designated to provide an initial damage assessment 

and casualty report has been activated. 

 Initial disaster assessment information is conducted and relayed to 

the County Emergency Management Coordinator. 

229

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan SUPPORT ANNEX A: DIRECTION AND CONTROL 

SEPTEMBER 2021 17 

 The Public Information Officer (PIO) and/or designated person City 

Communications Specialist is notified to provide information to 

the public and provide proper and accurate information to the 

media. 

 All department/agency heads have begun to keep separate and 

accurate records of disaster-related expenditures and have logged 

their activities 

 Evaluate available resources, including personnel.  If deficiencies 

exist, take action to obtain the needed resources. 

 Be prepared to issue a declaration of emergency. (Refer to 

attached Local Disaster Declaration, Appendix 3.) 

 Determine whether or not county, state or federal assistance 

should be requested. (City/town resources must be fully 

committed before county, state or federal assistance will be 

available.  If assistance is requested, specify the type and amount 

of assistance needed.) 

 Appoint mass care coordinator or request the Red Cross Chapter. 

 Appoint public health services coordinator. 

II. City ClerkCity Administrator. 

The City Clerk is responsible for their assigned activities. 

A. Emergency/disaster checklist. 

 Report to the chief elected official of the town. 

 Maintain records indicating city/town expenses incurred due to the disaster. 

 Assist in the damage assessment process by: 

 Collecting damage assessment information and provide to County 

Emergency Management Coordinator. 

 Providing information regarding the dollar values of property damaged 

as a result of the disaster. 

 Providing information (name, telephone number, etc.) regarding the 

owners of the property which has been damaged/destroyed as a result of 

the disaster. 

230

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX A: DIRECTION AND CONTROL City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

18 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 Delegate authority to department directors to permit acquisition of 

equipment and supplies needed following a disaster. 

 The Finance ManagerController/City Treasurer will assign department 

directors account numbers to which emergency expenditures may be 

charged. 

 Contact the County Department of Human Services and coordinate 

needed services. 

 Contact the City Attorney regarding any temporary contracts or legal 

advice regarding the emergency. 

 Keep logs of city activities. 

III. Multiagency Coordination Group (MAC Group). 

A. MAC Groups are part of the off-site incident management structure of NIMS.  

B. MAC Group members are typically agency stakeholders impacted by and with 

resources committed to the incident. The MAC Group may also include representatives 

from non-governmental organizations. 

C. During an incident, the MAC Group will: 

 Act as a policy-level body. 

 Frame the overall response. 

 Provide priorities to the Incident Commander and EOC. 

 Establish Protocols. 

 Establish Reporting Requirements for the Incident. 

 Support resource allocation and prioritization. 

 Make cooperative multi-agency / multi-departmental decisions. 

 Enable decision-making among elected and appointed officials with those 

carrying out the incident operations (Incident Commander / Unified 

Command).  

D. The municipal-level MAC Group will conduct itself under the guidance and authority of 

the Mayor (as Senior Official). 

231

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan SUPPORT ANNEX A: DIRECTION AND CONTROL 

SEPTEMBER 2021 19 

E. The City Council will periodically be updated by the Mayor. The Mayor may call special 

sessions to update the Council and conduct emergency business and policy decisions.  

B.F. The MAC Group will meet in the Mayor’s Conference Room at City Hall, unless 

otherwise designated by the Mayor.  Meetings may be held virtually or by 

teleconference if necessary.  

  

232

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX A: DIRECTION AND CONTROL City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

20 SEPTEMBER 2021 

III.IV. City Emergency Operations Center (EOC) .Director. 

A. The city’s primary Emergency Operations Center (EOC) will be located at the Cedar 

Falls Public Safety Building (4600 South Main Street). 

B. The Alternate EOC sites shall be the Public Works Complex the same as the alternate 

City Hall sites, and/or the Fire Department Headquarters, and/or the Black Hawk 

County EOC (1925 Newell Street, Waterloo). 

C. The EOC Director shall coordinate and support the emergency response and resource 

needs of the Incident Command System and Field Command posts if established. 

D. The Police Department  Division shall provide security for the EOC. The EOC is a very 

busy and important emergency coordination point. Access will be limited to those 

assigned to or who have appropriate business in the EOC. Access to members of the 

public and media will be prohibited without approval of the EOC Incident Commander 

or EOC ManagerDirector. Such access will include an escort if approved. 

E. The EOC shall at all times be under the direction and control of the EOC Incident 

CommanderDirector and/or designee(s) as Deputy Incident Commandersor Deputy 

Director. As per this plan, the Mayor (or succession per this plan) will serve as the Chief 

Elected Official. 

F. Once the EOC is activated, an operational plan will be put in place to allow the EOC to 

operate 24 hours per day as long as needed, with officials completing no more than a 

12 hour shift at a time. The plan will also include a plan for periodic briefings for the 

EOC from Field Command posts, and updating of elected officials and the media. 

G. The operation of the EOC will follow lLocal, State state and National national Incident 

Management System Guidelinesguidelines. 

H. The City EOC shall use an organizational structure which mirror’s the city’s 

departments. Each City Department and Cedar Falls Utilities will provide an 

experienced and qualified staff member to coordinate support for the Incident 

Commander / Unified Command.   

G.I. A Volunteer Services Liaison will be assigned as necessary to coordinate the recruiting 

and deployment of community volunteers. This position shall work closely with the 

County EOC, if activated, for best use of volunteers. This liaison shall work closely with 

the Volunteer Center of the Cedar Valley (VCCV) in organization efforts.  

233

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan SUPPORT ANNEX A: DIRECTION AND CONTROL 

SEPTEMBER 2021 21 

 
 

Chart 3: City Emergency Operations Center Structure. In an actual emergency, only those 

positions required by the magnitude of the situation will be used.   

H. It is recommended that a span of control ratio of no more than 1:5 be maintained, 

however the span of control ratio shall not exceed 1:7. 

J. The EOC Director shall assign an IT SupportA Communications Officer will be 

appointed for the EOC to establish and maintain telephone, radio, computers, and 

other forms of communication. The IT Support Officer will also provide technical 

assistance for staff use of computers, laptops, tablets, and videoconference equipment 

as necessary. A site within the EOC will be implemented for each essential service 

function. 

I.K. Council members may be utilized when needed as elected official liaisons to the Black 

Hawk County EOC, but shall not be assigned to serve within the City EOC. 

J.L. The City Council will periodically be updated by the Mayor or designee. The Mayor 

may call special sessions to update the Council and conduct emergency business and 

policy decisions. Typically elected officials other than the Mayor are not assigned to 

operation positions within the EOC. Council members may be utilized when needed as 

elected official liaisons to the Black Hawk County EOC. 

K.M. The EOC will keep proper records and reports and track details of the incident as 

needed for after action plan revision.  

CITY EOC DIRECTOR

Public Works

Public Safety

Community 
Development

Finance & Business 
Operations

Cedar Falls 
Utilities

Volunteer Services

Public Information 
Officer (PIO)

IT Support Officer

234

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX B: COMMUNICATIONS/WARNINGS City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

22 SEPTEMBER 2021 

SUPPORT ANNEX B: COMMUNICATIONS / WARNINGS 

I. Concept. 

A. The warning and communications function is responsible for warning and 

communications in the City of Cedar Falls 

B. The following tasks represent a checklist of actions this function should consider in an 

emergency or disaster situation. 

II. Black Hawk County Emergency Management Agency 

A. The Black Hawk County EMA located in Waterloo, is responsible for warning and 

communications activities in the City of Cedar Falls. In a watch, warning or actual 

emergency/disaster the Black Hawk County EMA will warn the following: 

1. Appropriate Emergency Responders (Fire Department, EMS, Police). 

2. County Emergency Management Coordinator. 

3. Incident Commander or Emergency Management Coordinator. 

B. The Incident Commander or Emergency Management Coordinator will: 

1. Establish communications at command post, if established. 

2. Ensure the following personnel are notified: 

a) Members on activation list. 

b) Special facilities 

c) Ensure all agencies represented in the city/town EOC have 

communications, both to their staff at their department offices and their 

staff at the incident site. 

1. Activate public warning systems. These may include: 

a) NOAA Weather Radios. 

b) Indoor warning monitors 

c) Outdoor warning systems (sirens) 

d) Door to door notification. 

e) Call trees. 

235

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan SUPPORT ANNEX B: COMMUNICATIONS/WARNINGS 

SEPTEMBER 2021 23 

2. Establish communications with the County Emergency Management Agency 

office or with the county EOC if it is activated. 

3.  If established, the City of Cedar Falls EOC will appoint a Communications 

Officer to coordinate and maintain communications for the EOC. 

  

236

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX C: DAMAGE ASSESSMENT City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

24 SEPTEMBER 2021 

SUPPORT ANNEX C: DAMAGE ASSESSMENT 

I. Damage Assessment 

A. Damage assessment for public buildings and infrastructure within the City of Cedar 

Falls from a natural or man-made disaster will be the responsibility of the Damage 

Assessment Team. 

B. The Damage Assessment Team will be coordinated by the City Administrator, with the 

support of the by the Director of Developmental ServicesCommunity Development. 

C. The Director of Developmental Services Community Development will coordinate 

damage assessment activities with outside agencies (i.e. FEMA, insurance companies, 

etc.) 

D. The Director of Public Works will complete a damage assessment of City owned 

property and will forward this to the Damage Assessment Team. 

D.E. The General Manager of Cedar Falls Utilities will provide a damage assessment of CFU 

facilities and services to the Damage Assessment Team. 

E.F. The University of Northern Iowa will conduct a damage assessment of UNI owned 

property, and then report this to the City of Cedar Falls Developmental 

ServicesDirector of Community Development. 

F.G. Developmental ServicesThe Director of Community Development will provide damage 

information to the Black Hawk County Emergency Management Agency, and other 

agencies as required. 

 

  

237

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan SUPPORT ANNEX D: PUBLIC EMERGENCY INFORMATION 

SEPTEMBER 2021 25 

SUPPORT ANNEX D: EMERGENCY PUBLIC INFORMATION 

I. Mayor (Senior Official)/Administrator/Manager. 

A. The Mayor shall appoint a Public Information Officer (PIO) to coordinate emergency 

public information. 

B.A. News releases and other public information should be cleared through the Incident 

Command/Unified Command and the Mayor. 

C.B. If necessary, the EOC Public Information Officer shall establish a Joint Information 

Center (JIC) to establish information protocols and dissemination. 

II. Public Information Officer (PIO). 

A. The PIO will be designated as the Public Information Officer depending on the 

incident.The Incident Commander shall designate a Public Information Officer, if 

necessary, to coordinate incident communications to the public. 

B. Emergency/disaster checklist:  

1. Function as the sole point of contact for the news media and public officials. 

2. Maintain liaison with the EOC and command post in order to stay abreast of 

situation. 

3. Establish news media briefing room and brief the media at periodic intervals. 

4. If the situation escalates and the county EOC is activated, coordinate with the 

County PIO to prepare news releases. 

5. Conduct press tours of disaster areas within the city/town as the situation 

stabilizes. 

6. Assist the county in establishing a Joint Public Information Center. 

7. Assist the county with establishing a Rumor Control Center. 

8. Issue protective action recommendations or public service advisories as 

directed by the Mayor or designated official. 

9. Public information may be disseminated through various forms, to include 

radio, television, newspaper, emergency broadcast system, public address, 

etc. 

 

  

238

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX E: EVACUATION City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

26 SEPTEMBER 2021 

SUPPORT ANNEX E: EVACUATION 

I. Mayor. 

A. The Mayor or designated official of the City of Cedar Falls areis responsible for issuing 

evacuation orders in the Cedar Falls city limits. However, the the on-scene command 

authorityIncident Commander can make a decision to evacuate when there is an 

immediate need in order to protect lives and provide for public safety. 

II. Evacuation/Shelter-In-Place Operations. 

A. Emergency/disaster checklist. 

1. Alert and coordinate evacuation/shelter-in-place operations with the 

following key organizations/agencies: 

 Law Enforcement. 

a) Fire Public Safety Department (police/fire/EMS)ts/EMS. 

b) City Communications Specialist / Public Information Officer. 

c) Public Works Director 

d) County Engineer. 

e) American Red Cross Eastern Iowa Region 

f) County Emergency Management Coordinator. 

g) UNI Public Safety 

h) Metropolitan Transit Authority. 

i) Cedar Falls Community School District. 

2. Other considerations and actions. 

a) Consider precautionary evacuation for special needs populations; they 

require more time to evacuate. 

b) Before an evacuation is announced, make sure there is a place for them 

to go. Give adequate directions. 

c) Coordinate intentions on evacuation with Law Enforcement, the Red 

Cross, and Emergency Management before announcing an evacuation 

239

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan SUPPORT ANNEX E: EVACUATION 

SEPTEMBER 2021 27 

order. Carrying out evacuation is the responsibility of the Law 

Enforcement. They may need to request adequate back up. 

d) Coordinate evacuation order with Public Information Officer. 

e) Determine if assistance is needed to carry out the evacuation; contact the 

County Emergency Management Coordinator for assistance. 

f) Provide for security of evacuated area. 

g) Encourage persons utilizing private vehicles to take persons without 

transportation whenever possible. 

h) Utilize the Cedar Falls School District and MET Transit buses to ensure 

transportation is provided. 

i) Coordinate sheltering for evacuees prior to evacuation. This is generally 

the responsibility of the Red Cross. 

III. Evacuation. 

A. Evacuate means move all people from a threatened area to a safer place. 

B. To perform an evacuation there must be enough time for people to: 

1. Be warned. 

2. Get ready. 

3. Leave an area. 

 

If there is enough time, evacuation is the best protective action. 

C. Conducting an evacuation: 

1. Announce evacuation using procedures outlined in the Public 

Warning/Communications Attachment to this Annex. 

2. Send evacuees to a definite place, by a specific route, far enough away so 

they will not have to be moved again if the wind shifts. 

3. Begin evacuating people nearby and those outdoors in direct view of the 

scene. 

4. When additional help arrives, expand the area to be evacuated downwind 

and crosswind. 

240

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX E: EVACUATION City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

28 SEPTEMBER 2021 

5. Even after people move to the distances recommended, they may not be 

completely safe from harm.  (Refer to attached Evacuation Instructions.). 

IV. In-Place Shelter. 

A. Shelter in-place means people should seek shelter inside a building and remain inside 

until the danger passes. Vehicles are not as effective as buildings for in-place 

protection. 

B. Sheltering in-place should be considered when: 

1. When the projected toxicity of the release does not justify evacuation. 

2. Evacuation When evacuation would likely cause greater risk than in-place 

sheltering. 

3. When an evacuation cannot be performed. 

C. In-place protection may not be the best option if: 

 The vapors are flammable. 

 It will take a long time for the gas to clear the area. 

 Buildings cannot be closed tightly. 

D. Conducting in-place-sheltering - inform public to: 

 Get inside your home or other building as quickly as possible. 

 Close all doors, windows, fireplaces, vents, or other openings. 

 Use duct tape, foil, or plastic wrap to seal locks. 

 Turn off all heating, ventilation, and air conditioning systems. 

 Close your vents. 

 Close drapes, curtains and shades. Stay away from external windows. 

 Use stairwells whenever possible. Limit use of elevators. 

 Use telephones only if you need emergency service. 

 Turn on radio or television for information. Tune into the Emergency Alert 

System. 

 Stay inside until authorities announce that it is safe to come out. 

241

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan SUPPORT ANNEX E: EVACUATION 

SEPTEMBER 2021 29 

(Refer to attached In-Place-Sheltering Instructions.) 

242

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX F: FIRE SERVICE City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

30 SEPTEMBER 2021 

SUPPORT ANNEX F: FIRE SERVICE 

I. Fire Services. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls Fire Department  Division is responsible for fire protection and 

other emergency response services in Cedar Falls. 

1. Fire Department  Division duties and responsibilities include, but are not 

limited to responding to: 

a) Fires. 

b) Explosions. 

c) Disasters. 

d) Terrorism events. 

e) Hazardous materials incidents. 

f) Vehicular accidents with injuries. 

g) Technical rescue situations. 

h) Emergency Medical and Mass Casualty incidents. 

B. Emergency/disaster checklists. 

1. Operate under the Incident Command System to ensure proper 

communications. All incidents will operate under the Incident Command 

System and will comply with National Incident Management System (NIMS) 

requirements. 

2. If Fire Department  Division is first on the scene or lead agency. 

a) Establish on-scene command, control and communications - as required 

establish a command post and staging area. 

b) Establish accountability to track personnel and equipment by arrival time 

and deployment. 

c) Size-up situation to identify response priorities (e.g., life safety, incident 

stabilization and property conservation) objectives, on-scene risk 

management and tactics. 

d) Perform actions within the mission of the Fire Services to meet response 

objectives. 

243

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan SUPPORT ANNEX F: FIRE SERVICE 

SEPTEMBER 2021 31 

e) Request mutual aid as required by the magnitude of the situation. 

f) If the County EOC is activated, establish and maintain contact with the 

person representing Fire Services. 

3. If not the lead agency the Fire Department Division will: 

a) Respond to Incident Commander or staging area for information and 

instructions. 

b) Assist Law Enforcement in warning the affected population. 

c) Assist Law Enforcement in non-fire search and rescue operations. 

d) Assist Law Enforcement with evacuation, if needed. 

e) Assist in the protection of critical facilities and resources. 

f) Assist the city Public Works Department and Private/Public Utilities with 

shutting down gas and electric services, if necessary. 

g) Assist with traffic control. 

h) Assist with debris clearance. 

i) Assist in other operations as directed. 

4. If Regional Hazmat Team is needed: 

a) Notify the Fire Chief, Public Safety Director, City Administrator, and 

Mayor. 

b) Hazmat must operate under an incident management system under the 

local jurisdictional control. 

c) Assist with resource management and decontamination. 

d) Ensure that all on-scene emergency responders have received hazardous 

material training appropriate for anticipated duties and responsibilities, 

and that records of initial and in-service training are available if required. 

C. Training 

1. All Fire Personnel shall be trained in Basic Incident Command System. 

2. All Fire Personnel shall be trained in NIMS awareness. 

244

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX F: FIRE SERVICE City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

32 SEPTEMBER 2021 

D. Mutual Aid 

1. The Cedar Falls Fire Department Division maintains Mutual Aid agreements 

with other agencies in Black Hawk, Bremer, and Grundy Counties.  

2. The Cedar Falls Fire Department Division also is a member of the Iowa 

Mutual Aid Compact (IMAC). State of Iowa IMAC mutual aid system. 

  

245

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan SUPPORT ANNEX G: PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES 

SEPTEMBER 2021 33 

SUPPORT ANNEX G: PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES 

I. Public Health and Emergency Medical Services Liaison. 

A. The Black Hawk County Public Health Department Director will serve as the Public 

Health Liaison and is responsible for public health activities in Cedar Falls. 

B. The Fire Chief, or designee, of the City of Cedar Falls will act as the Emergency Medical 

Services Liaison for Cedar Falls. 

C. The Public Health and Emergency Medical Services Liaison will coordinate health 

services activities with a representative from the area hospitals. 

D. Medical coordination will be provided by MercyOne/Cedar Falls Medical Center. 

II. Pre-Emergency/Disaster Checklist. 

A. Ensure all first responders are trained in triage and mass casualty response and utilize 

the START method of triage using the appropriate triage tags. 

B. Ensure that mutual aid agreements are established for medical emergencies. 

III. Emergency/Disaster Checklist. 

A. Assume primary operational control for health-related emergencies such as pollution, 

contamination, and infectious diseases. 

B. Operate under the Incident Command System to ensure proper communications. 

C. If Emergency Medical Services is first on the scene or lead agency. 

1. Establish on-scene command, control and communications - as required 

establish a command post and staging area. 

2. Establish accountability to track personnel and equipment by arrival time and 

deployment. 

3. Size-up situation to identify response priorities (e.g., life safety, incident 

stabilization and property conservation) objectives, on-scene risk 

management and tactics. 

4. Perform actions within the mission of Emergency Medical Services to meet 

response objectives. 

5. Request mutual aid as required by the magnitude of the situation. 

246

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX G: PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

34 SEPTEMBER 2021 

6. If the County EOC is activated, establish and maintain contact with the 

person representing Emergency Medical Services. 

D. If not the lead agency the Emergency Medical Services will: 

1. Report to Incident Commander or staging area for information and 

instructions. 

E. Other Emergency Medical Services related functions. 

1. Coordinate evacuation of senior housing and other medical facilities as 

needed. 

2. Coordinate emergency medical care to victims (hospitals and ambulances). 

3. Coordinate medical transportation for victims. 

4. Assure that public health needs of disaster victims are met. 

5. Assist with patient tracking. 

6. Stand by at HAZMAT incidents to conduct medical monitoring and assist 

with decontamination and medical emergencies. 

  

247

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan SUPPORT ANNEX H: LAW ENFORCEMENT 

SEPTEMBER 2021 35 

SUPPORT ANNEX H: LAW ENFORCEMENT 

I. Law Enforcement 

A. The City of Cedar Falls Police Department  Division is responsible for Law Enforcement 

Services. 

1. The Police Department  Division has mutual aid agreements with Waterloo 

and Black Hawk County, and can request the State Patrol for additional 

resources in the event of a major emergency or disaster. 

B. Emergency/disaster checklists. 

2. Operate under the Incident Command System to ensure proper 

communications. 

3. If Law Enforcement is first on the scene or lead agency: 

a) Establish on-scene command, control and    communications - as 

required establish a command post and staging area. 

b) Establish accountability to track personnel and equipment by arrival time 

and deployment. 

c) Size-up situation to identify response priorities (e.g., life safety, incident 

stabilization and property conservation), objectives, on-scene risk 

management and tactics. 

d) Perform actions within the mission of Law Enforcement to meet response 

objectives. 

e) Request mutual aid as required by the magnitude of the situation. 

f) If the County EOC is activated, establish and maintain contact with the 

person representing Law Enforcement. 

4. If assistance is requested from another agency. 

a) Report to Incident Commander or staging area for information and 

instructions. 

5. Law Enforcement should consider the following tasks in an emergency or 

disaster situation. 

a) Ensure that all Law Enforcement staff have been notified and that they 

report as situation directs. 

248

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX H: LAW ENFORCEMENT City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

36 SEPTEMBER 2021 

b) Direct the designated Law Enforcement representative to report to a 

designated location where they are needed. 

c) Secure the affected area, and perform traffic and crowd control. 

d) Participate in warning the public as situation warrants. 

e) Determine scope of incident as to immediate casualties/destruction and 

whether the incident has the potential to expand and escalate. 

f) Direct officer(s) to close off the damage site area and to stop all in-bound 

traffic. Set up an emergency pass system. 

g) Report above information to appropriate Law Enforcement agencies 

h) If appropriate and if available, dispatch a mobile command post with 

communications equipment to the scene of the disaster. 

i) Law Enforcement shall have primary responsibility for the organizing and 

conducting standard search operations. 

j) Other responsibilities may include: 

(1) Enforce curfew restrictions in the affected area. 

(2) Coordinate the removal of vehicles blocking evacuation or other 

response activities. 

(3) Assist the medical examiner with mortuary services. 

(4) Assist with search and rescue activities. 

(5) If the City or County EOC is activated, establish and maintain contact 

with the person representing Law Enforcement. 

6. Anticipate departmental needs for manpower and equipment 24-hours in 

advance. If additional assistance is needed, utilize mutual aid agreements 

with other Law Enforcement agencies. 

  

249

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan SUPPORT ANNEX I: MASS CARE 

SEPTEMBER 2021 37 

SUPPORT ANNEX I: MASS CARE 

I. Responsibility for Mass Care. 

A. It is the responsibility of the public officials to ensure that evacuees have a place to 

stay. 

B. It is imperative that the City Staff work with the Red Cross in establishing emergency 

shelters to house and care for evacuees in a disaster. 

II. Designated Shelters. 

A. The city's/town's primary shelter sites in Cedar Falls are: 

1. Cedar Falls School #1 : (XXX) XXX-XXXX 

2. Cedar Falls School #2 :  (XXX) XXX-XXXX 

B. The city's alternate shelter sites are: 

1. University of Northern Iowa West Gym (XXX) XXX-XXXX 

2. University of Northern Iowa UNI-Dome (XXX) XXX-XXXX 

C. In the event of large scale evacuation (such as a hazardous materials incident) where 

most or all of the community is evacuated, nearby community shelter sites upwind or 

far enough away from the incident may be activated. 

1. Try to remain within the school district if possible. 

2. These sites must be coordinated with the Red Cross and County Emergency 

Management Agency. 

3. Evacuation points must be identified and buses provided for those without 

transportation. 

D. Care for pets will be provided for by the Cedar Bend Humane Society. 

III. Mass Care Coordinator. 

A. The Liaison Officer or the Director of Human and Leisure ServicesDirector of 

Community Development will serve as the Human Services Coordinator. 

B. The Coordinator will organize human services activities with a representative from the 

Red Cross and if necessary, the Iowa Human Services AgencyDepartment of Human 

Services. 

250

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX I: MASS CARE City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

38 SEPTEMBER 2021 

C. This person will keep the County Human Services OfficerDepartment of Human 

Services informed of all human services activities performed, underway, or planned 

within the city. 

D. Emergency/disaster checklist. 

 Coordinate activities of city agencies/departments that provide human 

services type services. 

 Coordinate with Red Cross in opening and managing shelters in the 

city/town. 

 Provide food for emergency workers in the city/town. 

 Work with Red Cross/Salvation Army in providing food and clothing to 

disaster victims. Provide emergency assistance to persons with special needs. 

 Provide necessary outreach services to citizens affected by emergency or 

disaster. 

 Distribute emergency literature to disaster victims given instructions and 

assistance pertaining to their immediate needs. 

 Provide psychological counseling and crisis intervention to disaster victims. 

 If County EOC is activated, establish and maintain contact with the person 

representing Human Services. If the County EOC is not activated, establish 

and maintain contact with the County Human Services Officer directly at the 

county Department of Social Services. 

 Coordinate mass care needs of the town city with the County Mass Care 

Coordinator. 

 Provide for care, health and sheltering of animals. 

  

251

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan SUPPORT ANNEX J: PROTECTIVE SHELTER 

SEPTEMBER 2021 39 

SUPPORT ANNEX J: PROTECTIVE SHELTER 

I. Protective Shelter 

A. The City of Cedar Falls will establish necessary procedures for the sheltering of citizens 

and relocation in the event of a disaster or other emergency. 

B. The City will maintain a list of locations that have agreed to provide shelter space as 

needed. This list and applicable agreements will be maintained by the Department 

ofDirector of Human and Leisure ServicesCommunity Development, . Developmental 

Services and HLS will work together during such events to provide and manage 

sheltering. Developmental servicesThe Director of Community Development will also 

ensure short-term sheltering is available, and work with various housing programs in 

the event long term housing is needed. 

C. The list and a map with these locations will be updated on a regular basis, and copies 

will be provided to the Mayor, Police, and Fire Departments. 

D. See the Mass Care Annex for care of those in shelters. 

E. City of Cedar Falls Shelter locations will be coordinated with the Black Hawk County 

Emergency Management Agency. 

  

252

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX K: PUBLIC WORKS AND UTILITIES City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

40 SEPTEMBER 2021 

SUPPORT ANNEX K: PUBLIC WORKS AND UTILITIES 

I. Public Works. 

A. The Cedar Falls Public Works Department is responsible for public works activities in 

the City of Cedar Falls. 

1. Emergency/disaster checklist. 

a) Public Works Director. 

 Provide Liaison to the City EOC if activated. 

 Ensure that all department personnel have been alerted and that they 

report as the situation directs. 

 Review the disaster situation with field personnel and report situation 

to the Mayor. 

 In the event of major disaster, notify affected Public/Private Utility 

Companies that there is a problem with their utility. 

 As necessary, establish a staging area for Public Works. 

 Report public facility damage information to the Damage Assessment 

Team, Department of Developmental Services. 

 If the County EOC is activated, establish and maintain contact with 

the County Engineer. 

b) Municipal Water System. 

 Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) will coordinate repair, decontamination and 

restoration of the municipal water system with the Director of Public 

Works. 

 If necessary enter into contracts with private contractors for the 

purchase and hauling of safe and sanitary drinking water. 

 Following water system failure or contamination, CFU will determine if 

an emergency condition exists, and as required enact a water 

conservation and rationing program until service can be restored. 

 If an emergency condition exists, CFU will establish and maintain 

communication with the Fire Department Cedar Falls Public Safety 

253

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan SUPPORT ANNEX K: PUBLIC WORKS AND UTILITIES 

SEPTEMBER 2021 41 

Department on the availability of firefighting water so that the Fire 

Department Division can take appropriate protective actions. 

c) Sewage Treatment Facility. 

 It is the duty of the Public Works Director to oversee the sewage 

treatment facility so that it is maintained in as good a working order 

as possible under emergency/disaster circumstances. 

d) Street DepartmentSection. 

 Maintain major thoroughfare transportation routes. 

 Coordinate with Law Enforcement travel restrictions/road closures 

within the city/town. 

 Assist with traffic control and access to the affected area. 

 Clear debris to ensure emergency response. 

 Communicate with Law Enforcement and the Fire Department the 

Public Safety Department in order that they mightto effectively seal 

off an entire area if necessary. 

 Notify the Iowa Department of Transportation if a State Highway is 

blocked. 

 Make emergency repairs on streets, bridges, viaducts and other 

structures. 

 Establish detour routings. 

 As required request assistance from the County Engineer and private 

contractors. 

e) Other Public Works duties and responsibilities. 

 When assistance is requested from another agency (e.g., Fire 

Department, Law Enforcement or EMS) report to Incident 

Commander or staging area for information and instructions. 

 Collect trash, garbage, and transport to selected sites for disposal. 

 If necessary, coordinate flood fighting activities, including 

sandbagging, emergency diking, and pumping operations. 

254

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX K: PUBLIC WORKS AND UTILITIES City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

42 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 Provide emergency generators and lighting. 

 Assist with urban search and rescue activities as may be requested. 

 Assist Public/Private Utilities with the shutdown of their services. 

II. Electric Utility 

A. Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) provides electric service to the City. 

B. CFU should consider the actions in an emergency or disaster situation. 

 When assistance is requested from another agency, report to Incident 

Commander or staging area for information and instructions. 

 Disconnect electric service to buildings and structures in fire and non-fire 

situations as requested by on-scene personnel. 

 Respond to all emergencies involving power plants substations, and 

transmission, distribution and local service lines. 

 In a major emergency or disaster, establish and maintain communication 

with the Public Works Director to: 

 Determine critical service areas. 

 Report on the status emergency repairs and estimated completion time. 

III. Gas Utility. 

A. CFU provides natural gas service to the City. 

B. CFU should consider the actions in an emergency or disaster situation. 

1. When assistance is requested from another agency,  (e.g., Fire Department, 

Law Enforcement or EMS) report to the Incident Commander or staging area 

for information and instructions. 

2. Disconnect gas service to buildings and structures in fire and non-fire 

situations as requested by on-scene personnel. 

3. Respond to natural gas leaks.  

4. In a major emergency or disaster, establish and maintain communication 

with the Public Works Director to: 

a) Determine critical service areas. 

255

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan SUPPORT ANNEX K: PUBLIC WORKS AND UTILITIES 

SEPTEMBER 2021 43 

b) Report on the status emergency repairs and estimated completion time. 

256

Item 14.



SUPPORT ANNEX L: RESOURCE MANAGEMENT City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

44 SEPTEMBER 2021 

SUPPORT ANNEX L: RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 

I. Mayor. 

A. Local .government is responsible for providing administrative guidance concerning 

resource management, including the utilization of volunteers. 

B. Resource management in the event of an emergency is based on NIMS compliance. 

C. Resource management shall be an assigned function within the Incident Management 

System reporting to Logistics. 

II. Resource Manager. 

A. Pre-emergency/disaster checklist. 

1. Prepare standard operating guidelines for resource management. 

2. Prepare and maintain an up to date list of local resources. 

3. Define resources by kind and type. 

4. Establish procedures to check resources in and out of emergency zones, and 

the means to track use of resources. 

B. Emergency/disaster checklist. 

1. Report to the Mayor with the Resource Management Inventory. 

2. Implement resource management SOGs and provide overall coordination or 

resource management activities. 

3. Advise the Mayor on the available resources to respond or recover from the 

incident. 

4. Coordinate with the Director of Public Works and the Fire Chief in staging 

resources. Public Works will assist with Staging areas. Only those resources 

with potential for utilization will be retained in the staging areas. 

5. Maintain records for accounting of materials and supplies used and funds 

expended in support of emergency or disaster operations for possible 

reimbursement by the federal government. 

6. Maintain contact with other city departments to find out what assistance is 

necessary. 

257

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX A: RADIOLOGICAL INCIDENT 

SEPTEMBER 2021 45 

INCIDENT ANNEX A: RADIOLOGICAL INCIDENT 

I. Purpose 

A. This annex provides for the organized effort necessary to minimize the effects of 

radiation on the people, resources and the environment through detection and 

implementation of preventive and remedial measures. 

II. Situation 

A. There are several types of situations that have the potential to cause a radiological 

incident. 

1. Fixed Facilities - Facilities that produce, process, or store radiological 

materials should be identified as well as facilities for treatment, storage or 

disposal of radiological wastes-. Hospitals that have nuclear medicine 

departments should also be identified. 

2. Transportation Routes - Areas at risk for transportation incidents lie along 

highways, rail lines and at airports.  Information should be obtained on spent 

fuel shipment routes and the routes for other radiological shipments.  There 

is also a risk of incidents involving an airline crash. 

3. Nuclear Power Plants - Off-site planning for radiological incidents at nuclear 

power plants is treated separately from the all-hazards emergency 

operations plan. 

4. Nuclear Detonation - Nuclear weapons are maintained by the United States 

and a number of foreign powers. The possibility of one or more of these 

weapons being detonated accidentally or deliberately by terrorists or a full-

scale strike against the U.S. should be considered. Even if nuclear detonations 

were distant from the area, a system would be necessary to detect and 

access the radiation hazard. 

III. Assumptions & Planning Factors 

A. In the event of a peacetime radiological incident, assistance will be available from the 

state and federal governments and from the nuclear industry to detect radiation, 

monitor it and predict its spread. 

B. First responder organizations, particularly fire, emergency medical and law 

enforcement, will be part of the local radiological emergency support program and 

should accept appropriate training for such response. 

C. Based on previous history, the chance of a radiological incident is not a significant 

threat to people or the environment. 

258

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX A: RADIOLOGICAL INCIDENT City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

46 SEPTEMBER 2021 

IV. Organization And Assignment Of Responsibilities 

A. The Incident Command will be used for on-scene management of a response to a 

radiological incident. 

V. Concept Of Operations 

A. In an emergency involving radioactive materials the following elements must be 

considered: 

1. Reporting Requirements 

a) Radioactive materials are closely regulated by federal and state laws for 

reporting, handling, and transporting these kinds of materials. 

b) Fixed facilities are required to report their radioactive materials. 

c) Highway and railway shipments of radioactive materials are also required 

to report the material to be shipped, when it will be shipped, and the 

shipment route to either the State Emergency Management Agency 

(Iowa EMD) and/or to the IDPH and IDOT. 

B. Response Capability 

1. State Government. 

a) Notification of an Incident - Points of Contact: 

(1) Homeland Security & Emergency Management Department 

(IHSEMD)- 24 hour Duty Officer: 515-281-3231. 

(2) Department Of Public Health, Bureau of Radiological Health 

515-281-3478.  

(Notification may be made through the IHSEMD Duty Officer also) 

(3) Iowa Department of Natural Resources (DNR)- 515-281-8694 

b) Response Teams - Radiological Response Teams are available from the 

state to respond to an incident. 

c) Additional State Agency Assistance 

(1) Civil Support Team 

(2) Iowa Department of Transportation 

(3) Iowa State Highway Patrol 

259

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX A: RADIOLOGICAL INCIDENT 

SEPTEMBER 2021 47 

2. Local Government 

a) Fire departments and law enforcement agencies 

(1) Fire departments in Black Hawk County are trained at hazmat 

operation level. Waterloo Fire Rescue has a technician level HAZMAT 

response team.  

(2) The Northeast Iowa Response team is equipped with a Model E 120 

Geiger counter and four personnel detection devices. 

(3) Law enforcement has some personnel trained at operation level. 

b) Health and Medical Services. 

(1) Area Hospitals that have the capabilities to treat victims involved in a 

radiological incident. 

(a) Allen Memorial Hospital. 

(b) Covenant Health Systems. 

(c) Black Hawk County Health Department 

(2)  Emergency Management 

(a)  IEMD can provide a list of people who have received 

radiological training through FEMA or Iowa Emergency 

Management Division. 

(3) The University of Northern Iowa, Allen Memorial Hospital, and 

Covenant Health Systems have staff and radiation detection 

equipment that can be utilized during radiological incidents. 

(4) Monitoring Equipment Radiological equipment for local response 

organizations is provided, calibrated and maintained by the Iowa 

Emergency Management Division. The following types of equipment 

are available: 

(a) Survey Instruments. 

• Portable instruments, one Geiger counter or ionization chamber, 

used to detect and measure ionizing radiation per unit of time. 

They provide the radiation information required for locating 

radioactive materials or contamination, and for estimating the 

degree of the hazard. 

260

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX A: RADIOLOGICAL INCIDENT City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

48 SEPTEMBER 2021 

• CDV-700 -- Low-Range Radiological Survey Meter, Geiger 

Counter, probe type, beta-gamma discriminating, ranges 0-0.5, 

0-5, and 0-50 mR/hr 

• CDV-715 & CDV-717 -- High-Range Radiological Survey Meter, 

Ionization Chamber, gamma only, ranges 0-0.5, 0-5, 0-50, and 

0- 500 R/hr 

• CDV-720 -- High-Range Radiological Survey Meter, Ionization 

Chamber, beta-gamma discriminating, gamma measurement, 

ranges 0-5,0-50 and 0-500R/hr 

• APD2000 -- A portable, hand-held monitor and detector 

designed for emergency first response to hazardous chemical 

spills and terrorist attacks. 

(b) Dosimeters. Dosimeters are used for measuring and registering the 

total accumulated exposure to ionizing radiation. Dosimeters 

respond to (measure) gamma radiation only. 

(c) Dosimeter Charger. A device used to apply the proper electrostatic 

charge to re-zero dosimeters. 

C. Accident Assessment 

1. First on-the-scene responders should follow the appropriate "Action Guides" 

for radioactive materials found in the North American Emergency Response 

Guidebook developed in part by the U.S. Department of Transportation. 

These Action Guides conservatively assume minimal specialized training by 

first responders; hence, response actions beyond those indicated in this 

Guide would depend on the particular accident contingencies and the 

expertise of the responders. 

2. Since specialists with the expertise to assess the degree of the radiological 

hazards in an accident will seldom be at the accident in the initial response 

phase, provisions should be made for rapid and reliable communication 

linkages between emergency first responders and the radiological authorities 

not at the scene. 

3. Trained state and local radiological response teams should be established. 

Provisions should be made for rapid notification and deployment capabilities 

of these teams on a 24-hour basis. Procedures for response by adequately 

trained teams from appropriate jurisdictions (i.e., state, local) should have 

responsibility for the following functions: 

a) Assess need for first aid and lifesaving efforts. 

261

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX A: RADIOLOGICAL INCIDENT 

SEPTEMBER 2021 49 

b) Determine if radioactive materials and other non-radioactive hazardous 

materials, such as flammables and corrosives, are involved and, if so, 

which are separate hazards or which might interact with the radioactive 

materials or their packaging. 

c) Develop procedures for controlling ingress and egress from the accident 

scene. 

d) Develop and adopt safety measures for response team members to 

prevent injury from environmental factors not related to radioactive or 

other hazardous materials, such as avoiding electric shock, falls, and fire. 

e) Develop methods for obtaining all possible information regarding the 

type of packaging; information from markings, labeling, and placarding; 

the type, quantity, and chemical form of the radioactive material 

involved; and observable indicators of a release of the radioactive 

material from packaging. 

f) Obtain information on the accident including location, condition of 

radioactive materials packages, fire potential, weather/wind conditions, 

and any other relevant information. 

g) Determine the capability of radiological survey instruments to detect or 

measure the specific radionuclide as identified on shipping papers or 

labels. 

h) Measure radiation levels, as appropriate, if capability exists (see f and g 

above). 

i) Perform preliminary public hazard/threat assessments, if needed, based 

on observation, measurements, and actual or potential releases. 

j) Develop criteria for determining need and methods for taking 

environmental samples. 

D. Protective Actions for the Public 

1. The three options for protecting the population are access control, 

evacuation and shelter. Local officials will implement one or more options, 

depending on the best available estimate of the disaster situation. 

a) Controlling access to the area should be included as a method here.  It is 

the most prudent action to be taken until experts from the Department 

of Public Health or Natural Resources arrive on-scene. 

262

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX A: RADIOLOGICAL INCIDENT City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

50 SEPTEMBER 2021 

b) Evacuation will be considered based on the condition of the area to be 

evacuated, the condition at the selected destination, and any risk of 

exposure while en-route. Evacuation operations are discussed in Annex E. 

c) Sheltering in place will depend on the relative protection afforded by the 

structures in the community. People will be advised to stay indoors and 

reduce the airflow into the structure. In-place shelter is discussed in 

Annex J. 

E. Decontamination 

1. For decontamination procedures for personnel, contact the Department of 

Public Health, Bureau of Radiological Health, or the local hospital that has 

radiological capabilities.  

2. The Department of Public Health, Bureau of Radiological Health should be 

contacted regarding decontamination of facilities, equipment, and the 

environment. 

F. Cleanup 

1. The responsibility for selecting and implementing the appropriate 

countermeasures is assigned to the Incident Commander in coordination 

with appropriate technical resources. 

2. The spiller is responsible, according to state and federal law, for the costs of 

all cleanup and countermeasures.  The Incident Commander, in conjunction 

with requested state and federal resources (IDPH, DNR and EPA), is 

responsible for determining these measures and monitoring the cleanup and 

disposal of contaminated materials 

VI. Administration and Logistics. Provisions should be made for record keeping and 

documentation of key data related to the incident. 

263

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX B: FLOODING 

SEPTEMBER 2021 51 

INCIDENT ANNEX B: FLOODING 

I. Situation. 

A. Flooding constitutes a source of major concern to this community and its 

governmental resources. Rising waters of the Cedar River and those tributaries that 

feed into it can disrupt normal public functions and seriously hamper the City's ability 

to provide normal city services. Because of the potential danger inherent to flood 

conditions, the threat to public safety and property is paramount. 

II. Mitigation. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls has taken various actions to minimize the adverse 

consequences of a flood. Further mitigation is reviewed on a regular basis by the 

Developmental ServicesCommunity Development Department. 

III. Preparedness. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls has a comprehensive Flood Plan Procedures Manual. 

1. Planning, response and resource deployment are to be considered with 

priorities as follows: 1) Life Safety, Life Sustaining Needs 2) Property 

Conservation 3) Relief and Recovery 

2. This plan will outline the basic response for flood events. A more 

comprehensive flood response plan will be developed and available for each 

City Department with various responsibilities. Planning will include the 

education of citizens. 

IV. Response. 

A. Alert and notification. 

1. Flash floods may occur quickly and without notice. When this situation 

occurs, the on-duty Police supervisor will notify the proper officials. It is 

possible that Police, Fire and other City employees may be needed for a 

quick door-to-door notification. 

2. Flood Statements are issued by the National Weather Service, and the NWS 

Advanced Hydrologic Prediction Service. These predictions are to be used in 

preparation for flood activities. Statements can be obtained at 

www.crh.noaa.gov . 

3. The Cedar River Flood Stage (89.0 feet). 

264

Item 14.

http://www.crh.noaa.gov/
http://www.crh.noaa.gov/


INCIDENT ANNEX B: FLOODING City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

52 SEPTEMBER 2021 

a)  in the City of Cedar Falls is 88.0 feet. If the Cedar Rriver reaches flood 

stage (898.00 feet), and is expected to continue to rise, the Public Safety 

Director will notify the Mayor, City Administrator, and Directors.  and all 

Department Heads are to be notified by the Police Chief. 

b)a) Also at 88.00 Police and or Fire personnel will Public safety personnel 

will monitor river and flood levels on an hourly basis with information 

provided to all Departments and Cedar Falls Utilities.  The triggering of 

hourly monitoring of river levels may be necessary if rainfall amounts 

upstream occur in amounts that may magnify flooding. Notification 

should shall be made to select management staff and the mayor Mayor 

to activate more aggressive flood response measures. 

3.4. If the prediction for the river level is at or above 93.00 feet, the MAC Group 

will meet to coordinate actions.  a meeting of the Emergency Operations 

Group is to be established.  The Mayor will notify City Council members, and 

The PIO is activated, City Council briefing if needed and the Communications 

Specialist or PIO will send Flood advisories are sent via reverse 911, cell, test 

social media, and Channel 15 to Cedar Falls Residentsresidents. 

B. Command and control. 

1. The Mayor of the City of Cedar Falls, or designeeCity Administrator, will serve 

as the Flood Emergency Director. Requests for assistance beyond normal 

mutual aid shall be processed through Black Hawk County Emergency 

Management. 

2. The Mayor will monitor the situation through updates from the Department 

HeadsFlood Emergency Director and will determine if the Cityactivate the 

City Emergency Operations Center (EOC) needs to be activatedif necessary.  

This will typically occur if the prediction will be at 95.00 feet or above. The 

Mayor or EOC Incident Commander will establish a Public Information Officer 

or Information Center, and provide for representation to the Black Hawk 

County EMA Joint Information Center. 

2.3.  A planning section shall be established consisting of the Mayor, Department 

Directors, and other designated personnel. CFU may be needed in the 

planning section.The MAC Group will coordinate the planning for flood 

response.  Such planning meetings will be closed to the public and media. 

Security will be posted at such meetings as needed. Planning Meetings will 

be coordinated by the Director of Administrative Services or designee. 

3.4. Planning efforts will include the ability to supply emergency services and 

security to area affected directly or enclosed by floodwaters within the 

resources available to the City at that time. Plans will be written around 

265

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX B: FLOODING 

SEPTEMBER 2021 53 

determined operational periods and distributed to all affected personnel 

through operational briefings prior to the beginning of the operational 

period 

4.5. Members of the City Council shall be updated through periodic special 

meetings as called by the Mayor. It may be necessary to utilize City Council 

Members as representatives to the Black Hawk County Emergency 

Operations Center. The City Council has an important pPolicy role during the 

response and recovery periods. 

5.6. The Police Department Public Safety Department will be the monitoring 

agency and will notify other departments as necessary on increasing river 

levels. The Police Department  Division will develop and implement plans for 

proper security of flood areas. At 98.00 police will need to secure a boat 

either by requesting DNR assistance or renting. 

7. Public Works will utilize the flood gates as needed, provide resources to 

close roads, protect infrastructure such as roads and sewers, and provide 

other support and resources as needed. Public Works and Engineering will 

provide for and oversee sandbagging efforts as needed. At 95.00 the Public 

Works facility shall be evacuated with all essential equipment. At 98.00 Public 

works should secure auxiliary generators from outlet suppliers.. 

6.8. Cedar Falls Utilities will implement their flood response plan, including 

installation and management of flood gates to protect CFU property, and 

other activities to protect the safety of residents. 

7. Community Development will provide engineering services and damage 

assessment. Developmental Services will also be a primary Department 

involved in the recovery planning effort. At 96.00 Community Development 

staff shall conduct hourly floodwall inspections. 

8.9. Parks will monitor and provide resources as needed to protect park and 

recreation property. Parks personnel will also assist Public Works and other 

Departments as needed. 

9.10. Management and Business Operation ServicesThe Finance and Business 

Operations Department will provide tracking of finances, provide for 

continuity of government services, and assist in the set-up and staffing of a 

Command Post or the EOC. Legal Staff will review emergency contracts with 

vendors. 

10.11. The Fire Department Public Safety Department will provide fire and rescue 

services, provide life and fire safety services, and provide boats or other 

resources as needed. The Fire Department department may be utilized for 

266

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX B: FLOODING City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

54 SEPTEMBER 2021 

notification procedures, such as door to-door notifications. Rescues and 

evacuations by boat should be expected for river levels above 98 feet. 

11.12. Information Services Division should prepare to relocate phone and data 

services if it appears that City Hall will be flooded. These essential services 

will be relocated to the Emergency Services Building (ESB).Public Safety 

Building. 

12.13. The flood plan shall be utilized (Appendix A.1). This plan contains what 

should be expected at various river levels. Action plans and check lists of 

each Department should be based on these contingencies. The Flood 

Response plan is to be reviewed, revised and exercised on a periodic basis. 

13.14. Various means of communication, including door-to-door notice will be 

given to appropriate areas utilizing floodplain mapping at levels identified in 

checklists in the flood response plan. 

14.15. The Mayor will consider the issuance of a mandatory evacuation for 

designated areas if the prediction of the river level is at a point where safety 

of life and property may be jeopardized.  The flood response plan, based on 

past data, will contain areas affected by floodwater at certain river levels 

utilizing the floodplain mapping system. A mandatory evacuation will may be 

considered for the area of the City of Cedar Falls north of the Cedar River if 

the river level prediction is at or above 9699.00 feet. An Alert for the 

evacuation will may be given at 95.00.  If evacuation is to occur, the Red 

Cross and Black Hawk County Emergency Management Agency are to be 

notified immediately to establish sheltering. 

15.16. The City of Cedar Falls will coordinate relief and recovery efforts with various 

other agencies and organizations, including County, State, and Federal. If 

established, the EOC will begin relief planning as early into the event as 

possible to make sure resources are available when needed for relief 

purposes. Agencies such as the Salvation Army, Food Bank and Red Cross 

may be utilized. Planning may also include temporary facilities for water and 

sanitation. 

  

267

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan   INCIDENT ANNEX C: TORNADO/SEVERE THUNDERSTORM/HIGH WINDS 

SEPTEMBER 2021 55 

INCIDENT ANNEX C: TORNADO/SEVERE THUNDERSTORM/HIGH 

WINDS 

I. Situation. 

A. Iowa has a history of tornados and severe thunderstorms. 

B. A tornado or severe thunderstorm could result in death or serious injury, extensive 

property damage, power outages and adversely affect normal community functions. 

II. Mitigation. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls Disaster Mitigation planBlack Hawk County Hazard Mitigation 

Plan covers various events, including Tornado/High Wind events. 

III. Preparedness. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls prepares for storm activity in conjunction with the Black Hawk 

County Emergency Management Agency. 

1. Such actions include emergency service personnel training, public education, 

and preparation of public facilities. 

IV. Response. 

A. Alert and notification. 

1. The City of Cedar Falls relies on several sources to obtain severe weather 

information, to include the National Weather Service, NOAA, Black Hawk 

County Emergency Management, and local weather resources. 

2. City Departments are kept informed through various means of approaching 

weather, and watches and warnings that may affect the City. 

B. Command and control. 

1. In the event a wide spread event occurs, the City EOC will be activated. The 

Police supervisor will have the Community Service Officer notify the EOC 

group. Field Command posts will provide command and control to affected 

areas. The Incident Command System, as provided through the use of the 

National Incident Management System, will be utilized. 

C. Functional assignments. 

1. The Police Department Public Safety Department will respond to secure the 

area affected, and provide security and emergency response as needed. 

268

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX C: TORNADO/SEVERE THUNDERSTORM/HIGH WINDS City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

56 SEPTEMBER 2021 

2. The Fire Department Public Safety Department will coordinate fire control, 

search and rescue, safety, and will also coordinate Emergency Medical 

Service functions. 

3. The Public Works Department will coordinate keeping primary streets open 

for emergency response, assisting with resources in the rescue process, 

maintaining city infrastructure, providing support to emergency services as 

necessary. 

4. Developmental Service The Community Development Department will 

provide resources for damage assessment. 

5. Administrative ServicesThe Director of Finance and Business Operations will 

track financing and will maintain continuity of City Government and 

operations. 

  

269

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX D: BLIZZARD / SEVERE WINTER STORM 

SEPTEMBER 2021 57 

INCIDENT ANNEX D: BLIZZARD / SEVERE WINTER STORM 

I. Situation. 

A. Iowa has a history of blizzards and severe winter storms. 

B. A blizzard or severe winter storm could result in death or serious injury, extensive 

property damage, power outages and adversely affect normal community functions. 

C. The City of Cedar Falls will work closely with Black Hawk County Emergency 

Management during such events. 

II. Mitigation. 

A. The Black Hawk County Hazard Mitigation Plan covers various events, including 

Blizzards and Severe Winter Storms.The City of Cedar Falls has a comprehensive 

mitigation plan that is reviewed and updated on a regular basis. Although a Blizzard or 

severe winter storm cannot be prevented, the City works to make the affects as 

minimal as possible.will endeavor to minimize the impact of these weather events. 

III. Preparedness. 

A. City Departments provide written guidelines and procedures in the event of a winter 

storm. Personnel have routine training in procedures and on appropriate equipment. 

IV. Response. 

A. Alert and notification. 

1. The City of Cedar Falls uses various resources to track Winter Storms, to 

include the National Weather Service, NOAA, and local weather sources. 

2. All City Departments, especially Police, FirePublic Safety and Public Works, 

track information regarding approaching Winter Storms, and create action 

plans accordingly. 

3. If an unexpected snow event occurs, Police Supervisors will have appropriate 

personnel notified through the Community Service Officer. 

B. Command and control. 

1. In the event a Blizzard or major winter storm occurs, safety of the citizens will 

become a major priority for the City. 

2. All efforts of City Government will focus on the safety of the public as an 

overall priority during the storm. 

270

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX D:  BLIZZARD / SEVERE WINTER STORM City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

58 SEPTEMBER 2021 

3. If needed, the Mayor may activate the Emergency Operations Center. Even if 

the EOC is not activated, a system of periodic updates will be determined. 

4. The Mayor's office will become the The Joint Information Center (JIC) as 

thewill be the clearinghouse for important public information. 

5. Each Department will work closely together in a unified structure, utilizing 

ICS principles, to maintain public safety. 

C. Functional assignments. 

1. The Public Works Director will determine if it is safe to have snow plows on 

the streets. Priority will be given to clearing access for emergency vehicles. A 

means of communication between emergency services and designated plows 

will be implemented. 

2. The Police Department Public Safety Department will continue to function in 

an emergency mode as well as possible in the conditions. Staffing and needs 

will be reviewed by the Police Chief and Fire Chief on a regular basis. 

3. The Fire Department will continue to function in an emergency mode as well 

as possible in the conditions. Staffing and needs will be reviewed by the Fire 

Chief on a regular basis. 

4.3. Administrative ServicesThe City Administrator will determine what City 

functions can remain operating safely, and will be responsible for continuity 

of City Government. 

  

271

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX E: ELECTRICAL POWER OUTAGE 

SEPTEMBER 2021 59 

INCIDENT ANNEX E: ELECTRICAL POWER OR NATURAL GAS OUTAGE 

I. Situation. 

A. Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) furnishes electric power and natural gas to the City of Cedar 

Falls. 

B. Equipment failure or weather related damage to power generation facilities, 

substations, transmission lines and/or distribution lines or pipes could result in a 

power or natural gas outage. 

C. An extended power or natural gas outage could result in a water shortage, community 

hardship and threaten personal health and safety - especially the elderly - during cold 

and inclement weather. 

II. Mitigation. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls, and Cedar Falls utilities have a comprehensive mitigation plan 

that is reviewed and updated on a regular basis. 

III. Preparedness. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls and Cedar Falls Utilities have procedures and Guidelines in 

place in the event of a prolonged power or natural gas outage. 

B. Personnel are trained on the procedures, and the public is educated on what to do in 

the event of a prolonged power outage. 

C. Shelters are to be designated by the Human and Leisure ServicesCommunity 

Development Department, and activated as needed. Such shelters should have back 

up services, or have the ability to obtain back up services. 

D. The City of Cedar Falls will work closely with CFU and Black Hawk County Emergency 

Management, as well as the Iowa Office of Homeland SecurityIowa Homeland Security 

and Emergency Management Department to obtain resources that may be needed. 

IV.  Response. 

A. Alert and notification. 

1. In the event a prolonged power or natural gas outage occurs, CFU will notify 

the Cedar Falls Police Department. The Police Department Community 

Service Officer will notify the Fire Department, Police Chief, Public Works 

Director and Mayor. The Fire Department will notify the Fire Chief.Public 

Safety Director, Public Works Director, City Administrator, and Mayor. 

B. Command and control. 

272

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX E: ELECTRICAL POWER OUTAGE City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

60 SEPTEMBER 2021 

1. The extent of the emergency, and area affected will be determined. If 

needed, the Mayor will activate the Emergency Operations Center, or have 

other Departments notified as necessary. 

C. Functional assignments. 

1. Public Works will respond to protect infrastructure of the City, and 

coordinate efforts for maintaining traffic control, sewer, etc. 

2. The Police Department  Division will provide security in the affected area 

during dark hours to prevent looting or other criminal acts. 

3. Human and Leisure Services willThe Community Development Director will 

determine if shelters need to be opened, and provide for that service. 

Developmental Services Community Development will assist in identifying 

citizens that may be in need of special assistance. 

4. The Fire Department  Division will continue to provide emergency service, 

while also acting as a resource as needed for the City. The Fire Department  

Division will work closely with Black Hawk County Emergency Management 

to obtain needed resources. 

4.5. If a connection to a residential or commercial building is damaged, the 

Community Development Director will determine if a city electrical inspection 

is necessary. 

  

273

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan   INCIDENT ANNEX F: POTABLE WATER SYSTEM FAILURE / CONTAMINATION 

SEPTEMBER 2021 61 

INCIDENT ANNEX F: POTABLE WATER SYSTEM FAILURE / 

CONTAMINATION 

I. Situation. 

A. Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) furnishes potable water to the City of Cedar Falls. 

B. Failure or contamination of wells, treatment equipment and/or storage tanks cause 

amay cause a water shortage, that results includingn limited drinking and firefighting 

water and community hardship. 

II. Mitigation. 

A. CFU has mitigation plans in place and has taken action to minimize the adverse 

consequences of failure or contamination of its potable water system. 

III.  Preparedness. 

A. CFU, the City of Cedar Falls, and Black Hawk County Emergency Management have 

taken actions to prepare for failure or contamination of its potable water system. This 

has included training in table top exercises for such events. 

IV.  Response. 

A. Alert and notification. 

1. In the event an emergency occurs, CFU will notify the City of Cedar Falls 

through the Police Department. The Police Department  Division Community 

Service Officer will notify the Emergency Response Group. 

a) CFU will also notify Black Hawk County Public Health and Black Hawk 

County Emergency Management Agency. 

b) Black Hawk County Public Health will notify medical facilities if needed. 

B. Command and control. 

1. If needed, the Mayor will activate the Emergency Operations Center to 

coordinate activities. 

2. If the EOC is activated, CFU and County Public Health will be asked to send 

representatives to the EOC. 

3. In the event a contamination is a result, the State of Iowa BCTA protocol will 

be implemented. 

274

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX F: POTABLE WATER SYSTEM FAILURE / CONTAMINATION City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

62 SEPTEMBER 2021 

4. Coordination of activities will follow Incident Command principles. 

275

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX G: MAJOR FIRE OR CONFLAGRATION 

SEPTEMBER 2021 63 

INCIDENT ANNEX G: MAJOR FIRE OR CONFLAGRATION 

I. Situation. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls has numerous buildings of combustible construction. 

B. A major fire or conflagration could result in death or serious injury, extensive property 

damage and adversely affect normal community functions. 

II. Mitigation. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls has taken the following actions to minimize the adverse 

consequences of a major fire or conflagration. 

1. Proper zoning regulations. 

2. Enforcement of Building and Fire Codes. 

3. Comprehensive Commercial Building Inspections annually and Rental 

Housing Inspections every three years. 

4. Extensive Fire and Life Safety Public Education. 

III. Preparedness. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls has taken the following actions to prepare for a major fire or 

conflagration. 

1. The City operates the Cedar Falls Fire Department, and maintains a full time 

and volunteer compliment of trained personnel. 

2. The City maintains mutual aid agreements with surrounding fire departments for 

assistance, and is a member of the Iowa IMAC agreement. 

IV. Response. 

A. Alert and notification. 

1. The Cedar Falls Fire Department  Division is dispatched through the Black 

Hawk County Consolidated Dispatch. 

2. If needed, the Fire department  Division will establish a Public Information 

Officer to provide information to the media and citizens. 

B. Command and control. 

276

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX G: MAJOR FIRE OR CONFLAGRATION City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

64 SEPTEMBER 2021 

1. Command and control of fire emergencies is conducted through the use of 

the Incident Command System, and established SOG’s. 

2. Functional assignments are established through the use of ICS and SOG’s. 

  

277

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX H: HAZARDOUS MATERIAL SPILL OR RELEASE 

SEPTEMBER 2021 65 

INCIDENT ANNEX H: HAZARDOUS MATERIAL SPILL OR RELEASE 

I. Situation. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls has transportation routes and fixed facilities that could be the 

site of a hazardous material spill or release.  Of particular note are: 

1. Rail routes adjacent to Downtown Cedar Falls and residential areas. 

2. Highway 20 and Highway 58, two major arterial connections.  

B. A major hazardous material spill or release could result in death or serious injury, 

extensive property damage, environmental pollution and adversely affect normal 

community functions. 

II. Mitigation. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls and Black Hawk County Emergency Management have a 

comprehensive mitigation plan that is reviewed and updated on a regular basis. 

III. Preparedness. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls has taken the following actions to prepare for an actual or 

threatened hazardous material spill or release. 

B. The City of Cedar Falls has adopted the National Incident Management System, 

utilizing the Incident Command System at all Hazardous Materials incidents as per 

OSHA Standards. 

C. The City of Cedar Falls trains all career fire Fire Division personnel at the Hazardous 

Materials - Operations Level, and all other responders at the Hazardous Materials - 

Awareness Level. 

D. The Cedar Falls Fire Department  Division also trains a complement of Hazardous 

Materials Technicians, and maintains equipment and supplies to operate at the 

Operations Level. 

E. The City of Cedar Falls has trained responders on the use of the Iowa BCTA (Biological 

and Chemical Threat Agent) Protocol for use at such incidents. 

F. The City of Cedar Falls maintains listing of Tier II Locations and products, and utilizes 

the NFPA 704 system for identification and planning. 

IV. Response. 

A. Alert and notification. 

278

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX H: HAZARDOUS MATERIAL SPILL OR RELEASE City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

66 SEPTEMBER 2021 

1. Typically the Fire and Police Departments Divisions are notified of a spill or 

release through the Black Hawk County Consolidated Dispatch. 

2. If needed, the Incident Commander will have the Emergency Group of the 

City EOC notified through the Police Community Service Officer. 

3. The Incident Commander will notify Black Hawk County Emergency 

Management. 

4. Through the Incident Command Post, appropriate agencies will be notified, 

such as the Department of Natural Resources or Environmental Protection 

Agency. 

B. Command and control. 

1. All Hazardous Materials Incidents are controlled through the use of the 

Incident Command System. The BCTA protocol is also utilized if needed. 

2. In the event outside agencies are used, those agencies will operate through 

the Cedar Falls Incident Command System 

C. Functional assignments. 

1. Functions shall be assigned through the use of ICS and Standard Operating 

Guidelines. 

2. If a Level A response is required, the Incident Commander will notify the Fire 

Chief, Mayor and Director of Administrative Services. 

V. Recovery. 

A. Expenses that occur in the event of a Hazardous Materials incident will be the 

responsibility of the spiller/owner. This includes the site cleanup and recovery. 

  

279

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX I: CIVIL DISTURBANCE 

SEPTEMBER 2021 67 

INCIDENT ANNEX I: CIVIL DISTURBANCE 

I. Situation. 

A. Cedar Falls could be the site of a civil disturbance. 

B. A major civil disturbance could result in death or serious injury, extensive property 

damage and adversely affect normal community functions. 

II. Mitigation. 

A. Cedar Falls has taken the following actions to minimize the adverse consequences of a 

civil disturbance: 

1. Cedar Falls Police has established written guidelines and procedures in the 

event of a civil disturbance. 

III. Preparedness. 

A. Cedar Falls has taken the following actions to prepare for a civil disturbance. 

1. Cedar Falls Police Officers receive mandatory training in dealing with civil 

disturbances. 

2. The Cedar Falls Police Department  Division has equipped officers with the 

necessary safety equipment and protective wear. 

3. The Cedar Falls Police Department  Division has entered into 28E agreements 

with neighboring jurisdictions. 

IV. Response. 

A. Alert and notification. 

1. Emergency response personnel and key public officials will be notified 

through the police department's Community Service Officers and 

supervisors. 

2. Local news media will be notified and requested to assist in alerting the 

public about a civil disturbance when needed. 

B. Command and control. 

1. The Cedar Falls Chief of Police or his/her designee will have on-scene 

command and control of emergency response operations. 

280

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX I: CIVIL DISTURBANCE City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

68 SEPTEMBER 2021 

2. The Mayor of Cedar Falls will monitor the situation through updates 

provided by the Public Safety Director or designee.Chief of Police of his/her 

designee. 

C. Functional assignments. 

1. On-duty Cedar Falls Police OfficersPublic Safety Officers, as well as off- duty 

officers, will be contacted to respond to be assigned to specific duties. 

2. The Public Safety Director and Chief of Police will be notified. Chief of Police 

or his/her designee will respond to oversee the situation. 

3. Cedar Falls Fire will be contacted and respond to a location designated by 

the on-scene police public safety supervisor in charge to be in a standby 

mode in the event they are needed. 

4. Sartori MercyOne Paramedics will be contacted and respond to a location 

designated by the on-scene police supervisor to be in a standby mode in the 

event that they are needed. 

5. Depending on the location of the civil disturbance, the Director of UNI Police 

will be contacted and officers may be requested to assist Cedar Falls 

PolicePublic Safety. 

6. Depending on the size of the civil disturbance, Waterloo Police Department 

Watch Commander, Black Hawk County Sheriff's Department Shift 

Commander and the Iowa State Patrol Post 9 will be contacted and a request 

for officers to respond to assist Cedar Falls Police may be made. 

7. If additional assistance is needed, the Communication Center may broadcast 

over a State radio frequency asking for additional assistance to respond. 

8. The Mayor and City Administrator of the City shall be contacted and updated 

on the situation by the Director of Public Safety, the Chief of Police or his/her 

designee and may be requested to respond. 

9. The Public Works Department may be notified to assist with such things as 

barricades, garbage and street cleanup, and other equipment or resources. 

  

281

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX J: TERRORISM 

SEPTEMBER 2021 69 

INCIDENT ANNEX J: TERRORISM  

I. Purpose. 

A. To develop a comprehensive, coordinated, and integrated response capability 

involving all levels of government. 

B. To effectively assess the threat of and vulnerability to acts of terrorism within the 

community, as well as, prevent, mitigate, respond, and recover from an actual terrorist 

incident. 

C. A coordinated domestic preparedness plan should actually involve two areas: 

1. Crisis Management - Includes measures to identify, acquire, and plan the 

use of resources needed to anticipate, prevent, and/or resolve a threat or act 

of terrorism. 

2. Consequence Management - Includes measures to protect public health 

and safety, restore essential government services, and provide emergency 

relief to governments, businesses and individuals affected by the 

consequences of terrorism. 

II. Authority 

A. U.S. Codes 

1. 18 USC, 2332b (g)(5), Acts of Terrorism Transcending National Boundaries 

2. 18 USC, 2331 (1), Definition of "International Terrorism" 

3. 18 USC, 921 (a) (22), Firearms 

B. Iowa Code: 

1. Iowa Code, Chapter 29C, Chapter 708, Assault, 708.6, Terrorism 

C. County Laws, Ordinances etc.: 

1. There are no City or County ordinances that address terrorism. 

III. Hazards 

A. Black Hawk County has the following sites that may become targets for terrorism. This 

list is not all-inclusive and each local Jurisdiction may identify their own potential 

targets. 

282

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX J: TERRORISM City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

70 SEPTEMBER 2021 

1. Governmental administrative centers or facilities (infrastructure) - (post office, 

law enforcement , fire/rescue, town/city hall, courthouse, mayors, county 

supervisors residences, judicial personnel (i.e., judges, prosecutors, residences 

, and offices) 

2. Critical Infrastructure/Transportation (major highways, secondary roads, 

private drives, dirt/gravel roads, bridges and over passes. 

3. Trucking/Transport Activity: (cargo loading/unloading facilities, type of cargo, 

pipelines, process/treatment facilities, dams, hazmat [oil] flagged registry) 

4. Airports: (carriers, flight paths, airport layout (traffic control tower, runways, 

passenger terminal, and parking) 

5. Trains: (physical rails, interchanges, terminals, over passes, and cargo. 

6. Educational Facilities (schools, colleges & universities) 

7. Medical Clinics 

8. Hospitals, research institutions (nuclear, biological, chemical) 

9. Athletic/sporting complexes 

10. Convention centers 

11. Research & Development complexes 

12. Business and industry (malls, stores, mills, mines, factories , transportation  

nets, warehouses) 

13. Religious edifices (including shrines & monuments) 

14. Financial institutions (banking facilities/loan institutions) 

15. Military Installations 

16. HAZMAT Facilities: (302 facilities, combustion sites, generating sites, and 

treatment, storage, and disposal sites, utilities facilities,) 

17. Special Needs Facilities: Nursing Homes, Assisted living facilities, and 

Handicapped persons. 

18. Management & staff for any of the above 

B. Any incident that is deemed by law enforcement as a terrorist threat or act shall cause 

this annex to be activated. 

283

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX J: TERRORISM 

SEPTEMBER 2021 71 

C. Hazard Agents:  

1. The use of a Chemical in either a solid, liquid, or gaseous form, to affect an 

individual or a group of individuals that disrupts normal activity. In the event 

of chemical release, information safety and identification may be found in the 

Emergency response Guidebook. 

a) There is a moderate risk for the use of chemicals within the county due to 

the amount available. 

b) The sites at risk include, but are not limited to those sites listed above. 

2. The use of biological agents, which consist of bacteria or viruses that affect 

an individual or group of individuals and may disrupt normal activity. The 

Black Hawk County Public Health Department shall maintain information on, 

and safety procedures that may need to be implemented within this annex. 

a) There is a low risk for the use of Biological weapons within the county. 

b) The sites at risk include, but are not limited to those listed above. 

3. The use of a nuclear device would affect all the residents within Black Hawk 

County. It will be the responsibility of the State Department of Public Health 

to maintain information on treatment and public safety for such an event. 

a) There is a low risk assessment for this type of event 

b) The sites at risk include, but are not limited to those listed above. 

4. The use of Radiological device may be used to affect individuals or a group 

of individuals for the purpose of disrupting normal activity. The Black Hawk 

County Public Health Department will maintain needed information on 

treatment and safety factors for these incidents. 

a) There is a moderate risk assessment for this type of event due to the 

availability of material within the county. 

b) The sites at risk include, but are not limited to those locations listed 

above. 

  

284

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX J: TERRORISM City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

72 SEPTEMBER 2021 

IV. Situation and Assumptions 

A. Situation. 

1. Terrorism is defined as the unlawful use of force against persons or property 

to intimidate or coerce a government, civil population, or any segment 

thereof, in the furtherance of political or social objectives or goals. 

2. Terrorism may take the form of: 

a) Employment of Weapons of Mass Destruction - CBRNE (Biological , 

Radiological, Nuclear, Chemical, Explosive) 

b) Radiological (legal radiological facilities (e.g., nuclear power plants, 

hospitals and other applicable sites, test reactors, etc.) 

c) Hostage-taking 

d) Sabotage 

3. Assumptions 

a) This plan will go into effect when a terrorist incident has occurred or a 

credible threat has been identified. 

b) The Unified Command structure and procedures will be in place to 

ensure an effective and safe response to the incident.  Unified command 

is a method for all agencies or individuals who have jurisdictional 

responsibility, and in some cases, functional responsibility, to contribute 

to determining overall objectives for the incident and selection of a 

strategy to achieve the objectives. 

c) No one local, state, or federal agency has the authority or expertise to act 

unilaterally on issues that arise out of acts of terrorism, regardless of 

weaponry, equipment, or experience. 

d) Acts of terrorism may overwhelm governments at any level. 

e) Local, state, and federal officials may define overlapping areas of 

responsibility requiring inter-agency coordination for the duration of 

crisis and consequence management. 

f) If adequate protective devices and measures are unavailable, responders 

cannot be required to risk their lives by entering NBC/WMD 

contaminated areas. Perimeters should be established until materials are 

identified, or have degraded to levels safe for first responders. 

285

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX J: TERRORISM 

SEPTEMBER 2021 73 

V. Concept of Operations 

A. The National Incident Management System NIMS will be the framework for 

interoperability and compatibility that will, in turn, enable a diverse set of public and 

private organizations to conduct well integrated and effective incident management 

operations. It does this through a core set of concepts, principles, procedures, and 

organizational processes, terminology, and standards requirements applicable to a 

broad community of NIMS users. 

B. Direction and Control 

1.  Establish a command post and utilize the Unified Command Management 

System to effectively integrate and coordinate response resources and 

support from all levels of government.  

2. Communications shall be maintained by the Black Hawk Consolidated 

Dispatch Center 

a) Security of communications among responding organizations. 

(1) Resources shall be staged away from the affected or contaminated 

area as directed by the Unified command. 

b) The Unified Command shall develop a plan and cause the 

implementation of the plan so that Law enforcement may enforce 

accessibility policies This plan should include those who will be given 

access to the damaged and impacted areas, whether there are any time 

restrictions regarding access, whether escorts will be necessary, and what 

protective gear and identification will be required, if any, to enter these 

areas. 

c) Coordination of communications with federal responders shall be 

maintained by the Black Hawk County Consolidated Dispatch. 

C. Warning 

1. The public shall be notified of the threat by the unified command's PIO, who 

officer. The PIO officer will inform and advise the risk population of the 

necessary protective actions to take. Such notification shall be through radio, 

television stations, and cable access channels along with the National 

Weather Alert System. 

2. Emergency Public Information: The unified command may establish a Joint 

Information Center to coordinate the timely and appropriate release of 

information during the response and recovery phases. 

286

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX J: TERRORISM City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

74 SEPTEMBER 2021 

D. Evacuation/Sheltering 

1. In-Place sheltering information shall be released by the unified command 

PIO officer the PIO. 

2. Evacuation routes/means of conveyance have been determined by the 

Emergency Management Agency and are included in the county Multi-

Hazard plan. Necessary traffic control measures that will be implemented to 

facilitate evacuation from the risk area and enhance and supplement site 

security measures following the incident. 

E. Mass Care 

1. Red Cross (Hawkeye Chapter) shall maintain information and locations on 

mass care facilities and implement the Mass Care plan under the direction of 

the Emergency Management Agency. 

2. City of Cedar Falls will review structural safety standards and implement 

those standards as required. 

3. Black Hawk County Health Department along with the medical services of the 

county shall be responsible for maintaining plans for the public health of the 

residents of the county. 

F. Resource Management (See also Annex M) 

1. The affected jurisdiction shall activate needed mutual aid agreements as 

necessary. 

2. Cedar Falls Police may provide for the security of evacuated areas, critical 

facilities, resources, and the impacted area to protect the crime scene and 

facilitate response and recovery efforts. 

3. A finance person shall be assigned to coordinate and track resources both 

public and private and document associated costs. 

VI. Organizations and Assignments of Responsibilities 

A. The local emergency service organizations will be integrated into all levels of 

government responding to the incident. Responsibilities are as follows: 

1. The Black Hawk County Emergency Management Coordinator (EMC) 

a) Serves as the primary EOC coordinating officer 

287

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX J: TERRORISM 

SEPTEMBER 2021 75 

b) Leads and conducts meetings, conferences etc. to accomplish the 

following: 

(1) formulate action plans 

(2) define priorities 

(3) resolve conflicts 

(4) identify issues 

(5) evaluate resources needs/commitment 

c) Ensures tracking and journal/log management 

d) Assigns local consequence management representatives as needed. 

e) Ensures coordination with Public Information Office. 

f) Consults with authorities and agencies at all levels to identify and 

prioritize unmet needs. 

g) Serves as the liaison to state and federal agencies to support 

response/recovery efforts. 

2. Cedar Falls Police DepartmentDivision 

a) Depending on the situation the Police Chief may appoint an    Incident 

Commander to provide leadership, direction, and crisis/consequence 

coordination.  

a)b) The Police will follow their normal SOP's on gathering information on 

any terrorist elements within the county. If sufficient information is 

gathered such information will be forwarded to the Iowa Department of 

Safety and the Emergency Management Division. 

b)c) Provides a Liaison Officer (LO) to the Federal Bureau of Investigation's 

(FBI) Joint Operations Center (JOC) as required. 

c)d) Establishes/maintains communication between the site and county's 

Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 

d)e) Maintains close coordination with Public Information Officers (PIO). 

e)f) Assists in the determination of additional resources that require the 

county to request assistance from state and federal resources. 

288

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX J: TERRORISM City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

76 SEPTEMBER 2021 

f)g) Assists in the development of Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) and 

other guidance documents as applicable for crisis/consequence 

management issues. 

g)h) Assists in providing investigative services/actions. 

3. Cedar Falls Fire DepartmentDivision. 

a) Will maintain SOG's that state when and under what condition search 

and rescue efforts will be implemented. 

b) The State Homeland Security Emergency Management, Urban Search and 

Rescue Teams may be requested through the Black Hawk County 

Emergency Management Agency. 

4. The Black Hawk County Emergency Management Agency  

a) May develop procedures to deploy personnel and resources to support 

crisis/consequence management efforts. 

b) The FBI may provide technical assistance to law enforcement and other 

agencies with regard to devices, weapons, & explosives in response to a 

terrorist incident. 

(1) Investigative assistance 

(2) Training 

(3) Decontamination coordination or support 

VII. EMS Units 

A. Establishes and carries out protocols such as: 

1. Scene Command 

2. EOC/Command Post Liaison 

3. Communications 

B. The Black Hawk Health Department and Human Services Offices 

1. County Health Department 

a) Develop procedures that identify how personnel and resources will be deployed 

in support of crisis/consequence management efforts, for example: 

289

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX J: TERRORISM 

SEPTEMBER 2021 77 

(1) Threat/agent assessments 

(2) Epidemiological investigations 

(3) Hazard identification 

(4) Hazard reduction/decontamination 

(5) Iowa Department of Public Health liaison & coordination 

(6) Arrange & coordinate pharmaceutical support as required 

2. Iowa Department of Human Services may: 

a) Coordinate with the emergency management coordinator on response 

and recovery actions. 

b) Provide or coordinate mental health services for victims and first 

responders involved in a terrorism incident. 

c) Hospitals and other medical providers: 

(1) Shall collaborate with the County Public Health in providing medical 

care and collection of information. 

3. The Black Hawk County Attorney 

a) Provides intelligence and investigative resources for crisis/consequence 

management efforts as required. 

b) Maintains representative liaison with EOC, JOC, or other 

localities/facilities as directed. 

4. Public Works 

a) Assist with site-area damage assessment. 

b) Assist and or coordinate site-area clearances and restorations. 

c) Provide/coordinate the contracting for material resources support. 

VIII. Recovery 

A. Recovery can sometimes start before the crime investigation is complete. Recovery 

efforts will focus on restoring the scene to its condition prior to the incident. The 

following actions may be necessary: 

290

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX J: TERRORISM City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

78 SEPTEMBER 2021 

1. The City may continue to monitor area for any residual after-effects, as 

necessary. 

2. The Police will maintain protective actions as the situation dictates. 

3. The Financial officer will continue to coordinate and track resources and 

document costs. 

4. The appointed PIO Officer shall continue to keep the public informed of the 

recovery efforts. 

5. The City will develop and implement long-term environmental 

decontamination plan, as necessary, in coordination with the appropriate 

local, state and federal government agencies. 

IX. Training and Exercising 

A. Response personnel in the City of Cedar Falls will receive terrorism awareness / 

operational level training, in order to enhance their ability to recognize situations that 

may be acts of terrorism. This training may come from Federal, State, or Local sources. 

B. This training will integrate state and federal training programs in support of state and 

federal guidance. 

C. Such training will focus on tactical operations for explosive, nuclear, biological, and 

chemical agents. 

X. Administration and Logistics 

A. The administrative framework for terrorist incident response operations is outlined here. 

B. General support requirements 

1. Availability of services 

2. Iowa Mutual Aid Compact 

3. Mutual aid agreements 

4. Administrative policies and procedures (e.g., financial record keeping) 

  

291

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX K: MASS CASUALTY 

SEPTEMBER 2021 79 

INCIDENT ANNEX K: MASS CASUALTY 

I. Situation. 

A. Mass casualties could result from a severe structure fire, vehicular accident, tornado, 

civil disturbance, criminal acts, or terrorism. 

B. A mass casualty incident (MCI) will is likely to overwhelm local EMS resources and 

result in unnecessary pain and suffering.. 

II. Mitigation. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls has taken actions to minimize the adverse consequences of a 

mass casualty incident.  

III. Preparedness. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls has taken the following actions to prepare for a mass casualty 

incident. 

1. The Cedar Falls Fire Department  Division provides a non-transport 

Emergency Medical Technician - Basic Life Support level service. All 

Personnel are trained in MCI procedures. 

2. The Cedar Falls Fire Department  Division maintains MCI guidelines and 

protocols. 

3. The Cedar Falls Fire Department  Division trains with Sartori/CovenantMercy 

One paramedics and other agencies for potential MCI events. 

4. The City of Cedar Falls works with Black Hawk Emergency Management and 

the Local Emergency Planning Committee to plan and prepare for MCI 

events. 

IV. Response. 

A. Alert and notification. 

1. The Cedar Falls Fire Department, Police Public Safety Service Department, 

and other agencies will be notified through Black Hawk County Consolidated 

Dispatch. 

2. If necessary, the Mayor and Emergency OperationsMAC Group will be 

notified through the Police Department Community Services OfficerPublic 

Safety CSO Desk. 

292

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX K: MASS CASUALTY City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

80 SEPTEMBER 2021 

3. Dispatch will also notify BHC EMA, Hospitals, and Black Hawk County Public 

Health. 

B. Command and control. 

1. All MCI incidents will utilize the Incident Command System. 

293

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX L: PANDEMIC FLU 

SEPTEMBER 2021 81 

INCIDENT ANNEX L: PANDEMIC FLU 

V. Situation. 

A. Given the variety, severity, and complexity of possible viral spreads, no single plan will 

be able accommodate every situation.  For this reason, this annex seeks to provide 

only a general, flexible guide which can be adapted to the situation at hand. 

B. According to the World Health Organization, an influenza pandemic occurs when a 

new influenza virus appears, against which the human population has no immunity. 

This results in several simultaneous epidemics worldwide with enormous numbers of 

deaths and illness. 

C. With the increase in global transport and communications, as well as urbanization and 

overcrowded conditions, epidemics due to the new influenza virus are likely to take 

hold around the world. 

D. Socio-economic impacts from an influenza pandemic to consider: 

1. Food shortages due to supply chain breakdowns. 

2. Employee absenteeism due to concerns of contracting influenza. 

3. Large businesses will suffer; small businesses may close down permanently. 

4. Significant numbers of health care professionals may quit due to burnout 

and stress. 

5. Social distancing orders will shut down recreational events, sporting events 

and public spaces such as bars and restaurants. 

E. City Impacts to consider: 

1. Daily employee allocation decisions. 

2. Decisions of essential vs. non-essential services. 

3. All personnel wearing masks at all times. 

4. Emergency Operations Center / Incident Command System activated. 

5. All essential positions within NIMS/ICS must be three-deep (primary, 

assistant, alternate) to account for potential illness/incapacitation. 

6. Triage system may be required for patient prioritization. 

7. Drastically increased call volume for medical service / 911 overload. 

294

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX L: PANDEMIC FLU City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

82 SEPTEMBER 2021 

8. Mass medicine dispensing, alternative care sites, temporary morgues. 

9. Increased need for cemetery workers, including possible round-the-clock 

grave digging.  

10. Shutdown of the Cedar Falls Public Library, recreation facilities and city-

sponsored camps. 

11. Closure of schools will cause disruptions in employee child care. 

VI. Mitigation. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls mitigates the risk of pandemic illness through: 

1. Careful regulation of the ‘backyard hens’ program, including a record of the 

locations and numbers of all registered poultry within city limits.  

2. Posting of public hand sanitizer stations in public buildings. 

3. Posting of CDC-approved signage regarding proper hygiene in public 

building restrooms.  

4. Coordinating annual flu shots for all city employees desiring one. 

VII. Preparedness. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls has taken the following actions to prepare for a pandemic: 

1. Deployment of teleconference technologies to allow staff, elected officials, 

appointed officials, and the public to meet virtually. 

2. Establishment of remote work options for staff members able to carry out 

their work from home. 

3. Stockpiling of sufficient masks and gloves for first responder protection in 

the early stages of a pandemic. 

4. Training of first responders in infection control measures. 

VIII. Response. 

A. Alert and notification. 

1. Continuously provide information to internal and external stakeholders. 

Partner with the county public health department to coordinate appropriate 

messaging regarding risks and prevention techniques. 

295

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX L: PANDEMIC FLU 

SEPTEMBER 2021 83 

2. The city Communications Specialist will provide relevant information to the 

public through normal channels.  In the event that the Incident Commander 

designates a Public Information Officer (PIO), this person shall be the primary 

communications coordinator for the event. 

3. The mayor shall be the primary spokesperson for the city’s response to a 

pandemic emergency. 

B. Command and control.  

1. In a declared public health emergency, the Black Hawk County Department 

of Public Health (BHCDPH) and Iowa Department of Public Health (IDPH) will 

provide guidance and recommendations.   

2. The County Public Health Director shall serve as the county-wide Incident 

Commander for the emergency.  The City of Cedar Falls shall support the 

county-wide effort through participation in the County Emergency 

Management Commission. 

3. Directives to the Cedar Falls public will be provided by the Iowa State 

Legislature or Governor (through proclamation), by the Cedar Falls City 

Council, or by the mayor through 48 hour emergency proclamation. 

4. Monitor the evolving pandemic in real-time to guide the selection of 

response measures that will become apparent once the virus has emerged. 

5. Contain exposure to and transmission of the virus to individuals throughout 

the community by implementing control measures that match the behavior 

of the virus and that have the greatest chance of reducing the number of 

cases and delaying spread. These may include, but are not limited to: 

a) Travel restrictions. 

b) Closing of schools. 

c) Cancelling sporting events. 

d) Bans on mass gatherings. 

e) Physical distancing. 

f) Quarantines. 

g) Community Containment 

296

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX L: PANDEMIC FLU City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

84 SEPTEMBER 2021 

6. Mask requirements on private property will be solely determined by the State 

of Iowa.2  The city may still issue masking provisions in city buildings and on 

public property. 

7. Maintain civil order. 

8. Order the destruction of poultry in response to an Avian Flu pandemic. 

9. Support health and medical systems. 

10. Sustain critical infrastructure and essential services. 

11. Provide guidance for the use of key commodities and resources. 

12. Provide for the needs of employees and their immediate families. 

13. Provide for housing essential personnel in local hotels if necessary, and 

support these personnel with lodging, sanitation, communications, and other 

needs.  

 

 

 

                                                 

2Iowa Code 364.13 (14) (2021) states that “A city shall not adopt an ordinance, motion, resolution, or 

amendment, or use any other means, that requires the owner of real property to implement a policy relating 

to the use of facial coverings that is more stringent than a policy imposed by the state.” 

297

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan INCIDENT ANNEX M: CYBER ATTACK 

SEPTEMBER 2021 85 

INCIDENT ANNEX M: CYBER ATTACK 

I. Situation. 

A. Hacker attacks against computer networks and infrastructure have become 

increasingly sophisticated, and may be either malicious or financially exploitative in 

nature. Often those carrying out these attacks are located overseas, making law 

enforcement prosecution very difficult. 

B. Increasingly, businesses and governments are targeted by sophisticated criminal 

elements to hold data for ransom (“ransomware attacks”).  Typically these payments 

are demanded via cryptocurrency. 

II. Mitigation. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls carries out cyber-attack mitigation strategies. 

1. Regular system backups. 

2. Use of a business continuity plan in the event of system failure. 

III. Preparedness. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls has taken the following actions to prepare for ransomware 

attack: 

1. Annual required training for all city personnel in techniques used by 

attackers to obtain access to computers and networks. 

2. Use of system monitoring tools. 

3. Deployment of internal testing to better understand weaknesses and educate 

city employees on the dangers of phishing attacks. 

IV. Response. 

A. Alert and notification. 

1. Users experiencing problems will immediately notify the City IT Helpdesk 

(319-268-5555) for further instructions. 

2. The City IT Manager will notify the outside resources in accordance with 

departmental SOPs and SOGs. 

3. The City Administrator or designee will contact local partner agencies (CFU, 

Consolidated Dispatch, County EMA, etc.) as necessary. 

298

Item 14.



INCIDENT ANNEX M: CYBER ATTACK City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

86 SEPTEMBER 2021 

B. Command and control.  

C. Command and Control.  

1. The Information Technology Manager will normally be assigned as the 

Incident Commander to for a cyber-attack response. 

2. In the event of a suspected system compromise, the affected computer 

should immediately be disconnected from the network to attempt to isolate 

the problem. 

3. Further guidance in response to a cyber-attack will be carried out via 

departmental SOP’s and SOG’s.   

  

299

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan CONTINUITY ANNEX A: BUSINESS PRESERVATION 

SEPTEMBER 2021 87 

CONTINUITY ANNEX A:  BUSINESS PRESERVATION 

I. Situation. 

A. Essential administrative functions including, municipal business, the delivery of public 

services and recordkeeping are performed at the Cedar Falls City Hall. 

B. Should the City Hall become unusable due to fire, structural damage, hazardous 

material contamination or other conditions, essential records might be destroyed and 

the City of Cedar Falls would be unable to conduct city business and provide essential 

services to the public. This could result in community hardship, particularly in the 

aftermath of major emergency or disaster. 

II. Mitigation. 

A. The City of Cedar Falls has taken the following actions to minimize the adverse 

consequences of damage to, or destruction of its City Hall. 

1. The Cedar Falls Fire Department  Division will perform periodic inspections of 

the City Hall to identify and correct potential fire hazards. 

2. The Public Works Director and Directive of Administrative Services carries out 

will cause to have normal preventative maintenance and updating 

completed. 

III. Preparedness. 

A. Alternate City Hall. 

1. The following locations have been identified as a substitute City Hall. The site 

will be designated by the City Administrator Mayor or Director of 

Administrative Services based on immediate needs, hazards, etc. 

a) Public Safety Building 

b) Public Works Complex 

a)c) Visitors Center 

b)d) Community Center 

c)e) Hearst Center 

2. Replacement of essential equipment. 

300

Item 14.



CONTINUITY ANNEX A: BUSINESS PRESERVATION City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

88 SEPTEMBER 2021 

a) The Director of Administrative ServicesDirector of Finance and Business 

Operations shall maintain a list of essential equipment that may need to 

be replaced should the Cedar Falls City Hall become unusable. 

3. Preservation of vital records. 

a) The City Clerk will be responsible for ensuring that backup copies are 

made of all essential records and kept at safe and secure locations. 

IV. Response. 

A. The Director of Administrative Services City Administrator will notify key officials and 

the public that the City Hall has been relocated. 

B. The Director of Administrative ServicesCity Administrator will coordinate the relocation 

including: 

1. The emergency procurement of essential equipment and supplies. 

2. Recover and relocate backup copies of essential records. 

V. Recovery. 

A. The Public Works Director will coordinate damage assessment and reconstruction 

activities for City facilities. 

301

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan APPENDIX 1: GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

SEPTEMBER 2021 89 

APPENDIX 1: GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

Accountability – A system to track personnel by function and location at the scene of an 

emergency. 

Action Plan – A written document that consolidates all of the operational actions to be taken 

by various personnel in order to stabilize the incident. 

Conflagration – A large and disastrous fire. 

Command Post – Location of the incident commander at the scene of an emergency. 

Communications – Anticipating emergency communication needs as well as well as providing 

communications during an emergency. 

Contingency Plan – A plan that outlines actions to be taken by a public/private sector 

organization to restore vital operations/services following a systems failure caused by an 

emergency/disaster or other circumstances 

Damage Assessment – Assessing: 1) the physical damage suffered in order to determine 

operational status and organize the disaster response, and 2) the monetary loss incurred as 

the basis for seeking a state or federal disaster declaration which could make the jurisdiction 

eligible for financial assistance. 

Debris Removal – The establishment of priorities and the removal of debris to 1) clear 

emergency routes, 2) aid in restorations of essential utilities, 3) gain access to isolated areas, 

and 4) remove potential health and safety hazards. 

Direction and Control – Key public officials (mayor, supervisors, town manager, Emergency 

Management coordinator, sheriff, police chief, etc.) exercising overall coordination of 

emergency operations from the Emergency Operations Center. 

Disaster – An emergency that overwhelms local resources. 

Emergency – A sudden and unforeseeable event, which requires immediate action to prevent 

or lesson injury or harm to people, property and/or the environment. 

Emergency Action Plan – An OSHA required plan that describes actions to be taken to 

protect employee health and safety in the event of a workplace fire or other emergency. 

Emergency Medical Services – All the emergency medical care procedures required from the 

onset of injury or disease until a patient is in an established medical care facility. This includes 

such things as triage (sorting of victims at the scene), emergency first aid, medical 

transportation, hospital care, and post hospital outpatient care. 

302

Item 14.



APPENDIX 1: GLOSSARY OF TERMS City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

90 SEPTEMBER 2021 

Emergency Operations Center (EOC) – Pre-designated facility established by an organization 

to coordinate overall emergency response and recovery operations. 

Emergency Public Health and Mortuary Services  – Health threatening problems arising 

from a disaster including such things as inspection if food and water supplies (public or 

private), sewage and waste disposal systems, public feeding and housing facilities, control of 

disease carriers, epidemic control, and the proper collection, identification, and disposition of 

the dead. 

Emergency Public Information – The systematic release of official information and guidance 

concerning a disaster to newspapers, radio and TV stations, and the general public. 

Emergency Response – All actions taken to prevent (or reduce) injury or harm to people, 

property and the environment at the scene of an emergency or disaster. Emergency response 

operations are terminated when threats to public health and safety, property and/or the 

environment have been eliminated. 

Evacuation and Mass Transportation -The large scale emergency evacuation of people, 

movement of injured, and transportation of supplies and equipment. 

Fire Services -The emergency protection of lives and property from the results of a disaster, 

including but not limited to fires, building collapse, and other situations where fire 

departments have the trained personnel and/or equipment needed. 

Hazard or Threat - Any condition, act or event that has the potential to cause an emergency. 

Hazardous Material -Any substance that has the ability to cause injury or harm to people, 

property and/or the environment when misused or unintentionally released from its container. 

Hazardous materials include, toxic, explosive, reactive, flammable, corrosive, radioactive and 

infectious substances. 

Human Services - Means social services activities, counseling, inquiry about persons, and the 

temporary feeding, clothing, and housing in situations not of a sufficient scope to justify 

activation of a mass care system. 

Incident Command System (ICS) -A top down modular management system with pre-

assigned duties and functions for the command, control, and coordination of on-scene 

emergency response operations. 

Incident Commander - On-scene emergency response official with has command and control 

authority of operations. 

Law Enforcement - Enforcement of current laws/ordinances .or emergency orders to limit 

access to the disaster area, protect property and lives, maintain order, and assist with other 

immediate emergency measures. 

303

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan APPENDIX 1: GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

SEPTEMBER 2021 91 

Mass Care – Is the registration, housing, feeding, clothing, and other essential s provided for a 

large number of people displaced from their homes by disaster. 

Mitigation – All actions taken to eliminate or reduce injury or harm to people, property 

and/or the environment in the event of an emergency. Examples of mitigation include the 

installation of secondary containment around chemical storage tanks and the construction 

floodwalls. 

National Incident Management System (NIMS) – A comprehensive national approach to 

incident management that is applicable at all jurisdictional levels and across all disciplines that 

allows for coordinated, standardized response and interoperability. NIMS compliance is 

required by all agencies and jurisdictions seeking the use of State and Federal resources and 

funding. 

On-Scene Risk Management Plan - Concept by which emergency response personnel risk 

little to: save that which has already been lost, that which has little value or perform actions 

that have little effect on final outcome. 

Outcome -The end result of an emergency response operation as determined by lives saved, 

property conserved and pollution prevented. Outcome = directed losses (injury or harm 

caused by the situation) and incurred losses (injury or harm to emergency responders and 

their equipment). 

Points of Distribution -- Centralized locations where the public can pick up life sustaining 

commodities following a disaster or emergency. This can include commodities such as food 

and water, as well as medications in the event of a biological emergency. 

Preparedness -All actions taken to prepare for an emergency or disaster Examples of 

preparedness include, preparing an emergency operations plan, training and purchasing 

emergency response supplies and equipment. 

Protective Shelter - Is the provisions of appropriate shelter to protect people from the effects 

of a disaster. 

Public Works - Is the flexible emergency response capability for engineering, construction, 

and repair and restoration of essential public facilities and services and services and provides 

for debris removal. 

Radiological Protection - Is the detection, monitoring, and exposure control in emergency 

situations involving radioactive material. 

Resource Management - The effective allocation and coordinated utilization of all resources 

(manpower, equipment, facilities, and supplies) made available to a jurisdiction stricken by a 

disaster. 

304

Item 14.



APPENDIX 1: GLOSSARY OF TERMS City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

92 SEPTEMBER 2021 

Senior Official – Provides policy guidance on priorities and objectives based on situational 

needs and the emergency plan, typically with the advice of the Multiagency Coordination 

(MAC) Group.  Delegates response authority to an Incident Commander. 

Standard Operating Guideline (SOG) - Provides guidance on how a task is to be performed. 

Standard operating guidelines can be modified in response to incident-specific conditions and 

circumstances. 

Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) - Describes how a task is to be performed. Standard 

operating procedures are legally binding and cannot be modified in response to incident-

specific conditions and circumstances. 

Search and Rescue -The organized, systematic search and rescue of lives trapped or missing 

as a result of a disaster or emergency. 

Recovery - Post emergency response operations required to provide for essential needs 

and/or restoration of vital services and (2) restore normal functions and activities to pre-

emergency conditions. 

Staging Area.  A location of unassigned personnel and equipment at the scene of an 

emergency. 

Terrorism - As defined by the FBI, "the unlawful use of force against persons or property to 

intimidate or coerce a government, the civilian population, or any segment thereof, in the 

furtherance of political or social objectives." This definition includes three elements: (1) 

Terrorist activities are illegal and involve the use of force. (2) The actions are intended to 

intimidate or coerce. (3) The actions are committed in support of political or social objectives. 

Utilities Restoration -The restoration of service with priorities to those with a critical need for 

emergency operations. 

Warning - Receiving warning of an impending disaster or emergency situation and 

transmitting that warning both to key public officials and to the general public of the 

jurisdiction concerned. 

 

  

305

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan APPENDIX 2:  ACRONYMS 

SEPTEMBER 2021 93 

APPENDIX 2: ACRONYMS 

ICP – Incident Command Post 

BHCIAEMA – Black Hawk County Emergency Management Agency 

DNR - Department of Natural Resources  

EMA – Emergency Management Agency 

EMD - Emergency Management Division  

EMS - Emergency Medical Services 

EOC - Emergency Operations Center 

EOP - Emergency Operations Plan 

IC – Incident Commander 

ICP – Incident Command Post 

ICS/IMS - Incident Command System/Incident Management System 

IHSEMD – Iowa Homeland Security and Emergency Management Department 

LO – Liaison Officer 

MAC Group – Multiagency Coordination Group 

MCI – Mass Casualty Incident 

NIMS - National Incident Management System 

PIO - Public Information Officer 

POD – Point of Distribution 

SOG - Standard Operating Guideline 

SOP- Standard Operating Procedure 

 

306

Item 14.



APPENDIX 3: LOCAL DISASTER DECLARATION City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

94 SEPTEMBER 2021 

APPENDIX 3: LOCAL DISASTER DECLARATION 

 

Due to _______________________________________________________________________________which occurred 

on _____________________________________causing severe damage to public and private property, 

disruption of utility service and endangerment of health and safety of the citizens of Cedar Falls 

within the disaster area. Therefore, I am declaring a state of emergency authorized under Iowa 

State Statute and will execute the expenditure of emergency funds from all available sources, the 

invoking of mutual aid agreements, and the applying to the State of Iowa for assistance for 

damage assessment necessary for a Presidential Disaster Declaration. 

 

_________________________________________ 

Mayor, City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

_________________________________________ 

Date 

 

Witness my hand and seal of my office this _________________ day of _____   , 20____. 

 

________________________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

307

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan APPENDIX 4: MAYOR’S SUPPLEMENTAL PROCLAMATION 

SEPTEMBER 2021 95 

APPENDIX 4: MAYOR’S SUPPLEMENTAL  PROCLAMATION 

 

Pursuant to the powers vested in me as Mayor under Section 372.14 of the Iowa Code and 

Section        of the City Code of  , I do hereby declare and proclaim that no (residential) 

(business) building or premises within (the City)(the following described area of the City, to wit:   

                                                                                                                                                           

 

 

 

shall  be  occupied  or  used  for  (a  dwelling  place)(normal  business  operations),  except until 

such time as the Cedar Falls Utilities Water Department determines and declares that water 

service has been restored [to the (water zone)(area) within  which the building or premises is 

located. Upon full restoration of water service to the City, (including Zones A, B, C & D,) as 

determined and declared by the Cedar Falls Utilities Water Department, this Proclamation shall 

be deemed to be withdrawn and of no further force and effect. 

Issued this day of       20      . 

By: ____________________________________________     

        Mayor, City of Cedar Falls               

 

Attest:  __________________________________________    

              City Clerk

308

Item 14.



APPENDIX 6: EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

96 SEPTEMBER 2021 

APPENDIX 5: MAYOR’S PROCLAMATION  OF PUBLIC EMERGENCY 

Pursuant to the powers vested in me as Mayor under Section 372.14 of the Iowa Code and 

Section          of the City Code of Cedar Falls, I do hereby declare and proclaim that a state of 

public emergency exists within the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa due to: 

 

 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the emergency powers vested in me: 

1. I do hereby declare my intention to oversee and direct the provision of disaster services to 

the City of Cedar Falls and its citizens, and my intention to issue such further proclamations 

as are in my judgment necessary to maintain health, welfare, and safety within the 

community, and to issue and promulgate such orders and rules as I may deem necessary and 

appropriate under the circumstances. 

2. I do hereby authorize the Cedar Falls Police to remove or cause the removal of persons 

and/or personal property from _________________________________________________________________                                              

or from areas where emergency services are being provided, when in the judgment of police 

officers the presence of such persons or property constitutes a danger to  the health, welfare, 

or safety of persons or property, or constitutes an impediment to the provision  of emergency 

services. 

3.  I do hereby  authorize  City personnel  assigned  to provide  emergency   services, including 

but not limited to the following personnel: ____________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________                                                                     

to give direction to the public as necessary to facilitate the provision of said emergency 

services. 

4. I  further  declare  my  intention  to  procure  by  purchase  or  lease,  without  competitive 

procurement procedure, such goods or services as I may deem necessary for the City's 

emergency response effort or for the repair of City buildings and facilities. 

309

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan APPENDIX 5: MAYOR’S PROCLAMATION OF PUBLIC EMERGENCY 

SEPTEMBER 2021 97 

5. I further declare my intention to lease real property and/or buildings as I may deem necessary 

to facilitate the City's emergency response effort, or as I may deem necessary for the 

continued operation of city government. 

6. Any violation of this proclamation, or of a supplemental proclamation hereto, or of any order 

or rule issued pursuant to this or any supplemental proclamation, or of any order issued by a 

peace officer pursuant to this or any supplemental proclamation, or of any directive issued by 

designated emergency services personnel pursuant to this or any supplemental proclamation, 

shall constitute a misdemeanor chargeable under Section                         of the City Code, 

and punishable as provided by Section                     of the City Code.  

This proclamation of public emergency shall remain in effect until withdrawn or modified by me.  

Issued this _____ day of ___________________  , 20 ____.  

 

By:  _______________________________________     

       Mayor, City of Cedar Falls               

 

 

Attest:  _______________________________________                                                                 

               City Clerk           

 

 

  

310

Item 14.



APPENDIX 6: EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

98 SEPTEMBER 2021 

APPENDIX 6: EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 

1. Stay calm. 

2. Gather your family, and a neighbor or someone else who needs help. 

3. If the evacuation is mandatory, take essential items (diapers, baby food, clothes, money, 

personal toiletries, medicines, etc. 

4. Turn off all appliances (stove, lights, heaters, etc.) 

5. Lock your house. 

6. Do not use more cars than you have to. 

7. Keep windows & vents in the car closed. 

8. Go immediately to the home of a friend or relative outside the evacuation area, or to a 

shelter or staging area located at: _______________________________________________________ 

9. Officers will be stationed at intersections along the way to direct you. 

10. If you need transportation, call:  __________________________________________________ 

11. Children at the following schools: _______________________________________________________ 

will be evacuated to: _____________________________________________________________________ 

12. Do not drive to your child's school.  Pick your child up from the authorities at the shelter. 

13. The hazardous material is toxic.  Signs & symptoms of over exposure are: 

 

_______________________________________________________________________________________  

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

14. If you have any of these signs or symptoms, seek medical attention help at: 

 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

15. Do not use telephones unless you need emergency service. 

16. Pets: Carrier, food, collar, leash, medicines, proof of vaccinations, etc. 

17. Other

311

Item 14.



Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan  

SEPTEMBER 2021 99 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK 

312

Item 14.



   FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Public Records Division 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Jacque Danielsen, City Clerk 

 DATE: August 27, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Public Meeting Protocols 

 
Please find attached a proposed resolution approving and adopting revised public 
meeting protocols during the COVID-19 pandemic that were discussed at the August 
16, 2021 City Council Work Session. This resolution will establish remote public 
participation for city council meetings and city boards and commission meetings when 
the Black Hawk County Health Department COVID-19 Response website reports the 
current Black Hawk County status as “High” (Red) as of 8:00 am on the Wednesday 
prior to the City Council meeting and at the time that agendas are posted for board and 
commission meetings. 
 
This resolution also reinforces that a majority of all members of City Council and boards 
and commissions must be present in person during the meetings in order to constitute a 
quorum to conduct business. 
  
     

313

Item 15.



 
RESOLUTION NO. __________ 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ADOPTING REVISED PUBLIC MEETING 

PROTOCOLS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC 

 
 

 WHEREAS, during the COVID-19 pandemic, the City determined that safety 

protocols were necessary to ensure the safety and well-being of the public, city employees 

and elected officials who attend City Council meetings, and 

 

 WHEREAS, City Council adopted Resolution #22,201, approving and adopting 

public meeting protocols as a standard for in-person attendance at City Council meetings, 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, on July 23, 2021, Governor Reynolds allowed the suspension of any 

requirement for governmental bodies to hold a public hearing or public meeting entirely by 

electronic means, to expire, and 

 

           WHEREAS, Iowa law requires that in order for the City to lawfully hold a public 

hearing or public meeting entirely by electronic means, an in-person hearing or meeting 

must be impossible or impractical; and 

 

           WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that in-person hearings and meetings 

are neither impossible, nor impractical at this time; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that when the Black Hawk County 

Health Department COVID-19 Response website reports the current Black Hawk County 

Status as “High” (Red) as of 8:00 am on the Wednesday prior to the City Council meeting, 

provisions be made for participation of the public in public meetings by electronic means as 

an option. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, that Resolution #22,201 is hereby rescinded. 

314

Item 15.



 

            BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that although the City Council shall continue to meet 

in person, the public shall be provided the option to participate in City Council meetings by 

electronic means if the Black Hawk County Health Department COVID-19 status is being 

reported as “High” as of 8:00 am on the Wednesday prior to a City Council meeting. 

 

           BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a majority of all members of the City Council must 

be present in person during meetings in order to constitute a quorum to conduct business.   

 

            BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that any other public entity, including City Boards and 

Commissions, using the City Council Chambers or other city facilities for public meetings, 

shall use the same criteria, except that the determination of Black Hawk County COVID-19 

status for purposes of public access shall be made at the time that agendas are posted for 

public meetings of such public entities.  

 

 ADOPTED this 7th day of September, 2021. 
 
 
        __________________________ 
        Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:         
 
 
_______________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

315

Item 15.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
Financial Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members  

 FROM: Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

 DATE: August 12, 2020 

 SUBJECT: City’s Request for Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Funds established 
under the American Rescue Plan Act 

 

The American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) was signed into law on March 11, 2021, which 
included $65 billion in Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (CSLFRF). 
The federal funding will be distributed to state and local governments to aid in the 
recovery from the budgetary, economic and financial impacts of the COVID-19 
pandemic. The US Treasury provided guidelines for each city to follow while thinking 
about ways to use the funds. The City of Cedar Falls is eligible to receive CSLFRF grant 
funding in two tranches, with 50% received this year and the remaining 50% in 2022 a 
year from the first tranche date. The City is required to request the funds through the 
U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Treasurer Submission Portal and will be required to 
execute other related reports, amendments and documents in connection with ARPA.  
To do so the City Council must designated an Authorized Representative.      
 
Tonight, staff is requesting the City Council designate the Director of Finance and 
Business Operations as the City’s Authorized Representative to execute related 
documents associated with the funds received from the Coronavirus State and Local 
Fiscal Recovery Funds allocated from the American Rescue Plan Act.   
 
The City of Cedar Falls is allocated $6,508,740 in funding from the Coronavirus State 
and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds that will cover eligible expenditures that will aid in the 
recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic that are fully obligated by December 31, 2024.  
A presentation with a staff recommendation for use of the Coronavirus Local Fiscal 
Recovery Funds will occur on September 20, 2021.  
 
If you have questions regarding this, please feel free to contact Jennifer or myself. 
 
 
CC: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations  
  
  

316

Item 16.



RESOLUTION NO. ________ 
 
 

RESOLUTION DESIGNATING THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE & BUSINESS 
OPERATIONS AS THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE 

FOR SIGNING AND FILING DOCUMENTS TO OBTAIN FEDERAL FINANCIAL 
ASSISTANCE UNDER THE CORONAVIRUS STATE AND LOCAL FISCAL 

RECOVERY FUNDS ESTABLISHED UNDER THE AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT 
 
 

 WHEREAS, since the first case of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) was 

discovered in the United States in January 2020, the disease has infected over 32 

million Americans (“Pandemic”). The disease has impacted every part of life: as social 

distancing became a necessity, businesses closed, schools transitioned to remote 

education, travel was sharply reduced, and millions of Americans lost their jobs; and 

 

 WHEREAS, as a result of the Pandemic city revenues, businesses and 

nonprofits in the city have faced economic impacts due to the Pandemic; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Congress adopted the American Rescue Plan Act in March 2021 

(“ARPA”) which included $65 billion in recovery funds for cities across the country; and 

 

 WHEREAS, ARPA funds are intended to provide support to state, local, and 

tribal governments in responding to the impact of COVID-19 and in their efforts to 

contain COVID-19 in their communities, residents, and businesses; and 

 

WHEREAS, the United States Department of Treasury requires the City of Cedar 

Falls to designate a representative for the purpose of obtaining Federal financial 

assistance under the Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Funds established under the 

American Rescue Plan Act.  

 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa: 

 

Section 1. That the Director of Finance & Business Operations is designated to be the 

City of Cedar Falls Authorized Representative for the purpose of obtaining Federal 

317

Item 16.



financial assistance under the Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Funds established 

under the American Rescue Plan Act. 

 

ADOPTED this 7th day of September, 2021 

 

                                                                                                                                         
_____________________ 

                                                                                           Robert Green, Mayor 
ATTEST:                                                                                                         
 
___________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, CMC 
City Clerk 
 

318

Item 16.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green & City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: August 30, 2021 

 SUBJECT:  FYE June 30, 2021 

 
City finance staff has been working on closing out the general ledger for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2021.  As part of that process, we have looked at the total revenues 
and the total expenditures for the General Fund.  We were fortunate in FY21 to have 
some revenues that exceeded budgeted amounts.  These included property taxes, 
building permit revenues, and the receipt of the backfill funds.  In addition, we had areas 
that expenditures were less than budgeted amounts.  The significant areas included 
planning, engineering, and public safety.  The result was an excess in the General Fund 
of approximately $2.3 million.  The backfill portion in the amount of approximately 
$600,000 was already designated by the City Council through the goal setting and 
budget process to set those funds aside for a capital project if those funds were 
received.  This leaves $1.7 million remaining.  
 
Again through the goal setting process, one of the things Council discussed was to try 
and increase the emergency reserve fund.  By placing $500,000 in the emergency 
reserve fund, that would increase the uncommitted balance of that fund to 
approximately $2 million, which is in-line with Council’s directive.  The remaining $1.2 
million can be transferred to the capital projects fund.  This gives the Council the 
opportunity this Fall during the Capital Improvements Program (CIP) process and goal 
setting process to determine the best use of those funds, including identifying a capital 
project for the funds to be used towards.    
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 
 
 

319

Item 17.



RESOLUTION NO. ________ 
 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF FUNDS 
FROM THE GENERAL FUND TO THE EMERGENCY RESERVE FUND AND THE 

CAPTIAL PROJECTS FUND RELATIVE TO THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED  
JUNE 30, 2021.  

 
 

 WHEREAS, each year the city staff compiles the total revenues received by the 

General Fund and the total expenditures of the General Fund to determine the balance 

in the General Fund at year end; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City received $598,520.56 in backfill funds from the State of 

Iowa to be used for a one-time capital project as determined by the City Council through 

the goal setting and the budget process; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City also received $963,401.47 for COVID-19 public health 

emergency funds through the CARES Act; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council also through the goal setting process had a priority 

of using any surplus for increasing the emergency reserve fund and for capital projects; 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, to meet these goals outlined by City Council, the backfill funds 

received in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 in the amount of $598,520.56 will be 

transferred to the Capital Projects Fund for the City Hall remodel project, $500,000.00 

will be transferred to the Emergency Reserve Fund to increase the balance in that fund; 

$963,401.47 will also be transferred to the Emergency Reserve Fund to support a future 

public safety building site, and the remaining surplus of $1,200,000.00 will be 

transferred to the Capital Projects Fund.  This remaining amount will be used for a 

project to be specifically designated by the City Council through the goal setting and 

capital improvements process; and 

 

320

Item 17.



 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it in the best 

interest of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve and authorize said transfers.   

 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that said transfers from the General Fund to the Emergency Reserve Fund and 

Capital Projects Fund of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are hereby approved and 

authorized.  

 

ADOPTED this 7th day of September, 2021 

 

                                                                                                                                         
_____________________ 

                                                                                           Robert Green, Mayor 
ATTEST:                                                                                                         
 
___________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, CMC 
City Clerk 
 

321

Item 17.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 M E M O R A N D U M
Human Resources Division

 TO: Mayor Green & City Council Members 

 FROM: Brenda Balvanz, Human Resources Specialist 

 DATE: August 30, 2021 

 SUBJECT: One Source Background Company – Account Service Agreement 
 
 
Finance & Business Operations staff was notified this spring by Public Safety Services 
staff that they were unable to continue providing driver’s license validations for pre-
employment and promotional placements.  HR staff reviewed options for obtaining this 
and other information necessary before new hire and promotional offers are extended.     
 
Upon completing vendor demonstrations, considering internal and external services, 
and reviewing pricing, an external background company was determined to be most 
appropriate to complete the above and best assist the City with Fair Credit Reporting 
Act (FCRA) requirements.   
 
Attached for your approval is an Account Service Agreement with One Source 
Background Company for the City to begin completing employment background reports 
and driver’s license validations with this fall. If you have questions before the September 
7th City Council meeting, feel free to contact me at 268-5112 or Jennifer Rodenbeck at 
268-5108. 
 
 
Cc:  Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
  Colleen Sole, Human Resources Specialist 

322

Item 18.



PO Box 24148 | Omaha, NE 68124 
P | 800.608.3645 ext. 311 F | 800.929.8117 

accounting@onesourcebackground.com 

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT | UPDATED AUGUST 2021       1 

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT 
SECTION A:  ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT 
This Account Service Agreement (this “Agreement”) is executed by and between One Source The Background Check 
Company, Inc., a Nebraska corporation (“One Source”) and Consumer Reporting Agency hereinafter referred to as 
“CRA”   and City of Cedar Falls , an  Iowa Non-Profit  (“End User”).  This Agreement shall be effective on the date of 
the last signature to this Agreement below (the “Effective Date”). CRA and End User may herein be collectively referred 
to as the “Parties” or individually as a “Party.” NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, terms, and 
conditions set forth herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 
1. SCOPE OF AGREEMENT.

1.1 This Agreement applies to any information services which End User may desire to receive from CRA and which
CRA offers to End User. Such information services shall herein be collectively referred to as “Services”.

2. CONSUMER REPORT INFORMATION.
2.1 CRA makes certain consumer report information available to its End Users who have a permissible purpose for
receiving such information in accordance with the Fair Credit Reporting Act (15 U.S.C. §1681 et seq.) including,
without limitation, all amendments thereto (“FCRA”). Such consumer report information shall herein be collectively
referred to as “Consumer Report” or “Reports”.

3. LEGAL COMPLIANCE.
3.1 End User certifies to CRA that the Reports it receives will not be used in violation of any applicable federal, state
or local laws, including, but not limited to, the FCRA and further certifies that the Reports will not to be used for
purposes except for the permissible purpose outlined in this agreement.  End User accepts full responsibility for
complying with all such laws and for using the Reports it receives from CRA in a legally acceptable manner. To that
end, End User agrees to present Applicant with clear and conspicuous disclosure, if applicable, and capture
authorization pursuant to the permissible purpose set forth herein this agreement per the FCRA and provide all
statutorily required notices, as applicable, pursuant to the FCRA (e.g., adverse action).
3.2 End User accepts full responsibility for any and all consequences of End User’s use and/or End User’s
dissemination of the Reports.
3.3 End User certifies that each Report will only be used for a one-time use and for no other purpose other than as
per the permissible purpose outlined in this agreement.
3.4 End User understands that federal government, individual states and municipalities, and nations worldwide may
have laws that regulate, ban, or restrict the use of this information and it is up to the End User to identify and comply
with such laws. End User certifies awareness of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (15 U.S.C. §1681 et seq.) including,
without limitation, all amendments thereto (“FCRA”). The FCRA creates responsibilities and obligations for the End
User. End User understands these obligations and agrees to abide by them. International laws/regulations would
need to be followed if consumer reports are procured that will include information or residence from outside the U.S.

4. FCRA PENALTIES.
4.1 THE FCRA PROVIDES THAT ANY PERSON WHO KNOWINGLY AND WILLFULLY OBTAINS INFORMATION
ON A CONSUMER FROM A CRA UNDER FALSE PRETENSES SHALL BE FINED UNDER TITLE 18 OF THE
UNITED STATES CODE OR IMPRISONED NOT MORE THAN TWO YEARS, OR BOTH.

5. PERMISSIBLE PURPOSE.
5.1 In accordance with the written instructions of the consumer to whom it relates.
5.2 To a person which it has reason to believe

5.2.1 Intends to use the information in connection with a credit transaction involving the consumer on whom the 
information is to be furnished and involving the extension of credit to, or review or collection of an account of, the 
consumer; or 
5.2.2 Intends to use the information for employment purposes; or 
5.2.3 Intends to use the information in connection with the underwriting of insurance involving the consumer; or 

323

Item 18.



  

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT | UPDATED AUGUST 2021           2  

5.2.4 Intends to use the information in connection with a determination of the consumer’s eligibility for a license or 
other benefit granted by a governmental instrumentality required by law to consider an applicant’s financial 
responsibility or status; or 
5.2.5 Intends to use the information, as a potential investor or servicer, or current insurer, in connection with a 
valuation of, or an assessment of the credit or prepayment risks associated with, an existing credit obligation; or 
5.2.6 Otherwise has a legitimate business need for the information 

5.2.6.1 In connection with a business transaction that is initiated by the consumer; or 
5.2.6.2 To review an account to determine whether the consumer continues to meet the terms of the account. 

5.3 End User will be required to obtain different account codes for each scope of business for which it will procure 
Reports. 

6. CREDENTIALING. 
6.1 End User agrees to comply with CRA’s obligation to complete due diligence of required credentialing prior to being 

given access to order and view Reports.  CRA will work with End User to provide options as it relates to 
credentialing whenever possible. Additional credentialing measures will be required if the information cannot be 
verified or is otherwise outdated, the End User is a Sole Proprietor, the End User’s location has been open for 
less than one year, or the location in which Reports are accessed or maintained includes a residential location. 

7. IDENTITY CONFIRMATION. 
7.1 End User is responsible for verification of its Applicants’ identity. 

8. AUTHORIZATION. 
8.1 End User certifies that it will not request a Consumer Report for the certified permissible purpose, when required 

by law, unless: 
8.1.1 The consumer has authorized in writing the procurement of the Consumer Report; and 
8.1.2 Information from the Consumer Report will not be used in violation of any applicable federal or state law. 

8.2 End User certifies that it will not request a Consumer Report for employment permissible purpose, when required 
by law, unless: 
8.2.1 A clear and conspicuous disclosure is first made in writing to the consumer before the Consumer Report is 

obtained, in a document that consists solely of the disclosure that a Consumer Report may be obtained for 
said permissible purpose; 

8.2.2 The consumer has authorized in writing the procurement of the Consumer Report; and 
8.2.3 Information from the Consumer Report will not be used in violation of any applicable federal or state law, 

equal employment opportunity law or regulation.  
9. RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION. 

9.1 End User will maintain copies of all written authorizations for a minimum of five (5) years from the date of inquiry 
and make such written authorizations available to CRA upon request. End User understands the retention and 
destruction practices outlined by the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act of 2003 (FACTA) Disposal Rule. The 
Disposal Rule requires disposal practices that are reasonable and appropriate to prevent the unauthorized access to 
or use of information in a consumer report. Examples to include: burn, pulverize, or shred papers containing consumer 
report information so that the information cannot be read or reconstructed; destroy or erase electronic files or media 
containing consumer report information so that the information cannot be read or reconstructed; conduct due diligence 
and hire a document destruction contractor to dispose of material specifically identified as consumer report information 
consistent with the Rule. Due diligence could include reviewing an independent audit of a disposal company’s 
operations and/or its compliance with the Rule; obtaining information about the disposal company from several 
references; requiring that the disposal company be certified by a recognized trade association. 
9.2 CRA will maintain all information used for consumer reports for a term of no less than two (2) years, unless special 
circumstances apply.  

10. CONFIDENTIALITY OF REPORTS.  
10.1 All Reports shall be used in a strictly confidential manner and End User shall maintain the confidentiality of the 
Reports. Except as required by law, no information from the Reports will be revealed to any other person, except for 
those whose duty requires they review the information in relation to the permissible purpose for which the Report 
was provided to End User.  
10.2 The Reports shall be requested by and disclosed by End User only to End User’s designated and authorized 
employees having a need to know and only to the extent necessary to enable End User to use the Report in 
accordance with this Agreement. 

324

Item 18.



  

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT | UPDATED AUGUST 2021           3  

11. CONFIDENTIALITY.  
11.1 Nothing in this section will prohibit or limit the receiving Party’s use of information if (a) at the time of disclosure 
hereunder such information is generally available to the public; (b) after disclosure hereunder such information 
becomes generally available to the public, except through breach  of  this  Agreement  by  the  receiving  party;  (c)  
the  receiving  Party  can  demonstrate  such information was in its possession prior to the time of disclosure by the 
disclosing Party; (d) the information becomes available to the receiving Party from a third party which is not legally 
prohibited from disclosing such information; (e) the receiving Party can demonstrate the information was developed 
by or for it independently without the use of such information; or (f) disclosure is required under applicable law or 
regulation or pursuant to a court order or court proceeding. 
11.2 If a Party is requested or required (by oral question, interrogatories, requests for information or documents, 
subpoena, civil investigative demand, regulatory proceedings, stock exchange rules, or other applicable rules or 
regulations or similar process) to disclose any Confidential Information, such Party shall promptly notify the other 
Party of such request or requirement so that such Party may seek an appropriate protective order or waive 
compliance with this Agreement. 

12. RESTRICTED ACCESS AND SECURITY MEASURES. 
12.1 End User shall maintain reasonable and appropriate technical security measures. End User agrees to restrict 
access both in authorization of users and physical security to those with a need to know. Devices used to obtain 
Reports and Reports, if printed, will be kept in a secure manner. CRA requires that each user have their own 
username and password. Personally, Identifiable Information will only be transmitted in secure, encrypted methods. 
In the event an Authorized User is no longer responsible for accessing the information, or if End User suspects an 
unauthorized person has accessed the system, the End User is required to notify the CRA immediately. 

13. PROHIBITION ON RESALE OR REUSE OF REPORTS. 
13.1 End User shall not obtain or use the Reports for any other purpose other than the permissible purpose certified 
to in the agreement. End User shall not directly or indirectly, sell, transfer, lease, rent, or disclose the contents of or 
distribute Reports in whole or in part, alone or in conjunction with End User’s own data to any third party, other than 
to the consumer or in conjunction with a required disclosure or as permitted under this Agreement. End User shall 
use the Reports solely as an End User, for a single, one-time use. 

14.  AUDIT RIGHTS. 
14.1 Upon request from CRA, during the term of this Agreement and for a period of twelve (12) months thereafter, 
End User agrees to (a) certify to CRA; and/or (b) authorize CRA or an independent third party auditor selected by 
CRA to verify that End User’s (non-financial) systems, procedures, and use of the Reports comply with this 
Agreement and all applicable laws.  End User shall cooperate fully in connection with any such certification and/or 
audit, and will allow, or obtain, access to such systems, properties, records, and personnel as CRA or such 
independent third-party auditor may reasonably require for such certification and/or audit. 

15. WEBSITE ACCESS. 
15.1 If End User is permitted to request Reports for a permissible purpose via CRA’s website portal, then in addition 
to all other obligations hereunder, End User agrees (a) to abide by such additional conditions that may be imposed 
to utilize the website (whether notice of such conditions is provided in writing or given online), all of which conditions 
are incorporated herein by reference; (b) to obtain the consumer’s electronic consent to receive any legal or other 
notices electronically; (c) to provide all required notices electronically; (d) to maintain complete and accurate files 
containing all required consent with regard to each consumer for whom a Report has been requested; and (e) to 
maintain strict security procedures and controls to assure that its personnel are not able to use End User’s internet 
access to obtain Reports for improper, illegal or unauthorized purposes.   
15.2 Without limiting the foregoing, the following terms shall apply to End User’s permitted use of CRA’s website 
portal. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, CRA grants to End User a nontransferable, 
nonexclusive license to access CRA’s website solely for the purpose of (a) retrieving from CRA the Reports; or (b) 
performing analysis and related work in the regular course of End User’s business. CRA reserves the right, at any 
time and without prior notice, to limit End User’s access to CRA’s website for violations of this Agreement, in order 
to perform repairs, make modifications, or as a result of circumstances beyond CRA’s reasonable control.  End User 
acknowledges and agrees that CRA alone owns all right, title, and interest in and to its website and its internet-based 
systems, including all intellectual property rights embodied therein. CRA reserves its entire copyright, trademark, 
trade secret and other intellectual property rights in and to its website. No title to or ownership of any copyright, 
trademark, trade secret or other intellectual property right in or to such website is transferred to End User under this 
Agreement. 
 

325

Item 18.



  

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT | UPDATED AUGUST 2021           4  

16.  RECEIPT OF REQUIRED NOTICE. 
16.1 End User acknowledges receipt of A Summary of Your Rights Under the FCRA. End User is also provided the 
Notice to Users of Consumer Reports: Obligations of Users under the FCRA and Remedying the Effects of Identity 
Theft. 

17. SAMPLE NOTICES; LEGAL COUNSEL. 
17.1 CRA does not guarantee End User’s compliance with applicable laws in its use of the Reports and does not 
provide legal counsel or advice upon which End User may rely in connection with its furnishing of Reports.  End User 
acknowledges that any Reports, documents or information provided, or conversations or communications with any 
representative of CRA regarding searches, verifications or other services offered by CRA, or use of such information 
by End User are not to be considered legal counsel or a legal opinion.   
17.2 End User agrees that (a) it will consult with its own legal or other counsel regarding the use of the Reports, 
including but not limited to, the legality of using or relying on the reported information; (b) that it will review any forms 
as well as the content of prescribed notices, adverse action letters and any attachments to this Agreement for 
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations; and (c) that the provision of any such notices, disclosures, 
adverse action letters and the contents thereof is the sole responsibility of End User and not CRA unless otherwise 
specifically stated in this Agreement.   

18. PRE-ADVERSE ACTION. 
18.1 Required for any Report for Employment Purposes. Before taking adverse action in whole or in part based on 
the Report, End User shall provide the consumer with a copy of the Report and shall provide the consumer with a 
copy of the consumer’s rights, in the format approved by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”), 
supplied by CRA as noted in section Receipt of Required Notices, with each Report. End User is required to wait a 
reasonable amount of time before taking adverse action. Reasonable amount of time to be determined by End User. 
CRA agrees to provide sample letter at the bottom of each completed Report and copy of consumer rights. 

19.  ADVERSE ACTION. 
19.1 End User is strictly prohibited from taking adverse action on an incomplete Report. For purposes of this 
Agreement, the term “adverse action” shall have the same meaning as that term is defined in the FCRA. End User 
further certifies that End User will provide to the consumer to whom the report relates, within a reasonable amount 
of time of taking such action, an oral, written or electronic notification: 

19.1.1 That adverse action has been taken based, in whole or in part, on a Report received from CRA; 
19.1.2 Of the name, address and telephone number of the CRA (including a toll-free telephone number 

800.608.3645); 
19.1.3 That CRA did not make the decision to take the adverse action and is unable to provide to the consumer 

the specific reasons why the adverse action was taken; and 
19.1.4 That the consumer may, upon providing proper identification, request a free copy of a report and may 

dispute with the CRA the accuracy or completeness of any information in a report. 
19.2 If the consumer requests a copy of a Report from End User, within three (3) business days of receiving the 
consumer’s request, together with proper identification, the End User must send or provide to the consumer a copy 
of a report and a copy of the consumer’s rights. 

20.   LIABILITY. 
20.1 THE PARTIES EXPRESSLY UNDERSTAND AND AGREE THAT IN NO EVENT WILL TOTAL LIABILITY TO 
THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY DAMAGES, LOSSES, EXPENSES, AND CLAIMS AND/OR CLAIM EXPENSES 
INCLUDING ATTORNEYS’ FEES EXCEED $1,000,000 PER OCCURRENCE AND IN AGGREGATE FOR THE 
ANNUALIZED TERM OF THE AGREEMENT. IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE FOR ANY 
INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR SPECIAL DAMAGES. NOTWITHSTANDING THE 
FOREGOING, ANY LIMITATION OF LIABILITY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT SHALL NOT PRECLUDE THE 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS FROM CLAIMING UNDER ANY INSURANCE PLACED, REQUIRED OR PROVIDED 
PURSUANT TO THE AGREEMENT, UP TO THE FULL AMOUNT PAYABLE UNDER SUCH INSURANCE. 

21.   INDEMNIFICATION. 
21.1 To the extent permitted by law, the Parties, to include their officers, directors, employees, agents, vendors, 
and suppliers (collectively “Indemnifying Party”), shall indemnify, defend and hold the other Party (“Indemnified 
Party”) harmless from and against any third party claims, demands, suits, judgements, costs, expenses, damages, 
and liabilities, including, without limitation, negligence, reasonable attorneys’ fees (collectively, Claims), to the 
extent caused by the Indemnifying Party’s failure to comply with the FCRA or other applicable laws. With respect to 
CRA’s liability for any Claim alleging inaccurate or incomplete information, the End User shall, prior to taking 

326

Item 18.



  

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT | UPDATED AUGUST 2021           5  

adverse action based on the Consumer Report, provide CRA with a reasonable opportunity to investigate the 
disputed information in accordance with CRA’s FCRA imposed investigation obligations and deadlines. 

22.  FEES AND PAYMENT. 
22.1 End User agrees to pay nonrefundable fees and other charges or costs, not limited to, the amounts identified 
in the Pricing Schedule in Section H. Hereto, if applicable, CRA’s website or as otherwise communicated by CRA to 
End User from time to time for CRA’s Services (collectively, the “Fees”).  The Pricing Schedule in Section H is 
incorporated into and is part of this Agreement.  Such Fees do not include any taxes, customs, duties or other 
amounts assessed or imposed by any governmental authority, which shall be paid by End User at the rate and in 
the manner prescribed by law.  Any charges or costs, including but not limited to surcharges and other fees levied 
by federal, state, county, other governmental agencies are also separate from the Fees and must be paid by End 
User. Third-party charges or costs are also separate from the Fees and must be paid by End User, including charges 
or costs charged by educational institutions, employer verification lines and licensing agencies that are incurred by 
CRA in servicing End User and which will be passed on to End User for payment. Upon request CRA will provide 
END USER with an accounting of any such charges, costs, surcharges and other fees for review.  
22.2 End User agrees to pay all invoices within thirty (30) days after the date of the invoice. At CRA’s option, 
payments not received within thirty (30) days after the date of the invoice may cause End User’s account to be placed 
on temporary interruption, with no additional requests being processed until the balance due is paid in full or 
arrangements have been made with CRA. Where permissible by any law, any invoices unpaid thirty (30) days or 
more after the date of the invoice may assess an interest charge of 1.5% per month, or the highest rate permitted by 
applicable law, whichever is less, determined and compounded daily from the due date until the date paid. Any 
invoices unpaid thirty (30) days or more after the date of the invoice may assess a $30.00 late fee each month past 
due that is also compounded monthly from the due date until the date paid. CRA may require users to enroll in 
automatic payments if invoices are not regularly paid within the thirty (30) days. A $40.00 fee will be assessed for all 
returned checks. If End User’s account goes to collection, END USER agrees to pay all collection expenses, including 
attorneys’ fees and court costs.  Additionally, END USER understands that failure to pay may result in the suspension 
or termination of End User’s account. 
22.3 End User agrees that providing ACH or credit card information and submitting it electronically to CRA represents 
a legal authorization to charge/debit the account or card for the orders placed or for non-payment per above terms.   
22.4 End User agrees that the rates and fees for the services provided hereunder are subject to change without 
notice, although CRA will make every reasonable effort to give notice of such change at least thirty (30) days before 
it becomes effective.   

23.  ASSIGNMENT. 
23.1 This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective 
successors and permitted assigns. End User may not assign or transfer this Agreement or its rights or obligations 
hereunder without the prior written consent of CRA. Further, CRA shall have the right to assign or otherwise transfer 
this Agreement in connection with a merger, acquisition, corporate reorganization, public stock offering, or sale of all 
or substantially all its assets. 

24.  GOVERNING LAW. 
24.1 This Agreement will be interpreted, construed and enforced according to the laws of the State of Nebraska 
without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Nebraska or any other 
jurisdiction).  Any legal suit, action or proceeding arising out of or based upon this Agreement or the transactions 
contemplated hereby shall be instituted in the federal courts of the United States of America or the courts of the State 
of Nebraska, and each Party irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts in any such suit, action 
or proceeding.  Any written notice by either Party shall be delivered personally by e-mail, messenger, private mail 
courier service, or sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid to the addresses 
listed below and shall be deemed to have been given when received. 

25.  TERM. 
25.1 This Agreement does not obligate End User to utilize services of CRA. This agreement shall be automatically 
renewed at the end of one (1) year from the date of signing for successive terms unless either Party gives written 
notice of its intention not to renew thirty (30) days before expiration of the current term. The pricing of any renewed 
service will be our then-current rates unless CRA agrees to a different rate at that time. Any other changes to the 
agreement after the initial term may be made with a 30-day written notice 

26.  TERMINATION.  
26.1 The term of this Agreement commences on the Effective Date and continues until terminated in accordance 
herewith.   

327

Item 18.



  

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT | UPDATED AUGUST 2021           6  

26.2 End User may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience by giving written notice to the CRA of such 
termination and specifying the effective date of the termination, at least thirty (30) calendar days before the effective date of 
termination.  In that event, all finished or unfinished services, reports and materials prepared or furnished by the CRA shall, at the 
option of the End User, become the End User’s property.  If the Agreement is terminated by the End User as provided herein, the 
CRA shall be paid for all services which have been authorized, approved and provided up to the effective date of termination.  The 
End User will not be subject to any termination fees from the CRA. 
26.3 CRA may cancel this Agreement for any reason by giving at least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to End 
User.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, CRA may, at its option, terminate this Agreement, suspend the Services or 
provision of Reports to End User, or revise the provisions of this Agreement immediately and without notice upon 
the occurrence of any of the following events:  

26.3.1 End User’s account remains inactive for a period of twelve (12) months; 
26.3.2 Any payments not received within thirty (30) days after the date of the invoice; 
26.3.3 The filing of any petition of bankruptcy or the commencement of any proceeding relating to the relief or 
readjustment of indebtedness of End User, the foreclosure on any of End Users assets or facilities by any financial 
institution, or if CRA in good faith believes that the financial condition of End User or the prospect of payment by 
End User of any of its indebtedness becomes impaired; 
26.3.4 End User undergoes a direct or indirect change in ownership, is a party to a merger or reorganization 
transaction, or sells all or substantially all of its assets to a third party; 
26.3.5 End User misuses information contained in a Report or related to the Services; 
26.3.6 End User makes an improper request for information; 
26.3.7 End User fails to comply with or assist CRA in complying with the FCRA or any other applicable law; 
26.3.8 End User breaches any of the terms of this Agreement; 
26.3.9 End User violates any law or regulation governing the request, use or release of the information in the 
Reports or the Services; or 
26.3.10 End User engages in the unauthorized release of information in any of the Reports to a third party or resells, 
sub-licenses, delivers, displays or otherwise distributes to any third party any of the Reports, except as required by 
law. 

26.4 Termination of this Agreement does not release End User from its obligation to pay for all services rendered, or 
other responsibilities and agreements made prior to the effective date of termination.  
26.5 In addition to termination of this Agreement, a breach of this Agreement and/or violations of applicable law by 
End User may result in legal action and/or referral to federal or state regulatory agencies. 
26.6 Notwithstanding the termination of this Agreement, the Parties’ respective rights and obligations under Sections 
29 of this Agreement, together with any other provisions of this Agreement which expressly or by their nature survive 
beyond the termination of this Agreement, shall survive such termination. 

 
27.  GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

27.1 This Agreement may only be amended, modified or supplemented by an agreement in writing signed by 
authorized representatives of each Party hereto.  This Agreement shall be construed as if it were jointly prepared.  
The headings of each section shall have no effect upon the construction or interpretation of any part of this 
Agreement. 
27.2 No waiver by any Party of any of the provisions hereof shall be effective unless explicitly set forth in writing and 
signed by the Party so waiving. No waiver by any Party shall operate or be construed as a waiver in respect of any 
failure, breach or default not expressly identified by such written waiver, whether of a similar or different character, 
and whether occurring before or after that waiver. No failure to exercise, or delay in exercising, any right, remedy, 
power or privilege arising from this Agreement shall operate or be construed as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single 
or partial exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof 
or the exercise of any other right, remedy, power or privilege.    
27.3 If any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall be held invalid, 
illegal or unenforceable under any applicable law, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any 
other provision of this Agreement that can be given effect without the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision, or 
the application of such provision in any other jurisdiction or to other persons or circumstances, and, to this end, the 
provisions hereof are severable. 

 

328

Item 18.



  

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT | UPDATED AUGUST 2021           7  

28.  FORCE MAJEURE. 
28.1 The obligations of the Parties to perform under this Agreement (other than payment obligations) shall be 
excused during a reasonable period of delay caused by matters beyond the affected Party’s reasonable control, 
including, without limitation, changes in law, closure or unavailability of universities, courthouses or other sources, 
power or internet service failure, third party system or service integration failure, war, fire, flood, or other natural 
disaster. 

29.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 
29.1 This Agreement (including the Pricing Schedule at Section H) constitutes the sole and entire agreement of the 
Parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter contained herein  and supersedes all prior and 
contemporaneous understandings and agreements, whether oral or written, with respect to such subject matter.  

30.  COUNTERPARTS. 
30.1 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each which shall be deemed an original, but 
all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. A facsimile or electronic transmission of the 
signed agreement shall be legal and binding on all Parties. 

31.  CONSENT AND AUTHORITY. 
31.1 By signing below End User certifies that they have direct understanding and knowledge of the terms of this 
Agreement and any attachments. Each Party represents that this Agreement has been executed on its behalf by a 
representative authorized to bind such Party with respect to the undertakings and obligations contained in this 
Agreement. 

ONE SOURCE THE BACKGROUND CHECK COMPANY 
Address: PO Box 24148, Omaha, NE, 68124 
Authorized Representative:  Nick Jasa 
Title:  President 

Sign & Date:  Nick Jasa 

END USER: 
Company: City of Cedar Falls 
Address:  
Authorized Representative:  
Title:  
Sign & Date:  

 
SECTION B: ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS WHEN APPLICABLE 
1.   CERTIFICATIONS. 

1.1 California Certification. If End User is a retailer who uses a Consumer Report in connection with in-person credit 
applications, subject to the California Consumer Credit Reporting Agencies Act and all amendments thereto, then 
End User shall instruct its employees responsible for receiving in-person credit applications from California 
consumers, including point of sale applications, to inspect the consumer’s photo identification prior to requesting a 
Consumer Report. End User shall identify to CRA, on the affected inquiry when it requests a Consumer Report for 
an in-person credit application. Furthermore, End User agrees to provide California Notice of Rights in English and 
Spanish. 
1.2 International Certification. End User agrees to make a visual inspection of the consumer’s identification 
document and confirm the document visually matches the consumer’s information prior to requesting an international 
search. End User agrees to inform the consumer that their personal data may be used to enable CRA, or their agents 
to complete an international search and that the consumer’s personal information may be transferred to other 
countries, including countries that have inadequate privacy laws according to the European Commission, data 
protection commissions or government authorities. The End User agrees to notify the consumer of the purpose in 
collecting the data, the different categories of background screening to be completed, that a third party may be used 
to compile information about them, the categories of persons to whom the data may be disclosed, the consequences 
of not authorizing the background screening, and the right to access a copy of their report and have inaccurate 
information corrected. 

220 Clay Street
Robert Green

Mayor

9/7/2021

9/7/2021

329

Item 18.



  

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT | UPDATED AUGUST 2021           8  

1.3 Vermont Certification. End User agrees to comply with Vermont law when requesting a Consumer Report on a 
Vermont resident. End User expressly agrees to obtain the consumer’s consent before requesting a Consumer Report 
to the extent and in the manner required by Vermont law. 

2.   END USER’S BUSINESS. 
2.1 End User certifies that the nature of End User’s business is as described by End User in End User’s application 
materials. End User is required to further disclose if they are specifically a private detective, private detective agency, 
private investigative company, bail bondsman, attorney, law firm, credit counseling firm, financial counseling firm, 
credit repair clinic or any type of company involved in credit repair activity, pawn shop (except companies that do only 
Title pawn), check cashing company (except companies that do only loans, no check cashing), genealogical or heir 
research firm, dating service, massage service, tattoo service, business that operates out of an unrestricted location 
within a residence, an individual seeking information for their private use, an adult entertainment service of any kind, 
company that locates missing children, company that handles third party repossession, underwriting insurance, 
company seeking information in connection with time shares, subscriptions (magazines, book clubs, record clubs and 
the like), company or individual involved in spiritual counseling, judgment recovery entities (other than bona fide third 
party collection agencies), insurance claims, asset location service, foreign company or agency of a foreign 
government, law enforcement agency, news agency or journalist, or business involving weapons. 

3.  ON-SITE INSPECTIONS. 
3.1 End User agrees to complete an on-site inspection in the event CRA is unable to credential as part of the account 
activation process. A site inspection may be required when accessing credit or employment reports. On-site 
inspections are a compliance requirement of a regulated CRA. They add protection and security of the consumer’s 
personal data, are industry best practice and add to the security of all CRA clients.  If an on-site inspection is needed, 
CRA shall perform an on-site inspection of each End User’s business premises where reports are accessed and 
perform other such due diligence to credential End User. Please note that the on-site inspection must be scheduled 
an estimated 3-5 business days in advance of anticipated account activation. On- site inspections may be performed 
by a third-party vendor and are subject to additional fees. Inspectors may take photos as part of the documentation 
process, not to include confidential business processes or practices.  In the event the End User’s principal place of 
business changes, an additional on-site inspection of the new location must be performed within sixty (60) days of 
CRA becoming aware of such change. In the cases of re-inspection, End User may incur additional fees for re-
inspection. Cancelled inspections may incur cancellation fees. 

4.  SCORES. 
4.1 End User will request Credit Scores only for End User’s exclusive use. End User may store scores solely for End 
User’s own use in furtherance of End User’s original purpose for obtaining the scores. End User shall not use the 
scores for model development or model calibration and shall not reverse engineer the score. All scores provided 
hereunder will be held in strict confidence and may never be sold, licensed, copied, reused, disclosed, reproduced, 
revealed or made accessible, in whole or in part, to any Person, except (i) to those employees of End User with a 
need to know and in the course of their employment; (ii) to those third party processing agents and other contractors 
of End User who have executed an agreement that limits the use of the scores by the third party only to the use 
permitted to End User and contains the prohibitions set forth herein regarding model development, model calibration, 
reverse engineering and confidentiality; (iii) when accompanied by the corresponding reason codes, to the consumer 
who is the subject of the score; (iv) to government regulatory agencies; or (v) as required by law. Note: scores are 
not allowed for the permissible purpose of employment. 

  

330

Item 18.



  

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT | UPDATED AUGUST 2021           9  

END USER 
SECTION C: COMPANY INFORMATION 

Legal Company Name: City of Cedar Falls Federal Tax ID: 

Doing Business As: 

Physical Address:  City, State, Zip: 

Billing Address:  City, State, Zip: 
 

Phone: 319-268-5531 Fax: 

Industry: 

Nature of Business: 

Website: 

Type of Business: 

� Public Corporation � Private Corporation � Partnership � LLC 

� Sole Proprietor � Nonprofit � Not for profit  

� Please check here if the business operates out of a residential location. 

� Please check here if the business has been open for less than a year. 

Sales Tax Exempt. Before the exemption can be applied to your account, exemption certificate or appropriate state forms 
must be included. 

� Please check here if the business is tax exempt.  
 

SECTION D: CREDENTIALING 

Per the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) and Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) every CRA End User 
must be credentialed in order to receive access to Reports. 

Company Name MUST MATCH the company name entered in Section C: Company Information of this agreement. 
Additional credentialing measures will be needed if the information cannot be verified, is outdated, if End User is a Sole 
Proprietor, opened less than one (1) year and/or a residential location. Company location/address where reports are 
received must be able to be verified and credentialed.  

 
Provide a copy of ONE of the following credentialing documents: 

 
` Business License 
` Articles of Incorporation 
` Federal Tax Document, including EIN document 
` 501(c) 3 Document 

 
Choose from one of the following methods to send a copy of credentialing documentation: 

 
Document Upload:  

Fax: 800.929.8117 

Attention: Jeff Jones 

Email: jjones@onesourcebackground.com 

  

42-6004332
Above

220 Clay Street Cedar Falls, IA  50613
Above Above

319-268-5126
Local Government

Municipality
http://www.ci.cedar-falls.ia.us/

✔

✔

331

Item 18.



  

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT | UPDATED AUGUST 2021           10  

SECTION E: PERMISSIBLE PURPOSE 
End User purchases consumer reports from CRA The Background Check Company (Consumer Reporting Agency) for 
the following purpose(s) under the Fair Credit Reporting Act and guarantees that said reports will not be utilized in a 
manner inconsistent with these specified purposes. Only select applicable scope of business. Each scope will require 
an additional account to be created. Please check all that apply: 
 

� Employment Purposes 
� Government License Eligibility 
� Legitimate Business Need  

     Explain purpose: ___________________ 
     Example: Tenant Screening 

� Underwriting of Insurance  
� Valuation of Credit or Prepayment Risks  
� Written Instructions of the Consumer 

     Explain purpose: ___________________ 
     Example: Site Access 

 
 
SECTION F: ACCOUNT CONFIGURATION 
In order to properly set up your account, we will need you to provide the following information. All accounts are setup with 
the industry standard of 7 years minimum unless specified otherwise.  

 
YEARS REPORTABLE. Select from the list the scope of years reportable: 

� Industry Standard - 7 Years 
� 7 Years Only 
� 10 Years Only*  
� 10 Years Minimum* 

*Also known as Extended Year Search. These types of account configurations are subject to additional fees. Any year 
past the industry standard is $1.00 per year per search. Please see Pricing Schedule for fees associated to this reporting. 

 
NON-CONVICTION CHARGES. CRA does not include non-conviction charges unless requested. Non-conviction 
charges, when legally reportable, may be included on your report. Non-conviction charges may not be used as the sole 
basis for taking adverse action, if applicable. Not available in all jurisdictions. Availability contingent upon whether state 
or federal compliance will allow for this type of account design. Check the box below if you want your account to include 
the following: 

� Non-conviction Charges 
 
  

✔

✔

332

Item 18.



  

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT | UPDATED AUGUST 2021           11  

ONLINE ORDERING. CRA provides access to secure online ordering for background check reports. End User may 
select from the following options: 

� End User Client Entry (DEFAULT): End User obtains Authorization, selects services and enters data to complete 
orders individually. 

CRA offers two options for Applicants to provide their information electronically. If the End User selects one of 
the below options, the Account Administrator will be contacted to customize the preferred option.  

� Applicant Entry Link: CRA creates a custom URL for the End User to provide directly to their Applicants. This 
customized feature allows Applicants to enter their own personal identifying information and electronically review 
the disclosure (if applicable) and sign authorization form, while sending completed results back to the End User. 
This feature is not password protected and all packages and services are static. 

 

� Gated Applicant Entry Link: The End User enters the Applicant’s name and email address and selects the services 
to be ordered. A password-protected, dedicated URL is then sent to the Applicant. This allows the applicant to 
enter their own personal identifying information and electronically review the disclosure (if applicable) and sign 
authorization form, while still sending completed results back to the End User. This feature allows you to modify 
the packages and services ran from Applicant to Applicant.  

**Applicant Entry Link and Gated Applicant Entry Link are subject to an additional fee for the Disclosure (if 
applicable) and Authorization electronic signature service.  Prior to utilizing electronic signature service, Disclosure 
(if applicable) and Authorization form must be reviewed and approved by account administrator(s).  

 

SECTION G: BILLING INFORMATION 
Invoice notifications will be delivered via email to the person listed as the billing contact on the first business day of the 
month if your account was utilized in the prior month. If the billing contact is not an authorized user, a username & 
password will be issued to allow access to strictly view invoices. Default method of payment is automatic recurring billing 
which is deducted on the 6th, unless client defers to send check via mail or pay with credit card via online bill pay portal.   

� End User to pay via Automatic Recurring Billing (Payments processed on the 6th). 

 ACH (preferred) 

 Credit Card 

� Check via mail. 

� Credit card via online bill pay portal.  
 
Billing Contact: Phone: Email: 

 

� Please check here to provide Billing Contact with access to orders and viewing reports. 
  

Brenda Balvanz 319-268-5112 Brenda.Balvanz@cedarfalls.com

✔

✔

✔

333

Item 18.



  

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT | UPDATED AUGUST 2021           12  

SECTION H: CONTACTS  
ACCOUNT ACCESS. Indicate below who your account administrator should be. The account administrator will have the 
ability to make changes to the account, including but not limited to, adding/removing users, updating account configuration 
and services.  List all users below that should have access to your account and indicate their level of access. Each contact 
will be provided with a Username & Password via email. Cell numbers may be used to send SMS text messages for 
account access and services. The Account Administrator can modify user accessibility at any time. Standard data rates 
for messaging may apply. 

Account Admin: Ability to update users, packages and services 
Ordering: Request background checks for  applicants 
View Reports: View completed background checks  
View Invoices: Access to monthly invoices 

 
SELECT ALL THAT APPLY 

�  Ordering View 

�  Reports 

�  View Invoices 
 

SELECT ALL THAT APPLY 

�  Account Admin 

�  Ordering View 

�  Reports 
�  View Invoices 

 
SELECT ALL THAT APPLY 

�  Account Admin 

�  Ordering View 

�  Reports 

�  View Invoices 
 

SELECT ALL THAT APPLY 

�  Account Admin 

�  Ordering View 

�  Reports 
�  View Invoices

 
SYSTEM NOTIFICATIONS. System notifications include questions or alerts regarding a specific order that is sent via 
email. The system notification defaults to send the email to the user that entered the order. If Applicant Entry Link is used, 
the system notification email goes to the Account Administrator. If you would like additional account users to be copied 
on correspondence or customization of correspondence, you can request this below. All requests are subject to review 
and approval by CRA. Account changes may only be requested by Account Administrator. 

Default Account Admin:  

Email:  

Work:                                                                                  Cell: 

 
 

Contact:  

Email:  

Work:                                                                                  Cell: 

 
 

Contact:  

Email:  

Work:                                                                                  Cell: 

 
 

Contact:  

Email:  

Work:                                                                                  Cell: 

Brenda Balvanz
Brenda.Balvanz@cedarfalls.com
319-268-5112 319-239-8953

Jennifer Rodenbeck
Jennifer.Rodenbeck@cedarfalls.com
319-268-5108

Colleen Sole
Colleen.Sole@cedarfalls.com
319-243-2712

Heidi Andersen
Heidi.Andersen@cedarfalls.com
319-268-5135

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

334

Item 18.



 

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT | UPDATED AUGUST 2021             13 

SECTION I: PRICING SCHEDULE 

PACKAGE & A LA CARTE SEARCHES 

PROJECTED VOLUME/YEAR: 200 

Service List Price/Applicant End User Price/Applicant 
TotalCheck-3NLC 62.00 29.00 

County Criminal – Statewide If Available – Included 10.00 10.00 
Motor Vehicle Record 10.00 3.00 
eScreen-DOT-FMCSA 50.00 45.00 

eScreen-DOT-FMCSA-Physical 115.00 95.00 
eScreen-Physical 115.00 95.00 

   
   
   
   

 
ACCOUNT CONFIGURATION 

 
Setup List Price End User Price 

Account Setup (One-time Fee) 199.00 99.00 
 eSignature $2.00 1.00 
 Extended Year Fee $1.00 per year/search $1.00/year 

 
TERMS 

 
Pricing may be subject to additional third-party fees that CRA can accrue. Fees can include but are not limited to court 
fees, state fees, third party verification fees, processing fees, DMV fees, drug testing fees, etc. These fees are subject 
to change at the discretion of the third-party source. Rush and shipping fees may apply. 
 
For complete list of details, please see section Confidentiality & Fees and Payment. 

 
 
 
 
 

335

Item 18.



  

ACCOUNT SERVICE AGREEMENT | UPDATED AUGUST 2021           14  

 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

 
24/7 Online Access Submit orders, retrieve completed reports, report monitoring Included 
Account Configuration Custom account design Included 
Account Configuration Changes Default searches, optional searches, etc. Included 
Accredited PBSA Accredited for Employment Screening Included 
Compliance Tools Pre-Adverse/Adverse Action, Meets Requirements availability Included 
Compliance Notices Notice to Users Under the FCRA Included 
Compliance Notices State specific notices, Remedying the Effects of Identity Theft Included 
Dedicated Support Team Toll-free phone, email, live chat Included 
Dispute Resolution Support team Included 
Document Upload Form storage for each applicant Included 
Industry Updates Laws, compliance-related information, FCRA updates, etc. Included 
Newsletter Includes informative blogs and industry updates Included 
Online Resources Blogs, document library, glossary Included 
Security CRA Platform SOC 2 Type 2 Certified Included 
Training & Education 1:1 training, group training, webinars Included 
Unlimited Account Users Ability to modify access at any time, update users, etc. Included 

 
 
One Source The Background Check Company thanks you for your business. We look forward to partnering with your 
company and serving you with your background screening needs. Should you have any questions regarding this Service 
Agreement, please contact your One Source Business Development representative or Client Relations.  

336

Item 18.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
     M E M O R A N D U M

Human Resources Division

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Brenda Balvanz, Human Resources Specialist 

 DATE: August 26, 2021 

 SUBJECT: FY22 COOP Agreement with the Iowa Civil Rights Commission 

 

Attached for your approval is a COOP Agreement between the Cedar Falls Human 
Rights Commission and the Iowa Civil Rights Commission (ICRC) for FY22.  The 
Agreement allows the City to be compensated for locally processed human rights 
complaints and assists the State agency in reducing case backlog.   
 
If you have questions regarding the attached, feel free to contact me at 268-5112. 
 
Attachment 

337

Item 19.



338

Item 19.



339

Item 19.



340

Item 19.



341

Item 19.



342

Item 19.



343

Item 19.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: August 26, 2021 

 SUBJECT:  NEI3A User Agreement 
 
 

Please find attached a User Agreement with the Northeast Iowa Area Agency on Aging 

for the Community Center.  This is merely an update to the existing agreement.  There 

are no significant changes in the agreement. 

 

Please feel free to contact me or Kelly Stern, Library Director, if you have any 

questions.  

344

Item 20.



1 
 

FACILITIES USE AGREEMENT 

By entering into this agreement, Northeast Iowa Area Agency on Aging, Inc. (NEI3A), an, Iowa not for 

profit corporation, does contract with the City of Cedar Falls (Landlord) to use facilities owned and 

maintained by Landlord, at the location locally known as _528 Main Street Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 on 

the following terms and conditions: 

Facility Use: Use of Community Center for congregate meal and home delivered meal program and for 

use of activities.  

1. TERM  The term of this Agreement is from _________________ through __________________.  

Either party may terminate this agreement upon ___60____ days’ notice.   

2. RENT  Rent shall be paid by NEI3A in the amount of ___in‐kind______ per month  

 

3. ADDITIONAL COSTS PAID BY NEI3A.  As incurred and billed by Landlord, NEI3A shall also pay the 

actual month cost for indicated premises cost: 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

OR 

 

  X_  all costs associated with facilities use are included in the amount of the rent 

   

 

4. LANDLORD CONTACT PERSON  Until otherwise notified in writing, Landlord's authorized 

contact person(s) for this Agreement shall be: 

 

Name      Kelly Stern, Director____________________________________ 

Address     524 Main Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613____________________ 

Telephone Number(s)  319‐268‐5541_______________________________________ 

E‐mail      director@cedarfallslibrary.org__________________________   

 

5. NEI3A CONTACT PERSON    Until otherwise notified in writing, NEI3A's authorized contact 

person(s) for this Agreement shall be: 

Name      Bob Schaffer 

Address     3840 W. 9th Street, Waterloo, IA  50702 

Telephone Number(s)  319‐874‐6846 

E‐mail      bschaffer@nei3a.org 

 

 

   

 

345

Item 20.



2 
 

6. FACILITIES SPACE INCLUDED  The facilities being rented are: 

 

  ___X  all facilities at the above address or 

  ___  the room(s) or portions of the facility described as follows: 

    ________________________________________________ 

    ________________________________________________ 

    ________________________________________________ 

    ________________________________________________ 

 

7. ADDITIONAL AMENITIES INCLUDED  The facilities rental shall also include: 

 

  _X_  adjacent parking sufficient or parking patron parking 

  _X_  snow removal for adjacent sidewalks 

  _X_  on‐site general storage sufficient to store meal supplies: coffee, napkins food 

boxes, bingo prizes 

___  office supplies and Senior Center Activities Supplies. 

  _X_  on‐site exclusive storage sufficient to store decorations, records storage 

  _X_  on‐site locked storage sufficient to store Office supplies, computer, printer 

  __  on‐site exclusive locked storage sufficient to store __________________ 

  __  dedicated land‐line telephone 

  _X_  shared land‐line telephone 

  _X_  long distance telephone use 

  __  wireless internet service 

  _X_  wired internet service 

  _X_  janitorial service 

  __  clean‐up after events 

  _X_  garbage removal service   

  _X_  building directory listing 

  __  signage 

  _X_  bulletin board(s) 

  __  space for signage to be located on ________________________________ 

_X_  furniture and equipment as follows Office desk and chair, community center 

tables and chairs 

  __  premises security  

346

Item 20.



3 
 

  _x_  heat 

  _x_  electricity 

  _x_  water and sewer 

  __  other as follows: _______________________________________________ 

 

8. KEYS  Keys shall be provided by Landlord in the following number:  

  __  for outside entrance door  #___ 

  __  for the portion of the building to be used for NEI3A's events and activities #___ 

  __  for locked storage areas # ___ 

All keys shall be returned to Landlord at the termination of the Agreement.   

 

9. DAYS AND HOURS OF USE  The days and hours of facility use shall be limited to: 

 

_x__ A.  

 

Mondays     9:30__ o'clock  A M.  to ___12:30__ o'clock  PM 

Tuesdays     9:30__ o'clock  A M.  to ___12:30__ o'clock  PM 

Wednesdays     9:30__ o'clock  A M.  to ___12:30__ o'clock  PM 

Thursdays     9:30__ o'clock  A M.  to ___12:30__ o'clock  PM 

Fridays       9:30__ o'clock  A M.  to ___12:30__ o'clock  PM 

and as mutually agreed in writing in advance.   The hours of use include the time for any related 

set‐up and clean‐up.  Except for items stored in included storage facilities as set out above, all 

items brought into the facility by NEI3A must be removed at the end of the stated time. 

OR 

 

___  B.  From 8:00 a.m. the first day of this Agreement to midnight on the last day of this 

Agreement with hours of use as may be determined by NEI3A. 

 

10. SUBLEASE   NEI3A shall have the right and the ability to sub‐lease all or a portion of the premises 

and shall provide Landlord with notice of the sub‐lease and copies of all written sub‐lease 

documents. 

 

11. COMPLIANCE WITH CODES AND RESTRICTIONS     NEI3A agrees to ensure that the fire code will 

not be exceeded in any space at any time, health codes will be followed, and further agrees to 

abide by maintaining the facilities as being smoke free. 

 

12. LANDLORD'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREMISES  Landlord shall keep the premises in good repair, 
including the roof, exterior walls, foundation, sewer, plumbing, heating, wiring, air conditioning, 

347

Item 20.



4 
 

plate glass, windows and window glass, parking area, driveways, sidewalks, exterior decorating, 
interior decorating, stairs, elevators, and common areas.    
 

13. NEI3A LIABILITY FOR LOSS OR DAMAGE AND INSURANCE  NEI3A assumes liability for loss 

or damage to Landlord's property that results from use of facilities and agrees to hold Landlord 

harmless for loss or damage to the persons or property of its employees and guests while on the 

premises except those caused by Landlord's negligence or failure to maintain the structural 

premises.  NEI3A agrees to obtain and maintain commercial general liability insurance in the 

amounts of $1,000,000 each occurrence and $2,000,000 annual aggregate per location.  This 

policy shall be endorsed to include the Landlord as an additional insured with regard to the 

facilities rented, which policy shall include a governmental immunities endorsement with 

language approved by the Landlord. 

 

14. INSURANCE OF PERSONAL PROPERTY  Landlord and NEI3A agree to insure their respective real 
and personal property for the full insurable value.  The insurance shall cover losses included in the 
special form causes of loss (formerly all risks coverage).  To the extent permitted by their policies, 
the Landlord and Tenant waive all rights of recovery against each other. 
 

15. INDEMNIFICATION :  NEI3A will protect, defend, and indemnify Landlord from and against any and 
all  loss,  costs,  damage  and  expenses  occasioned  by,  or  arising  out  of,  any  accident  or  other 
occurrence causing or inflicting injury or damage to any person or property, happening or done in, 
upon or about the premises, due directly to the operations/events/activities and actions of NEI3A.  
Landlord will  protect,  defend,  and  indemnify NEI3A  from  and  against  any  and  all  loss,  costs, 
damage and expenses occasioned by, or arising out of, any accident or other occurrence causing 
or inflicting injury or damage to any person or property, happening or done in, upon or about the 
premises, caused by the negligence or other fault of the Landlord. 
 

16  THER TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  

A. NEI3A will notify the library director if meal service is cancelled due to weather, etc.   

b. No food should be left out at the end of the NEI3A employee’s shift. 

c. The refrigerator used by NEI3A for senior meals should be cleaned as needed. 

d. The coffee pot and popcorn machine should be turned off before the NEI3A  

employee leaves.   

 

 
17. GOVERNING LAW  This Agreement shall be governed by the law of the State of Iowa. 

 
18. HEADINGS  Paragraph headings are for convenience only and shall not be construed as part 

of the contract terms. 
 

19. ENTIRE AGREEMENT  This constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and 
supersedes any prior written or oral agreement. 

348

Item 20.



5 
 

 
20.  CERTIFICATION.  NEI3A certifies that it is not acting, directly or indirectly, for or on behalf of any 

person, group, entity or nation named by any Executive Order or the United States Treasury 

Department as a terrorist, “Specially Designated National and Blocked Person” or any other 

banned or blocked person, entity, nation or transaction pursuant to any law, order, rule or 

regulation that is enforced or administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control; and it is not 

engaged in this transaction, directly or indirectly on behalf of, or instigating or facilitating this 

transaction, directly or indirectly on behalf of, any such person, group, entity or nation.  NEI3A 

hereby agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Landlord from and against any and all 

claims, damages, losses, risks, liabilities and expenses arising from or related to any breach of this 

certification. 

 

Landlord          Northeast Iowa Area Agency on Aging, Inc.  

by______________________________    by ________________________________  

Dated ________        Dated _8/25/21__      

349

Item 20.



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

Information Systems Division 
 

 TO: Mayor Rob Green and City Council Members  

 FROM: Julie Sorensen, Information Systems Manager 

  Brian Heath, Operations and Maintenance Division Manager 

 DATE: August 30, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Upgrade New Cameras at Transfer Station and Public Works Facility 

 
 

Our current security cameras at the Public Works and Transfer station are at an average 15 years old and 
they currently are running on an older server.  Upgrading the cameras will allow us to move the operation 
into a newer server that most City cameras are operated on, which will keep the cameras more reliable 
and give us ease of operations. In addition to the upgrade, there has also been need to expand coverage 
of the cameras at the transfer station in order to protect our City’s assets. 
 
This equipment was scheduled for purchase in FY21 at a projected amount of $50,000 utilizing funds 
from refuse, vehicle maintenance, and street construction.   Expanding the coverage resulted in an 
additional $4,079 which can be funded with the Information Systems camera maintenance fund. 
 
In accordance with the Security Camera Policy Brian Heath coordinated with the IT department to 
facilitate the bidding for replacement cameras and additional coverage.  The RFPs was written so that 
any bids would have to run with our existing infrastructure and server.  We received one proposal from 
Inteconnex, our current security system provider.  
 
It is the recommendation of the IT and Public Works department to approve the expenditure of funds for 
the purchase of both replacement and additional cameras for a total cost of $54,079.09.   
 
If you have any questions or concerns regarding this purchase, please feel free to contact Julie Sorensen 
at 268-5111 or Brian Heath at 319-268-5575. 
 

350

Item 21.



 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

     VISITORS & TOURISM/  

PLANNING & COMMUNITY SERVICES INSPECTION SERVICES RECREATION & COMMUNITY PROGRAMS CULTURAL PROGRAMS 

220 CLAY STREET 220 CLAY STREET  110 E. 13TH
 STREET  6510 HUDSON ROAD 

PH: 319-273-8606 PH: 319-268-5161 PH: 319-273-8636 PH: 319-268-4266 

FAX: 319-268-5126 FAX: 319-268-5197 FAX: 319-273-8656 FAX: 319-277-9707 

 

 
 TO: Mayor Robert Green & City Council  
  
FROM:   J.J. Lillibridge – Recreation & Community Programs Manager  
 
 DATE:  August 16, 2021 
 
 RE:  Contract with Red Cross to be a Shelter for Emergency Disaster 

  
Please find attached a contract, which the American Red Cross would like the City to 

review, approve, initial multiple areas and sign. This would allow the Recreation and 

Fitness Center to be a shelter facility in case of a disaster emergency in our area. 

Red Cross records show that the previous agreement with Recreation and Fitness Center 

had expired and needs to be renewed. The City adopted the 2020 Black Hawk County 

Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan, which has the goal of providing shelter 

throughout the County. Executing the attached agreement would support this plan as well. 

The attached contract was reviewed by legal services representing the City and meets with 

their approval.   This agreement was reviewed for proper insurance limits by staff and 

meets with their approval as well. 

The Recreation and Fitness Center membership would be inconvenienced should we 

become a temporary disaster site for a number of days or weeks, as a few of our amenities 

might not be available for their daily use. However, our plan would be to offer as much of 

our services as possible under regular service hours.  Staff recommends approval of the 

shelter agreement. 

 

Thank you for considering this request from the American Red Cross. 

 

351

Item 22.



Facility Use Agreement  
 

LOG Facility Use Agreement JT V.3.0 2021.03.31  1 

 

The American National Red Cross (“Red Cross”), a non-profit corporation chartered by the United States 

Congress, provides services to individuals, families and communities when disasters strike. The disaster 

relief activities of the Red Cross are made possible by the American public who support the Red Cross 

with generous donations. The Red Cross’s disaster services are also supported by facility owners who 

permit the Red Cross to use their buildings as shelters and other service delivery sites for disaster victims. 

This agreement is between the Red Cross and a facility owner (“Owner”) so the Red Cross can use the 

facility to provide services during a disaster. This agreement only applies when Red Cross requests use of 

the facility and is managing the activity at the facility. 

Parties and Facility 

Owner: 

Full Name of Owner  

Address  

24-Hour Point of Contact 

      Name and Title 
      Work Phone 
      Cell Phone 

 

 

Address for Official 
Notices (only if different 
from above address) 

 

Red Cross: 

Chapter  Name  

Chapter Address  

24-Hour Point of Contact 

      Name and Title 
      Work Phone 
      Cell Phone 

 

Address for Official 
Notices 

American Red Cross, Disaster Cycle Services Logistics, 8550 Arlington Blvd., 
Fairfax, VA 22031 

Facility:   

Insert name and complete street address of building or, if multiple buildings, write “See attached facility list,” and 
attach facility list, including complete street address of each building that is part of this agreement. If the Red 
Cross will use only a portion of a building, then describe the portion of the building that the Red Cross will use. 

 
 
 
 

 

  

City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613
J.J. Lillibridge Recreation Division Manager  O:319-268-5528  C: 563-419-3512
Brook Goos Recreation Program Supervisor  O: 319
-273-8636  C: 319-269-7879
Chris Schoentag Recreation Program Supervisor O:  319-273-8636  C: 319-230-8431
Kari Voss Administr
ative Supervisor:  O: 319.268.5523   C:  319-239-1565

Recreation & Fitness Center
110 East 13th Street Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Northeast Iowa Chapter, Iowa Region
2400 Asbury Road, Dubuque, Iowa 52001
Jolene M. Carpenter
Disaster Program Manager
563-564-4566
563-543-9119

Cedar Falls Recreation Center
110 East 13th Street
Cedar Falls, Iowa

352

Item 22.



Facility Use Agreement  
 

LOG Facility Use Agreement JT V.3.0 2021.03.31  2 

Terms and Conditions 

1. Use of Facility:  Upon request and if feasible, Owner will permit the Red Cross to use and occupy the Facility on 

a temporary basis to conduct emergency, disaster-related activities. The Facility may be used for the following 

purposes (both parties must initial all that apply): 

Facility Purpose  Owner Initials  Red Cross Initials 

Service Center (Operations, Client Services, or Volunteer Intake) 
  

Storage of supplies 
  

Parking of vehicles 
  

Disaster Shelter  
  

 

2. Facility Management:  The Red Cross will designate a Red Cross official to manage the activities at the Facility 
(“Red Cross Manager”). The Owner will designate a Facility Coordinator to coordinate with the Red Cross 
Manager regarding the use of the Facility by the Red Cross.  
 

3. Condition of Facility:   The Facility Coordinator and Red Cross Manager (or designee) will jointly conduct a 
survey of the Facility before it is turned over to the Red Cross. They will use the first page of the Red Cross’s 
Facility/Shelter Opening/Closing Form to record any existing damage or conditions. The Facility Coordinator 
will identify and secure all equipment in the Facility that the Red Cross should not use. The Red Cross will 
exercise reasonable care while using the Facility and will not modify the Facility without the Owner’s express 
written approval. 
 

4. Food Services  (This paragraph applies only when the Facility is used as a shelter or service center.): Upon 
request by the Red Cross, and if such resources are available, the Owner will make the food service resources of 
the Facility, including food, supplies, equipment and food service workers, available to feed the shelter 
occupants. The Facility Coordinator will designate a Food Service Manager to coordinate meals at the direction 
of and in cooperation with the Red Cross Manager. The Food Service Manager will establish a feeding schedule 
and supervise meal planning and preparation. The Food Service Manager and Red Cross Manager will jointly 
conduct a pre-occupancy inventory of the food and food service supplies before the Facility is turned over to the 
Red Cross. When the Red Cross vacates the Facility, the Red Cross Manager and Facility Coordinator or Food 
Service Manager will conduct a post-occupancy inventory of the food and supplies used during the Red Cross’s 
activities at the Facility. 
 

5. Custodial Services (This paragraph applies only when the Facility is used as a shelter or service center.): Upon 
request of the Red Cross and if such resources are available, the Owner will make its custodial resources, 
including supplies and workers, available to provide cleaning and sanitation services at the Facility. The Facility 
Coordinator will designate a Facility Custodian to coordinate the these services at the direction of and in 
cooperation with the Red Cross Manager.  
 

6. Security/Safety:  In coordination with the Facility Coordinator, the Red Cross Manager, as he or she deems 
necessary and appropriate, will coordinate with law enforcement regarding any security and safety issues at the 
Facility.  
 

7. Signage and Publicity:  The Red Cross may post signs identifying the Facility as a site of Red Cross operations 
in locations approved by the Facility Coordinator. The Red Cross will remove such signs when the Red Cross 
concludes its activities at the Facility. The Owner will not issue press releases or other publicity concerning the 
Red Cross’s activities at the Facility without the written consent of the Red Cross Manager. The Owner will refer 
all media questions about the Red Cross activities to the Red Cross Manager. 

8. Closing the Facility:  The Red Cross will notify the Owner or Facility Coordinator of the date when the Red Cross 
will vacate the Facility. Before the Red Cross vacates the Facility, the Red Cross Manager and Facility 
Coordinator will jointly conduct a post-occupancy inspection, using the second page of the Shelter/Facility 
Opening/Closing Form, to record any damage or conditions.  

JL 

353

Item 22.



Facility Use Agreement  
 

LOG Facility Use Agreement JT V.3.0 2021.03.31  3 

9. Fee (This paragraph does not apply when the Facility is used as a shelter. The Red Cross does not pay fees to 
use facilities as shelters.): Both parties must initial one of the two statements below: 

 
 a. Owner will not charge a fee for the use of the Facility.   
  Owner initials:  ____  Red Cross initials:  ____ 
 

b. The Red Cross will pay $_____ per day/week/month (circle one) for the right to use and occupy the 
Facility.  Owner initials:  _____  Red Cross initials:  _____ 

 

10. Reimbursement:  Subject to the conditions in paragraph 10(e) below, the Red Cross will reimburse the Owner for 
the following: 

 
a. Damage to the Facility or other property of Owner, reasonable wear and tear excepted, resulting 

from the operations of the Red Cross. Reimbursement for facility damage will be based on 
replacement at actual cash value. The Red Cross, in consultation with the Owner, will select from 
bids from at least three reputable contractors. The Red Cross is not responsible for storm damage or 
other damage caused by the disaster. 

 
b. Reasonable costs associated with custodial and food service personnel and supplies which would 

not have been incurred but for the Red Cross’s use of the Facility. The Red Cross will reimburse at 
per-hour, straight-time rate for wages actually incurred but will not reimburse for (i) overtime or (ii) 
costs of salaried staff. 

 
c. Reasonable, actual, out-of-pocket costs for the utilities indicated below, to the extent that such costs 

would not have been incurred but for the Red Cross’s use of the Facility. (Both parties must initial all 
utilities that may be reimbursed by the Red Cross): 

   

 Owner Initials Red Cross Initials 

Water   

Gas   

Electricity   

Waste Disposal   

 

d. The Owner will submit any request for reimbursement to the Red Cross within 60 days after the 

occupancy of the Red Cross ends. Any request for reimbursement must be accompanied by 

supporting invoices. Any request for reimbursement for personnel costs must be accompanied by a 

list of the personnel with the dates and hours worked. 

e. If the disaster is a Federally-declared disaster and Owner is a municipal or state government entity, 

then the Owner will work with appropriate emergency management agencies to seek cost 

reimbursement through the Federal Emergency Management Agency’s program for administering 

Public Assistance Category B under the Robert T. Stafford Act. The Red Cross is not obligated to 

reimburse the Owner for costs covered by Public Assistance Category B. 

 

11. Insurance:  The Red Cross shall carry insurance coverage in the amounts of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence 

for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability. The Red Cross shall also carry Workers’ 

Compensation coverage with statutory limits for the jurisdiction within which the facility is located and $1,000,000 

in Employers’ Liability. 

 

12. Indemnification:  The Red Cross shall defend, hold harmless, and indemnify Owner against any legal liability, 

including reasonable attorney fees, in respect to claims for bodily injury, death, and property damage arising from 

the negligence of the Red Cross during the use of the Facility. 

 

13. Term: The term of this agreement begins on the date of the last signature below and ends 30 days after written 

notice by either party. 

 

JL

JL

JL
JL
JL
JL

354

Item 22.



Facility Use Agreement  
 

LOG Facility Use Agreement JT V.3.0 2021.03.31  4 

Digital Signature: Each party agrees that either party’s execution of this agreement by DIGITAL signature (whether 

ELECTRONIC or encrypted) is expressly intended to authenticate this AGREEMENT and to have the same force 

and effect as manual signatures.  The term DIGITAL signature means any electronic sound, symbol, or process 

attached to or logically associated with a record and executed and adopted by a party with the intent to sign such 

record, including facsimile or email electronic signatures. The use of digital signatures is intended to facilitate more 

efficient execution and delivery of signed documents.  

 

       The American National Red Cross 

____________________________________  __________________________________ 

Owner (Legal Name)      (Legal Name) 

 

____________________________________  __________________________________ 

By (Signature)       By (Signature) 

 

____________________________________  __________________________________ 

Name (Printed)       Name (Printed) 

 

____________________________________  __________________________________ 

Title        Title 

 

____________________________________  __________________________________ 

Date        Date 

City of Cedar Falls

Jolene M Carpenter

Disaster Program Manager

August 12, 2021

355

Item 22.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), City Planner I 

  Luke Andreasen, PE, Principal Engineer 

 DATE: August 27, 2021 

 SUBJECT: MU Site Plan for Bluebell Health Plaza OBGYN addition (SP21 – 011) 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Request to approve the MU Site Plan for Bluebell Health Plaza 
Case #SP21-011 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Mathew Humpal - Owner, CGA Consultants - Engineer  
 

LOCATION: 
 

226 Bluebell Road  

PROPOSAL 
The petitioner is proposing to build an addition of 5,400 Square feet attached to the southwest 
part of the existing building. This section will be a single-story structure, just like the rest of the 
existing building on site for Bluebell Health Plaza and will provide OBGYN services. In addition, 
the applicant will also be expanding the parking lot to accommodate the parking stall 
requirements for the proposed addition, along with some landscaping improvements. The 
applicant has submitted the site plan to provide additional detailed information about the project. 
 
BACKGROUND 
This property is part of Lot 35 in Pinnacle 
Prairie Business Center North, which was 
platted in 2005. The Mercy One Clinic was 
then built in 2006 through a site plan 
approval process, which included a master 
plan indicating how the site might be 
further developed in the future. (See image 
right). The subject property is also part of 
the Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan, which 
was last updated in 2015 (See below for 
reference).  
 
 
 
 

356

Item 23.



 
MercyOne is no longer planning to 
develop the entire property for clinical 
uses, but will likely come back at a 
later date to subdivide the southern 
portion so they can sell to a different 
user. Since 2006, there have been 
changes that would preclude 
development of the property as 
indicated in the 2006 Plan, including 
development of the City of Cedar 
Falls Public Safety Building.   
 
In 2015 the Pinnacle Prairie Master 
Plan was updated as shown to the 
right (also attached). The building 
design of this proposed addition 
should align with design guidelines in 
the Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan. City staff notes that the applicant has consulted with the 
Pinnacle Prairie Design Committee to ensure that their building design would be consistent with 
the design guidelines. Site plan revisions including changes, modifications made to 
development plans, land-use changes, parking lot arrangements, and other building design 
elements are termed as revisions must be reviewed and approved by Planning and Zoning 
Commission and City Council according to the requirements of the MU, Mixed Use Residence 
District.  
 
ANALYSIS 
The property in question is located within the MU, Mixed-Use Residential zoning district. 
Development/Site plan revisions in an MU zoning district require a detailed site plan review to 
ensure that the development site satisfies the standards of the comprehensive plan, recognizes 
principles of civic design, land use planning, landscape architecture, and building architectural 
design that is set out for the district. Attention to details such as parking, open green space, 
landscaping, signage, building design, and other similar factors help to ensure orderly 
development. The proposed project involves construction of an addition to the existing clinic and 
increasing the parking area incorporating landscaping updates; therefore this report will cover 
only those elements that are relevant to this proposal. Following is the detailed review about the 
project: 
 
Use:  
The subject property is zoned MU, Mixed Use Residential District, and is part of the Pinnacle 
Prairie Master Plan. On the master plan this area is designated as appropriate for a mix of uses.   
(See attached Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan Exhibit for reference). The City’s Future Land Use 
Map closely follows the Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan. Currently the site includes a medical clinic 
which is an allowed use as per zoning standards and the proposed project will be expanding the 
existing facility in size. No new use is being proposed. The proposed addition will be an 
addition to the existing medical clinic, which is allowed use and is consistent with the 
approved Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan. 
 
 
 

357

Item 23.



Building and Parking Location:  
In the MU Zoning District, a minimum setback area consisting of open landscaped green space 
measuring 30 feet in width shall be established around the perimeter of the development site. 
No structures or parking areas are permitted within this setback area. The proposed building 
addition exceeds minimum setback of 30 feet, as the addition will be added on the southern side 
of the building, which is not abutting Bluebell Road. All the proposed parking areas are located 
outside the required perimeter setback, except the western lot line of property, which abuts the 
Public Safety building. The parking lot for the clinic was established prior to the division for the 
Public Safety Building, so is grandfathered with this smaller setback of 5 feet. The expansion of 
the parking continues to follow this same grandfathered setback. Staff does not find there will be 
any issues with the parking area expanding in this manner, as there will be no impacts to the 
abutting public property. Setbacks satisfied based on existing site conditions. 
 
Parking:  
The parking requirement for a medical clinic in Cedar Falls is 5 stalls for every 1000 square feet 
of gross floor area. The existing building is 28,250 square feet and the proposed addition is 
about 5,400 square feet with a total building footprint of 33,650 square feet. Therefore, the 
parking requirement for this building, including the new addition, is 168 stalls including 6 
handicap stalls. With the proposed expansion of the parking lot area, the site will have a total of 
188 stalls including 12 handicap stalls. All handicap stalls are proposed close to the southern 
building wall, thereby providing easy access to the building. 
 

The parking area is situated behind the building and is accessed from Bluebell Road. The 
proposed expansion of parking area will be south of the existing parking lot and will also include 
development of landscaping islands throughout the lot to comply by parking lot standards. The 
petitioner states that there are enough parking stalls to accommodate employees and clinic 
patrons. City staff notes that the medical facility at 226 Bluebell Road has more than the 
required parking spaces to accommodate the use of the property. Parking requirements 
satisfied. 
 
Open Green Space/Landscaping:  
The MU District requires that open green space be provided at the rate of 10% of the total 
development site area excluding the required district setbacks. The development site is 14.65 
acres or 638,154 square feet. The total developed area excluding the landscape setbacks is 
573,133 square feet, therefore the minimum open space required for the site is 57,313 square 
feet. The proposed open space is 434,249 square feet, which is more than the required open 
space. The open green space requirement is met.  
 
In addition to the green space requirement, the MU district has a landscaping requirement of 
0.02 landscaping points per square foot of total development site area. For a 573,133 square 
feet lot, 11,462 landscaping points are needed. The proposed landscaping plan is proposing to 
add 8,960 landscaping points, in addition to the existing 3,810 planting points on site. This will 
sum up to 12,770 planting points, which is more than the required points for the site. The 
proposed landscaped areas will be distributed throughout the development site.  
 
The MU District also requires 0.75 landscaping points for street trees per linear foot of public 
street frontage. This development is required to provide 984 (1,320 feet x 0.75) landscaping 
points worth of street trees. In response, the existing site comprises of 1,280 points which are 
more than required points for street trees.  
 

358

Item 23.



In addition to these requirements, parking lot screening and landscaping requirements will also 
be applicable. Minimum 1 overstory tree for every 15 parking stalls or every 2,500 sq. of parking 
space should be provided. For total of 187 parking stalls, 13 overstory trees are required. In 
response, developer has proposed to add 22 overstory trees in addition to the existing 6 trees 
on site. For screening the parking areas from public view, shrubs are provided in the periphery 
of parking areas. Landscaping and screening requirements are satisfied.  
 
Proposed landscaping with this project includes: 

 Parking areas will be screened from public view with additional shrubs and trees around 
the perimeter. 

 The interior of the parking lot will be enhanced with additional landscaped islands planted 
with shrubs and trees, which will help shade the parking area and reduce heat island 
effects on the site. 
 

Building Height:  
The maximum building height allowed in this district is 35 feet or three stories, whichever is less. 
The proposed building addition will be one story in height and will match the height of the 
existing building. The proposed building addition will expand the existing building in the south-
west direction. Building height satisfied. 
 
Building Design Review:  
The MU District requires a design review of various elements to ensure architectural 
compatibility to surrounding structures within the MU District. In this case, since, there is no new 
building proposed, we would review the proposal in comparison to existing building design 
features and surrounding buildings.  
 
All the neighboring properties including the subject property are part of MU, Mixed-Use 
Residential Zoning District and also part of Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan. Building design should 
respond both to MU District zoning standards and Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan design 
guidelines. Applicant mentions that the proposed building addition design has been approved by 
the Pinnacle Prairie Design Committee. 
 
The proposed building elevation uses similar exterior façade materials and similar roofing 
materials as the existing building. The slope of the roof is consistent with the overall building 
envelope. Proposed façade materials include a majority of brick façade, with two horizontal 
bands of brick soldier course up to the lintel level to break the horizontal pattern and the area 
above lintel band comprises of another type of brick, one that is similar to the existing building. 
Proposed roofing materials will be asphalt shingles that will match the existing roofing material 
on the building. Overall, the building design of the proposed addition will be similar to the 
existing building on-site and also will be consistent with MU District Design Review guidelines. 
Below are the proposed elevations of the addition in correspondence to the existing building 
design. Criterion met. 
 

359

Item 23.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signage:  
At this time, there is no new signage proposed. No new signage is proposed. 
 
Access locations / Sidewalks /Trails: 
The site includes two driveway locations. Both the driveways access Bluebell Drive. The 
Pinnacle Prairie Master plan shows similar access to the site. No new access point or driveway 
is proposed with this project.  
 
Currently, the site does not have any sidewalks along Bluebell Road, so there is no pedestrian 
connectivity between this facility and surrounding properties. This appears to be an oversight 
when the original clinic was built. To remedy this situation, the applicant has agreed to add a 5-
foot sidewalk bordering the north and east lot line of the site along Bluebell Road from their 
northern driveway to the east driveway to bring the site into compliance for the developed 
portion of the site. This sidewalk will connect with the sidewalk on the site of the Public Safety 
Building, which extends to the sidewalk along Main Street. This addition will allow the 
pedestrians to easily access the medical facility on foot or by bicycle and will improve general 
pedestrian circulation in the area. Pedestrian walkways are extended to provide access to and 
around the various buildings on the site and to all entrances.  
 
City staff notes that the applicant acknowledges that the sidewalk will need to be extended 
further to the southern boundary of the property along Bluebell Road with future development of 
the site. The applicant may subdivide the southern part of property to allow other development 
to occur. The remainder of the sidewalk will be required to be constructed with this future 
subdivision. To demonstrate the same, the applicant has submitted a master plan exhibit for the 
site to indicate how this might be accomplished and their commitment to installing the sidewalk. 
See below plan for reference.  
 

360

Item 23.



Also, as part of the 
Pinnacle Prairie Master 
Plan, there is a 10-foot 
wide trail to be placed 
bordering the southern lot 
line of site that will bridge 
the gap between the 
existing trail on S. Main 
Street on the west and 
one along the Bluebell 
Road. As the southern 
part of the subject, 
property is not yet 
developed, applicant 
notes that the trail will be 
placed as per the master 
plan with future 
development of the site. 
This piece of information 
is also noted on the 
prepared master plan 
exhibit. See plan to the 
right for reference.  
 
 
 
Infrastructure Improvements: 
 
Stormwater: The additional stormwater runoff generated by the proposed additional parking 
area will be directed to a private storm sewer at the southeast corner of the parking area and 
conveyed to new detention pond in the southeast area of the site. This detention pond will drain 
into the existing public storm sewer that runs along Bluebell Road. The additional stormwater 
generated from the proposed building addition will be directed to a bio-cell that slowly drains into 
the existing private storm sewer. 
 
Sanitary Sewer: There will be no improvements or connections to the public sanitary sewer 
system. 
 
Street Improvements: There will be no improvements or connections to public streets. 
 
Other Site Elements: 
Details of the site improvements are enclosed in the packet. The site is already equipped with a 
trash enclosure, located in the north-western area of the site. No new dumpster enclosure is 
proposed at this time.  
 
The site lighting will include relocating decorative light bollards or pathway lights from the 
southern building wall towards the handicap parking stalls for providing better visibility. And the 
site also features about five light pole fixtures that are existing, The plan is to add another fixture 
to current poles and face it southward for coverage of the proposed addition to the parking area. 
No additional details on the specification are provided by the applicant, but the intent is to 

361

Item 23.



continue the use with most of the existing fixtures. These are downcast lights that do not project 
outward into the neighboring properties. Site lighting details are provided on the attached Utility 
Plan for additional reference.  
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) personnel, has reviewed the proposed 
site plan. All utilities including water, electric, gas and communications are available to the site 
in accordance with CFU service policies. City Staff notes that the developer is responsible to 
ensure that the proposed detention pond is sized properly to accommodate not only runoff from 
the new parking pavement, but from all undeveloped areas on-site and off-site that will drain to 
it. Maintenance of this detention pond will be the responsibility of the property owner. 
 
A courtesy notice to adjoining property owners was mailed on August 18, 2021. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of the submitted MU District Site Plan 
for Bluebell Health Clinic addition at their regular meeting on 25th August 2021 with a vote of 5 
ayes, 0 nays and 1 abstain. The Community Development Department also recommends 
approval of the proposed site plan for Bluebell Health Clinic OBGYN addition with the following 
stipulation: 
 

1) Any comments or direction specified by the Planning and Zoning Commission.   
2) Conform to all city staff recommendations and technical requirements. 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
& Vote 
8/25/2020 

Chair Leeper abstained from discussion of the case. Vice-Chair Larson  
introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background information. He  
explained that the applicant would like to add 5,400 square feet of space in   
the existing building of Bluebell Health Clinic to provide OBGYN services and the  
project scope also includes expanding parking area and making landscaping  
improvements on-site as per zoning code requirement. Mr. Atodaria mentioned  
that the proposal meets the setback requirement, landscaping requirements and  
building design criteria for the MU Zoning District and stated that the proposed  
addition will have similar exterior materials as the existing building. He also added  
that with this proposal applicant is including a master plan for the site highlighting  
future property split and public improvements including sidewalk and trail  
connection that will be added with the development of the southern area of the  
property to comply with zoning standards and Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan  
guidelines. Staff recommends approval of the submitted MU district site plan for  
the Bluebell Health Clinic with stipulations to any comments or directions from the  
Planning and  Zoning Commission and conformance with all city staff  
recommendations and technical requirements.  

Randy Hashman, 2607 
Mr. Larson stated that this looks pretty straightforward. Mr. Holst added that the 
project meets all the criteria and fits in well. Mr. Holst made a motion to approve 
the item. Ms. Prideaux seconded the motion. The motion was approved 
unanimously with 5 ayes (Holst, Larson, Lynch, Prideaux, and Sears), 0 nays and 
1 abstain. 
 

362

Item 23.



 

  

 

363

Item 23.



Mercy
One Clinic Pinnacle Prairie

Tra
il

Greenhill Trail
Coneflower Pkwy Trail

Ma
in

St
Tra

il â

â

Estate Dr

Co
ron

ado
 Ct

Wild Rye Way

Alvarado Ave

Sa
ge

Rd

Ore
llan

a A
ve

Cordoba Ave

S M
ain

 St
Bluebell Rd

Balboa Ave

Iris Dr

W Greenhill Rd

E Greenhill Rd

A-1

RP

A-1
R-1

R-3

R-1 R-2

MU

Cedar Falls Planning & Zoning Commission
August 25, 2021

MU Site Plan Review for 
Bluebell Health Plaza at
226 Bluebell Road

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

C ente rS t

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^
Location

Map

364

Item 23.



365

Item 23.



366

Item 23.



367

Item 23.



368

Item 23.



369

Item 23.



370

Item 23.



371

Item 23.



372

Item 23.



373

Item 23.



374

Item 23.



375

Item 23.



GENERAL ELEVATION NOTES: 

1. SEE ARCHITECTURAL FLOOR PLANS FOR WALL TYPES, 
WINDOW NUMBERS, DOOR NUMBERS, AND DIMENSIONS.

2. PLACEMENT OF WALL MOUNTED ITEMS (FIRE STROBE, 
DOOR OPERATOR BUTTON, WALL HYDRANTS, ETC) ARE 
DIMENSIONED TO CENTERLINE OF ITEM.

3. HATCHED AREA IS FOR REFERENCE ONLY.

4. ANY RETURNS OR BLIND ELEVATIONS NOT SHOWN SHALL 
BE SIMILAR IN MATERIAL AND MAKEUP TO ADJACENT 
CONDITIONS OR OTHER SIMILAR CONDITIONS.

W8

PREFINISHED METAL 
DOWNSPOUT/GUTTER, TYP.

BRICK 2

BRICK 1 SOLDIER COURSE

BRICK 1

ASPHALT SHINGLES

PREFIN. METAL FASCIA

CJ

W3

W1W4

NEW ROOF EXG ROOF

NEW ADDITIONEXG BLDGELEC. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE CONDUIT FOR POTENTIAL BUILDING SIGNAGE LOCATION
ELEC. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE CONDUIT FOR POTENTIAL MONUMENT SIGNAGE LOCATION

BRICK 2 AT ACCENT SQUARE

CJ

NEW ROOFEXG ROOF

W7 W6 W6 W6 W6 W5W9

NEW ADDITIONEXG BLDG

PLANNING ARCHITECTURE INTERIORS

OWNER SIGN-OFF:

REVISIONS:

DATE NAME

501 Sycamore Street 

Suite 101

Waterloo, IA 50703

319.233.8419

319.233.9772 Fax

www.invisionarch.com

CONSULTANT:

Copyright  C  2021

SHEET NAME:

PROJECT NO:

DATE:

SHEET SET:

SHEET:

TH
IS
 S
H
E
E
T 
C
O
N
TA
IN
S
 C
O
LO
R
 C
O
N
TE
N
T 
-
TH
IS
 S
H
E
E
T 
M
U
S
T 
B
E
 P
R
IN
TE
D
 I
N
 C
O
LO
R
 T
O
 V
IE
W
 C
O
N
TE
N
T 
P
R
O
P
E
R
LY

8
/1

9
/2

0
2

1
 7

:4
9

:2
9

 A
M

B
IM

 3
6

0
:/

/2
1

0
5

3
_
M

e
rc

y
O

n
e

_
B

lu
e

b
e

ll_
H

e
a

lt
h

_
P

la
za

/N
E
W

_
2

1
0

5
3

_
M

e
rc

y
O

n
e

_
B

lu
e

b
e

ll_
H

e
a

lt
h

_
P

la
za

_
R

2
1

.r
v

t

BISHOP CONSULTING

ENGINEERS, P.C.

YOUNG PLUMBING

HEATING & COOLING

COMMUNITY

ELECTRIC

CGA CONSULTANTS

STRUCTURAL

MECHANICAL AND PLUMBING

ELECTRICAL

SITE

A2.01

JULY 30, 2021

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

21053

B
LU

E
B

E
LL

 H
E
A

LT
H

 P
LA

Z
A

 O
B

G
Y

N

A
D

D
IT

IO
N

2
2

6
 B

LU
E
B

E
LL

 R
D

C
E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S
, 
IA

 5
0
6
1

3

M
E
R

C
Y

O
N

E

CONSTRUCTION

DOCUMENTS

S
H

E
E
T 

R
E
S
P

O
N

S
IB

IL
IT

Y
:H

J
H

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

NORTH ELEVATION
1/8" = 1'-0"

2
EAST ELEVATION

1/8" = 1'-0"
3

SOUTH ELEVATION

1/8" = 1'-0"
4

WEST ELEVATION

Description Date No.

NEW ADDITION PIECE

376

Item 23.



377

Item 23.



378

Item 23.



379

Item 23.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), City Planner I 

  Ben Claypool, PhD, El, Civil Engineer II 

 DATE: August 27, 2021 

SUBJECT:      Lot 17 Green Acres Minor Subdivision Plat 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Request to approve the Lot 17 Green Acres Minor Subdivision Plat  
(Case # MP21-003) 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

James and Pamela Smith, Owners 

LOCATION:   
 

2520 - 2522 Hiawatha Road 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The property owner of the duplex addressed as 2520-2522 
Hiawatha Road proposes to divide the property into two 
residential lots, which will convert the existing two-family 
unit into two single-unit bi-attached dwellings.  A minor plat 
is required to split the original single lot into two lots. The 
parcel is in the R2 Zoning District.  
     
   
 

380

Item 24.



BACKGROUND 
The parcel was created in the Green Acres Addition to Cedar Falls, Iowa in 1977.  See above 
final plat that was approved for reference.  The subject property is Lot 17 of the Green Acres 
Addition subdivision.  Since the creation of the plat, there have been few changes in lot 
configurations in the subdivision.  
 
ANALYSIS 
2520-2522 Hiawatha Road property is located in the R-2 Residence Zoning District.  One-unit 
bi-attached dwellings require a minimum area of 4,000 square feet and a minimum lot width of 
35 feet.  The existing lot is 80 x 180 feet or 14,400 square feet in area.  The petitioner proposes 
a minor plat to create two lots: Parcel G (2522 Hiawatha Rd) will have a lot width of 36.51 feet 
and a depth of approximately 180 feet with an area of 6,043 square feet. Parcel H (2522 
Hiawatha Rd) will have a lot width of 43.33 feet and a depth of approximately 180 feet with an 
area of 8,354 square feet.  
 
The drawing to the right graphically 
depicts the lot split and building 
locations. The building setbacks in the 
R-2 district require a 25-foot front yard 
and a 30-feet rear yard area. The side 
yard areas are 20% of the width of the 
lot. But the final plat notes that the front 
yard setback on the subject property is 
40 feet, which will be followed in this 
particular case.  The proposed plat 
shows a 40-feet front yard setback, 30-
feet rear yard setback and also shows 
20% of the lot width as the side yard 
setback for both parcels “G” and “H”.  
The existing building will comply with the  
R-2 standards. See attached Minor Plat  
exhibit for more details. 
 
The existing building at 2520-2522 Hiawatha Rd meets the setbacks within the R-2 Zoning 
District and the minor plat process to create two parcels will also comply with R-2 Zoning District 
guidelines. This building area is similar in size to other dwellings in the neighborhood. The area 
of both lots will be smaller than other house sizes in the neighborhood.  Both lots meet all 
zoning ordinance requirements. 
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) personnel, has reviewed the proposed 
minor plat. Water, electric, gas, and communications utility services are available to each side of 
the duplex. The duplex units are not currently served with natural gas although it is available per 
the service policies of CFU. City staff notes that the applicant will be submitting required signed 
and stamped drawings and legal paperwork as per the Minor Plat application checklist to staff, 
before City Council review.   
 
The property is located outside the floodplain overlay district. 
 
A courtesy mailing was sent to the neighboring property owners on August 04, 2021 

381

Item 24.



 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of the submitted minor plat Lot 17 
Green Acres at their regular meeting on 11th August 2021 with a vote of 6 ayes and 0 nays. The 
Community and Development staff also recommends approval of the Minor Plat case #MP21-
003 to create two lots at 250-2522 Hiawatha Road with the following stipulations:  
  

1. Any comments or directions specified by the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
2. Conformance with all city staff recommendations and technical requirements. 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion 
& Vote 
8/11/2021 

Chair Leeper introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background 
information. He explained that the applicant would like to divide the parcel into 
two lots. He explained that there is currently a two-unit dwelling on the lot and 
they would like to divide the parcel for two single-unit bi-attached dwellings. Staff 
recommends approval of the minor plat with adherence to any comments or 
directions from the Planning and Zoning Commission and conformance with all 
city staff recommendations and technical requirements. 

Randy Hashman, 2607 Hiawatha Road, asked for clarification on what will be on 
the property. Mr. Atodaria explained that the two units will be attached by one 
common wall. Mr. Hashman asked if they will be selling the property as condos, 
as he noticed the width is not very wide on each side. Ms. Howard stated that 
each unit will be on its own lot so that each lot could be sold separately. 

Mr. Holst stated that he feels that the project is straightforward and made a 
motion to approve the item. Ms. Saul seconded the motion. The motion was 
approved unanimously with 6 ayes (Holst, Larson, Leeper, Lynch, Saul, and 
Schrad), and 0 nays. 
 

 

382

Item 24.



Pin
e S

t
Bertchwood St

Lantz Ave

Western Ave

HiawathaRd

A-1

R-2A-1

R-1

Cedar Falls Planning & Zoning Commission
August 11, 2021

Lot 17 Green Acres Minor 
Subdivision Plat
2520-2522 Hiawatha Road

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

C ente rS t

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

383

Item 24.



384

Item 24.



385

Item 24.



386

Item 24.



387

Item 24.



388

Item 24.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: August 27, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Seal Coat 2021 Project 
  Project No. SC-000-3272 
  Contract Documents 
 
Attached for your approval are the Form of Contract; the Performance, Payment, and 
Maintenance Bonds; Certificates of Insurance; and Form of Proposal with Blacktop 
Service Company for the construction of the Seal Coat 2021 Project.  
 
The Department of Public Works recommends approving and executing the contract 
with Blacktop Service Company for the construction of the Seal Coat 2021 Project. This 
project involves seal coating 13 street sections, covering 29,018 S.Y.; and 24,391 S.Y. 
at multiple single lane drives within 3 cemeteries and 7 parking lots. Work shall include 
proper surface preparation and proper placement and compaction of the surface. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 
  
  

 
 
 

389

Item 25.



390

Item 25.



391

Item 25.



392

Item 25.



393

Item 25.



394

Item 25.



395

Item 25.



396

Item 25.



397

Item 25.



398

Item 25.



399

Item 25.



400

Item 25.



401

Item 25.



402

Item 25.



403

Item 25.



404

Item 25.



405

Item 25.



406

Item 25.



407

Item 25.



408

Item 25.



409

Item 25.



410

Item 25.



411

Item 25.



412

Item 25.



413

Item 25.



414

Item 25.



415

Item 25.



416

Item 25.



417

Item 25.



418

Item 25.



419

Item 25.



420

Item 25.



421

Item 25.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: August 30, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Maintenance and Repair Agreement  
  Post-Construction Stormwater Management Plan 
  Wild Horse Ridge  
 
The Post-Construction Stormwater Control Ordinance requires a formal Maintenance 
and Repair Agreement for the stormwater management plan. The Maintenance and 
Repair Agreement will require the benefited property to undergo, at a minimum, an 
annual inspection and to maintain records of installation, maintenance and repair 
activities of the stormwater control devices. The agreement will also create an 
easement for the City to inspect and repair the stormwater control devices if the 
property owners fail or refuse to meet the requirements of the Maintenance and Repair 
Agreement. The Maintenance and Repair Agreement is attached for your review.  
 
The Engineering Division has reviewed the stormwater management plan and 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement for Wild Horse Ridge and finds it in accordance 
with City Code. The Engineering Division recommends the agreement be accepted by 
the City Council and recorded at the Black Hawk County Recorder’s Office.  
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 
 

422

Item 26.



423

Item 26.



424

Item 26.



425

Item 26.



426

Item 26.



427

Item 26.



428

Item 26.



429

Item 26.



430

Item 26.



431

Item 26.



432

Item 26.



433

Item 26.



434

Item 26.



435

Item 26.



436

Item 26.



1 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

  Matt Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 

 DATE: August 30, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Wild Horse Ridge Preliminary Plat Amendment 
 

 
REQUEST: Request to approve an amendment to the Wild Horse Ridge Preliminary Plat 

 
PETITIONER: Midwest Development Co., Owner; CGA Engineering, Engineer 

 
LOCATION: 
 

The property is located south of W. 12th Street and west of Union Road 

 
PROPOSAL 
The Wild Horse Ridge subdivision has been active in single family residential development for 
the past 10+ years. In total, there are ten (10) phases of development. The first four phases 
have been approved and are located on the east half of the subdivision. The remaining six 
phases will continue adjacent to the current additions, then go from the northwest corner and 
proceed to the southwest corner of the plat. 
 
The developer would like to increase the density of the remaining phases of the subdivision by 
adding 40 duplex lots to accommodate two-unit dwellings along the western and northern edge 
of the subdivision, within what will be Wild Horse Ridge 8th and 9th Additions. Another change 
included in this plat is that several street realignments are being proposed compared to the 
original preliminary plat that was approved in 2005. Therefore, in addition to the amended 
preliminary plat, a change in the RP zoning plan for Wild Horse Ridge to increase the number of 
lots with new street alignments is also being considered for approval. 
  
BACKGROUND 
In 2003 Dennis and Trudy Weichers purchased 148 acres of land at the southwest corner of 
Union Road and W. 12th Street. The westerly 79 acres was annexed into the City of Cedar Falls 
upon request by the owners (Resolution No. 14,410) in 2005. The easterly third of this property 
is served by the Cherrywood interceptor sewer. Tapping into this interceptor sewer requires a 
“connection fee” at the time of platting. To service the rest of the property, one of the conditions 
of the annexation and subsequent rezoning and platting was that Mr. Weichers agree to extend 
a sanitary sewer “interceptor” line to the property, from the South-East. This sewer line is 

437

Item 27.



2 
 

approximately two miles in length and extends from the general vicinity of University Avenue 
and Hudson Road. The City did participate in some of the costs for this sewer extension (for 
“over-sizing”) up to a maximum of $200,000. The majority of the costs for this sewer extension 
were borne by Mr. and Mrs. Weichers. This sewer will accommodate the entire development of 
the Wild Horse Ridge subdivision. The first four additions of the Wild Horse development did not 
connect into the aforementioned Cherrywood interceptor sewer so no connection fees were 
collected since the sewer is served by the line from W. 27th Street. 
 
In July 2005 the entire 148-acre property was rezoned from A-1, Agriculture to RP, Planned 
Residential for a maximum of 353 dwelling units. A Preliminary Plat for this area, called 
“Copperstone” was approved in July 2005. This plat covered the entire 148-acre property and 
proposed the establishment of 242 building lots with 353 units. One feature of the original 
Preliminary Plat is that it provided a street access to West 12th Street in alignment with the 
proposed Cherrywood Drive. The Preliminary Plat was re-approved by the City Council on 
September 26, 2011 without a street connection onto W. 12th Street.  
 
The Final Plat for the Wild Horse Ridge First Addition was approved in September 2007. The 
First Addition created 29 standard residential building lots on 34.7 acres. The Wild Horse Ridge 
Second Addition Final Plat was approved 2012. This plat created 61 residential lots on 26.6 
acres immediately north of the proposed Third Addition. Following approval of the Second 
Addition, a street name change (Cherrywood Drive to Rocky Ridge Road) was approved by the 
City Council on October 8, 2012. This street name change was necessary since the Second 
Addition did not provide a street access to Cherrywood Drive north of West 12th Street. The Wild 
Horse Ridge Third Addition was approved by the City Council on October 16, 2017 for 27 lots on 
11.55 acres. The Wild Horse Ridge Fourth Addition was approved by the City Council on 
October 21, 2019 for 16 lots on 5.29 acres. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

438

Item 27.



3 
 

 
As part of the original annexation agreement from 2005, the original developer or its successors 
must make improvements to the west end of W. 12th Street to the edge of the property (yellow 
dash line on the map above). After the first two additions were completed, staff sent a letter to 
the property owner in 2014 to signify that any future development of the Wild Horse subdivision, 
a fee will be collected and placed in an account for the W. 12th Street improvements. This fee is 
calculated at $5,852.43 per acre of development. The fee has been collected for the third and 
fourth additions prior to City Council approval, and will need to be collected prior to any future 
final plats.  
 
STAFF ANALYSIS 
Midwest Development Co. continues with the development of the Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, Eighth, 
Ninth and Tenth additions of the Wild Horse Ridge subdivision. The development will continue 
with the Fifth Addition located adjacent to the completed additions, in the middle of the 
subdivision.  
 
The developer has requested a change in the number of lots that were originally approved in the 
preliminary plat. They intend to construct a number of duplex units along the western and 
northern edge of the subdivision. The following table shows the proposed number of lots in the 
final five phases of this subdivision, and which addition the duplex lots will be located. 
 

Phase No. of Single Unit 
Lots 

No. of Duplex lots Total Lots 

Fifth 15 0 15 

Sixth 26 0 26 

Seventh 18 0 18 

Eighth 26 22 48 

Ninth 39 18 57 

Tenth 23 0 23 

Total 147 40 187 

 
The creation of these additional lots formalizes the ownership of the land under each duplex 
dwelling. From the start of the original preliminary plat, the developer intended to construct one- 
and two-family dwellings. During the first four phases of this subdivision, there were only single-
family dwellings constructed. Now the developer has identified where they intend to construct 
the two-family dwellings along the western and northern edge of the subdivision. The proposed 
density of this subdivision with the additional duplex dwellings will increase from 2.43 dwellings 
per acre to 2.72 dwellings per acre. This is a modest increase that is still considered low density 
residential.  
 
Along with this density change several new street layouts are being proposed. The original 
preliminary plat showed a cul-de-sac (Tyler Drive) located near the northwest corner of the plat. 
That is being removed, and Sandstone Lane will now be a through street that connects 
Arrowhead Drive to Pebble Stone Place. A smaller cul-de-sac, Cherry Creek Court, will be 
located just to the east of Sandstone Lane and will serve 6 lots. Also, Arrowhead Drive, which 
originally connected to W. 12th Street, now curves and connects with Lariat Lane, which does 
connect with W. 12th Street. Finally, Kelso Court, which is within the Tenth Addition and 
connects to property to the west outside of the city limits, was shifted slightly to the south in 

439

Item 27.



4 
 

order to line up with two parcels located outside of the city limits. Staff has worked with the 
developer to determine that two accesses from the subdivision to W. 12th Street is not needed. 
In addition, Granite Ridge Road, shown in the Fifth Addition, originally showed a small circle 
drive within the road, but this has been removed and is now just a straight through road. Finally, 
at the south end of Lariat Lane within the Tenth Addition, the original plat showed another small 
circle drive. This has been removed and Lariat Lane not connects with Canter Circle, a new cul-
de-sac street located at the very southwest corner of the plat. 
 
During the review by the Planning & Zoning Commission of the Arbors amended preliminary plat 
submitted by the same developer, some concerns were noted about the proposed zero lot line 
dwelling units, and what impacts they may have on the neighborhood. For that plat, the existing 
development agreement was amended to add some stipulations for the development of the zero 
lot line dwellings in order to maintain the residential character and quality of the neighborhood. 
Similarly with this plat, staff would recommend that the development agreement, which was 
approved when the property was rezoned to RP Planned Residential District in 2015, be 
amended to include similar stipulations regarding the zero lot line dwellings, as listed below:  
 

1. A variation in siding color between each adjacent two-unit dwelling; 
2. At least two different building models will be used, including a one-story and two-story 

model; 
3. A variation in design elements between each adjacent two-unit dwelling, such as 

doorway designs, sidelight windows, entranceway canopies, pilasters, pediments, brick 
and stone accents, raised entry cornices, trim colors, and similar; 

4. Front yard paving shall be minimized to the extent feasible to provide adequate space for 
front yard landscaping and a safe public sidewalk environment; 

5. The driveway width as measured at the streetside lot line shall not exceed 18 feet; 
6. Garages shall not exceed 22 feet in width; and 
7. Minimum driveway spacing from the intersection of a collector street or arterial street 

shall be 75 feet. 
 

Based on the proposed stipulations regarding the development of the zero lot line dwellings 
within the subdivision, staff believes that these units will maintain the residential character and 
quality of the neighborhood. 
 
This plat was originally recommended for approval by the Planning & Zoning Commission July 
8, 2020. Since that time, the City and developer have been working on the language of the 
development agreement, as well as wording on the maintenance and repair agreement as it 
relates to Stormwater management. Also, the developer has made some slight changes to the 
phasing plan, which includes reducing the number of lots in the fifth and sixth additions, while 
adding lots in the seventh and ninth additions. However, the total number of lots will not change 
based on the phasing plan update, so staff does not believe these changes should warrant 
additional Planning & Zoning Commission review. 
 

TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
 

Utilities - City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) personnel, noted that water, 
electric, gas and communication services are available to the site at the west ends of 12th 
Street, Sonoma Drive, Granite Ridge Rd, and Wild Horse Drive. An adequate sized water main 
will need to be extended to the limits of the platted subdivision. The other utilities are installed as 

440

Item 27.



5 
 

part of the public improvements. The easements identified on the plat satisfy CFU requirements. 
The developer will be responsible for extending the utility services to the proposed development. 
 

Stormwater Management - The petitioner’s engineer has submitted a storm water management 
plan to the City and it has been reviewed by the City Engineer. The City Engineer has 
determined that the plan meets the City’s subdivision requirements and also finds that the 
design for the entire development will improve the drainage pattern that has developed over the 
years on this undeveloped parcel of land. Additional detailed reports will be provided by the 
petitioner’s engineer with each sequential phase within the platted limits. Also, an existing 
drainage tract from and existing agricultural field draining under 12th Street will be accounted for 
with additional infrastructure oversizing for the twenty-five (25) year event to pass through an 
underground pipe network. 
 
Sanitary Sewer - The sanitary sewer will be extended from the existing interceptor line located 
on the south side of the detention pond located within the First Addition. The sanitary main was 
previously extended to Wild Horse Drive and another line was adequately sized and terminated 
to the western boundary. Typically, the sanitary sewer must be extended to the limits of the plat, 
per the City’s subdivision ordinance in order to accommodate the future growth in Cedar Falls. 
However, the existing sanitary sewer interceptor line was previously established prior to this 
proposed development within a sanitary sewer easement that is identified on the plat. The 
developer’s engineer will utilize the sanitary sewer extension, as designed, to provide sanitary 
services within the limits of the plat.  
 
Streets - The developer will need to make the necessary accommodations for temporary 
turnarounds at the west end of Granite Ridge Road in the Fifth Addition, and the west end of 
Wildhorse Drive and east end of Sonoma Drive in the Sixth Addition. This subdivision includes a 
four-foot public sidewalk across all lot frontages. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Community Development Department has reviewed this amended preliminary plat and 
recommends approval. 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion 
06/24/2020 

Mr. Graham provided background information. He explained that it is a request to 
approve an amendment to the preliminary plat in the Wild Horse Ridge 
subdivision in the southwest corner of West 12th Street and Union Road. The 
developer would like to amend the remaining undeveloped portion of the plat. 
The plan is to create zero lot line lots at the northwest corner along the west side 
of Lariat Lane and the north side of Arrowhead Drive. The street connection to 
West 12th Street has been removed and Arrowhead Drive curves to connect with 
Lariat Lane. He explained the proposed phasing plan for the plat and the 
different lots that are planned. Mr. Graham displayed renderings of potential 
duplex designs being proposed for the area and discussed the proposed 
addendum to the Agreement. Staff recommends approval with conformance with 
all staff recommendations and any additional comments from the Commission. 
 
Kevin Fittro, developer, thanked the Commission and stated that their plans are 
similar to other areas of Wild Horse Ridge. He discussed the process that led to 
the change in the Agreement and the phasing involved in the project.  

441

Item 27.



6 
 

 
Emily Chase, owner of nearby property, asked for clarification on the proposed 
condos/duplexes and whether they will be rentals. Mr. Fittro stated there is 
nothing in the covenant that would not allow rental, but at a $250,000 to 
$280,000 price point and continuing to build single-family homes in the area, it is 
not the developer’s intent to sell to investors. Ms. Chase asked if a traffic study 
has been done and how traffic will be affect, particularly with fewer access 
points. Mr. Fittro explained that there weren’t any concerns from a traffic 
standpoint. Ms. Chase also asked about finishing 12th Street. Mr. Fittro stated 
that it is part of the Agreement to take over the commitment to pay a fee toward 
the development of the street as each phase is completed. Paving would likely 
take place with the development of the 7th Addition.  
 
Mr. Larson asked about the lots and how the condos would be placed, clarifying 
that it would be one unit per lot. Ms. Saul asked about stormwater retention and 
if the retention pond will be enough for the area. Mr. Graham explained that the 
basin will collect all the stormwater as needed. Mr. Leeper asked if staff feels 
that the exits available before the 7th Addition is complete will be complete. Mr. 
Graham stated that they will be sufficient. Mr. Leeper asked if there are any time 
restraints on the project that would be an issue with waiting and allowing the 
public more time to view it. Mr. Fittro stated that although they would like to see it 
move forward, they are fine with a short wait. Ms. Saul asked when public 
meetings will resume, hoping to allow the public to come forward and ask 
questions. Ms. Howard stated that there has been talk of extending video 
meetings into July so staff isn’t sure when those meetings will resume.     
 
Ms. Saul made a motion to move the item forward to the next meeting. Mr. 
Larson seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 7 ayes 
(Adkins, Hartley, Holst, Larson, Leeper, Saul and Schrad), and 0 nays. 
 

Vote    
07/08/2020  Mr. Graham provided background information, noting that the item was reviewed 

at the previous Planning and Zoning Commission meeting. The amendment 
pertains to the 5th through 9th additions on the plat and would create a zero lot 
line at the northwest corner along the west side of Lariat Lane and the north side 
of Arrowhead Drive. A small cul-de-sac would be created at the southwest 
corner of the plat and the 12th Street connection would be removed. Mr. Graham 
explained the phasing plan for the 9 additions and the lots that would be created 
and displayed the potential duplex designs being proposed. He discussed the 
proposed amendments and noted that staff recommends approval subject to 
conformance with all city staff recommendations and any additional comments 
from the Commission.  

 
 Mr. Schrad asked about the timing of paving of 12th Street. Graham responded 

that would likely occur previous to or concurrently with the final plat addition that 
provides the access to 12th Street. He also noted that the developer per a 
previous agreement will pay fees toward the improvement of 12th Street to serve 
the needs of the subdivision as it builds out.  

 

442

Item 27.



7 
 

 Mr. Larson made a motion to approve the item. Mr. Hartley seconded the motion. 
The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Adkins, Hartley, Holst, 
Larson, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul, and Schrad), and 0 nays. 

 

443

Item 27.



Robinson-Dresser
Sports Complex

Pheasant
Ridge Golf

Course

W Sunshine Ln

Beaver Rd

Sk
yli

ne
 D

r

Po
ss

um
 R

d

Wild Horse Dr

Co
lum

bin
e D

r

High St

Cherryw oodD r
Sonoma Dr

RockyRidge R d

Jakob Cir

Meadow Ln

Flying Cloud Ln

Alexis Blvd

W 12th St

Granite Ridge Rd

Frontier Rd

Normandy Dr

Newland Dr

Prairie Rd

Blair Ridge Rd

Kea gl es Xing (Planned)

Peters Pkwy (Planned)

Un
ion

 R
d

W 12th St

R-1

R-1

R-4

RP

A-1

A-1

A-1

A-1

Amended Preliminary Plat
of Wild Horse Ridge

W Viking
Industrial Park

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

CenterS t

Hu
ds

on
 R

d

Ma
in

St

W 12th St

W 1st St

E Vik ing

Rd
W Viking Rd

Waterloo Rd

Un
ion

 R
d

W 27th St

E Greenhill Rd

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd

E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ve

rse
e R

d

W
Green hill Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

Cedar Falls City Council
September 7, 2021

444

Item 27.



445

Item 27.



446

Item 27.

ACD276
Line

ACD276
Ellipse

ACD276
Ellipse

ACD276
Callout
PROPOSED SAN SEWER MANHOLE



447

Item 27.

ACD276
Ellipse

ACD276
Callout
PROPOSED SAN SEWER MANHOLE



448

Item 27.



449

Item 27.

ACD276
Ellipse

ACD276
Callout
PROPOSED SAN SEWER MANHOLE



R
O

C
K

Y
 R

ID
G

E 
R

O
A

D

R
O

C
K

Y
 R

ID
G

E R
O

A
D

WILD HORSE DRIVE

JAKOB CIRCLE

BLAIR RIDGE ROAD

BL
AIR

 R
ID

GE 
RO

AD

GRANIT
E 

RID
GE 

ROAD

SONOMA DRIVE

12th                                                      STREET

U
N

IO
N

   
   

   
   

   
   

 R
O

A
D

U
N

IO
N

                   R
O

A
D

GRANITE RIDGE RD

SONOMA DR

R
O

C
K

Y
 R

ID
G

E R
O

A
D

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)
W

(D
)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)
W

(D
)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)
W

(D
)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)
W

(D
)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)
W

(D
)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)
W

(D
)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D)

W
(D)

W(D
)W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W(D)

W(D)W(D)W(D)

W
(D)

W(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)
W

(D)

W
(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W(D)

W
(D)

W(D)

W(D
)

W(D
)

W(D)

W
(D

)
W

(D
)

W
(D

)
W

(D
)

W
(D

)
W

(D
)

W(D)E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D)

E(D)

E(D)

E(D)

E(D)

E(D)

E(D)

E(D)E(D)

E(D)

E(D)
E(D)

E(D)
E(D)

E(D)E(D)E(D)

E(D)

E(D)E(D)
E(D) E(D)

E(D)
E(D)

E(D)

OH E
OH E

OH E
OH E

OH E
OH E

OH E
OH E

OH E
OH E

OH E
OH E

OH E
OH E

OH E
OH E

OH E
OH E

OH E
OH E

OH E
OH E

OH E
OH E

OH E
OH E

OH E

OH EOH E

TV

TV

TV

TVTVTV

TVTV

TV

TV

TV

TV
TV

TV

TV

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO

FO

FO

FO
FO

FO

FO

FO

FO
FO

FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO

FOFO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO

FO

FO
FO

FO

FO

FO

FO FOFOFOFOFO

TV
TV

TV
TV

TV

TV

TV
TV

TV

TVTV
FOFOFOFOFOFOFOFO

FOFO
FO FO FO

FO
FO

FO

FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO
FO

FO

FO

FO

FO

FO

FOFO
FO

FO

FO

FO

FO

FO

FO

FOFOFO

FO

97
8

97
0

97
6 980 978

974

97
0

972

97
4

97
2

962

96
0

958

966

972

962

960

95
8

95
6

95
6

95
8

96
0

96
2

96
6

97
2

97
8

966

960

966

97
0

97
2

97
6

LO
T 1

5
PH

ILI
P E

 A
ND

CO
LL

EE
N 

A 
KE

NE
AL

Y
LO

T 1
6

BR
AN

DO
N

M S
YM

E
LO

T 1
7

NY
LA

 A
FZ

AL

LOT 48
DANIEL D AND

AMANDA I
SCHNEIDER

LOT 49
JODIE K AND
DOUGLAS A
BONWELL

LOT 20
RICHARD AND

PAULA SCHOOF

LOT 21
DIZDAREVIC

CONSTRUCTION LLC

LOT 22
DEREK A AND
ALICIA DEER

LO
T 1

8
MAR

K T
 A

ND
MEL

ISS
A 

S

SC
HN

AC
KE

NB
ER

G

LO
T 1

9
WES

LE
Y J

 A
ND

KA
MI S

 TO
DD

LOT 20

MICHAEL D AND

ANNE M SCHRECK

LOT 21
RYAN J AND

KIM N CAWELTI
LOT 22

ANNE MARIE REED

LOT 23JASON J ANDJENNIFER JCONDER

LOT 24
ALLEN T AND
MARKETA A

WOODS

LOT 25
NICHOLAS L

KOELKER

LOT 14

JEREM
Y D AND

CHRISTINE L STOLZ

LOT 13

THOM
AS AND

JAM
IE PETRIE

LOT 12

SUZANNE BARTLETT

LOT 11

NICK AND NANCY

BARSIC

LOT 10
WILLIAM G AND

OLIVIA M LONG LOT 9BLAKE E AND
ERIN J COLWELL

LOT 8CHRISTOPHER ANDBETHANY THEDE

LOT 7
DENISE J
KUEBLER

REVOCABLE
TRUST

LOT 6
JEREMIAH H

AND ALLISON T
LONGNECKER

LOT 39
ROBERT J

AND LISA J
VOVES

LOT 40
ANUSHA R

MADADI AND
VENUGOPAL R

VEDRE

LOT 41
JAYE T AND
RICHARD R
SHONLEY

LOT 42
DENNIS J AND

JULIE A
ANDERSON

LOT 43
PEGGY A AND

HENRY M
BROWN

LOT 33
NATHANIEL

L AND
COURTNEY

K LUBS

LOT 34
GURUNANTHAN

PALANI

LOT 35
TIMOTHY G

AND
CANDICE M

MILLER

LOT 20
RICHARD STAMPE AND
LINDA K JUHL STAMPE

LOT 19
LINDSAY A ELENZ

LOT 18
NATALIE PETER

LOT 17
MICHAEL J AND

AMANDA K KRAMBEER

LOT 16
LOGAN R AND
EMILY MORK

LOT 15
JUDY DIX

LOT 14
DANIEL R CUHAT AND
GABRIELA A OLIVARES

LOT 13
GREGG A GROEN
AND STEPHANIE

L PICKETT

EA
ST

 6
80

 F
EE

T 
NE

 1 4 -
 N

W
 1 4 E

XC
EP

T 
HW

Y 
SE

CT
IO

N 
16

, T
89

N,
 R

14
W

JA
NI

CE
 A

 H
OS

IE
R

ZO
NI

NG
: A

-1

EA
ST

 6
80

 F
EE

T 
SE

 1 4 -
 S

W
 1 4 S

EC
TI

ON
 1

6,
 T

89
N,

 R
14

W
JA

NI
CE

 A
 H

OS
IE

R
ZO

NI
NG

: A
-1

UNPLATTED
MARVIN O AND

SANDRA L HELLER

LD BK 556, PG 687

ZONING: A-1

PT. OF NE 14 SECTION 16 T89N R14W
ARLENE K SCHWARZENBACH

AFF. BK 65, PG 799

ZONING: A-1

TRACT A
DESIGNATED
DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

LOT 4
STEPHEN G JR

AND TERI L
YACKLEY

LOT 3
JOSEPH P AND

KATHRYN M
THOMPSON

LOT 2
LARRY D AND

PATRICIA A EDLER

LOT 5
SANJAY D

AND GOWRI B
GULWADI

LOT 26
JOHN A AND

KASSI J CAPPS

LOT 27
JOHN AND
JENNIFER

STEVENSON

LOT 28
TYLER L AND

ELIZABETH S FORD

LOT 1
STEVEN P AND
NANCY A PITZ

LOT 29
THOMAS AND

CHELSEA BARNHART

LOT 1
MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO.

LOT 2
MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO.

LOT 3
MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO.

LOT 4
MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO.

LOT 5
MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO.

LOT 6
MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO.

LOT 7
MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO.

LOT 8
MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO.

LOT 9
MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO.

LOT 10
MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO.

LOT 11
ZACHARY JOHN AND
ALEXANDRA ROCHALO

T 
12

M
ID

W
ES

T
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T 
CO

.

LO
T 

13
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LOT 14
MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT
CO.LO

T 
15

M
ID

W
ES

T
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T 
CO

.

LO
T 

16
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

17
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

18
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

19
AM

IR
 H

 A
ND

TE
RR

Y 
J 

RE
ZA

I

LO
T 

23
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

24
SA

ND
RA

 K
 S

IM
PS

ON
RE

VO
CA

BL
E 

TR
US

T

LO
T 

25
RI

CH
AR

D 
AN

D
JE

AN
ET

TE
 U

GA
I

LO
T 

26
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

27
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

1
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

2
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

3
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

4
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

5
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

6
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 7 MIDWES

T

DEV
EL

OPM
EN

T C
O.

LO
T 8

M
ID

W
ES

T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T C

O.

LO
T 

9

M
ID

W
ES

T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

10

M
ID

W
ES

T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

11
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

12
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

13
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

14
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

15
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LO
T 

16
M

ID
W

ES
T

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

CO
.

LOT 1
SCOTT E AND

DANIELLE N HAGBERG

LOT 2
MATT C COSE AND

SARAH LAMOS

LOT 3
SHARMISTHA SELF AND
RICHARD L GRABOWSKI

LOT 4
NICHOLAS F AND

ALLYSON RAFANELLO

LOT 5
SEYED M ALI TABEI AND

FAEZEH JAHANMIRI NEZHAD

LOT 6
NATHAN J AND
EMILY PAXTON

LOT 7
BRENT L AND
TARA M GAST

LOT 8

MIDWEST DEVELOPMENT CO.

LO
T 

9
DE

NN
IS

 K
 A

ND
M

AR
LE

NE
 A

 P
ET

ER
SE

N

LO
T 

10
SC

OT
T 

R 
AN

D 
LY

ND
A 

M
BO

HL
M

AN
N

LO
T 

11
JA

CO
B 

AN
D 

KI
M

BE
RL

Y
W

EA
VE

R

LO
T 

12
M

AR
K 

W
 B

RI
TZ

M
AN

 A
ND

LO
RE

TT
A 

M
 P

OW
EL

L

LOT 21
YIROT PINO AND
DIANA GARCIA

LOT 22
WILLIAM F AND NANCY A

KALKBRENNER

LOT 23
ADAM D AND

ALISON R PULS

LOT 24
JOHN R AND KATHRYN N

THOMPSON

LOT 25
RLD FAMILY FARMS INC

LOT 26
NICHOLAS C AND

AMANDA L PEYTON

LOT 27
SEAN T AND

KIMBERLY A ABBAS

LOT 28
JACOB R CONNOR AND

LEAH M RILEY

LOT 29
BUCK A AND STEPHANIE

MC COSKEY

LOT 30
GOPI K KOTA AND
NUTANA INDURU

LOT 31
JAMES AND MARIA K

BURBRIDGE

LOT 32
NATHAN A AND KALLI J

CHRISTENSEN

LOT 36
MELISSA A
AND RYAN
MC DANIEL

LOT 37
ARTHUR C

AND
JEANNE K
SCHILLING

LOT 38
JEFFERY W
AND KEELY
R BURKS

LOT 44
KYLE J AND
ELIZABETH A

PHILLIPS

LOT 45
THOMAS A

AND
LINDSAY A

CUNNINGHAM

LOT 46
STEVEN T
HETRICK

AND AMI L
BURNS

LOT 47
KELLY P AND

STACEY M
CHRISTENSEN

LOT 50
JUAN AND
KATELYN
LEDESMA

LOT 51
PHILIP AND
TIFFANY M
TENTINGER

LOT 52
FENG LIU

AND XI WEI

LOT 53
ERIC R AND

KRISTIN
VAN SYOC

LOT 54
VIJAYA

VENKATA
KRISHNA S
PONNADA
AND VARA
VENKATA
PADMA

PONNADO
LOT 55

JASON ESQUIVEL

LOT 56
GARY A AND

PAMELA K DAVIS

LOT 57
RONALD J AND

PATRICIA J BOCK

LOT 58
MICHAEL H AND

SARAH B RAECKER

LOT 59
EVAN R AND KARYN R

SCHOENFISH

LOT 60
BRADLEY D MARLOW
AND KATIE L MALOY

LOT 61
GRACE C AND ANDREW

ROGERS

GRANIT
E

WEST 12TH STREET

W
ILD

 H
O

RSE D
RIVE

S
A

N
D

S
TO

N
E

 L
A

N
E

U
N

IO
N

 R
O

A
D

U
N

IO
N

 R
D

RID
GE

ROAD

SO
NO

M
A

ARROWHEAD DRIVE

DRIV
E

LOT 168

LOT 167

LOT 166

LOT 165

LOT 72

LOT 73

LOT 74

LOT 75

LOT 136

LOT 134

LOT 133

LOT 132

LOT 7

LOT 6

LOT 4

LOT 1

LOT 15

LOT 14

LOT 13

LOT 12

LOT 11

LOT 10

LOT 9

LOT 8

LOT 31

LOT 30

LOT 29

LOT 28

LOT 26

LOT 25

LOT 24

LOT 23

LOT 22
LOT 21

LOT 20
LOT 19

LOT 33LOT 34LOT 35LOT 36
LOT 37

LOT 38

LOT 39

LOT 40

LOT 41

LOT 42

LOT 43

LOT 44

LOT 45

LOT 46
LOT 47

LOT 48
LOT 49LOT 50

LO
T 

51

LOT 95

LOT 94

LOT 93

LOT 92

LOT 91

LOT 90LOT 89

LOT 88

LOT 87

LOT 86

LOT 85

LOT 84

LOT 83

LOT 82

LOT 81

LOT 78
LOT 77LOT 76

LOT 113

LOT 114

LOT 115

LOT 116

LOT 117

LOT 101

LOT 102

LOT 112

LOT 123

LOT 122

LOT 121

LOT 120

LA
R

IA
T 

LA
N

E

LOT 16

LOT 5

LOT 18

LOT 27

LOT 118

LOT 96

LOT 97

LOT 98

LOT 99

LOT 100

A
R

R
O

W
H

E
A

D
 D

R
IV

E

LOT 71

LOT 70

LOT 69

LOT 68

LOT 67

LOT 65

LOT 65

LOT 64

LOT 169

LOT 170

LOT 171

LOT 172

LOT 173

LOT 174

LOT 175

LOT 176

LOT 177

LOT 178
LOT 179

LOT 180

LOT 181LOT 183

LOT 184

LOT 185

LOT 186

LA
R

IA
T 

LA
N

E

PE
BB

LE
 S

TO
NE 

PL
AC

E

LOT 2

LOT 3

LOT 17

LOT 32

LOT 131

LOT 130

LOT 129

LOT 128

LOT 135LOT 137

LOT 187

CANTER CIRCLE

KELSO COURT

LOT 103

LOT 105

LOT 106

LOT 107LOT 108
LOT 109LOT 110

LOT 111

LOT 104

LOT 119

LOT 124

LOT 125

LOT 126

LOT 127

LOT 182

CHERRY CREEK COURT

LOT 79
LOT 80

C
H

E
R

R
Y

W
O

O
D

 D
R

.

LO
T 

52

LO
T 

53

LO
T 

54

LO
T 

55

LO
T 

56

LO
T 

57

LO
T 

58

LO
T 

53

LO
T 

59

LO
T 

60

LO
T 

61

LO
T 

62

LO
T 

63LOT 138

LOT 139

LOT 140

LOT 141

LOT 142

LOT 143

LOT 144

LOT 145

LOT 146

LOT 147

LOT 148

LOT 149

LOT 150

LOT 151

LOT 152

LOT 153

LOT 154

LOT 155

LOT 156

LOT 157

LOT 158

LOT 159

LOT 160

LOT 161

LOT 162

LOT 163

LOT 164

TR
A

C
T 

"A
"

S
TO

R
M

W
A

TE
R

M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

TRACT "A"
STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

Wild Horse Ridge

Third Addition

W

i

l

d

 

H

o

r

s

e

 

R

i

d

g

e

F

i

r

s

t

 

A

d

d

i

t

i

o

n

DESIGN COMPLETED AND APPROVED

Wild Horse Ridge

Fourth Addition

W
i
l
d

 
H

o
r
s
e
 
R

i
d

g
e
 
S

e
c
o

n
d

 
A

d
d

i
t
i
o

n

Wild Horse Ridge

Fifth Addition

W

i

l

d

 

H

o

r

s

e

 

R

i

d

g

e

S

e

v

e

n

t

h

 

A

d

d

i

t

i

o

n

Wild Horse Ridge

Eigth Addition

Wild Horse Ridge

Ninth Addition

Wild Horse Ridge

Tenth Addition

Wild Horse Ridge

Sixth Addition

100 YR STORM
PIPE ROUTE

N

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

150'75'

Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc
5106 Nordic Drive

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Ph 319-266-0258
www.cgaconsultants.com

SHEET NO.

DRAWN:
CHECKED:

DATE:
DATE:

APPROVED: DATE:

PROJECT NO.DESIGNED: DATE:REVISIONNO. DATEBY DATEBYREVISIONNO.

J:
\5

80
5\

dw
gs

\E
xh

ib
its

\P
ha

si
ng

 E
xh

ib
it\

58
05

 W
ild

ho
rs

e 
Ri

dg
e 

Ov
er

al
l P

ha
si

ng
 e

xh
ib

it 
Re

vi
se

d 
20

21
-0

8-
09

.d
wg

 - 
Pa

ge
 1

 o
f 1

 - 
 0

8-
26

-2
1 

- 1
0:

29
am

 - 
AC

D2
76

CGA WILD HORSE RIDGE
1 OF 1

5674

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA PHASING EXHIBIT
NCB

BMC

ACD

ACD 08-26-2021

08-26-2021

08-26-2021

1-10-2020

WILD HORSE RIDGE
 PHASING EXHIBIT

Cedar Falls, Iowa
AUGUST 2021

WILD HORSE RIDGE 5TH ADDITION
15 LOTS

WILD HORSE RIDGE 6TH ADDITION
26 LOTS

WILD HORSE RIDGE 7TH ADDITION
18 LOTS

WILD HORSE RIDGE 8TH ADDITION
48 LOTS TOTAL
26 SINGLE FAMILY HOMES
22 DUPLEX LOTS

WILD HORSE RIDGE 9TH ADDITION
57 LOTS
39 SINGLE FAMILY HOMES
18 DUPLEX LOTS

WILD HORSE RIDGE 10TH ADDITION
23 LOTS

TOTAL LOTS
187

450

Item 27.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: MAX HOSIER & JANICE HOSIER ZONING: A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: MAX HOSIER & JANICE HOSIER ZONING: A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: MICHAEL PETERSON ZONING: A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: ARLENE SCHWARZENBACH ZONING: A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: MARVIN HELLER & SANDRA HELLER ZONING: A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEDAR FALLS CORPORATE LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEDAR FALLS CORPORATE LIMITS

/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-112775&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-112776&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-112776&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-112776&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-112776&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-112776&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-112776&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-112776&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-112776&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-112776&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-112776&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-112776&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-111401&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111402&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111402&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111402&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111402&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111402&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111402&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111402&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111402&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111402&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111402&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111402&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-111403&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111404&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111404&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111404&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111404&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111404&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111404&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111404&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111404&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111404&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111404&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111404&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-111406&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111407&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111407&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111407&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111407&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111407&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111407&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111407&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111407&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111407&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111407&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-111407&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-108041&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-108042&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-108042&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-108042&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-108042&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-108042&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-108042&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-108042&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-108042&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-108042&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-108042&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-108042&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-109584&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109585&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109585&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109585&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109585&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109585&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109585&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109585&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109585&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109585&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109585&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109585&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-109588&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-109588&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-109588&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109590&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109590&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109590&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109590&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109590&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109590&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109590&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109590&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109590&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109590&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109590&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-109593&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109594&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109594&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109594&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109594&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109594&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109594&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109594&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109594&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109594&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109594&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109594&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-109596&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109597&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109597&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109597&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109597&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109597&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109597&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109597&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109597&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109597&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109597&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109597&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109600&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109600&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109600&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109600&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109600&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109600&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109600&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109600&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109600&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109600&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109600&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-109773&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109774&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109774&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109774&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109774&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109774&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109774&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109774&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109774&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109774&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109774&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109774&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-109777&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109778&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109778&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109778&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109778&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109778&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109778&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109778&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109778&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109778&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109778&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109778&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-109779&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109780&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109780&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109780&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109780&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109780&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109780&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109780&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109780&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109780&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109780&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109780&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-109927&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109928&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109928&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109928&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109928&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109928&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109928&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109928&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109928&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109928&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109928&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109928&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-109930&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109931&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109931&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109931&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109931&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109931&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109931&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109931&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109931&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109931&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109931&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-109931&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-110984&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-110985&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-110985&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-110985&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-110985&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-110985&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-110985&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-110985&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-110985&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-110985&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-110985&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-110985&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-107687&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107688&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107688&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107688&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107688&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107688&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107688&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107688&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107688&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107688&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107688&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107688&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-107689&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107690&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107690&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107690&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107690&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107690&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107690&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107690&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107690&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107690&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107690&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107690&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-107693&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107696&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107696&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107696&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107696&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107696&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107696&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107696&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107696&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107696&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107696&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107696&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-107695&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107697&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107697&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107697&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107697&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107697&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107697&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107697&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107697&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107697&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107697&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-107697&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106048&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106049&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106049&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106049&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106049&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106049&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106049&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106049&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106049&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106049&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106049&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106049&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106055&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106056&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106056&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106056&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106056&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106056&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106056&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106056&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106056&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106056&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106056&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106056&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106057&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106058&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106058&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106058&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106058&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106058&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106058&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106058&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106058&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106058&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106058&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106058&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106338&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106340&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106340&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106340&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106340&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106340&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106340&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106340&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106340&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106340&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106340&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106340&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106342&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106342&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106342&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106342&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106342&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106342&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106342&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106342&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106342&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106342&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106342&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106343&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106345&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106345&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106345&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106345&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106345&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106345&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106345&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106345&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106345&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106345&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106345&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106383&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106384&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106384&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106384&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106384&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106384&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106384&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106384&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106384&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106384&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106384&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106384&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106452&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106456&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106467&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106460&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106562&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106672&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106673&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106673&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106673&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106673&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106673&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106673&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106673&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106673&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106673&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106673&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106673&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106674&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106675&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106675&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106675&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106675&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106675&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106675&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106675&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106675&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106675&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106675&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106675&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106678&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106679&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106679&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106679&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106679&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106679&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106679&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106679&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106679&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106679&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106679&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106679&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106681&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106682&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106682&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106682&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106682&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106682&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106682&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106682&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106682&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106682&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106682&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106682&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106684&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106685&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106685&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106685&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106685&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106685&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106685&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106685&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106685&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106685&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106685&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106685&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-106686&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106687&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106687&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106687&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106687&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106687&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106687&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106687&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106687&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106687&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106687&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-106687&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-105270&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105271&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105271&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105271&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105271&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105271&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105271&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105271&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105271&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105271&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105271&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105271&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-105603&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105604&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105604&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105604&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105604&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105604&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105604&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105604&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105604&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105604&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105604&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-105604&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104112&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104113&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104113&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104113&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104113&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104113&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104113&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104113&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104113&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104113&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104113&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104113&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104116&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104117&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104117&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104117&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104117&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104117&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104117&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104117&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104117&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104117&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104117&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104117&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104118&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104119&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104119&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104119&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104119&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104119&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104119&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104119&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104119&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104119&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104119&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104119&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104122&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104123&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104123&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104123&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104123&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104123&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104123&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104123&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104123&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104123&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104123&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104123&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104124&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104126&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104126&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104126&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104126&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104126&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104126&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104126&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104126&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104126&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104126&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104126&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104127&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104128&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104128&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104128&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104128&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104128&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104128&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104128&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104128&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104128&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104128&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104128&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104133&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104133&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104133&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104133&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104133&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104133&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104133&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104133&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104133&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104133&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104133&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104178&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104179&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104179&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104179&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104179&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104179&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104179&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104179&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104179&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104179&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104179&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104179&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104181&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104182&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104182&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104182&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104182&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104182&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104182&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104182&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104182&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104182&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104182&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104182&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104193&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104195&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104195&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104195&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104195&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104195&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104195&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104195&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104195&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104195&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104195&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104195&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104196&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104198&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104198&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104198&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104198&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104198&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104198&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104198&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104198&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104198&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104198&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104198&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104199&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104199&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104199&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104199&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104199&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104199&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104199&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104199&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104199&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104199&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104199&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104202&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104203&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104203&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104203&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104203&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104203&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104203&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104203&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104203&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104203&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104203&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104203&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104473&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104474&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104474&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104474&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104474&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104474&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104474&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104474&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104474&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104474&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104474&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104474&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104476&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104477&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104477&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104477&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104477&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104477&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104477&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104477&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104477&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104477&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104477&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104477&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104479&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104480&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104483&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104483&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104483&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104483&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104483&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104483&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104483&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104483&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104483&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104483&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104483&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104484&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104484&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104484&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104484&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104484&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104484&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104484&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104484&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104484&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104484&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104484&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-104485&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104486&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104486&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104486&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104486&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104486&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104486&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104486&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104486&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104486&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104486&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-104486&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118343&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118344&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118344&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118344&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118344&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118344&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118344&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118344&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118344&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118344&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118344&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118344&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118463&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118464&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118466&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118468&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118468&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118468&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118469&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118469&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118469&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118476&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118477&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118479&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118487&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118490&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118490&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118490&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118490&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118490&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118490&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118490&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118492&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118492&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118492&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118494&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118497&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118497&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118497&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118497&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118497&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118501&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118484&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118503&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-109599&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118505&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118604&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118605&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118605&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118605&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118605&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118605&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118605&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118605&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118605&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118605&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118605&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-118605&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118898&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-118898&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119096&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119096&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119096&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119096&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119096&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119096&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119096&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119096&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119096&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119096&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119096&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-119095&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-119098&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119099&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119099&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119099&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119099&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119099&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119099&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119099&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119099&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119099&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119099&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119099&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-119347&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119348&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119348&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119348&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119348&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119348&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119348&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119348&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119348&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119348&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119348&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119348&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-119907&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119908&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119908&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119908&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119908&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119908&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119908&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119908&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119908&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119908&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119908&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-119908&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-120329&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120330&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120330&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120330&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120330&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120330&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120330&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120330&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120330&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120330&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120330&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120330&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-120332&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120333&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120333&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120333&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120333&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120333&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120333&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120333&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120333&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120333&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120333&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-120333&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113289&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113289&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113289&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113289&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113289&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113289&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113289&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113289&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113289&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113289&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113289&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-113291&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-113288&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113292&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113292&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113292&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113292&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113292&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113292&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113292&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113292&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113292&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113292&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113292&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_URD-113649&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113650&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113650&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113650&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113650&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113650&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113650&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113650&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113650&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113650&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113650&target=q
/cgi/sv?Service_URD-113650&target=q
/cgi/c?95106484&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/c?95118506&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-106448&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118458&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118458&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118458&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118458&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118460&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118460&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118460&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118460&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118461&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118461&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118461&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118461&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118474&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118474&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118474&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118474&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118475&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118475&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118475&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118475&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118488&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118488&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118488&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118488&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118491&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118491&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118491&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118491&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118496&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118496&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118496&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118496&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118500&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118500&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118500&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118500&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118502&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118502&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118502&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118502&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118504&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118504&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118504&target=q
/cgi/pd?PED-118504&target=q
AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-93992

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-93993

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-93994

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-93995

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-93996

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-98598

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-98599

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-98600

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-98606

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-98611

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-84263

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-84264

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-84265

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-84266

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-84267

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-84268

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E-DD2293003

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E-DD2292001

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E-DD2290001

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E-EE2109001

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
E-EE2299001

/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118480&target=q
AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-118480

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118481&target=q
AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-118481

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118482&target=q
AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-118482

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118485&target=q
AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-118485

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118495&target=q
AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-118495

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
/cgi/l?SLITE-118499&target=q
AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLITE-118499

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

/cgi/c?95106444&target=q
/cgi/c?95106444&target=q
/cgi/c?95106444&target=q
/cgi/c?95106444&target=q
/cgi/c?95106444&target=q
/cgi/c?95106488&target=q
/cgi/c?95113758&target=q
AutoCAD SHX Text
E-DD2291001

AutoCAD SHX Text
25_1PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
DD22024

AutoCAD SHX Text
E-DD2290001

AutoCAD SHX Text
25_1PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
DD22024

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABC

AutoCAD SHX Text
175A

AutoCAD SHX Text
EE22005

AutoCAD SHX Text
EE22006

AutoCAD SHX Text
3PH

AutoCAD SHX Text
E-EE2299002

AutoCAD SHX Text
25_1PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
DD22024

AutoCAD SHX Text
E-EE2299001

AutoCAD SHX Text
25_1PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
DD22024

AutoCAD SHX Text
E-EE2296001

AutoCAD SHX Text
0025

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
EE22001

AutoCAD SHX Text
E-DD2183001

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
DD20013

AutoCAD SHX Text
E-DD2013001

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
DD20013

/cgi/t?PLTRAN-120226&target=q
/cgi/t?PLTRAN-120226&target=q
/cgi/t?PLTRAN-120226&target=q
/cgi/t?PLTRAN-120226&target=q
AutoCAD SHX Text
PLTRAN-120226

AutoCAD SHX Text
5_1PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
DD22038

/cgi/p?LPOLE-118483&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118483&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118483&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118483&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118489&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118489&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118489&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118489&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118493&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118493&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118493&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118493&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118478&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118478&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118478&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118478&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118459&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118459&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118459&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118459&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118462&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118462&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118462&target=q
/cgi/p?LPOLE-118462&target=q
AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

/cgi/sw?SWCAB-109438&target=q
/cgi/sw?SWCAB-109438&target=q
/cgi/sw?SWCAB-109438&target=q
AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
NC

AutoCAD SHX Text
B-109438

AutoCAD SHX Text
9566696

AutoCAD SHX Text
A-109438

AutoCAD SHX Text
9578893

/cgi/de?DE-106445&target=q
/cgi/de?DE-106445&target=q
/cgi/de?DE-106446&target=q
/cgi/de?DE-106446&target=q
/cgi/de?DE-106457&target=q
/cgi/de?DE-106457&target=q
/cgi/de?DE-106458&target=q
/cgi/de?DE-106458&target=q
AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
65A

AutoCAD SHX Text
DD2001393970

AutoCAD SHX Text
9593937

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
65A

AutoCAD SHX Text
DD2001398559

AutoCAD SHX Text
9593937

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
65A

AutoCAD SHX Text
DD2001166697

AutoCAD SHX Text
DD20012

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
NC

AutoCAD SHX Text
B-78948

AutoCAD SHX Text
9578893

AutoCAD SHX Text
A-78948

AutoCAD SHX Text
9578894

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
30A

AutoCAD SHX Text
DD2202476600

AutoCAD SHX Text
DD22024

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
/cgi/sw?MOSW-120228&target=q
AutoCAD SHX Text
NC

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABC

AutoCAD SHX Text
E-DD2020001

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
9578893

/cgi/t?PDTRAN-118471&target=q
/cgi/t?PDTRAN-118471&target=q
/cgi/t?PDTRAN-118472&target=q
/cgi/t?PDTRAN-118472&target=q
/cgi/t?PDTRAN-118473&target=q
/cgi/t?PDTRAN-118473&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_OH-110990&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_OH-120227&target=q
/cgi/sc?Secondary_OH-120229&target=q
AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" FUTURE - 245'



451

Item 27.



452

Item 27.



453

Item 27.



454

Item 27.



455

Item 27.



456

Item 27.



457

Item 27.



458

Item 27.



459

Item 27.



460

Item 27.



461

Item 27.



462

Item 27.



463

Item 27.



464

Item 27.



465

Item 27.



466

Item 27.



467

Item 27.



468

Item 27.



469

Item 27.



470

Item 27.



471

Item 27.



472

Item 27.



473

Item 27.



474

Item 27.



475

Item 27.



 

 
6/12/20 
 
To: Homeowners of Wild Horse Ridge 
Re: Revised Subdivision Preliminary Plat 
 

 

Wild Horse Preliminary plat changes 
 
To our Wild Horse neighbors,  
 
I wanted to reach out in regards to the upcoming P and Z meeting and the revisions to our 
subdivision preliminary plat.  As some of you may recall during the 3rd addition final platting 
meeting discussion was had about notification and updates as plats change. At that time we 
had just purchased the balance of the Wild Horse Subdivision and had minor changes. From 
that meeting it was decided that we would review the entire subdivision again and resubmit a 
new preliminary plat.  We understand any time changes are made there is a sense of unknown 
and therefore concerns over any effect these changes may have on your property.  We 
understand that for all of our neighbors in every price range that their home is the biggest 
investment that will be made.  When we develop a community that consists of multiple styles 
of homes and price ranges, we understand that the single most important factor is curb appeal. 
Factors like make up of households with differing family sizes, style of homes available, and the 
overall appearance of the homes and pride shown are critical to a neighborhoods success. We 
can control some of that with development and building practices and the other is on our 
owners as neighbors and hopefully protected through the covenants.  Understanding this, we 
have always made decisions that keep trends up to date, yards completed with landscape for 
full sod, and exterior siding and stone amenities when budgets allow.  Doing this gives a 
neighborhood the best opportunity to maintain housing values.   With that in mind we have 
completed the plat and revisions and comments from the city. It is intended at this time to go 
to P and Z on 6/24/20. 
 
We hope that you as neighbors can understand the make up of a large plat can be difficult to 
predict.   Especially in a large area like Wild Horse where we are looking at 9 phases.  Our 
neighborhoods are always comprised of multiple price points for houses.  The plat being 
submitted carries that same theory as was shown to the neighbors during the 3rd addition 
conversations.  The only change is setting up for possible single family two unit homes along 
the Northwest boundary of the property.  Knowing this change may happen from time to time 
we find it most important to group things as best as possible and provide subtle transitions 

476

Item 27.



from one addition to another.  One way is distancing the new product away from current 
owners. This provides like housing around, and the mixed housing would be further into the 
plat where all buyers understand what that addition is expected to be when purchasing and in a 
more isolated location.  If you recall from the original plat duplex units were along Union Rd in 
the current third addition and we removed them as we felt that a better location could be 
found vs at the entry to the neighborhood and so close to custom homes. 
 
Current market conditions are calling for a need in housing from $250,000 to $280,000. This is 
the range we are looking to assist with duplex units.  This price range actually makes up 25% of 
our buyers.  This is a very important price range.  If you look in the community, homes ranging 
$250,000 to $600,000 and even higher exist together in neighborhoods throughout Cedar Falls 
and Iowa.  We have proven our vision of the condos and single family can exist together in 
communities.  Quail Ridge is a great example of this as we see great success of resale every 
year.   
 
Closing I would like to make sure that all know that our company’s goal is to continue its 
success in our area in developing neighborhoods that support continued sales of homes even 
after we are done building.  We will do this through strong elevations, completed yards, with 
nice landscaping.  As you know we don’t let any home have the same color siding next door to 
each other.  We are constantly looking to utilize new trends in exteriors from craftsman style 
with tapered columns and stone, to farm house with board and batten or shake, and most 
recently contemporary looks.  This will continue in future additions.  
 
I hope this answers any of your questions about future platting. We will also try to stay ahead 
of the neighbors with platting if changes are being made in order to try to have needed 
conversations prior to getting to the city.  If you would like to discuss anything further please let 
me know by contacting me through email at kfittro@skogman.com or via phone at 319 493 
0919.  Have a great summer!! It is great to hear summer sounds with kids and neighbors 
outside enjoying our wonderful community. Stay safe and stay healthy. 
 
 
Kevin Fittro  
VP of Skogman Homes/Midwest Development 
 

477

Item 27.

mailto:kfittro@skogman.com


DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 
 
 DATE: August 31, 2021 
 
SUBJECT: 2021 Street Patching Project 
  Project No. RS-000-3275 
  No bids received - 2nd Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Monday, August 9th, 2021 at 10:00 a.m. was the date and time for bids to be received 
and opened for the 2021 Street Patching Project. Due to contractor workloads and 
inadequate staffing, no bids were received. 
 
As a result, the Engineering Division recommends setting Monday, September 20th, 
2021 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the public hearing on this project and Friday, 
September 24th, 2021 at 2:00 p.m. as the date and time for receiving and opening bids. 
 
The Engineering Division also requests that the Notice to Bidders be published by 
September 10th, 2021. It is anticipated that the Plans and Specifications will be ready for 
distribution to contractors on September 8th, 2021 allowing two (2) weeks of review 
before contract letting. 
 
The 2021 Street Patching Project involves the construction of forty-six (46) utility 
patches on existing City streets. Work shall include roughly 644.32 SY removal and 
replacement of existing pavement; 118 ton of asphalt patches; 105 LF of concrete curb 
and gutter; subgrade preparation; and replacement of driveway approaches and 
pedestrian ramps. 
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $288,409.85. The project 
will be funded by Cedar Falls Utilities.   
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your 
review at the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Public Works 
Department. 
 

 
xc: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

478

Item 28.



ITEM# DESCRIPTION UNITS QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 REMOVAL OF PAVEMENT S.Y. 677.05 30.00$          20,311.50$    

2 REMOVAL OF CURB & GUTTER L.F. 92.64 10.00$          926.40$          

3 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. 13.13 80.00$          1,050.40$       

4 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 43.05 13.00$          559.65$          

5 SAW CUTTING FOR REMOVALS L.F. 2110.07 15.00$          31,651.05$    

6 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10 C.Y. 214.73 40.00$          8,589.20$       

7 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.0 FT. WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 53.1 49.00$          2,601.90$       

8 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.5 FT. WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 39.84 50.00$          1,992.00$       

9 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 3.0 FT. WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 11.3 80.00$          904.00$          

10 MODIFIED SUBBASE C.Y. 214.73 65.00$          13,957.45$    

11 TOPSOIL, FURNISH & SPREAD C.Y. 3.078 95.00$          292.41$          

12 HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.Y. 28.14 30.00$          844.20$          

13 DRIVEWAY, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 13.13 115.00$        1,509.95$       

14 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 4 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 41.12 85.00$          3,495.20$       

15 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 1.933 275.00$        531.58$          

16 PEDESTRIAN RAMPS, DETECTABLE WARNING S.F. 48 1,000.00$    48,000.00$    

17 UTILITY PATCH, P.C.C., TYPE "C" CLASS III S.Y. 644.32 150.00$        96,648.00$    

18 UTILITY PATCH, HMA (ST),  PG58-28S TONS 117.738 120.00$        14,128.56$    

19 COMPACTION OF SUBGRADE S.Y. 677.05 8.00$            5,416.40$       

21 TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 1 35,000.00$  35,000.00$    

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE 

2021 STREET PATCHING PROJECT

RS-000-3275

TOTAL 

ESTIMATE
288,409.85$  

479

Item 28.



480

Item 28.



481

Item 28.



482

Item 28.



483

Item 28.



484

Item 28.



485

Item 28.



486

Item 28.



487

Item 28.



488

Item 28.



489

Item 28.



490

Item 28.



491

Item 28.



492

Item 28.



493

Item 28.



494

Item 28.



495

Item 28.



496

Item 28.



497

Item 28.



1 

 
 

 
PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 

FOR THE 
2021 STREET PATCHING PROJECT 

 
 

Project RS-000-3275 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATION 

 

 
I hereby certify that this engineering document was prepared by me or 
under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed 
professional engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
 
__________________________________  Date: 7/15/2021    
David Wicke, P.E.           Iowa License No. 25684 
My license renewal date is December  31, 2022 
 
Pages or sheets covered by this seal: 1-30. 

 

 

498

Item 28.



 

2 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
    Page Number 
 
TITLE SHEET  1 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 2-3 
 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 4 
 
NOTICE TO BIDDERS 5-7 
 
DIVISION 1 – Instruction to Bidders 
 

01 Definition and Terms 8 
 02 Qualification of the Bidder 8-9 

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 9 
04 Taxes  9 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 9-10 
Form of Proposal 11-13 
Bid Bond  14 
Bidder Status Form 15 
Authorization to transact business 16 
Non-Collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 17 
Form of Contract 18-19 

 Performance, Payment and Maintenance Bond 20-23 
 Notice to Proceed 24 
 
DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 
 

01 Award of Contract 25 
02 Availability of Site 25 
03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 25 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 25 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 25-26 
06 Contract Time 26 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 26 
08 Weekly record of Working Days 26 
09 Liquidated Damages 26 
10 Progress Payments and Vouchers 26-27 
11 Storm Water Pollution Prevention    27-28 
12 Method of Measurement 28 
13 Basis of Payment                                                                              28-29 

499

Item 28.



 

3 

 

DIVISION 3 – Standard Specifications 

 
The City of Cedar Falls has adopted the 2021 Edition of the STATEWIDE 
URBAN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS 
(SUDAS) as the City’s Standard Specification. 
 
This Standard Specification is amended by the “City of Cedar Falls” 
Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 Edition of SUDAS.  

 

 Links to both documents can be found on the City’s website at: 
 www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards   
 
DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS - BID ITEMS 30 
  

500

Item 28.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards


 

4 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, 
FORM OF CONTRACT, AND ESTIMATE OF COST FOR THE  

2021 STREET PATCHING PROJECT IN THE 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
TO ALL TAXPAYERS OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND OTHER 
PERSONS INTERESTED: 
 

Public notice is hereby given that the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, will conduct a Public Hearing on Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and 

Estimated Total Cost for the construction of the 2021 STREET PATCHING PROJECT 

in said City at 7:00 p.m. on the 21st day of September 2021, said meeting to be held in 

the Council Chambers in the City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

Said Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and Estimated Total Cost are now 

on file in the office of the City Clerk in the City Hall in Cedar Falls, Iowa, and may be 

inspected by any persons interested. 

Any person interested may appear at said meeting of the City Council for the 

purpose of making objections to said Plans, Specifications, Contract, or Estimated Total 

Cost of making said improvement. 

This notice given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

    By: _______________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC  

City Clerk 

501

Item 28.



 

5 

 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 

2021 STREET PATCHING PROJECT 
 

Time and Place of Pre-bid Meeting:  There will NOT be a pre-bid meeting. 
 
Time and Place for Filing Sealed Proposals: Proposals will only be accepted electronically on 
the Quest CDN website before 2:00 p.m. on the 24th day of September 2021.  
 
Time and Place Sealed Proposals will be Opened and Considered: Sealed proposals will be 
opened publicly online at 2:00 p.m. on the 24th day of September 2021 at www.questcdn.com, 
for consideration by the City of Cedar Falls City Council at its meeting at 7:00 PM on the 4th day 
of October 2021 or at such later time and place as may be fixed. The City of Cedar Falls 
reserves the right to reject any and all proposals including without limitation, nonconforming, 
nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional bids. 
 
Time for Commencement and Completion of Work: The work under the proposed contract shall 
commence within ten (10) calendar days after the date set forth in the written Notice to Proceed 
and shall be performed regularly and diligently throughout the duration of the project. Contractor 
shall reach substantial completion no later than May 13th, 2022 and shall fully complete close-
out of the project no later than May 27th, 2022.  
 
Bid Security: Bidders shall provide a bid security in the amount defined in the Instructions to 
Bidders- Division 1 Section 05.  A scanned copy of the Bid Bond must be included with the 
online bid submitted at www.questcdn.com. 
 
Performance and Payment Bonds: The successful Bidder shall furnish to the City a performance 
bond in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price, guaranteeing 
faithful performance of the contract and guaranteeing the completed project against defective 
workmanship and materials for a period of two (2) years from and after completion and 
acceptance by the City. The successful Bidder shall also provide a payment bond in an amount 
equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price guaranteeing payment of all persons 
supplying labor and materials, or both, in the execution of the work provided for in the contract.  
 
Contract Documents: The contract documents are available at www.cedarfalls.com/QuestCDN 
and www.questCDN.com .  This contract is QuestCDN project number #8022812.  A contractor 
may view the contract documents at no cost prior to deciding to become a Planholder.  To be 
considered a Planholder for bids, a contractor must register with QuestCDN.com.  Registering 
as a planholder is recommended for all prime contractors and subcontractors as Planholders 
will receive automatic notice of addenda and other contract document updates via QuestCDN.  
Contact QuestCDN Customer Support at (952) 233-1632 or info@questcdn.com for assistance 
in membership registration, downloading digital project information and vBid online bid submittal 
questions.  To access the electronic bid form, download the project documents and click the 
online bid button at the top of the bid advertisement page.  Bids will only be received and 
accepted via the online electronic bid service through QuestCDN.com. To access the electronic 
bid form, download the project documents and click on the online bid button at the top of the bid 
advertisement page.  Prospective bidders must be on the Planholder list through QuestCDN for 
bids to be accepted.   
 

502

Item 28.

http://www.questcdn.com/
http://www.questcdn.com/
http://www.cedarfalls.com/QuestCDN
http://www.questcdn.com/
mailto:info@questcdn.com


 

6 

 

If any prospective bidder is in doubt as to the true meaning of any parts of the contract 
documents, the bidder may request an interpretation from the Engineer, in writing, either 
through mail, fax or email. Questions received less than five (5) days prior to the date for 
opening bids may not be answered. 
 
Contact individuals shall be as follows: 
 
Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 
Cedar Falls Engineering Department                               
220 Clay Street                                                                 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613                                                       
Brett.Armstrong@cedarfalls.com                                                  
 
Any interpretation of the contract documents will be made in writing and only by addendum with 
online notification given to bidders.  Only questions answered by Addenda will be binding.  Oral 
and other interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect.  Addenda may be issued to 
clarify, correct or change the contract documents as deemed advisable by the City of Cedar 
Falls or the Engineer of record.  
 

Preference for Iowa Products and Labor:  By virtue of statutory authority, a preference will be 

given to products and provisions grown and coal produced within the State of Iowa. 
 
In accordance with Iowa statutes, a resident bidder shall be allowed a preference as against a 
nonresident bidder from a state or foreign country if that state or foreign country gives or 
requires any preference to bidders from that state or foreign country, including but not limited to 
any preference to bidders, the imposition of any type of labor force preference, or any other 
form of preferential treatment to bidders or laborers from that state or foreign country. The 
preference allowed shall be equal to the preference given or required by the state or foreign 
country in which the nonresident bidder is a resident. In the instance of a resident labor force 
preference, a nonresident bidder shall apply the same resident labor force preference to a 
public improvement in this state as would be required in the construction of a public 
improvement by the state or foreign country in which the nonresident bidder is a resident. 
 
Failure to submit a fully completed Bidder Status Form with the bid may result in the bid being 
deemed nonresponsive and rejected. 
 

Sales Tax: Contractors and approved subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 

Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment to be used in the 
performance of this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project shall be exempt 
from tax as provided by Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 423.45. 
 
Project Description: This project involves the construction of forty-six (46) utility patched on 
existing City streets. Work shall include 644.32 SY removal and replacement of the existing 
pavement; 117.74 ton HMA patches; 104.24 LF of PCC Curb and Gutter; subgrade preparation; 
replacement of driveway approaches and pedestrian ramps. Traffic control and flaggers will be 
required on some of this project.    

503

Item 28.

mailto:Brett.Armstrong@cedarfalls.com


 

7 

 

Published upon order of the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 
   CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
   BY: __________________________ 
          Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
           City Clerk 

  

504

Item 28.



 

8 

 

DIVISION 1 – Instructions to Bidders 

 
The work comprising 2021 STREET PATCHING Project shall be constructed in 
accordance with the 2021 Edition of the SUDAS and as further modified by the City of 
Cedar Falls’ Supplemental Specifications and the special provision included in the 
contract documents. The terms used in the contract revision of the documents are 
defined in said Standard Specifications. 
Before submitting your bid, please review the requirements of “Division One, General 
Provisions and Covenants”, in particular the sections regarding proposal requirements, 
bonding, contract execution, and insurance requirements.  Please be certain that all 
documents have been completed properly; as failure to complete and sign all documents 
and to comply with the requirements listed below can cause your bid not to be read. 
 
01 Definition and Terms 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1010 – 1.03: 
 
Code of Iowa: The latest edition of the Code of Iowa 
 
Engineer: The City Engineer of Cedar Falls, Iowa or an authorized representative. 
 
Owner: The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa acting through its City Council. 
 
Project: 2021 STREET PATCHING PROJECT 

Project No. RS-000-3275 
 
02 Qualification of the Bidder 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.01: 
 
To demonstrate bidder’s qualifications to perform the work, within five days of the 
Owners request, bidder shall submit written evidence such as may be called for below: 
 
The address and description of the bidder’s place of business; The number of years 
engaged in the contracting business under the present firm name, and the name of the 
state where incorporated; A list of the property and equipment available to the bidder to 
evaluate if the bidder can complete the work in accordance with the bidding documents; 
A financial statement of the bidder showing that the bidder has the financial resources 
to meet all obligations incidental to the work; The bidder’s performance record giving the 
description, location, and telephone number of similar projects constructed in a 
satisfactory manner by the bidder; A list of projects presently under contract, the 
approximate contract amount and the percent of completion of each; A list of contracts 
which resulted in lawsuits; A list of contracts defaulted; A statement of the bidder 
indicating whether or not the bidder has ever filed bankruptcy while performing work of a 
like nature or magnitude;  A list of officers of the firm who, while in the employ of the firm 
or the employ of previous firms, were associated with contracts which resulted in 

505

Item 28.



 

9 

 

lawsuits, contracts defaulted or filed for bankruptcy; The technical experience of 
personnel guaranteed to be employed in responsible charge of the work stating whether 
the personnel have or have not performed satisfactorily on other contracts of like nature 
and magnitude or comparable difficulty at similar rate of progress; Such additional 
information as will assist the Owner in determining whether the bidder is adequately 
prepared to fulfill the contract. Owner’s decision as to qualifications of the bidder will be 
final. 
 
The Owner hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that in any contract 
entered into pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be 
afforded full opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be 
discriminated against on the grounds of race, color or national origin in consideration for 
an award. 
 
03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.02: 
 
Plans, specifications, and proposal forms may be obtained from the office of the City 
Engineer. Plans, specifications, and proposal forms have been approved by the City 
Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. 
Contract documents are also available electronically through the City’s website under 
“Bid Opportunities”. 
 
04 Taxes 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.08: 
 
Contractors and approved subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 
Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment to be used in the 
performance of this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project will be 
exempt from tax as provided by Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 423.45. 
 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.12: 
 
The bid security must be in the minimum amount of 10% of the total bid amount including 
all add alternates (do not deduct the amount of deduct alternates). The bid security shall 
be in the form of a cashier's check or certified check drawn on a state-chartered or 
federally chartered bank, or a certified share draft drawn on a state-chartered or federally 
chartered credit union, or a bidder's bond with corporate surety satisfactory to the City. 
The bid bond must be submitted on the enclosed Bid Bond form, as no other bid bond 
forms are acceptable.  All signatures on the bid bond must be original signatures in ink; 
facsimile (fax) of any signature on the bid bond is not acceptable.  Bid security other than 
said bid bond shall be made payable to City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls”. 
 

506

Item 28.



 

10 

 

 
 
“Miscellaneous Bank checks”, as well as “Money Orders” and “Traveler’s Checks” issued 
by persons, firms or corporations licensed under Code of Iowa Chapter 533B are not 
acceptable bid security. 
 
The bid shall be submitted on the Form of Proposal included herewith or on a computer 
printed proposal. All entries on this proposal shall be filled in ink, typed or computer 
printed. The bidder shall not alter the quantity, unit price or the extension that has been 
provided for items that have been predetermined by the contracting authority. 
 
If the proposal is computer generated, the bidder shall submit a form titled as “Form of 
Proposal,” followed by: the project name, project number, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
and the bidder's name. The form shall then include the item numbers, item descriptions, 
and units and their quantities. The bidder shall specify a unit price in figures of dollars 
and cents for all pay items, the extensions for the respective unit prices and quantities in 
figures in a column provided for the purpose, and the total amount of the proposal 
obtained by adding the amounts of the several items. The form shall then conclude with 
the bidder's name, that of its representative and the representative's signature. 
 
The computer generated proposal then is to be attached to the Form of Proposal 
included herewith, which has the following entries completed: bid security sum and 
form, the name of the bidder and its official address, and the bidder's representative's 
name, signature, and title. Also the total bid shall be completed with the entry of "see 
attached." 
 
The proposal shall be submitted in a sealed envelope separate from the bid security, 
bidders status form and non-collusion Affidavit. The envelope shall bear the return 
address of the bidder and shall be addressed as follows: 
 

To: City Clerk 
City of Cedar Falls 
City Hall 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 
Proposal for: 2021 STREET PATCHING PROJECT 

Project No. RS-000-3275 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

507

Item 28.



 

11 

 

 
FORM OF PROPOSAL 

2021 STREET PATCHING PROJECT 
PROJECT NO.  
RS-000-3275 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

 

To the Mayor and City Council 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
The undersigned hereby certifies that __________________________ have personally 

and carefully examined the specifications, general conditions, and form of contract 

annexed hereto. Having made such examination, the undersigned hereby proposes to 

construct the improvements for the 2021 STREET PATCHING PROJECT in 

accordance with the plans and specifications on file in the office of the City Clerk, the 

published Notice to Bidders and the Form of Contract, herewith, complying with all the 

laws of the State of Iowa, and the Rules, Regulations and Ordinances of the City of 

Cedar Falls, and to the satisfaction of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

including the guaranteeing of this Project for a period of two (2) years from the date of 

final acceptance thereof at the following prices, to-wit: 

 
 
 

BID 
ITEM 

# 
DESCRIPTION UNITS QUANTITY UNIT PRICE 

EXTENDED 
PRICE 

1 Removal of Pavement S.Y. 677.1   

2 Removal of Curb & Gutter L.F. 92.7   

3 Removal of Driveway S.Y. 13.2   

4 Removal of Sidewalk S.Y. 43.1   

5 Saw Cutting for Removals L.F. 2110.1   

508

Item 28.



 

12 

 

BID 
ITEM # 

DESCRIPTION UNITS QUANTITY UNIT PRICE 
EXTENDED 

PRICE 

6 
Excavation, Class 10, Unstable 
Material C.Y. 214.8   

7 
Curb, P.C.C., 7 In. 2.0 Ft. Width,  
Type “C” Class III L.F. 53.1   

8 
Curb, P.C.C., 7 In. 2.5 Ft. Width,  
Type “C”, Class III L.F. 39.9   

9 
Curb, P.C.C., 7 In. 3.0 Ft. Width,  
Type “C”, Class III L.F. 11.3   

10 Modified Subbase C.Y. 214.8   

11 Topsoil, Furnish & Spread C.Y. 3.1   

12 Hydraulic Seeding S.Y. 28.2   

13 Driveway, P.C.C., 6 In., Class “C” S.Y. 13.2   

14 Sidewalk, P.C.C., 4 In., Class “C” S.Y. 41.2   

15 Sidewalk, P.C.C., 6 In., Class “C” S.Y. 2.0   

16 
Pedestrian Ramps, Detectable 
Warning S.F. 48.0   

17 Utility Patch, P.C.C., Type "C" Class III S.Y. 644.4   

18 
Utility Patch, HMA (ST) Surf., ½”., PG58-
28S TONS 117.8   

19 Compaction of Subgrade S.Y. 677.1   

20 Traffic Control L.S. 1.00   

    TOTAL BID  

 

 
Bidders may not independently bid on selective items of work. In this project, all items 
constitute one indivisible work that will be let to one bidder. A unit price shall be 
submitted for each of the items (Items 1-20). The successful bidder will be determined 
by evaluating the Total Bid shown above. Failure to submit a bid on any item shall be 
just cause for disqualification of the entire proposal. Unit bids must be filled in ink, typed 
or computer generated, or the bid will be rejected. The Owner reserves the right to 
delete any part or all of any item. 
 

The Owner reserves the right to reject any and all bids, including without limitation, 
nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional bids. The Owner further 
reserves the right to reject the bid of any bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inquiry 
and evaluation, to be non-responsible. The Owner may also reject the bid of any bidder 
if the Owner believes that it would not be in the best interest of the project to make an 
award to that bidder. The Owner also reserves the right to waive all informalities not 
involving price, time or changes in the work. 
 

509

Item 28.



 

13 

 

If written notice of approval of award is mailed, telegraphed or delivered to the 
undersigned within forty-five (45) calendar days after the opening thereof, or any time 
thereafter before this bid is withdrawn, the undersigned agrees to execute and deliver 
an agreement in the prescribed form and furnish the required bond within ten (10) 
calendar days after the Contract is presented to the Contractor for signature, and start 
work within ten (10) calendar days after the date as set forth in the written Notice to 
Proceed. 
 

Bid Security in the sum of _________________________________ in the form of 
__________________________________, is submitted herewith in accordance with 
the Instructions to Bidders. 
 

The bidder is prepared to submit a financial and experience statement upon request. 
 

The bidder has received the following Addendum or Addenda: 
 

Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
  ______________ _____________ 
 

The bidder has filled in all blanks on this Proposal. 
 

Note: The Penalty for making false statements in offers is prescribed in 18 U.S.A., 
Section 1001. 
 
 
Name of bidder 
 
________________________________  _____________________________ 

   By 
________________________________  _____________________________  
Official Address   Title  

510

Item 28.



 

14 

 

BID BOND 
 

 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, ___________________________________________ 
__________________________, as Principal, and ___________________________________________ 
as Surety are held and firmly bound unto the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as Obligee, hereinafter called "OBLIGEE," 
In the penal sum of______________________________________ Dollars ($______________) lawful money of 
the United States, for the payment of which sum will and truly be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, 
administrators, and successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. Whereas the Principal has submitted 
the accompanying bid dated the _______ day of_______________________, 20_____, for 
___________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, 
 
(a) If said Bid shall be rejected, or in the alternate, 
 
(b) If said Bid shall be accepted and the Principal shall execute and deliver a contract in the form specified and 

shall furnish a bond for the faithful performance of said contract, and for the payment of all persons 
performing labor or furnishing materials in connection therewith, and shall in all other respects perform the 
agreement created by the acceptance of said Bid, 

 
Then this obligation shall be void, otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect; it being expressly 
understood and agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all claims hereunder shall, in no event, exceed the 
penal amount of this obligation as herein stated. 
 
By virtue of statutory authority, the full amount of this bid bond shall be forfeited to the Obligee in liquidation of 
damages sustained in the event that the Principal fails to execute the contract and provide the bond as provided in 
the specifications or by law. 
 
The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said Surety and its bond shall 
be in no way impaired or affected by any extension of the time within which the Obligee may accept such Bid or 
execute such contract; and said Surety does hereby waive notice of any such extension. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and the Surety, have hereunto set their hands and seals, and such of them 
as are corporations, have caused their corporate seals to be hereto affixed and these presents to be signed by their 
proper officers this ______ day of ____________________, A.D., 20_____. 
 
 
 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Principal 

 
 
_______________________________________ By_______________________________ (Title) 
Witness 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Surety 

 
_______________________________________ By____________________________________ 
Witness                                  Attorney-in-fact 

511

Item 28.



 

15 

 

512

Item 28.



 

16 

 

513

Item 28.



 

17 

 

                 NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT OF PRIME BIDDER           
 PROJECT NO. RS-000-3275 

STATE OF _______________________  
                           ss 

COUNTY OF _____________________ 
 
 
__________________________________, being first duly sworn, deposes and says that: 
 
(1)  We are _______________________________________________________ of 
______________            (Owner, partner, officer, representative, or 
agent) 
 
_____________________________, the Bidder that has submitted the attached bid: 
 
(2)  We are fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached bid and of all 
pertinent circumstances respecting such bid: 
 
(3)   Such bid is genuine and is not a collusive or sham bid: 
 
(4)  Neither the said Bidder nor any of its officers, partners, Owners, agents, representatives, 
employees or parties in interest, including this affiant, has in any way colluded, conspired, connived or 
agreed, directly or indirectly, with any other Bidder, firm or person to submit a collusive or sham bid in 
connection with the Contract for which the attached bid has been submitted or to refrain from bidding in 
connection with such Contract, or has in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or 
collusion or communication or conference with any other Bidder, firm or person to fix the price or prices in 
the attached bid or of any other Bidder, or, to fix any overhead, profit or cost element of the bid price of 
any other Bidder, or to secure through any collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement any 
advantage against the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any person interested in the proposed Contract; and 
 
(5)   The price or prices quoted in the attached bid are fair and proper and are not tainted by a 
collusion, conspiracy, connivance or unlawful agreement on the part of the Bidder or any of its agents, 
representatives, Owners, employees or parties in interest, including this affiant. 
 
 
 
   __________________________________________ 

Signed      
  __________________________________________ 

    Title 
 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me 
 
this _______ day of ________________, 20_____ 
 
________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________ 
Title 
 
My Commission expires ______________________. 
  

514

Item 28.



 

18 

 

FORM OF CONTRACT 

 
This Contract entered into in quadruplicate at Cedar Falls, Iowa, this ____ day of 

_________, 2021, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter called the 

Owner, and_____________ of ___________________, hereinafter called the 

Contractor. 

WITNESSETH: 

The Contractor hereby agrees to furnish all labor, tools, materials and equipment 

and construct the public improvement consisting of: 2021 STREET PATCHING 

PROJECT, Project No. RS-000-3275 all in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, ordered to be 

constructed by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, by Resolution duly 

passed on the 7th day of September, 2021 and shown and described in the Plans and 

Specifications therefore now on file with the City Clerk of said City. 

Said improvement shall be constructed strictly in accordance with said Plans and 

Specifications. 

The following parts of the Plans and Specifications for said Project No. RS-000-

3275 attached hereto shall be made a part of this contract as fully as though set out 

herein verbatim: 

a. Resolution ordering construction of the improvement 
b. Plans 
c. Notice of Public Hearing on Plans and Specifications 
d. Notice to Bidders 
e. Instructions to Bidders 
f. Supplemental Conditions 
g. General Conditions 
h. Project Specifications 
i. Form of Proposal 
j. Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond 
k. Form of Contract 
l. Non-collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 

515

Item 28.



 

19 

 

 m. Bidders Status Form 
 
 
In Witness whereof, this Contract has been executed in quadruplicate on the date first  
 
herein written.   
 

 __________________________ 
 Contractor 

 
 
    CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
    By____________________________ 

    Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: _________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
 City Clerk 

516

Item 28.



 

20 

 

Performance, Payment and Maintenance Bond 
 

SURETY  BOND NO.           

 

 

 KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: 

  

 That we, __________________________, as Principal (hereinafter the “Contractor” or “Principal” and 

____________________________________________________ as Surety are held and firmly bound unto 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, as Obligee (hereinafter referred to as “the Owner”), and to all persons 

who may be injured by any breach of any of the conditions of this Bond in the penal sum of 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

($_______________), lawful money of the United States, for the payment of which sum, well and truly to 

be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, legal representatives and assigns, jointly or severally, firmly by these 

presents. 

  

 The conditions of the above obligations are such that whereas said Contractor entered into a contract with 

the Owner, bearing date the _______ day of __________, 2021, hereinafter the “Contract”) wherein said 

Contractor undertakes and agrees to construct the following described improvements: 

 

2021 STREET PATCHING Project 

Paving/ Subdrainage 

Project RS-000-3275 
 

To faithfully perform all the terms and requirements of said Contract within the time therein specified, in a 

good and workmanlike manner, and in accordance with the Contract Documents.   
 
It is expressly understood and agreed by the Contractor and Surety in this bond that the following provisions 

are a part of this Bond and are binding upon said Contractor and Surety, to-wit: 
 
1. PERFORMANCE:  The Contractor shall well and faithfully observe, perform, fulfill, and abide by   

each and every covenant, condition, and part of said Contract and Contract Documents, by reference 

made a part hereof, for the above referenced improvements, and shall indemnify and save harmless 

the Owner from all outlay and expense incurred by the Owner by reason of the Contractor’s default 

or failure to perform as required.  The Contractor shall also be responsible for the default or failure to 

perform as required under the Contract and Contract Documents by all its subcontractors, suppliers, 

agents, or employees furnishing materials or providing labor in the performance of the Contract. 
     
 2. PAYMENT:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agreed to pay all just claims 

submitted by persons, firms, subcontractors, and corporations furnishing materials for or performing 

labor in the performance of the Contract on account of which this Bond is given, including but not 

limited to claims for all amounts due for labor, materials, lubricants, oil, gasoline, repairs on 

machinery, equipment, and tools, consumed or used by the Contractor or any subcontractor, wherein 

the same are not satisfied out of the portion of the contract price the Owner is required to retain until 

completion of the improvement, but the Contractor and Surety shall not be liable to said persons, 

firms, or corporations unless the claims of said claimants against said portion of the contract price 

shall have been established as provided by law.  The Contractor and Surety hereby bind themselves 

to the obligations and conditions set forth in Chapter 573 of the Iowa Code, which by this reference 

is made a part hereof as though fully set out herein. 
     

517

Item 28.



 

21 

 

 3. MAINTENANCE:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agree, at their own expense: 

 

A. To remedy any and all defects that may develop in or result from work to be performed 

under the Contract within the period of   2   year (s) from the date of acceptance 

of the work under the Contract, by reason of defects in workmanship or materials used 

in construction of said work; 

 

   B. To keep all work in continuous good repair; and 

 

   C. To pay the Owner’s reasonable costs of monitoring and inspection to assure that any 

defects are remedied, and to repay the Owner all outlay and expense incurred as a result 

of Contractor’s and Surety’s failure to remedy any defect as required by this section. 

 

Contractor’s and Surety’s agreement herein made extends to defects in workmanship or 

materials not discovered or known to the Owner at the time such work was accepted. 
 

 4. GENERAL:  Every Surety on this Bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the 

contrary notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 

 

   A. To consent without notice to any extension of time to the Contractor in which to 

perform the Contract; 

 

   B.  To consent without notice to any change in the Contract or Contract Documents, which 

thereby increases the total contract price and the penal sum of this bond, provided that 

all such changes do not, in the aggregate, involve an increase of more than 20% of the 

total contract price, and that this bond shall then be released as to such excess increase; 

and  

 

    C. To consent without notice that this Bond shall remain in full force and effect until the 

Contract is completed, whether completed within the specified contract period, within 

an extension thereof, or within a period of time after the contract period has elapsed and 

the liquidated damage penalty is being charged against the Contractor. 

 

The Contractor and every Surety on the bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the contrary 

notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 
 
        D. That no provision of this Bond or of any other contract shall be valid that limits to     

less than five years after the acceptance of the work under the Contract the right to sue 

on this Bond. 
     
        E. That is used herein, the phrase “all outlay and expense” is not to be limited in any way, 

but shall include the actual and reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Owner 

including interest, benefits, and overhead where applicable.  Accordingly, “all outlay 

and expense” would include but not be limited to all contract or employee expense, all 

equipment usage or rental, materials, testing, outside experts, attorney’s fees (including 

overhead expenses of the Owner’s staff attorneys), and all costs and expenses of 

litigation as they are incurred by the Owner.  It is intended the Contractor and Surety 

will defend and indemnify the Owner on all claims made against the Owner on account 

of Contractor’s failure to perform as required in the Contract and Contract Documents, 

that all agreements and promises set forth in the Contract and Contract Documents, in 

approved change orders, and in this Bond will be fulfilled, and that the Owner will be 

518

Item 28.



 

22 

 

fully indemnified so that it will be put into the position it would have been in had the 

Contract been performed in the first instance as required. 
     

In the event the Owner incurs any “outlay and expense” in defending itself against any claim as to 

which the Contractor or Surety should have provided the defense, or in the enforcement of the 

promises given by the Contractor in the Contract, Contract Documents, or approved change orders, or 

in the enforcement of the promises given by the Contractor and Surety in this Bond, the Contractor 

and Surety agree that they will make the Owner whole for all such outlay and expense, provided that 

the Surety’s obligation under this bond shall not exceed 125% of the penal sum of this bond. 

  

In the event that any actions or proceedings are initiated regarding this Bond, the parties agree that the venue 

thereof shall be in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk County, State of Iowa.  If legal action is required 

by the Owner to enforce the provisions of this Bond or to collect the monetary obligation incurring to the 

benefit of the Owner, the Contractor and the Surety agree, jointly, and severally, to pay the Owner all outlay 

and expense incurred therefor by the Owner.  All rights, powers, and remedies of the Owner hereunder shall 

be cumulative and not alternative and shall be in addition to all rights, powers, and remedies given to the 

Owner, by law.  The Owner may proceed against surety for any amount guaranteed hereunder whether 

action is brought against the Contractor or whether Contractor is joined in any such action(s) or not. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, the condition of this obligation is such that if said Principal shall faithfully perform all 

the promises of the Principal, as set forth and provided in the Contract, in the Contract Documents, and in 

this Bond, then this obligation shall be null and void, otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

When a work, term, or phrase is used in this Bond, it shall be interpreted or construed first as defined in this 

Bond, the Contract, or the Contract Documents; second, if not defined in the Bond, Contract, or Contract 

Documents, it shall be interpreted or construed as defined in applicable provisions of the Iowa Code; third, 

if not defined in the Iowa Code, it shall be interpreted or construed according to its generally accepted 

meaning in the construction industry; and fourth, if it has no generally accepted meaning in the construction 

industry, it shall be interpreted or construed according to its common or customary usage. 

 

Failure to specify or particularize shall not exclude terms or provisions not mentioned and shall not limit 

liability hereunder.  The Contract and Contract Documents are hereby made a part of this Bond. 

 

 

519

Item 28.



 

23 

 

         Project No. RS-000-3275 

 

Witness our hands, in triplicate, this _______ day of ____________, 2021. 

 

  Surety Countersigned By:                                PRINCIPAL: 

 

     ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
      Signature of Agent                 Contractor 

  

 

 By:    _________________________________  

                                      Signature 

     ___________________________________                   _________________________________          

                  Printed Name of Agent                       Title 

 

 ___________________________________  SURETY: 
                          Company Name           

 

 ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
                        Company Address                                       Surety Company 

 

 ___________________________________   By:    _________________________________ 
                        City, State, Zip Code                                             Signature Attorney-in-Fact Officer 

 

 ______________________________________    ____________________________________ 
                  Company Telephone Number                               Printed Name of Attorney-in-Fact Officer 

 

                                                                                            _________________________________ 
                            Company Name 

 

                                                                                         _________________________________ 
                                                Company Address 

  FORM APPROVED BY: 
                                                                                                             _________________________________ 
                     City, State, Zip Code 
 

 ________________________________________________   _____________________________________________ 

                         Attorney for Owner                                                              Company Telephone Number 

 

 

 

NOTE: 

  

 1. All signatures on this performance, payment, and maintenance bond must be original 

signatures in ink; copies, facsimile, or electronic signatures will not be accepted. 

 2.  This bond must be sealed with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 

 3. The Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond must be valid on its face and 

sealed with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 

 4. The name and signature of the Surety’s Attorney-in-Fact/Officer entered on this bond must be 

exactly as listed on the Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond. 

 

 

 

 

 

520

Item 28.



 

24 

 

NOTICE TO PROCEED 
TO: ______________________________ DATE: _________________________________ 
 
       ______________________________ PROJECT: 2021 STREET RECONSTRUCTION 
               RS-000-3275 
       ______________________________          Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
You are hereby notified to commence WORK in accordance with the Agreement dated 
___________________, 2021, within ten (10) calendar days of _____________________, 
2021 and you are to complete the WORK as follows: furnish all labor, material and 
equipment necessary for construction of the 2021 STREET PATCHING PROJECT. 
 
The work under the proposed contract shall commence within ten (10) calendar days after 
the date set forth in this written Notice to Proceed and shall be performed regularly and 
diligently through the duration of the project.  
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of one thousand ($1,000.00) dollars per calendar day 
will be assessed for each calendar day for each Street or Stage of a street (e.g. Stage 1, 2) 
that is not substantially complete after the expiration of the contract time set forth. Each 
subsequent stage will start over with the contract time shown after agreed approval with the 
owner’s representative to proceed from previous stage. Liquidated damages in the amount 
of one thousand ($1,000.00) dollars per calendar day will be assessed for each calendar 
day that any work remains uncompleted after May 13

th
, 2022 (substantial completion) 

regardless of the status of previous stages. Substantial completion shall mean that the 
stages are fully open to the general public with minor work (e.g. watering) to be completed 
without requiring closures. Contractor shall reach substantial completion no later than 
November 5

th
, and shall fully complete the close-out process no later than May 27

th
, 2022. If 

remaining punch list items remain after May 27
th
, 2022 liquidated damages will go into effect 

in the amount of one thousand ($1,000.00) dollars per calendar day until completed.  
 
 
 
 
 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa______________ 
(OWNER) 

 
 

By_______________________________ 
 
Title______________________________ 

 

 
 
 
 

521

Item 28.



 

25 

 

DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 
 

 
Special Provisions are intended to amend or supplement the General Provisions and Covenants 
of the SUDAS Standard Specifications. All sections that are not amended or supplemented 
remain in full force and effect. 

 
01 Award of Contract 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1030 – 1.03: 
 
The lowest responsive bidder shall be required to furnish a performance, payment and 
maintenance bond in the sum equal to one hundred (100%) percent of the total bid. The 
maintenance bond shall guarantee the maintenance of the improvements for a period of two (2) 
years from and after its completion and acceptance by the City of Cedar Falls. 

 
02 Availability of Site 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1050 – 1.04: 
 
During construction of this project, the Contractor shall be required to coordinate all operations 
with those of other Contractors working within the same area of the following projects and/or 
events: 
 

1) UNI Fall Classes Resume – August 23, 2021 
2) Cedar Falls Public Schools Resume (Tentative)– August 23, 2021 
3) UNI Homecoming – October 2, 2021 

 
03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1050 – 1.10: 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Engineer at least 48 hours prior to the need for survey stakes. 
The Contractor shall be responsible for preserving survey stakes and marks and if any survey 
stakes or marks are destroyed or disturbed by the Contractor, Contractor will be charged for the 
cost of replacing them. 

 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1070 – 2.13: 
 
It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide waste areas or disposal sites for excess 
material which is not desirable to be incorporated in the work involved on this project 
(excavation or broken concrete). No payment for overhaul will be allowed for material hauled to 
these sites. The Engineer shall review all proposed disposal sites and determine the 
acceptability of each. Overhaul will not be measured or paid for but will be considered incidental 
to pavement removal or roadway excavation on this project. 
 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 
 

522

Item 28.



 

26 

 

Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.01: 
 
The Contractor's own organization shall perform work amounting to not less than thirty five 
(35%) percent of the total contract cost unless otherwise specified. Item designated as a 
specialty item may be performed by subcontract, and the cost of any such specialty item as 
performed by subcontract may be deducted from the total cost before computing the amount of 
work required by the Contractor's organization.  

 
06 Contract Time 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.02: 
 
The work on the Contract shall commence ten calendar days after the date set forth in the 
written Notice to Proceed and shall be completed by calendar day, May 27th, 2022 as set forth in 
the written Notice to Proceed. 
 
If not local traffic within the allotted calendar days, liquidated damages of $1,000.00 per day will 
be assessed.  

 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.03: 
 
The progress of the work shall be such that at the expiration of one-fourth of the calendar days, 
one-eighth of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of one-half of the calendar days, 
three-eighths of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of three-fourths of the calendar 
days, the work shall be three-fourths completed, and the whole work shall be completed at the 
expiration of the calendar days. 

 
08 Weekly Record of Calendar Days 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.06: 
 
Work shall not begin before 7:00 a.m. and shall stop at sunset. Work on Sundays and Holiday’s 
shall only be allowed after prior written approval by the Engineer. 

 
09 Liquidated Damages 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.12: 

 
Liquidated damages in the amount of one thousand ($1,000.00) dollars per calendar day will be 
assessed for work not completed within the designated contract term as described in the Notice 
to Proceed. 

 
10 Progress Payments and Vouchers 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1090 – 1.01: 

 

523

Item 28.



 

27 

 

Pay estimates will be submitted to the City Council for approval on the First and Third Mondays 
of each month. 
 
Payment to the Contractor will be made in cash from such cash funds of said City as may be 
legally used for said purposes, including the proceeds of the Local Option Tax and General 
Obligation Bonds. Any other combination of funds may be used at the discretion of the City 
Council. 
 
See Division 2 – Special Provisions Section 06- Contract time for liquidated damages for 
Intermediate calendar days. 
 
Before final payment is made, the Contractor shall furnish lien waivers with original signatures 
showing that all subcontractors and all persons furnishing labor and materials have been fully 
paid for such materials and labor. The City may retain the last month's payment for a period of 
ninety (90) calendar days following such completion and approval, unless satisfied that material 
and laborers have been paid in full. Electronic signatures will be accepted on lien waivers. 

 
11 Storm Water Pollution Prevention  
 
1. Site Description 
 
The proposed 2021 STREET PATCHING Project involves construction of portions of forty-three 
(43) existing residential city streets by removal of the existing pavement, driveways and 
replacement with a new P.C. Concrete or Hot Mixed Asphalt street patch. The construction of 
patches should be staged by the contractor to provide access to the properties within the 
closure for access by the fire department, police department, and ambulance service in the 
event of an emergency.  
 
The Project consists of construction of residential streets with intent to minimize the time of 
construction and the exposure of subgrade soils to erosion. Upon removal of pavement in any 
area, underground construction begins immediately and construction proceeds continuously 
until that section of road is re-opened to traffic. The existing soils are Kenyon-Clyde-Urban land 
complex, with 2 to 9 percent slopes. All streets included in the project are designed with positive 
drainage to the existing storm sewer system that eventually drains into various branches of Dry 
Run Creek and then to the Cedar River. 

 
The project plan set shows the intended construction staging plan and minimum details of the 
erosion control measures to be included in this project. No data is recorded regarding quality of 
runoff from the project streets. The Rational Method runoff coefficient used for the design of the 
storm sewer and intake system was 0.4 for low density residential. 
 
2. Erosion and Sediment Controls 
 
Construction activities that disturb subgrade soils are shown in the construction staging plan as 
included in the Project plan set. The primary means of controlling silt movement during 
construction is by minimizing the exposure of subgrade soils by way of a designated staging 
plan. In addition, sediment filters shall be installed on intake wells in sump locations and at the 
low point of the construction stage. Also, silt dams shall be installed at the low point of a 
construction stage where necessary to prevent silt from migrating off site. Sediment filters shall 

524

Item 28.



 

28 

 

also be placed on finished intake openings until the areas between the back of curb and the 
existing undisturbed grass are sodded or have established growth from seeding. 
 
Stabilizing of all disturbed areas shall be by sodding, seeding or hydromulch as soon as 
practical after completion of the backfilling of the curbs and the placement of the topsoil. 
Hydromulch shall be incidental if seeding is not incorporated due to temperatures. No areas 
shall be left unprotected for more than 14 days. The Contractor shall be responsible for 
installation and maintenance of all erosion control measures as described in the plans. The 
Contractor may elect to delegate portions of these tasks to subcontractors. 
 
All contractors operating on the site shall take efforts to prevent contamination of storm water 
runoff, groundwater and soils by hazardous material and/or pollutants caused by work 
operations or encountered in their work. All waste building materials and supplies must be 
removed from the site. If construction equipment maintenance or repair is performed on the site, 
provisions must be made to capture and remove any lubricants or other fluids. 

 
The Contractor shall notify the Owner immediately upon finding a hazardous material 
contamination either existing at the site or caused by construction activities. 
 
Each and every Contractor shall be responsible to the Owner to: 

1. Conduct all activities to not damage an existing erosion control measure or stabilizing 
vegetation.  If damages occur, the Contractor shall make repairs with no additional cost 
to the Owner. 

2. Coordinate with the Owner for installation of additional erosion control measures that 
may be needed during construction. 
 

3. Storm Water Management   
 

Storm water shall be routed by means of concrete curb intakes and storm sewer. Concrete and 
plastic pipes shall be used to channel water from curb intakes to the existing main storm sewer 
pipes. Temporary sediment basins were not incorporated because of the limited area exposed 
in each stage of street construction. Sediment filters shall be incorporated in specific intakes to 
serve as sediment control structures during each stage. Storm water runoff volumes will not 
change as a result of the street construction project, but storm water runoff shall be managed 
during construction to minimize erosion. 

 
4. Reporting and Updates 

 
The Owner or a representative is to insure compliance with the plans and will carry out regular 
inspections. Owner designated and qualified personnel will inspect disturbed areas of the 
construction site that have not reached “final stabilization” at least once every seven (7) 
calendar days. Owner will be responsible for executing the Plan towards the goal of a stabilized 
site. Owner will make determination of Contractors compliance with the plan and may direct 
additional measures to be taken by any Contractor. When a plan deficiency or the occurrence of 
a pollutant entering the drainage system is observed, corrective action shall be taken. Revisions 
and modifications shall be made to the control facilities as needed. 
 
 
 

 

525

Item 28.



 

29 

 

12      Method of Measurement 
 
The Engineer will measure the items of work that have been acceptably constructed as 
specified in the contract documents for the 2021 STREET PATCHING Project in accordance 
with the 2021 Edition of the SUDAS and as further modified by the City of Cedar Falls’ 
Supplemental Specifications. 

 
 
13 Basis of Payment 
 
Payment for the items listed in the Method of Measurement shall be determined by multiplying 
the item quantity (as determined in the Method of Measurement) by the unit price as bid on the 
proposal form in accordance with the 2021 edition of the SUDAS as amended by the City of 
Cedar Falls’ Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 edition of the SUDAS. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

526

Item 28.



 

30 

 

DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 
 

All work shall be constructed as specified in the Contract documents for the 2021 STREET 
PATCHING Project in accordance with the 2021 Edition of the SUDAS as amended by the City 
of Cedar Falls’ Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 Edition of the SUDAS, except as 
amended or supplemented as follows: 
 
Item No. 5 - Saw Cutting for Removals 
Saw cutting required for pavement removal will be measured on a lineal foot basis. All saw 
cutting required for removals shall be full depth. Saw cuts required for new pavement joints shall 
be incidental to the cost per square yard for new pavement. 
 
Item No. 10 - Subbase, Modified 
Material for Modified Subbase shall comply with the Standard Specification, consisting of virgin 
crushed stone material. Placement and compaction shall comply with the Standard Specification 
Section with the following exception: Contractor will be allowed to utilize the completed subbase 
as a haul road for concrete delivery to the paving operation on streets without CD baskets.  
 
Item No. 17 – Utility Patch, P.C.C. Full Depth, “C” Mix 
Full depth P.C.C. patches shall be placed at the project limits as directed by the Engineer. Full 
depth P.C.C. patches are intended to replace deteriorated areas of existing P.C.C. pavements 
at the project limits. The price bid per square yard shall include the materials, equipment, and 
labor required for saw cutting, removals, subgrade preparation, and placement of the P.C.C. 
patch. 
 
Item No. 18 – Utility Patch, HMA (ST), PG58-28S 
Material requirements as per the Standard Specifications.  HMA patches are intended to replace 
deteriorated areas of existing HMA pavements at the project limits and shall be placed at project 
limits as directed by the Engineer. The bid price per ton shall include the materials, equipment, 
and labor required for saw cutting, removals, subgrade preparation, and placement of the HMA 
patch. Up to 10% of unclassified Recycled Asphalt Pavement (RAP) may be incorporated into 
these bid items. 
 
Item No. 19 - Compaction of Subgrade 
The portion of the subgrade to be covered by the modified subbase shall be scarified for a depth 
of 6 inches. The scarified material shall be uniformly dried or wetted and re-compacted to not 
less than 95 percent of standard proctor density as determined in accordance with AASHTO T-
99. The price bid for "Compaction of Subgrade" shall be full payment for scarification, 
manipulation and compaction of the material and for furnishing all water required for the work in 
conformance with the plans and specifications. 
 
Item No. 21 - Traffic Control 
Traffic Control during construction shall meet the requirements of I.D.O.T. Specification Section 
2528. 
 

527

Item 28.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: August 30, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Recreational River Area and Riverbank Improvements Project  
  City Project Number: MC-038-3290 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the Recreational River Area and Riverbank Improvements 
Project. 
 

We recommend setting Monday, September 20th, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and 
time for the public hearing on this project and Friday, September 24th, 2021 at 2:00 p.m. 
as the date and time for receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to 
Bidders be published by September 10th, 2021. The Plans and Specifications will be 
ready for distribution to contractors on September 8th, 2021, allowing more than two (2) 
weeks of review before contract letting. 
 

This project involves the construction of eight in stream water features and upland 
improvements within, and on the banks, of the Cedar River in Cedar Falls, Iowa.  
 

The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $3,758,139.00.  The City 
will use General Obligation Bonds, Blackhawk Gaming Grant, Emergency Reserves, 
Tourism Cash Reserves and Private Donations for the design and construction of this 
project.  
 

The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your 
review at the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Public Works 
Department. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 

528

Item 29.



TA
BL

E 
O

F 
C

O
N

TE
N

TS
 A

N
D

 S
IG

N
AT

U
R

ES

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-01 OF 63

C-01

SS, MH, LK, RG
RGSS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

AUGUST 2021

BLACK HAWK COUNTY

CONSTRUCTION DRAWINGS

RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS

SHEET INDEX:

PROJECT OWNER:
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
220 CLAY ST
CEDAR FALLS
IA 50613

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

PROJECT NO. MC-038-3290

SHEET NUMBER SHEET TITLE
C-01 TABLE OF CONTENTS
C-02 PROJECT CONSULTANTS
C-03

LOCATION MAP & SHEET INDEXC-04
EXISTING UTILITY SITE PLANC-05
CONSTRUCTION ACCESS 1C-06
CONSTRUCTION ACCESS 2C-07
TRAIL CLOSURE AND DETOUR PLANC-08
TRAIL CLOSURE AND DETOUR PLANC-09

DEWATERING NORTH
C-10

DEWATERING SOUTH
C-11
C-12

STRUCTURE #1C-13
PLAZA FOUNTAINC-14
STRUCTURE #2C-15
STRUCTURE #3C-16
STRUCTURE #4C-17
STRUCTURE #5C-18
CLAY HOLE (STRUCTURE #7)C-19
STRUCTURE #6C-20
STRUCTURE #8C-21
TRAIL SECTIONS 1C-22
TRAIL SECTIONS 2C-23
PROFILE VIEWS 1C-24
PROFILE VIEWS 2C-25
PROFILE VIEWS 3

T-1 TRAIL LAYOUT
T-2 TRAIL LAYOUT
T-3 TRAIL LAYOUT
T-4 TRAIL LAYOUT
T-5 TRAIL LAYOUT
T-6 TRAIL LAYOUT

L 1 DEMOLITION PLAN
L 1.1 STONE QUANTITIES PLAN
L 2.0 UPPER TERRACE LAYOUT PLAN
L 2.1 RIVER LEFT LAYOUT PLAN
L 2.2 RIVER LEFT LAYOUT PLAN
L 2.3 RIVER LEFT LAYOUT PLAN
L 3.0 UPPER TERRACE/PLANTING PLAN
L 3.1 RIVER LEFT PLANTING PLAN
L 3.2 RIVER LEFT PLANTING PLAN
L 3.3 RIVER LEFT PLANTING PLAN

D-1 PRESCRIBED PLATE DIMENSIONS
D-2 STONE TERRACING DETAILS
D-3 STRUCTURE #7 (CLAY HOLE)
D-4 TYPICAL DETAILS
D-5 DEWATERING
D-6 EROSION CONTROL DETAILS
D-7 EROSION CONTROL DETAILS
D-8 PROPERTY BOUNDARY EXHIBIT MAP
D-9 GENERAL NOTES
D-10 GENERAL NOTES CONTINUED

L 4 RIVER RIGHT LAYOUT/PLANTING PLAN
L 5 RIVER RIGHT (TURTLE BACK) LAYOUT/PLANTING PLAN
L 6 UPPER TERRACE SECTIONS
L 7 PAVING DETAILS
L 8 MISC DETAILS/SPECS

L 0 UPLAND DRAWING KEY

C-26

PAY ITEM DESCRIPTION

TRAIL CLOSURE AND DETOUR PLAN

ALIGN ARCHITECTURE & PLANNING
327 EAST FOURTH STREET

SUITE 204
WATERLOO, IOWA 50703

(319) 233-1163
WWW.ALIGNPLC.COM

RIVERWISE ENGINEERING, LLC
PO BOX 706

DURANGO, CO  81301
(303) 808-7734

WWW.RIVERWISE.ORG

I HEREBY CERTIFY THIS ENGINEERING DOCUMENT WAS PREPARED BY ME OR
UNDER MY DIRECT PERSONAL SUPERVISION AND THAT I AM A DULY LICENSED
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF IOWA

APPROVAL SIGNATURE BY A CITY OF CEDAR FALLS ENGINEERING MANAGEMENT
INDIVIDUAL

ENGINEER OF RECORD LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

THIS PROJECT IS COVERED UNDER THE FOLLOWING PERMITS:

· UNITED STATES ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS 404 AND 408 PERMIT NUMBER
CEMVR-OD-P-2020-1140

· STATE 401 WATER QUALITY CERTIFICATION NO. 20-1-013-09-02-S
· IOWA DNR TRACKING NUMBER: 88965
· FLOOD PLAN DEVELOPMENT PERMIT NUMBER 88965FP-01
· SECTION 408 REQUEST NUMBER 408-MVR-2020-0009
· PLANS APPROVED AS PER CITY OF CEDAR FALLS FLOODPLAIN PERMIT #21-3439-FLDP
· PLANS APPROVED AS PER CITY OF CEDAR FALLS SWPPP PERMIT #IA-38536-38175

APPROVAL TO CONSTRUCT DATE

NOTES:
1) CONTRACTOR PRACTICES AND ALL FINISHED WORK SHALL CONFORM TO

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS ADOPTED STATEWIDE URBAN DESIGN AND
SPECIFICATIONS (SUDAS) PROGRAM, INCLUDING ALL LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL
SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS AND CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS IN EFFECT WITHIN THE APPLICABLE
JURISDICTION. ALL AREAS WHERE WORK IS PERFORMED OR AFFECTED BY
THE WORK SHALL BE RETURNED TO A CONDITION EQUAL TO OR BETTER
THAN THEIR ORIGINAL CONDITION. THE CEDAR FALLS CITY ENGINEER WILL
GIVE FINAL DETERMINATION WHETHER ALL "RETURNED CONDITIONS" ARE
EQUAL TO OR BETTER THAN THE ORIGINAL (AND ACCEPTABLE).

2) THE CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO CONTACT THE U.S. ARMY CORPS OF
ENGINEERS ROCK ISLAND DISTRICT 72 HOURS PRIOR TO COMMENCING
WORK. THE CONTACT IS MR. PAUL ST. LOUIS, 309-794-5208.

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT'S CERTIFICATION
I HEREBY CERTIFY THIS ENGINEERING DOCUMENT WAS PREPARED BY ME OR
UNDER MY DIRECT PERSONAL SUPERVISION AND THAT I AM A DULY LICENSED
PROFESSIONAL LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF
IOWA

SIGNED:    DATE: 

LARRY KURTZ, R.A. IA LIC. NO. 302

MY LICENSE RENEWAL DATE IS DECEMBER 31, 2021

ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATION

PAGES OR SHEETS COVERED BY THIS SEAL:

SIGNED:    DATE: 

SHANE SIGLE, P.E. IA LIC. NO.  21194

MY LICENSE RENEWAL DATE IS DECEMBER 31, 2021

PAGES OR SHEETS COVERED BY THIS SEAL:

MAYOR
ROBERT GREEN
COUNCIL PERSONS
MARK MILLER
SUSAN DEBUHR
DARYL KRUSE
SIMON HARDING
FRANK DARRAH
KELLY DUNN
DAVE SIRES

PROJECT CONSULTANTS:

THE URBAN STADARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS (SUDAS), 2021
EDITION AND THE CURRENT CITY OF CEDAR FALLS SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS TO
THESE SPECIFICATIONS, SHALL APPLY TO THE CONSTRUCTION WORK PERFORMED UPON
THIS PROJECT.

PROJECT LEGEND

IDOT RIGHT-OF-WAY
OR PROPERTY LINE

WATER LINE CROSSING W W

GAS LINE CROSSING

STRMKNOWN STORMWATER OUTFALL

CONCRETE

GROUTED BOULDERS

GAS

CONSTRUCTION STAGING AND
ACCESS AREAS

COFFERDAM LOCATIONS

CONCRETE WASHOUT

VEHICLE TRACKING CONTROL

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS ROAD

STRAW WADDLES

TRAIL DETOUR ROUTES < < < <

<<<<

EXISTING GRADE CONTOURS

PROPOSED GRADE CONTOURS

COFFER DAM SEQUENCING

L 9 ELECTRICAL AND LIGHTING PLAN
L 10 PLUMBING PLAN
L 11 SIGNAGE PLAN
L 12 SIGNAGE GRAPHICS

D-11 GENERAL NOTES CONTINUED

529

Item 29.



LO
C

AT
IO

N
 M

AP
S 

AN
D

 U
TI

LI
TY

 C
O

N
TA

C
TS

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-02 OF 63

C-02

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

IOWA ONE CALL-TOLL FREE- CALL BEFORE YOU DIG 1-800-292-8989

Cedar Falls Utilities - 319-266-1761
Cedar Falls Waterworks- Brian Heath, O & M Division Manager- 319-273-8629
Cedar Falls Stormwater Pollution Contact- 319-273-8668
Water Reclamation - Mike Nyman - 319-273-8633
Century Link - 319-538-7215
Qwest-Von Dougherty- 319-399-7487
MediaCom-Kevin Parker- 319-232-8800
MidAmerica Energy (Electric)- 319-291-4667
MidAmerica Energy (Gas)- 319-291-4623

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

BLACK HAWK COUNTY

RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

ABBREVIATIONS:

AVG AVERAGE
DTL DETAIL
E EAST
ELEV ELEVATION
FT FEET
IN INCHES
MAX MAXIMUM
MIN MINIMUM

N NORTH
NTS NOT TO SCALE
OC ON CENTER
OHWM ORDINARY HIGH WATER MARK
SHT SHEET
STA STATION
STD STANDARD
TYP TYPICAL

SURVEY NOTES:

1. EXISTING GROUND DATA BASED ON CONTOUR DATA FROM AECOM SURVEY 2005.
2. VERTICAL DATUM: NAVD88
3. HORIZONTAL COORDINATE SYSTEM:   NAD83 IOWA STATE PLANES, NORTH ZONE, US FOOT

SITE PLAN
SCALE: 1"=1000' (FOR 22X34" SHEETS)

PROJECT LOCATION:

LATITUDE         42°32'17.0"N
LONGITUDE     92°26'33.2"W

BLACK HAWK COUNTY

VICINITY MAP
SCALE: 1"=3,000' (FOR 22X34" SHEETS)

PROJECT UTILITY CONTACTS:

PROJECT LOCATION

PROJECT LOCATION

PERMIT REVIEW NOTES:

WAVERLY, IA ~ 16MILES

WATERLOO, IA ~ 10MILES

CENTER STREET DAM

1. FLOOD CONTINGENCY PLAN INCLUDED WITH DRAWINGS
2. USACOE PERMITS ARE VALID FOR 5 YEARS
3. NO MODIFICATIONS TO THE FEDERAL LEVEE PROJECT ON THE RIGHT DESCENDING BANK SHALL

OCCUR

PROJECT NOTES:

1. RWE AND ALIGN STAFF SHALL BE PRESENT FOR CONSTRUCTION OF KEY ASPECTS OF
THIS PROJECT

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL CONDITIONS IN THE PERMIT LIST ON SHEET C-02:

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT APPROPRIATE UTILITY LOCATE AUTHORITY PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION. IOWA ONE CALL-TOLL FREE- 800-292-8989 CALL BEFORE YOU DIG

530

Item 29.



PA
Y 

IT
EM

 D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-03 OF 63

C-03

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

PAY ITEM DESCRIPTION

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

Instream Improvements Upland Improvements

Item Number Work Item Estimated
Quantity Unit Description

Item Number Work Item Estimated Quantity Unit Description

1 Mobilization 1 Lump Sum

Includes all costs associated with mobilization for all staging areas including, but not limited to, staging area preparation, vehicle
tracking control, bonding, BMP's, waste borrow, topsoil storage, fuel storage, fencing, stormwater controls, clearing and grubbing,
access roads, machinery transportation, staging, removal of all machinery, and restoration of all impacted areas. Includes seeding
and monitoring. No other items associated with mobilization and demobilization will be paid. Includes miscellaneous items needed for
the project that are not incidental to other items and not specifically noted as items.

32 Concrete/Rebar River Clean
Up 1 Lump Sum

Remove from river and river bank all concrete chunks not usable for hidden fill.  Also remove 589 sq feet of parking lot seal coat and
concrete sidewalk.  Separate concrete rebar- concrete only to be recycled at choice of 2 local (2 mi) concrete suppliers. Price is for
four 15 ton tandem axle dump trucks.

2 Silt Fencing 1500 Lin. Ft.
Includes acquisition, placement, maintenance, and removal of silt fencing surrounding, and/or within the south staging area.

33 Concrete Mowbands 820 Lin. Ft.
On-grade concrete planting separators per details. Includes cutting material to subgrade, subgrade preparation, subbase placement,
forming, placement of concrete, and finishing.

3 Straw Waddle 300 Lin. Ft. Includes acquisition, placement, maintenance, and removal of straw waddle surrounding, and/or within the staging areas. 34 Removal of  Concrete Bike
Trail 3100 Sq. Ft. Includes breaking, loading and dumping fees.  Off hauling all concrete at trail.

4 Cofferdam Installation and
Removal 7 Lump Sum Includes installation, bolstering, maintenance, and removal of all cofferdams associated with the instream structures, as noted in the

drawings. 35 New Concrete Bike Trail 3400 Sq. Ft. Includes grading layout forming and installation of base rock and concrete trail.

5 River Right Access Road 1 Lump Sum Includes creation, bolstering, maintenance, and removal of the river right access road as noted in the drawings.
36 Upland Path 6’ wide 6000 Sq. Ft. Includes coordination of boulders placement as directed, preparation of sub grade, scribing to boulders with broom finish and control

joints at 10’ o.c.

Structure #2- Put-in River Right 37 Shoreline Path 4’ and 5’ wide 3200 Sq. Ft. Includes coordination of boulders placement as directed, preparation of sub grade, scribing to boulders with broom finish and control
joints at 8’ o.c.

6
Boulder Fill: Includes
excavation/fill, placement,
grouting, and backfill.

155 Cubic Yards
Grouted Rock

Includes acquisition of boulders, transport, placement as directed, preparation for grouting, grouting, finishing the grout surface as
noted in the drawings and specifications, testing, modifications as noted in the bid narrative, and final grading. 38 Seal Chute 1 Lump Sum

 Includes cutting material to subgrade, subgrade preparation, subbase placement (if needed),  placement of large stone bank
reinforcing,  forming, concrete placement, and finishing. Includes placement of treated wood rails.

7 Concrete - low flow 35 Cubic Yards
Concrete

Includes subgrade preparation, forming, approval by RWE representative, placement of concrete, cold-weather precautions (if
needed), finishing, testing, modifications, and final approval by RWE representative. 39 Specialty Stone @ Upper

Plaza 120 Tons
Includes acquisition of grey specialty stone and flagstone, transport, storage and placement as directed by RWE/Align representative.

8 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8"
cobble 233 Cubic Yds.

Includes acquisition, transport, placement, grading, surveying to determine and confirm elevations, and final grading following
Boulder Fill placement. 40 Stone Seat Wall @ Upper

Plaza 56 Tons
Includes acquisition of stone transport, storage and placement as directed by RWE/Align representative. Including sub base and
stone pieces at joints w/fabric backing and underlayment with approved soil backfill provided by city.

Structure #3 41 Upper Terrace Concrete 1830 Sq. Ft. Includes placement, sub base, skin or stamped w/color hardener and sealer.  Also including placement of resin bond stones and glow
stones.

9
Boulder Fill: Includes
excavation/fill, placement,
grouting, and backfill.

140 Cubic Yards
Grouted Rock

Includes acquisition of boulders, transport, placement as directed, preparation for grouting, grouting, finishing the grout surface as
noted in the drawings and specifications, testing, modifications as noted in the bid narrative, and final grading. 42 Synthetic Turf 1 Lump Sum

 Include the acquisition and sub base and prep, drainage piping, forming and finished placement of synthetic turf. Approximately 240
lf of drain piping.

10 Concrete- low flow 22 Cubic Yards
Concrete

Includes subgrade preparation, forming, approval by RWE representative, placement of concrete, cold-weather precautions (if
needed), finishing, testing, modifications, and final approval by RWE representative. 43

Lower Terrace Concrete
(Turtle) 1250 Sq. Ft. Includes placement of sub base, fiberglass rebar on stone platform. Includes 3 colors of color hardener as shown on artwork.  After

curing, contractor layout of art work and turtle spots painted w/approved top coating.

11 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8"
cobble 105 Cubic Yds.

Includes acquisition, transport, placement, grading, surveying to determine and confirm elevations, and final grading following
Boulder Fill placement. 44 Stone Bank Reinforcements 1643 Tons

Includes excavation of existing rip rap and temp storage and reuse if rip rap as fill at other locations within the project. Also includes
coordination and keying into previously placed stone and accommodating concrete walkways, seal chute and planting areas.

Structure #4 45 Wood Bridges 3 Each
includes acquisition of treated lumber, staining, fabrication hardware and anchoring to large stones placed specifically to hold the
bridges.

12
Boulder Fill: Includes
excavation/fill, placement,
grouting, and backfill.

56 Cubic Yards
Grouted Rock

Includes acquisition of boulders, transport, placement as directed, preparation for grouting, grouting, finishing the grout surface as
noted in the drawings and specifications, testing, modifications as noted in the bid narrative, and final grading. 46

Existing Features Relocation
(Bollard lights) 3 Each

Includes the salvage of three bollards to city storage.  Removal and disconnection of electrical lines from #10 and #14. Reinstallation
of (11, 12, 13) plus re-electrification from #10 through #14. Contractor is responsible for any damage to bollards.

13 Concrete- low flow 35 Cubic Yards
Concrete

Includes subgrade preparation, forming, approval by RWE representative, placement of concrete, cold-weather precautions (if
needed), finishing, testing, modifications, and final approval by RWE representative. 47 Signage 9 Each

Includes the acquisition and installation of 9 signs.  Architect will work with sign supplier, and contractor will  be responsible for
submittals to approve art work by sign supplier.  Footing and installation to be included under this line item.

14 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8"
cobble 28 Cubic Yds.

Includes acquisition, transport, placement, grading, surveying to determine and confirm elevations, and final grading following
Boulder Fill placement. 48

Northwest Parking lot
Repair-Seal Coat 2500 Sq. Yds. Includes sub base prep and seal coat per city standards.

Structure #5 49 Add Shower to Existing Bath 1 Each
Includes acquisition of shower and mounting to footing.  Connect to newly installed irrigation piping all per plumbing code
requirements.

15
Boulder Fill: Includes
excavation/fill, placement,
grouting, and backfill.

148 Cubic Yards
Grouted Rock

Includes acquisition of boulders, transport, placement as directed, preparation for grouting, grouting, finishing the grout surface as
noted in the drawings and specifications, testing, modifications as noted in the bid narrative, and final grading. 50 Benches 3 each

Includes acquisition of suitable size limestone block, placement leveling and boring to receive bench.  Includes acquisition of bench
and installation of removable and lockable connection to stone sleeve. Locations to be determined.

16 Concrete- low flow 28 Cubic Yards
Concrete

Includes subgrade preparation, forming, approval by RWE representative, placement of concrete, cold-weather precautions (if
needed), finishing, testing, modifications, and final approval by RWE representative. 51

Planting (Rip Rap re-use
planting pockets) 1,973 Sq. Ft.

upon excavation of new concrete walkways over excavate and place filter fabric and reinstall rip rap stone and city provided soil mix.
All such areas to be wrapped to contain soil in the event of flooding. Detail 1-L8 @ midland designation of 1,774 sf Sheet L 3.1 and
sheet L4 of 120 sf and 79 sf.

17 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8"
cobble 369 Cubic Yds.

Includes acquisition, transport, placement, grading, surveying to determine and confirm elevations, and final grading following
Boulder Fill placement. 52 Planting Trees, Shrubs &

Lawns 1 Lump Sum Includes the acquisition of all trees, shrubs, ground covers, seeding with soil prep and fine grading within 1" of finished grade.  To
include plant basins, fertilizer and staking, pre-emergent weed control, required mulch and 1 year warranty from date of installation.

Structure #6- Take-out River Right 53 Irrigation 1 Lump Sum
Includes point of connection inside building to existing back flow preventor and piping to leave building to exterior and trenched to
desired location. Include all boxes, quick coupler, and finished grading.  Connection to back flow unit to be approved by plumbing
inspector .   All adhered to plumbing code.

18
Boulder Fill: Includes
excavation/fill, placement,
grouting, and backfill.

320 Cubic Yards
Grouted Rock

Includes acquisition of boulders, transport, placement as directed, preparation for grouting, grouting, finishing the grout surface as
noted in the drawings and specifications, testing, modifications as noted in the bid narrative, and final grading.

19 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8"
cobble 300 Cubic Yds.

Includes acquisition, transport, placement, grading, surveying to determine and confirm elevations, and final grading following
Boulder Fill placement.

Structure #7- Clay Hole Safety and Recreational Improvements

20
Boulder Fill: Includes
excavation/fill, placement,
grouting, and backfill.

157 Cubic Yards
Grouted Rock

Includes acquisition of boulders, transport, placement as directed, preparation for grouting, grouting, finishing the grout surface as
noted in the drawings and specifications, testing, modifications as noted in the bid narrative, and final grading.

21 Concrete- low flow 115 Cubic Yards
Concrete

Includes subgrade preparation, forming, approval by RWE representative, placement of concrete, cold-weather precautions (if
needed), finishing, testing, modifications, and final approval by RWE representative.

22
Concrete Demolition and
Shaping 1 Lump Sum

Includes demolition, shaping, and partial removal of the existing dam remnants, searching and probing for concrete, rebar, and other
construction material remnants from the 1st St. bridge construction, removal, trimming, grading, breaking and reducing sizes of
existing material. May include deflection of current to provide better access to pieces that require removal or trimming of exposed and
dangerous rebar, flanges, and other metal joints that pose hazards.

23 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8"
cobble 393 Cubic Yds.

Includes acquisition, transport, placement, grading, surveying to determine and confirm elevations, and final grading following
Boulder Fill placement.

Structure #8- Take-out River Left

24
Boulder Fill: Includes
excavation/fill, placement,
grouting, and backfill.

30 Cubic Yards
Grouted Rock

Includes acquisition of boulders, transport, placement as directed, preparation for grouting, grouting, finishing the grout surface as
noted in the drawings and specifications, testing, modifications as noted in the bid narrative, and final grading.

25 Concrete- low flow 28 Cubic Yards
Concrete

Includes subgrade preparation, forming, approval by RWE representative, placement of concrete, cold-weather precautions (if
needed), finishing, testing, modifications, and final approval by RWE representative.

26 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8"
cobble 45 Cubic Yds.

Includes acquisition, transport, placement, grading, surveying to determine and confirm elevations, and final grading following
Boulder Fill placement.

Miscellaneous

27 Large Random Boulders, 7'
Diameter 23 each

Includes acquisition of boulders, transport, placement as directed, preparation of subgrade, and re-placement/tuning of location as
the project progresses. It should be expected that the boulders will be moved and tuned as the project progresses.

28 Boat Ramp Terracing 393 Cubic Yards
Grouted Rock

Includes acquisition of boulders, transport, placement as directed, preparation for grouting, grouting, finishing the grout surface as
noted in the drawings and specifications.

29 Boat Ramp Area Trails 7 Cubic Yards
Concrete

Includes subgrade preparation, forming, grading, surveying to confirm project elevations, grades, slopes, tie-ins, radius', etc.,
placement of grout, testing, finishing, and final approval from City and RWE representatives.

30 Miscellaneous Equipment
Hours 200 hours

Includes use of 300 series or larger (approx. 60,000 lbs. or greater) trackhoe as directed by an RWE representative. No work shall
occur under this item unless approved by RWE representative in writing.

31
Northeast Parking lot
Repair-Seal Coat 4000 Sq. Yds. Includes sub base prep and seal coat per city standards.

Alt. No. 1
Lighting @ trees, bridge -
includes added design 1 Lump Sum

Includes design schematic and product submittals for approval w/installation after dark light show and modify  for architect approval.
Includes all electrical connections to existing point of connection.  All installation to meet current electrical codes. Include allowance
of $2000.

Alt. No. 2 River Demobilization 1 Each
A River Demobilization may include, but is not limited to, a single removal of all machinery from the river, demolition of existing
cofferdams and haul roads, and grading to return cofferdammed areas and haul roads to original grades. Includes remobilization
associated with this pay item.

Alt. No. 3 Project Demobilization 1 Each

A Project Demobilization may include, but is not limited to, a single removal of all machinery, materials, fencing, BMP’s, and any
non-native material from the staging area(s). The work shall include removal of any temporary fill vulnerable to erosion and grading of
all areas to pre-mobilization elevations. Paved parking areas used for staging shall be seal coated. Includes remobilization associated
with this pay item.

531

Item 29.



52.5'

LO
C

AT
IO

N
 M

AP
 &

 S
H

EE
T 

IN
D

EX

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-04 OF 63

C-04

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

0100 100

SCALE BAR 1"=100'

CONTOUR INTERVAL NONE

LOCATION MAP AND SHEET INDEX

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

STRUCTURE #2

STRUCTURE #3

STRUCTURE #4

STRUCTURE #5

STRUCTURE #7

STRUCTURE #6

STRUCTURE #8

C-16

C-18

C-
19

C-17

C-15

C-20

C-21

NOTE:
1. WATER SURFACE EXTENT BREAKLINES SHOWN AS DELINEATED BY AECOM MAY 2016 FOR

APPROXIMATE FLOW 6,180CFS
2. RIVER GAGE ZERO=763.10 NGVD29 (DATUM SHIFT NAVD88 MINUS NGVD29 = -0.052FEET)

FIRST STREET

E.
 M

AI
N 

ST
RE

ET

C-05

RAILROAD BRIDGE

CENTER STREET DAM

EXISTING WETLAND
DO NOT DISTURB

EXISTING PAVILION

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

EXISTING BOAT RAMP

532

Item 29.



52.5'

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 U

TI
LI

TY
 S

IT
E 

PL
AN

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-05 OF 63

C-05

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

050 50

SCALE BAR 1"=50'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

EXISTING UTILITY SITE PLAN

LEGEND

IDOT RIGHT-OF-WAY

WATER LINE CROSSING W W

SCALE:   1"=50'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

GAS LINE CROSSING

IDOT RIGHT OF WAY

FIRST STREET

E.
 M

AI
N 

ST
RE

ET

W
W

W
W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W W

W

W

W

W

W

W

STRM

STRM

STRM

STRM

KNOWN STORMWATER OUTFALL

SEE STORMWATER OUTFALL
DETAIL S-01 SHEET D-4

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

GAS

EXISTING PAVILION

EXISTING PARKING LOT

CONCRETE

GROUTED BOULDERS

NOTES:
1. WATER AND GAS LINE CROSSINGS SHOWN FOR GENERAL REFERENCE ONLY. LOCATE

REQUIRED PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION TO DETERMINE LOCATION AND ELEVATIONS. DO NOT
DISTURB LINES.

2.  STORM OUTLETS TO BE MARKED BY CONTRACTOR IN THE FIELD PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION
AND STABILIZED BASED ON THE TYPICAL SHOWN ON DETAIL S-01 SHEET D-4

WATER LINE CROSSING.
LOCATION FOR REFERENCE ONLY.
LOCATE REQUIRED PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION
DO NOT DISTURB WATER LINE

CFU TO BE NOTIFIED WHEN WORK
IN THE VICINITY OF THE WATER LINE IS
TO BE COMPLETED.
CALL 319-268-5280 OR 319-268-5283

GAS

CFU TO BE NOTIFIED WHEN WORK
IN THE VICINITY OF THE WATER LINE IS
TO BE COMPLETED.
CALL 319-268-5280 OR 319-268-5283

533

Item 29.



52.5'

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
TI

O
N

 A
C

C
ES

S 
1

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-06 OF 63

C-06

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

050 50

SCALE BAR 1"=50'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS
SCALE:   1"=50'

TEMPORARY ACCESS CONSTRUCTED TO RIVER
USING FILL MATERIAL. DO NOT CUT MATERIAL.

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

NOTE:
1) INSTALL INLET PROTECTION AT ALL STORM DRAIN INLETS WITHIN THE PROJECT AREA. SEE SHEET D-6 FOR DETAILS.
2) ENSURE PROPER CLEARANCE AT FIRST STREET UNDERPASS.
3) ALL SAND BAGGING OR HESCOS TO BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR
4) VEGETATED STAGING AREA TO BE CLEANED OF ANY DEBRIS, DE-COMPACTED AND FULLY SEEDED FOLLOWING THE

COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT.  PARKING AREA USED FOR STAGING TO BE RECONDITIONED WITH NEW SEAL COAT
FOLLOWING DEMOBILIZATION.

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS ROAD

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS ROAD

LEGEND

CONSTRUCTION STAGING AND
ACCESS AREAS

COFFERDAM LOCATIONS

W
W

W
W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W W

W

W

W

W

W

W VEHICLE TRACKING CONTROL
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-6

CONCRETE WASHOUT.
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-6

FUEL STORAGE

WASTE BORROW

EQUIPMENT STORAGE
AND CONSTRUCTION

PARKING

WB

FS

ES/CP

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS ROAD

TOPSOIL STORAGE

CONCRETE WASHOUT

VEHICLE TRACKING CONTROL

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS ROAD

STRAW WADDLES

GRADE STAGING AREA TO DRAIN TO
SOUTH EAST CORNER.
INSTALL SEDIMENT TRAP
(2' DEEP X 5' RADIUS DEPRESSION)

3 ROWS OF STRAW WADDLE
TO COLLECT SEDIMENT
FROM RUNOFF.

USGS GAUGE INFRASTRUCTURE TO BE LOCATED, LABELED, AND NOT DISTURBED.
NO CUT/FILL SHALL OCCUR IN THIS AREA

USGS GAUGE LOCATION:
LATITUDE         42°32'15.3"N
LONGITUDE     92°26'35.9"W

FIRST STREET

E.
 M

AI
N 

ST
RE

ET

SILT FENCING ON PERIMETER.
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-6

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

PROJECT HAUL ROAD

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS ROAD

USE CONCRETE PATH
PROTECTION AS REQUIRED.

SEE SHEET D-7

WHEN CONSTRUCTING HAUL ROAD
MAINTAIN MIN. 15' CLEARANCE TO

BRIDGE LOW CHORD (APPROX 858.0)

BRIDGE CLEARANCE  TO BE DISCUSSED
DURING PRE-CONSTRUCTION MEETING.

BRIDGE LOW CHORD TO BE MARKED
WITH HIGH VISIBILITY COLOR

842.0 CONTOUR

1) PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY
2) DUMPSTER
3) SWPPP BOX CONTAINING A COPY OF THE LATEST

SWPPP

USE CONCRETE PATH
PROTECTION AS REQUIRED.

SEE SHEET D-7

USE CONCRETE PATH
PROTECTION AS REQUIRED.
SEE SHEET D-7

USE CONCRETE PATH
PROTECTION AS REQUIRED.
SEE SHEET D-7 THIS PARKING LOT TO BE RECONDITIONED WITH

SEAL COAT FOLLOWING DEMOBILIZATION

534

Item 29.



C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
TI

O
N

 A
C

C
ES

S 
2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-07 OF 63

C-07

SS, MH, LK, RG
RGSS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

050 50

SCALE BAR 1"=50'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS
SCALE:   1"=50'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

CONSTRUCTION STAGING

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS ROAD

LEGEND

EXISTING WETLAND

EXISTING WETLANDS
NO ACCESS

VEHICLE TRACKING CONTROL
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-6

CONCRETE WASHOUT. SEE DETAIL SHEET D-6

FUEL STORAGE

WASTE BORROWWB

FS

TOPSOIL STORAGE

CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE

CONSTRUCTION STAGING AND
ACCESS AREAS

COFFERDAM LOCATIONS

CONCRETE WASHOUT

VEHICLE TRACKING CONTROL

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS ROAD

STRAW WADDLES

GRADE STAGING AREA TO DRAIN TO
SOUTH WEST CORNER.

INSTALL SEDIMENT TRAP
(2' DEEP X 5' RADIUS DEPRESSION)

3 ROWS OF STRAW WADDLE
TO COLLECT SEDIMENT
FROM RUNOFF.

USGS GAUGE LOCATION:
LATITUDE         42°32'15.3"N
LONGITUDE     92°26'35.9"W

SILT FENCING ON PERIMETER.
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-6

FOR LEVEE CROSSING STABILIZATION
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-7

TS

E. 4TH STREET

EQUIPMENT STORAGE
AND CONSTRUCTION

PARKING

ES/CP

1) PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY
2) DUMPSTER
3) SWPPP BOX CONTAINING A COPY OF THE LATEST

SWPPP

NOTE:
1) INSTALL INLET PROTECTION AT ALL STORM DRAIN INLETS WITHIN THE PROJECT AREA. SEE SHEET D-6 FOR DETAILS.
2) ENSURE PROPER CLEARANCE AT FIRST STREET UNDERPASS.
3) ALL SAND BAGGING OR HESCOS TO BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR
4) STAGING AREA TO BE CLEANED OF ANY DEBRIS, DE-COMPACTED AND FULLY SEEDED FOLLOWING THE COMPLETION OF

THE PROJECT.

USE CONCRETE PATH
PROTECTION AS REQUIRED.
SEE SHEET D-7

535

Item 29.



52.5'

<
<

<
<

<

<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<

<
<<<<<<<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

< < < < < < < < < < <

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<

<

<

<
<

<

TR
AI

L 
C

LO
SU

R
E 

AN
D

 D
ET

O
U

R
 P

LA
N

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-08 OF 63

C-08

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

050 50

SCALE BAR 1"=50'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

TRAIL CLOSURE AND DETOUR PLAN
SCALE:   1"=50'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

LEGEND

CONSTRUCTION STAGING AND
ACCESS AREAS

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS ROAD

GRANT STREET

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

G
R

EE
LE

Y 
ST

R
EE

T

NORTH BOUND
TRAIL DETOUR

SOUTH BOUND
TRAIL DETOUR

TRAIL DETOUR ROUTES < < < <

<<<<
INSTALL TRAIL DETOUR SIGNAGE
AS DIRECTED

INSTALL
TRAIL

DETOUR
SIGNAGE

AS DIRECTED

536

Item 29.



<
<

<
<

<

<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
< <

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<

<

<

<

<
<

<

TR
AI

L 
C

LO
SU

R
E 

AN
D

 D
ET

O
U

R
 P

LA
N

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-09 OF 63

C-09

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

050 50

SCALE BAR 1"=50'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

TRAIL CLOSURE AND DETOUR PLAN
SCALE:   1"=50'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

LEGEND

CONSTRUCTION STAGING AND
ACCESS AREAS

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS ROAD

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

NOTE:
A SIMPLE TRAIL PEDESTRIAN PATH DETOUR FOR STRUCTURE 8 IS DIFFICULT SO TWO OPTIONS ARE PRESENTED HERE
FOR THE CONTRACTOR.

1. COMPLETE ALL MATERIAL TRANSPORT AND ACCESS DOWNSTREAM FROM STRUCTURE 7 TO STRUCTURE 8 BELOW
THE OHWM, KEEPING THE TRAIL OPEN

2. USE THE EXISTING TRAIL FOR ACCESS AND CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL TRANSPORT
2.1. IF THE TRAIL WILL CONTINUE TO ALLOW PEDESTRIAN TRAFFIC, THEN FLAG MEN MAY BE UTILIZED TO STOP

PEDESTRIANS AS EQUIPMENT AND MACHINERY IS ON THE TRAIL.  NOTE, THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE
FOR ANY TRAIL DAMAGE.

2.2. IF THE EXISTING TRAIL IS TO BE USED AND WILL BE STABILIZED TO PREVENT DAMAGE AND IS NO LONGER
SUITABLE FOR PEDESTRIAN USE, THEN THE TRAIL IS TO BE CLOSED.  THIS WILL REQUIRE APPROVAL FROM
THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS.

NORTH BOUND
TRAIL DETOUR

TRAIL DETOUR ROUTES < < < <

<<<<

INSTALL TRAIL DETOUR SIGNAGE
AS DIRECTED

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

SEE NOTES FOR TRAIL DETOUR AND CLOSURE CONDITIONS THIS SHEET

FIRST STREET

STRUCTURE #8

INSTALL TRAIL CLOSED SIGNAGE
AS DIRECTED

INSTALL TRAIL CLOSED SIGNAGE
AS DIRECTED

537

Item 29.



TR
AI

L 
C

LO
SU

R
E 

AN
D

 D
ET

O
U

R
 P

LA
N

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-10 OF 63

C-10

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

050 50

SCALE BAR 1"=50'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

TRAIL CLOSURE AND DETOUR PLAN
SCALE:   1"=50'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

LEGEND

CONSTRUCTION STAGING AND
ACCESS AREAS

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS ROAD

1ST STREET

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

M
AI

N
 S

TR
EE

T

NORTH BOUND
TRAIL DETOUR

SOUTH BOUND
TRAIL DETOUR

TRAIL DETOUR ROUTES < < < <

<<<<

INSTALL TRAIL DETOUR SIGNAGE
AS DIRECTED

INSTALL TRAIL DETOUR SIGNAGE
AS DIRECTED

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

< < < < < <
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

< < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < <
<

<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<
<

<

<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<<<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<

M
AI

N 
ST

RE
ET

2ND STREET

ST
AT

E 
ST

R
EE

T

538

Item 29.



52.5'

D
EW

AT
ER

IN
G

 N
O

R
TH

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-11 OF 63

C-11

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

050 50

SCALE BAR 1"=50'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

WATER CONTROL PLAN NORTH

CONSTRUCTION STAGING

SCALE:   1"=50'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

COFFERDAM SEQUENCING:

1. CREATE ACCESS AND STAGING AREA USING EXISTING ROAD AND PARKING AREA AT GATEWAY PARK.

2. CREATE ACCESS ROAD ALONG THE RIVER ON NORTH SIDE OF EXISTING CONCRETE TRAIL. ENSURE
SUFFICIENT CLEARANCE UNDER FIRST STREET BRIDGE.

3. CONTRACTOR WILL NEED TO CROSS TRAILS AT CHOSEN LOCATIONS AND IS RESPONSIBLE FOR RETURNING
TRAILS TO EXISTING CONDITIONS. TRAILS MAY EITHER BE REMOVED AND REPLACED OR COVERED WITH
SUFFICIENT MATERIAL TO PROTECT THEM FROM CRACKING AND SETTLING. ADDITIONAL DETAILS ARE SHOWN
ON SHEET D-7.

4. INSTALL HIGH WATER INDICATOR LATH AS NOTED NEAR THE E. MAIN ST. BRIDGE.

5. INSTALL COFFERDAM 3 AND CONSTRUCT STRUCTURE #3. REMOVE COFFERDAM #3 AND RESTORE REACH OF
ACCESS ROAD IMPACTED DURING CONSTRUCTION OF THIS STRUCTURE.

6. INSTALL COFFERDAM 5 AND CONSTRUCT STRUCTURE #5. REMOVE COFFERDAM #5 AND RESTORE REACH OF
ACCESS ROAD IMPACTED DURING CONSTRUCTION OF THIS STRUCTURE.

7. INSTALL COFFERDAM 7 AND CONSTRUCT STRUCTURE #7. REMOVE COFFERDAM #7 AND RESTORE REACH OF
ACCESS ROAD IMPACTED DURING CONSTRUCTION OF THIS STRUCTURE.

8. INSTALL COFFERDAM 8 AND CONSTRUCT STRUCTURE #8. REMOVE COFFERDAM #8 AND RESTORE REACH OF
ACCESS ROAD IMPACTED DURING CONSTRUCTION OF THIS STRUCTURE. THIS STEP MAY BE COMPLETED
PRIOR TO, FOLLOWING, OR DURING CONSTRUCTION OF STEPS 4-8.

9. REPLACE OR RESTORE ALL IMPACTED TRAILS, RESTORE ALL IMPACTED AREAS, AND SEED/MULCH ALL
DISTURBED GROUND.

10. COFFERDAM ELEVATIONS ARE BASED ON A DISCHARGE OF 6439 CFS.

7

4
NOTE: SET HIGH WATER INDICATOR LATH
AT ELEVATION 848.2 (9,000 CFS)

COFFERDAM MINIMUM
TOP ELEVATION 847.2

COFFERDAM MINIMUM
TOP ELEVATION 846.8

COFFERDAM MINIMUM TOP ELEVATION 846.8

COFFERDAM MINIMUM TOP ELEVATION 846.75

3

5

8

FIRST STREET

E.
 M

AI
N 

ST
RE

ET

SEE COFFERDAM DETAILS SHEET  D-5

LEGEND EXISTING GRADE CONTOURS

PROPOSED GRADE CONTOURS

CONCRETE

RIPRAP ARMORING
PARCEL BOUNDARIES

CONSTRUCTION STAGING
AND ACCESS AREAS

COFFERDAM LOCATIONS

CONSTRUCTION
ACCESS ROAD

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

GROUTED BOULDERS

EXISTING PAVILION

EXISTING PARKING LOT

FLOOD EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN

1. HIGH WATER INDICATOR LATHE SHOULD BE PLACED NEAR THE E. MAIN ST. BRIDGE. IT IS INTENDED TO
PROVIDE WARNINGS TO ADVISE AND ASSIST THE CONTRACTOR TO PROTECT COFFERDAMS AND INSTREAM
CONSTRUCTION DURING LOW AND MEDIUM FLOWS.

2. THE LATHE SHOULD BE PLACED AT AN ELEVATION OF 848.2 FT. WHICH CORRESPONDS TO A DISCHARGE OF
APPROXIMATELY 9000 CFS AND A GAUGE HEIGHT OF 85 FT.

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD MONITOR THE DISCHARGE ON A DAILY BASIS AND ADJUST INSTREAM WORK TASK
AS NECESSARY BASED ON THE DISCHARGE. THE DISCHARGE CAN BE MONITORED VIA USGS GAUGE 05463050.
IF THE RIVER IS PREDICTED TO EXCEED A WATER SURFACE ELEVATION OF 84 FT OR HIGHER, CONTRACTOR
TO CONTACT THE CITY ENGINEER TO DISCUSS THE APPROPRIATE FLOOD RESPONSE ACTIONS AND
COORDINATION WITH ANY CITY ACTIONS WHICH MAY BE TRIGGERED.

4. DURING DISCHARGE EXCEEDING 9000 CFS, ALL COFFERDAMS, CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS, HAUL ROADS AND
MACHINERY SHOULD BE REMOVED FROM THE RIVER.

5. REMOVE ALL EQUIPMENT, FUEL, TEMPORARY FACILITIES, MATERIALS, MACHINERY, ETC FROM STAGING AREA
IF THE RIVER GAGE IS FORECASTED TO BE AT OR ABOVE 92 FT.

6. RIVER GAGE ZERO=763.10 FT. NGVD29 (DATUM SHIFT NAVD88 MINUS NGVD29 = -0.052FEET)
7. AT A RIVER GAUGE HEIGHT OF 89 FT. AND ABOVE, THE AREA IS EXPERIENCING FLOOD STAGE.

OHWM

OHWM

539

Item 29.



D
EW

AT
ER

IN
G

 S
O

U
TH

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-12 OF 63

C-12

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

050 50

SCALE BAR 1"=50'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

WATER CONTROL PLAN SOUTH

CONSTRUCTION STAGING

SCALE:   1"=50'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS ROAD

4

SET HIGH WATER INDICATOR LATH
AT ELEVATION 848.2 (9,000 CFS)

COFFERDAM MINIMUM TOP ELEVATION 847.4

COFFERDAM MINIMUM TOP ELEVATION 847.2

COFFERDAM MINIMUM TOP ELEVATION 846.8

2

4

6

FIRST STREET

E.
 M

AI
N 

ST
RE

ET

COFFERDAM SEQUENCING:

1. CREATE ACCESS AND STAGING AREA USING EXISTING ROAD AND PARKING AREA NEAR WASTEWATER
TREATMENT PLAN.

2. CREATE ACCESS ROAD ALONG THE RIVER ON SIDE OF EXISTING CONCRETE TRAIL. ENSURE SUFFICIENT
CLEARANCE UNDER FIRST STREET BRIDGE.

3. NO MATERIAL MAY BE CUT FROM EXISTING LEVEES. CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE ALL FILL NEEDED TO
CROSS TRAILS AT CHOSEN LOCATIONS AND IS RESPONSIBLE FOR RETURNING TRAILS TO EXISTING
CONDITIONS. TRAILS MAY EITHER BE REMOVED AND REPLACED OR COVERED WITH SUFFICIENT MATERIAL
TO PROTECT THEM FROM CRACKING AND SETTLING. ADDITIONAL DETAILS ARE SHOWN ON SHEET D-7.

4. INSTALL HIGH WATER INDICATOR LATH AS NOTED NEAR THE E. MAIN ST. BRIDGE.

5. INSTALL COFFERDAM 2 AND CONSTRUCT STRUCTURE #2. REMOVE COFFERDAM #2 AND RESTORE REACH
OF ACCESS ROAD IMPACTED DURING CONSTRUCTION OF THIS STRUCTURE.

6. INSTALL COFFERDAM 4 AND CONSTRUCT STRUCTURE #4. REMOVE COFFERDAM #4 AND RESTORE REACH
OF ACCESS ROAD IMPACTED DURING CONSTRUCTION OF THIS STRUCTURE.

7. INSTALL COFFERDAM 6 AND CONSTRUCT STRUCTURE #6. REMOVE COFFERDAM #6 AND RESTORE REACH
OF ACCESS ROAD IMPACTED DURING CONSTRUCTION OF THIS STRUCTURE.

8. REPLACE OR RESTORE ALL IMPACTED TRAILS, RESTORE ALL IMPACTED AREAS, AND SEED/MULCH ALL
DISTURBED GROUND.

10. COFFERDAM ELEVATIONS ARE BASED ON A DISCHARGE OF 6439 CFS.

SEE COFFERDAM DETAILS SHEET  D-5

LEGEND EXISTING GRADE CONTOURS

PROPOSED GRADE CONTOURS RIPRAP ARMORING
PARCEL BOUNDARIES

CONSTRUCTION STAGING
AND ACCESS AREAS

COFFERDAM LOCATIONS

CONSTRUCTION
ACCESS ROAD

EXISTING WETLAND
DO NOT DISTURB

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

CONCRETEGROUTED BOULDERS

FLOOD EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN

1. HIGH WATER INDICATOR LATHE SHOULD BE PLACED NEAR THE E. MAIN ST. BRIDGE. IT IS INTENDED TO
PROVIDE WARNINGS TO ADVISE AND ASSIST THE CONTRACTOR TO PROTECT COFFERDAMS AND INSTREAM
CONSTRUCTION DURING LOW AND MEDIUM FLOWS.

2. THE LATHE SHOULD BE PLACED AT AN ELEVATION OF 848.2 FT. WHICH CORRESPONDS TO A DISCHARGE OF
APPROXIMATELY 9000 CFS AND A GAUGE HEIGHT OF 85 FT.

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD MONITOR THE DISCHARGE ON A DAILY BASIS AND ADJUST INSTREAM WORK TASK
AS NECESSARY BASED ON THE DISCHARGE. THE DISCHARGE CAN BE MONITORED VIA USGS GAUGE 05463050.
IF THE RIVER IS PREDICTED TO EXCEED A WATER SURFACE ELEVATION OF 84 FT OR HIGHER, CONTRACTOR
TO CONTACT THE CITY ENGINEER TO DISCUSS THE APPROPRIATE FLOOD RESPONSE ACTIONS AND
COORDINATION WITH ANY CITY ACTIONS WHICH MAY BE TRIGGERED.

4. DURING DISCHARGE EXCEEDING 9000 CFS, ALL COFFERDAMS, CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS, HAUL ROADS AND
MACHINERY SHOULD BE REMOVED FROM THE RIVER.

5. REMOVE ALL EQUIPMENT, FUEL, TEMPORARY FACILITIES, MATERIALS, MACHINERY, ETC FROM STAGING AREA
IF THE RIVER GAGE IS FORECASTED TO BE AT OR ABOVE 92 FT.

6. RIVER GAGE ZERO=763.10 FT. NGVD29 (DATUM SHIFT NAVD88 MINUS NGVD29 = -0.052FEET)
7. AT A RIVER GAUGE HEIGHT OF 89 FT. AND ABOVE, THE AREA IS EXPERIENCING FLOOD STAGE.

OHWM

540

Item 29.



853

850

52.5'

852.5
TRAIL

858.0
TRAIL

858.0
TRAIL

856.9
TRAIL

856.0
TRAIL

849.0
TRAIL

857.5
TRAIL

852.8
FG

850.0
FG

848.5
FG

850.0
FG

848.0

857.5
TRAIL

853.3
TRAIL

851.2
TRAIL

847.0
EG

850.0
FG

849.4
TRAIL

849.5
FG

847.0
FG

847.0
FG

848.3
FG

849.0
FG

846.9
FG

849.0
FG

845.0
FG

858.0
PLAZA

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-13 OF 63

C-13

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

PLAN VIEW SITE PLAN
SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

EXISTING BOAT RAMP

SEE STORMWATER OUTFALL
DETAIL S-01 SHEET D-4

SEE TRAIL EDGE DETAIL SHEET D-4

EXISTING TRAIL

STONE TERRACING
AT GRADE

SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

LEGEND

EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

CONCRETEPARCEL BOUNDARIES

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLEGROUTED BOULDERS

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

LARGE RANDOM BOULDERS

NEW UPLAND TRAIL

OHWM

BO
AT

 R
AM

P 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

BOULDER TERRACES
(TYPICAL)

BOULDER TERRACES
(TYPICAL)

INTEGRATE TRAIL WITH
EXISTING BOAT RAMP

STONE TERRACING
AT GRADE

SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

541

Item 29.



850

85
0

855

852.5
TRAIL

855.5
TRAIL

858.0
TRAIL

849.0
TRAIL

857.5
TRAIL

852.8
FG

850.0
FG

848.5
FG

850.0
FG

848.9
TRAIL

849.0
TRAIL

857.5
TRAIL

853.3
TRAIL

851.2
TRAIL

848.9

848.9
TRAIL

849.4
TRAIL

848.8

847.0
FG

848.3
FG

849.0
FG

846.9
FG

849.0
FG

845.0
FG

845.5
FG

846.5
FG

845.0
FG

858.0
PLAZA

854.1
TRAIL

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

PLAZA PROFILE

840

845

850

855

860

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50
0+55

0+60 0+64

ELEV 852.5

ELEV 849.1
ELEV 847.0

ELEV 845.0

ELEV 857.5

ohwm 846.4

PL
AZ

A 
FO

U
N

TA
IN

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-14 OF 63

C-14

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

PLAN VIEW SITE PLAN
SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

FOUNTAIN WATERFALL PROFILE
SCALE:   1"=5'

NEW UPLAND TRAIL

LEGEND

EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

PARCEL BOUNDARIES

SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

SEE TRAIL EDGE DETAIL SHEET D-4

STONE TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

NEW PLAZA AREA

SEE ALIGN PLAN SET FOR POOL, DROP AND BRIDGE DETAILS

SEE ALIGN PLANS FOR POOL, DROP AND BRIDGE DETAILS

EXISTING COTTONWOOD TREES TO REMAIN
TEMPORARY FENCE TO BE INSTALLED AT DRIPLINE
FOR DURATION OF CONSTRUCTION

SEE ALIGN DETAILS
FOR PLAZA

TRAIL SECTION 2
SEE SECTION SHEET C-22

SEE PROFILE
THIS SHEET

NEW UPLAND TRAIL

CONCRETE

GROUTED BOULDERS

EXISTING PAVILION

BRIDGE

BRIDGE

OHWM

542

Item 29.



EL
EV

AT
IO

N

STRUCTURE #2

840

845

850

855

860

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50
0+55

0+60
0+65

0+70
0+75

0+80
0+85

0+88

ELEV 845.2

ELEV 847.8

ELEV 856.0

ELEV 856.5

ohwm 846.55

20.0' 41.7'

PROFILE
0+18.12

PROFILE
0+32.61

20
FT

18.12

32.61

15FT

845.7
CREST

844.7
EXIT

856.0
TRAIL

856.5
TRAIL

847.7
TRAIL

845

850

855

847.6
TRAIL

845.8
FG

845.0
FG

848.2
FG

850.2
FG

852.8
FG

855.5
FG

856.0
TRAIL

854.7
TRAIL

853.1
TRAIL

849.5
TRAIL

848.9
TRAIL

848.4
TRAIL

856.7
TRAIL

852.3
TRAIL

849.8
TRAIL

846.2
FG

847.2
FG

845.8
FG

850.0
FG

845.7
FG

845.9
FG

854.3
FG

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

E 
#2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-15 OF 63

C-15

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

PLAN VIEW SITE PLAN
SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

STRUCTURE #2 SECTION
SCALE:   1"=5'

SEE PROFILE SHEET C-24

SEE SECTION THIS SHEET

EXISTING TRAIL

NEW TRAIL

STRUCTURE PLATE
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-1

36" QUARRIED STONE

CLEAN 3-8" ANGULAR COBBLE

EXISTING TRAIL

STONE BANK TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

STRUCTURE PLATE
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-1

LEGEND

EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

PARCEL BOUNDARIES

NOTE:
BEDROCK CONTACT IS ANTICIPATED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT. STRUCTURE ANCHORING IN BEDROCK CONDITION SHALL BE CONCRETE TRENCHWALL KEYED 12"
INTO BEDROCK. IF BEDROCK IS NOT CONTACTED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT STRUCTURES SHALL BE ANCHORED 60" INTO NATIVE ALLUVIUM WITH GROUTED
BOULDERS. SEE ALTERNATE STRUCTURE PLATE DETAIL SHEET D-1 - PRESCRIBED PLATE DIMENSIONS

SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

SEE TRAIL EDGE DETAIL SHEET D-4

STONE TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

LARGE RANDOM BOULDERS

TRAIL SECTION 6
SEE SECTION SHEET C-22

TRAIL SECTION 7
SEE SECTION SHEET C-23

TRAIL SECTION 8
SEE SECTION SHEET C-23

CONCRETE

GROUTED BOULDERS

OHWM

SEE PROFILE SHEET C-24
PLANTING POCKET

SEE DETAIL

543

Item 29.



EL
EV

AT
IO

N

STRUCTURE #3

840

845

850

855

860

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50
0+55

0+60
0+65

0+70
0+75

0+80
0+85

0+90
0+95

1+00
1+05

1+10
1+15

1+16

ELEV 855.3

ELEV 855.2

ELEV 848.5

ELEV 848.5

ELEV 847.0

20.0'76.0'

ELEV 844.5

ohwm 846.22

OHWM ELEV 847.7

PROFILE
1+00.48

PROFILE
0+73.57

20
FT

73.572

100.478

85
0

855

84
2

12FT

855.6
TRAIL

848.8
TRAIL

845.3
CREST

843.8
EXIT

848.8
TRAIL

848.9
TRAIL

849.0
TRAIL

848.9
TRAIL

848.9
TRAIL

848.8
TRAIL

848.7
TRAIL

848.7
TRAIL

848.6
TRAIL

848.5
TRAIL

848.4
TRAIL

848.5
TRAIL

846.5
FG

845.0
FG

845.2
FG

844.0
FG

846.1
FG

847.1
FG

847.3
FG

847.6
FG

848.3
FG

845.8
FG

843.5
FG

846.3
FG

848.2
FG

848.0
FG

844.3
FG

846.1
FG

854.1
TRAIL

852.9
TRAIL

852.5
TRAIL

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

E 
#3

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-16 OF 63

C-16

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

PLAN VIEW SITE PLAN
SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

STRUCTURE #3 SECTION
SCALE:   1"=5'

PRESERVE AND PROTECT TREES
TEMPORARY FENCE TO BE INSTALLED AT DRIPLINE
FOR DURATION OF CONSTRUCTION

SEE PROFILE SHEET C-24

SEE SECTION THIS SHEET

NEW TRAIL

EXISTING TRAIL

NEW LOW TRAIL
STRUCTURE PLATE TIP
SEE DETAIL SHEET
D-1

36" QUARRIED STONE

CLEAN 3-8" ANGULAR COBBLE

STONE BANK TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

STRUCTURE PLATE
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-1

LEGEND

EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

PARCEL BOUNDARIES

NOTE:
BEDROCK CONTACT IS ANTICIPATED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT. STRUCTURE ANCHORING IN BEDROCK CONDITION SHALL BE CONCRETE TRENCHWALL KEYED 12"
INTO BEDROCK. IF BEDROCK IS NOT CONTACTED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT STRUCTURES SHALL BE ANCHORED 60" INTO NATIVE ALLUVIUM WITH GROUTED
BOULDERS. SEE ALTERNATE STRUCTURE PLATE DETAIL SHEET D-1 - PRESCRIBED PLATE DIMENSIONS

SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

LARGE RANDOM BOULDERS

SEE TRAIL EDGE DETAIL SHEET D-4

STONE TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

TRAIL SECTION 3
SEE SECTION SHEET C-22

TRAIL SECTION 2
SEE SECTION SHEET C-22

NEW UPLAND TRAIL

CONCRETE

GROUTED BOULDERS

PRESERVE AND PROTECT TREES
TEMPORARY FENCE TO BE INSTALLED AT DRIPLINE
FOR DURATION OF CONSTRUCTION

OHWMSEE PROFILE SHEET C-24

PLANTING POCKET
SEE DETAIL

544

Item 29.



EL
EV

AT
IO

N

STRUCTURE #4

840

845

850

855

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50
0+55

0+60
0+65

0+70 0+73

ohwm 846.35

ELEV 844.5

ELEV 848.0

ELEV 848.0

20.0' 23.7'

PROFILE
0+15.52

PROFILE
0+35.43

20
FT

15.52

35.43

15FT

845.0
CREST 844.0

EXIT

857.0
TRAIL

848.0
TRAIL

850.6
TRAIL

841

845

850

853.1
TRAIL

850.8
TRAIL

849.5
TRAIL

848.5
TRAIL

852.3
TRAIL

849.8
TRAIL

848.1
TRAIL

845.8
FG

846.1
FG

846.1
FG

849.1
FG

847.1
FG

846.0
FG

846.3
FG

845.7
FG

845.3
FG

845.0
FG

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

E 
#4

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-17 OF 63

C-17

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

PLAN VIEW SITE PLAN
SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

STRUCTURE #4 SECTION
SCALE:   1"=5'

SEE PROFILE SHEET C-25

SEE SECTION THIS SHEET

EXISTING TRAIL

IDOT RIGHT-OF-WAY

NEW LOW TRAIL

STRUCTURE PLATE
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-1

36" QUARRIED STONE

CLEAN 3-8" ANGULAR COBBLE

STONE BANK TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

STRUCTURE PLATE
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-1

LEGEND

EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

PARCEL BOUNDARIES

NOTE:
BEDROCK CONTACT IS ANTICIPATED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT. STRUCTURE ANCHORING IN BEDROCK CONDITION SHALL BE CONCRETE TRENCHWALL KEYED 12"
INTO BEDROCK. IF BEDROCK IS NOT CONTACTED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT STRUCTURES SHALL BE ANCHORED 60" INTO NATIVE ALLUVIUM WITH GROUTED
BOULDERS. SEE ALTERNATE STRUCTURE PLATE DETAIL SHEET D-1 - PRESCRIBED PLATE DIMENSIONS

SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

SEE TRAIL EDGE DETAIL SHEET D-4

LARGE RANDOM BOULDERS

TRAIL SECTION 8
SEE SECTION SHEET C-23

TRAIL SECTION 7
SEE SECTION SHEET C-23

CONCRETE

GROUTED BOULDERS

SEE STORMWATER OUTFALL
DETAIL S-01 SHEET D-4

OHWM

SEE PROFILE SHEET C-25

PLANTING POCKET
SEE DETAIL

545

Item 29.



EL
EV

AT
IO

N

STRUCTURE #5

840

845

850

855

860

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50
0+55

0+60
0+65

0+70
0+75

0+80
0+85

0+90
0+95

1+00
1+05

1+101+10

ELEV 855.2 ELEV 854.8

ELEV 848.5 ELEV 848.0

ohwm 845.92

ELEV 845.0

25.0'53.0'

PROFILE
0+88.48

PROFILE
0+50.18

25
FT

50.188

88.48

844

848
849

842
841

12FT

854.6
TRAIL

853.0
TRAIL

848.0
TRAIL

846.0
CREST

844.0
EXIT

TRAIL

846.0
FG

844.4
FG

846.0
FG

848.0
TRAIL

848.8
TRAIL

850.4
TRAIL

849.5
TRAIL

851.2
TRAIL

852.6
TRAIL

843.5
FG

846.1
FG

842.8
FG

842.6
FG

843.7
FG

846.4
FG

845.3
FG

844.5
FG

844.6
FG

844.4
FG

849.0
FG

850.2
FG

851.1
FG

850.1
FG

850.0
FG

849.0
FG

849.0
FG

852.8
FG

852.8
FG

852.9
TRAIL

849.9
FG

853.6
TRAIL

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

E 
#5

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-18 OF 63

C-18

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

PLAN VIEW SITE PLAN
SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

STRUCTURE #5 SECTION
SCALE:   1"=5'

SEE PROFILE SHEET C-25

SEE SECTION THIS SHEET

EXISTING TRAIL

NEW LOW TRAIL
STRUCTURE PLATE
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-1

36" QUARRIED STONE CLEAN 3-8" ANGULAR COBBLE

STONE BANK TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

STRUCTURE PLATE
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-1

LEGEND

EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

PARCEL BOUNDARIES

NOTE:
BEDROCK CONTACT IS ANTICIPATED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT. STRUCTURE ANCHORING IN BEDROCK CONDITION SHALL BE CONCRETE TRENCHWALL KEYED 12"
INTO BEDROCK. IF BEDROCK IS NOT CONTACTED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT STRUCTURES SHALL BE ANCHORED 60" INTO NATIVE ALLUVIUM WITH GROUTED
BOULDERS. SEE ALTERNATE STRUCTURE PLATE DETAIL SHEET D-1 - PRESCRIBED PLATE DIMENSIONS

SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

NEW HIGH TRAIL

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

LOW RIVER ACCESS PAD

ASH TREE
SCHEDULED FOR REMOVAL

SEE TRAIL EDGE DETAIL SHEET D-4

LARGE RANDOM BOULDERS

TRAIL SECTION 3
SEE SECTION SHEET C-22

TRAIL SECTION 4
SEE SECTION SHEET C-22

CONCRETE

GROUTED BOULDERS

OHWM

SEE PROFILE SHEET C-25

PLANTING POCKET
SEE DETAIL

546

Item 29.



ELEV 849.5 ELEV 849.5

ELEV 842.3
ELEV 842.8

ELEV 846.0 ELEV 846.0

25.0' 25.0'

47.3'

11.0' 11.0' 25.0'

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

STRUCTURE #7 (CLAY HOLE)

830

835

840

845

850

855

0+25 0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50
0+55

0+60
0+65

0+70
0+75

0+80
0+85

0+90
0+95

1+00
1+05

1+10
1+15

1+20
1+25

1+30
1+35

1+40
1+45

1+50
1+55

1+601+61

ohwm 845.83

PROFILE
1+43.34PROFILE

1+06.72PROFILE
0+71.93

ELEV 841.8

PROFILE
0+46.40

25FT 25FT 25FT
46

.4
03

71
.9

38

10
6.

72
7

14
3.

34
1

84
5

84
0

18
FT 18

FT

18
FT

18
FT

852.6
TRAIL

842.5
CREST

843.0
CREST 843.5

CREST

841.0
EXIT

841.5
EXIT 842.0

EXIT

849.4
TRAIL

851.3
TRAIL 850.3

TRAIL

849.2
TRAIL

842.8
FG

841.1
FG

844.1
FG

846.3
FG

848.5
FG

849.1
FG

846.0
FG

846.0
FG

846.0
FG

846.0
FG

844.4
FG

844.4
FG

843.2
FG

846.3
FG

846.0
FG

852.8
FG

852.9
TRAIL

852.9
TRAIL

852.8
TRAIL

852.3
TRAIL

849.9
FG

852.9
FG

853.0
TRAIL

852.9
FG

852.9
FG

852.8
FG

849.8
FG851.5

FG

850.2
FG

849.8
FG

848.5
FG

C
LA

Y 
H

O
LE

 (S
TR

U
C

TU
R

E 
#7

)

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-19 OF 63

C-19

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

PLAN VIEW SITE PLAN

CLAY HOLE STRUCTURE DETAIL
SEE SHEET D-3

SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

STRUCTURE #7 (CLAY HOLE) SECTION
SCALE:   1"=5'

EXISTING CLAY HOLE DAM STRUCTURE
REMOVE EXISTING REBAR PROTRUDING
FROM CONCRETE AS DIRECTED

SEE PROFILE SHEET C-26
SEE PROFILE SHEET C-25

SEE PROFILE SHEET C-25

SEE PROFILE SHEET C-25

SEE SECTION THIS SHEET

EXISTING TRAIL

NAVIGATION CHUTE
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-3

36" QUARRIED STONE

CLEAN 3-8" ANGULAR COBBLE
NAVIGATION CHUTE

SEE DETAIL SHEET D-3

NAVIGATION CHUTE
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-3

DIVIDER ISLAND
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-3

STRUCTURE WING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-3

STONE BANK TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

SEE STORMWATER OUTFALL
DETAIL S-01 SHEET D-4

LEGEND
EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

PARCEL BOUNDARIES

NOTE:
BEDROCK CONTACT IS ANTICIPATED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT. STRUCTURE ANCHORING IN BEDROCK CONDITION SHALL BE CONCRETE TRENCHWALL KEYED 12" INTO BEDROCK. IF BEDROCK IS NOT CONTACTED
AT THE CHANNEL INVERT STRUCTURES SHALL BE ANCHORED 60" INTO NATIVE ALLUVIUM WITH GROUTED BOULDERS. SEE ALTERNATE STRUCTURE PLATE DETAIL SHEET D-1 - PRESCRIBED PLATE DIMENSIONSSECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

IDOT RIGHT-OF-WAY

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

REMOVE EXISTING CONCRETE STAIRS

SEE TRAIL EDGE DETAIL SHEET D-4

TRAIL SECTION 5
SEE SECTION SHEET C-22

CONCRETE

GROUTED BOULDERS

PRESERVE AND PROTECT TREES
TEMPORARY FENCE TO BE INSTALLED AT DRIPLINE

FOR DURATION OF CONSTRUCTION

OHWM

CLAY HOLE STRUCTURE DETAIL
SEE SHEET D-3

CLAY HOLE STRUCTURE DETAIL
SEE SHEET D-3

DIVIDER ISLAND
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-3

PLANTING POCKET
SEE DETAIL

547

Item 29.



EL
EV

AT
IO

N

STRUCTURE #6

840

845

850

855

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50
0+55

0+60
0+65

0+70
0+75

0+80
0+85

0+90
0+95

1+00
1+05

1+10
1+15

1+20
1+25

1+30
1+35

1+40
1+45

1+50 1+54

ELEV 849.9
ELEV 850.1 ELEV 853.3

ELEV 847.7

ohwm 845.87

84.6'

PROFILE
0+72.67

PROFILE
0+99.59

70FT

72
.6

7

99
.5

9

847.3
FG

847.5
TRAIL

850.0
TRAIL

852.0
TRAIL

851.8
TRAIL

848.4
TRAIL

850.9
TRAIL

849.1
FG

848.1
FG

848.3
FG

850.2
FG

852.7
FG

848.0
FG

847.5
FG

849.2
FG

849.7
FG

851.3
FG

854.3
FG

853.5
FG

848.7
FG

848.0
FG

848.9
FG

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

E 
#6

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-20 OF 63

C-20

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

PLAN VIEW SITE PLAN
SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

STRUCTURE #6 SECTION
SCALE:   1"=5'

SEE PROFILE SHEET C-26

SEE PROFILE SHEET C-26

SEE SECTION THIS SHEET
EXISTING TRAIL

IDOT RIGHT-OF-WAY

36" QUARRIED STONE

CLEAN 3-8" ANGULAR COBBLE

STONE BANK TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

NEW PLAZA

LEGEND EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

PARCEL BOUNDARIES

NOTE:
BEDROCK CONTACT IS ANTICIPATED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT. STRUCTURE ANCHORING IN BEDROCK CONDITION SHALL BE CONCRETE TRENCHWALL KEYED 12"
INTO BEDROCK. IF BEDROCK IS NOT CONTACTED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT STRUCTURES SHALL BE ANCHORED 60" INTO NATIVE ALLUVIUM WITH GROUTED
BOULDERS. SEE ALTERNATE STRUCTURE PLATE DETAIL SHEET D-1 - PRESCRIBED PLATE DIMENSIONS

SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

SEE TRAIL EDGE DETAIL SHEET D-4

LARGE RANDOM BOULDERS

TRAIL SECTION 9
SEE SECTION SHEET C-23

TRAIL SECTION 10
SEE SECTION SHEET C-23

TRAIL SECTION 11
SEE SECTION SHEET C-23

CONCRETE

GROUTED BOULDERS

OHWM

SEE ALIGN DETAILS
FOR TURTLEBACK

548

Item 29.



EL
EV

AT
IO

N

STRUCTURE #8

835

840

845

850

855

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50
0+55

0+60
0+65

0+70 0+75

ELEV 840.1

ELEV 847.0

29.4'

ohwm 845.86
PROFILE

0+48.48

32
FT

48.48

84
6

845.0
FG

847.1
FG

843.2
FG

842.3
FG

841.3
FG

840.0
FG

845.6
FG

847.0
FG

845.0
FG

847.0
FG

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

E 
#8

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-21 OF 63

C-21

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

PLAN VIEW SITE PLAN
SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

NOTE: DEFLECTOR #8 IS LOCATED OUTSIDE THE EXTENTS OF THE ORIGINAL BATHYMETRIC
SURVEY. EXISTING CHANNEL INVERT ELEVATIONS INTERPOLATED FROM SURVEY
INFORMATION UPSTREAM ALL ELEVATIONS TO BE CONFIRMED IN THE FIELD

STRUCTURE #8 SECTION
SCALE:   1"=5'

SEE PROFILE SHEET C-26

SEE SECTION THIS SHEET

IDOT RIGHT-OF-WAY

EXISTING PATH

36" QUARRIED STONE

CLEAN 3-8" ANGULAR COBBLE

STONE TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

LEGEND

EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

PARCEL BOUNDARIES

NOTE:
BEDROCK CONTACT IS ANTICIPATED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT. STRUCTURE ANCHORING IN BEDROCK CONDITION SHALL BE CONCRETE TRENCHWALL KEYED 12"
INTO BEDROCK. IF BEDROCK IS NOT CONTACTED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT STRUCTURES SHALL BE ANCHORED 60" INTO NATIVE ALLUVIUM WITH GROUTED
BOULDERS. SEE ALTERNATE STRUCTURE PLATE DETAIL SHEET D-1 - PRESCRIBED PLATE DIMENSIONSSECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

IDOT RIGHT-OF-WAY

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

LARGE RANDOM BOULDERS

CONCRETE

GROUTED BOULDERS

OHWM

549

Item 29.



EL
EV

AT
IO

N

TRAIL SECTION 2

840

845

850

855

860

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+49

ELEV 854.2

ELEV 848.5

ELEV 846.1

ohwm 846.4

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

TRAIL SECTION 3

840

845

850

855

860

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50
0+55

0+56

ELEV 853.4

ELEV 848.5

ELEV 843.5

ohwm 846.2

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

TRAIL SECTION 4

840

845

850

855

860

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50
0+55

0+60
0+65

0+66

ELEV 853.6

ELEV 851.7

ELEV 842.0

ELEV 849.0

ohwm 846.0

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

TRAIL SECTION 5

835

840

845

850

855

860

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50
0+55

0+60
0+65

0+70
0+75

0+76

ELEV 852.5

ELEV 850.0

ELEV 841.9

ohwm 845.9

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

TRAIL SECTION 6

840

845

850

855

860

865

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50
0+55

0+60
0+65

0+70

ELEV 844.2

ELEV 848.4

ELEV 854.7

ELEV 856.7
ELEV 857.6

ohwm 846.5

TR
AI

L 
SE

C
TI

O
N

S 
1

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-22 OF 63

C-22

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

SCALE:   1"=5'

SCALE:   1"=5'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

LEGEND
EXISTING GRADE PROPOSED GRADE CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

TRAIL SECTION 2
SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

TRAIL SECTION 3
SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

TRAIL SECTION 4
SCALE:   1"=5' SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

TRAIL SECTION 5
SCALE:   1"=5'

EXISTING TRAIL

SCALE:   1"=5'
TRAIL SECTION 6

SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

NEW LOW TRAIL

NEW LOW TRAIL

NEW LOW TRAIL

SEE TRAIL EDGE
DETAIL SHEET D-4

SEE TRAIL EDGE
DETAIL SHEET D-4

SEE TRAIL EDGE
DETAIL SHEET D-4

SEE TRAIL EDGE
DETAIL SHEET D-4

NEW HIGH TRAIL

NEW HIGH TRAIL

NEW HIGH TRAIL

NEW HIGH TRAIL

NEW LOW TRAIL

NEW LOW TRAIL

NEW HIGH TRAIL

EXISTING TRAIL

STONE TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

STONE TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

STONE TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

STONE TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

STONE TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

CONCRETEGROUTED BOULDERS

NEW PLANTING AREA

550

Item 29.



EL
EV

AT
IO

N
TRAIL SECTION 7

840

845

850

855

860

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50 0+53

ELEV 844.5

ELEV 849.8

ELEV 852.3

ELEV 854.0

ohwm 846.5

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

TRAIL SECTION 8

840

845

850

855

860

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50 0+53

ELEV 845.0

ELEV 850.2

ELEV 852.0

ohwm 846.4

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

TRAIL SECTION 9

845

850

855

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40

ELEV 848.0

ELEV 851.8 ELEV 852.0

ohwm 845.8

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

TRAIL SECTION 10

845

850

855

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50
0+55

0+60 0+63

ELEV 848.1

ELEV 850.9
ELEV 853.1

ohwm 845.8

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

TRAIL SECTION 11

845

850

855

860

0+00
0+05

0+10
0+15

0+20
0+25

0+30
0+35

0+40
0+45

0+50
0+55

0+60
0+65

0+70
0+75

0+80
0+85

0+90
0+95

1+00
1+05

1+09

ELEV 849.7ELEV 849.9
ELEV 849.2ELEV 848.0

ELEV 855.0

ohwm 845.8

TR
AI

L 
SE

C
TI

O
N

S 
2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-23 OF 63

C-23

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

TRAIL SECTION 7
SCALE:   1"=5'

SCALE:   1"=5'

SCALE:   1"=5'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

LEGEND EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

TRAIL SECTION 8
SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

TRAIL SECTION 9
SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

TRAIL SECTION 10
SCALE:   1"=5' SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

TRAIL SECTION 11
SCALE:   1"=5' SECTION LOOKING DOWNSTREAM

SEE TRAIL EDGE
DETAIL SHEET D-4

STONE TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

NEW RIVER ACCESS TRAIL

SEE TRAIL EDGE
DETAIL SHEET D-4

STONE TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

NEW RIVER ACCESS TRAIL

NEW PLANTING AREA

NEW PLANTING AREA

NEW PLANTING AREA

NEW PLANTING AREA

NEW PLAZA

NEW RIVER ACCESS TRAIL

CONCRETE

GROUTED BOULDERS

NEW LOW TRAIL

NEW HIGH TRAIL

STONE TERRACING
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-2

551

Item 29.



EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 0+18

18.12

840

845

850

0 5 10 15 200-5-10-15-20-25-30

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 0+33

32.61

840

845

850

0 5 10 15 200-5-10-15-20-25-30-35-40-45

ELEV: 845.7ELEV: 844.7
FLOW

ELEV: 847.7 ELEV: 847.6

12"

3'

12"

ELEV: 842.9

FLOW

ELEV: 844.2
ELEV: 843.3

ELEV: 842.9

ohwm 846.6
ohwm 846.6

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 1+00

100.478

840

845

850

0 5 10 15 20 25 300-5-10-15-20-25-30

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 0+74

73.572

840

845

850

0 5 10 15 20 25 300-5-10-15-20-25-30

ELEV: 842.0 ELEV: 842.0

ELEV: 843.8

ELEV: 845.3

12"

3'

12"

FLOW FLOW
ELEV: 847.6

ELEV: 843.9
ELEV: 843.0

ohwm 846.2
ohwm 846.2

PR
O

FI
LE

 V
IE

W
S 

1

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-24 OF 63

C-24

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

STRUCTURE #2 PROFILES
SCALE:   1"=5'

STRUCTURE #3 PROFILES
SCALE:   1"=5'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

LEGEND EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADENOTE:
BEDROCK CONTACT IS ANTICIPATED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT. STRUCTURE ANCHORING IN BEDROCK CONDITION SHALL BE
CONCRETE TRENCHWALL KEYED 12" INTO BEDROCK. IF BEDROCK IS NOT CONTACTED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT STRUCTURES
SHALL BE ANCHORED 60" INTO NATIVE ALLUVIUM WITH GROUTED BOULDERS. SEE ALTERNATE STRUCTURE PLATE DETAIL SHEET
D-1 - PRESCRIBED PLATE DIMENSIONS

PROFILES LOOKING TOWARD RIVERBANK

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

PROFILES LOOKING TOWARD RIVERBANK

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

NEW LOW TRAIL
STRUCTURE PLATE TIP
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-1

STRUCTURE PLATE TIP
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-1

SEE TRAIL EDGE
DETAIL SHEET D-4

CONCRETE

GROUTED BOULDERS

552

Item 29.



EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 0+16

15.52

839
840

845

0 5 10 15 200-5-10-15-20

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 0+35

35.43

842

845

850

0 5 10 15 20 25 300-5-10-15-20-25-30

ELEV: 844.0

ELEV: 844.6

ELEV: 848.0
ELEV: 848.1

ELEV: 845.0

12"
3'

12"

FLOW

FLOW

ELEV: 844.1ELEV: 841.0 ELEV: 843.2

ohwm 846.4

ohwm 846.4

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 0+88

88.48

840

845

850

0 5 10 15 20 25 300-5-10-15-20-25-30

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 0+50

50.188

840

845

850

0 5 10 15 20 25 300-5-10-15-20-25-30

ELEV: 849.8

ELEV: 844.0
ELEV: 841.0

ELEV: 846.0

12"

3'

ELEV: 848.6

FLOW FLOW

ELEV: 842.2

ohwm 846.0

ohwm 846.0

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 1+07

106.727

837

840

845

0 5 10 150-5-10-15

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 0+72

71.938

837

840

845

0 5 10 150-5-10-15

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 0+46

46.403

837

840

845

850

0 5 10 15 200-5-10-15

ELEV: 841.0

ELEV: 848.2

ELEV: 841.4

ELEV: 841.0

ELEV: 842.5

ELEV: 841.5

ELEV: 843.0

12"
12"

5'
3'3'

EXISTING CLAY HOLE FOUNDATIONELEV: 839.5

5'-6"

EXISTING CLAY HOLE FOUNDATION
ELEV: 839.5

FLOWFLOW

FLOW

ELEV: 840.6ELEV: 840.7

ohwm 845.8 ohwm 845.8 ohwm 845.8

PR
O

FI
LE

 V
IE

W
S 

2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-25 OF 63

C-25

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

STRUCTURE #4 PROFILES
SCALE:   1"=5'

STRUCTURE #5 PROFILES
SCALE:   1"=5'

SCALE:   1"=5'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

LEGEND EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE
NOTE:
BEDROCK CONTACT IS ANTICIPATED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT. STRUCTURE ANCHORING IN BEDROCK CONDITION SHALL BE
CONCRETE TRENCHWALL KEYED 12" INTO BEDROCK. IF BEDROCK IS NOT CONTACTED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT STRUCTURES
SHALL BE ANCHORED 60" INTO NATIVE ALLUVIUM WITH GROUTED BOULDERS. SEE ALTERNATE STRUCTURE PLATE DETAIL SHEET
D-1 - PRESCRIBED PLATE DIMENSIONS

PROFILES LOOKING TOWARD RIVERBANK

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

PROFILES LOOKING TOWARD RIVERBANK

PROFILES LOOKING TOWARD RIVERBANK

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

STRUCTURE PLATE TIP
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-1

NAVIGATION CHUTE
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-3

NAVIGATION CHUTE
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-3

CONCRETE

GROUTED BOULDERS

STRUCTURE #7 (CLAY HOLE) PROFILES CONTINUED

CONTRACTOR TO REMOVE ANY PROTRUDING REBAR
FROM EXISTING CLAY HOLE FOUNDATION, AS DIRECTED

553

Item 29.



EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 1+43

143.341

837

840

845

0 5 10 150-5-10-15

ELEV: 842.0 ELEV: 843.5

12"
3'

6'
EXISTING CLAY HOLE FOUNDATION

ELEV: 839.5

FLOW

ELEV: 840.8

ohwm 845.8

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 0+73

72.67

842

845

850

0 5 10 150-5-10-15-20-25

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 1+00

99.59

842

845

850

855

0 5 10 15 200-5-10-15-20-25-30

ELEV: 848.0

ELEV: 848.7 ELEV: 849.0

ELEV: 848.0

ELEV: 848.1ELEV: 847.8 ELEV: 848.1 FLOW

FLOW

ELEV: 848.0
ohwm 845.9

ohwm 845.9

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

OFFSET FROM CL, STA: 0+48

48.48

837

840

845

850

0 5 10 15 20 25 300-5-10-15-20-25-30

ELEV: 847.0

ELEV: 844.4

FLOW

ELEV: 842.8

ohwm 845.9

PR
O

FI
LE

 V
IE

W
S 

3

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET C-26 OF 63

C-26

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

STRUCTURE #7 (CLAY HOLE) PROFILES CONTINUED
SCALE:   1"=5'

SRUCTURE #6 PROFILES
SCALE:   1"=5'

SCALE:   1"=5'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

STRUCTURE #8 PROFILES
LEGEND EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADENOTE:
BEDROCK CONTACT IS ANTICIPATED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT. STRUCTURE ANCHORING IN BEDROCK CONDITION SHALL BE
CONCRETE TRENCHWALL KEYED 12" INTO BEDROCK. IF BEDROCK IS NOT CONTACTED AT THE CHANNEL INVERT STRUCTURES
SHALL BE ANCHORED 60" INTO NATIVE ALLUVIUM WITH GROUTED BOULDERS. SEE ALTERNATE STRUCTURE PLATE DETAIL SHEET
D-1 - PRESCRIBED PLATE DIMENSIONS

PROFILES LOOKING TOWARD RIVERBANK

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

PROFILES LOOKING TOWARD RIVERBANK

PROFILES LOOKING TOWARD RIVERBANK

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

NEW RIVER ACCESS TRAIL

SEE TRAIL EDGE
DETAIL SHEET D-4

NEW PLAZA NEW RIVER ACCESS TRAIL

SEE TRAIL EDGE
DETAIL SHEET D-4

NEW PLAZA

NAVIGATION CHUTE
SEE DETAIL SHEET D-3

CONCRETE

GROUTED BOULDERS

554

Item 29.



853

850

52
.5'

852.5
TRAIL

858.0
TRAIL

858.0
TRAIL

856.9
TRAIL

856.0
TRAIL

849.0
TRAIL

857.5
TRAIL

852.8
FG

850.0
FG

848.5
FG850.0

FG

848.0

848.9
TRAIL

849.0
TRAIL

857.5
TRAIL

853.3
TRAIL

851.2
TRAIL

847.0
EG

850.0
FG

849.4
TRAIL

849.5
FG

847.0
FG

847.0
FG

848.3
FG 849.0

FG

846.9
FG

849.0
FG

845.0
FG

845.5
FG

846.5
FG

Alignment=TRAIL 3
Station=0+77.48

1
856.000

INTERSECTION
N042° 32' 21.79"
W092° 26' 38.30"

2
856.900

INTERSECTION
N042° 32' 21.64"
W092° 26' 37.26"

4
851.200

INTERSECTION
N042° 32' 21.21"
W092° 26' 37.61"

5
858.000
CENTER
N042° 32' 21.18"
W092° 26' 36.81"

858.0
PLAZA

N89° 10' 04.08"E

29.65
S18° 13' 59.68"E

24.35

L=56.32, R=191.4
D=016.86

L=68.96, R=54.4

D=072.60

N89° 10' 04.08"E

29.65
S18° 13' 59.68"E

24.35

L=56.32, R=191.4
D=016.86

L=68.96, R=54.4

D=072.60

S73° 58' 35.43"E

31.36

N89° 10' 04.08"E

29.65
S18° 13' 59.68"E

24.35

L=56.32, R=191.4
D=016.86

L=68.96, R=54.4

D=072.60

S00° 26' 25.69"E

11.43

S51° 48' 25.93"E
73.07

S16° 32' 33.25"E

11.36

L=15.38 , R=17.2

D=051.37

L=11.54, R=18.7

D=035.26

L=8.39, R=52.0
D=009.24

S04° 22' 12.09"E

8.31

S54° 08' 27.77"E
33.57

S58° 38' 48.05"E
43.56

S87° 00' 19.21"E
6.67

S17° 50' 03.29"W
10.03

S38° 41' 17.78"E38.41

N6
0°

 1
4' 

30
.2

8"
E

6.
75

L=13.89, R=103.9

D=007.66

L=32.71, R=16.2
D=115.39

L=15.90 , R=18.3

D=049.77

L=9.72, R
D=028.

S60° 03' 22.38"E
80.98

S55° 25' 51.75"E
8.17

S45° 20' 38.96"W
9.57

L=32.83 , R=17.8

D
=105.40

L=5.52, R=68.4
D=004.63

Point Table

Point #

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

Raw Description

INTERSECTION

INTERSECTION

INTERSECTION

INTERSECTION

CENTER

INTERSECTION

LANDING

LANDING

INTERSECTION

LANDING

INTERSECTION

INTERSECTION

INTERSECTION

INTERSECTION

INTERSECTION

LANDING

LANDING

INTERSECTION

LANDING

Elevation

856.000

856.900

855.600

851.200

858.000

855.500

855.500

848.000

853.000

849.400

850.900

854.600

854.500

856.500

850.600

848.100

847.700

852.000

847.500

Northing

3661386.6593

3661372.4954

3661203.1117

3661328.6909

3661326.4040

3661261.2181

3661151.3995

3661098.0645

3661080.0391

3661021.9085

3660978.6156

3661134.8196

3660927.4560

3661004.4848

3660955.5496

3660935.6712

3661038.8735

3660715.0643

3660652.2101

Easting

5205840.1536

5205918.2316

5206095.8229

5205891.9038

5205952.1496

5205995.2829

5206117.5000

5206155.1294

5206256.8009

5206301.9818

5206407.7695

5206188.4790

5206501.5486

5205610.6338

5205721.7451

5205779.0191

5205636.8283

5205999.1396

5206103.0477

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET T-1 OF 63

T-1

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

TRAIL LAYOUT PLAN
SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

LEGEND

EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

CONCRETE

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

GROUTED BOULDERS
SS, MH, LK, RG

RG

TR
AI

L 
LA

YO
U

T 
PL

AN

555

Item 29.



20
FT

25
FT

73.572

100.478

50.188

88.48

850

855

844

842

855.5
TRAIL

855.6
TRAIL

848.8
TRAIL

854.6
TRAIL 854.6

TRAIL

848.0
TRAIL

845.3
CREST

846.0
CREST

843.8
EXIT

844.0
EXIT

848.5
TRAIL

848.8
TRAIL

848.9
TRAIL

857.5
TRAIL

848.9
TRAIL

848.9
TRAIL

848.8
TRAIL

848.7
TRAIL

848.7
TRAIL

848.6
TRAIL

848.5
TRAIL

848.4
TRAIL

848.5
TRAIL

845.0
FG

845.2
FG

844.0
FG846.1

FG

847.1
FG

847.3
FG

847.6
FG

848.3
FG

846.0
FG

844.4
FG846.0

FG

848.0
TRAIL

848.8
TRAIL

849.5
TRAIL

845.8
FG

843.5
FG

846.3
FG

848.2
FG

848.0
FG

844.3
FG 846.1

FG

842.8
FG

842.6
FG

843.7
FG

850.2
FG

851.1
FG

850.1
FG

850.0
FG

3
855.600
INTERSECTION
N042° 32' 19.95"
W092° 26' 34.91"

6
855.500
INTERSECTION
N042° 32' 20.53"
W092° 26' 36.24"

7
855.500
LANDING
N042° 32' 19.43"
W092° 26' 34.63"

8
848.000
LANDING
N042° 32' 18.90"
W092° 26' 34.14"

12
854.600
INTERSECTION
N042° 32' 19.26"
W092° 26' 33.69"

854.1
TRAIL 852.9

TRAIL 852.5
TRAIL 853.3

TRAIL

S18° 13' 59.68"E

24.35

S58° 54' 48.75"E
3.70

L=143.29, R=201.8

D=040.68

S18° 13' 59.68"E

24.35

S58° 54' 48.75"E
3.70

L=143.29, R=201.8

D=040.68

S18° 13' 59.68"E

24.35

S58° 54' 48.75"E
3.70

L=143.29, R=201.8

D=040.68

S16° 32' 33.25"E

11.36

S07° 17' 56.24"E

12.93

L=11.54, R=18.7

D=035.26

L=8.39, R=52.0
D=009.24

S58° 38' 48.05"E

S87° 00' 19.21"E
6.67

S40° 08' 04.37"E43.90

S59° 05' 52.62"E
52.22 S57° 33' 08.38"E

25.68
S63° 25' 39.39"E

22.68

S75° 17' 07.69"E

5.81

S57° 34' 35.34"E
17.47

L=9.72, R=19.6D=028.36
L=7.76, R=9.5

D=046.87

L=11.35, R=34.3

D=018.96

L=18.94, R=702.2
D=001.55

L=10.57, R=103.1
D=005.88 L=16.60, R=80.2D=011.86

L=15.77, R=51.0
D=017.71

L=11.72, R=63.3

D=010.61

S55° 25' 51.75"E
8.17

S16° 35' 02.48"W
8.99

S01° 18' 36.01"W
3.11

N5
4°

 1
2' 

39
.2

3"
E

17
.8

0

S41° 30' 12.01"E
13.17

S80° 33' 08.97"E
3.97

S65° 23' 16.04"E

37.44

S41° 05' 04.04"E
1.25

S83° 35' 08.68"E
2.28

S57° 16' 53.66"E
2.15

S01° 31' 39.54"E
1.08

S62° 37' 09.77"E
2.26

L=5.52, R=68.4
D=004.63

L=30.75 , R=24.5

D=072.02

L=2.66, R=10.0
D=015.27

L=4.87, R=2.2
D=127.10

L=27.67, R=18.8
D=084.29

L=4.39, R=6.4
D=039.05

L=3.03, R=11.4
D=015.16

L=3.52, R=8.3
D=024.30

L=8.54, R=11.5
D=042.50 L=15.08, R=32.8D=026.30

L=6.08, R=6.3
D=055.75

L=6.40, R=6.0
D=061.09

N
47

° 1
6'

 3
9.

61
"E

7.
26

N89° 45' 20.67"E

6.70

L=
20

.6
4,

R=27.8

D=0
42

.4
8

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET T-2 OF 63

T-2

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

TRAIL LAYOUT PLAN
SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

LEGEND

EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

CONCRETE

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

GROUTED BOULDERS
SS, MH, LK, RG

RG

TR
AI

L 
LA

YO
U

T 
PL

AN

556

Item 29.



25FT

50.188

88.48

46.403

71.938

844

848
849

845

840

842

841

18FT

854.6
TRAIL

853.0
TRAIL

852.6
TRAIL

850.9
TRAIL

842.5
CREST 841.0

EXIT

849.4
TRAIL

851.3
TRAIL

850.3
TRAIL

848.8
TRAIL

850.4
TRAIL

849.5
TRAIL

851.2
TRAIL

852.6
TRAIL

849.2
TRAIL

842.8
FG

841.1
FG844.1

FG

846.3
FG

848.5
FG

849.1
FG

846.0
FG 846.0

FG

843.7
FG

846.4
FG

845.3
FG

844.5
FG

844.6
FG

844.4
FG

844.4
FG

849.0
FG

843.2
FG

846.3
FG

846.0
FG 844.4

FG
843.8

FG

849.0
FG 849.0

FG

852.8
FG

852.8
FG

852.9
TRAIL

852.9
TRAIL

852.8
TRAIL

852.3
TRAIL

849.9
FG

852.9
FG

853.0
TRAIL

852.9
FG

852.9
FG

852.8
FG

849.8
FG

851.5
FG 850.2

FG

849.8
FG

848.5
FG

848.000
LANDING
N042° 32' 18.90"
W092° 26' 34.14"

9
853.000
INTERSECTION
N042° 32' 18.71"
W092° 26' 32.78"

10
849.400

LANDING
N042° 32' 18.13"
W092° 26' 32.19"

11
850.900
INTERSECTION
N042° 32' 17.69"
W092° 26' 30.78"

12
854.600
INTERSECTION
N042° 32' 19.26"
W092° 26' 33.69"

853.6
TRAILS57° 34' 35.34"E

17.47 S46° 57' 49.44"E11.53 S62° 00' 48.20"E
15.13 S41° 18' 39.39"E15.88

S45° 27' 58.12"E38.68
S79° 58' 05.35"E

11.77

S69° 25' 04.58"E

12.64

S53° 48' 15.74"E
8.70

S49° 22' 07.08"E56.38

L=11.72, R=63.3

D=010.61

L=7.98, R=30.4

D=015.05
L=9.31, R=25.8

D=020.70 L=13.13, R=181.1
D=004.16

L=10.17, R=16.9
D=034.50

L=15.95, R=86.6D=010.55
L=19.93, R=73.1

D=015.61

L=4.95, R=63.9

D=004.44

L=6.31, R=73.9

D=004.89N89° 45' 20.67"E

6.70

S52° 50' 23.91"E
26.91

N77° 05' 54.60"E
2.30

27.8

L=40.52, R=62.1D=037.40

L=9.94, R=11.4
D=050.06

S84° 13' 59.27"E

9.14

S59° 09' 52.38"E
4.79

S62° 26' 30.17"E
38.85

L=31.39, R=71.7D=025.07
L=23.22, R=406.0

D=003.28

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET T-3 OF 63

T-3

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

TRAIL LAYOUT PLAN
SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

LEGEND

EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

CONCRETE

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

GROUTED BOULDERS
SS, MH, LK, RG

RG

TR
AI

L 
LA

YO
U

T 
PL

AN

557

Item 29.



25FT

46.403

71.938

845

854

845

850
851

840

18FT

18FT

852.6
TRAIL

850.9
TRAIL

854.5
TRAIL

842.5
CREST 841.0

EXIT

841.5

849.4
TRAIL

851.3
TRAIL

854.0
TRAIL

850.3
TRAIL

849.2
TRAIL

842.8
FG

841.1
FG844.1

FG

846.3
FG

848.5
FG

849.1
FG

846.0
FG 846.0

FG

844.4
FG

843.2
FG

846.3
FG

846.0
FG 844.4

FG
843.8

FG
845.0

FG
847.3

FG

851.8
FG

854.2
FG

852.8
TRAIL

851.3
TRAIL

852.9
TRAIL

852.8
TRAIL

852.3
TRAIL

849.9
FG

852.9
FG

853.0
TRAIL

852.9
FG

852.9
FG

852.8
FG

849.8
FG

851.5
FG 850.2

FG

849.8
FG

848.5
FG

10
849.400

LANDING
N042° 32' 18.13"
W092° 26' 32.19"

11
850.900
INTERSECTION
N042° 32' 17.69"
W092° 26' 30.78"

13
854.500
INTERSECTION
N042° 32' 17.18"
W092° 26' 29.54"

S79° 58' 05.35"E

11.77

S69° 25' 04.58"E

12.64

S53° 48' 15.74"E
8.70

S49° 22' 07.08"E56.38

S59° 18' 43.70"E
10.09

N33° 52' 43.55"E
4.26

S54° 15' 28.43"E
58.53

L=10.17, R=16.9
D=034.50

L=15.95, R=86.6D=010.55
L=19.93, R=73.1

D=015.61

L=4.95, R=63.9

D=004.44

L=6.31, R=73.9

D=004.89

L=24.84, R=281.6

D=005.05
L=10.72,

R
=7

.1

D=086.
81

S84° 13' 59.27"E

9.14

S59° 09' 52.38"E
4.79

S62° 26' 30.17"E
38.85

L=31.39, R=71.7D=025.07
L=23.22, R=406.0

D=003.28

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET T-4 OF 63

T-4

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

TRAIL LAYOUT PLAN
SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

LEGEND

EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

CONCRETE

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

GROUTED BOULDERS
SS, MH, LK, RG

RG

TR
AI

L 
LA

YO
U

T 
PL

AN

558

Item 29.



20
FT

20
FT

18.12

32.61

15.52

35.43

15FT

15FT

845.7
CREST

845.0
CREST

844.7
EXIT

844.0
EXIT

857.0
TRAIL856.5

TRAIL

847.7
TRAIL

848.0
TRAIL

850.6
TRAIL

845

850

855

841

845

850

847.6
TRAIL

845.8
FG

845.0
FG

848.2
FG

850.2
FG

852.8
FG

855.5
FG

856.0
TRAIL

854.7
TRAIL

853.1
TRAIL

850.8
TRAIL

849.5
TRAIL

848.9
TRAIL

848.4
TRAIL

848.5
TRAIL

856.7
TRAIL

852.3
TRAIL

849.8
TRAIL

848.1
TRAIL

846.2
FG

847.2
FG

845.8
FG

846.1
FG

846.1
FG

849.1
FG

850.0
FG

847.1
FG

846.0
FG

846.3
FG

845.7
FG

845.9
FG

854.3
FG

845.3
FG

845.0
FG

14
856.500
INTERSECTION
N042° 32' 18.05"
W092° 26' 41.43"

15
850.600
INTERSECTION
N042° 32' 17.55"
W092° 26' 39.95"

16
848.100
LANDING
N042° 32' 17.35"
W092° 26' 39.19"

17
847.700

LANDING
N042° 32' 18.38"
W092° 26' 41.07" S38° 05' 29.71"E19.95

S34° 21' 36.55"E16.60
S61° 54' 42.98"E

10.02 S54° 12' 28.81"E
39.52

S22° 40' 40.87"W
1.72

L=1.93, R=29.6

D=003.73

L=11.09, R=23.1

D=027.55
L=10.75, R=79.9

D=007.70 L=7.19, R=5.4
D=076.89

N32° 22' 16.54"E
5.29

S65° 17' 37.83"E

47.37

S58° 19' 38.17"E
39.74

S68° 18' 15.08"E

23.05

S82° 34' 32.58"E

3.25

L=5.75, R=4.0
D=082.33

L=28.32, R=232.9
D=006.97

L=17.84, R=102.4
D=009.98

L=11.41, R=45.8D=014.27

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET T-5 OF 63

T-5

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

TRAIL LAYOUT PLAN
SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

LEGEND

EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

CONCRETE

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

GROUTED BOULDERS
SS, MH, LK, RG

RG

TR
AI

L 
LA

YO
U

T 
PL

AN

559

Item 29.



70FT

72.67

99.59

847.3
FG

847.5
TRAIL

850.0
TRAIL

852.0
TRAIL

851.8
TRAIL

848.4
TRAIL

850.9
TRAIL

849.1
FG

848.1
FG

848.3
FG

850.2
FG

852.7
FG

848.0
FG

847.5
FG

849.2
FG

849.7
FG

851.3
FG

854.3
FG

853.5
FG

848.7
FG

848.0
FG

848.9
FG

N69
° 1

4' 
58

.62
"E

3.6
6

S59° 14' 51.84"E
1.61

S27° 35' 48.44"E
27.90

S87° 24' 07.04"E
4.15

L=49.91, R=55.5
D=051.50

L=44.11, R=79.9

D=031.65

L=
5 .02, R=4.8

D=059.81
18

852.000
INTERSECTION
N042° 32' 15.14"
W092° 26' 36.28"

19
847.500
LANDING
N042° 32' 14.51"
W092° 26' 34.91"

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET T-6 OF 63

T-6

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

010 10

SCALE BAR 1"=10'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 1FT

TRAIL LAYOUT PLAN
SCALE:   1"=10'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

LEGEND

EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

CONCRETE

CLEAN ANGULAR COBBLE

GROUTED BOULDERS
SS, MH, LK, RG

RG

TR
AI

L 
LA

YO
U

T 
PL

AN

560

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

635 sq ft

498 sq ft

1,248 sq ft

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

2'-6"

6'

6'

6'

4'

12'

3'-
3"

10' 4'-11 3/4"
10'

3'

7'-
2"

46'-1"

30'-8 1/4"

5'

10
'

20'

6'
-6

"

R 7'

431 sq ft

317 sq ft

327 sq ft

84 sq ft

850

850

846
847
848
849

850
844

851

852

848

852
+855.50

848

+848.5

+ 856.00

+851.17

(E)Drain
Pipe

(E)30" RCP storm
outlet (flow line
elev. 847.3814')

+850.00

+852.33

860

850
848

854

852

850

848

846

852

854

856

EXISTING WALKWAY

850

851

850

850
851

852

851852
854

856

855

848

849
847

846
845

858

860

854

858

CW

SM

(E) ICE SKATING SLAB

L 2.0-Upper Terrace Layout

L5-Turtleback Layout/ Planting Plan

(E) UPPER PARKING LOT(ASPHALT)

(E) LOWER PARKING
LOT(ASPHALT)

(E) OPEN SHELTER

(E)
RESTROOMS

(E) STORAGE

EX
IST

IN
G 

WA
LK

WA
Y

L 4-Layout/ Planting @ River Right

L 3.2-River Left Planting Plan

L 2.3-River Left Layout

854

856

852
850

848

856
858

Upper Terrace

Cit
y W

ate
r S

up
ply

Riv
er 

cro
ssi

ng

#5 Terrace

#7 Terrace#2&4 Access

#6
Water
Feature

Existing Boat Ramp

Matc
h L

ine

850

848

850

851

850

852

853 854

854

849

848
847

846

845

853

853

CW

CW
CW

R
IV

E
R
 LE

F
T

R
IV

E
R
 R

IG
H
T

CWCW

#2
Water Feature

1-U6.1s
4+93

845

#4
Water
Feature

#3
Water Feature

#5
Water Feature

#7
Water Feature

#8
Water Feature

857.25'

856.0'

REVISED
PARKING LOT
EDGE

851

853

853

Cedar Rapids

Waterloo
Cedar Falls

Charles City

Columbus Junction

Austin

Mississippi River

(E)Drain
Pipe(E)18" RCP storm

outlet (flow line
elev. 852.0')

(E)12" RCP
storm outlet
(flow line elev.
849.0')

856

855

854
853

851

852

850

855

853

854

852

L 3.0-Upper Terrace Planting

L 2.2-River Left Layout

L 3.3-River Left Planting

LANDING

Ma
tch

 Lin
e

Matc
h L

ine

1- 5 GALLON - SALIX BABYLONICA
"TAKE OUT" MARKER TREE

Turtleback Landing

L 3.1-River Left Planting
L 2.1-River Left Layout

L 0     Upland Drawing Key

L 1     Demolition Plan

L 1.1  Stone Quantities Plan

River Left Layout

L 2.0   Upper Terrace Layout Plan
L 2.1   River Left Layout Plan
L 2.2   River Left Layout Plan
L 2.3   River Left Layout Plan

River Left Planting
L 3.0   Upper Terrace/Planting Plan
L 3.1   River Left Planting Plan
L 3.2   River Left Planting Plan
L 3.3   River Left Planting Plan

L 4   River Right Layout/Planting Plan
L 5   River Right (Turtle Back)Layout/ 
 Planting Plan

L 6   Upper Terrace Sections

L 7   Paving Details

L 8    Misc Details/Specs

L 9    Electrical and Lighting Plan

L 10   Plumbing Plan

L 11  Signage Plan

L 12  Signage Graphics

Upland Drawing Legend

North

SCALE: 1"   = 50'
UPLAND SITE DRAWING KEY

0 20' 50' 100'

Up
lan

d S
ite

 D
raw

ing
 Ke

Y

L 0
Upland Drawings

561

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

2'-6"

6'-
0"

6'-
0"

4'-
0"

3'-0"

7'-
2"

10
'-0

"

20'-0"

B-15

B-14

B-13

B-12

B-11

B-10

B-9

B-8

B-7

B-6

B-5

B-4

B-3

B-2

Fire Plug

Fire Plug

861.33'

859.75'

859.54'

855.83'

856.08'

855.67'

845.50'

853.12'

845.37'

R 7'

589 sq ft
146 sq ft

7+00

1+00

3+00

4+00

8+00

0+00

2+00

-0+50

5+00

6+00

7+00

850

846
847
848
849

852
+855.50

848

+848.5

+ 856.00

+851.17

(E)Drain
Pipe

(E
) S

tai
r-r

em
ov

ed

(E)30" RCP storm
outlet (flow line
elev. 847.3814')

+850.00

+852.33

860

854

852

850

848

846

EXISTING WALKWAY

851854

854

CW

SM

REMOVE AND SAVE EXISTING CONCRETE LIGHT
BOLLARDS - TO BE REPLACED ALONG NEW
WALKWAY ALIGNMENT. 11-12-13 ( 3 TOTAL)

EXISTING TREES TO BE SAVED AND PROTECTED DURING CONSTRUCTION.

(E) ICE SKATING SLAB

(E) UPPER PARKING LOT(ASPHALT)

(E) LOWER PARKING
LOT(ASPHALT)

(E) OPEN SHELTER

(E)
RESTROOMS

(E) STORAGE

REMOVE PORTION OF EXISTING SEAL COATED
PARKING AND CONCRETE PATH.

854

856

852
850

848

856
858

Cit
y W

ate
r S

up
ply

Riv
er 

cro
ssi

ng

Matc
h L

ine

UPLAND STATION LINE

850

842

843

858

858

850

855

855

845

845

850

845

854

845

850

840

842
841

841

844

851

850

852

853 854

854

849

848
847

846

845

853

853

CW

CW
CW

CWCW

EXISTING TREES TO BE SAVED AND PROTECTED DURING CONSTRUCTION.

EXISTING STAIR AND CONCRETE
FOOTING TO BE REMOVED

DF

(E) ELECTRICAL SUPPLY: POINT OF CONNECTION

UPLAND STATIONING BEGINS HERE AT BOAT RAMP AND BIKE TRAIL LOCATION

PARKING LOT USED AS STAGING AREA TO BE RE- SEAL COATED AT THE END OF PROJECT PER CITY STANDARD AND INCLUDED IN
GENERAL CONTRACTORS BID.

1-U6.1s
4+93

CITY WATER SERVICE - VERIFY LOCATION PRIOR TO DIGGING.

857.25'

856.0'

REVISED
PARKING LOT
EDGE

REMOVE EXISTING RIP RAP REMOVE TO ACCOMODATE NEW LARGE STONE BORDER

852

(E)Drain
Pipe(E)18" RCP storm

outlet (flow line
elev. 852.0')

(E)12" RCP
storm outlet
(flow line elev.
849.0')

Lincoln Street

(E) PLUMBING SUPPLY CONNECTION

Ma
tch

 Lin
e

Matc
h L

ine

Relocated Bollard

Relocated Bollard

B-9

FH

Existing Trees

Cottonwoods(save)

Ash(to be removed)
Silver maple(save)

A

CW

SM

Legend

Symbol

Symbol Description

Bollards-Existing light bollards 1-15

Fire Hydrant- to remain and be
protected during construction.

Bollards B-11,12,13 to be relocated.Footings,conduit and wiring
incidental to cost. These bollards to be re set and electrified
similar to existing from B-10 to B-14 to complete circuit

TREE PROTECTIONALL TREES IN THE WORK ZONE ARE
TO BE SAVED AND PROTECTED. LARGE TREES ON THE EXISTING
RIP RAPPED SLOPE WILL INVOLVE THE REMOVAL OF RIP RAP AND
THE RE INSTALLATION OF STONE, CONCRETE AND PLANTING.
DURING EXCAVATION NO ROOTS LARGER THAN 2 INCHES IN
DIAMETER ARE TO BE DISTURBED.
OTHER TREES ARE TO BE FENCED AT THE DRIP LINE WITH
COMMON PLASTIC SNOW FENCE AND STEEL TEE POSTS.

North

SCALE: 1"   = 30'
DEMOLITION PLAN

0 30' 60'

UP
LA

ND
 D

EM
OL

ITI
ON

 PL
AN

L 1.0

562

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

343 sq ft

311 sq ft

65 sq ft

345 sq ft219 sq ft

592 sq ft
289 sq ft471 sq ft

399 sq ft

278 sq ft171 sq ft314 sq ft

375 sq ft

279 sq ft

149 sq ft

228 sq ft
389 sq ft

279 sq ft

145 sq ft

259 sq ft

99 sq ft

51 sq ft 1,380 sq ft
278 sq ft

219 sq ft 679 sq ft937 sq ft

506 sq ft343 sq ft

750 sq ft

258 sq ft

EX
IST

IN
G 

BO
AT

 R
AM

P
UPLAND STONE WORK

UPLAND STONE WORK

UPLAND STONE WORK

IN RIVER STONE WORK

TYPICAL

UPLAND STONE WORK

IN RIVER STONE WORK

TYPICAL
IN RIVER STONE WORK

TYPICAL

BRIDGE ABUTMENTS

204 sq ft

594 sq ft

939 sq ft

274 sq ft

500 sq ft

308 sq ft

557 sq ft

210 sq ft

UPLAND STONE WORK

TYPICAL
UPLAND STONE WORK

IN RIVER STONE WORK

TYPICAL

IN RIVER STONE WORK

TYPICAL
BRIDGE ABUTMENTS

BRIDGE ABUTMENTS

UPLAND STONE NOTES

2.  UPLAND STONE TO BE PAID FOR ON A PER UNIT
BASIS PROVIDED AND PLACED AT THE DIRECTION OF
ARCHITECT. SQUARE FOOTAGES REPRESENT THE
SURFACE AREA OF STONE x 2' HEIGHT TO PROVIDE A
CUBIC MEASUREMENT FOR BIDDING PURPOSES.
UPON SELECTION OF STONE QUARRY, A DENSITY
VALUE WILL BE APPLIED TO  THE QUANTITIES AND
CONVERTED TO A WEIGHTED MEASUREMENT TO
VERIFY HAUL WEIGHTS  AND DETERMINE PAYMENT.

1.  UPLAND STONE TO BE LIMESTONE QUARRIED AND
OF SOLID PIECES PRE APPROVED FROM LOCAL
QUARRY.

3.  SPECIALTY STONE TO BE PRE SELECTED BY
ARCHITECT. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE SHIPPING
ON FLAT BEDS TO PROJECT LOCATION.  STONE TO
BE UNLOADED BY CONTRACTOR WITH FORKS. THIS
SPECIALTY STONE IS A GREY SLAB MATERIAL FROM
HAHN QUARRY @ 3913 WEST GUILFORD ROAD,
GALENA IL 61036. 815-777-8907

North

North

 STONE QUANTITIES PLAN ( RIVER LEFT)
Scale: 1" = 30'

STONE LAYOUTS SHOWN ARE SCHEMATIC ONLY FOR MEASUREMENT PURPOSES.  STONE TO BE
PLACE IN THE FIELD AT THE DIRECTION OF OWNERS REPRESENTATIVE.

 STONE QUANTITIES PLAN ( RIVER RIGHT)
Scale: 1" = 30' L 1.1

UP
LA

ND
 ST

ON
E Q

UA
NT

ITI
ES

 PL
AN

563

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

635 sq ft

498 sq ft

24" caliper(Save)

2
L4.0

12'-0"

3'-
3"

10'-0" 5'-0"
10'-0"

3'-0"

7'-
2"

6'-
0"

10
'-0

"

855.00'

856.00'

854.50'

854.00'
853.00'

850.00'

848.00'

847.00'
846.00'

848.00'

853.00'852.00'

851.00'

850.00'

855.00'

854.00'

855.50'

B-14

B-13

B-12

B-11
849.00'

849.00'
853.00'

R 22'

R 14'-8"R 14'-8"

R 35'

431 sq ft

317 sq ft

327 sq ft

1+00

848

+ 856.00

(E)30" RCP storm
outlet (flow line
elev. 847.3814')

858

New Bike
Path

 Concrete
Walkway

Matc
h L

ine

UPLAND STATION LINE

850

858

858

850

855

CW

CWCW

3
L 7

Trail Bridges6
L7

Artificial Turf

Stone
Steps

2
L8

857.25'

856.0'

851

852

Cedar Rapids

Waterloo
Cedar Falls

Charles City

Columbus Junction

Austin

Mississippi River

856

855

854
853

851

852

850

855

853

854

852

Concrete Paving w/ black integral
color and stamp and sealed

Flagstone
Waterway

Relocated Bollard

Relocated Bollard

Relocated Bollard

Relocated Bollard

Concrete Paving w/ black integral
color and stamp and sealed

Resin bound river run @ approx 4" wide.

Brass label plates set in concrete

Concrete
Walk way

4
L7

Concrete
Walk way

4
L7

2
L7

Concrete
Mowband

5
L 7

2
L7

Concrete
Mowband

3
L7

Concrete
Slab

7
L 8

Flagstone
Patio

4
L8

5
L8

Wall
Elev

Wall
Elev

Typical
North

SCALE: 1"   = 10'
Layout Plan

0 5' 10' 20'

UP
PE

R 
TE

RR
AC

E L
AY

OU
T P

LA
N

L 2.0

564

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

4'
-0

"

6'-0"

55'-11 1/2"

854.00'

860.53'

850.00'

847.00'
846.00'

853.00'852.00'

851.00'

850.00'

854.00'
853.00'

855.00'

855.50'

854.00'
852.50'

855.00'

853.00'

854.00'

852.50'

853.00'
852.50'

B-11

B-10

B-9

B-8

855.75'

Fire Plug

855.75'

852

856.50'

851.00'

849.00'
849.00'

855.75'

853.00'

853.00'

3+00

4+00

848

852
+855.50

848

+ 856.00

+851.17

CW

SM

 Concrete
Walkway

Matc
h L

ine

850

858

850

855

855

841

844

853

CW

CWCW

3
L 7

#3
Water Feature

852

Flagstone
Waterway

Ma
tch

 Lin
e

Relocated Bollard
Relocated Bollard

2
L7

Concrete
Mowband

New Bike
Path

5
L 7

Concrete
Mowband

Stone
Steps

2
L8

Stone
Steps

2
L8

7
L 8

Flagstone
Patio

Shower Location
North

SCALE: 1"   = 10'
Layout Plan

0 5' 10' 20'

L 2.1

565

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

4'
-0

"

6'-0"

6'-
0"

6'-
0"

4'-
0"

854.00'

854.00'
853.00'

855.50'

854.00'
852.50'

855.00'

853.00'

853.00'

851.50'

850.00'852.00'

854.50'

848.00'

851.33'

849.50'
858.00'

854.00'

852.50'

853.00'
852.50'

854.00'

852.25'

850.75'

852

856.50'

851.00'

R 7'

4+00

852

848

852
+855.50

+848.5

+850.00

+852.33

854

852

850

848

846

854

CW

850

848

855

845

845

850

845

842
841

853

853

CW
CW

1-U6.1s
4+93

#5
Water Feature

Ma
tch

 Lin
e

Matc
h L

ine

2
L7

Concrete
Mowband

3
L7

Concrete
Slab

Stone
Steps

2
L8

Stone
Steps

2
L8

Shower Location

3'North

SCALE: 1"   = 10'
Layout Plan

0 5' 10' 20'

L 2.2

566

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

6'-
0"

6'-
0"

20'-0"

853.00'

851.50'

850.00'852.00'

854.50'

858.00'

854.00'

854.00'

852.25'

850.75'

1
L 7

7+00

8+00

852+850.00

+852.33

852

850

848

846

854

FLOOD WAY LINE - APPROX. ELEV. 856.50

845

850

845

854

845

850

840

851

850

852

853 854

854

849

848
847

846

845

853

CW
CW

#7
Water Feature

853

853

(E)18" RCP storm
outlet (flow line
elev. 852.0')

(E)12" RCP
storm outlet
(flow line elev.
849.0')

LANDING

Matc
h L

ine

Seal
Chute

6
L8

2
L7

Concrete
Mowband

Stone
Steps

2
L8

Stone
Steps

2
L8

3'

North

SCALE: 1"   = 10'
Layout Plan

0 5' 10' 20'

L 2.3

567

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

131 sq ft

635 sq ft

498 sq ft

124 sq ft

351 sq ft

346 sq ft

263 sq ft

338 sq ft

368 sq ft

879 sq ft

12'

3'-
3"

10' 4'-11 3/4"
10'

3'

7'-
2"

10
'

431 sq ft

462 sq ft

317 sq ft

327 sq ft

539 sq ft

224 sq ft

770 sq ft

508 sq ft

478 sq ft

557 sq ft

1,739 sq ft

953 sq ft

397 sq ft

374 sq ft

1,774 sq ft

(E)30" RCP storm
outlet (flow line
elev. 847.3814')

Matc
h L

ine

843

858

858

850

855

CW

CWCW

857.25'

856.0'
1-Existing Maple to re planted

REVISED
PARKING LOT
EDGE

3-Populus Deltoides
"Cottonwood"

852

Cedar Rapids

Waterloo
Cedar Falls

Charles City

Columbus Junction

Austin

Mississippi River

Lawn

Lawn

7-Cornus Alternafolia

Seeded " Not too Tall " blend

20-Hemerocallis 'Stella Supreme'
20-Stella D'oro "Purple"

Pachysandra terminalis
Flats @ 12" o.c.

Sod Lawn

Sod Lawn

Sod Lawn
Sod Lawn

"Karl Foerster Grass"

" Not Too Tall" Seeding

Low Land

Low Land

Mid Land

Up Land

10-Hemerocallis 'Stella Supreme'
10-Stella D'oro "Purple"

Mid Land

Up Land

P

P

P

P

See Planting
Legend

Plan shows areas divided into Upland,Midland,Lowland and Sod areas.
Architect has calculated areas and desired spacing to come up with the
quantities listed. Due to the variable placement of much of the stone plants
will be set in the field upon completion of stonework and in the Spring of
2022. Contractor to order amounts shown on the plan. General area
measurements may be used to calculate mulch, pre-emergents and Sod.

See Planting Legend Sheet L-5

The project typically floods every Spring. Most of the in river and stone work will completed
over the Winter months.
It is expected that landscape and planting will commence in the Spring of 2022.
Due to the potential for flooding and loss we have chosen to the "Not Too Tall seed mix on
the lower elevations. Flooding damage will result in less loss and reseeding will need to be
done " not under this contract"
The other planting areas have been measured and 4" pots  will be used for cover. Due to the
uncertain nature of the Stone work and flooding we have given a total count of plants for
bidding and we will use these plants for the project for contractor ordering.
Contractor to set out plants at the direction of the Architect at planting time.
A one year warranty will start at the end of planting. Flood damage will not need to be
covered under the warranty.
Planting and staking shall be completed under current SUDAS best practices.

North

SCALE: 1"   = 10'
PLANTING PLAN

0 5' 10' 20'

TR
AIL

/PL
AN

TIN
G 

PL
AN

 @
 U

PP
ER

 TE
RR

AC
E

L 3.0

568

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

142 sq ft

159 sq ft

131 sq ft

124 sq ft

239 sq ft

120 sq ft

100 sq ft

368 sq ft

498 sq ft

2,445 sq ft

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

12'

3'-
3"

10' 4'-11 3/4"
10'

462 sq ft

953 sq ft

374 sq ft

1,774 sq ft

852
+855.50

+ 856.00

CW

SM

Matc
h L

ine

858

850

855

855

841

844

853

CW

CWCW

#3
Water Feature

852

Columbus Junction

Ma
tch

 Lin
e

1- Acer Saccharinum
5 gal.

Sod Lawn

Sod Lawn

Sod Lawn

Low Land

Mid Land

Up Land

10-Hemerocallis 'Stella Supreme'
10-Stella D'oro "Purple"

Mid Land

Up Land

Up Land

Up Land

P

P

P

1- Populus Deltoides
5 gal.

Plan shows areas divided into Upland,Midland,Lowland and Sod areas.
Architect has calculated areas and desired spacing to come up with the
quantities listed. Due to the variable placement of much of the stone plants
will be set in the field upon completion of stonework and in the Spring of
2022. Contractor to order amounts shown on the plan. General area
measurements may be used to calculate mulch, pre-emergents and Sod.

See Planting Legend Sheet L-5

The project typically floods every Spring. Most of the in river and stone work will completed
over the Winter months.
It is expected that landscape and planting will commence in the Spring of 2022.
Due to the potential for flooding and loss we have chosen to the "Not Too Tall seed mix on
the lower elevations. Flooding damage will result in less loss and reseeding will need to be
done " not under this contract"
The other planting areas have been measured and 4" pots  will be used for cover. Due to the
uncertain nature of the Stone work and flooding we have given a total count of plants for
bidding and we will use these plants for the project for contractor ordering.
Contractor to set out plants at the direction of the Architect at planting time.
A one year warranty will start at the end of planting. Flood damage will not need to be
covered under the warranty.
Planting and staking shall be completed under current SUDAS best practices.

North

SCALE: 1"   = 10'
Trail/Planting Plan

0 5' 10' 20'

TR
AIL

/PL
AN

TIN
G 

PL
AN

L 3.1

569

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

78 sq ft

159 sq ft

243 sq ft

246 sq ft

42 sq ft

104 sq ft

239 sq ft

120 sq ft

304 sq ft

1,700 sq ft

6'-0"

6'-
0"

6'-
0"

4'-
0"

R 7'

852
+855.50

+848.5

+850.00

+852.33

854

852

850

848

846

854

CW

855

845

845

850

842
841

853

853

CW
CW

1-U6.1s
4+93

#5
Water Feature

Ma
tch

 Lin
e

Matc
h L

ine

1- Juglans Nigra

5 gal.

Sod Lawn

Sod Lawn

Up Land

P

P

P

P

P

P 1- Juglans Nigra
5 gal.

1- Populus Deltoides
5 gal. Plan shows areas divided into Upland,Midland,Lowland and Sod areas.

Architect has calculated areas and desired spacing to come up with the
quantities listed. Due to the variable placement of much of the stone plants
will be set in the field upon completion of stonework and in the Spring of
2022. Contractor to order amounts shown on the plan. General area
measurements may be used to calculate mulch, pre-emergents and Sod.

See Planting Legend Sheet L-5

The project typically floods every Spring. Most of the in river and stone work will completed
over the Winter months.
It is expected that landscape and planting will commence in the Spring of 2022.
Due to the potential for flooding and loss we have chosen to the "Not Too Tall seed mix on
the lower elevations. Flooding damage will result in less loss and reseeding will need to be
done " not under this contract"
The other planting areas have been measured and 4" pots  will be used for cover. Due to the
uncertain nature of the Stone work and flooding we have given a total count of plants for
bidding and we will use these plants for the project for contractor ordering.
Contractor to set out plants at the direction of the Architect at planting time.
A one year warranty will start at the end of planting. Flood damage will not need to be
covered under the warranty.
Planting and staking shall be completed under current SUDAS best practices.

North

SCALE: 1"   = 10'
LIGHTING PLAN

0 5' 10' 20'

L 3.2

570

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

246 sq ft

42 sq ft

104 sq ft

220 sq ft

1,700 sq ft

6'

6'

4'

20'

R 7'

106 sq ft

+848.5

+850.00

+852.33

854

852

850

848

846

854

845

850

845

854

845

850

840

851

850

852

853 854

854

849

848
847

846

845

853

CW
CW

1-U6.1s
4+93

#7
Water Feature

(E)18" RCP storm
outlet (flow line
elev. 852.0')

(E)12" RCP
storm outlet
(flow line elev.
849.0')

LANDING

Matc
h L

ine

P

P

P

P

P

1- Populus Deltoides
5 gal.

1- Juglans Nigra

5 gal.

Sod Lawn

P

P

P

Pinus Mugo 'Sherwood Compact'

Plan shows areas divided into Upland,Midland,Lowland and Sod areas.
Architect has calculated areas and desired spacing to come up with the
quantities listed. Due to the variable placement of much of the stone plants
will be set in the field upon completion of stonework and in the Spring of
2022. Contractor to order amounts shown on the plan. General area
measurements may be used to calculate mulch, pre-emergents and Sod.

See Planting Legend Sheet L-5

The project typically floods every Spring. Most of the in river and stone work will completed
over the Winter months.
It is expected that landscape and planting will commence in the Spring of 2022.
Due to the potential for flooding and loss we have chosen to the "Not Too Tall seed mix on
the lower elevations. Flooding damage will result in less loss and reseeding will need to be
done " not under this contract"
The other planting areas have been measured and 4" pots  will be used for cover. Due to the
uncertain nature of the Stone work and flooding we have given a total count of plants for
bidding and we will use these plants for the project for contractor ordering.
Contractor to set out plants at the direction of the Architect at planting time.
A one year warranty will start at the end of planting. Flood damage will not need to be
covered under the warranty.
Planting and staking shall be completed under current SUDAS best practices.

North

SCALE: 1"   = 10'
Trail/Planting Plan

0 5' 10' 20'

TR
AIL

/PL
AN

TIN
G 

PL
AN

L 3.3

571

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

120 sq ft

79 sq ft

850

846
847
848
849

850
844

851

EXISTING WALKWAY

851852
854

856

855

848

849
847

846
845

858

860

#2
Water Feature

14-Sg-Switch Grass
12-Bs-Black eyed Susan

Bs

Bs

Sg

Sg

Sg
Bs

Bs

Planting
Beds

1
L8

Bs
Bs Sg

Sg

Sg

Bs Bs

Bs
Bs

Bs

Bs
Bs Bs

Sg
Sg

Sg
Sg

Sg
Sg

#4
Water
Feature

PLANTING AND SOIL PREPARATION NOTES.

1. THIS AREA ON THE RIVER LEVEE WILL REQUIRE
THE EXCAVATION AND ADDITION OF FILTER FABRIC,
SOIL AND RIP RAP PRIOR TO PLANTING. SEE DETAIL
1-L8.
2. PLANTS ARE AS SHOWN IN 2 GALLON CONTAINERS.
ANCHOR ROOT BALLS VIA FABRIC AND STONE.

Plan shows areas divided into Upland,Midland,Lowland and Sod areas.
Architect has calculated areas and desired spacing to come up with the
quantities listed. Due to the variable placement of much of the stone plants
will be set in the field upon completion of stonework and in the Spring of
2022. Contractor to order amounts shown on the plan. General area
measurements may be used to calculate mulch, pre-emergents and Sod.

See Planting Legend Sheet L-5

The project typically floods every Spring. Most of the in river and stone work will completed
over the Winter months.
It is expected that landscape and planting will commence in the Spring of 2022.
Due to the potential for flooding and loss we have chosen to the "Not Too Tall seed mix on
the lower elevations. Flooding damage will result in less loss and reseeding will need to be
done " not under this contract"
The other planting areas have been measured and 4" pots  will be used for cover. Due to the
uncertain nature of the Stone work and flooding we have given a total count of plants for
bidding and we will use these plants for the project for contractor ordering.
Contractor to set out plants at the direction of the Architect at planting time.
A one year warranty will start at the end of planting. Flood damage will not need to be
covered under the warranty.
Planting and staking shall be completed under current SUDAS best practices.

North

SCALE: 1"   = 10'
Trail/Planting Plan

0 5' 10' 20'

L 4

TR
AIL

/PL
AN

TIN
G 

PL
AN

572

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

26 sq ft

1,248 sq ft

46'-1"

30'-8 1/4"

5'

6'
-6

"

1,163 sq ft
84 sq ft

850

852

854

856

+850.50'

3
L 7

#6
Water
Feature

Seeded area

 GREY STONE
TURTLE HEADEXISTING

WILLOWS TO
REMAIN IN THIS

AREA.

"NOT TOO TALL MIX"

CENTER CROWN-DASHED

24" DEEP QUARRY SAND
FILL AROUND TURTLE
HEAD.

1- 5 GALLON - SALIX BABYLONICA
"TAKE OUT" MARKER TREE

Turtleback
Landing
Detail

Trail
Concrete

3
L7

7
L7

INSTALL 20" DEEP TOPSOIL TO BE
PROVIDED BY CITY AT CITY YARD
LOCATION. HAULING AND
PLACEMENT BY CONTRACTOR.
CONTRACTOR TO INSTALL JUTE
NET GRID WITH EARTH STAPLES
AFTER SEEDING OPERATIONS. USE
STONES AT PERIMETER  AND AT
CENTER AREAS TO HOLD DOWN
NETTING. STONES TO BE
IDENTIFIED BY ARCHITECTS
REPRESENTITIVE IN THE FIELD

4
L8

"Too Tall" Seed mix and specification

Plan shows areas divided into Upland,Midland,Lowland and Sod areas.
Architect has calculated areas and desired spacing to come up with the
quantities listed. Due to the variable placement of much of the stone plants
will be set in the field upon completion of stonework and in the Spring of
2022. Contractor to order amounts shown on the plan. General area
measurements may be used to calculate mulch, pre-emergents and Sod.

P

PLANT LEGEND

 Overstory Trees
  9 - 8' tall multi stem/clump - Cornus Alternifolia- Pagoda Dogwood "triple stake"
  6 - Cuttings of on site tree/ - Populus deltoides-Cottonwood "single stake"
  1 - 1" Caliper  -  Acer saccharinum- Silver Maple-Native  "single stake"
  2 - 1" Caliper -  Juglans nigra- Black Walnut "single stake"
  2 - 1" Caliper - Salix Babylonica "Weeeping Willow"  "single stake"

Shrubs-
  9- #3 container -Pinus Mugo 'Sherwood Compact'
  48 -4" pot @ 24" o.c. Hemerocallis 'Stella Supreme'
  48- 4" post @ 24" o.c. Hemerocallis D'Oro Purple

Sub Shrubs and Grasses
 100- 4" pot  @ 24" o.c. Calamagrostis acutiflora "Karl Foerster Grass"
  40- 4" pot @24" o.c. Achillea millefolium 'Sunny Seduction'
  70- 4" pot @ 16" o.c.Panicum Virgatum "Northwind Switchgrass"
  70- bulbs @ 24" o.c. Iris Siberica varities
 140- 4" pots @ 24" o.c.Coreopsis verticillata 'Crazy Cayenne' Moonbeam
 230- 4" pots @ 24" o.c Dianthus deltoides 'Zing Rose'
 200- 4" pots @ 24" o.c Perovskia atriplicifolia 'Little Spire'
 360- 4" pots @ 24" o.c Rudbeckia fulgida var. sullivantii 'Little Goldstar'
  70- 4" pots @ 24" o.c Sporobolus heterolepis 'Tara' Dwarf Prairie Dropseed
 140- 4" pots @ 16" o.c. Lysimachia- A.  'Goldilocks'
225 - 4" pots @ 24" o.c
  13-  4" pots as shown Parthenocissus quinquefolia- EngelmanVine

Sod areas: Bluegrass blend 4,731 SF.

Seeded areas:
Bare Spots to be seeded at the direction of the Landscape architect with the
following mixture:
( United Seed Mix @ 37.5 lbs/acre) See Sheet L-5 for seeding data.
Lowland areas 5.879 SF : "Not Too Tall mix"

4" pots:
Midland areas 2,036 SF Mix
Upland areas 3,650 SF

Notes:
Planting areas to recieve 1" deep bark mulch and pre-emergent weed killers..
Lawn areas to receive bluegrass sod and water from city water supply and new
quick coupler valves.
IMPORT SOIL TYPICAL AT ALL PLANTINGS - PROVIDED BY CITY @ city Yard.
Provide 1/2 cubic foot of topsoil at all 4" pots.

Kf

Quantity- Size/Name
Not ALL shown on Plan.
Include quantities shown here on Legend.

Pa

Symbol

Plan shows areas divided into Upland,Midland,Lowland and Sod areas.
Architect has calculated areas and desired spacing to come up with the
quantities listed. Due to the variable placement of much of the stone plants
will be set in the field upon completion of stonework and in the Spring of
2022. Contractor to order amounts shown on the plan. General area
measurements may be used to calculate mulch, pre-emergents and Sod.

See Planting Legend Sheet L-5

The project typically floods every Spring. Most of the in river and stone work will completed
over the Winter months.
It is expected that landscape and planting will commence in the Spring of 2022.
Due to the potential for flooding and loss we have chosen to the "Not Too Tall seed mix on
the lower elevations. Flooding damage will result in less loss and reseeding will need to be
done " not under this contract"
The other planting areas have been measured and 4" pots  will be used for cover. Due to the
uncertain nature of the Stone work and flooding we have given a total count of plants for
bidding and we will use these plants for the project for contractor ordering.
Contractor to set out plants at the direction of the Architect at planting time.
A one year warranty will start at the end of planting. Flood damage will not need to be
covered under the warranty.
Planting and staking shall be completed under current SUDAS best practices.

North

SCALE: 1"   = 10'
Layout/Planting Plan

0 5' 10' 20'

L 5

LA
YO

UT
/PL

AN
TIN

G 
PL

AN
 @

 TU
RT

LE
 BA

CK
 PL

AZ
A

573

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

6'-6 1/4"

1'-1 1/2"

6'-8"

4" 6'-1/2"

11 3/4" 1'
-4

"

4'-2 3/4"

4"
1'

-8
"

6'

1'

4"

3 
3/

4"
6 

1/
4"

3'-2 1/4"

9"

1'
-8

"

3'

857.00

853.00

858.33

848.50

850.00

848.00

847.00

SPILLWAY

CONTINUOUS STONE BENCH

845.00

EXISTING BEDROCK

6
L7

 FOOT BRIDGE

843.00

CANTILEVERED
STONE AT SIDES

STORM WATER FLOW LINE

NOTE: THIS SPILLWAY IS A STORM WATER SPILLWAY. THE FEATURE IS INTENDED TO ACCUMULATE STORM WATER AND PLANTINGS.
SEE PLANTING PLANS.

NORMAL LOW WATER
ELEVATION.

CEDAR RIVER
WATERSHED MAP-

DECORATIVE
CONCRETE

Stone
Bench

6
L7

 FOOT BRIDGE

SLOPE

SPECIALTY STONE- GREY STONE
FROM HAHN QUARRY-

NON WOVEN FILTER FABRIC BASE

STONE STACKING AT THE DIRECTION OF
LANDSCAPE ARHITECT

BROKEN OR SMALLER
PIECES TO SEAL OPEN
JOINTS

Synthetic Lawn

SKINNED OR ROLLER (ROCK PATTERN) CONCRETE
WITH BROADCAST COLOR HARDENER (BROWN)
SUBMIT PATTERN AND COLOR FOR PRE-APPROVAL.

#4 FIBERGLASS BARS @ 16" OC BOTH WAYS  (BARS
THRU RESIN AREA VOID @ 16" O.C.)

1%  SLOPE 1%  SLOPE

WIDTH VARIES BOTH SIDES.

+/-

4" CORRUGATED FLEXIBLE DRAIN PIPE
(PROVIDE CLEAN OUT AT BOTH ENDS)

1/4" to 3/8"CLEAN WASHED CHIPS BASE
COMPACTED TO 95%

LEVEL ASTRO-TURF BY SYN- LAWN. SEE SPEC FOR
BASE FABRIC AND EDGE DETAILS.

COMPACTED SUB BASE SOIL

RESIN BOUND LOCAL PEA GRAVEL WITH GLOW
STONES. PROVIDE 12" X 12" SAMPLE FOR
APPROVAL.

MIRIFI 600X OR US 315 OR APPROVED EQUAL.4" CORRUGATED FLEXIBLE DRAIN PIPE
(PROVIDE CLEAN OUT AT BOTH ENDS)

LEVEL ASTRO TURF BY SYN- LAWN. SEE SPEC FOR
BASE FABRIC AND EDGE DETAILS.

COMPACTED SUB BASE SOIL

4" DIAMETER DRAIN TILE AT 1/2% FALL TO DAYLIGHT WITH RODENT GUARD

PORTIONS OF STONE BENCHES
FROM IRREGULAR QUARY
STONE.( TO BE SELECTED BY
ARCHITECT)

STONE CHIPS TO FILL SPACES
AND HOLD BACK FABRIC AND
SOIL

PROVIDE AND INSTALL BRASS CITY NAME
PLATES (6 CITIES AND 3 RIVER LABEL PLATES). PLATES TO BE
4"x 12"x 1/4" THICK RAISED LETTER AND BORDER TO BE SET
FLUSH WITH CONCRETE.  BACK PLATE STUDS OR FULL DEPTH
SADDLE REQUIRED. PROVIDE GRAPHIC SUBMITTAL OF
LONGEST NAME AND SHORTEST NAME WITH FONT STYLE AND
SIZE FOR APPROVAL. PLATES TO BE PROTECTED FROM
CONCRETE DURING POUR.

NOTE: ONLY EXPERIENCED RESIN BOUND CONTRACTORS WILL
BE ACCEPTED TO INSTALL FOR THIS PROJECT. GEOPAVE X BY
COMPLETE STREETS OR EQUAL CERTIFICATION OR RESUME
OF COMPLETED WORK WITH OTHER RESIN PRODUCTS.

PROVIDE "MISSISSIPPI RIVER" NAME PLATE IN SAME FONT
SIZE AND "CEDAR RIVER"  AND "IOWA RIVER" NAME PLATES
ALSO AS A PART OF THIS PROJECT. SEE PLAN L3.0.

5
L6

4
L6 Wall Elevation

Wall Elevation

6'-6 1/4"

1'-1 1/2"

6'-8"

4" 6'-1/2"

11 3/4" 1'
-4

"

4'-2 3/4"

4"
1'

-8
"

6'

1'

857.00

853.00

858.33

848.50

850.00

848.00

847.00

SPILLWAY

CONTINUOUS STONE BENCH

845.00

EXISTING BEDROCK

6
L7

 FOOT BRIDGE

843.00

CANTILEVERED
STONE AT SIDES

STORM WATER FLOW LINE

NOTE: THIS SPILLWAY IS A STORM WATER SPILLWAY. THE FEATURE IS INTENDED TO ACCUMULATE STORM WATER AND PLANTINGS.
SEE PLANTING PLANS.

NORMAL LOW WATER
ELEVATION.

6
L7

 FOOT BRIDGE

SLOPE

SPECIALTY STONE- GREY STONE
FROM HAHN QUARRY-

NON WOVEN FILTER FABRIC BASE

STONE STACKING AT THE DIRECTION OF
LANDSCAPE ARHITECT

BROKEN OR SMALLER
PIECES TO SEAL OPEN
JOINTS

4" DIAMETER DRAIN TILE AT 1/2% FALL TO DAYLIGHT WITH RODENT GUARD

5
L6 Wall Elevation

1'
-8

"

3'

Stone
Bench

4" CORRUGATED FLEXIBLE DRAIN PIPE
(PROVIDE CLEAN OUT AT BOTH ENDS)

PORTIONS OF STONE BENCHES
FROM IRREGULAR QUARY
STONE.( TO BE SELECTED BY
ARCHITECT)

STONE CHIPS TO FILL SPACES
AND HOLD BACK FABRIC AND
SOIL

4
L6 Wall Elevation

4"

3 
3/

4"
6 

1/
4"

3'-2 1/4"

9"

Synthetic Lawn

SKINNED OR ROLLER (ROCK PATTERN) CONCRETE
WITH BROADCAST COLOR HARDENER (BROWN)
SUBMIT PATTERN AND COLOR FOR PRE-APPROVAL.

#4 FIBERGLASS BARS @ 16" OC BOTH WAYS  (BARS
THRU RESIN AREA VOID @ 16" O.C.)

1%  SLOPE 1%  SLOPE

WIDTH VARIES BOTH SIDES.

+/-

4" CORRUGATED FLEXIBLE DRAIN PIPE
(PROVIDE CLEAN OUT AT BOTH ENDS)

1/4" to 3/8"CLEAN WASHED CHIPS BASE
COMPACTED TO 95%

LEVEL ASTRO-TURF BY SYN- LAWN. SEE SPEC FOR
BASE FABRIC AND EDGE DETAILS.

COMPACTED SUB BASE SOIL

RESIN BOUND LOCAL PEA GRAVEL WITH GLOW
STONES. PROVIDE 12" X 12" SAMPLE FOR
APPROVAL.

MIRIFI 600X OR US 315 OR APPROVED EQUAL.

LEVEL ASTRO TURF BY SYN- LAWN. SEE SPEC FOR
BASE FABRIC AND EDGE DETAILS.

COMPACTED SUB BASE SOIL

4" DIAMETER DRAIN TILE AT 1/2% FALL TO DAYLIGHT WITH RODENT GUARD

PROVIDE AND INSTALL BRASS CITY NAME
PLATES (6 CITIES AND 3 RIVER LABEL PLATES). PLATES TO BE
4"x 12"x 1/4" THICK RAISED LETTER AND BORDER TO BE SET
FLUSH WITH CONCRETE.  BACK PLATE STUDS OR FULL DEPTH
SADDLE REQUIRED. PROVIDE GRAPHIC SUBMITTAL OF
LONGEST NAME AND SHORTEST NAME WITH FONT STYLE AND
SIZE FOR APPROVAL. PLATES TO BE PROTECTED FROM
CONCRETE DURING POUR.

NOTE: ONLY EXPERIENCED RESIN BOUND CONTRACTORS WILL
BE ACCEPTED TO INSTALL FOR THIS PROJECT. GEOPAVE X BY
COMPLETE STREETS OR EQUAL CERTIFICATION OR RESUME
OF COMPLETED WORK WITH OTHER RESIN PRODUCTS.

PROVIDE "MISSISSIPPI RIVER" NAME PLATE IN SAME FONT
SIZE AND "CEDAR RIVER"  AND "IOWA RIVER" NAME PLATES
ALSO AS A PART OF THIS PROJECT. SEE PLAN L3.0.

2'

Elevation @ Seat Wall w/Irregular stones
Grade @ Front

6'
+/-

Grade @ Front

Elevation @ Tall Wall w/Irregular stones

SCALE: 1/8"   =    1'-0"Key Upper Terrace Section
0 4' 8' 16'

SCALE: 3/4"   =    1'-0"1 Upper Terrace Section
0 1' 2' 3' SCALE: 3/4"   =    1'-0"2 Upper Terrace Center Section

0 1' 2' 3'

SCALE: 1"   =  5'4 Seat Wall Elevation
0 2' 5' 10'

SCALE: 1"   =  5'5 Standing Rock Wall Elevation
0 2' 5' 10'

L 6

U
P

P
E

R
 T

E
R

R
A

C
E

 S
E

C
TO

N
S

574

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

6"

21/
2"

4"

4"
6"

1'
-6

"

6'-0" 3'-6"

1'
-6

"
4"

3'-6"

1'
-6

"
4"

4'-0" 4'-0"

11/2"
31/2"

6'-1/2"
31/2"

11/2"

6"
1'

-1
0"

#4 FIBERGLASS
BARS @ 24" o.c. B.W.

4" DEPTH COMPACTED 3/4"
ROAD ROCK BASE.

POUR CONCRETE TO STONE.
2% MAX. CROSS SLOPE
TYPICAL

TREATED 4X4 W/ 2" PVC SCH 80 SPACER
ANCHOR @ 24" O.C.W 1/2" STAINLESS
STEEL ANCHOR BOLTS.

2x6 TREATED DECKING W/COATED
SCREW ANCHORS.

STAIN FINISH W/SIKKENS LOG CABIN SEALER-
COLOR CEDAR.

KEY INTO RIVER STONE AS
DIRECTED BY FIELD REP.

4"
7"

10'-0" 1'-0"

FULLY COMPACTED 1/2" TO 3/4" ROAD ROCK BASE

4,000 PSI CONCRETE MIX- BROOM FINISH TO MATCH EXISTING.

Saw c

1 INCH DEEP SAW CUTS AT SPACING TO MATCH EXISTING

3"
6"

6'-0"

#3 BARS @ 24" OC BOTH WAYS#4  FIBERGLASS BARS @ 24" OC BOTH WAYS

Concrete paving to be set on compacted base
material.
Concrete mix to be 4,000 psi mix

 4' AND 5'
VARIES

9"
1'

-8
"

4"

6'-0" 6"

6"

SCRIBE WALKWAY CONCRETE TO STONE-MASK STONE
PRIOR TO POUR.

#4 FIBERGLASS BARS @ 24" OC BOTH WAYS

PLANTING SOILTRAIL /STONE/CURB TYP.

51/
2"

1'-2" 2 - # 3 FIBERGLASS REBAR-LAP 16" MIN.

BROOM FINISH AND EDGE BOTH TOP EDGES

11/2"
31/2"

4'-3"
31/2"

11/2"

71/
2"

2"1/
2" 31/

2"

101/2" 71/2"1'
-8

"
51/

2"

5"

11/2"
31/2"

6'-1/2"
31/2"

11/2"

4"

4" DEPTH COMPACTED 3/4"
ROAD ROCK BASE.

CONTINUOUS BEARING AT BOTH
ENDS

TREATED 4X4 W/ 2" PVC SCH 80 SPACER
ANCHOR @ 24" O.C.W 1/2" STAINLESS
STEEL ANCHOR BOLTS.

or 
La

rge
r

1/2" Dia x 8" LONG GALV EPOXY ANCHOR @ 3 LOCATIONS PER SIDE.

FLAG STONE WATER WAY

TREATED 2x8 SILL GROUT LEVEL SIDE TO SIDE AND SLOPE TO
DRAIN AND ANCHOR.

SIMPSON STRONG TIE A33 COATED

SINGLE OR DOUBLE STONE
GROUTED FOR BASE ROCK

STONE END COVER AND CURB SUBSTITUTE.

4x8 TREATED BEAMS AS SHOWN

2x6 TREATED DECKING W/COATED
SCREW ANCHORS.

STAIN FINISH W/SIKKENS LOG CABIN SEALER-
COLOR CEDAR.

6"

6'-0"

MEDIUM BROOM FINISH ACROSS DIRECTION OF TRAVEL.
1" DEEP SAW CUT JOINTS @ 10' O.C TYPICAL AT 6" THICK CONCRETE WALKWAYS.

#4  FIBERGLASS BARS @ 24" OC BOTH WAYS

SCRIBE TO STONE EDGES. SLOPPY CONCRETE ONTO STONES WILL REQUIRE MASKING
OR CLEANING BEFORE PROCEEDING FURTHER.

COMPACTED ROAD ROCK FILL AS REQUIRED TO
LEVEL.

SCALE: 3/4"   =    1'-0"1 WALKWAYS AT STONE SEATING
0 1' 2' 3'

SCALE: 3/4"   =    1'-0"5 BIKE TRAIL REPLACEMENT PAVING
0 1' 2' 3'

SCALE: 3/4"   =    1'-0"3 CONCRETE WALKWAYS
0 1' 2' 3' SCALE: 3/4"   =    1'-0"4 SINGLE CURB WALK

0 1' 2' 3'

SCALE: 3/4"   =    1'-0"2 CONCRETE MOWBAND
0 1' 2' 3'

SCALE: 3/4"   =    1'-0"6 Layout Plan
0 1' 2' 3'

SCALE: 3/4"   =    1'-0"7 Upper Terrace Section
0 1' 2' 3'

UP
LA

ND
 PA

VIN
G 

DE
TA

ILS

L 7

575

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

1'-9"

SUBGRADE

PREVIOUS FINISHED GRADE / TOP OF
RIP RAP

TOP SOIL

DOWN STREAMUP STREAM

36" LAP

SECTION AT FABRIC

NEW 3' + LIMESTONE BLOCKS

FABRIC PINNED TO  SOIL AND LAID
UNDER RIP RAP AND EDGE
BOULDERS

POTTED PLANTS

SRW EC8 100% POLYPROPYLENE NON-
WOVEN FABRIC - SEE SPEC FOR ULTRA
VIOLET AND STRENGTH PROPERTIES.

FABRIC
ENVELOPE

12" MIN RIP RAP( RE USE
EXISITNG IN PLACE RIP RAP)

LEADING EDGE TO BE DOUBLED BACK AND
SECURED TOP AND BOTTOM WITH STONE.

FABRIC TO BE EXTENDED
BELOW SURROUNDING NEW
LIMESTONE BLOCKS

SOIL AND EXISTING STONE RIP
RAP TO BE COMPLETELY
WRAPPED IN FABRIC AND
SECURED WITH LARGE
LIMESTONE BLOCKS

3" GRAVEL MULCH

RIVER FLOW DIRECTION

EXISTING RIP RAP
AREAS TO BE SEEDED

8"

1'-6"
1'-6"

0"-8"

0"

-8"

-16"

-16"

SLOPE TOWARD RIVER @ 1%

PLAN

SECTION

SPECIALTY STONE SLABS

PROTECTIVE STONE AT UP AND DOWNSTREAM SIDES OF
STEPS

8" DEEP GROUTED SETTING BED

 70" 

 44" 

 96" 

 17 5/8" 
 11 31/32" 

1 7/8" DIAMETER 
SUPPORT TUBINGSTONE BASE SUPPLIED 

BY OTHERS

 ARM OPTION

PRODUCT: LOB-6-WI-VICT
DESCRIPTION: LOFTY BACKED CUSTOM MOUNT

DATE: 4-26-2017
ENG: BLW

ALL FASTENERS ARE STAINLESS STEEL
SOME ASSEMBLY REQUIRED

STONE CORE DRILLED 2" 
DIAMETER AND GROUT SUPPORT 
TUBES.

THOMAS STEELE DIVISION

GRABER MANUFACTURING, INC.
1080 UNIEK DRIVE

WAUNAKEE, WI 53597
P(800) 448-7931, P(608) 849-1080, F(608) 849-1081

WWW.MADRAX.COM, E-MAIL: SALES@MADRAX.COM

CONFIDENTIAL DRAWING AND INFORMATION IS NOT TO BE COPIED OR DISCLOSED 
TO OTHERS WITHOUT THE CONSENT OF GRABER MANUFACTURING, INC.
SPECIFICATIONS ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITHOUT NOTICE.

©2020 GRABER MANUFACTURING, INC. ALL PROPRIETARY RIGHTS RESERVED.

SITE FURNISHING IS POWDER COATED WITH TGIC POLYESTER.
STEEL SURFACE PREP INCLUDES MECHANICAL AND CHEMICAL
ETCHING FOLLOWED WITH A COATING TO IMPROVE ADHESION 
AND CORROSION RESISTANCE.

9'-2 1/2"

4'
-1

1"

1'

PLAN VIEW SIDE VIEW

TURTLE HEAD TO BE SCULPTED BY HAHN QUARRY . STONE TO
BE SELECTED BY ARCHITECT AT QUARRY SITE AND CARVED
TO REASONABLE FACIMILIE OF TURTLE MODEL SHOWN

TURTLE BACK TO BE COLORED WITH COLOR HARDENER. 3
COLOR MIX. YELLOW AT EDGE. GREEN BROWN AT CENTER AS
SHOWN IN PHOTO.  DARK SPOTS AND LINES TO BE ADDED
AFTER CURE AS PAINT APPLIED BLACK

YELLOW AT EDGE. REMOVE FORM AND BUTTER ENTIRE
EDGE TO MATCH.

MOUNDED CENTER RIDGE
SINGLE POUR CONSTRUCTION

BROWN / GREEN MIX AT BODY

SPOTS AND LINES TO BE PAINTED AFTER CURE WITH
CHARCOAL COLORED T1000 FINE OVERLAY, A POLYMER
MODIFIED CEMENTIOUS MATERIAL. USE PRIMER AS PER
MFG. RECOMMENDATION.

ARCHITECT WILL ASSIST IN THE LAYOUT OF
SPOTS.

7 
3/

4"1"

2'-10"

7 
1/

4"

9 1/2"
1'-4 1/4"

5
6

EXISTING GRADE

6x6  TREATED TIMBERS FOR ENTIRE LENGTH.

MOUNT WITH STAINLESS STEEL ANCHOR BOLTS. EPOXY AND
PROVIDE PVC SPACERS AT CONCRETE CONNECTION.

COUNTER SINK NUT AND PLUG WITH TREATED WOOD AND
SILICONE CAULK.

#4 FIBERGLASS REBAR CONTINUOUS AS SHOWN AND AT 16"
O.C.

3 
3/

4" 6"

CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE  4'x4' SAMPLE OF CONCRETE THAT SHOWS SUCCESFULL FORM SIDE
COLOR HARDENER APPLICATION.  THIS SAMPLE TO ALSO SHOW THE DELAYED APPLICATION OF
CIRCLES @ (TURTLE BACK).

COMPACTED ROCK RIP RAP SUB
BASE.INFILL WITH 3/4" ROAD ROCK
LEVELING BASE.

LARGE LIMESTONE SURROUND

CONCRETE SLAB W/ COLOR
HARDENER FINISH.SLAB TO BE MULTI COLORED WITH COLOR

HARDENER AT EDGES - SEE PLAN.
#4 FIBERGLASS REBAR @ 24" O.C.TURTLE SPOTS TO BE PAINTED ON AFTER CURE.

2'

3"

2" TO 4" THICK FLAGSTONE FLAT
PATIO STONE SET ON FABRIC BASE
AND 1/4 TO 3/8" CHIPS WITH FINES.

SCALE: 1/2"   =    1'-0"1 Bank Planting @ Levee Location
0 1' 2' 4'

SCALE: 1/2"   =    1'-0"2 Stone Steps
0 1' 2' 4'

SCALE: 1:203 Bench to Stone Detail
0 50cm 100cm

SCALE: 1/4"   =    1'-0"4 Turtle Back Landing Additional Detail
0 2' 4' 8'

SCALE: 3/4"   =    1'-0"6 Seal Chute Detail
0 1' 2' 3'

SCALE: 3/4"   =    1'-0"5 Turtle Back Section
0 1' 2' 3'

SCALE: 3/4"   =    1'-0"7 Flagstone Patio
0 1' 2' 3'

L 8

MI
SC

.  D
ET

AIL
S

Contractor to provide suitable size stone for
mounting of bench via core drilled holes.
Provide pipe in a pipe mounting w/ 1/4" dia.
pin and locking ring @ one location per
bench.

PROVIDE COST TO PURCHASE AND INSTALL 3 STONE/BENCH
COMBINATIONS. LOCATIONS TO BE  DETERMINED.

576

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

635 sq ft

498 sq ft

1,248 sq ft

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

6'-0"

6'-
0"

6'-
0"

4'-
0"

12'-0"

3'-
3"

10'-0" 5'-0"
10'-0"

3'-0"

7'-
2"

46'-1"

30'-8
1/2"

5'-
0"

10
'-0

"

20'-0"

6'
-6

"

B-15

B-14

B-13

B-12

B-11

B-10

B-9

B-8

B-7

B-6

B-5

B-4

B-3

B-2

B-1

Fire Plug

Fire Plug

R 7'

431 sq ft

317 sq ft

327 sq ft

84 sq ft

850

850

846
847
848
849

850
844

851

852

848

852
+855.50

848

+848.5

(E)30" RCP storm
outlet (flow line
elev. 847.3814')

+850.00

+852.33

852

854

856

850

851

850

850
851

852

851852
854

856

855

848

849
847

846
845

858

860

858

CW

SM

First Street Bridge(Hwy 57)

#6
Water
Feature

Bridge Location ( Dashed)

White water location

Re
fle

cte
d L

igh
t

Light Sources

Bridge Elevation

RESTROOMS

SHELTER

STORAGE

E(CONCRETE PAD)

PARKING

Matc
h L

ine

850

848

850

842

843

850

858

858

850

855

855

845

845

850

845

854

845

850

840

842
841

841

844

851

850

852

853 854

854

849

848
847

846

845

853

853

CW

CW
CW

CWCW

#2
Water Feature

845

#4
Water
Feature

#3
Water Feature

#5
Water Feature

#7
Water Feature

851

852

853

853

(E)18" RCP storm
outlet (flow line
elev. 852.0')

(E)12" RCP
storm outlet
(flow line elev.
849.0')

Ea
st M

ain
 St

ree
t B

rid
ge

Lincoln Street

Rail Road Bridge
856

855

854
853

851

852

850

855

853

854

852

LANDING

Ma
tch

 Lin
e

Matc
h L

ine

Relocated Bollard

Relocated Bollard

Relocated Bollard

Relocated Bollard

North

LIG
HT

IN
G/

EL
EC

TR
IC

AL
 PL

AN

L 9SCALE: 1"   = 50'
LIGHTING PLAN

0 20' 50' 100'

B-15

B-14

B-13

B-12

B-11

B-10

B-9

B-8

B-7

B-6

B-5

B-4

B-3

B-2

B-1

B-11

LIGHTING SCHEDULE
Light @ Bridge
Light @ Tree

Point of Connection-120v 3-20 amp circuits to be addedP.O.C.

Buried Electrical in 2-2" conduit @
power and 1-1" conduit @ DMX
Existing Cottonwood Tree

NEMA Climate controlled Enclosure
1-MSC1 Controller
1-POE SNB8 Net Switch
1-MSC PS power supply
1-Response 8 Gateway

Type Q2
U-2
Cottonwood Tree
DMX 45-66

Type Q2
U-2
Cottonwood Tree
DMX 67-88

Type Q2
U-2
Cottonwood Tree
DMX 89-110

Type Q2
U-2
Cottonwood Tree
DMX 111-132

Type Q2
U-2
Cottonwood Tree
DMX 133-154

Type Q2
U-2
Cottonwood Tree
DMX 155-176

Type Q2
U-2
Cottonwood Tree
DMX 177-198

Type Q2
U-2
Cottonwood Tree
DMX 199-220

Type Q2
U-2
Cottonwood Tree
DMX 221-242
120 OHM Resistor

Type Q2
U-2
Cottonwood Tree
DMX 23-44

Type Q2
U-2
Cottonwood Tree
DMX 1-22

Type
i-5
Bridge Support
DMX 300-309

Type
i-5
Bridge Support
DMX 310-319

Type
i-5
Bridge Support
DMX 320-329

Type
i-5
Bridge Support
DMX 330-339
120 OHM Resistor

DMX ProPlex ( 1600' Max per run )

DMX ProPlex ( 1600' Max per run )

DMX ProPlex ( 1600' Max per run )

120v
AC
VPN Network by
City/Owner

A.Provide the following fixtures:
 a.Provide 11 SGM Q2 POI LED Wash Lights, 22 Channel Control per fixture, 110 Degree
Coverage, 140W    Power Consumption, RGBW color Mixing, IP66 with built in dehumidifier. Five
Meter DMX in and through and   Five Meter Bare End power Cable included.

 b. Provide 4 SGM i5 POI LED Wash Lights, 10 Channel Control per fixture. Native 8 Degree
Beam angle,     240W power consumption, RGBW Color Mixing, IP66 with built in dehumidifier.
Five Meter DMX in and through  and Five Meter Bare end poer cable included.

B. One set of electronic "B" Set submittal drawings for the system shall be provided on the control
system.

C. Fixtures are received, inventoried and stored by the electrical contractor.

D. A pre-installation site meeting shall occur on site once submittals are inhand and equipment is
onsite. this shall be scheduled by the electrical contractor to review the installation prior to the
commencement of the project work.

E. Fixtures are mounted to the trees and bridge as instructed by the Architect.

F. Electrical contractor shall provide, install and terminate all required power to the Fixtures.

G. DMX installation cable shall be installed in conduit, TMB Proplex wire shall be used from the
control enclosure to the SGM fixtures. wire shall be provided by the lighting control provider and
pulled by the electrical contractor.

H. All terminations at the fixtures, DMX Splitter, and the Mosaic Control System shall be performed
by the control system start up technician at the time of startup, any access to perform this work is
provide by the electrical contractor.

I Network wiring is provided and terminated by the electrical contractor, Interconnection to the
owner's VPN Network is provided by the Owners IT Staff.  There is a RJ45 on the control suppliers
switch to land on.

J. All fixtures shall be addressed by the startup technician as detailed on the system riser.

K. The start up Technician shall  provide the following programming at the time of startup:
 a. Provide 12 Simple initial shows to begin 1/2 Hour to sunset and end 1/2 hour after sunrise.
 b. Provide 8 Static color events.

L. System training to include:
 a.Review of Fixture Addressing.
 b.Training on use of the Web Interface to make adjustments to the shows running or to change
colors.
first
M. Provide the cost for a Firts Year Site inpection and Testing to include overnight review of system
operation.
N. Provide and hourly rate price for offsite VPN programming changes and uploading them to the
system.
O. Provide Allowance of $ 2000.00 for and independent Engineers review of Power sizing and
conduit specification.

P.O
.C.

RELOCATED BOLLARDS # B-11 THRU B-13. PROVIDE NEW RGB LAMP FROM
BOLLARD MFG.  BOLLARDS 1-15 AND PROVIDE CONNECTION TO CONTROLLER FOR
COLOR CHANGING ADAPTION.

577

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

635 sq ft

498 sq ft

4'
-0

"

6'-0"

55'-11 1/2"

6'-
0"

6'-
0"

4'-
0"

12'-0"

3'-
3"

10'-0"
5'-0"

10'-0"

3'-0"

7'-
2"

19
2'

-6
"

6'-
0"

10
'-0

"

20'-0"

859.50

858.50

859.75'

859.54'

856.08'

R 7'

R 22'

R 14'-8"R 14'-8"

R 35'

431 sq ft
317 sq ft

327 sq ft

7+00

1+00

3+00

4+00

8+00

852+855.50

848

+848.5

+ 856.00
+851.17

(E)Drain
Pipe

+850.00
+852.33

860

854

852
850

848
846

854

854

CW

SM

(E) ICE SKATING SLAB

(E) UPPER PARKING LOT(ASPHALT)

(E) LOWER PARKING
LOT(ASPHALT)

(E) OPEN SHELTER

(E)
RESTROOMS

(E) STORAGE

856

858

Cit
y W

ate
r S

up
ply

Riv
er 

cro
ssi

ng

Matc
h L

ine

UPLAND STATION LINE

858

858

850

855

855

845

845

850

845

854

845

850

840

842
841

841

844

851

850

852
853 854

854

849
848847

846
845

853

853

CW

CW
CW

CWCW

1-U6.1s
4+93

#4
Water
Feature

#3
Water Feature

#5
Water Feature

#7
Water Feature

857.25'

REVISED
PARKING LOT
EDGE

852

#1

#2

#3

#4

#5

#6

#7

Shower
(Outdoor)

POINT OF CONNECTION -INSIDE BUILDING
AFTER BACKFLOW DEVICE. ROUTE OUT OF
BUILDING CONCRETE FLOOR AND PATCH
BACK FLOOR. 5 FOOT DEPTH EXPECTED.
EXTEND AS SHOWN TO RIVERS EDGE.

(E)Drain
Pipe

POINT OF CONNECTION - 1" DIAMETER -
70 PSI.-10 GPM.

(E)18" RCP storm
outlet (flow line
elev. 852.0')

(E)12" RCP
storm outlet
(flow line elev.
849.0')

LANDING

Ma
tch

 Lin
e

Matc
h L

ine

1
L10 Water Valve

1
L10 Water Valve

2" PIPE - SEE DETAIL
CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE FULLY
CODE COMPLIANT INSTALLATION.

CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE WINTERIZATION PRIOR TO FIRST WINTER.
PROVIDE TRAINING TO CITY STAFF ON WINTERIZATION
PROCEDURES.

Plumbing Legend

Existing Water Main Line
Proposed Water Service Line

Existing Sanitary Sewer Line

Proposed Quick Coupler in Ground box
Unit Number ( 7 total + Shower)

# 1

Shower Location see Detail

3'
-3

"

6"

Rainbird 3-RC VALVE AND 33k
DOUBLE LUG QUICK
COUPLING VALVE KEY  3/4".
OR EQUAL.

4 - BRICKS AT BASE
WITH 1" CLEAN GRAVEL
FILL AS SHOWN.

NDS 21"x 12 " VALVE BOX w/
overlapping cover. OR EQUAL.

2" DIA. PIPE
EXTENTION FROM
MAIN LINE TO EACH
QUICK COUPLER.

SIDR 7 - 2" \ 250 PSI  W/
BARBED FITINGS AND
DOUBLE STAINLESS
STEEL CLAMPS.

MODEL 564 SM
SHOWN W/ OPTIONAL 8" SS SURFACE CARRIER

CADdetails.com

3354-10-00

PROTECTED BY COPYRIGHT © 2018 CADDETAILS.COM LTD.

REVISION DATE 06/13/2018

www.mostdependable.com
FOUNTAINS,

MOST DEPENDABLE FOUNTAINS, INC.
5705 COMMANDER DR. P.O. BOX 587

ARLINGTON, TN 38002-0587
PHONE: (901) 867-0039

FAX: (901) 867-0159

72
"

GRAB BAR
ON EACH SIDE

METERED

QUICK CLOSING

3/8" NYLON REINFORCED
NYLOBRAID TUBING W/

1/2" MIP (WATER SUPPLY)

OPTIONAL 8" STAINLESS
STEEL SURFACE CARRIER

8" STEEL PIPE

ADA HEIGHT

ADA HEIGHT
METERED

9"
40

"

FRONT VIEW

ACCESS DOOR

NOTES:
1. OPTIONAL STAINLESS STEEL SURFACE CARRIER RECOMMENDED ON SURFACE MOUNT INSTALLATIONS..
2.   INSTALLATION TO BE COMPLETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH MANUFACTURER'S SPECIFICATIONS.
3.   DO NOT SCALE DRAWING.
4.   THIS DRAWING IS INTENDED FOR USE BY ARCHITECTS, ENGINEERS, CONTRACTORS, CONSULTANTS AND DESIGN PROFESSIONALS

FOR PLANNING PURPOSES ONLY.  THIS DRAWING MAY NOT BE USED FOR CONSTRUCTION.
5.   ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN WAS CURRENT AT THE TIME OF DEVELOPMENT BUT MUST BE REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY

THE PRODUCT MANUFACTURER TO BE CONSIDERED ACCURATE.
6.   CONTRACTOR'S NOTE: FOR PRODUCT AND COMPANY INFORMATION VISIT www.CADdetails.com/info AND ENTER

REFERENCE NUMBER 3354-10.00.

SCALE: 1"   = 30'
Plumbing Plan

0 30' 60'

SCALE: 1"       =    1'-0"1 Quick Coupler Detail
0 6'' 1' 2'

L 10

Or Equal

INCLUDE STAINLESS STEEL SURFACE CARRIER

578

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

635 sq ft

498 sq ft

1,248 sq ft

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

24" caliper(Save)

2'-6"

6'

6'

6'

4'

12'

3'-
3"

10' 4'-11 3/4"
10'

3'

7'-
2"

46'-1"

30'-8 1/4"

5'

10
'

20'

6'
-6

"

R 7'

431 sq ft

317 sq ft

327 sq ft

84 sq ft

Sign #8

850

850

846
847
848
849

850
844

851

852

848

852
+855.50

848

+848.5

+ 856.00

+851.17

(E)Drain
Pipe

(E)30" RCP storm
outlet (flow line
elev. 847.3814')

+850.00

+852.33

860

850
848

854

852

850

848

846

852

854

856

EXISTING WALKWAY

850

851

850

850
851

852

851852
854

856

855

848

849
847

846
845

858

860

854

858

CW

SM

(E) ICE SKATING SLAB

L 2.0-Upper Terrace Layout

L5-Turtleback Layout/ Planting Plan

(E) UPPER PARKING LOT(ASPHALT)

(E) LOWER PARKING
LOT(ASPHALT)

(E) OPEN SHELTER

(E)
RESTROOMS

(E) STORAGE

EX
IST

IN
G 

WA
LK

WA
Y

L 4-Layout/ Planting @ River Right

L 3.2-River Left Planting Plan

L 2.3-River Left Layout

854

856

852
850

848

856
858

Upper Terrace

Cit
y W

ate
r S

up
ply

Riv
er 

cro
ssi

ng

#5 Terrace

#7 Terrace#2&4 Access

#6
Water
Feature

Existing Boat Ramp

Matc
h L

ine

850

848

850

851

850

852

853 854

854

849

848
847

846

845

853

853

CW

CW
CW

R
IV

E
R
 LE

F
T

R
IV

E
R
 R

IG
H
T

CWCW

#2
Water Feature

1-U6.1s
4+93

845

#4
Water
Feature

#3
Water Feature

#5
Water Feature

#7
Water Feature

#8
Water Feature

857.25'

856.0'

REVISED
PARKING LOT
EDGE

851

853

853

Cedar Rapids

Waterloo
Cedar Falls

Charles City

Columbus Junction

Austin

Mississippi River

(E)Drain
Pipe(E)18" RCP storm

outlet (flow line
elev. 852.0')

(E)12" RCP
storm outlet
(flow line elev.
849.0')

856

855

854
853

851

852

850

855

853

854

852

L 3.0-Upper Terrace Planting

L 2.2-River Left Layout

L 3.3-River Left Planting

LANDING

Ma
tch

 Lin
e

Matc
h L

ine

Turtleback Landing

Sign #1

Sign #2

Sign #3
Sign #8

Sign #4,
Sign #8

Sign #5

Sign #8
Sign #9

Sign #6

L 3.1-River Left Planting
L 2.1-River Left Layout

L 11

SIG
NA

GE
 PL

AN

3'-4"

3'
-6

"
1'

-6
" 2'

-6
1/

2"
4'

-0
"

1'
-0

"

2'-5"

2-1"DIA. X 24" LONG STAINLESS
STEEL RODS W/ EPOXY
ANCHORING @ CONCRETE BASE.

SPLIT FACE LIMESTONE BLOCK ( 18"x18"x36")

1/4" ALUMINUM PLATE WITH DIGITAL PRINT.

GRADE

LASER CUT 3/4" ALUMINUM PLATE WELDED TO 2X2
ALUMINUM TUBE FRAME. ALL ETCH PRIMED AND PAINTED
WITH ACRYLIC POLYURETHANE PAINT AND CLEAR COAT

3M DIGITAL PRINTED ART WORK WITH 3M LAMINATE.

3/4" STAINLESS STEEL ANCHORS

1" CHAMFERED EDGE ALL SIDES

20"x20"x38" 3.000 PSI CONCRETE BASE

SIGN MAKER TO WORK WITH OWNERS'
ARCHITECT AND HISTORIAN TO CREATE TEXT
AND GRAPHIC LAYOUTS.

SIGN TO CONTAIN FULL GRAPHICS ON BOTH SIDES.

*
*

#4 REBAR CAGE
3 HORIZONTAL AND 12
VERTICAL

SCALE: 1/2"   =    1'-0"1 Sign Detail
0 1' 2' 4'

579

Item 29.



P
R

O
JE

C
T 

O
W

N
E

R
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:

NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/23/2021

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
S

TR
E

E
T

C
E

D
A

R
 F

A
LL

S
, I

A
50

61
3

LRK

Ce
da

r R
ive

r R
ec

rea
tio

na
l Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 Pr
oje

ct
Ce

da
r R

ive
r @

 C
ed

ar 
Fa

lls,
 Io

wa

32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
w

w
w

.a
lig

np
lc

.c
om

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

02
1

4'
-0

"
1'

-0
"

2'-5" 2'-5"

4'
-0

"
1'

-0
"

2'-5" 2'-5"

4'
-0

"
1'

-0
"

2'-5" 2'-5"

WATERSHED
MAP

GAMING AND DONOR
RECOGNITION

TURTLE
BACK PLAZA

TURTLE
DISPLAY

GAMING AND DONOR
RECOGNITION

LOCATION MAP

SAFETY INFO

#1 #2 #3

TREES

DAMS

WHITE
WATER

Right Left Right Left Right Left

RECREATION AREA INFORMATION
1. DANGER: DEADLY DAM. DO NOT
TRAVEL UPSTREAM OF THIS
LOCATION.
2. DO NOT ATTEMPT TO NAVIGATE
DAM.
3. USE FACILITIES AT YOUR OWN
RISK, USER ASSUMES ALL LIABILITY
FOR ALL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH
ACTIVITIES IN THIS AREA.
4. NO LIFEGUARD ON DUTY. 
WHITEWATER IS INHERENTLY
DANGEROUS AND INEXPERIENCED
USERS SHOULD SEEK PROPER
TRAINING BEFORE ENTERING THE
WATER.
5. CONDITIONS CAN CHANGE
QUICKLY, MOVE TO HIGHER
GROUND DURING FLOODING.
6. HELMETS AND TYPE III OR V
WHITEWATER PERSONAL
FLOTATION DEVICES
RECOMMENDED.
7. DISPOSE OF ALL TRASH
PROPERLY.
8. PARK CLOSED SUNSET TO
SUNRISE.

9. NO ALCOHOL OR GLASS AT THE
PARK AT ANY TIME.
10. DIAL 911 FOR EMERGENCIES.

RECREATION AREA INFORMATION
1. DANGER: DEADLY DAM. DO NOT
TRAVEL UPSTREAM OF THIS
LOCATION.
2. DO NOT ATTEMPT TO NAVIGATE
DAM.
3. USE FACILITIES AT YOUR OWN
RISK, USER ASSUMES ALL LIABILITY
FOR ALL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH
ACTIVITIES IN THIS AREA.
4. NO LIFEGUARD ON DUTY. 
WHITEWATER IS INHERENTLY
DANGEROUS AND INEXPERIENCED
USERS SHOULD SEEK PROPER
TRAINING BEFORE ENTERING THE
WATER.
5. CONDITIONS CAN CHANGE
QUICKLY, MOVE TO HIGHER
GROUND DURING FLOODING.
6. HELMETS AND TYPE III OR V
WHITEWATER PERSONAL
FLOTATION DEVICES
RECOMMENDED.
7. DISPOSE OF ALL TRASH
PROPERLY.
8. PARK CLOSED SUNSET TO
SUNRISE.

9. NO ALCOHOL OR GLASS AT THE
PARK AT ANY TIME.
10. DIAL 911 FOR EMERGENCIES.

1" TALL TEXT 1" TALL TEXT1" TALL TEXT

RECREATION AREA INFORMATION
1. DANGER: DEADLY DAM. DO NOT
TRAVEL UPSTREAM OF THIS
LOCATION.
2. DO NOT ATTEMPT TO NAVIGATE
DAM.
3. USE FACILITIES AT YOUR OWN
RISK, USER ASSUMES ALL LIABILITY
FOR ALL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH
ACTIVITIES IN THIS AREA.
4. NO LIFEGUARD ON DUTY. 
WHITEWATER IS INHERENTLY
DANGEROUS AND INEXPERIENCED
USERS SHOULD SEEK PROPER
TRAINING BEFORE ENTERING THE
WATER.
5. CONDITIONS CAN CHANGE
QUICKLY, MOVE TO HIGHER
GROUND DURING FLOODING.
6. HELMETS AND TYPE III OR V
WHITEWATER PERSONAL
FLOTATION DEVICES
RECOMMENDED.
7. DISPOSE OF ALL TRASH
PROPERLY.
8. PARK CLOSED SUNSET TO
SUNRISE.

9. NO ALCOHOL OR GLASS AT THE
PARK AT ANY TIME.
10. DIAL 911 FOR EMERGENCIES.

4'
-0

"
1'

-0
"

2'-5" 2'-5"

RIVER MAP

YOU ARE HERE

RIVER MAP

YOU ARE HERE

LOCATION/ SAFETY LOCATION/ SAFETY LOCATION/ SAFETY

#4 #5 #6

YOU ARE HERE

RIVER MAP

YOU ARE HERE

YOU ARE HERE

LOCATION/ SAFETY

#7

RIVER MAP

YOU ARE HERE

YOU ARE HERE Portage Trail

PORTAGE SIGN

#8

Manufactured per Iowa
Water Trail Signage

Manual

FDNR412R8X8EA

GENERAL NOTE: ALL SIGN COLORS TO
BE CONSISTENT WITH CITY OF CEDAR
FALLS STANDARDS

#9
Right Left

RECREATION AREA INFORMATION
1. DANGER: DEADLY DAM. DO NOT
TRAVEL UPSTREAM OF THIS
LOCATION.
2. DO NOT ATTEMPT TO NAVIGATE
DAM.
3. USE FACILITIES AT YOUR OWN
RISK, USER ASSUMES ALL LIABILITY
FOR ALL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH
ACTIVITIES IN THIS AREA.
4. NO LIFEGUARD ON DUTY. 
WHITEWATER IS INHERENTLY
DANGEROUS AND INEXPERIENCED
USERS SHOULD SEEK PROPER
TRAINING BEFORE ENTERING THE
WATER.
5. CONDITIONS CAN CHANGE
QUICKLY, MOVE TO HIGHER
GROUND DURING FLOODING.
6. HELMETS AND TYPE III OR V
WHITEWATER PERSONAL
FLOTATION DEVICES
RECOMMENDED.
7. DISPOSE OF ALL TRASH
PROPERLY.
8. PARK CLOSED SUNSET TO
SUNRISE.

9. NO ALCOHOL OR GLASS AT THE
PARK AT ANY TIME.
10. DIAL 911 FOR EMERGENCIES.

RIVER MAP

YOU ARE HERE

YOU ARE HERE

PaintedSteel Post and Footing
per city sign standard

1/4" ALUMINUM PLATE WITH DIGITAL PRINT.

3M DIGITAL PRINTED ART WORK WITH 3M LAMINATE.

SCALE: 1"       =    1'-0"1 Sign Elevations
0 6'' 1' 2'

L 12

Sign Contractor to work with Architect on sign content and provide mock up
artworks for approval by City Representative.

Sign contractor to provide Typical city
standard base for review and complete
installation of sign footings and post
configurations.

580

Item 29.



CHANNEL INVERT

PLATE PROFILE

12"CREST
ELEVATION

60"

WAVE STIMULATOR PLATE SURFACE

#4 BARS SPACED AT 12"O.C.
MIN. LAP LENGTH 2'6"

NATIVE ALLUVIUM

GROUTED BOULDER ANCHOR TRENCH 60" DEPTH

LIMITS OF EXCAVATION

VARIES
1

CHANNEL INVERT

ALTERNATE PLATE PROFILE

CREST
ELEVATION

WAVE STIMULATOR PLATE SURFACE

#4 BARS SPACED AT 12"O.C.
MIN. LAP LENGTH 2'6"

BEDROCK

GROUTED ANCHOR TRENCH KEYED 12" DEPTH INTO BEDROCK

LIMITS OF EXCAVATION

VARIES
1

3FT DEEP POOL FOR 30FT

BEDROCK OR D50=24" POOL
ARMORING

3FT DEEP POOL FOR 30FT

FLOW

FLOW

12"

12"

12"

CLEAN ANGULAR 3-8" COBBLE

CLEAN ANGULAR 3-8" COBBLE

BEDROCK OR D50=24" POOL
ARMORING36"

36"

HIGH FLOW-WATER SURFACE-VARIES

HIGH FLOW-WATER SURFACE-VARIES

STRUCTURE #2
9:1 SLOPE

STRUCTURE #3
7:1 SLOPE

STRUCTURE #4

16.0'

15.0'

20.0'

10:1 SLOPE
STRUCTURE #5

16.0'

13.5'

18.0'

9:1 SLOPE

20.0'

12.0'

20.0'

25.0'

12.0'

25.0'
EL:845.7

EL:844.7

EL:845.3

EL:843.8

EL:845.0

EL:843.0
EL:846.0

EL:844.0

PR
ES

C
R

IB
ED

 P
LA

TE
 D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
S

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET D-1 OF 63

D-1

SS, MH, LK, RG
RGSS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

#
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

SCALE: NTS

SCALE: 1"=3'
WAVE STIMULATOR PLATE PROFILE

WAVE STIMULATOR PLATE DIMENSIONS 581

Item 29.



T

TOP OF SLOPE

TOE OF SLOPE

ASSUMED
WSE

TREE PLANTINGS

36"

FLOW

SECTION VIEW

SECTION T T

PLAN VIEW

VARIES. SEE PLAN

APPROX. TERRACE

36"24" 24"
APPROX. TERRACE

APPROX. TERRACE

STONE TERRACING

TOE BOULDER

3-6" WASHED COBBLE BEDDING

SOIL MIX TO BE PROVIDED
BY CEDAR FALLS PUBLIC
WORKS DEPARTMENT

STONE TERRACING

TOE BOULDER

S TOP OF SLOPE

TOE OF SLOPE

WSE VARIES

STONE TERRACING

36"

FLOW

SECTION VIEW

SECTION S S

PLAN VIEW

APPROX. TERRACE

APPROX. TERRACE

APPROX. TERRACE

APPROX. TERRACE

BLOCKY STONE TERRACING

TOE BOULDER 3-6" WASHED COBBLE BEDDING

SUITABLE UNDISTURBED OR
COMPACTED NATIVE ALLUVIUM

(85% STANDARD PROCTOR)

STONE TERRACING SET TIGHT

TOE BOULDER

KEY 4-6"

FINISH GRADE 2" FROM TOP OF ROCK

3FT MIN

CHINK VOIDS WITH 3-6" CLEAN COBBLE

APPROX. TERRACE

APPROX. TERRACE

APPROX. TERRACE

ST
O

N
E 

TE
R

R
AC

IN
G

 D
ET

AI
LS

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET D-2 OF 63

D-2

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

#
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

NOTES:
1. ALL PLACED STONES MUST BE

KEYED 6 INCHES MINIMUM IN THE
HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL
DIRECTIONS

2. PRESERVE AND PROTECT EXISTING
TREES SCHEDULED FOR
PROTECTION

3. WHERE TERRAIN ALLOWS PROVIDE
RIPARIAN PLANTING POCKETS
ABOVE AND BELOW LOW TRAIL.

4. TREES TO BE WATERED FOR ONE
FULL YEAR

5. TREES TO INCLUDE A ONE YEAR
WARRANTY FROM DAY OF PLANTING

SCALE: NTS
TYPICAL STONE TERRACING DETAIL

SCALE: NTS
TYPICAL PLANTING POCKET IN STONE TERRACING DETAIL

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

582

Item 29.



CLAY HOLE STRUCTURE LOW CHUTE - PROFILE 71.938

FLOW

9'

6'

TOP CLAY HOLE
FOUNDATION = 840?

EXISTING
GRADE = 839

CONCRETE

EXISTING CLAY HOLE
FOUNDATION

13'

CREST = 842.5
EXIT = 841.012"

5'

2' 2'

NOTES:
1. CONCRETE TO BE A MINIMUM 12" THICK
2. 20" LONG #4 REBAR 12" O.C. BENT AT 45° SET IN SUBGRADE AND PROTRUDING
MIN. 6" INTO CONCRETE.
3. #4 REBAR HORIZONTAL 12" O.C. EACH WAY IN A GRID PATTERN.  REBAR TO BE
INSTALLED 8" FROM TOP OF CONCRETE.  LAP LENGTHS TO BE  A MINIMUM OF 24"
4. ALL NEW REBAR TO BE EPOXY COATED.
5. CONTRACTOR MAY SUBSTITUTE AN EQUIVALENT EPOXY COATED WELDED
WIRE FABRIC.
6. CONTRACTOR TO REMOVE EXISTING REBAR PROTRUDING FROM CONCRETE
OF THE EXISTING CLAY HOLE STRUCTURE AS DIRECTED

12'
APRON

EXISTING CHANNEL BOTTOM = 838

9:1 SLOPE

FLOW

9'

6'
CONCRETE

EXISTING CLAY HOLE
FOUNDATION

13'

CREST = 843.0
EXIT = 841.512"

5'

2' 2'

12' APRON

EXISTING CHANNEL BOTTOM = 838

9:1 SLOPE

CLAY HOLE STRUCTURE MEDIUM CHUTE - PROFILE 106.727

FLOW

9'

6'
CONCRETE

EXISTING CLAY HOLE
FOUNDATION

13'

CREST = 843.5
EXIT = 842.012"

5'

2' 2'

12'
APRON

EXISTING CHANNEL BOTTOM = 838

9:1 SLOPE

CLAY HOLE STRUCTURE HIGH CHUTE - PROFILE 143.341

12'

BOULDER DIVIDER ISLAND
STRUCTURE
ELEV: 846.0

4' TYPICAL BLOCKY STONE
BOULDERS.  FILL VOIDS
WITH GROUT HELD BACK 6"

MIN. 6"

STRUCTURE FILL: USE ALLUVIUM,
BEDROCK OR CLEAN CONCRETE FROM

DAM DEMOLITION.  AS NEEDED.

BOULDER SUBGRADE
USE CLEAN ANGULAR
3-8" COBBLE (18" THICK).
AS NEEDED.

EXISTING CHANNEL INVERT ALLUVIUM

scour depth

1
1

High flow-Water surface-Varies

TYPE B RIP RAP
POOL ARMORING
AS NEEDED

24" WIDE
GROUT CURTAIN NATIVE ALLUVIUM

8" MINUS CRIB FILL

2'X2'X4' EXCAVATED SMOOTH CUT STONE WITH CONCRETE POURED
 FLUSH WITH THE ROCK AND A SMOOTH TROWEL FINISH. SET AS DIRECTED
 BY ENGINEER IN THE FIELD.

NAVIGATION CHUTE NAVIGATION CHUTE

NOTES:
1. FILL VOIDS ALONG UPSTREAM AND DOWNSTREAM TOE WITH GROUT AND ALL

OTHER VOIDS FILLED WITH GROUT TOOLED FLUSH WITH STONE SURFACE.
2. ALL ROCK TO TO BE CLEAN AND SWEPT AFTER GROUTING
3. QUARRIED STONE TO BE PLACED IN A STEPPED PATTERN WITH EACH STONE

KEYED INTO THE STONE BELOW 6-8".

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

E#
7 

(C
LA

Y 
H

O
LE

)

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET D-3 OF 63

D-3

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

#
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

SCALE: NTS

SCALE: NTS
STRUCTURE #7 (CLAY HOLE) TYPICAL PROFILE ROCK IN WINGS

 STRUCTURE #7 (CLAY HOLE) CHUTE PROFILE DETAILS

SCALE: NTS
STRUCTURE #7 (CLAY HOLE) TYPICAL DIVIDER ISLAND

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

583

Item 29.



STORMWATER OUTFALL TYPICAL DETAIL
N.T.S.

KEY BLOCKY STONE 4-6"
TO THE BOULDER BELOW

SUITABLE ON-SITE
SUBGRADE MATERIAL

CHANNEL INVERT

WATER SURFACE VARIES

18-36" TYPICAL TERRACE

18-36"

3' MIN BLOCKY STONE
(TYPICAL)

6" MIN BEDDING AND BACKFILL

18"

RCP OUTLET TIE TO DEFLECTOR

36"

MINIMUM 4"

FILL VOIDS WITH GROUT AND VIBRATE.
GROUT TO BE TROWEL FINISHED,

SMOOTH AND RECESSED AT LEAST 4"
FROM TOP OF ROCK

CONCRETE GROUT

BLOCKY STONE TERRACING

CONCRETE GROUT
BETWEEN VOIDS

S-01

TYPICAL CONCRETE TRAIL SECTION

TYPICAL CONCRETE TRAIL PROFILE

10' OR 12' (SEE PLAN) PREPARED SUBGRADE: REMOVE ALL
TOPSOIL PRIOR TO SUBGRADE
PREPARATION. USE MINIMUM 3" COMPACTED
ROAD BASE, IF UNSTABLE SUB-SOILS ARE
ENCOUNTERED, REPLACE W/ MINIMUM 6"
COMPACTED ROAD BASE.  COMPACT ALL FILL
AREAS TO 90% STANDARD PROCTOR @ +/- 2%
OPTIMUM.

FOR TRAIL TO BE CONSTRUCTED ON THE RIVERSIDE OF
THE ORDINARY HIGH WATER MARK, INCLUDE A
SUBGRADE OF CLEAN 3-8" COBBLE

4" THICK MIN. CONCRETE.  APPLY BROOM
FINISH PERPENDICULAR TO TRAIL.  SAWCUT 14"
JOINTS, 14" DEEP MIN. EVERY 10' ALONG TRAIL.

TOP TERRACING BOULDER TO BE
PLACED SO TOP OF BOULDER IS

3-6" ABOVE CONCRETE TRAIL

3-6"

TOP TERRACING BOULDER TO BE
PLACED SO TOP OF BOULDER IS

3-6" ABOVE CONCRETE TRAIL

3-6"

FILL VOIDS IN ROCK TERRACING WITH
GROUT.  GROUT ELEVATION TO REMAIN
BELOW ELEVATION OF TRAIL TO ALLOW
DRAINAGE FROM TRAIL THROUGH
VOIDS.  GROUT TO BE TROWEL
FINISHED, SMOOTH AND FLUSH WITH
TOP OF TRAIL

2% SLOPE

TYPICAL LOW TRAIL BOULDER EDGE

TYPICAL CONCRETE TRAIL DETAILS
N.T.S

TY
PI

C
AL

 D
ET

AI
LS

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET D-4 OF 63

D-4

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

#
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

584

Item 29.



TYPICAL COFFER DAM CROSS SECTION

SUMP

PUMP
PLATFORM

WORK AREA

RIVER BANK

DEWATERING NOTES:
1.  SUMPS CAN BE MADE FROM DIGGING A HOLE AND INSERTING A PERFORATED PIPE AND
BACKFILLING WITH CLEAN DRAIN ROCK OR OTHER APPROVED METHOD.
2.  SETTLING BASINS SHOULD BE BASED UPON SITE SPECIFICS (I.E. INFILTRATION AND
SETTLING RATES, PARTICLE SIZE).  DETENTION TIMES WILL BE BASED UPON THE SIZE OF THE
SUSPENDED PARTICLES.  IF THERE IS EXCESSIVE LEAKAGE THROUGH ANY COFFER DAM, BASE
ROCK IS TO BE LINED WITH VISQUENE PRIOR TO BEING COVERED IN COBBLE.  NUMBER OF
SETTLING PONDS TO BE DETERMINED BY CLARITY OF DISCHARGE FLUID.
3.  UPON COMPLETION VISQUENE AND SETTLED FINES SHALL BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF
OFFSITE BY THE CONTRACTOR.
4.  PUMP STATION SHALL BE ELEVATED.  FUEL CONTAINMENT BMP'S SHALL BE ONSITE AT ALL
TIMES.
5.  PUMP REMAINING WATER IN CONSTRUCTION AREA AS NECESSARY, TO MANAGE
GROUNDWATER AND LEAKAGE.  ALL DISCHARGED WATER MUST BE ROUTED TO THE SETTLING
BASINS.
6.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR OWN SECURITY DURING CONSTRUCTION.  ANY
VANDALISM WILL BE CORRECTED AT CONTRACTOR'S OWN EXPENSE.
7.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CARE OF ALL WATER DURING
CONSTRUCTION INCLUDING MAINTENANCE OF ALL DITCHES, COFFERDAMS, LEVEES,
DIVERSIONS AND PUMPS TO KEEP THE WORK AREA FREE FROM WATER.
8.  DEWATERING PLAN DETAILS SHOWN HERE ARE ILLUSTRATIVE.  PRIOR TO COMMENCING
ANY WORK, THE CONTRACTOR IS TO COMPLETE AND SUBMIT A DEWATERING PLAN
APPLICABLE TO THIS PROJECT.
9. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR LAYOUT AND DESIGN OF COFFERDAM.  CONTRACTOR
SHALL SUBMIT A PLAN FOR COFFERDAM INSTALLATION, RIVER DIVERSION AND EROSION
CONTROL INCLUDING LOCATION, SIZE, HEIGHT, SEQUENCING AND TIMING OF EACH
COMPONENT.  COFFERDAMS OR FILLS FOR ACCESS SHALL BE PLACED AND REMOVED IN A
MANNER THAT PREVENTS EROSION OR RELEASE OF SEDIMENT.
10. ALL COFFER DAM PLANS SHALL BE PROVIDED DIRECTLY TO RWE AND WILL BE REVIEWED
BY THE ENGINEER, THE IOWA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES AND THE CITY OF
CEDAR FALLS.
11. ALTERNATE COFFER DAM METHODS PRESENTED TO DESCRIBE FUNCTIONALITY ONLY.
ACTUAL METHOD TO BE DETERMINED BY QUALIFIED CONTRACTOR, PER PERMIT CONDITIONS,
IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE DRY WORK AREA.
12. CONTRACTOR IS SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL DEWATERING AND COFFERDAMS DURING
CONSTRUCTION. REPAIRS AND REPLACEMENTS DUE TO NATURAL CAUSES ARE AT THE SOLE
EXPENSE OF THE CONTRACTOR.
13. SEE PLANS FOR ACCESS RAMPS, CONSTRUCTION STAGING AND PERMITTED CITY
ROADWAYS.
14. COFFERDAM CREST ELEVATIONS SHOULD ALLOW PROTECTION DURING CONSTRUCTION UP
TO 9,000CFS.
15.AFTER COMPLETION OF CONSTRUCTION, COFFERDAM MUST BE COMPLETELY REMOVED
AND RIVER BANK AREAS STABILIZED AND RESTORED.
16.STAGING AREA TO BE CLEANED OF ANY DEBRIS, DE-COMPACTED AND FULLY SEEDED
FOLLOWING THE COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT.

COFFER DAM

HAY BALES (PURE HAY)

R
IV

E
R
 F

L
O
W

COFFER DAM

COFFER
DAM (SMALL)

DISCHARGE BY
GRAVITY, OR PUMP
IF NECESSARY

STRAW BALES

PUMP
DISCHARGE

RIVER BANK

TYPICAL LAYOUT DEWATERING AREA

SETTLING
PONDS

COFFER DAM
DOWNSTREAM BOUNDARY

COFFER DAM
UPSTREAM BOUNDARY

NOTE:  SCHEMATIC LAYOUT TO DESCRIBE FUNCTIONALITY ONLY.  ACTUAL LAYOUT
TO BE DETERMINED BY QUALIFIED CONTRACTOR, PER PERMIT CONDITIONS.

EXISTING STREAMBED

NATIVE ALLUVIUM MOUNDED TO
 HEIGHT SPECIFIED AND COMPACTED

STREAM

SLOPE WORK AREA
TOWARDS SUMP

2'-4' DIAMETER BASE ROCKEXISTING STREAMBED

NATIVE ALLUVIUM MOUNDED TO
 HEIGHT SPECIFIED AND COMPACTED

STREAM

SLOPE WORK AREA
TOWARDS SUMP

TYPICAL COFFER DAM CROSS SECTION

*

3'

DRY WORK AREA

EXTEND LINER MIN.
6" BEYOND BARRIER

POLYETHYLENE LINER

CONCRETE BARRIER

SANDBAGS

EXISTING STREAMBED

ALTERNATIVE COFFER DAM

3'X3'X3' ONE TON SAND BAG
OR EQUIVALENT

EXISTING STREAMBED

SLOPE WORK AREA
TOWARDS SUMP

STREAM

STREAM

ALTERNATIVE COFFER DAM

D
EW

AT
ER

IN
G

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET D-5 OF 63

D-5

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

#
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

SCALE: NTS
DEWATERING COFFER DAM ALTERNATE

SCALE: NTS
DEWATERING COFFER DAM

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

585

Item 29.



ER
O

SI
O

N
 C

O
N

TR
O

L 
D

ET
AI

LS

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET D-6 OF 63

D-6

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

#
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

EROSION CONTROL DETAILS:

NOTE:

FOR FUEL STORAGE AREAS, PROVIDE CONTAINMENT FOR ENTIRE SPILL VOLUME OR
CURBING AND ROUTING TO A CONTAINMENT BASIN CAPABLE OF RETAINING THE LARGEST
TANK OR FUEL STORAGE DEVICE. THE SPILL CONTAINMENT AREA MUST HAVE AN
IMPERMEABLE SURFACE TO PREVENT GROUNDWATER CONTAMINATION. THE CONTAINMENT
SYSTEM MUST ENABLE CONSOLIDATION AND REMOVAL OF SPILLED MATERIAL THROUGH
APPROPRIATE MEASURES

SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF SF

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

®

®

®

®

®

®

®

®

®

®

®

Product Name

American Excelsior Company Recommended AEC Premier Straw® Wattle Maximum Spacing on Slopesa

Sl
op

e 
G

ra
di

en
t < 4H:1V

3H:1V

2H:1V

1H:1V

9 in AEC Premier Straw
Wattle ft (m)

12 in AEC Premier Straw
Wattle ft (m)

20 in AEC Premier Straw
Wattle ft (m)

40 (12.2) 60 (18.3) 80 (24.4)

20 (6.1)

20 (6.1)

40 (12.2)

60 (18.3)45 (13.7)

30 (9.1)

15 (4.6)

30 (9.1)

10 (3.0)

Tighter spacing may be required based on soil type and seasonal rainfall patterns.  For best results, use slope
interruption devices in conjunction with rolled erosion control products.

a

586

Item 29.



8"X8" TIMBERS

COMPACTED GRAVEL RAMP

COMPACTED GRAVEL MIN 8" THICK

EX. CONCRETE TRAIL
12' +/-

CONCRETE TRAIL
PROTECTION DETAIL

ALTERNATIVE
(N.T.S.)

STEEL PLATE

COMPACTED GRAVEL RAMP

COMPACTED GRAVEL MIN 8" THICK

EX. CONCRETE TRAIL
12' +/-

CONCRETE TRAIL
PROTECTION DETAIL

ALTERNATIVE
(N.T.S.)

TOP EXISTING LEVEE

FOR HAUL ROAD USE 1-3"
MATERIAL MIN. 8" THICK

EX. LEVEE
NOT TO BE
DISTURBED

12' +/-

HAUL ROAD AT LEVEE
PROTECTION DETAIL

(N.T.S.)

DO NOT DISTURB

FOR REVEGETATION SPECIFICATIONS SEE:
US ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS® ENGINEERING AND DESIGN
GUIDELINES FOR LANDSCAPE PLANTING AND VEGETATION
MANAGEMENT AT LEVEES, FLOODWALLS, EMBANKMENT DAMS,
AND APPURTENANT STRUCTURES

ETL 1110-2-583 30 APRIL 2014

CONTACT USACOE PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION ANY HAUL ROADS
ON THE LEVEES.

CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING ALL HAUL ROADS
AT LEVEES AND FINAL INSPECTION FROM THE USACOE

RWE REPRESENTATIVE TO COMPLETE WALK THROUGH OF
ALL EXISTING TRAILS TO NOTE AND RECORD PRE-PROJECT
CONDITIONS. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING ALL
HAUL ROADS AND REPAIRING ANY TRAIL DAMAGE.  WHERE
HAUL ROADS WERE LOCATED IN NATURAL AREAS.  THESE
AREAS TO BE UNCOMPACTED AND RESEEDED AS REQUIRED.
FINAL INSPECTION TO BE COMPLETED BY THE CITY OF
CEDAR FALLS.

ER
O

SI
O

N
 C

O
N

TR
O

L 
D

ET
AI

LS

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET D-7 OF 63

D-7

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

#
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

EROSION CONTROL DETAILS:

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

587

Item 29.



67221
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

67220
BROOMSTICK LODGING LLC

62731
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

65855
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

51745
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

51629
STATE OF IOWA

51560
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

67507
CITY OF
CEDAR FALLS

64857
STATE STREET
RESIDENCES II LC

13697
RIVER PLACE
PROPERTIES LC

62733
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

STATE OF IOWA

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 B

O
U

N
D

AR
Y 

EX
H

IB
IT

 M
AP

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET D-8 OF 63

D-8

SS, MH, LK, RG
RGSS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

 
 
 
 
 
 

0100 100

SCALE BAR 1"=100'

CONTOUR INTERVAL 2FT

PROPERTY BOUNDARY EXHIBIT MAP
LIST OF NEIGHBORING PROPERTY OWNERS

62733
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
220 CLAY ST
CEDAR FALLS, IA  50613

67221
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
220 CLAY ST
CEDAR FALLS, IA  50613

67220
BROOMSTICK LODGING LLC
2706 JAMES ST
CORALVILLE, IA  52241

62731
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
220 CLAY ST
CEDAR FALLS, IA  50613

65855
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
220 CLAY ST
CEDAR FALLS, IA  50613

51745
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
220 CLAY ST
CEDAR FALLS, IA  50613

51629
STATE OF IOWA
800 LINCOLN WY
AMES, IA  50010

51560
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
220 CLAY ST
CEDAR FALLS, IA  50613

67507
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
220 CLAY ST
CEDAR FALLS, IA  50613

64857
STATE STREET RESIDENCES II LC
300 STATE ST #110
CEDAR FALLS, IA  50613

51528
STATE OF IOWA
800 LINCOLN WY
AMES, IA  50010

13697
RIVER PLACE PROPERTIES LC
200 STATE ST 200-Z
CEDAR FALLS, IA  50613

51398
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
220 CLAY ST
CEDAR FALLS, IA  50613

588

Item 29.



CEDAR FALLS DRAFT SPECIFICATIONS
GENERAL NOTES
ENGINEERS OVERSIGHT
1. THE ENGINEER WAIVES ANY AND ALL RESPONSIBILITY AND IS NOT LIABLE FOR

PROBLEMS WHICH ARISE FROM FAILURE TO FOLLOW THESE PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS
AND THE DESIGN INTENT THEY CONVEY OR FOR PROBLEMS WHICH ARISE FROM
OTHERS OR OTHERS' FAILURE TO OBTAIN AND/OR FOLLOW THE ENGINEER'S
GUIDANCE WITH RESPECT TO ANY ERRORS, OMISSIONS, INCONSISTENCIES,
AMBIGUITIES OR CONFLICTS.

2. ALL ELEVATIONS, DIMENSIONS, ALIGNMENTS AND ORIENTATION OF ALL ELEMENTS
SHOWN IN THE PLANS MUST BE APPROVED BY THE RWE ENGINEER OR RWE
ENGINEER'S REPRESENTATIVE (ENGINEER).

3. WORK SHALL NOT COMMENCE UNTIL AFTER THE DATE OF THE ON-SITE
PRE-CONSTRUCTION MEETING WHICH WILL BE ATTENDED BY REPRESENTATIVES OF
THE PROJECT OWNER, ENGINEER, CONTRACTOR AND ANY SUB-CONTRACTORS.  IN
THE EVENT THAT WORK DOES NOT BEGIN IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING THE
PRE-CONSTRUCTION MEETING, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE
REPRESENTATIVES OF THE PROJECT OWNER, ENGINEER, ANY SUB-CONTRACTORS,
AND RELEVANT AGENCIES NOTED IN THE PERMITS, TWO WEEKS NOTICE BEFORE
CONSTRUCTION COMMENCES.

4. ALL CONSTRUCTION WORK SHALL CONFORM TO THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
ADOPTED STATEWIDE URBAN DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS (SUDAS), LATEST
EDITION.  ROAD AND PARKING LOT CONSTRUCTION SHALL ALSO CONFORM TO
LOCAL LAND USE CODE.   UTILITY CONSTRUCTION SHALL CONFORM TO THE
AMERICAN PUBLIC WORKS ASSOCIATION, PUBLIC WORKS CONSTRUCTION MANUAL,
LATEST EDITION.   STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS OF MATERIALS FOR AGGREGATES
AND SOIL AGGREGATE SUB-BASE, BASE AND SURFACE COURSES SHALL BE
GOVERNED BY AASHTO DESIGNATION M147-65 (1993) OR LATEST REVISION.  ALL
CONSTRUCTION SHALL CONFORM TO CITY AND COUNTY STANDARDS AND
SPECIFICATIONS AS APPLICABLE.

5. WHENEVER THE INCLUDED DRAWINGS ARE FOUND TO BE INCONSISTENT WITH ANY
OTHER RESOLUTION, ORDINANCE, CODE, REGULATION, OR OTHER STANDARDS
REFERENCED, THE ENACTMENT IMPOSING THE MORE RESTRICTIVE STANDARDS OR
REQUIREMENTS SHALL CONTROL.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT COMMENCE CONSTRUCTION WITHOUT
CONSTRUCTION PLAN APPROVAL BY ALL RELEVANT AGENCIES.  A COPY OF THE
APPROVED PLANS SHALL BE AVAILABLE AT THE CONSTRUCTION SITE AT ALL TIMES
DURING WORKING HOURS.

7. THE ENGINEER IS TO BE NOTIFIED PRIOR TO ANY PLAN CHANGES OR ON-SITE
DESIGN MODIFICATIONS.   ALL PLAN CHANGES MUST BE APPROVED BY THE
ENGINEER.

8. ALL EXISTING TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY DATA SHOWN ON THESE PLANS HAS BEEN
OBTAINED AND CERTIFIED BY OTHERS.  THE ENGINEER HAS UNDERTAKEN NO FIELD
VERIFICATION OF THIS TOPOGRAPHIC INFORMATION, AND MAKES NO
REPRESENTATION PERTAINING THERETO AND THEREFORE ASSUMES NO
RESPONSIBILITY OR LIABILITY.

9. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONFINE HIS OPERATIONS TO THE CONSTRUCTION LIMITS
OF THE PROJECT AND IN NO WAY SHALL ENCROACHMENT OCCUR ONTO ADJACENT
PROPERTIES UNLESS LEGAL EASEMENTS ARE OBTAINED.  ALL FILL AND CUT SLOPES
SHALL BE SETBACK FROM THE PROPERTY LINE IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHAPTER 70
OF THE UNIFORM BUILDING CODE.   THE CONTRACTOR WILL BE HELD RESPONSIBLE
FOR ANY AGREEMENTS NECESSARY OR DAMAGE CAUSED BY CONSTRUCTION
ACTIVITIES TO PUBLIC OR PRIVATE PROPERTY, INCLUDING UTILITIES.

SURVEY
1. ALL SURVEYING AND LAYOUT FOR CONSTRUCTION TO BE PROVIDED BY THE

CONTRACTOR.
2. A QUALIFIED SURVEYOR SHALL VERIFY PROPOSED GRADES AND INVERT

ELEVATIONS, FLOW LINES, ALIGNMENTS, SETBACKS AND TOPOGRAPHY PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.

3. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR COMPLETING AN AS-BUILT SURVEY, IF
REQUESTED, FOLLOWING COMPLETION OF THE FINAL GRADES

4. WETLANDS DELINEATED IN THIS PLAN SET MUST BE STAKED PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION. ONCE DELINEATED THE APPROPRIATE BMP'S SHALL BE INSTALLED
AROUND THE PERIMETER FOR STABILIZATION.

UTILITIES
1. A MINIMUM OF 12 INCHES OF SEPARATION MUST BE MAINTAINED BETWEEN UTILITY

LINES.
2. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE LOCATION OF ALL  EXISTING

UTILITIES AND SHOULD NOT RELY SOLELY ON THESE CONSTRUCTION  PLANS FOR
UTILITY LOCATIONS.  CONTRACTOR MUST COMPLETE ALL UTILITY LOCATES PRIOR
TO CONSTRUCTION.  LOCATES CAN BE COORDINATED WITH THE UTILITY
NOTIFICATION CENTER OF IOWA (UNCC) 800-292-8989. DAMAGE TO ANY EXISTING
UTILITIES IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR.

GENERAL ENVIRONMENTAL
1. WORK SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL LOCAL, STATE, AND FEDERAL AGENCIES' LAWS,

RULES, REGULATIONS, AND PERMITS.  ALL WORK SHALL BE SUBJECT TO
INSPECTIONS AND SITE INVESTIGATION BY REGULATORY AGENCIES.  FAILURE TO
COMPLY WITH THESE REGULATIONS IS SUBJECT TO LEGAL ENFORCEMENT ACTION.

2. COPIES OF PERMITS OBTAINED BY THE OWNER WILL BE PROVIDED TO THE

CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN COPIES OF ALL PERMITS ON THE SITE
AT ALL TIMES. A LIST OF ALL APPLICABLE PERMITS ARE INCLUDED ON SHEET C-02.

3. A PRE-CONSTRUCTION MEETING WITH EQUIPMENT OPERATORS SHALL BE HELD TO
DISCUSS THE PROJECT REQUIREMENTS AS THEY RELATE TO ENVIRONMENTAL
PERMIT COMPLIANCE.

4. ON-SITE CONSTRUCTION REVIEWS SHALL BE CONDUCTED TO IDENTIFY
MAINTENANCE NEEDS AND CHRONIC PROBLEMS THAT MAY BE OCCURRING.
APPROPRIATE REMEDIAL ACTIONS SHALL BE IMPLEMENTED IN A TIMELY MANNER.

5. IF PREVIOUSLY UNKNOWN ARCHEOLOGICAL MATERIALS ARE DISCOVERED DURING
CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES, WORK SHALL STOP IMMEDIATELY AND THE ENGINEER
AND OWNER SHALL BE CONTACTED.  THE STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICE
WILL THEN BE CONTACTED BY THE ENGINEER OR OWNER FOR CONSULTATION.

GENERAL CIVIL
1. ALL DRAINAGE PIPE FOR ROADWAY PURPOSES SHALL BE EITHER HIGH DENSITY

POLYETHYLENE (HDPE) OR REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE (RCP) WITH A MINIMUM
DIAMETER OF 18-INCHES AND A MINIMUM COVER OF 12-INCHES.  THE PIPE SHALL BE
ABLE TO WITHSTAND AASHTO HS-20 LOADING WITH TIRE CONTACT AREA DEFINED IN
AASHTO 3.30.

SEDIMENT AND POLLUTION CONTROL
1. ALL APPROPRIATE SEDIMENT AND POLLUTION CONTROL MEASURES, AND BEST

MANAGEMENT PRACTICES (BMP'S) SHALL BE IN PLACE TO MINIMIZE SEDIMENTATION
AND RIVERBED IMPACTS PRIOR TO INITIATING IN-RIVER / RIVERBANK WORK.
SEDIMENT AND EROSION CONTROLS SHALL BE INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE URBAN DRAINAGE AND FLOOD CONTROL DISTRICT GUIDELINES (OR SIMILAR)
AND ANY STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN PROVIDED BY THE
ENGINEER.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE WHOLLY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DESIGN, IMPLEMENTATION
AND MAINTENANCE OF SEDIMENT AND EROSION CONTROLS IN CONFORMANCE WITH
CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS AND THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE REGULATORY
AGENCIES THROUGHOUT THE CONSTRUCTION PERIOD.  THE ENGINEER WILL NOT BE
ON-SITE TO APPROVE, REVIEW, OR MAINTAIN THE CONTROLS.  STORMWATER
MEASURES MAY BE REQUIRED TO BE INSTALLED AT ANY TIME DURING
CONSTRUCTION AT THE DIRECTION OF THE ENGINEER OR OWNER.

3. IN ADDITION TO CONSTRUCTION BMP'S, TEMPORARY SEDIMENT AND EROSION
CONTROLS (E.G., TEMPORARY SEEDING, MULCHING, SILT FENCE, STRAW WADDLE)
SHALL BE IMPLEMENTED ON ALL DISTURBED AREAS WITHIN 2-DAYS IF DISTURBED
AREAS ARE TO REMAIN DORMANT FOR MORE THAN 21-DAYS.  PERMANENT SOIL
STABILIZATION (E.G., PERMANENT SEEDING, EROSION CONTROL FABRIC) SHALL BE
IMPLEMENTED ON DISTURBED AREAS WITHIN 2-DAYS AFTER FINAL GRADE IS
REACHED ON ANY PORTION OF THE PROJECT AREA.

4. SPOIL PILES SHALL BE COVERED OR OTHERWISE MANAGED TO REDUCE
SEDIMENTATION.  ALL MATERIAL WHICH IS TO BE PLACED AT UPLAND SITE SHALL BE
DISPOSED OF IN SUCH A WAY THAT SEDIMENT RUNOFF IS CONTROLLED AND
MINIMIZED.

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT STORE EQUIPMENT BELOW THE ORDINARY HIGH-WATER
LINE, AND TAKES FULL RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY MATERIALS VANDALIZED,
DAMAGED, BROKEN, OR LOST AS A RESULT OF RIVER EVENTS.

6. ALL FUELING OPERATIONS, LUBRICATING, HYDRAULIC TOPPING OFF, FUEL TANK
PURGING, AND EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE/REPAIRS SHALL BE PERFORMED AT AN
UPLAND SITE OUTSIDE OF THE BANKS OF ANY SITE WATERWAYS AT A LOCATION TO
BE DETERMINED BY THE ENGINEER OR OWNER.  THESE ACTIVITIES SHALL TAKE
PLACE ON AN APPROVED PAD WITH SPILL CONTROL/ COLLECTION DEVICES IN
PLACE.

7. ALL CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT SHALL BE INSPECTED DAILY FOR HYDRAULIC AND
FUEL LEAKS.  LEAKS SHALL BE REPAIRED PRIOR TO OPERATION WITHIN THE
100-YEAR FLOODPLAIN.  WHEN NOT IN USE, FUEL AND HYDRAULIC FLUIDS SHALL BE
STORED AT AN UPLAND SITE OUTSIDE OF THE 100-YEAR FLOODPLAIN.  EMERGENCY
SPILL RESPONSE DEVICES SHALL BE ON-SITE AT ALL TIMES DURING CONSTRUCTION
IN WATERWAYS AND FLOODPLAINS AND SHALL BE READY TO DEPLOY IN THE EVENT
OF A SPILL.

8. NO CHEMICALS, FUELS, LUBRICANTS, BRUSH, ETC.  SHALL BE DISCHARGED OR
DISPOSED OF INTO OR ALONGSIDE ANY STREAM, WATERCOURSE, OR FLOODPLAIN
UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES.

9. LITTER AND CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS SHALL BE CONTAINED DAILY.  ALL
CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS AND LITTER SHALL BE COMPLETELY REMOVED OFFSITE
AND DISPOSED OF PROPERLY UPON PROJECT COMPLETION.

10. CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCES SHALL BE INSTALLED AS NECESSARY TO PROVIDE
ACCESS TO CONSTRUCTION AREAS FROM ALL EXISTING ROADWAYS AND PATHS TO
MINIMIZE GROUND DISTURBANCE AND SEDIMENT TRACKING FROM VEHICLE TIRES.
ADJACENT ROADWAYS AND PATHS SHALL BE VISUALLY INSPECTED DAILY TO
ENSURE THAT SEDIMENT IS NOT BEING CARRIED OFF-SITE.  IF SEDIMENT IS BEING
CARRIED OFF-SITE, THE ADJACENT ROADWAYS AND PATHS SHALL BE SWEPT CLEAN
DAILY.

11. BMP'S PLUS TEMPORARY SEDIMENT AND EROSION CONTROLS SHALL BE
MAINTAINED TO BE FUNCTIONAL UNTIL THE SITE HAS REACHED FINAL
STABILIZATION.  THE PROJECT AREA SHALL BE CONSIDERED TO HAVE REACHED
FINAL STABILIZATION WHEN:

A. A PERENNIAL, VEGETATIVE COVER HAS GROWN TO A 80-PERCENT DENSITY
THROUGHOUT THE ENTIRE DISTURBED AREA.

B. ALL TEMPORARY SEDIMENT AND EROSION CONTROLS HAVE BEEN REMOVED
AND DISPOSED OF PROPERLY.

C. ALL TRAPPED SEDIMENT HAS BEEN REMOVED AND PERMANENTLY STABILIZED
TO PREVENT FURTHER EROSION.

D. ALL CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES HAVE CEASED.
E. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING ALL BMP'S PLUS
TEMPORARY SEDIMENT AND EROSION CONTROLS

BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES (BMP'S)
1. BMP'S SUCH AS DRAINAGE CHANNELS, PERIMETER FENCING, DETENTION BASINS,

AND VEHICLE TRACKING CONTROLS MUST BE INSTALLED PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION
ACTIVITIES.  EFFECTIVE EROSION CONTROL REQUIRES ADAPTATION AND CHANGES
DURING CONSTRUCTION THAT CANNOT BE DESIGNED OR ANTICIPATED PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.  A QUALIFIED SUPERVISOR SHOULD CHECK ALL BMP'S REGULARLY
AND NOTIFY THE ENGINEER IF THERE ARE QUESTIONS OR CONCERNS.  THE
ENGINEER ACCEPTS NO LIABILITY FOR THE PLACEMENT, EFFECTIVENESS,
MAINTENANCE, OR CHOICE OF BMP ON THE SITE IF THE ENGINEER AND/OR
ENGINEER'S REPRESENTATIVE ARE NOT PRESENT.

2. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL IMPLEMENT THE NECESSARY SITE EROSION CONTROL
MEASURES FOR INHIBITING DUST, WIND, AND AIR SEDIMENT MOVEMENT OFFSITE
DURING ALL PHASES OR STAGES OF CONSTRUCTION.

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE AN AREA TO STORE CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS
WHERE IT WILL NOT BE A NUISANCE TO THE SURROUNDING NEIGHBORHOOD.    ALL
DEBRIS SHALL BE CONTAINED IN SUCH A MANNER THAT WILL PREVENT SCATTERING.
ALL DEBRIS, INCLUDING TREES AND UNDERGROWTH SHALL BE DISPOSED OF
PROPERLY.  ALL DEBRIS SHALL BE REMOVED FROM THE SITE PRIOR TO FINAL SITE
INSPECTION.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL LIMIT THE AREAS OF DISTURBANCE AND COMPLETE
CONSTRUCTION WITH PHASES IN MIND.

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL LIMIT DIRECTLY CONNECTED IMPERVIOUS AREAS (DCIA).

6. BUFFER STRIPS SHOULD BE USED DURING CONSTRUCTION TO LIMIT THE DCIA'S.
WHEN POSSIBLE, TRANSITIONING CHANGES IN SLOPE, TERRACING LONGER SLOPES,
SURFACE ROUGHENING, AND CONTOUR FURROWS SHOULD BE USED TO MINIMIZE
CONSOLIDATED FLOW.

7. ANY STAGED GRADING MUST BE DONE TO DIRECT STORMWATER TOWARDS THE
APPROPRIATE BMP'S.

8. DURING CONSTRUCTION, STRAW WADDLES, COMPACTED SOIL BERMS, AGGREGATE
BAGS, OR SIMILAR MUST BE USED ON ALL DISTURBED SLOPES OF  3:1 AND GREATER
THAN 20 FEET IN LENGTH.

9. SILT FENCING LOCATED ON THE PERIMETER OF DISTURBED AREAS SHOULD BE
CHECKED ON A DAILY BASIS OR FOLLOWING SIGNIFICANT STORM EVENTS TO
ENSURE IT IS WORKING PROPERLY.

10. INLET PROTECTION MUST BE INCLUDED AT ALL STORM, SEWER, AND CULVERT
LINKS. APPROPRIATE BMP'S INCLUDE ROCK SOCKS, SEDIMENT CONTROL LOGS, OR
SIMILAR.

11. SEDIMENT ENTRAINMENT FACILITIES SHOULD BE DESIGNED TO STORE THE
APPROPRIATE VOLUME OF STORM WATER DISCHARGE BUT CONTAIN MINIMAL
ADDITIONAL CAPACITY.  THEY MUST BE MAINTAINED TO THE CALCULATED VOLUME
AND DREDGED AS NECESSARY.

MATERIAL HANDLING

1. A LIST OF ALL POTENTIALLY TOXIC OR HAZARDOUS CHEMICALS THAT WILL BE USED
OR STORED ON-SITE SHALL BE MAINTAINED WITH THE EROSION CONTROL
SUPERVISOR. WARNING LABELS MUST BE ATTACHED.  MATERIAL SAFETY DATA
SHEETS (MSDS) AND OTHER SAFETY INFORMATION FOR A POTENTIALLY TOXIC OR
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCE MUST BE ON THE SITE WHILE THE SUBSTANCE IS USED OR
STORED.

2. THE FOLLOWING MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PRACTICES MUST BE FOLLOWED:

A. THE QUANTITY OF FUEL AND LUBRICANT AT THE CONSTRUCTION SITE MUST BE
MINIMIZED.

B. STRICT STORAGE PRACTICES (I.E. OFF-SITE STORAGE) ARE PREFERABLE.   FUEL,
HYDRAULIC OIL, AND FORM OIL MUST BE STORED OFFSITE.

C. MATERIALS STORED AT THE CONSTRUCTION SITE MUST BE PROPERLY
PROTECTED FROM THE ELEMENTS.

D. MATERIALS MUST BE HANDLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY
AND HEALTH ADMINISTRATION (OSHA) REQUIREMENTS AND MANUFACTURERS'
INSTRUCTIONS.

E. CHEMICALS REGULATED UNDER THE COMPREHENSIVE ENVIRONMENTAL
RESPONSE, COMPENSATION AND LIABILITY ACT (CERCLA) WILL BE DOCUMENTED.

SPILL REMEDIATION PRACTICES

1. ALL CONSTRUCTION SITE PERSONNEL MUST FOLLOW SPILL PREVENTION AND
CONTROL PRACTICES AS FOLLOWS:

A. THE SENIOR SAFETY MANAGER, DESIGNATED COORDINATORS, AND THE WATER
QUALITY OFFICER WILL BE CONTACTED IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING ANY SPILL.  THE
SENIOR SAFETY MANAGER (OR DESIGNEE) MUST IN TURN REPORT THE SPILL TO THE
APPROPRIATE FEDERAL, STATE, OR LOCAL AGENCIES IN ACCORDANCE WITH
APPLICABLE REGULATIONS.

B. PERSONNEL WILL WEAR APPROPRIATE PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT.
C. THERE MUST BE A DESIGNATED INDIVIDUAL ON THE SITE TRAINED IN THE
APPROPRIATE CLEANUP PROCEDURES FOR VARIOUS TYPES OF CHEMICALS AND THE
LOCATION OF INFORMATION AND CLEANUP SUPPLIES.

D. THE MSDS OF ANY MATERIAL SHOULD BE CONSULTED ON THE EVENT OF A SPILL.
THE MSDS FOR ALL CHEMICALS USED ON THE SITE WILL BE KEPT ON THE SITE, AND
WORKERS WILL BE REQUIRED TO REVIEW MSDS'S.

E. SPILL KITS MUST BE LOCATED ON-SITE.  SUBCONTRACTORS MUST BE NOTIFIED
OF THEIR LOCATION AND INSTRUCTED HOW TO USE THEM WHEN NECESSARY.

F. SPILLS MUST BE CLEANED UP PROMPTLY AFTER DISCOVERY, AND MATERIALS
USED FOR CLEANUP MUST BE DISPOSED OF OFF-SITE AT AN APPROVED FACILITY.

WORK LIMITS AND LAYDOWN

1. WORK LIMITS, ACCESS, STAGING, LAYDOWN, AND STOCKPILE AREAS SHALL BE
LOCATED WHERE SHOWN ON THE CONSTRUCTION DRAWINGS OR OTHERWISE AS
APPROVED BY THE ENGINEER OR OWNER.

2. ALL CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES SHALL OCCUR WITHIN CURRENTLY DISTURBED
AREAS TO THE EXTENT POSSIBLE.

3. DISTURBED/ EXPOSED RIVERBANKS AND STAGING AND PROJECT ACCESS AREAS
SHALL BE PROPERLY STABILIZED (SEEDED, MULCHED, OR OTHERWISE) WITH NATIVE
VEGETATION IMMEDIATELY AFTER GRADING TO PREVENT EROSION AND
ESTABLISHMENT OF INVASIVE PLANT SPECIES.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE HELD RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY DAMAGE TO VEGETATION OR
PROPERTY OUTSIDE THE WORK LIMITS RESULTING FROM CONSTRUCTION
OPERATIONS.

5. ALL AREAS TEMPORARILY DISTURBED DURING CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE RESTORED
TO THEIR ORIGINAL CONDITION, SLOPES, AND ELEVATIONS, UNLESS OTHERWISE
NOTED IN THE CONSTRUCTION DRAWINGS.

 UTILITIES
1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL LOCATE ALL UTILITIES WITHIN THE PROJECT AREA PRIOR

TO CONSTRUCTION.
2. NO EXCAVATION SHALL OCCUR IN THE AREA SURROUNDING A UTILITY CROSSING.

NO IMPROVEMENTS THAT MAY CAUSE SCOUR, ARE TO BE PLACED IN THE VICINITY
OF AN AT-GRADE, ABOVE OR BELOW GRADE, UTILITY CROSSING.

3. IF UTILITIES ARE IDENTIFIED WITHIN THE PROJECT AREA, A MINIMUM BUFFER OF NO
DISTURBANCE, APPROVED BY THE ENGINEER OR OWNER, IS TO BE MAINTAINED ON
ALL UTILITY CROSSINGS.

ROCK QUALITY
1. INDIVIDUAL STONE BOULDERS SHALL BE DENSE, SOUND AND FREE FROM CRACKS,

SEAMS AND OTHER DEFECTS CONDUCIVE TO ACCELERATED WEATHERING.
2. AT A MINIMUM EXPOSED ROCK SHOULD HAVE ONE FLAT SURFACE AND THIS SHOULD

BE THE ONLY EXPOSED SURFACE.
3. ALL ROCK SHALL BE REVIEWED BY AN RWE REPRESENTATIVE AND HAVE THE

FOLLOWING PROPERTIES:
A. BULK SPECIFIC GRAVITY (SATURATED SURFACE-DRY BASIS) NOT LESS THAN
2.5.

B. ABSORPTION NOT MORE THAN 2% BY WEIGHT.
C. THE BULK SPECIFIC GRAVITY AND ABSORPTION SHALL BE DETERMINED BY ASTM
METHOD C-127.

4. ROCK THAT FAILS TO MEET THESE REQUIREMENTS MAY BE ACCEPTED ONLY IF
SIMILAR ROCK FROM THE SAME SOURCE HAS BEEN DEMONSTRATED TO BE SOUND
AFTER FIVE YEARS OR MORE OF SERVICE UNDER CONDITIONS OF WEATHER,
WETTING AND DRYING, AND EROSIVE FORCES SIMILAR TO THOSE ANTICIPATED.
ALTERNATIVELY, NATIVE OR IMPORTED STONE, ALREADY AT THE SITE AND MEETING
THE STANDARDS OUTLINED ABOVE, MAY BE USED.

5. THE ENGINEER RETAINS RIGHT OF REFUSAL FOR ANY ROCK BROUGHT TO THE SITE
WHICH IS NOT SUITABLE AND DOES NOT MEET THE ABOVE CRITERIA AND/OR SHOWS
EXCESSIVE WEATHERING, CRACKING OR DEFORMATION.

6. MINIMUM ROCK DIMENSIONS FOR “QUARRIED STONE” SHALL BE 2'X2'X4' FOR
INSTREAM STRUCTURES.  MINIMUM ROCK DIMENSIONS FOR ALL POOL ARMORING
AND CRIB FILL TO BE RIP RAP WITH A D50 OF 20-INCHES.

7. ALL RIP RAP TO MEET ASTM C-535-69, AASHTO TEST 103 AND HAVE A SPECIFIC
GRAVITY OF 2.65 AS WELL AS MEETING THE IOWA DEPARTMENT OF
TRANSPORTATION SPECIFICATIONS.  THE ENGINEER TAKES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR
MATERIAL USED NOT MEETING THESE SPECIFICATIONS OR NOT APPROVED ON-SITE
BY THE ENGINEER OR OWNER.

SITE PREPARATION-ROCK EXCAVATION
1. CONTRACTOR SHALL USE SUITABLE EXCAVATION TECHNIQUES THAT INCLUDE

RIPPERS, STANDARD BUCKET EXCAVATION, AND HYDRAULIC BREAKERS.  NO
BLASTING OR EXPLOSIVES MAY BE USED WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL.

SITE PREPARATION- STONES PLACED IN CHANNEL
1. NO ROCK PLACEMENT SHALL OCCUR IN CHANNEL UNTIL APPROPRIATE WATER

CONTROL MEASURES ARE IN PLACE (AS OUTLINED IN THE WATER CONTROL
TYPICALS).

2. AFTER APPROPRIATE CUTOFF WALLS ARE IN PLACE NATIVE ALLUVIUM SHALL BE
EXCAVATED TO DEPTH OF FIVE FEET.  CLEAN CRIB FILL SHALL BE PLACED UP TO
THE SUBGRADE ELEVATION.

3. QUARRIED STONE SHALL BE PLACED AS SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS WITHOUT ANY
GAPS, SO THAT EACH BOULDER TOUCHES THE NEXT ONE.

4. EACH STONE SHALL BE PLACED TO THE FINAL POSITION BY SUITABLE EQUIPMENT
FOR HANDLING MATERIAL AND, IF NECESSARY; THE STONE SHALL BE PICKED UP
AND REPOSITIONED.

5. IT SHOULD BE ANTICIPATED THAT RE-HANDLING OF INDIVIDUAL STONES, AFTER
INITIAL PLACEMENT WILL BE REQUIRED TO ACHIEVE REQUIRED SLOPES, GRADES,

G
EN

ER
AL

 N
O

TE
S

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET D-9 OF 63

D-9

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

#
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

GENERAL NOTES

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

589

Item 29.



ELEVATIONS AND POSITION.
6. THE ENGINEER SHALL OBSERVE AND APPROVE CONTRACTOR'S METHOD FOR

STONE PLACEMENT IN A REPRESENTATIVE AREA FOR EACH PROJECT COMPONENT.

SITE PREPARATION-ROCKS PLACED IN STONE TERRACING
1. ALL ROCKS PLACED AS STONE TERRACING MUST BE PLACED WITH FLAT SIDE

FACING UP AND BE CLEAN OF ALL SHARP PROTRUSIONS THAT COULD CREATE A
SAFETY HAZARD.

2. IT SHOULD BE ANTICIPATED THAT RE-HANDLING OF INDIVIDUAL STONES, AFTER
INITIAL PLACEMENT WILL BE REQUIRED TO ACHIEVE REQUIRED SLOPES, GRADES,
ELEVATIONS AND POSITION.

3. ALL PLACED ROCKS MUST BE KEYED IN 12-INCHES IN BOTH THE HORIZONTAL AND
VERTICAL DIRECTIONS.

4. ALL STONE TERRACING SHALL BE PLACED WITH SUITABLE GEOTEXTILE UNDERLYING
THE MATERIAL (IF INCLUDED IN THE DESIGN) AND BACKFILLED WITH CLEAN NATIVE
FILL.

5. ALL PLACED STONES SHALL BE PLACED ON SUITABLE SUBGRADE APPROVED BY
ENGINEER.  IF UNSUITABLE SUBGRADE IS EXPERIENCED, CONTRACTOR MUST
INCLUDE SUITABLE SUBGRADE MATERIAL SUCH AS ROAD BASE GRAVEL.

CONCRETE MATERIALS

1. CONCRETE SHALL CONSIST OF PORTLAND CEMENT, SAND, AND GRAVEL,
THOROUGHLY MIXED WITH WATER TO PRODUCE A THICK, CREAMY CONSISTENCY.
THE MINIMUM AMOUNT OF WATER SHOULD BE USED TO PREVENT EXCESS
SHRINKAGE OF THE CONCRETE AFTER PLACEMENT.

2. THE AGGREGATE, FOR CONCRETE, SHALL CONSIST OF 70 PERCENT SAND AND  30
PERCENT 3/8-INCH ROCK.  MAXIMUM AGGREGATE SHALL BE 3/8 INCH.

3. ALL CONCRETE SHALL BE PRODUCED FROM TYPE II PORTLAND CEMENT WITH LESS
THAN 5% TRICALCIUM ALUMINATE.  CONCRETE SHALL HAVE MINIMUM CEMENT
CONTENT OF 7 GALLONS PER SACK.

4. STRENGTH OF THE CONCRETE SHALL BE 4,000 PSI IN 28 DAYS.  THE WATER
CEMENT RATIO SHALL NOT EXCEED 0.48.  A STIFFER MIX SHALL BE USED FOR
STEEPER APPLICATIONS.  AIR ENTRAINMENT SHALL BE USED FOR STEEPER
APPLICATIONS.  AIR ENTRAINMENT SHALL BE 6% TO 9%, AND SLUMP SHALL BE
5-INCHES TO 9-INCHES, EXCEPT AS APPROVED OR DIRECTED.  AIR ENTRAINING
AGENTS SHALL CONFORM TO ASTM C260 AND WATER REDUCING AGENTS SHALL
CONFORM TO ASTM C494.

5. SUBGRADE, BASE MATERIAL, AND SURFACE COURSE IS TO BE COMPACTED TO  95%
STANDARD PROCTOR WITH A MOISTURE CONTENT WITHIN 2% OF OPTIMAL PER
ASTM D1558 AND AASHTO T180.

COLD WEATHER PLACEMENT
1. CONTRACTOR MUST FOLLOW RECOMMENDATIONS SET IN THE AMERICAN

CONCRETE INSTITUTE COMMITTEE 306 (ACI 306R-88).  WHEN PLACING CONCRETE
AFTER THE FIRST FROST OR WHEN THE MEAN DAILY TEMPERATURES ARE BELOW
40° F.

A. HEAT AGGREGATES AND WATER IN ORDER TO PLACE FLOW FILL AT
TEMPERATURES BETWEEN 50° F AND 80° F.

B. PLACING OF CONCRETE MAY BEGIN IN MORNING BUT SHALL BE DISCONTINUED
AT 3:00 PM OF SAME DAY IF FREEZING WEATHER THREATENS.

C. AFTER CONCRETE IS PLACED, PROVIDE SUFFICIENT PROTECTION SUCH AS
COVER, CANVAS, FRAMEWORK, HEATING APPARATUS, ETC., TO ENCLOSE AND
PROTECT FLOW FILL AND MAINTAIN TEMPERATURE OF 70° F FOR 3 DAYS OR 50° F FOR
5 DAYS AFTER PLACING.

D. IF FLAKING OR SPAWLING IS FOUND, THAT PORTION OF THE CONCRETE DID NOT
APPROPRIATELY CURE AND WILL BE RE-DONE AT THE EXPENSE OF THE CONTRACTOR.

E. IF IN THE OPINION OF OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE PROTECTION IS NOT
ADEQUATE, CEASE PLACEMENT UNTIL CONDITIONS OR PROCEDURES ARE
SATISFACTORY TO OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE.

GROUT MATERIALS
1. THE MIXTURE WILL USE PORTLAND CEMENT: TYPE I/TYPE II AND SHALL CONFORM TO

THE REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM SPECIFICATION C150.

2. FLY ASH: CLASS FOR C AND SHALL CONFORM TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM
C618.  GROUND GRANULATED BLAST FURNACE SLAG (GGBFS): SHALL CONFORM TO
THE REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM C989.

3. COARSE AGGREGATE: NORMAL-WEIGHT AGGREGATE THAT SHALL CONFORM TO THE
REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM C33.  MAXIMUM AGGREGATE SIZE: 1-INCH DIAMETER.
COARSE AGGREGATE MAY BE REDUCED TO 3/8-INCH DIAMETER PEASTONE TO
PROMOTE PUMPABILITY, PROVIDED THE REQUIRED COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH CAN
BE ACHIEVED.

4. FINE AGGREGATE: NORMAL-WEIGHT AGGREGATE THAT SHALL CONFORM TO THE
REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM C33.  FINE AGGREGATE SHALL BE NON-REACTIVE TO
ALKALINITY FROM THE CEMENT-BASED GROUT.

5. WATER: SHALL BE POTABLE AND CONFORM TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM C94.

6. AIR-ENTRAINMENT: SHALL CONFORM TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM C260.
7. ADMIXTURES: SHALL BE USED FOR ADJUSTING FLOW AND WORKABILITY, AS

REQUIRED, AND COULD CONSIST OF WATER-REDUCERS, RETARDERS,
PLASTICIZERS, SUPERPLASTICIZERS, OR NONCHLORIDE ACCELERATORS.  ALL

ADMIXTURES SHALL CONFORM TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM C494 AND ASTM
C1017 AS APPLICABLE

8. THE CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO FINISH ALL GROUT WITHIN THE INSTREAM
STRUCTURES AND TERRACING USING THE FOLLOWING TECHNIQUE:

8.1. FOLLOWING INITIAL PLACEMENT OF GROUT, A TROWEL WILL BE USED TO
REMOVE ALL SPILLED, SPLATTERED, AND DUMPED MATERIAL FROM ROCK
FACES AND EXPOSED SURFACES.

8.2. ONCE THE MATERIAL HAS BEEN REMOVED BY A TROWEL, ALL SURFACES ARE
TO BE TROWEL FINISHED AND SMOOTHED.

8.3. FOLLOWING TROWEL WORK, WET BROOMS AND BRUSHES ARE TO BE USED IN
COMBINATION WITH BUCKETS OF WATER TO CLEAN ALL EXPOSED SURFACES
AND TRANSITIONS FROM ROCK TO GROUT WITH THE INTENTION OF MAKING
THE GROUT BLEND WITH THE ENVIRONMENT.

GROUT MIX

1. DESIGN MIXTURE FOR GROUT SHALL BE PROPORTIONED ON THE BASIS OF
LABORATORY TRIAL MIXTURE OR FIELD TEST DATA IN ACCORDANCE WITH ACI  301.

2. MAXIMUM FLY ASH CONTENT: 25 PERCENT.

3. MAXIMUM GGBFS CONTENT: 25 PERCENT.

4. GROUT SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH OF 4,000 PSI AT 28 DAYS.

5. MAXIMUM WATER-CEMENT RATIO: 0.55

6. MINIMUM CEMENT CONTENT: 517 POUNDS PER CUBIC YARD.

7. MINIMUM SLUMP: 5 INCHES.

8. MAXIMUM SLUMP: 9 INCHES.

9. ENTRAINED AIR-CONTENT: 3 TO 5 PERCENT.

 GROUT MIXING AND PLACEMENT
1. MEASURE, BATCH, MIX, AND DELIVER GROUT ACCORDING TO ASTM C94.  USE

ADMIXTURES ACCORDING TO THE MANUFACTURERS' WRITTEN INSTRUCTIONS.
2. THE CONTRACTOR MAY SUBMIT MIX ADJUSTMENTS TO THE DESIGNER FOR THEIR

REVIEW AND APPROVAL WHEN CIRCUMSTANCES SUCH AS CHANGED PROJECT
CONDITIONS, UNFAVORABLE WEATHER, OR UNFAVORABLE RESULTS OCCUR.
INCLUDE NECESSARY SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS (LABORATORY AND/OR FIELD TEST
DATA) WITH ANY MIX ADJUSTMENT REQUESTS.  MIX ADJUSTMENTS, IF ACCEPTABLE
TO THE DESIGNER, SHALL BE PERFORMED AT NO ADDITIONAL EXPENSE TO THE
OWNER.

3. THE MIXER, WHEN OPERATING AT CAPACITY, SHALL BE CAPABLE OF COMBINING THE
INGREDIENTS OF THE GROUT MIX INTO A THOROUGHLY MIXED AND UNIFORM MASS,
AND OF DISCHARGING THE MIX WITH A SATISFACTORY DEGREE OF UNIFORMITY.
THE MIXER SHALL BE OPERATED WITHIN THE LIMITS OF THE MANUFACTURER'S
GUARANTEED CAPACITY AND SPEED OF ROTATION.

4. IF REQUIRED TO PROMOTE PUMP-ABILITY, UP TO 20 GALLONS OF POTABLE WATER
PER FULL (10CY) LOAD (OR PROPORTIONED ACCORDINGLY) MAY BE ADDED (AND
THOROUGHLY MIXED) ONSITE.   ADDING WATER TO THE MIX ON-SITE (IF REQUIRED)
MUST OCCUR WITHIN 60 MINUTES OF THE TIME OF BATCHING.  ALL REQUIREMENTS
FOR THE GROUT MIX, AS STATED IN THIS SPECIFICATION, APPLY REGARDLESS OF
WHETHER OR NOT WATER IS ADDED ON-SITE.

5. THE TIME INTERVAL BETWEEN GROUT BATCHING AND PLACEMENT SHALL BE 90
MINUTES.   OR, THIS REQUIREMENT MAY BE WAIVED IF, AFTER 90 MINUTES, THE
GROUT CAN STILL BE PLACED WITHOUT ADDING WATER (TO REDUCE SLUMP) TO THE
BATCH.  FIELD PACKS OF WATER REDUCING ADMIXTURES MAY BE ADDED TO THE
BATCH TO INCREASE SLUMP/WORKABILITY.  MAXIMUM TIME INTERVAL, REGARDLESS
OF SLUMP, SHALL BE 180 MINUTES.  FOR AIR TEMPERATURE GREATER THAN 80
DEGREES, MAXIMUM TIME INTERVAL SHALL BE REDUCED TO 120 MINUTES.  FOR AIR
TEMPERATURE GREATER THAN 90 DEGREES, MAXIMUM TIME INTERVAL SHALL BE
REDUCED TO 90 MINUTES.

6. IN ANY CASE, GROUT SHALL BE CONVEYED FROM THE MIXER TO THE FINAL
PLACEMENT AS RAPIDLY AS PRACTICABLE BY METHODS THAT WILL PREVENT
SEGREGATION OF THE AGGREGATES AND/OR LOSS OF CEMENTITIOUS MATERIALS.

7. GROUT MIX SHALL NOT BE ALLOWED TO FREE FALL MORE THAN FIVE (5) FEET
UNLESS SUITABLE EQUIPMENT IS USED TO PREVENT SEGREGATION.

8. THE GROUT MIX SHALL NOT BE PLACED UNTIL THE AFFECTED AREA HAS BEEN
INSPECTED AND APPROVED BY THE DESIGNER FOR THE PLACEMENT OF GROUT.

9. GROUT MIX SHALL NOT BE PLACED WHEN THE DAILY AVERAGE TEMPERATURE IS
LESS THAN 40 F UNLESS FACILITIES ARE PROVIDED TO ENSURE THAT THE
TEMPERATURE OF THE MATERIALS IS MAINTAINED AT A MINIMUM TEMPERATURE OF
50 F AND NOT MORE THAN 90 F DURING PLACEMENT AND THE CURING PERIOD.

10. GROUT MIX SHALL NOT BE PLACED ON FROZEN SURFACES.  AT A MINIMUM, GROUT
MIX SHALL NOT BE ALLOWED TO FREEZE FOR THE INITIAL 24 HOURS AFTER
PLACEMENT.

11. FOR HOT WEATHER PLACEMENT, COMPLY WITH ACI 305.1 (SPECIFICATION FOR HOT
WEATHER CONCRETING).

12. FOLLOW DESIGNER SPECIFICATIONS FOR SUBGRADE PREPARATION, GROUT
PLACEMENT AND FINISHING, CURING, AND CLEAN-UP.  SPECIFICALLY, FILL VOIDS
ALONG UPSTREAM AND DOWNSTREAM TOE WITH GROUT.  ALL ROCK TO BE CLEAN
AND SWEPT AFTER GROUTING.

13. AFTER COMPLETION OF ANY GROUT PLACEMENT, NO INDIVIDUALS OR EQUIPMENT
SHALL BE PERMITTED ON THE GROUTED SURFACE FOR A PERIOD OF TWENTY-FOUR
(24) HOURS. THE GROUTED SURFACE SHALL BE PROTECTED FROM INJURIOUS
ACTION BY THE SUN, RAIN, FLOWING WATER, MECHANICAL INJURY, OR OTHER
POTENTIAL DAMAGING ACTIVITY.

GROUT AND CONCRETE PLACEMENT

1. GROUT SHALL BE PUMPED INTO VOIDS AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER OR OWNER.

2. ALL GROUT IN “WING” AND “ISLAND” SHOULD BE HELD BACK 4-6 INCHES.
3. ALL EXPOSED VISIBLE GROUT SHALL BE SMOOTHED WITH TROWEL OR BRUSHED

FINISH, EVEN IN VOID SPACES.
4. ALL VOIDS IN EXCESS OF 3" IN DIAMETER SHALL BE VIBRATED.
5. AT COMPLETION OF GROUT PLACEMENT ALL ROCK SHOULD BE CLEANED OF GROUT

AND GROUT RESIDUE.  SMALL BRUSHES HAVE BEEN PROVEN TO BE THE MOST
EFFECTIVE TECHNIQUE FOR REMOVING CONCRETE GROUT RESIDUE.

6. GROUT SHALL NOT BE PLACED UNLESS APPROPRIATE WATER CONTROL MEASURES
ARE IN PLACE.

7. FOLLOWING COMPLETION OF GROUT PLACEMENT, THE WORK AREA SHOULD BE
FLOODED TO ENSURE OPTIMAL CURING TIME.  THE WORK AREA SHALL BE ISOLATED
TO ENSURE THERE IS NO CONTACT WITH THE LIVE RIVER.  THE STATIC WATER LEVEL
IN THE WORK AREA SHOULD EQUAL THE WATER LEVEL IN THE LIVE RIVER.

8. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE ENGINEER AND CITY REPRESENTATIVE A
MINIMUM OF 48 HOURS PRIOR TO THE PLACEMENT OF CONCRETE OR GROUT.  THE
ENGINEER MUST APPROVE THE FORM WORK AND REINFORCEMENT PRIOR TO
PLACEMENT OF CONCRETE OR GROUT.

9. ALL SAW CUT JOINTS MUST BE COMPLETED WITHIN 24 HOURS OF CONCRETE
PLACEMENT.  ANY CONCRETE SAWN AFTER THIS 24-HOUR PERIOD, WHICH IN THE
OPINION OF THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE HAS EXCESSIVE SHRINKAGE CRACKS,
SHALL BE REMOVED AND REPLACED AT THE CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE.

INSPECTING AND TESTING FRESH GROUT
1. THE GROUT MATERIAL SHALL BE CHECKED AND TESTED THROUGHOUT THE

GROUTING OPERATION AT THE CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE.  SAMPLING OF FRESH
GROUT SHALL BE CONDUCTED IN CONFORMANCE WITH ASTM C172.  FIELD TESTING
WILL BE DETERMINED BY METHODS PRESCRIBED IN ASTM C138.  AT A MINIMUM,
FIELD TESTING SHALL INCLUDE SLUMP, AIR CONTENT, UNIT WEIGHT, TEMPERATURE,
AND COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH CYLINDERS (1 7D, 2 28D, AND 1 HOLD CYLINDER).  A
MINIMUM OF ONE SET OF TEST CYLINDERS SHALL BE CAST FOR EVERY 50 CUBIC
YARDS OF GROUT PLACED.

2. THE ENGINEER SHALL HAVE FREE ACCESS TO ALL PARTS OF THE CONTRACTOR'S
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT UTILIZED FOR MIXING AND PLACING GROUT DURING THE
PERIOD OF THE CONTRACT.   PROPER FACILITIES SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR THE
ENGINEER TO SAMPLE MATERIALS AND VIEW PROCESSES IMPLEMENTED IN THE
MIXING AND PLACING OF GROUT AS WELL AS FOR SECURING GROUT TEST SAMPLES.
ALL TESTS AND INSPECTIONS SHALL BE SO CONDUCTED AS A MINIMUM OF
INTERFERENCE TO THE CONTRACTOR'S OPERATION OCCURS.

3. FOR READY-MIXED GROUT, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FURNISH TO THE ENGINEER A
STATEMENT OF DELIVERY TICKET FOR EACH BATCH DELIVERED TO THE SITE.  THE
TICKET SHALL PROVIDE AS A MINIMUM: WEIGHTS IN POUNDS OF CEMENT,
AGGREGATES (FINE AND COARSE), WATER; WEIGHT IN OUNCES OF AIR-ENTRAINING
AGENT; TIME OF LOADING; AND, THE REVOLUTION COUNTER READING AT THE TIME
BATCHING WAS STARTED.

REVEGETATION NOTES
1. ANY REVEGETATION OR PLANTING SHALL OCCUR WITHIN THE APPROPRIATE

PLANTING WINDOWS AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS.
THIS TIMEFRAME SHOULD NOT EXCEED  14 DAYS AFTER COMPLETION OF FINAL
GRADES.

2. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PLANT THE TYPE OF PLANT MATERIAL AND MIX OF
SPECIES INDICATED FOR EACH PLANTING ZONE.  BOUNDARIES OF PLANTING ZONES
AND LOCATIONS OF TREE AND SHRUB PLANTINGS WILL BE MARKED IN THE FIELD
UPON COMPLETION OF EARTHWORK BY THE CITY'S REPRESENTATIVE AND MAY
VARY FROM THOSE SHOWN ON THE DRAWING DUE TO ACTUAL SITE CONDITIONS.

3. ALL SUITABLE TOPSOIL SHALL BE STOCKPILED DURING CONSTRUCTION AND PLACED
WITHIN THE SEEDED AREAS IN MINIMUM 3-INCH DEPTHS.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN ALL PLANT MATERIAL IN A VIABLE CONDITION UP TO
THE TIME OF PLANTING AND SHALL NOT PLANT DEAD, DISEASED, OR DAMAGED
PLANTS OR SEEDS.

5. NO PLANTING OR SEEDING SHALL OCCUR UNTIL THE AREA HAS BEEN PROPERLY
PREPARED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY REPRESENTATIVE (INCLUDING SOILS BEING
SATURATED AND/OR FLOODED TO APPROPRIATE WATER DEPTHS).

6. PLANT MATERIALS SHALL BE INSTALLED USING STANDARD PRACTICES FOR THE
TYPE OF MATERIAL.  THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBES THE SPECIFIC METHODS TO BE
USED FOR EACH TYPE OF PLANTING:

A. MINIMUM 3-CUBIC-INCH POTTED NURSERY STOCK:  POTTED STOCK OF THE
SPECIES SHOWN FOR EACH ZONE SHALL BE PLANTED RANDOMLY IN STAGGERED
ROWS AT THE SPACING INDICATED.  PLANTS SHALL NOT BE PLANTED COMPLETELY
SUBMERGED.

B. TREES AND SHRUBS:  TREES AND SHRUBS SHALL BE PLANTED AT THE
LOCATIONS SHOWN ON THE PLAN.

C. SEEDING: THE UPPER THREE (3) INCHES (MINIMUM) OF THE AREA TO BE
SEEDED SHALL BE IN A LOOSE AND FRIABLE CONDITION SUITABLE FOR SEEDING. IF
NECESSARY, AREAS TO BE SEEDED WILL BE TILLED TO RELIEVE COMPACTION PRIOR
TO SEEDING.  ONCE SEEDING IS COMPLETE, NO MORE THAN 0.5-INCHES OF SOIL MAY
BE PLACED OVER THE SEED.

7. CONTROL ANY SURFACE FLOW TO ENABLE SEEDING.
8. THE SEED MIXES SPECIFIED SHALL BE DRILL SEEDED IN ALL AREAS.  SEPARATE

SEED BOXES SHALL BE USED AS NEEDED, TO ACCOMMODATE THE SEED SIZES IN
THE MIXTURES.

9. 2 TONS PER ACRE OF STRAW MULCH SHALL BE APPLIED TO SEEDED AREAS
IMMEDIATELY AFTER SEEDING, EXCEPT THAT 1 TON PER ACRE OF STRAW MULCH
SHALL BE APPLIED TO SEEDED WETLAND CREATION AREAS.

10. MULCH SHALL BE CRIMPED OR TACKIFIER APPLIED TO PREVENT MOVEMENT.  IF
TACKIFIER IS USED, IT SHALL BE "M-BINDER" TACKIFIER APPLIED AT A RATE OF 100
POUNDS PER ACRE.

11. ALL PLANTED AND SEEDED AREAS SHALL BE ADEQUATELY WATERED WITHIN 4
HOURS AFTER SEEDING/PLANTING.  THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBES THE
REVEGETATION TO BE COMPLETED BY AREA:

A. TRANSITION AREAS:  A) BROADCAST SEED MIX SPECIFIED, B) APPLY 2 TONS PER
ACRE STRAW MULCH, C) APPLY 100 POUNDS PER ACRE "M-BINDER" TACKIFIER.

B. EXCESS SOIL DISPOSAL AREA AND OTHER UPLAND AREAS:  A) BROADCAST SEED
MIX SPECIFIED, B) APPLY 2 TONS PER ACRE STRAW MULCH, C) CRIMP MULCH TO
SECURE.

WATER CONTROL
1. CONTRACTOR SHALL PREPARE A DEWATERING PLAN TO BE APPROVED BY THE

ENGINEER AND CITY REPRESENTATIVE  PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF ANY
DEWATERING ACTIVITIES.  ALL DEWATERING DISCHARGES MUST BE FILTERED TO
REMOVE EXCESSIVE SEDIMENTS AND MUST BE DISCHARGED ONTO AN
ENERGY-DISSIPATION DEVICE (E.G., PLUNGE POOL, SPLASH PUP, CONCRETE
WEIGHT, OR EQUIVALENT) PRIOR TO DISCHARGE INTO ANY SURFACE WATER.  FISH
OR MUSSELS TRAPPED IN THE DRY AREA MUST BE PROPERLY RELOCATED TO A
DOWNSTREAM SECTION OF THE RIVER BY A DESIGNATED/QUALIFIED INDIVIDUAL.

2. STEPS SHALL BE EMPLOYED THROUGHOUT THE COURSE OF THE PROJECT TO AVOID
THE CREATION OF EXCESSIVE TURBIDITY WHICH MAY DEGRADE WATER QUALITY OR
ADVERSELY AFFECT AQUATIC LIFE.

3. NO WASTEWATER SHALL BE DISCHARGED INTO THE RIVER.
4. PRIOR TO CREATION OF COFFERDAMS OR DIVERTING WATER IN ANY MANNER, THE

CONTRACTOR MUST REVIEW ALL RELEVANT PERMIT CONDITIONS AND INFORM THE
ENGINEER OF THEIR TIMING, METHODS, AND TECHNIQUES FOR WATER CONTROL.

5. THE WATERWAY MAY EXPERIENCE FLOODING AND CHANGES IN WATER LEVEL AT
ANY TIME.  IT IS THE CONTRACTORS RESPONSIBILITY TO MONITOR AND ANTICIPATE
CHANGES AND PLAN ACCORDINGLY.  ANY DAMAGE, LOSSES, PERMIT CONDITION
VIOLATIONS, ETC. AS A RESULT OF FLOODING IN THE WATERWAY IS THE SOLE
RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR.

6. ANY COFFERDAM FAILURE MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ENGINEER AND CITY
REPRESENTATIVE IMMEDIATELY.

7. UNLESS PRIOR APPROVAL HAS BEEN GRANTED, THE CONTRACTOR MUST ONLY
CONSTRUCT AND WORK WITHIN ONE COFFERDAM AT A TIME.

EMERGENCY PLANNING
1. CONTRACTOR SHALL CREATE AND HOLD ON FILE AN EMERGENCY ACTION PLAN.

THAT PLAN MUST INCLUDE CONTACT NUMBERS FOR ALL UTILITIES LOCATED WITHIN
THE PROJECT SITE, IN ADDITION TO PHONE NUMBERS FOR ALL PERMIT AGENCY
PROJECT MANAGERS.

2. THE ENGINEER AND THE OWNER MUST BE NOTIFIED IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING AN
EMERGENCY SITUATION.

3. THE CONTRACTOR MUST BE WELL VERSED IN THE FLOOD CONTINGENCY PLAN AND
ACTION STEPS WITHIN THE PLAN.

OTHER
1. IN THE EVENT AN ITEM IS NOT COVERED IN THE SPECIFICATIONS, THE CONTRACTOR

SHALL NOTIFY THE ENGINEER AND CITY REPRESENTATIVE,  AND THEY MUST
APPROVE ANY ADDITIONS OR MODIFICATIONS TO THE SPECIFICATIONS.

2. ALL WASTE MATERIAL AND/OR EXCESS EXCAVATION NOT USED AS PART OF THE
WORK SHALL BE REMOVED FROM THE JOB SITE AND DISPOSED OF AT ACCEPTABLE
LOCATIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL LOCAL, STATE AND FEDERAL REGULATIONS.

3. THE CONTRACTOR AT ALL TIMES DURING CONSTRUCTION SHALL PROVIDE WARNING
SIGNS, BARRICADES, AND OTHER SAFETY DEVICES (INCLUDING TEMPORARY
FENCING AROUND THE JOB SITE) TO PROTECT PUBLIC SAFETY AND HEALTH IN
COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANUAL ON UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES. G

EN
ER

AL
 N

O
TE

S 
C

O
N

TI
N

U
ED

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET D-10 OF 63

D-10

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

#
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

GENERAL NOTES CONTINUED

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

590

Item 29.



NOTES FROM THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PREPARE A DETAILED SCHEDULE OF WORK WHICH SHALL BE SUBMITTED AT THE
PRECONSTRUCTION CONFERENCE.  THE SCHEDULE SHALL SHOW ANTICIPATED EQUIPMENT AND MATERAIL
DELIVERIES AND COMPLETION OF MAJOR TASKS IN THE PROJECT.

2. DURING CONSTRUCTION OF THIS PROJECT, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE REQUIRED TO COORDINATE THEIR
OPERATIONS WITH THOSE OF OTHER CONTRACTORS WORKING WITHIN THE SAME AREA.

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT DISTURB AREAS OUTSIDE THE CONSTRUCTION LIMITS. THE CONTRACTOR WILL NOT BE
PERMITTED TO PARK, SERVICE VEHICLES   AND EQUIPMENT,  OR  USE  THESE  AREAS  FOR  STORAGE   OF  MATERIALS.

4. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PLACE 6 INCHES OF TOPSOIL OVER ALL SODDING AND SEEDING AREAS DISTURBED BY THE
CONSTRUCTION OF THIS PROJECT. ANY HYDRO MULCHING FOR WINTER STABILIZATION FOR DISTURBED AREAS SHALL BE
CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO THE PROJECT.

5. CONTRACTOR   SHALL MAINTAIN   SERVICE   CONNECTIONS DURING CONSTRUCTION.

6. CONTRACTOR   SHALL USE TESTING EQUIPMENT AND PROCEDURES THAT ARE  ACCEPTABLE  TO  THE  ENGINEER.

7. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR MAKING SURE THAT TRUCKS TRAVELING TO AND FROM THE PROJECT SITE ARE IN
GOOD WORKING ORDER AND DO NOT DROP MATERIAL ONTO THE STREET.

8. IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S Responsibly TO ENSURE THAT ALL STREETS ADJACENT TO THE PROJECT ARE CLEAN ANO FREE
OF MUD ANO DEBRIS GENERATED   FROM  THE  PROJECT..  THIS INCLUDES CLEANING   OF  THE  STREETS   AT  THE  END
OF  EACH  DAY'S  WORK   AND  BEFORE  AN  ANTICIPATED   RAIN EVENT, TO PREVENT MUD AND DEBRIS FROM ENTERING
THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM.

9. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL APPLY NECESSARY MOISTURE TO THE CONSTRUCTION AREA AND HAUL ROADS AT THE
DIRECTION OF THE ENGINEER TO PREVENT THE SPREAD OF DUST.

10. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL GRADES, LINES, LEVELS AND DIMENSIONS AS SHOWN ON THE PLANS AND SHALL
REPORT ANY ERRORS OR INCONSISTENCIES TO THE ENGINEER PRIOR TO COMMENCING WORK.

11. PRIOR TO OPENING AN EXCAVATION, EFFORT SHALL BE MADE TO DETERMINE WHETHER UNDERGROUND INSTALLATIONS,
I.E. , SEWER, WATER, FUEL, ELECTRIC LINES, ETC., WILL BE ENCOUNTERED AND, IF SO, WHERE SUCH UNDERGROUND
INSTALLATIONS ARE LOCATED. WHEN THE EXCAVATION APPROACHES THE APPROXIMATE LOCATIONS OF SUCH AN
INSTALLATION, CAREFUL PROBING OR HAND DIGGING SHALL DETERMINE THE EXACT LOCATIONS, AND WHEN IT IS
UNCOVERED,  ADEQUATE  PROTECTION   SHALL  BE  PROVIDED  FOR  THE  EXISTING  INSTALLATION.  ALL  KNOWN
OWNERS  OF  UNDERGROUND   FACILITIES   IN  THE    AREA CONCERNED SHALL BE ADVISED  OF PROPOSED WORK AT
LEAST 48 HOURS PRIOR TO THE START OF ACTUAL EXCAVATION.

12. PART VI OF THE “ MANUAL ON UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES” (MUTCD) 2009, SHALL APPLY. THE CONTRACTOR
SHALL FURNISH ALL NECESSARY TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES AND THE COST SHALL BE INCIDENTAL TO THE TRAFFIC
CONTROL ITEM ON THIS PROJECT. ALL BARRICADES AND TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES SHALL CONFORM TO THE MOST
CURRENT “ MANUAL ON UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES” AND LATEST SUPPLEMENTALS TO THE STANDARD
SPECIFICATION.S

13. ORANGE MESH SAFETY FENCE SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 2518.02 AND SECTION 4188.03 OF THE
l.D.O.T . SPECIFICATIONS.

14. IT IS THE CONTRACTOR' S Responsibility TO MAINTAIN EXISTING STORM AND SANITARY SEWER SYSTEMS IN AN OPEN AND
FUNCTIONING CONDITION DURING ALL PHASES OF CONSTRUCTION. COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH MAINTAINING EXISTING
SYSTEMS INCLUDING CLEANING, REMOVING DEBRIS AND REPAIRS RESULTING FROM THE CONTRACTOR'S OPERATIONS
WILL BE THE CONTRACTOR'S Responsibility. MATERIAL  STOCKPILES SHALL NOT BLOCK DRAINAGE FLOW

15. SUBMIT PAVEMENT MIX DESIGN FOR ENGINEER APPROVAL.

16. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN SWPPP AT ALL
TIMES

17. THE  URBAN   STANDARD   SPECIFICATIONS  FOR  PUBLIC  IMPROVEMENTS   (SUDAS),   2021  EDITION AND  THE  CURRENT
ClTY  OF  CEDAR  FALLS  SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS TO SUDAS SPECIFICATIONS, SHALL APPLY TO THE
CONSTRUCTION WORK PERFORMED UPON THIS PROJECT.

18. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE A PORTABLE TOILET AT EACH STAGING AREA.

G
EN

ER
AL

 N
O

TE
S 

C
O

N
TI

N
U

ED

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SHEET D-11 OF 63

D-11

SS

 

C
ED

AR
 R

IV
ER

BL
AC

K 
H

AW
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

R
IV

ER
 A

R
EA

 &
 R

IV
ER

BA
N

K 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

22
0 

C
LA

Y 
ST

R
EE

T
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS
, I

A
50

61
3

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
C

ED
AR

 F
AL

LS

#
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PR
O

JE
C

T 
O

W
N

ER
:

DRAWING NO.

DESIGNED:

CHECKED: DRAFTED:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE

PLOT DATE:

8/30/2021

R
IV

ER
W

IS
E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
70

6
D

U
R

AN
G

O
 | 

C
O

 | 
81

30
2

W
W

W
.R

IV
ER

W
IS

E.
O

R
G

D
R

AF
T

GENERAL NOTES CONTINUED

SS, MH, LK, RG
RG

591

Item 29.



1 

 
PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 

FOR 
RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND RIVERBANK 

IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT 

 
Project MC-038-3290 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

 
 

ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATION 

 
 

 

 
I hereby certify that this engineering document was prepared by me or 
under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed 
professional engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 

 
________________________________________  Date: 8/30/2021 
David A. Wicke, P.E.      Iowa License No. 25684 
My license renewal date is December  31, 2022 
 
Pages or sheets covered by this seal: All 

 

 
 

 
 

ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATION 

 
 

 

 
I hereby certify that this engineering document was prepared by me or 
under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed 
professional engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
 
________________________________________  Date: _________ 
Shane A. Sigle, P.E.      Iowa License No. 21194 
My license renewal date is December  31, 2021 
 
Pages or sheets covered by this seal: _____ 

 

 
 
 

592

Item 29.



2 

 
 

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT CERTIFICATION 

 
 

 

 
I hereby certify that this engineering document was prepared by me or 
under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed 
professional engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
 
________________________________________  Date: _________ 
Larry Kurtz      Iowa License No. _________ 
My license renewal date is _______________ 
 
Pages or sheets covered by this seal: _______ 

 

 
 

593

Item 29.



 

2 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
    Page Number 
 
TITLE SHEET  1 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 2-3 
 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 4 
 
NOTICE TO BIDDERS 5-6 
 
DIVISION 1 – Instruction to Bidders 
 

01 Definition and Terms 7 
 02 Qualification of the Bidder 7-8 

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 8 
04 Taxes  8 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 8-9 
Form of Proposal 10-13 
Bid Bond  14  
Bidder Status Form 15 
Authorization to transact business 16 
Non-Collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 17 
Form of Contract 18-19 

 Performance, Payment and Maintenance Bond 20-23 
 Notice to Proceed 24 
 
DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 
 

01 Award of Contract 25 
02 Availability of Site 25 
03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 25 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 25 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 25 
06 Contract Time 26 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 26 
08 Weekly record of Working Days 27 
09 Liquidated Damages 27 
10 Progress Payments and Vouchers 27 
11 Pollution Prevention Plan 37 
12 Method of Measurement 28 
13 Basis of Payment                                                                              28 
14 Permits                                                                              28 
15 Flooding During Construction                                                               29 
16 As-Built Survey                                                               29 

594

Item 29.



 

3 

 

DIVISION 3 – Standard Specifications 
 
The City of Cedar Falls has adopted the 2021 Edition of the STATEWIDE 
URBAN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS 
(SUDAS) as the City’s Standard Specification. 

 
This Standard Specification is amended by the “City of Cedar Falls” 
Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 Edition of SUDAS.  
 
Links to both documents can be found on the City’s website at: 
www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards   

 
DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS - BID ITEMS 30 

595

Item 29.



 

4 

 

 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, 
FORM OF CONTRACT, AND ESTIMATE OF COST FOR THE  

RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT IN THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

TO ALL TAXPAYERS OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND OTHER PERSONS 
INTERESTED: 
 

Public notice is hereby given that the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

will conduct a Public Hearing on Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and Estimated 

Total Cost for the construction of the RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND RIVERBANK 

IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT in said City at 7:00 p.m. on the 20th day of September 2021, 

said meeting to be held in the Council Chambers in the City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar 

Falls, Iowa. 

Said Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and Estimated Total Cost are now on 

file in the office of the City Clerk in the City Hall in Cedar Falls, Iowa, and may be inspected 

by any persons interested. 

Any person interested may appear at said meeting of the City Council for the 

purpose of making objections to said Plans, Specifications, Contract, or Estimated Total 

Cost of making said improvement. 

This notice given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

    By: _______________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC  

City Clerk 

596

Item 29.



 

5 

 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 

RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT 

 
Time and Place for Filing Sealed Proposals: Proposals will only be accepted electronically on the 
Quest CDN website before 2:00 p.m. on the 24th of September, 2021.  
 
Pre-Bid Meeting: Prospective bidders are required to attend a pre-bid meeting at 3pm on 
September 20th, 2021 at Gateway Park adjacent to the Cedar River in downtown Cedar Falls. The 
meeting will take approximately 2 hours and prospective bidders should have a copy of the bid 
documents and drawings for discussion and questions. All bidders must sign in and any bid 
submitted without an authorized representative signing in during the meeting shall be deemed 
incomplete and unacceptable. 
 
Time and Place Sealed Proposals will be Opened and Considered: Sealed proposals will be 
publicly opened online at 2:00 p.m. on the 24th of September, 2021 at www.questcdn.com, for 
consideration by the City of Cedar Falls City Council at its meeting at 7:00 PM on the 4th of October, 
2021, or at such later time and place as may be fixed. The City of Cedar Falls reserves the right to 
reject any and all proposals including without limitation, nonconforming, nonresponsive, 
unbalanced, or conditional bids. 
 
Time for Commencement and Completion of Work: The work under the proposed contract shall 
commence within ten (10) calendar days after the date set forth in the written Notice to Proceed and 
shall be performed regularly and diligently throughout the duration of the project. Contractor shall 
reach substantial completion no later than June 30, 2022 and shall fully complete close-out of the 
project no later than August 1, 2022. In addition, certain structures shall be completed within the 
calendar days specified in the plans. Calendar days allotted for specific closures within certain trails 
shall apply only to each individual trail. A scanned copy of the Bid Bond must be included with the 
online bid submitted at www.questcdn.com. 
 
Bid Security: Each Form of Proposal shall be accompanied by a bid security as defined in the 
Instructions to Bidders- Division 1 Section 05. 
 
Performance and Payment Bonds: The successful Bidder shall furnish to the City a performance 
bond in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price, guaranteeing faithful 
performance of the contract and guaranteeing the completed project against defective workmanship 
and materials for a period of two (2) years from and after completion and acceptance by the City. 
The successful Bidder shall also provide a payment bond in an amount equal to one hundred 
percent (100%) of the contract price guaranteeing payment of all persons supplying labor and 
materials, or both, in the execution of the work provided for in the contract. 
   
Contract Documents: Plans, specifications, and proposal forms have been approved by the City 
Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. Electronic contract 
documents will become available Wednesday, September 8, 2021 at no cost by clicking on the “Bid 
Opportunities” Link at www.cedarfalls.com and choosing the RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND 
RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT from the list. Project information, Engineer’s cost 
opinion, and planholder information is also available at no cost at this website. Downloads require 
the user to register for a free membership at www.questcdn.com. If required, hard copies of the 

597

Item 29.



 

6 

 

project documents may be obtained from the City Engineer’s office, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, 50613. 
 
Contact Matt Tolan for document distribution or any questions via phone: (319) 268-5164, or 
email: Matthew.tolan@cedarfalls.com. QuestCDN reference number 8022790. 
 
Preference for Iowa Products and Labor:  By virtue of statutory authority, a preference will be given 
to products and provisions grown and coal produced within the State of Iowa. 
 
In accordance with Iowa statutes, a resident bidder shall be allowed a preference as against a 
nonresident bidder from a state or foreign country if that state or foreign country gives or requires 
any preference to bidders from that state or foreign country, including but not limited to any 
preference to bidders, the imposition of any type of labor force preference, or any other form of 
preferential treatment to bidders or laborers from that state or foreign country. The preference 
allowed shall be equal to the preference given or required by the state or foreign country in which 
the nonresident bidder is a resident. In the instance of a resident labor force preference, a 
nonresident bidder shall apply the same resident labor force preference to a public improvement in 
this state as would be required in the construction of a public improvement by the state or foreign 
country in which the nonresident bidder is a resident. 
 
Failure to submit a fully completed Bidder Status Form with the bid may result in the bid being 
deemed nonresponsive and rejected. 
 
Sales Tax: Contractors and approved subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 
Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment to be used in the performance of 
this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project shall be exempt from tax as provided 
by Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 423.45. 
 
Project Description: This project involves the construction of seven instream structures and upland 
improvements within, and on the banks, of the Cedar River in Cedar Falls, Iowa.  
 

Published upon order of the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
   CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
   BY: __________________________ 
          Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
           City Clerk 

598

Item 29.



 

7 

 

 
DIVISION I – Instructions to Bidders 

 
The work comprising the RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND RIVERBANK 
IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT shall be constructed in accordance with the 2021 Edition of 
SUDAS and as further modified by the City of Cedar Falls’ Supplemental Specifications and 
the special provision included in the contract documents. The terms used in the contract 
revision of the documents are defined in said Standard Specifications. 
Before submitting your bid, please review the requirements of “Division One, General 
Provisions and Covenants”, in particular the sections regarding proposal requirements, 
bonding, contract execution, and insurance requirements.  Please be certain that all 
documents have been completed properly; as failure to complete and sign all documents and 
to comply with the requirements listed below can cause your bid not to be read. 
 
01 Definition and Terms 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1010 – 1.03: 
 
Code of Iowa: The latest edition of the Code of Iowa 
 
Engineer: The City Engineer of Cedar Falls, Iowa or an authorized representative from 
Riverwise Engineering, LLC (RWE) or Align Architecture and Planning (ALIGN). 
 
Owner: The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa acting through its City Council. 
 
Project: RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 
   Project MC-038-3290 
 
02 Qualification of the Bidder 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.01: 
 
To demonstrate bidder’s qualifications to perform the work, within five days of the Owners 
request, bidder shall submit written evidence such as may be called for below: 
 
The address and description of the bidder’s place of business; The number of years 
engaged in the contracting business under the present firm name, and the name of the 
state where incorporated; A list of the property and equipment available to the bidder to 
evaluate if the bidder can complete the work in accordance with the bidding documents; A 
financial statement of the bidder showing that the bidder has the financial resources to 
meet all obligations incidental to the work; The bidder’s performance record giving the 
description, location, and telephone number of three (3) similar projects constructed in a 
satisfactory manner by the bidder; the similar projects should include water control 
associated with instream structures such as recreational structures, habitat structures, 
bridges, piles, and abutments. A list of projects presently under contract, the approximate 
contract amount and the percent of completion of each; A list of contracts which resulted in 

599

Item 29.



 

8 

 

lawsuits; A list of contracts defaulted; A statement of the bidder indicating whether or not 
the bidder has ever filed bankruptcy while performing work of a like nature or magnitude;  A 
list of officers of the firm who, while in the employ of the firm or the employ of previous 
firms, were associated with contracts which resulted in lawsuits, contracts defaulted or filed 
for bankruptcy; The technical experience of personnel guaranteed to be employed in 
responsible charge of the work stating whether the personnel have or have not performed 
satisfactorily on other contracts of like nature and magnitude or comparable difficulty at 
similar rate of progress; Such additional information as will assist the Owner in determining 
whether the bidder is adequately prepared to fulfill the contract. Owner’s decision as to 
qualifications of the bidder will be final. 
 
The Owner hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that in any contract 
entered into pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be 
afforded full opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be 
discriminated against on the grounds of race, color or national origin in consideration for an 
award. 
 
03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.02: 
 
Plans, specifications, and proposal forms may be obtained from www.questcdn.com or 
from the office of the City Engineer. Plans, specifications, and proposal forms have been 
approved by the City Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the 
City Clerk. 
 
04 Taxes 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.08: 
 
Contractors and approved subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 
Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment to be used in the 
performance of this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project will be 
exempt from tax as provided by Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 423.45. 
 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.12: 
 
The bid security must be in the minimum amount of 10% of the total bid amount including all 
add alternates (do not deduct the amount of deduct alternates). The bid security shall be in 
the form of a cashier's check or certified check drawn on a state-chartered or federally 
chartered bank, or a certified share draft drawn on a state-chartered or federally chartered 
credit union, or a bidder's bond with corporate surety satisfactory to the City. The bid bond 
must be submitted on the enclosed Bid Bond form, as no other bid bond forms are 
acceptable.  All signatures on the bid bond must be original signatures in ink; facsimile (fax) 
of any signature on the bid bond is not acceptable.  Bid security other than said bid bond shall 

600

Item 29.



 

9 

 

be made payable to City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls”. 
 
“Miscellaneous Bank checks”, as well as “Money Orders” and “Traveler’s Checks” issued by 
persons, firms or corporations licensed under Code of Iowa Chapter 533B are not acceptable 
bid security. 
 
The bid shall be submitted on the Form of Proposal included herewith or on a computer 
printed proposal. All entries on this proposal shall be filled in ink, typed or computer printed. 
The bidder shall not alter the quantity, unit price or the extension that has been provided for 
items that have been predetermined by the contracting authority. 
 
If the proposal is computer generated, the bidder shall submit a form titled as “Form of 
Proposal,” followed by: the project name, project number, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa and 
the bidder's name. The form shall then include the item numbers, item descriptions, and 
units and their quantities. The bidder shall specify a unit price in figures of dollars and cents 
for all pay items, the extensions for the respective unit prices and quantities in figures in a 
column provided for the purpose, and the total amount of the proposal obtained by adding 
the amounts of the several items. The form shall then conclude with the bidder's name, that 
of its representative and the representative's signature. 
 
Proposals will only be accepted electronically on the Quest CDN website before 2:00 p.m. 
on the 24th of September, 2021. The QuestCDN eBid Doc# is 8022790. 

 
 

601

Item 29.



 

10 

 

FORM OF PROPOSAL 
RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS 

PROJECT PROJECT NO. MC-038-3290 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
 
To the Mayor and City Council 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
The undersigned hereby certifies that __________________________ have personally and 

carefully examined the specifications, general conditions, and form of contract annexed 

hereto. Having made such examination, the undersigned hereby proposes to construct the 

improvements for the RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND RIVERBANK 

IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT in accordance with the plans and specifications on file in the 

office of the City Clerk, the published Notice to Bidders and the Form of Contract, herewith, 

complying with all the laws of the State of Iowa, and the Rules, Regulations and 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, and to the satisfaction of the City Council of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including the guaranteeing of this Project for a period of two (2) years 

from the date of final acceptance thereof at the following prices, to-wit: 

Cedar River Recreational Improvements Project 
 Cedar River, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

Bid Proposal 

  

Item 
Number 

Description 
Estimated 
Quantity 

Unit 
Unit 
Price 

Item Total 
Price  

1 Mobilization 1 Lump Sum     

2 Silt Fencing 1500 Linear Feet     

3 Straw Waddle 300 Linear Feet     

4 Cofferdam Installation and Removal 7 Lump Sum     

5 River Right Access Road 1 Lump Sum     

Structure #2- Put-in River Right 

602

Item 29.



 

11 

 

6 
Boulder Fill: Includes excavation/fill, 
placement, grouting, and backfill. 

155 
Cubic Yards 

Grouted Rock 
    

 

7 Concrete - low flow 35 
Cubic Yards 

Concrete 
    

 

8 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8" cobble 233 Cubic Yards     

Structure #3 

9 
Boulder Fill: Includes excavation/fill, 
placement, grouting, and backfill. 

140 
Cubic Yards 

Grouted Rock 
    

 

10 Concrete- low flow 22 
Cubic Yards 

Concrete 
    

 

11 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8" cobble 105 Cubic Yards     

Structure #4 

12 
Boulder Fill: Includes excavation/fill, 
placement, grouting, and backfill. 

56 
Cubic Yards 

Grouted Rock 
    

 

13 Concrete- low flow 35 
Cubic Yards 

Concrete 
    

 

14 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8" cobble 28 Cubic Yards     

Structure #5 

15 
Boulder Fill: Includes excavation/fill, 
placement, grouting, and backfill. 

148 
Cubic Yards 

Grouted Rock 
    

 

16 Concrete- low flow 28 
Cubic Yards 

Concrete 
    

 

17 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8" cobble 369 Cubic Yards     

Structure #6- Take-out River Right 

18 
Boulder Fill: Includes excavation/fill, 
placement, grouting, and backfill. 

320 
Cubic Yards 

Grouted Rock 
    

 

19 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8" cobble 300 Cubic Yards     

Structure #7- Clay Hole Safety and Recreational Improvements 

20 
Boulder Fill: Includes excavation/fill, 
placement, grouting, and backfill. 

157 
Cubic Yards 

Grouted Rock 
    

21 Concrete- low flow 115 
Cubic Yards 

Concrete 
    

 

22 Concrete Demolition, Removal,  and Shaping 1 Lump Sum     

23 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8" cobble 393 Cubic Yards     

Structure #8- Take-out River Left 

24 
Boulder Fill: Includes excavation/fill, 
placement, grouting, and backfill. 

30 
Cubic Yards 

Grouted Rock 
    

 

25 Concrete- low flow 28 
Cubic Yards 

Concrete 
    

 

26 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8" cobble 45 Cubic Yards     

Miscellaneous 

27 Large Random Boulders, 7' Diameter 23 Each     

28 Boat Ramp Terracing 393 
Cubic Yards 

Grouted Rock 
    

 

29 Boat Ramp Area Trails 7 
Cubic Yards 

Concrete 
    

 

603

Item 29.



 

12 

 

30 Miscellaneous Equipment Hours 200 hours     

31 Northeast Parking Lot Repair- Seal Coat 4000 Square Yards     

Upland  

32 Concrete/Rebar River Clean up 1 Lump Sum     

33 Concrete Mowbands 820 Linear Feet    

34 Removal of Concrete Bike Trail 3,100 Square Feet     

35 New Concrete Bike Trail 3,400 Square Feet    

36 Upland Path (6’ wide w/curbs) 6,000 Square Feet    

37 Shoreline Path (4’& 5’ wide w/curbs) 3,200 Linear Feet    

38 Seal Chute 1 Lump Sum    

39 Specialty Stone @ Upper Plaza 120 Tons   

40 Stone Seat Wall @ Upper Plaza 56 Tons   

41 Upper Terrace Concrete  1,830 Square Feet    

42 Synthetic Turf 1 Lump Sum    

43 Lower Terrace Concrete (turtle) 1,250 Square Feet    

44 Stone Bank Reinforcement 1,643 Tons    

45 Wood Bridges 3 Each    

46 Existing Features Relocation (bollard lights) 3 Each   

47 Signage  4 large& 5 small 9 Each   

48 Parking Lot Repair-Seal Coat 4,300 Square Yards     
49 Add Shower to Shoreline 1 Each     
50 Benches 3 Each     
51 Planting (Rip Rap re-use planting pockets) 1,973 Square Feet     
52 Planting, Trees, Shrubs, Lawns & Seeding 1 Lump Sum     
53 Irrigation  1 Lump Sum     

            

Base Bid Total  

Alt. No. 
1 

Lighting at Trees and Bridge 1 Lump Sum     
 

Alt. No. 
2 

River Demobilization 1 Each     
 

Alt. No. 
3 

Project Demobilization 1 Each     
 

Base Bid Plus Alternates #1-3 Total  

 
Bidders may not independently bid on selective items of work except Alternate Number 1 
which is not a required item. Alternates Number 2 and 3 must be bid on but may not be 
required during construction. In this project, all other items constitute one indivisible work 
that will be let to one bidder. A unit price shall be submitted for each of the items (Items 1-
53 excluding Alternate Number 1). The successful bidder will be determined by evaluating 
the Total Bid shown above. Failure to submit a bid on any item (except Alternate Number 1) 
shall be just cause for disqualification of the entire proposal. Unit bids must be entered 

604

Item 29.



 

13 

 

digitally on the QuestCDN proposal. In addition the remainder of the Form of Proposal is to 
be filled in ink. The Owner reserves the right to delete any part or all of any item. 
 
Item #30 in the bid form is labeled “Miscellaneous Equipment Hours”. This task may, or 
may not be included in the project. The contractor must gain written approval from the 
engineer prior to billing under this task. 
 
The Owner reserves the right to reject any and all bids, including without limitation, 
nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional bids. The Owner further 
reserves the right to reject the bid of any bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inquiry and 
evaluation, to be non-responsible. The Owner may also reject the bid of any bidder if the 
Owner believes that it would not be in the best interest of the project to make an award to 
that bidder. The Owner also reserves the right to waive all informalities not involving price, 
time or changes in the work. 
 

If written notice of approval of award is mailed, telegraphed or delivered to the undersigned 
within thirty (30) calendar days after the opening thereof, or any time thereafter before this 
bid is withdrawn, the undersigned agrees to execute and deliver an agreement in the 
prescribed form and furnish the required bond within ten (10) calendar days after the 
Contract is presented to the Contractor for signature, and start work within ten (10) 
calendar days after the date as set forth in the written Notice to Proceed. 
 

Bid Security in the sum of _________________________________ in the form of 
__________________________________, is submitted herewith in accordance with the 
Instructions to Bidders. 
 

The bidder is prepared to submit a financial and experience statement upon request. 
 

The bidder has received the following Addendum or Addenda: 
 

Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
  ______________ _____________ 
 

The bidder has filled in all blanks on this Proposal. 
 

Note: The Penalty for making false statements in offers is prescribed in 18 U.S.A., Section 
1001. 
 
Name of bidder 
________________________________  _____________________________ 

   By 
________________________________  _____________________________  
Official Address   Title  

605

Item 29.



 

14 

 

BID BOND 
 

 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, ___________________________________________ 
__________________________, as Principal, and ___________________________________________ 
as Surety are held and firmly bound unto the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as Obligee, hereinafter called "OBLIGEE," In the 
penal sum of______________________________________ Dollars ($______________) lawful money of the United 
States, for the payment of which sum will and truly be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, and 
successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. Whereas the Principal has submitted the accompanying bid 
dated the _______ day of_______________________, 20_____, for ______________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________________________________. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, 
 
(a) If said Bid shall be rejected, or in the alternate, 
 
(b) If said Bid shall be accepted and the Principal shall execute and deliver a contract in the form specified and shall 

furnish a bond for the faithful performance of said contract, and for the payment of all persons performing labor 
or furnishing materials in connection therewith, and shall in all other respects perform the agreement created by 
the acceptance of said Bid, 

 
Then this obligation shall be void, otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect; it being expressly understood and 
agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all claims hereunder shall, in no event, exceed the penal amount of this 
obligation as herein stated. 
 
By virtue of statutory authority, the full amount of this bid bond shall be forfeited to the Obligee in liquidation of damages 
sustained in the event that the Principal fails to execute the contract and provide the bond as provided in the 
specifications or by law. 
 
The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said Surety and its bond shall be in 
no way impaired or affected by any extension of the time within which the Obligee may accept such Bid or execute such 
contract; and said Surety does hereby waive notice of any such extension. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and the Surety, have hereunto set their hands and seals, and such of them as 
are corporations, have caused their corporate seals to be hereto affixed and these presents to be signed by their proper 
officers this ______ day of ____________________, A.D., 20_____. 
 
 
 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Principal 

 
 
_______________________________________ By_______________________________ (Title) 
Witness 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Surety 

 
_______________________________________ By____________________________________ 
Witness                                  Attorney-in-fact 

606

Item 29.



 

15 

 

607

Item 29.



 

16 

 

608

Item 29.



 

17 

 

                 NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT OF PRIME BIDDER           
 PROJECT NO. MC-038-3290 

 
STATE OF _______________________  

                           ss 
COUNTY OF _____________________ 
 
 
__________________________________, being first duly sworn, deposes and says that: 
 
(1)  We are _______________________________________________________ of ______________       
     (Owner, partner, officer, representative, or agent) 
 
_____________________________, the Bidder that has submitted the attached bid: 
 
(2)  We are fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached bid and of all pertinent 
circumstances respecting such bid: 
 
(3)   Such bid is genuine and is not a collusive or sham bid: 
 
(4)  Neither the said Bidder nor any of its officers, partners, Owners, agents, representatives, employees 
or parties in interest, including this affiant, has in any way colluded, conspired, connived or agreed, directly or 
indirectly, with any other Bidder, firm or person to submit a collusive or sham bid in connection with the 
Contract for which the attached bid has been submitted or to refrain from bidding in connection with such 
Contract, or has in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or collusion or communication or 
conference with any other Bidder, firm or person to fix the price or prices in the attached bid or of any other 
Bidder, or, to fix any overhead, profit or cost element of the bid price of any other Bidder, or to secure through 
any collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement any advantage against the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, or any person interested in the proposed Contract; and 
 
(5)   The price or prices quoted in the attached bid are fair and proper and are not tainted by a collusion, 
conspiracy, connivance or unlawful agreement on the part of the Bidder or any of its agents, representatives, 
Owners, employees or parties in interest, including this affiant. 
 
 
 
   __________________________________________ 

Signed      
  __________________________________________ 

    Title 
 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me 
 
this _______ day of ________________, 20_____ 
 
________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________ 
Title 
 
My Commission expires ______________________. 

609

Item 29.



 

18 

 

 

FORM OF CONTRACT 
 

This Contract entered into in quadruplicate at Cedar Falls, Iowa, this ____ day of 

_________, 2021, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter called the 

Owner, and_____________ of ___________________, hereinafter called the Contractor. 

WITNESSETH: 

The Contractor hereby agrees to furnish all labor, tools, materials and equipment 

and construct the public improvement consisting of: RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND 

RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT, project number MC-038-3290 all in the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, ordered to be constructed by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, by Resolution duly passed on the 7th day of September, 2021, and shown and 

described in the Plans and Specifications therefore now on file with the City Clerk of said 

City. 

Said improvement shall be constructed strictly in accordance with said Plans and 

Specifications. 

The following parts of the Plans and Specifications for said Project No. MC-038-3290 

attached hereto shall be made a part of this contract as fully as though set out herein 

verbatim: 

a. Resolution ordering construction of the improvement 
b. Plans 
c. Notice of Public Hearing on Plans and Specifications 
d. Notice to Bidders 
e. Instructions to Bidders 
f. Supplemental Conditions 
g. General Conditions 
h. Project Specifications 
i. Form of Proposal 
j. Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond 
k. Form of Contract 

610

Item 29.



 

19 

 

l. Non-collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 
 m. Bidders Status Form 
 
 
In Witness whereof, this Contract has been executed in quadruplicate on the date first  
 
herein written.   
 

 __________________________ 
 Contractor 

 
 
    CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
    By____________________________ 

    Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: _________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
 City Clerk 

611

Item 29.



 

20 

 

Performance, Payment and Maintenance Bond 
 

SURETY  BOND NO.           
 

 
 KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: 
  
 That we, __________________________, as Principal (hereinafter the “Contractor” or “Principal” and 
____________________________________________________ as Surety are held and firmly bound unto 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, as Obligee (hereinafter referred to as “the Owner”), and to all persons who 
may be injured by any breach of any of the conditions of this Bond in the penal sum of 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
($_______________), lawful money of the United States, for the payment of which sum, well and truly to be 
made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, legal representatives and assigns, jointly or severally, firmly by these 
presents. 
  
 The conditions of the above obligations are such that whereas said Contractor entered into a contract with the 
Owner, bearing date the _______ day of __________, 2021, hereinafter the “Contract”) wherein said Contractor 
undertakes and agrees to construct the following described improvements: 
 

RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 
Project Number MC-038-3290 

 
and to faithfully perform all the terms and requirements of said Contract within the time therein specified, in a 
good and workmanlike manner, and in accordance with the Contract Documents.   
 
It is expressly understood and agreed by the Contractor and Surety in this bond that the following provisions are 
a part of this Bond and are binding upon said Contractor and Surety, to-wit: 
 
1. PERFORMANCE:  The Contractor shall well and faithfully observe, perform, fulfill, and abide by   each 

and every covenant, condition, and part of said Contract and Contract Documents, by reference made a 
part hereof, for the above referenced improvements, and shall indemnify and save harmless the Owner 
from all outlay and expense incurred by the Owner by reason of the Contractor’s default or failure to 
perform as required.  The Contractor shall also be responsible for the default or failure to perform as 
required under the Contract and Contract Documents by all its subcontractors, suppliers, agents, or 
employees furnishing materials or providing labor in the performance of the Contract. 

     
 2. PAYMENT:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agreed to pay all just claims submitted 

by persons, firms, subcontractors, and corporations furnishing materials for or performing labor in the 
performance of the Contract on account of which this Bond is given, including but not limited to claims 
for all amounts due for labor, materials, lubricants, oil, gasoline, repairs on machinery, equipment, and 
tools, consumed or used by the Contractor or any subcontractor, wherein the same are not satisfied out of 
the portion of the contract price the Owner is required to retain until completion of the improvement, but 
the Contractor and Surety shall not be liable to said persons, firms, or corporations unless the claims of 
said claimants against said portion of the contract price shall have been established as provided by law.  
The Contractor and Surety hereby bind themselves to the obligations and conditions set forth in Chapter 
573 of the Iowa Code, which by this reference is made a part hereof as though fully set out herein. 

     
    3. MAINTENANCE:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agree, at their own expense: 
 

612

Item 29.



 

21 

 

A. To remedy any and all defects that may develop in or result from work to be performed 
under the Contract within the period of   2   year (s) from the date of acceptance of 
the work under the Contract, by reason of defects in workmanship or materials used in 
construction of said work; 

 
   B. To keep all work in continuous good repair; and 
 
   C. To pay the Owner’s reasonable costs of monitoring and inspection to assure that any defects 

are remedied, and to repay the Owner all outlay and expense incurred as a result of 
Contractor’s and Surety’s failure to remedy any defect as required by this section. 

 
Contractor’s and Surety’s agreement herein made extends to defects in workmanship or 
materials not discovered or known to the Owner at the time such work was accepted. 
 
 4. GENERAL:  Every Surety on this Bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the contrary 
notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 
 
   A. To consent without notice to any extension of time to the Contractor in which to perform 

the Contract; 
 
   B.  To consent without notice to any change in the Contract or Contract Documents, which 

thereby increases the total contract price and the penal sum of this bond, provided that all 
such changes do not, in the aggregate, involve an increase of more than 20% of the total 
contract price, and that this bond shall then be released as to such excess increase; and  

 
    C. To consent without notice that this Bond shall remain in full force and effect until the 

Contract is completed, whether completed within the specified contract period, within an 
extension thereof, or within a period of time after the contract period has elapsed and the 
liquidated damage penalty is being charged against the Contractor. 

 
The Contractor and every Surety on the bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the contrary 
notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 
 
        D. That no provision of this Bond or of any other contract shall be valid that limits to     less 

than five years after the acceptance of the work under the Contract the right to sue on this 
Bond. 

     
        E. That as used herein, the phrase “all outlay and expense” is not to be limited in any way, but 

shall include the actual and reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Owner including 
interest, benefits, and overhead where applicable.  Accordingly, “all outlay and expense” 
would include but not be limited to all contract or employee expense, all equipment usage 
or rental, materials, testing, outside experts, attorney’s fees (including overhead expenses of 
the Owner’s staff attorneys), and all costs and expenses of litigation as they are incurred by 
the Owner.  It is intended the Contractor and Surety will defend and indemnify the Owner 
on all claims made against the Owner on account of Contractor’s failure to perform as 
required in the Contract and Contract Documents, that all agreements and promises set forth 
in the Contract and Contract Documents, in approved change orders, and in this Bond will 
be fulfilled, and that the Owner will be fully indemnified so that it will be put into the 
position it would have been in had the Contract been performed in the first instance as 
required. 

613

Item 29.



 

22 

 

     
In the event the Owner incurs any “outlay and expense” in defending itself against any claim 
as to which the Contractor or Surety should have provided the defense, or in the enforcement 
of the promises given by the Contractor in the Contract, Contract Documents, or approved 
change orders, or in the enforcement of the promises given by the Contractor and Surety in 
this Bond, the Contractor and Surety agree that they will make the Owner whole for all such 
outlay and expense, provided that the Surety’s obligation under this bond shall not exceed 
125% of the penal sum of this bond. 

  
In the event that any actions or proceedings are initiated regarding this Bond, the parties agree that the venue 
thereof shall be in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk County, State of Iowa.  If legal action is required by 
the Owner to enforce the provisions of this Bond or to collect the monetary obligation incurring to the benefit of 
the Owner, the Contractor and the Surety agree, jointly, and severally, to pay the Owner all outlay and expense 
incurred therefor by the Owner.  All rights, powers, and remedies of the Owner hereunder shall be cumulative 
and not alternative and shall be in addition to all rights, powers, and remedies given to the Owner, by law.  The 
Owner may proceed against surety for any amount guaranteed hereunder whether action is brought against the 
Contractor or whether Contractor is joined in any such action(s) or not. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the condition of this obligation is such that if said Principal shall faithfully perform all the 
promises of the Principal, as set forth and provided in the Contract, in the Contract Documents, and in this Bond, 
then this obligation shall be null and void, otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
When a work, term, or phrase is used in this Bond, it shall be interpreted or construed first as defined in this 
Bond, the Contract, or the Contract Documents; second, if not defined in the Bond, Contract, or Contract 
Documents, it shall be interpreted or construed as defined in applicable provisions of the Iowa Code; third, if not 
defined in the Iowa Code, it shall be interpreted or construed according to its generally accepted meaning in the 
construction industry; and fourth, if it has no generally accepted meaning in the construction industry, it shall be 
interpreted or construed according to its common or customary usage. 
 
Failure to specify or particularize shall not exclude terms or provisions not mentioned and shall not limit liability 
hereunder.  The Contract and Contract Documents are hereby made a part of this Bond. 
 
 

614

Item 29.



 

23 

 

         Project No. MC-038-3290 
 

Witness our hands, in triplicate, this _______ day of ____________, 2021. 
 
  Surety Countersigned By:                                PRINCIPAL: 
 
     ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
      Signature of Agent                 Contractor 
  
 
 By:    _________________________________  
                                      Signature 
     ___________________________________                   _________________________________          
                  Printed Name of Agent                       Title 
 
 ___________________________________  SURETY: 
                          Company Name           
 
 ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
                        Company Address                                       Surety Company 
 
 ___________________________________   By:    _________________________________ 
                        City, State, Zip Code                                             Signature Attorney-in-Fact Officer 
 
 ______________________________________    ____________________________________ 
                  Company Telephone Number                               Printed Name of Attorney-in-Fact Officer 
 
                                                                                            _________________________________ 
                            Company Name 
 
                                                                                         _________________________________ 
                                                Company Address 

  FORM APPROVED BY: 
                                                                                                             _________________________________ 
                     City, State, Zip Code 
 
 ________________________________________________    _____________________________________________ 
                         Attorney for Owner                                                              Company Telephone Number 
 
 

 
NOTE: 
  
 1. All signatures on this performance, payment, and maintenance bond must be original signatures in 

ink; copies, facsimile, or electronic signatures will not be accepted. 
 2.  This bond must be sealed with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 
 3. The Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond must be valid on its face and sealed 

with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 
 4. The name and signature of the Surety’s Attorney-in-Fact/Officer entered on this bond must be 

exactly as listed on the Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond. 
 

 
 

615

Item 29.



 

24 

 

NOTICE TO PROCEED 
To:_____________________   Date:_____________________________ 
 
     _____________________    Project: RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA    
                                     AND RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 
        MC-038-3290 
     _____________________     Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
You are herby notified to commence WORK in accordance with the 
Agreement dated ________, 2021, within ten (10) calendar days of 
_______, 2021 and you are to complete the WORK as follows: furnish all 
labor, material, and equipment necessary for construction of the 
RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT 
 
The work under the proposed contract shall commence within ten (10) 
calendar days after the date set forth in this written Notice to Proceed and 
shall be performed regularly and diligently through the duration of the 
project. 
 
Milestone No. 1: 
In-river work as indicated on the project plans shall be substantially 
completed by March 15, 2022. In river work not completed by this 
milestone No. 1 date will be assessed liquidated damages in the amount of 
one thousand five hundred ($1,500) dollars per calendar day for each day 
in-river work is incomplete. 
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of one thousand ($1,500) dollars per 
calendar day will be assessed for each calendar day for each Structure that 
is not substantially complete after the expiration of the contract time set 
forth. Liquidated damages in the amount of one thousand ($1,500) dollars 
per calendar day will be assessed for each calendar day that any work 
remains uncompleted after June 30, 2022 (substantial completion) 
regardless of the status of previous projects. Substantial completion shall 
mean that the stages are fully open to the general public with minor work 
(e.g. watering) to be completed without requiring closures. Contractor shall 
reach substantial completion no later than June 30, 2022 and shall fully 
complete the close-out process no later than August 1, 2022. If remaining 
punchlist items remain after August 1, 2022, liquidated damages will go 

616

Item 29.



 

25 

 

into effect in the amount of one thousand ($1,500.00) dollars per calendar 
day until completed. 
    City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
    Owner 
    By______________ 
    Title_____________ 
       

617

Item 29.



 

26 

 

DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 
 

 
Special Provisions are intended to amend or supplement the General Provisions and 
Covenants of the SUDAS Standard Specifications. All sections that are not amended or 
supplemented remain in full force and effect. 
 
01 Award of Contract 
 
The lowest responsive bidder shall be required to furnish a performance, payment and 
maintenance bond in the sum equal to one hundred (100%) percent of the total bid. The 
maintenance bond shall guarantee the maintenance of the improvements for a period of 
two (2) years from and after its completion and acceptance by the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
02 Availability of Site 
 
During construction of this project, the Contractor shall be required to coordinate all 
operations with those of other Contractors working within the same area of the following 
projects and/or events: 
 

1) Cedar Falls Utilities Gas Main and Water Main Replacement Projects 
2) UNI Homecoming – October 15, 2021 

 
 
03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Engineer at least 48 hours prior to the need for survey 
stakes and be responsible for all surveying during construction and as-built surveys. 
 
 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 
 
It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide waste areas or disposal sites for excess 
material which is not desirable to be incorporated in the work involved on this project 
(excavation or broken concrete). No payment for overhaul will be allowed for material 
hauled to these sites. The Engineer shall review all proposed disposal sites and determine 
the acceptability of each. Overhaul will not be measured or paid for but will be considered 
incidental to concrete removal or excavation on this project. 
 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 
 
The Contractor's own organization shall perform work amounting to not less than thirty five 
(35%) percent of the total contract cost unless otherwise specified. Item designated as a 
specialty item may be performed by subcontract, and the cost of any such specialty item as 
performed by subcontract may be deducted from the total cost before computing the 
amount of work required by the Contractor's organization.  

618

Item 29.



 

27 

 

 
06 Contract Time 
 
The work on the Contract shall commence ten calendar days after the date set forth in the 
written Notice to Proceed and shall be completed within the dates set forth in the written 
Notice to Proceed. 
 
The Contractor will be limited to staging and access roads as noted in the drawings and 
shall not access or stage in different locations unless approval is gained by federal, state, 
and local permitting agencies and updated stormwater protection plans are provided and 
approved by aforementioned agencies. 
 
The design team would prefer the structures are built in downstream to upstream order. 
This allows for product testing and assurance of valuable whitewater at each structure. 
 
Contractor should include fees for testing of each structure and possible modifications. 
Testing at each structure includes construction, partial breaching of the cofferdam and 
release of at least 80% of the available water, instream testing by RWE representative 
taking 1-3 hours, replacement of the cofferdam, and minor modifications as needed to 
enhance performance. 
 
Minor modifications may include, but not be limited to, addition or subtraction of up to 20 
cubic yards of rock and/or grout. Any additional material excavated and/or added will be 
paid at the unit prices noted in the bid and contractor must receive written approval prior 
to completion of this work. 
 
Contractor is responsible for providing at least one week notice for observations 
performed by the engineers noted above during key portions of each structure. Key 
portions are defined as construction of the subgrade and low flow areas of each structure 
plus the wing area interfacing with the low flow. 
 
During construction of Structure #8, the contractor may close the portion of the bike trail 
between the North staging area and a sufficient distance downstream of the First Street 
Bridge (as shown on Sheet C-06 and C-09) for a period of three weeks maximum. Closure 
of the trail exceeding the three week period shall be considered work not completed and 
subject to the terms noted in: 09     Liquidated Damages. 
 
Cold weather protection, as noted within the drawing notes and SUDAS is incidental and 
should be included as necessary in the bid.  
 
 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 
 
The progress of the work shall be such that at the expiration of one-fourth of the working 
days, one-eighth of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of one-half of the working 
days, three-eighths of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of three-fourths of the 
working days, the work shall be three-fourths completed, and the whole work shall be 
completed at the expiration of the working days. 
 

619

Item 29.



 

28 

 

 
08 Weekly Record of Calendar Days 
 
Work shall not begin before 7:00 a.m. and shall stop at sunset. Work on Sundays and 
Holidays shall only be allowed after prior written approval by the Engineer. 
 
09 Liquidated Damages 
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of one thousand ($1,500.00) dollars per working day will 
be assessed for the work not completed within the designated contract term as described in 
the Notice to Proceed. 
 
10 Progress Payments and Vouchers 
 
Pay estimates will be submitted to the City Council for approval on the First and Third 
Mondays of each month. 
 
Payment to the Contractor will be made in cash from such cash funds of said City as may 
be legally used for said purposes, including the proceeds of the Local Option Tax and 
General Obligation Bonds. Any other combination of funds may be used at the discretion of 
the City Council. 
 
See Division 2 – Special Provisions Section 06- Contract time for liquidated damages for 
Intermediate working days. 
 
Before final payment is made, the Contractor shall furnish vouchers showing that all 
subcontractors and all persons furnishing labor and materials have been fully paid for such 
materials and labor and that the City may retain the last month's payment for a period of 
ninety (90) calendar days following such completion and approval, unless satisfied that 
material and laborers have been paid in full. 
 
11 Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan, Management 
 
Attached to the end of these project specifications is the Stormwater Pollution Prevention 
Plan for the RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT This document lays out the requirements for the Contractor to assist the City in 
maintaining compliance with the General Permit No. 2.  
 
The Owner is to insure compliance with the Pollution Prevention Plan and will review 
regular inspections carried out by the Contractor. Contractor designated and qualified 
personnel will inspect disturbed areas of the construction site that have not reached “final 
stabilization” at least once every seven (7) calendar days. Contractor will be responsible for 
executing the Plan towards the goal of a stabilized site. Owner will make determination of 
Contractors compliance with the plan and may direct additional measures to be taken by 
any Contractor. When a plan deficiency or the occurrence of a pollutant entering the 
drainage system is observed, corrective action shall be taken. The Pollution Prevention 

620

Item 29.



 

29 

 

Plan will be revised and modifications made to the control facilities as needed. Intermittent 
reports based on site observation will be made and will become part of the pollution 
prevention plan. A final report and Notice of Discontinuation will be filed 30 days after final 
stabilization of the project has occurred. 
 

N.P.D.E.S. CERTIFICATION 
PROJECT NO. MC-038-3290 

Contractor certifies under penalty of law that they understand the terms and conditions of the 
general National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit that authorizes the storm 
water discharges associated with industrial activity from the construction site as part of this 
certification. Further, by signing and entering into contract for this work, the contractor understands 
that they are becoming a co-permittee, along with the owner(s) and other contractors and 
subcontractors, to the Iowa Department of Natural Resources NPDES General Permit No. 2 for 
“Storm Water Discharge Associated with Industrial Activity for Construction Activities” at the 
identified site. As co-permittee, the contractor understands that they and their company are legally 
required under the Clean Water Act and the Code of Iowa, to ensure compliance with the terms and 
conditions of the Storm Pollution Prevention Plan developed under this NPDES permit and the 
terms of this NPDES permit. 
 
12  METHOD OF MEASUREMENT 
 
The Engineer will measure the items of work that have been acceptably constructed as 
specified in the contract documents for the RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND 
RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT in accordance with the 2021 Edition of the 
SUDAS and as further modified by the City of Cedar Falls’ Supplemental Specifications. 
 
13 BASIS OF PAYMENT 
 
Payment for the items listed in the Method of Measurement shall be determined by 
multiplying the item quantity (as determined in the Method of Measurement) by the unit 
price as bid on the proposal form in accordance with the 2021 edition of the SUDAS as 
amended by the City of Cedar Falls’ Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 edition of the 
SUDAS, except as amended or supplemented as follows: 
 
14 PERMITS 
 
Contractor is responsible for having all relevant permits on-site and available at all times 
for inspection and must follow all permit conditions. Relevant permits include, but are 
not limited to: 

 US Army Corps of Engineers 404 and 408 Permit Number CEMVR-OD-P-
2020_1140 

 State 401 Water Quality Certification No. 20-1-013-09-02-S 
 Iowa DNR Tracking Number 88965 
 Floodplain Development Permit Number 88965FP-01 
 Section 408 Request Number 408-MVR-2020-0009 
 City of Cedar Falls Floodplain Permit # 21-3439-FLDP 
 City of Cedar Falls Stormwater Pollution Prevention Permit #IA-38536-38175 

621

Item 29.



 

30 

 

 
A copy of all relevant permits are included in the bid package for review and reference. 
The contractor is responsible for the permit conditions, construction of structures as noted 
in the drawings, and water control as noted in the drawings. Please refer to the final 
design drawings for design. If there are discrepancies between the 404 drawings and the 
final design drawings, contractor is required to contact RWE for additional guidance. 
 
15 FLOODING DURING CONSTRUCTION 
 
Contractor should follow the Flood Contingency Plan dated August 2021 and completed 
by RWE. The plan outlines the cofferdam and haul road procedures, elevations, and 
demolition procedures recommended by RWE.  
 
If the contractor is forced to demolish cofferdams and/or haul roads, Owner and 
Engineer shall be notified and a plan presented for approval. If all parties are in 
agreement, it shall be considered a River Demobilization. A River Demobilization may 
include, but is not limited to, a single removal of all machinery from the river, demolition 
of existing cofferdams and haul roads, and grading to return cofferdammed areas and 
haul roads to original grades. Contractor will be paid as agreed to in the Bid Proposal 
Item Alt. No. 2. This also includes the cost to remobilize materials and equipment, and 
re-establish cofferdams and haul roads after the flooding event. 
 
If the contractor is forced to demobilize one or both staging areas, Owner and Engineer 
shall be notified and a plan presented for approval. The south staging area is unlikely to 
be demobilized unless flood waters are expected to overtop the levee system. If all 
parties are in agreement, it shall be considered a Project Demobilization. A Project 
Demobilization may include, but is not limited to, a single removal of all machinery, 
materials, fencing, BMP’s, and any non-native material from the staging area(s). The 
work shall include removal of any temporary fill vulnerable to erosion and grading of all 
areas to pre-mobilization elevations. Contractor will be paid as agreed to in the Bid 
Proposal Item Alt. No.3. This item also includes the cost to remobilize equipment, 
materials, and re-establish fencing, BMP’s, and non-native materials to staging areas. 
This bid item is in addition to Bid Proposal Item Alt. No. 2 and both shall be paid if both 
the River Demobilization and Project Demobilization occur. 
 
No payments will be made for costs covered by the Contractor’s builder risk insurance. 
 
16 AS-BUILT SURVEY 
 
Contractor to provide an as-built survey to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Rock 
Island District in the form of a PDF and an electronic version in .dwg format within 180 
days of completion of the project. 
 
 
 
 

622

Item 29.



 

31 

 

DIVISION 4 

 
SUPPLEMENTAL PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 

All work shall be constructed as specified in the Contract documents for the 
RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT in 
accordance with the 2021 Edition of the SUDAS as amended by the City of Cedar Falls’ 
Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 Edition of the SUDAS, except as amended or 
supplemented as follows: 
 
 

623

Item 29.



Item 
Number Description Estimated 

Quantity Unit Unit Price Item Total 
Price

1 Mobilization 1 Lump Sum  $ 370,000  $     370,000 

2 Silt Fencing 1500 Lin. Ft.  $            6  $         9,000 

3 Straw Waddle 300 Lin. Ft.  $            8  $         2,400 

4 Cofferdam Installation and Removal 7 Lump Sum  $   70,000  $     490,000 

5 River Right Access Road 1 Lump Sum  $   85,000  $       85,000 

6 Boulder Fill: Includes excavation/fill, placement, 
grouting, and backfill. 155 Cubic Yards 

Grouted Rock  $        250  $       38,796 

7 Concrete - low flow 35 Cubic Yards 
Concrete  $        275  $         9,549 

8 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8" cobble 233 Cubic Yds.  $          75  $       17,458 

9 Boulder Fill: Includes excavation/fill, placement, 
grouting, and backfill. 140 Cubic Yards 

Grouted Rock  $        250  $       35,074 

10 Concrete- low flow 22 Cubic Yards 
Concrete  $        275  $         6,111 

11 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8" cobble 105 Cubic Yds.  $          75  $         7,892 

12 Boulder Fill: Includes excavation/fill, placement, 
grouting, and backfill. 56 Cubic Yards 

Grouted Rock  $        250  $       14,056 

13 Concrete- low flow 35 Cubic Yards 
Concrete  $        275  $         9,549 

14 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8" cobble 28 Cubic Yds.  $          75  $         2,108 

15 Boulder Fill: Includes excavation/fill, placement, 
grouting, and backfill. 148 Cubic Yards 

Grouted Rock  $        250  $       36,944 

16 Concrete- low flow 28 Cubic Yards 
Concrete  $        275  $         7,639 

17 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8" cobble 369 Cubic Yds.  $          75  $       27,708 

18 Boulder Fill: Includes excavation/fill, placement, 
grouting, and backfill. 320 Cubic Yards 

Grouted Rock  $        250  $       80,000 

19 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8" cobble 300 Cubic Yds.  $          75  $       22,500 

20 Boulder Fill: Includes excavation/fill, placement, 157 Cubic Yards  $        250  $       39,333 

21 Concrete- low flow 115 Cubic Yards 
Concrete  $        275  $       31,625 

22 Concrete Demolition and Shaping 1 Lump Sum  $   45,000  $       45,000 
23 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8" cobble 393 Cubic Yds.  $          75  $       29,500 

24 Boulder Fill: Includes excavation/fill, placement, 
grouting, and backfill. 30 Cubic Yards 

Grouted Rock  $        250  $         7,537 

25 Concrete- low flow 28 Cubic Yards 
Concrete  $        275  $         7,700 

26 Subgrade - Clean angular 3-8" cobble 45 Cubic Yds.  $          75  $         3,392 

27 Large Random Boulders, 7' Diameter 23 Each  $        600  $       13,800 

28 Boat Ramp Terracing 393 Cubic Yards 
Grouted Rock  $        250  $       98,333 

29 Boat Ramp Area Trails 7 Cubic Yards 
Concrete  $        275  $         2,037 

30 Miscellaneous Equipment Hours 200 hours  $        275  $       55,000 
31 Northeast Parking Lot Repair-Seal Coat 4000 Sq. Yds.  $            7  $       28,000 

Structure #6- Take-out River Right

Structure #7- Clay Hole Safety and Recreational Improvements

Structure #8- Take-out River Left

Miscellaneous

Cedar River Recreational Improvements Project
 Cedar River, Cedar Falls, Iowa

Bid Proposal Cost Estimate - August 29, 2021

Structure #2- Put-in River Right

Structure #3

Structure #4

Structure #5

Riverwise Engineering, LLC
PO Box 706

Durango, CO 81302
page 1 of 2

8/30/2021

624

Item 29.



32 Concrete/Rebar River Clean up 1 Lump Sum  $     5,500  $         5,500 
33 Concrete Mowbands 820 Lin. Ft.  $          12  $         9,840 
34 Removal of Concrete Bike Trail 3,100 Sq. Ft.  $          15  $       46,500 
35 New Concrete Bike Trail 3,400 Sq. Ft.  $          15  $       51,000 
36 Upland Path (6’ wide w/curbs) 6,000 Sq. Ft.  $          17  $     102,000 
37 Shoreline Path (4’& 5’ wide w/curbs) 3,200 Lin. Ft.  $          17  $       54,400 
38 Seal Chute 1 Lump Sum  $   15,000  $       15,000 
39 Specialty Stone @ Upper Plaza 120 Tons  $        320  $       38,400 
40 Stone Seat Wall @ Upper Plaza 56 Tons  $        480  $       26,880 
41 Upper Terrace Concrete 1,830 Sq. Ft.  $          28  $       51,240 
42 Synthetic Turf 1 Lump Sum  $   27,000  $       27,000 
43 Lower Terrace Concrete (turtle) 1,250 Sq. Ft.  $          28  $       35,000 
44 Stone Bank Reinforcement 1,643 Tons  $        350  $     575,050 
45 Wood Bridges 3 Each  $     4,000  $       12,000 
46 Existing Features Relocation (bollard lights) 3 Each  $     1,400  $         4,200 
47 Signage  4 large& 5 small 9 Each  $     3,000  $       27,000 
48 Northwest Parking Lot Repair-Seal Coat 2,500 Sq. Yds.  $            7  $       17,500 
49 Add Shower to Shoreline 1 Each  $     5,000  $         5,000 
50 Benches 3 Each  $     6,000  $       18,000 
51 Planting (Rip Rap re-use planting pockets) 1,973 Sq. Ft.  $            4  $         7,892 
52 Planting, Trees, Shrubs, Lawns & Seeding 1 Lump Sum  $   60,000  $       60,000 
53 Irrigation 1 Lump Sum  $   20,000  $       20,000 
54 Contingency Estimate  $     350,895 
55 Upland Contingency Estimate  $     265,800 

 $   3,459,139 
Alt. No. 

1 Lighting at Trees and Bridge 1 Lump Sum  $   99,000  $       99,000 

Alt. No. 
2 River Demobilization 1 Each  $   50,000  $       50,000 

Alt. No. 
3 Project Demobilization 1 Each  $ 150,000  $     150,000 

 $   3,558,139 
 $   3,758,139 

Base Improvements plus Alt. No. 1 Total
Base Improvements plus Alt. Nos. 1, 2, and 3 Total

Upland 

Base Improvements Total

Riverwise Engineering, LLC
PO Box 706

Durango, CO 81302
page 2 of 2

8/30/2021

625

Item 29.



626

Item 30.



627

Item 30.



628

Item 30.



629

Item 30.



630

Item 30.



631

Item 30.



632

Item 30.



633

Item 30.



634

Item 30.



635

Item 30.



636

Item 30.



637

Item 30.



638

Item 30.



639

Item 30.



640

Item 30.



641

Item 30.



642

Item 30.



643

Item 30.



644

Item 30.



645

Item 30.



646

Item 30.



647

Item 30.



648

Item 30.



649

Item 30.



650

Item 30.



651

Item 30.



652

Item 30.



653

Item 30.



654

Item 30.



655

Item 30.



656

Item 30.



657

Item 30.



658

Item 30.



659

Item 30.



660

Item 30.



661

Item 30.



662

Item 30.



663

Item 30.



664

Item 30.



665

Item 30.



666

Item 30.



667

Item 30.



668

Item 30.



669

Item 30.



670

Item 30.



671

Item 30.



672

Item 30.



673

Item 30.



674

Item 30.



675

Item 30.



676

Item 30.



677

Item 30.



678

Item 30.



679

Item 30.



680

Item 30.



681

Item 30.



682

Item 30.



683

Item 30.



684

Item 30.



685

Item 30.


	Top
	Item 1.	Regular Meeting of August 16, 2021
	210816MINUTES

	Item 2.	Proclamation-Suicide Prevention
	2021-09-W2_NatlSuicidePreventionWeek

	Item 3.	Proclamation-Constitution Week
	2021-09-W3_ConstitutionWeek

	Item 4.	Proclamation-National Rail Safety
	2021-09-20_RailSafetyWeek

	Item 5.	Proclamation-National Preparedness
	2021-09_NationalPreparednessMonth

	Item 6.	PH-Downtown Character District Code
	1. Memo.PH.PZ Recommended Draft of DT Code.9.7.21
	2. decision.matrix FM 4.6.21
	AFIL Letter-Downtown Zoning
	CMS Letter-Downtown Vision Code
	3. Ord-Establish CD-DT Zoning District
	4. CF DT PH Draft August 2021.exhibit A
	5.  CedarFalls Downtown RP-Model.large text.8.30.21

	Item 7.	PH-Rezoning to CD-DT Downtown Character District
	1. CC Staff Report - Downtown Character District Rezoning - 9.7.21
	2. DtownStudyArea.existing zoning
	3. DtownNorth
	4. DtownSouth
	5. Ord  rezoning Downtown Character District 9 7 21.final
	6. CedarFalls Downtown Reg Plan.exhibit A. 8.30.21.final

	Item 8.	Resignations
	John Clopton Resignation
	Abby Sears
	3985_001

	Item 9.	Work Session Minutes - 08/16/21
	08-16-21 Work Session Minutes

	Item 10.	Committee of the Whole Minutes - 08/16/21
	08-16-21 Committee of the Whole Minutes

	Item 11.	Departmental Monthly Report
	07-July 2021 Departmental Monthly Report

	Item 12.	Tobacco Violation Settlement Agreements
	Bani&#39;s-Council Packet Materials
	Casey's Center Street-Council Packet Materials
	Prime Mart-Council Packet Materials

	Item 13.	Liquor-Beer
	Liquor Beer 9-07-21

	Item 14.	Emergency Operations Plan
	2021-08-16_CityMultiHazardEOP
	2021 Review - City Multi-Hazard EOP [Track Changes]R1

	Item 15.	Revised Public Meeting Protocols
	1-memocc-public meeting protocols
	Res-Public Meeting Protocols-FINAL

	Item 16.	Designate Director of FBO as the City’s Authorized Representative
	Council Memo Res CLFRF AuthRep
	Resolution AuthRep CSLFRF

	Item 17.	Resolution approving year end transfers
	1-year end transfer council FY21.mem
	2-Transfer resolution year end

	Item 18.	One Source Background Company Account Service Agreement
	One Source Background Company Council Memo 8-30-21
	One Source Background Company ASA 8-30-21

	Item 19.	ICR Cooperative Agreement
	FY22 ICRC COOP - Memo to Council
	ICRC FY22 COOP agreement - Council pkt

	Item 20.	NEI3A User Agreement
	Memo to Mayor, Council NEI3A User Agreement
	UseAgreementsCedarFalls2021 8 6 2021

	Item 21.	Security Cameras at Public Works and Transfer Station
	PWCamerasCouncilMemo

	Item 22.	Facility Use Agreement-Rec Center
	ARC Shelter Memo 21-22
	7396_CedarFallsRecCtr_BlackHawk

	Item 23.	MU District Site Plan for Bluebell Health Clinic Addition (Case# SP21-011)
	1. CC staff report for Bluebell Health Plaza OBGYN addition Site Plan
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3. 5836-Bluebell Submittal 2021-08-160
	4. 5836-C.400 Landscaping 2021-08-19
	5. 21053_MercyOne Bluebell Health Plaza_2021-08-19 New Exterior Elevations
	6. 2021-08-17_MercyOne Bluebell 2021 Master Plan Exhibit
	7. Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan 4-9-15
	8. Master plan exhibit 2006

	Item 24.	Minor Plat for Lot 17 Green Acres subdivision (Case #MP21-003)
	1. CC Staff report for Lot 17 Green Acres Minor Plat
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3. Minor Subdivision Plat
	4. Surveyor&#39;s Certificate
	5. Affidavit of Ownership

	Item 25.	Contract-Seal Coat 2021
	1. Contracts Memo - Seal Coat 2021
	2. Form of Contract - Seal Coat 2021
	3. Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond - Seal Coat 2021
	4. Insurance - Seal Coat 2021
	5. Form of Proposal - Seal Coat 2021

	Item 26.	MRA - Wild Horse Ridge
	1. Memo MRA - Wild Horse (1)
	2. MRA - Wild Horse

	Item 27.	Amendment-Preliminary Plat-Wild Horse Ridge
	1_City Council Memo for Wild Horse Ridge Revised Plat on 09-07-21
	2_ZoningLocationMap
	3_Wildhorse Ridge Overall Preliminary Plat 2021-08-09
	4_Wildhorse Ridge Phasing Exhibit Revised 2021-08-26
	5-Revised Wild Horse Development Agreement
	6_WH Prelim Plat HOA Letter

	Item 28.	Set PH-2021 Street Patching Project
	1 PSE Memo - 2021 Street Patching Project
	2021 STREET PATCHING ENGINEERS ESTIMATE
	2021 Street Patching Plans - Final
	2021 Street Patch Specifications

	Item 29.	Set PH-Rec River Area & Riverbank Improvements
	1  Memo PSE - River Recreational
	2. Plans Specs and Estimate

	Item 30.	Bills and Claims-09/07/21
	1 Daily Invoices 090721
	2 Council Invoices 090721

	Bottom

